

# FR-A721-5.5K to 55K FR-A741-5.5K to 55K





Thank you for choosing this Mitsubishi Inverter. This Instruction Manual (applied) provides instructions for advanced use of the FR-A701 series inverters. Incorrect handling might cause an unexpected fault. Before using the inverter, always read this instruction manual and the instruction manual

[IB-0600331ENG] packed with the product carefully to use the equipm	nent to its optimum.
This section is specifically about safety matters	(2) Wiring A CAUTION
Do not attempt to install, operate, maintain or inspect the inverter until you have read through instruction manual and appended documents carefully and can use the equipment correctly. Do not use the inverter until you have a full knowledge of the equipment, safety information and instructions. In this instruction manual, the safety instruction levels are classified into "WARNING" and "CAUTION".	<ul> <li>Do not install a power factor correction capacitor or surge suppressor/radio noise filter (capacitor type filter) on the inverter output side. The device on the inverter output side may be overheated or burn out.</li> <li>The connection orientation of the output cables U, V, W to the motor will affect the direction of rotation of the motor.</li> </ul>
Assumes that incorrect handling may cause hazardous conditions, resulting in death or severe injury.	(3) Test operation and adjustment <b>CAUTION</b>
Assumes that incorrect handling may cause hazardous conditions, resulting in medium or slight injury, or may cause physical damage only.	Before starting operation, confirm and adjust the parameters. A failure to do so may cause some machines to make unexpected motions.
Note that even the <u>CAUTION</u> level may lead to a serious consequence according to conditions. Please follow strictly the instructions of both levels	<ul> <li>(4) Operation WARNING</li> <li>When you have chosen the retry function, stay away from the equipment as it will restart suddenly after an alarm stop.</li> </ul>
because they are important to personnel safety.	
	• Since pressing key may not stop output depending on the function setting
While power is on or when the inverter is running, do not open the front cover.	emergency stop (power off, mechanical brake operation for emergency stop,
<ul> <li>Otherwise you may get an electric shock.</li> <li>Do not run the inverter with the front cover or wiring cover removed.</li> <li>Otherwise, you may access the exposed high-voltage terminals or the charging part of the circuitry and get an electric shock.</li> <li>Even if power is off, do not remove the front cover except for wiring or periodic inspection. You may access the charged inverter circuits and get an electric shock.</li> <li>Before starting wiring or inspection, check to make sure that the operation panel indicator is off, wait for at least 10 minutes after the power supply has been switched off, and check that there are no residual voltage using a tester or the like. The capacitor is charged with high voltage for some time after power off and it is dangerous.</li> <li>This inverter must be earthed (grounded). Earthing (Grounding) must conform to the requirements of national and local safety regulations and electrical codes. (NEC Section 250, IEC 536 class 1 and other applicable standards)</li> <li>Use a neutral-point earthed (grounded) power supply for 400V class inverter in</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Make sure that the start signal is off before resetting the inverter alarm. A failure to do so may restart the motor suddenly.</li> <li>The load used should be a three-phase induction motor only. Connection of any other electrical equipment to the inverter output may damage the inverter as well as equipment.</li> <li>Performing pre-excitation (LX signal and X13 signal) under torque control (real sensorless vector control) may start the motor running at a low speed even when the start command (STF or STR) is not input. The motor may run also at a low speed when the speed limit value = 0 with a start command input. Perform pre-excitation after making sure that there will be no problem in safety if the motor runs.</li> <li>Do not modify the equipment.</li> <li>Do not perform parts removal which is not instructed in this manual. Doing so may lead to fault or damage of the inverter.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Any person who is involved in the wiring or inspection of this equipment should</li> </ul>	A CALITION
be fully competent to do the work.	The electronic thermal relay function does not guarantee protection of the motor
<ul> <li>Always instail the inverter before winng. Otherwise, you may get an electric shock or be injured.</li> <li>Perform setting dial and key operations with dry hands to prevent an electric shock.</li> <li>Do not subject the cables to scratches, excessive stress, heavy loads or pinching. Otherwise you may get an electric shock.</li> <li>Do not replace the cooling fan while power is on. It is dangerous to replace the cooling fan while power is on. It is dangerous to replace the cooling fan while power is on.</li> <li>Do not touch the printed circuit board with wet hands. You may get an electric shock.</li> <li>When measuring the main circuit capacitor capacity, the DC voltage is applied to the motor for 1s at powering off. Never touch the motor terminal, etc. right after powering off to prevent an electric shock.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>The electronic membra relay inflution does not guarance protection the model and PTC thermistor for overheat protection.</li> <li>Do not use a magnetic contactor on the inverter input for frequent starting/ stopping of the inverter. Otherwise, the life of the inverter decreases.</li> <li>Use a noise filter to reduce the effect of electromagnetic interference. Otherwise nearby electronic equipment may be affected.</li> <li>When a 400V class motor is inverter-driven, please use an insulation-enhanced motor or measures taken to suppress surge voltages. Surge voltages attributable to the wing constants may occur at the motor terminals, deteriorating the insulation of the motor.</li> </ul>
2. Fire Prevention ACAUTION	<ul> <li>before starting operations. Each parameter returns to the initial value.</li> <li>The inverter can be easily set for high-speed operation. Before changing its</li> </ul>
Install the inverter on a nonflammable wall without holes (so that nobody can	setting, fully examine the performances of the motor and machine.
touch the inverter heatsink on the rear side, etc.). Mounting it to or near combustible material can cause a fire	<ul> <li>In addition to the inverter's holding function, install a holding device to ensure safety.</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>If the inverter has become faulty, switch off the inverter power.</li> <li>A contribution flow of long our sould couple a first sould coupl</li></ul>	<ul> <li>Before running an inverter which had been stored for a long period, always perform inspection and test operation.</li> </ul>
	<ul> <li>For prevention of damage due to static electricity, touch nearby metal before</li> </ul>
3. Injury Prevention <b>ACAULION</b>	touching this product to eliminate static electricity from your body.
• Apply only the voltage specified in the instruction manual to each terminal. Otherwise, burst, damage, etc. may occur.	(5) Emergency stop <b>ACAUTION</b>
<ul> <li>Ensure that the cables are connected to the correct terminals. Otherwise, burst, damage, etc. may occur.</li> <li>Always make sure that polarity is correct to prevent damage, etc. Otherwise, burst, damage, etc. may occur.</li> <li>While power is on or for some time after power-off, do not touch the inverter as it is hot and you may get burnt.</li> <li>Additional Instructions</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Provide a safety backup such as an emergency brake which will prevent the machine and equipment from hazardous conditions if the inverter fails.</li> <li>When the breaker on the inverter input side trips, check for the wiring fault (short circuit), damage to internal parts of the inverter, etc. Identify the cause of the trip, then remove the cause and power on the breaker.</li> <li>When the protective function is activated, take the corresponding corrective action, then reset the inverter, and resume operation.</li> </ul>
Also note the following points to prevent an accidental failure, injury, electric	(6) Maintenance, inspection and parts replacement
snock, etc.	<b>ACAUTION</b>
	<ul> <li>Do not carry out a megger (insulation resistance) test on the control circuit of the inverter It will cause a failure</li> </ul>
When carrying products, use correct lifting gear to prevent injury.	(7) Disposing of the inverter
<ul> <li>Do not stack the inverter boxes higher than the number recommended.</li> <li>Ensure that installation position and material can withstand the weight of the</li> </ul>	
<ul> <li>noverter. Install according to the information in the instruction manual.</li> <li>Do not install or operate the inverter if it is damaged or has parts missing. This can</li> </ul>	Treat as industrial waste.
result in breakdowns.	General instructions
<ul> <li>when carrying the inverter, do not hold it by the front cover or setting dial; it may fall off or fail.</li> </ul>	Many of the diagrams and drawings in this instruction manual show the inverter
<ul> <li>Do not stand or rest heavy objects on the product.</li> <li>Check the inverter mounting orientation is correct.</li> </ul>	replace the cover and follow this instruction manual when operating the
<ul> <li>Prevent other conductive bodies such as screws and metal fragments or other flammable substance such as oil from entering the inverter.</li> </ul>	inverter.
<ul> <li>As the inverter is a precision instrument, do not drop or subject it to impact.</li> <li>Use the inverter under the following environmental conditions. Otherwise, the inverter may be damaged.</li> </ul>	
Surrounding air temperature -10°C to +50°C (non-freezing)	
Ambient humidity 90% RH or less (non-condensing)	
≥ Storage temperature -20°C to +65°C *1	
Atmosphere finder soft and the form able gas, oil mist, dust and dirt)	
O         Atmosphere         Industry flammable gas, oil mist, dust and dirt)           Attitude, vibration         Maximum 1000m above sea level for standard operation. 5.9m/s <sup>2</sup> or less	

# CONTENTS \_\_\_\_\_

1	OU	TLINE	1
	1.1	Product checking and parts identification	2
	1.2	nverter and peripheral devices	3
	1.2.1	Peripheral devices	4
	1.3	Method of removal and reinstallation of the front cover	5
	1.4	nstallation of the inverter and enclosure design	7
	1.4.1	Inverter installation environment	7
	1.4.2	Cooling system types for inverter enclosure	10
	1.4.3	Inverter placement	11
2	WIF	RING	13
	2.1	Terminal connection diagram	14
	2.2	Main circuit terminal specifications	15
	2.2.1	Specification of main circuit terminal	15
	2.2.2	Terminal arrangement of the main circuit terminal, power supply and the motor wiring	16
	2.2.3	Cables and wiring length	18
	2.2.4	When connecting the control circuit and the main circuit separately to the power supply (separate power)	21
	2.3	Control circuit specifications	22
	2.3.1	Control circuit terminals	22
	2.3.2	Changing the control logic	25
	2.3.3	Control circuit terminal layout	27
	2.3.4	Wiring instructions	28
	2.3.5	When connecting the operation panel using a connection cable	28
	2.3.6	RS-485 terminal block	29

2.4	Connection of motor with encoder (vector control)	30

# PRECAUTIONS FOR USE OF THE INVERTER

3.1 E	MC and leakage currents	
3.1.1	Leakage currents and countermeasures	38
3.1.2	EMC measures	40
3.1.3	Power supply harmonics	42
3.1.4	Harmonic suppression guideline	
3.2 P	ower-off and magnetic contactor (MC)	
3.3 lı	nverter-driven 400V class motor	

S
п
0
3

	3.4 P	recautions for use of the inverter	46
	3.5 Fa	ailsafe of the system which uses the inverter	48
4	PAR	AMETERS	51
	4.1 O	peration panel (FR-DU07)	52
	4.1.1	Parts of the operation panel (FR-DU07)	52
	4.1.2	Basic operation (factory setting)	53
	4.1.3	Change the parameter setting value	54
	4.1.4	Setting dial push	54
	4.2 P	arameter List	55
	4.2.1	Parameter list	55
	4.3 C	ontrol mode	71
	4.3.1	What is vector control?	72
	4.3.2	Change the control method (Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 451, Pr. 800)	75
	4.4 S	peed control by real sensorless vector control, vector control	79
	4.4.1	Setting procedure of real sensorless vector control (speed control)	81
	4.4.2	Setting procedure of vector control (speed control)	82
	4.4.3	Torque limit level setting for speed control (Pr. 22, Pr. 803, Pr. 810 to Pr. 817, Pr. 858, Pr. 868, Pr. 874)	83
	4.4.4	To perform high accuracy/fast response operation (gain adjustment of real sensorless vector control and vector control) (Pr. 818 to Pr. 821, Pr. 830, Pr. 831, Pr. 880)	88
	4.4.5	Speed feed forward control, model adaptive speed control (Pr. 828, Pr. 877 to Pr. 881)	95
	4.4.6	Torque biases (Pr. 840 to Pr. 848)	97
	4.4.7	Prevent the motor from overrunning (Pr. 285, Pr. 853, Pr. 873)	100
	4.4.8	Notch filter (Pr. 862, Pr. 863)	101
	4.5 To	orque control by real sensorless vector control, vector control	102
	4.5.1	Torque control	102
	4.5.2	Setting procedure of real sensorless vector control (torque control)	106
	4.5.3	Setting procedure of vector control (torque control)	107
	4.5.4	Torque command (Pr. 803 to Pr. 806)	108
	4.5.5	Speed limit (Pr. 807 to Pr. 809)	110
	4.5.6	Gain adjustment of torque control (Pr. 824, Pr. 825, Pr. 834, Pr. 835)	113
	4.6 P	osition control by vector control	115
	4.6.1	Position control	115
	4.6.2	Conditional position feed function by contact input (Pr. 419, Pr. 464 to Pr. 494)	117
	4.6.3	Position control (Pr. 419, Pr. 428 to Pr. 430) by inverter pulse train input	120

4.6.	4 Setting of the electronic gear (Pr. 420, Pr. 421, Pr. 424)	122
4.6.	5 Setting of positioning adjustment parameter (Pr. 426, Pr. 427)	123
4.6.	6 Gain adjustment of position control (Pr. 422, Pr. 423, Pr. 425)	124
4.6.	7 Trouble shooting for when position control is not exercised normally	126
4.7	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector control	127
4.7.	Speed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)	127
4.7.2	2 Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)	128
4.8	Adjust the output torgue (current) of the motor	129
4.8.	1 Manual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)	129
4.8.2	<ul> <li>Advanced magnetic flux vector control (Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450, Pr. 451, Pr. 453, Pr. 454, Pr. 569, Pr. 800)</li> </ul>	131
4.8.3	3 Slip compensation (Pr. 245 to Pr. 247)	134
4.8.4	<ul> <li>Stall prevention operation (Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 48, Pr. 49, Pr. 66, Pr. 114, Pr. 115,</li> <li>Pr. 148, Pr. 149, Pr. 154, Pr. 156, Pr. 157, Pr. 858, Pr. 868)</li> </ul>	135
4.9	Limit the output frequency	140
4.9.	1 Maximum/minimum frequency (Pr. 1, Pr. 2, Pr. 18)	140
4.9.	2 Avoid mechanical resonance points (Frequency jump) (Pr. 31 to Pr. 36)	141
4 10	Set V/E nattern	142
4.10	1 Base frequency, voltage (Pr. 3, Pr. 19, Pr. 47, Pr. 113)	142
4.10	0.2 Load pattern selection (Pr. 14)	144
4.10	0.3 Elevator mode (automatic acceleration/deceleration) (Pr. 61, Pr. 64, Pr. 292)	146
4.10	0.4 Adjustable 5 points V/F (Pr. 71, Pr. 100 to Pr. 109)	147
4.11	Frequency setting by external terminals	148
4.11	.1 Multi-speed setting operation (Pr. 4 to Pr. 6, Pr. 24 to Pr. 27, Pr. 232 to Pr. 239)	148
4.11	.2 Jog operation (Pr. 15, Pr. 16)	150
4.11	.3 Input compensation of multi-speed and remote setting (Pr. 28)	152
4.11	.4 Remote setting function (Pr. 59)	152
4.12	Setting of acceleration/deceleration time and acceleration/deceleration pattern	155
4.12	2.1 Setting of the acceleration and deceleration time (Pr. 7, Pr. 8, Pr. 20, Pr. 21, Pr. 44, Pr. 45, Pr. 110, Pr. 111)	155
4.12	2.2 Starting frequency and start-time hold function (Pr. 13, Pr. 571)	157
4.12	2.3 Acceleration/deceleration pattern (Pr. 29, Pr. 140 to Pr. 143, Pr. 380 to Pr. 383, Pr. 516 to Pr. 519)	158
4.12	2.4 Shortest acceleration/deceleration and optimum acceleration/deceleration (automatic acceleration/deceleration) (Pr. 61 to Pr. 63, Pr. 292, Pr. 293)	162
4.13	Selection and protection of a motor	165
4.13	8.1 Motor protection from overheat (Electronic thermal relay function) (Pr. 9, Pr. 51)	165

4.13.2	Applied motor (Pr. 71, Pr. 450)	. 169
4.13.3	Offline auto tuning (Pr. 71, Pr. 80 to Pr. 84, Pr. 90 to Pr. 94, Pr. 96, Pr. 450, Pr. 453 to Pr. 463, Pr. 684, Pr. 859, Pr. 860)	. 171
4.13.4	Online auto tuning (Pr. 95, Pr. 574)	. 181
4.14 Mo	otor brake and stop operation	185
4.14.1	DC injection brake and zero speed control, servo lock (LX signal, X13 signal, Pr. 10 to Pr. 12, Pr. 802, Pr. 850)	. 185
4.14.2	Stop selection (Pr. 250)	. 188
4.14.3	Stop-on contact control function (Pr. 6, Pr. 48, Pr. 270, Pr. 275, Pr. 276)	. 189
4.14.4	Brake sequence function (Pr. 278 to Pr. 285, Pr. 292)	. 192
4.14.5	Orientation control (Pr. 350 to Pr. 366, Pr. 369, Pr. 393, Pr. 396 to Pr. 399)	. 195
4.15 Fu	inction assignment of external terminal and control	206
4.15.1	Input terminal function selection (Pr. 178 to Pr. 189)	. 206
4.15.2	Inverter output shutoff signal (MRS signal, Pr. 17)	. 209
4.15.3	Condition selection of function validity by the second function selection signal (RT) and third function selection signal (X9) (RT signal, X9 signal, Pr. 155)	. 210
4.15.4	Start signal operation selection (STF, STR, STOP signal, Pr. 250)	. 211
4.15.5	Magnetic flux decay output shutoff signal (X74 signal)	. 213
4.15.6	Output terminal function selection (Pr. 190 to Pr. 196)	. 214
4.15.7	Detection of output frequency (SU, FU, FU2 , FU3, FB, FB2, FB3, LS signal, Pr. 41 to Pr. 43, Pr. 50, Pr. 116, Pr. 865)	. 221
4.15.8	Output current detection function (Y12 signal, Y13 signal, Pr. 150 to Pr. 153, Pr. 166, Pr. 167)	. 223
4.15.9	Detection of output torque (TU signal, Pr. 864)	. 224
4.15.10	Remote output function (REM signal, Pr. 495 to Pr. 497)	. 225
4.16 Mo	onitor display and monitor output signal	226
4.16.1	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811)	. 226
4.16.2	DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170, Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891)	. 228
4.16.3	Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) (Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867)	. 233
4.16.4	Terminal FM, AM calibration (Calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900), C1 (Pr. 901))	. 236
4.17 Op	peration selection at power failure and instantaneous power failure	239
4.17.1	Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure/flying start (Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr. 162 to Pr. 165, Pr. 299, Pr. 611)	. 239
4.17.2	Power failure-time deceleration-to-stop function (Pr. 261 to Pr. 266, Pr. 294)	. 243
4.18 Op	peration setting at fault occurrence	246
4.18.1	Retry function (Pr. 65, Pr. 67 to Pr. 69)	. 246
4.18.2	Fault code output selection (Pr. 76)	. 248
4.18.3	Input/output phase loss protection selection (Pr. 251, Pr. 872)	. 249

4.18.4	Overspeed detection (Pr. 374)	249
4.18.5	Encoder signal loss detection (Pr. 376)	249
4.18.6	Fault definition (Pr. 875)	250
4.19 Er	nergy saving operation and energy saving monitor	251
4.19.1	Energy saving control (Pr. 60)	251
4.19.2	Energy saving monitor (Pr. 891 to Pr. 899)	252
4.20 Mo	otor noise, EMI measures	257
4.20.1	PWM carrier frequency and Soft-PWM control (Pr. 72, Pr. 240)	257
4.21 Fr	equency/torque setting by analog input (terminal 1, 2, 4)	258
4.21.1	Function assignment of analog input terminal (Pr. 858, Pr. 868)	258
4.21.2	Analog input selection (Pr. 73, Pr. 267)	259
4.21.3	Analog input compensation (Pr. 73, Pr. 242, Pr. 243, Pr. 252, Pr. 253)	263
4.21.4	Response level of analog input and noise elimination (Pr. 74, Pr. 822, Pr. 826, Pr. 832, Pr. 836, Pr. 849)	265
4.21.5	Bias and gain of frequency setting voltage (current) (Pr. 125, Pr. 126, Pr. 241, C2(Pr. 902) to C7(Pr. 905), C12(Pr. 917) to C15(Pr. 918))	267
4.21.6	Bias and gain of torque (magnetic flux) setting voltage (current) (Pr. 241, C16(Pr. 919) to C19(Pr. 920), C38 (Pr. 932) to C41 (Pr. 933))	273
4.22 Mi	soperation prevention and parameter setting restriction	278
4.22.1	Reset selection/disconnected PU detection/PU stop selection (Pr. 75)	278
4.22.2	Parameter write selection (Pr. 77)	280
4.22.3	Reverse rotation prevention selection (Pr. 78)	281
4.22.4	Display of applied parameters and user group function (Pr. 160, Pr. 172 to Pr. 174)	281
4.23 Se	election of operation mode and operation location	283
4.23.1	Operation mode selection (Pr. 79)	283
4.23.2	Operation mode at power on (Pr. 79, Pr. 340)	291
4.23.3	Start command source and frequency command source during communication operation (Pr. 338, Pr. 339, Pr. 550, Pr. 551)	292
4.24 Co	ommunication operation and setting	297
4.24.1	Wiring and configuration of PU connector	297
4.24.2	Wiring and arrangement of RS-485 terminals	299
4.24.3	Initial settings and specifications of RS-485 communication (Pr. 117 to Pr. 124, Pr. 331 to Pr. 337, Pr. 341, Pr. 549)	302
4.24.4	Communication EEPROM write selection (Pr. 342)	303
4.24.5	Mitsubishi inverter protocol (computer link communication)	304
4.24.6	Modbus-RTU communication specifications (Pr. 331, Pr. 332, Pr. 334, Pr. 343, Pr. 539, Pr. 549)	316
4 OF 0-	acial anaration and fragmanan control	200

# CONTENTS

	4.25	.1 PID control (Pr. 127 to Pr. 134, Pr. 575 to Pr. 577)	329
	4.25	.2 Bypass-inverter switchover function (Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr. 135 to Pr. 139, Pr. 159)	337
	4.25	.3 Load torque high speed frequency control (Pr. 4, Pr. 5, Pr. 270 to Pr. 274)	342
	4.25	.4 Droop control (Pr. 286 to Pr. 288)	344
	4.25	.5 Frequency setting by pulse train input (Pr. 291, Pr. 384 to Pr. 386)	346
	4.25	.6 Encoder feedback control (Pr. 144, Pr. 285, Pr. 359, Pr. 367 to Pr. 369)	349
	4.25	.7 Regeneration avoidance function (Pr. 665, Pr. 882 to Pr. 886)	351
	4.26	Useful functions	353
	4.26	.1 Cooling fan operation selection (Pr. 244)	353
	4.26	.2 Display of the life of the inverter parts (Pr. 255 to Pr. 259)	354
	4.26	.3 Maintenance timer alarm (Pr. 503, Pr. 504)	357
	4.26	.4 Current average value monitor signal (Pr. 555 to Pr. 557)	358
	4.26	.5 Free parameter (Pr. 888, Pr. 889)	360
	4.27	Setting of the parameter unit and operation panel	361
	4.27	.1 PU display language selection (Pr. 145)	361
	4.27	.2 Operation panel frequency setting/key lock operation selection (Pr. 161)	361
	4.27	.3 Buzzer control (Pr. 990)	363
	4.27	.4 PU contrast adjustment (Pr. 991)	363
	4.28	Parameter clear	364
	4.29	All parameter clear	365
	4 30	Parameter copy and parameter verification	366
	4.30	1 Parameter copy	366
	4.30	2 Parameter verification	
	4.00		
	4.31	Check and clear of the faults history	368
5	PR	OTECTIVE FUNCTIONS	371
	5.1	Reset method of protective function	
	52	l ist of fault or alarm display	373
	5.3	Causes and corrective actions	
	54	Correspondences between digital and actual characters	389
	с. <del>.</del>		200
	5.5 F F	Check first when you have troubles	
	5.5. 5.5	<ul> <li>Motor generates abnormal noise</li> </ul>	
	5.5	<ul> <li>Inverter generates abnormal noise.</li> <li>Inverter generates abnormal noise.</li> </ul>	
	5.5.	4 Motor generates heat abnormally	
		, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	

5.5.5	Motor rotates in opposite direction	391
5.5.6	Speed greatly differs from the setting	391
5.5.7	Acceleration/deceleration is not smooth	391
5.5.8	Motor current is large	391
5.5.9	Speed does not increase	391
5.5.10	The motor and machine vibrate	391
5.5.11	Speed varies during operation	392
5.5.12	Operation mode is not changed properly	392
5.5.13	Operation panel (FR-DU07) display is not operating	392
5.5.14	POWER lamp is not lit	392
5.5.15	Parameter write cannot be performed	392

# 6 PRECAUTIONS FOR MAINTENANCE AND INSPECTION

6.1 l	nspection item	
6.1.1	Daily inspection	
6.1.2	Periodic inspection	394
6.1.3	Daily and periodic inspection	395
6.1.4	Display of the life of the inverter parts	396
6.1.5	Checking the inverter and converter modules	396
6.1.6	Cleaning	397
6.1.7	Replacement of parts	397
6.2 N	leasurement of main circuit voltages, currents and powers	
6.2.1	Measurement of powers	402
6.2.2	Measurement of voltages and use of PT	402
6.2.3	Measurement of currents	403
6.2.4	Use of CT and transducer	403
6.2.5	Measurement of inverter input power factor	403
6.2.6	Measurement of converter output voltage (across terminals P/+ - N/-)	404
6.2.7	Measurement of inverter output frequency	404
6.2.8	Insulation resistance test using megger	404
6.2.9	Pressure test	

# 7 SPECIFICATIONS

7.1	R	ating	
7.	1.1	Inverter rating	
7.	1.2	Motor rating	
7.2	C	ommon specifications	
7.3	0	utline dimension drawings	

#### 405

APPI	ENDICES	421
7.4.1	Protrusion of heatsink	419
7.4 In	stallation of the heatsink portion outside the enclosure for use	419
7.3.2	Dedicated motor outline dimension drawings	415
7.0.1		••••

# MEMO



This chapter describes the basic "OUTLINE" for use of this product.

Always read the instructions before using the equipment

- 1.1 Product checking and parts identification......2

- 1.4 Installation of the inverter and enclosure design .....7

<abbreviations></abbreviations>	
DU	Operation panel (FR-DU07)
PU	Operation panel (FR-DU07) and parameter unit (FR-PU04/
	FR-PU07)
Inverter	Mitsubishi inverter FR-A701 series
FR-A701	Mitsubishi inverter FR-A701 series
Pr	Parameter Number
PU operation	Operation using the PU (FR-DU07/FR-PU04/FR-PU07).
External operation	Operation using the control circuit signals
Combined operation	Combined operation using the PU (FR-DU07/FR-PU04/
	FR-PU07) and external operation.
Mitsubishi standard motor	SF-JR
Mitsubishi constant-torque moto	or.SF-HRCA
Vector dedicated motor	SF-V5RU
<trademarks></trademarks>	
<ul> <li>Microsoft and Visual C++</li> </ul>	are registered trademarks of Microsoft Corporation in the
United States and/or other	countries.
LonWorks <sup>®</sup> is a registered	I trademark of Echelon Corporation in the U.S.A and other
DoviceNet® is a registered	trademark of ODVA (Open DeviceNet Vender Association
Inc.).	
Other company and pro	duct names herein are the trademarks and registered
trademarks of their respec	aive owners.

# **1.1 Product checking and parts identification**

Unpack the inverter and check the capacity plate on the front cover and the rating plate on the inverter side face to ensure that the product agrees with your order and the inverter is intact.



\* The 5.5K and 7.5K are not provided with eyebolts.

#### REMARKS

For removal and reinstallation of covers, refer to page 5.

Harmonic suppression guideline (when inverters are used in Japan)

All models of general-purpose inverters used by specific consumers are covered by "Harmonic suppression guideline for consumers who receive high voltage or special high voltage". (For details, refer to page 42.)

#### 1.2 Inverter and peripheral devices



Three-phase AC power supply Use within the permissible power supply specifications of the inverter. (Refer to page 406)

Moulded case circuit breaker (MCCB) or earth leakage circuit breaker (ELB), fuse

#### Inverter (FR-A701)

The life of the inverter is influenced by surrounding air temperature. The surrounding air temperature should be as low as possible within the permissible range. This must be noted especially when the inverter is installed in an enclosure. (Refer to page 7)

Wrong wining might lead to damage of the inverter. The control signal lines must be kept fully away from the main circuit to protect them from noise. (*Refer to page 14*)



#### = CAUTION =

- Do not install a power factor correction capacitor, surge suppressor or radio noise filter on the inverter output side. This will cause the inverter to trip or the capacitor, and surge suppressor to be damaged. If any of the above devices are connected, immediately remove them.
- This inverter has a built-in AC reactor (FR-HAL) and a circuit type specified in Harmonic suppression guideline in Japan is threephase bridge (capacitor smoothed) and with reactor (AC side). (Refer to page 42) Do not use an AC reactor (FR-HAL) of a standalone option except following purpose. (Note that overload protection of the converter may operate when a thyristor load is connected in the power supply system. To prevent this, always install an optional stand-alone AC reactor (FR-HAL).) A DC reactor (FR-HEL) can not be connected to the inverter. Electromagnetic wave interference

The input/output (main circuit) of the inverter includes high frequency components, which may interfere with the communication devices (such as AM radios) used near the inverter. In this case, connecting a capacitor type filter will reduce electromagnetic wave interference.

Refer to the instruction manual of each option and peripheral devices for details of peripheral devices



Check the inverter type of the inverter you purchased. Appropriate peripheral devices must be selected according to the capacity. Refer to the following list and prepare appropriate peripheral devices:

#### 200V class

Motor Output (kW)*1	Applicable Inverter Type	Breaker Selection*2	Input Side Magnetic Contactor <sup>3</sup>
5.5	FR-A721-5.5K	50AF 40A	S-N20, N21
7.5	FR-A721-7.5K	50AF 50A	S-N25
11	FR-A721-11K	100AF 75A	S-N35
15	FR-A721-15K	100AF 100A	S-N50
18.5	FR-A721-18.5K	225AF 125A	S-N50
22	FR-A721-22K	225AF 150A	S-N65
30	FR-A721-30K	225AF 175A	S-N80
37	FR-A721-37K	225AF 225A	S-N125
45	FR-A721-45K	400AF 300A	S-N150
55	FR-A721-55K	400AF 350A	S-N180

#### 400V class

Motor Output (kW)*1	Applicable Inverter Type	Breaker Selection*2	Input Side Magnetic Contactor 3
5.5	FR-A741-5.5K	30AF 20A	S-N11, N12
7.5	FR-A741-7.5K	30AF 30A	S-N20
11	FR-A741-11K	50AF 40A	S-N20
15	FR-A741-15K	50AF 50A	S-N20
18.5	FR-A741-18.5K	100AF 60A	S-N25
22	FR-A741-22K	100AF 75A	S-N25
30	FR-A741-30K	100AF 100A	S-N50
37	FR-A741-37K	225AF 125A	S-N50
45	FR-A741-45K	225AF 150A	S-N65
55	FR-A741-55K	225AF 175A	S-N80

\*1 Selections for use of the Mitsubishi 4-pole standard motor with power supply voltage of 200VAC/400VAC 50Hz.

\*2 Select the MCCB according to the inverter power supply capacity. Install one MCCB per inverter.

For installations in the United States or Canada, use the appropriate UL and cUL listed class RK5, class T type fuse or UL489 molded case circuit breaker (MCCB).



(Refer to E instruction manual (basic).)

\*3 Magnetic contactor is selected based on the AC-1 class. The electrical durability of magnetic contactor is 500,000 times. When the magnetic contactor is used for emergency stop during motor driving, the electrical durability is 25 times. When using the MC for emergency stop during motor driving or using on the motor side during commercial-power supply operation, select the MC with class AC-3 rated current for the motor rated current.

#### REMARKS

When the breaker on the inverter primary side trips, check for the wiring fault (short circuit), damage to internal parts of the inverter, etc. Identify the cause of the trip, then remove the cause and power on the breaker.

# **1.3** Method of removal and reinstallation of the front cover

#### •Removal of the operation panel

- 1) Loosen the two screws on the operation panel. (These screws cannot be removed.)
- 2) Push the left and right hooks of the operation panel and pull the operation panel toward you to remove.





When reinstalling the operation panel, insert it straight to reinstall securely and tighten the fixed screws of the operation panel.



 Remove installation screws on the front cover 1 to remove the front cover 1.



2) Loosen the installation screws of the front cover 2.



3) Pull the front cover 2 toward you to remove by pushing an installation hook on the right side using left fixed hooks as supports.



#### •Reinstallation of the front cover

- 1) Insert the two fixed hooks on the left side of the front cover 2 into the sockets of the inverter.
- 2) Using the fixed hooks as supports, securely press the front cover 2 against the inverter. (Although installation can be done with the operation panel mounted, make sure that a connector is

Н

0

7





- = CAUTION =
- 1. Fully make sure that the front cover has been reinstalled securely. Always tighten the installation screws of the front cover.
- 2. The same serial number is printed on the capacity plate of the front cover and the rating plate of the inverter. Before reinstalling the front cover, check the serial numbers to ensure that the cover removed is reinstalled to the inverter from where it was removed.

# 1.4 Installation of the inverter and enclosure design

When an inverter enclosure is to be designed and manufactured, heat generated by contained equipment, etc., the environment of an operating place, and others must be fully considered to determine the enclosure structure, size and equipment layout. The inverter unit uses many semiconductor devices. To ensure higher reliability and long period of operation, operate the inverter in the ambient environment that completely satisfies the equipment specifications.

#### 1.4.1 Inverter installation environment

The inverter consists of precision mechanical and electronic parts. Never install or handle it in any of the following conditions as doing so could cause an operation fault or failure.



As the inverter installation environment should satisfy the standard specifications indicated in the following table, operation in any place that does not meet these conditions not only deteriorates the performance and life of the inverter, but also causes a failure. Refer to the following points and take adequate measures.

#### Environmental standard specifications of inverter

Item	Description
Surrounding air temperature	-10°C to +50°C (non-freezing)
Ambient humidity	90% RH maximum (non-condensing)
Atmosphere	Free from corrosive and explosive gases, dust and dirt
Maximum Altitude	1,000m or less
Vibration	5.9m/s <sup>2</sup> or less

#### (1) Temperature

The permissible surrounding air temperature of the inverter is between -10°C and +50°C. Always operate the inverter within this temperature range. Operation outside this range will considerably shorten the service lives of the semiconductors, parts, capacitors and others. Take the following measures so that the surrounding air temperature of the inverter falls within the specified range.

1)Measures against high temperature

- Use a forced ventilation system or similar cooling system. (Refer to page 10.)
- Install the enclosure in an air-conditioned electrical chamber.
- Block direct sunlight.
- Provide a shield or similar plate to avoid direct exposure to the radiated heat and wind of a heat source.
- Ventilate the area around the enclosure well.

2)Measures against low temperature

- Provide a space heater in the enclosure.
- Do not power off the inverter. (Keep the start signal of the inverter off.)

3)Sudden temperature changes

- · Select an installation place where temperature does not change suddenly.
- Avoid installing the inverter near the air outlet of an air conditioner.
- If temperature changes are caused by opening/closing of a door, install the inverter away from the door.

#### (2) Humidity

Normally operate the inverter within the 45 to 90% range of the ambient humidity. Too high humidity will pose problems of reduced insulation and metal corrosion. On the other hand, too low humidity may produce a spatial electrical breakdown. The insulation distance specified in JEM1103 "Control Equipment Insulator" is defined as humidity 45 to 85%.

1)Measures against high humidity

- · Make the enclosure enclosed, and provide it with a hygroscopic agent.
- Take dry air into the enclosure from outside.
- Provide a space heater in the enclosure.

2) Measures against low humidity

What is important in fitting or inspection of the unit in this status is to discharge your body (static electricity) beforehand and keep your body from contact with the parts and patterns, besides blowing air of proper humidity into the enclosure from outside.

3) Measures against condensation

Condensation may occur if frequent operation stops change the in-enclosure temperature suddenly or if the outsideair temperature changes suddenly.

Condensation causes such faults as reduced insulation and corrosion.

- Take the measures against high humidity in 1).
- Do not power off the inverter. (Keep the start signal of the inverter off.)

#### (3) Dust, dirt, oil mist

Dust and dirt will cause such faults as poor contact of contact points, reduced insulation or reduced cooling effect due to moisture absorption of accumulated dust and dirt, and in-enclosure temperature rise due to clogged filter.

In the atmosphere where conductive powder floats, dust and dirt will cause such faults as malfunction, deteriorated insulation and short circuit in a short time.

Since oil mist will cause similar conditions, it is necessary to take adequate measures.

Countermeasures

• Place in a totally enclosed enclosure.

Take measures if the in-enclosure temperature rises. (Refer to page 10.)

• Purge air.

Pump clean air from outside to make the in-enclosure pressure higher than the outside-air pressure.

#### (4) Corrosive gas, salt damage

If the inverter is exposed to corrosive gas or to salt near a beach, the printed board patterns and parts will corrode or the relays and switches will result in poor contact.

In such places, take the measures given in Section (3).

#### (5) Explosive, flammable gases

As the inverter is non-explosion proof, it must be contained in an explosion proof enclosure.

In places where explosion may be caused by explosive gas, dust or dirt, an enclosure cannot be used unless it structurally complies with the guidelines and has passed the specified tests. This makes the enclosure itself expensive (including the test charges).

The best way is to avoid installation in such places and install the inverter in a non-hazardous place.

#### (6) Highland

Use the inverter at the altitude of within 1000m.

If it is used at a higher place, it is likely that thin air will reduce the cooling effect and low air pressure will deteriorate dielectric strength.

#### (7) Vibration, impact

The vibration resistance of the inverter is up to 5.9 m/s<sup>2</sup> at 10 to 55Hz frequency and 1mm amplitude.

Vibration or impact, if less than the specified value, applied for a long time may make the mechanism loose or cause poor contact to the connectors.

Especially when impact is imposed repeatedly, caution must be taken as the part pins are likely to break.

Countermeasures

- · Provide the enclosure with rubber vibration isolators.
- Strengthen the structure to prevent the enclosure from resonance.
- · Install the enclosure away from sources of vibration.

#### 1.4.2 Cooling system types for inverter enclosure

From the enclosure that contains the inverter, the heat of the inverter and other equipment (transformers, lamps, resistors, etc.) and the incoming heat such as direct sunlight must be dissipated to keep the in-enclosure temperature lower than the permissible temperatures of the in-enclosure equipment including the inverter.

The cooling systems are classified as follows in terms of the cooling calculation method. 1) Cooling by natural heat dissipation from the enclosure surface (Totally enclosed type)

- 2) Cooling by heat sink (Aluminum heatsink, etc.)
- 3) Cooling by ventilation (Forced ventilation type, pipe ventilation type)
- 4) Cooling by heat exchanger or cooler (Heat pipe, cooler, etc.)

	Cooling System	Enclosure Structure	Comment			
Natural cooling	Natural ventilation (Enclosed, open type)		Low in cost and generally used, but the enclosure size increases as the inverter capacity increases. For relatively small capacities.			
	Natural ventilation (Totally enclosed type)		Being a totally enclosed type, the most appropriate for hostile environment having dust, dirt, oil mist, etc. The enclosure size increases depending on the inverter capacity.			
	Heatsink cooling		Having restrictions on the heatsink mounting position and area, and designed for relative small capacities.			
Forced cooling	Forced ventilation		For general indoor installation. Appropriate for enclosure downsizing and cost reduction, and often used.			
	Heat pipe		Totally enclosed type for enclosure downsizing.			

#### 1.4.3 Inverter placement

#### (1) Installation of the Inverter

Installation on the enclosure



#### CAUTION

- When encasing multiple inverters, install them in parallel as a cooling measure.
- Install the inverter vertically.



#### (2) Clearances around the inverter

To ensure ease of heat dissipation and maintenance, leave at least the shown clearances around the inverter. At least the following clearances are required under the inverter as a wiring space, and above the inverter as a heat dissipation space.



#### REMARKS

For replacing the cooling fan, 30cm of space is necessary in front of the inverter. Refer to page 398 for fan replacement.

#### (3) Inverter mounting orientation

Mount the inverter on a wall as specified. Do not mount it horizontally or any other way.

#### (4) Above the inverter

Heat is blown up from inside the inverter by the small fan built in the unit. Any equipment placed above the inverter should be heat resistant.

#### (5) Arrangement of multiple inverters

When multiple inverters are placed in the same enclosure, generally arrange them horizontally as shown in the figure below (a). When it is inevitable to arrange them vertically to minimize space, take such measures as to provide guides since heat from the bottom inverters can increase the temperatures in the top inverters, causing inverter failures.

When mounting multiple inverters, fully take caution not to make the surrounding air temperature of the inverter higher than the permissible value by providing ventilation and increasing the enclosure size.



Arrangement of multiple inverters

#### (6) Placement of ventilation fan and inverter

Heat generated in the inverter is blown up from the bottom of the unit as warm air by the cooling fan. When intalling a ventilation fan for that heat, determine the place of ventilation fan installation after fully considering an air flow. (Air passes through areas of low resistance. Make an airway and airflow plates to expose the inverter to cool air.)



Placement of ventilation fan and inverter



This chapter describes the basic "WIRING" for use of this product.

Always read the instructions before using the equipment

2.1	Terminal connection diagram	14
2.2	Main circuit terminal specifications	. 15
2.3	Control circuit specifications	22
2.4	Connection of motor with encoder (vector control)	.30

#### **Terminal connection diagram** 2.1



- of the input side and the output side. After wiring, wire offcuts must not be left in the inverter. Wire offcuts can cause an alarm, failure or malfunction. Always keep the inverter clean.
- When drilling mounting holes in an enclosure etc., take care not to allow chips and other foreign matter to enter the inverter. Set the voltage/current input switch correctly. Different setting may cause a fault, failure or malfunction.

# 2.2 Main circuit terminal specifications

# 2.2.1 Specification of main circuit terminal

Terminal Symbol	Terminal Name	Description
R/L1, S/L2, T/L3	AC power input	Connect to the commercial power supply.
U, V, W	Inverter output	Connect a three-phase squirrel-cage motor.
R1/L11, S1/L21	Power supply for control circuit	Connected to the AC power supply terminals R/L1 and S/L2. To retain the fault display and fault output, remove the jumpers from terminals R/L1-R1/L11 and S/L2-S1/L21 and apply external power to these terminals. Do not turn off the power supply for control circuit (R1/L11, S1/L21) with the main circuit power (R/L1, S/L2, T/L3) on. Doing so may damage the inverter. The circuit should be configured so that the main circuit power (R/L1, S/L2, T/L3) is also turned off when the power supply for control circuit (R1/L11, S1/L21) is off. Power supply capacity for the 15K or less is 90VA and for the 18.5K or more is 100VA.
P/+, N/-	DC terminal	Do not connect any options.
	Earth (Ground)	For earthing (grounding) the inverter chassis. Must be earthed (grounded).



#### 200V class



#### 400V class



#### - CAUTION

- The power supply cables must be connected to R/L1, S/L2, T/L3. (Phase sequence needs not to be matched.) Never connect the power cable to the U, V, W of the inverter. Doing so will damage the inverter.
- Connect the motor to U, V, W. At this time, turning on the forward rotation switch (signal) rotates the motor in the counterclockwise direction when viewed from the motor shaft.



#### (1) Applied cable size

Select the recommended cable size to ensure that a voltage drop will be 2% max.

If the wiring distance is long between the inverter and motor, a main circuit cable voltage drop will cause the motor torque to decrease especially at the output of a low frequency.

The following table indicates a selection example for the wiring length of 20m.

#### 200V class (when input power supply is 220V)

			Crim	ping	Cable Sizes							
Applicable Inverter	Terminal Screw Size *4	Tightening Torque N·m	Terminal		HIV, etc. (mm <sup>2</sup> ) *1		AWG/MCM *2		PVC, etc. (mm <sup>2</sup> ) *3			
Туре			R/L1, S/L2, T/L3	U, V, W	R/L1, S/L2, T/L3	U, V, W	Earth (Ground) cable	R/L1, S/L2, T/L3	U, V, W	R/L1, S/L2, T/L3	U, V, W	Earth (Ground) cable
FR-A721-5.5K	M5	2.5	5.5-5	5.5-5	5.5	5.5	5.5	10	10	6	6	6
FR-A721-7.5K	M5	2.5	14-5	8-5	14	8	14	6	8	16	10	16
FR-A721-11K	M5	2.5	14-5	14-5	14	14	14	6	6	16	16	16
FR-A721-15K	M6	4.4	22-6	22-6	22	22	14	4	4	25	25	16
FR-A721-18.5K	M8(M6)	7.8	38-8	38-8	38	38	22	2	2	35	35	25
FR-A721-22K	M8(M6)	7.8	38-8	38-8	38	38	22	2	2	35	35	25
FR-A721-30K	M8(M6)	7.8	60-8	60-8	60	60	38	1/0	1/0	50	50	25
FR-A721-37K	M10(M8)	14.7	80-10	80-10	80	80	38	3/0	3/0	70	70	35
FR-A721-45K	M10(M8)	14.7	100-10	100-10	100	100	60	4/0	4/0	95	95	50
FR-A721-55K	M12(M8)	24.5	100-12	100-12	100	100	60	4/0	4/0	95	95	50

\*1 The cable size is that of the cable (HIV cable (600V class 2 vinyl-insulated cable) etc.) with continuous maximum permissible temperature of 75°C. Assumes that the surrounding air temperature is 50°C or less and the wiring distance is 20m or less.

\*2 The recommended cable size is that of the cable (THHW cable) with continuous maximum permissible temperature of 75°C. Assumes that the surrounding air temperature is 40°C or less and the wiring distance is 20m or less. (Selection example for use mainly in the United States.)

\*3 For the 15K or less, the recommended cable size is that of the cable (PVC cable) with continuous maximum permissible temperature of 70°C. Assumes that the surrounding air temperature is 40°C or less and the wiring distance is 20m or less.
 For the 18.5K or more, the recommended cable size is that of the cable (XLPE cable) with continuous maximum permissible temperature of 90°C.

Assumes that the surrounding air temperature is 40°C or less and wiring is performed in an enclosure. (Selection example for use mainly in Europe.)

\*4 The terminal screw size indicates the terminal size for R/L1, S/L2, T/L3, U, V, W, and a screw for earthing (grounding). A screw for earthing (grounding) of the 18.5K or more is indicated in ( ).

#### Cable Sizes Crimping Terminal Terminal AWG/MCM \*2 HIV, etc. (mm<sup>2</sup>) PVC, etc. (mm<sup>2</sup>) \*3 **Applicable Inverter** Tightening Screw Туре Torque N·m R/L1, R/L1, Earth R/L1, R/L1, Earth Size \*4 S/L2, T/L3 S/L2, T/L3 S/L2, T/L3 U, V, W S/L2, T/L3 U, V, W U, V, W U, V, W (Ground) (Ground) Cable Cable FR-A741-5.5K M4 1.5 2 - 42-4 2 12 14 2.5 2.5 2 3.5 4 FR-A741-7.5K 5.5-4 M4 1.5 5.5-4 12 4 3.5 3.5 3.5 12 4 4 FR-A741-11K 2.5 M5 5.5-5 5.5-5 5.5 5.5 8 10 10 6 6 10 FR-A741-15K M5 2.5 8-5 8-5 8 8 8 8 8 10 10 10 FR-A741-18.5K M6 4.4 14-6 8-6 14 8 14 6 8 16 10 16 FR-A741-22K M6 4.4 14-6 14-6 14 14 14 6 6 16 16 16 FR-A741-30K M6 4.4 22-6 4 22-6 22 22 14 4 25 25 16 FR-A741-37K M8 7.8 22-8 22-8 22 22 14 4 4 25 25 16 FR-A741-45K M8 7.8 38-8 38-8 38 38 22 1 2 50 50 25 FR-A741-55K M8 7.8 60-8 60-8 60 60 22 1/0 1/0 50 50 25

#### 400V class (when input power supply is 440V)

\*1 The cable size is that of the cable (HIV cable (600V class 2 vinyl-insulated cable) etc.) with continuous maximum permissible temperature of 75°C. Assumes that the surrounding air temperature is 50°C or less and the wiring distance is 20m or less.

\*2 For the 45K or less, the recommended cable size is that of the cable (THHW cable) with continuous maximum permissible temperature of 75°C. Assumes that the surrounding air temperature is 40°C or less and the wiring distance is 20m or less. For the 55K, the recommended cable size is that of the cable (THHN cable) with continuous maximum permissible temperature of 90°C. Assumes that the surrounding air temperature is 40°C or less and wiring is performed in an enclosure.

(Selection example for use mainly in the United States.)

\*3 For the 45K or less, the recommended cable size is that of the cable (PVC cable) with continuous maximum permissible temperature of 70°C. Assumes that the ambient temperature is 40°C or less and the wiring distance is 20m or less.

For the 55K, the recommended cable size is that of the cable (XLPE cable) with continuous maximum permissible temperature of 90°C. Assumes that the ambient temperature is 40°C or less and wiring is performed in an enclosure.

(Selection example for use mainly in Europe.)

The line voltage drop can be calculated by the following formula:

line voltage drop [V]=  $\frac{\sqrt{3} \times \text{wire resistance}[m\Omega/m] \times \text{wiring distance}[m] \times \text{current}[A]}{\sqrt{3} \times \text{wire resistance}[m\Omega/m] \times \text{wiring distance}[m] \times \text{current}[A]}$ 

1000

Use a larger diameter cable when the wiring distance is long or when it is desired to decrease the voltage drop (torque reduction) in the low speed range.

#### 

- Tighten the terminal screw to the specified torque.
- A screw that has been tighten too loosely can cause a short circuit or malfunction.
- A screw that has been tighten too tightly can cause a short circuit or malfunction due to the unit breakage.
- Use crimping terminals with insulation sleeve to wire the power supply and motor.

#### (2) Notes on earthing (grounding)

• Always earth (ground) the motor and inverter.

1)Purpose of earthing (grounding)

Generally, an electrical apparatus has an earth (ground) terminal, which must be connected to the ground before use.

An electrical circuit is usually insulated by an insulating material and encased. However, it is impossible to manufacture an insulating material that can shut off a leakage current completely, and actually, a slight current flow into the case. The purpose of earthing (grounding) the case of an electrical apparatus is to prevent operator from getting an electric shock from this leakage current when touching it.

To avoid the influence of external noises, this earthing (grounding) is important to audio equipment, sensors, computers and other apparatuses that handle low-level signals or operate very fast.

#### 2)Earthing (grounding) methods and earthing (grounding) work

As described previously, earthing (grounding) is roughly classified into an electrical shock prevention type and a noise-affected malfunction prevention type. Therefore, these two types should be discriminated clearly, and the following work must be done to prevent the leakage current having the inverter's high frequency components from entering the malfunction prevention type earthing (grounding):

(a) Where possible, use independent earthing (grounding) for the inverter. If independent earthing (grounding) (I) is impossible, use joint earthing (grounding) (II) where the inverter is connected with the other equipment at an earthing (grounding) point. Joint earthing (grounding) as in (III) must be avoided as the inverter is connected with the other equipment by a common earth (ground) cable.

Also a leakage current including many high frequency components flows in the earth (ground) cables of the inverter and inverter-driven motor. Therefore, they must use the independent earthing (grounding) method and be separated from the earthing (grounding) of equipment sensitive to the aforementioned noises.

In a tall building, it will be a good policy to use the noise malfunction prevention type earthing (grounding) with steel frames and carry out electric shock prevention type earthing (grounding) in the independent earthing (grounding) method.

(b) This inverter must be earthed (grounded). Earthing (Grounding) must conform to the requirements of national and local safety regulations and electrical codes. (NEC section 250, IEC 536 class 1 and other applicable standards).

Use a neutral-point earthed (grounded) power supply for 400V class inverter in compliance with EN standard.

- (c) Use the thickest possible earth (ground) cable. The earth (ground) cable should be of not less than the size indicated in the table on the previous page.
- (d) The grounding point should be as near as possible to the inverter, and the ground wire length should be as short as possible.
- (e) Run the earth (ground) cable as far away as possible from the I/O wiring of equipment sensitive to noises and run them in parallel in the minimum distance.





(II) Joint earthing (grounding)......Good



#### (3) Total wiring length

The overall wiring length for connection of a single motor or multiple motors should be within 500m. (The wiring length should be 100m maximum for vector control.)



When driving a 400V class motor by the inverter, surge voltages attributable to the wiring constants may occur at the motor terminals, deteriorating the insulation of the motor. Refer to *page 45* for measures against deteriorated insulation.

#### 

• Especially for long-distance wiring, the inverter may be affected by a charging current caused by the stray capacitances of the wiring, leading to a malfunction of the overcurrent protective function or fast response current limit function or a malfunction or fault of the equipment connected on the inverter output side. If fast response current limit function malfunctions, disable this function. (For *Pr. 156 Stall prevention operation selection, refer to page 135*.)

#### (4) Cable size of the control circuit power supply (terminal R1/L11, S1/L21)

- · Terminal screw size: M4
- · Cable size: 0.75mm<sup>2</sup> to 2mm<sup>2</sup>
- · Tightening torque: 1.5N·m

#### When connecting the control circuit and the main circuit separately 2.2.4 to the power supply (separate power)

<Connection diagram>



1)Remove the upper screws.

2) Remove the lower screws.

remove.

3) Pull the jumper toward you to

cable for the control circuit to the

the terminals in the lower stand.

When fault occurs, opening of the electromagnetic contactor (MC) on the inverter power supply side results in power loss in the control circuit, disabling the fault output signal retention. Terminals R1/L11 and S1/L21 are provided to hold a fault signal. In this case, connect the power supply terminals R1/L11 and S1/L21 of the control circuit to the primary side of the MC.



### CAUTION :

- Do not turn off the control power (terminals R1/L11 and S1/L21) with the main circuit power (R/L1, S/L2, T/L3) on. Doing so may damage the inverter. Make up a circuit which will switch off the main circuit power supply terminals R/L1, S/L2, T/L3 when the control circuit power supply terminals R1/L11, S1/L21 are switched off.
- Be sure to use the inverter with the jumpers across terminals R/L1-R1/L11 and S/L2-S1/L21 removed when supplying power from other sources. The inverter may be damaged if you do not remove the jumper.
- The voltage should be the same as that of the main control circuit when the control circuit power is supplied from other than the primary side of the MC.
- When separate power is supplied from R1/L11 and S1/L21, the power capacity necessary for the 15K or less is 90VA, for the 18.5K or more is 100VA.
- If the main circuit power is switched off (for 0.1s or more) then on again, the inverter resets and a fault output will not be held.

# 2.3 Control circuit specifications

#### 2.3.1 Control circuit terminals

indicates that terminal functions can be selected using Pr. 178 to Pr. 196 (I/O terminal function selection) (Refer to page 206.)

#### (1) Input signals

Type	Terminal Symbol	Terminal Name	Description		Rated Specifications	Refer to page
	STF	Forward rotation start	Turn on the STF signal to start forward rotation and turn it off to stop.	When the STF and STR signals are turned on		206
	STR	Reverse rotation start	rotation and turn it off to stop.	command is given.	Input resistance 4.7kΩ	
	STOP	Start self- holding selection	Turn on the STOP signal to self-hold the	e start signal.	Voltage at opening: 21 to 27VDC Contacts at short-	206
	RH, RM, RL	Multi-speed selection	Multi-speed can be selected according t RM and RL signals.	o the combination of RH,	circuited: 4 to 6mADC	206
		Jog mode selection	Turn on the JOG signal to select Jog ope turn on the start signal (STF or STR) to	eration (initial setting) and start Jog operation.		206
	JOG	Pulse train input	JOG terminal can be used as pulse train pulse train input terminal, the <i>Pr. 291</i> sett (maximum input pulse: 100kpulses/s)	input terminal. To use as ing needs to be changed.	Input resistance 2kΩ Contacts at short- circuited: 8 to 13mADC	206
	RT	Second function selection	Turn on the RT signal to select second f When the second function such as "secon "second V/F (base frequency)" are set, t selects these functions.	unction. ond torque boost" and urning on the RT signal		206
ut	MRS	Output stop	Turn on the MRS signal (20ms or more) to Use to shut off the inverter output when s electromagnetic brake.		206	
	RES	Reset	Used to reset fault output provided wher Turn on the RES signal for more than 0. Initial setting is for reset always. By settir to enabled only at fault occurrence. Rec is cancelled.	Input resistance 4.7kΩ Voltage at opening: 21 to 27VDC Contacts at short-	206	
ontact in	ΔΠ	Terminal 4 input selection	Terminal 4 is made valid only when the AU frequency setting signal can be set betwee Turning the AU signal on makes terminal	J signal is turned on. (The een 4 and 20mADC.) 2 (voltage input) invalid.	circuited: 4 to 6mADC	259
Ŭ	70	PTC input	AU terminal is used as PTC input termin the motor). When using it as PTC input t switch to PTC.		168	
	CS	Selection of automatic restart after instantaneous power failure	When the CS signal is left on, the inverte power restoration. Note that restart settin operation. In the initial setting, a restart i ( <i>Refer to Pr. 57 Restart coasting time in pag</i> )		206	
		Contact input common (sink) (initial setting)	Common terminal for contact input termina FM.	l (sink logic) and terminal		
	SD	External transistor common (source)	When connecting the transistor output (or such as a programmable controller, whe selected, connect the external power su transistor output to this terminal to preve by undesirable currents.	open collector output), n source logic is pply common for ent a malfunction caused		_
		24VDC power supply common	Common output terminal for 24VDC 0.1A terminal). Isolated from terminals 5 and SE.	opower supply (PC		
		External transistor common (sink) (initial setting)	When connecting the transistor output (op as a programmable controller, when sink the external power supply common for tra terminal to prevent a malfunction caused	ben collector output), such logic is selected, connect ansistor output to this by undesirable currents.	Power supply voltage range 19.2	
	PC	Contact input common (source)	Common terminal for contact input termin	nal (source logic).	to 28.8VDC Permissible load current 100mA	26
		24VDC power supply	Can be used as 24VDC 0.1A power supp	bly.		

Type	Terminal Symbol	Terminal Name	Description	Rated Specifications	Refer to page
	10E	Frequency	When connecting the frequency setting potentiometer at an initial status, connect it to terminal 10.	10VDC±0.4V Permissible load current 10mA	259
	10	supply	Change the input specifications of terminal 2 when connecting it to terminal 10E. ( <i>Refer to Pr. 73 Analog input selection.</i> )	5.2VDC±0.2V Permissible load current 10mA	259
	2	Frequency setting (voltage) Inputting 0 to 5VDC (or 0 to 10V, 0 to 20mA) pro maximum output frequency at 5V (10V, 20mA) a and output proportional. Use <i>Pr</i> : <i>73</i> to switch from to 5VDC (initial setting), 0 to 10VDC, and 0 to 20 Set the voltage/current input switch in the ON po	Inputting 0 to 5VDC (or 0 to 10V, 0 to 20mA) provides the maximum output frequency at 5V (10V, 20mA) and makes input and output proportional. Use <i>Pr: 73</i> to switch from among input 0 to 5VDC (initial setting), 0 to 10VDC, and 0 to 20mA. Set the voltage/current input switch in the ON position to select current input (0 to 20mA). *1	Voltage input: Input resistance $10k\Omega \pm 1k\Omega$ Maximum permissible voltage 20VDC	259
Frequency setting	4	Frequency setting (current)	Inputting 4 to 20mADC (or 0 to 5V, 0 to 10V) provides the maximum output frequency at 20mA makes input and output proportional. This input signal is valid only when the AU signal is on (terminal 2 input is invalid). Use <i>Pr. 267</i> to switch from among input 4 to 20mA (initial setting), 0 to 5VDC, and 0 to 10VDC. Set the voltage/current input switch in the OFF position to select voltage input (0 to 5V/0 to 10V). *1 Use <i>Pr. 858</i> to switch terminal functions.	Current input: Input resistance 245 $\Omega$ ± 5 $\Omega$ Maximum permissible current 30mA	259
	1	Frequency setting auxiliary	Inputting 0 to $\pm$ 5 VDC or 0 to $\pm$ 10VDC adds this signal to terminal 2 or 4 frequency setting signal. Use <i>Pr</i> : <i>73</i> to switch between the input 0 to $\pm$ 5VDC and 0 to $\pm$ 10VDC (initial setting). Use <i>Pr</i> : <i>868</i> to switch terminal functions.	Input resistance $10k\Omega \pm 1k\Omega$ Maximum permissible voltage $\pm 20VDC$	259
	5	Frequency setting common	Common terminal for frequency setting signal (terminal 2, 1 or 4) and analog output terminal AM. Do not earth (ground).		259

7/

\*1 Set *Pr. 73, Pr. 267*, and a voltage/current input switch correctly, then input an analog signal in accordance with the setting. Applying a voltage signal with voltage/current input switch on (current input is selected) or a current signal with switch off (voltage input is selected) could cause component damage of the inverter or analog circuit of signal output devices. (For details, *refer to page 259*.)

#### (2) Output signals

Type	Terminal Symbol	Terminal Name	Description		Rated Specifications	Referto page
Relay	A1, B1, C1	Relay output 1 (alarm output)	1 changeover contact output indicates that the inverter protective function has activated and the output stopped. Abnormal: No conduction across B-C (Across A-C Continuity), Normal: Across B-C Continuity (No conduction across A-C)		Contact capacity: 230VAC 0.3A (Power factor=0.4) 30VDC 0.3A	214
	A2, B2, C2	Relay output 2	1 changeover contact output			214
Open collector	RUN	Inverter running	Switched low when the inverter output frequency is equal to or higher than the starting frequency (initial value 0.5Hz). Switched high during stop or DC injection brake operation. *1			214
	SU	Up to frequency	Switched low when the output frequency reaches within the range of ±10% (initial value) of the set frequency. Switched high during acceleration/ deceleration and at a stop. *1		Permissible load 24VDC (27VDC maximum) 0.1A (A voltage drop is 2 8V maximum	214
	OL	Overload warning	Switched low when stall prevention is activated by the stall prevention function. Switched high when stall prevention is cancelled. *1	Alarm code (4bit) output <i>(Refer to page</i>	<ul> <li>*1 Low indicates that the open collector output transistor is on (conducts). High indicates that the transistor is off</li> </ul>	214
	IPF	Instantaneous power failure	Switched low when an instantaneous power failure and under voltage protections are activated. *1	248)		214
	FU	Frequency detection	Switched low when the inverter output frequency is equal to or higher than the preset detected frequency and high when less than the preset detected frequency. *1		(does not conduct).	214
	SE	Open collector output common	Common terminal for terminals RUN, SU, OL, IPF, FU			-
Pulse	FM	For meter	Select one e.g. output frequency from monitor items. Not output during inverter reset. The output signal is proportional to the magnitude of the corresponding monitoring item.	Output item: Output frequency (initial setting)	Permissible load current 2mA 1440pulses/s at 60Hz	228
		NPN open collector output		Signals can be output from the open collector terminals by setting <i>Pr</i> : 291.	Maximum output pulse: 50kpulses/s Permissible load current : 80mA	346
Analog	АМ	Analog signal output		Output item: Output frequency (initial setting)	Output signal 0 to 10VDC Permissible load current 1mA (load impedance 10kΩ or more) Resolution 8 bit	228

 $\mathbb{Z}$ 

# (3) Communication

Type	Te S	erminal Symbol	Terminal Name	Description	Refer to page	
RS-485			PU connector	With the PU connector, communication can be made through RS-485.         (for connection on a 1:1 basis only)         . Conforming standard       : EIA-485 (RS-485)         . Transmission format       : Multidrop link         . Communication speed       : 4800 to 38400bps         . Overall length       : 500m	297	
	RS-485 terminals	TXD+	Inverter			
		TXD-	terminal	With the RS-485 terminals, communication can be made through RS-485. Conforming standard :EIA-485 (RS-485)		
		RXD+	Inverter	Transmission format       : Multidrop link         Communication speed       : 300 to 38400bps         Overall length       : 500m	299	
		RXD-	reception terminal			
		SG	Earth (Ground)			

#### 2.3.2 Changing the control logic

The input signals are set to sink logic (SINK) when shipped from the factory.

To change the control logic, the jumper connector on the back of the control circuit terminal block must be moved to the other position.

(The output signals may be used in either the sink or source logic independently of the jumper connector position.)

1)Loosen the two installation screws in both ends of the control circuit terminal block. (These screws cannot be removed.)

Pull down the terminal block from behind the control circuit terminals.



2) Change the jumper connector set to the sink logic (SINK) on the rear panel of the control circuit terminal block to source logic (SOURCE).



3) Using care not to bend the pins of the inverter's control circuit connector, reinstall the control circuit terminal block and fix it with the mounting screws.



#### = Caution =

- 1. Make sure that the control circuit connector is fitted correctly.
- 2. While power is on, never disconnect the control circuit terminal block.

2

WIRING
#### 4) Sink logic and source logic

- $\cdot\;$  In sink logic, a signal switches on when a current flows from the corresponding signal input terminal.
- Terminal SD is common to the contact input signals. Terminal SE is common to the open collector output signals.
  In source logic, a signal switches on when a current flows into the corresponding signal input terminal.
- Terminal PC is common to the contact input signals. Terminal SE is common to the open collector output signals.



• When using an external power supply for transistor output

### · Sink logic type

Use terminal PC as a common terminal, and perform wiring as shown below. (Do not connect terminal SD of the inverter with terminal 0V of the external power supply. When using terminals PC-SD as a 24VDC power supply, do not install a power supply in parallel in the outside of the inverter. Doing so may cause a malfunction due to undesirable current.)



Source logic type

Use terminal SD as a common terminal, and perform wiring as shown below. (Do not connect terminal PC of the inverter with terminal +24V of the external power supply. When using terminals PC-SD as a 24VDC power supply, do not install an external power supply in parallel with the inverter. Doing so may cause a malfunction in the inverter due to undesirable currents.)



# 2.3.3 Control circuit terminal layout

Terminal screw size: M3.5 Tightening torque: 1.2N·m



### (1) Common terminals of the control circuit (SD, 5, SE)

Terminals SD, 5, and SE are all common terminals (0V) for I/O signals and are isolated from each other. Do not earth (ground) these terminals.

Avoid connecting the terminal SD and 5 and the terminal SE and 5.

Terminal SD is a common terminal for the contact input terminals (STF, STR, STOP, RH, RM, RL, JOG, RT, MRS, RES, AU, CS) and frequency output signal (FM).

The open collector circuit is isolated from the internal control circuit by photocoupler.

Terminal 5 is a common terminal for frequency setting signal (terminal 2, 1 or 4) and analog output terminal AM.

It should be protected from external noise using a shielded or twisted cable.

Terminal SE is a common terminal for the open collector output terminal (RUN, SU, OL, IPF, FU).

The contact input circuit is isolated from the internal control circuit by photocoupler.

### (2) Signal inputs by contactless switches

The contacted input terminals of the inverter (STF, STR, STOP, RH, RM, RL, JOG, RT, MRS, RES, AU, CS) can be controlled using a transistor instead of a contacted switch as shown on the right.



External signal input using transistor

### 2.3.4 Wiring instructions

- 1) Use shielded or twisted cables for connection to the control circuit terminals and run them away from the main and power circuits (including the 200V relay sequence circuit).
- 2) Use two or more parallel micro-signal contacts or twin contacts to prevent a contact faults when using contact inputs since the control circuit input signals are micro-currents.





Twin contacts

Micro signal contacts

- 3) Do not apply a voltage to the contact input terminals (e.g. STF) of the control circuit.
- 4) Always apply a voltage to the fault output terminals (A, B, C) via a relay coil, lamp, etc.
- It is recommended to use the cables of 0.75mm<sup>2</sup> gauge for connection to the control circuit terminals.
   If the cable gauge used is 1.25mm<sup>2</sup> or more, the front cover may be lifted when there are many cables running or
- the cables are run improperly, resulting in an operation panel contact fault.
- 6) The wiring length should be 30m(200m for terminal FM) maximum.

### 2.3.5 When connecting the operation panel using a connection cable

When connecting the operation panel (FR-DU07) to the inverter using a cable, the operation panel can be mounted on the enclosure surface and operationality improves.



#### = CAUTION :

Do not connect the PU connector to the computer's LAN port, FAX modem socket or telephone connector. The inverter and machine could be damaged due to differences in electrical specifications.

### REMARKS

- Refer to page 5 for removal method of the operation panel.
- $\cdot$  Overall wiring length when the operation panel is connected: 20m maximum
- $\cdot\,$  Refer to the following when fabricating the cable on the user side.
- Commercially available product examples (as of Feb., 2008)

	Product	Туре	Maker
1)	10BASE-T cable	SGLPEV-T 0.5mm × 4P	Mitsubishi Cable Industries, Ltd.
2)	RJ-45 connector	5-554720-3	Tyco Electronics Corporation

• The inverter can be connected to the computer and FR-PU04/FR-PU07.

### 2.3.6 RS-485 terminal block

- · Conforming standard: EIA-485(RS-485)
- Transmission format: Multidrop link
- Communication speed: MAX 38400bps
- · Overall length: 500m
- · Connection cable:Twisted pair cable
  - (4 paires)



### 2.3.7 Communication operation

Using the PU connector or RS-485 terminal, you can perform communication operation from a personal computer etc. When the PU connector is connected with a personal, FA or other computer by a communication cable, a user program can run and monitor the inverter or read and write to parameters.

For the Mitsubishi inverter protocol (computer link operation), communication can be performed with the PU connector and RS-485 terminal.

For the Modbus RTU protocol, communication can be performed with the RS-485 terminal. For further details, *refer to page 297*.

# 2.4 Connection of motor with encoder (vector control)

Orientation control and encoder feedback control, and speed control, torque control and position control by full-scale vector control operation can be performed using a motor with encoder and a plug-in option FR-A7AP.

(1) Structure of the FR-A7AP



(2) Terminals of the FR-A7AP

Terminal	Terminal Name	Description			
PA1	Encoder A-phase signal input terminal				
PA2	Encoder A-phase inverse signal input terminal				
PB1	Encoder B-phase signal input terminal	A B and Z phase signals are input from the encoder			
PB2	Encoder B-phase inverse signal input terminal	- A-, B- and Z-phase signals are input from the encoder.			
PZ1	Encoder Z-phase signal input terminal				
PZ2	Encoder Z-phase inversion signal input terminal				
PG	Encoder power supply (positive side) input terminal	Input terminal for the encoder power supply.			
SD	Encoder power supply ground terminal	Connect the external power supply (5V, 12V, 15V, 24V) and the encoder power cable.			
PIN	Netuced				
PO					

Connection of motor with encoder (vector control)

- (3) Switches of the FR-A7AP
- Encoder specification selection switch (SW1) Select either differential line driver or complementary It is initially set to the differential line driver. Switch its position according to output circuit.



Terminating resistor selection switch (SW2)
 Select ON/OFF of the internal terminating resistor. Set the switch to ON (initial status) when an encoder output type is differential line driver and set to OFF when complementary.
 ON : with internal terminating resistor (initial status)

OFF : without internal terminating resistor

### REMARKS

- · Set all swithces to the same setting (ON/OFF).
- If the encoder output type is differential line driver, set the terminating resistor switch to the "OFF" position when sharing the same encoder with other unit (NC
- (numerical controller), etc) or a terminating resistor is connected to other unit.
- istor it (NC unit.

Internal terminating

resistor-ON

(initial status)

Motor used and switch setting

Motor		Encoder Specification Selection Switch (SW1)	Terminating Resistor Selection Switch (SW2)	Power Specifications *2
Mitsubishi standard motor with encoder	SF-JR	Differential	ON	5V
Mitsubishi high efficiency motor with	SF-HR	Differential	ON	5V
encoder	Others	*1	*1	*1
	SF-JRCA	Differential	ON	5V
encoder	SF-HRCA	Differential	ON	5V
	Others	*1	*1	*1
Vector control dedicated motor	SF-V5RU	Complimentary	OFF	12V
Other manufacturer motor with encoder	-	*1	*1	*1

\*1 Set according to the motor (encoder) used.

\*2 Choose a power supply (5V/12V/15V/24V) for encoder according to the encoder used.

#### 

SW3 switch is for manufacturer setting. Do not change the setting.

#### · Encoder specification

ltem	Encoder for SF-JR/HR/JRCA/HRCA	Encoder for SF-V5RU
Resolution	1024 Pulse/Rev	2048 Pulse/Rev
Power supply voltage	5VDC±10%	12VDC±10%
Current consumption	150mA	150mA
Output signal form	A, B phases (90° phase shift) Z phase: 1 pulse/rev	A, B phases (90° phase shift) Z phase: 1 pulse/rev
Output circuit	Differential line driver 74LS113 equivalent	Complimentary
Output voltage	H level: 2.4V or more L level: 0.5V or less	H level: "Power supply for encoder-3V" or more L level: 3V or less

#### = CAUTION

Encoder with resolution of 1000 to 4096 pulse/rev is recommended.



### (4) Encoder Cable



As the terminal block of the FR-A7AP is an insertion type, earth cables need to be modified. (See below)

• When using the dedicated encoder cable (FR-JCBL, FR-V5CBL, etc.) for the conventional motor, cut the crimpling terminal of the encoder cable and strip its sheath to make its cables loose.

Also, protect the shielded cable of the twisted pair shielded cable to ensure that it will not make contact with the conductive area.

Cable stripping size Wire the stripped cable after twisting it to prevent it from becoming loose. In addition, do not solder it.

5mm

Use a bar terminal as necessary.

#### REMARKS

Information on bar terminals

Commercially available product examples (as of Mar., 2008)

Terminal Screw	Wire Size	Bar Tern	ninal Model	Makar			
Size	(mm²)	with insulation sleeve	without insulation sleeve	Waker			
M2	0.3, 0.5	AI 0,5-6WH	A 0,5-6	Phoenix Contact Co.,Ltd.			
Bar terminal crimping tool: CRIMPFOX ZA3 (Phoenix Contact Co., Ltd.)							

When using the bar terminal (without insulation sleeve), use care so that the twisted wires do not come out.



### Connection terminal compatibility table

Motor		SF-V5RU, SF-THY	SF-JR/HR/JRCA/HRCA (with Encoder)
Encoder cable		FR-V7CBL	FR-JCBL
	PA1	PA	PA
	PA2	Keep this open.	PAR
	PB1	PB	PB
ED A7AD terminal	PB2	Keep this open.	PBR
	PZ1	PZ	PZ
	PZ2	Keep this open.	PZR
	PG	PG	5E
	SD	SD	AG2

### (5) Wiring

#### · Speed control



#### Torque control



\*1 The pin number differs according to the encoder used.

- Speed control and torque control are properly performed even without connecting Z phase.
- \*2 Connect the encoder so that there is no looseness between the motor and motor shaft. Speed ratio should be 1:1.
- \*3 Earth (Ground) the shielded cable of the encoder cable to the enclosure with a P clip, etc. (Refer to page 35.)
- \*4 For the complementary, set the terminating resistor selection switch to off position. (Refer to page 31.)
- \*5 A separate power supply of 5V/12V/15V/24V is necessary according to the encoder power specification.
- \*6 For terminal compatibility of the FR-JCBL, FR-V7CBL and FR-A7AP, refer to *page 32*.
- \*7 For the fan of the 7.5kW or less dedicated motor, the power supply is single phase. (200V/50Hz, 200 to 230V/60Hz)

\*8 Assign OH (external thermal input) signal to the terminal CS. (Set "7" in Pr. 186) Connect a 2W1kΩ resistor between the terminal PC and CS (OH). Install the resistor pushing against the bottom part of the terminal block so as to avoid a contact with other cables. Refer to page 206 for details of Pr. 186 CS terminal function selection.



· Position control



- \*1 The pin number differs according to the encoder used.
  - Position control by pulse train input is properly performed even without connecting Z phase.
- \*2 Connect the encoder so that there is no looseness between the motor and motor shaft. Speed ratio should be 1:1.
- \*3 Earth (Ground) the shielded cable of the encoder cable to the enclosure with a P clip, etc. (Refer to page 35.)
- \*4 For the complementary, set the terminating resistor selection switch to off position. (Refer to page 31.)
- \*5 A separate power supply of 5V/12V/15V/24V is necessary according to the encoder power specification.
- \*6 For terminal compatibility of the FR-JCBL, FR-V7CBL and FR-A7AP, refer to page 32.
- \*7 Assign the function using Pr. 178 to Pr. 184, Pr. 187 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection).
- \*8 When position control is selected, terminal JOG function is made invalid and conditional position pulse train input terminal becomes valid.
- \*9 Assign the function using Pr. 190 to Pr. 194 (output terminal function selection).
- \*10 For the fan of the 7.5kW or less dedicated motor, the power supply is single phase. (200V/50Hz, 200 to 230V/60Hz)
- \*11 Assign OH (external thermal input) signal to the terminal CS. (Set "7" in *Pr. 186*) Connect a 2W1k $\Omega$  resistor between the terminal PC and CS (OH). Install the resistor pushing against the bottom part of the terminal block so as to avoid a contact with other cables.

Refer to page 206 for details of Pr. 186 CS terminal function selection.



### (6) Instructions for encoder cable wiring

• Use twisted pair shield cables (0.2mm<sup>2</sup> or larger) to connect the FR-A7AP and position detector. Cables to terminals PG and SD should be connected in paralell or be larger in size according to the cable length. To protect the cables from noise, run them away from any source of noise (e.g. the main circuit and power supply voltage).

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·								
Wiring Length	Paralell Conne	Larger-Size Cable						
Within 10m	At least two cables in parallel	Cable gauge	0.4mm <sup>2</sup> or larger					
Within 20m	At least four cables in parallel	0.2mm <sup>2</sup>	0.75mm <sup>2</sup> or larger					
Within 100m *	At least six cables in parallel	0.2.1111	1.25mm <sup>2</sup> or larger					

When differential line driver is set and a wiring length is 30m or more

The wiring length can be extended to 100m by slightly increasing the power by 5V (approx. 5.5V) using six or more cables with gauge size of 0.2mm<sup>2</sup> in parallel or a cable with gauge size of 1.25mm<sup>2</sup> or more. Note that the voltage applied should be within power supply specifications of encoder.

To reduce noise of the encoder cable, earth (ground) the encoder Earthing (grounding) example using a P clip shielded cable to the enclosure (as near as the inverter) with a P clip or U clip made of metal.

### REMARKS

For details of the optional encoder dedicated cable (FR-JCBL/FR-V7CBL), refer to page 32.



#### (7) Parameter for encoder (Pr. 359, Pr. 369)

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
259	Encoder rotation	1	0	Encoder CW Forward rotation is clockwise rotation when viewed from A.
359	direction		1	Forward rotation is counterclockwise Encoder
369	Number of encoder pulses	1024	0 to 4096	Set the number of encoder pulses output. Set the number of pulses before it is multiplied by 4.

The above parameters can be set when the FR-A7AP (option) is mounted.

#### (8) Motor for vector control and parameter setting

Motor Na	me	<b>Pr. 9</b> Electronic thermal O/L relay	<b>Pr.</b> 71 Applied motor	<b>Pr. 80</b> Motor capacity	<b>Pr. 81</b> Number of motor poles	Pr. 359 Encoder rotation direction	<b>Pr. 369</b> Number of encoder pulses
Mitaubiabi atandard	SF-JR	Motor rated current	0	Motor capacity	Number of motor poles	1	1024
motor	SF-HR	Motor rated current	40	Motor capacity	Number of motor poles	1	1024
motor	Others	Motor rated current	3 *1	Motor capacity	Number of motor poles	*2	*2
	SF-JRCA 4P	Motor rated current	1	Motor capacity	4	1	1024
torque motor	SF-HRCA	Motor rated current	50	Motor capacity	Number of motor poles	1	1024
	Others	Motor rated current	<b>13</b> *1	Motor capacity	Number of motor poles	*2	*2
Mitsubishi vector control dedicated	SF-V5RU (1500r/min series)	0 *3	30	Motor capacity	4	1	2048
motor	SF-V5RU (except for 1500r/ min series)	0 *3	<b>13</b> •1	Motor capacity	4	1	2048
	SF-THY	0 *3	33 *1	Motor capacity	4	1	2048
Other manufacturer's standard motor	—	Motor rated current	3 *1	Motor capacity	Number of motor poles	*2	*2
Other manufacturer's constant torque motor	_	Motor rated current	13 *1	Motor capacity	Number of motor poles	*2	*2

Values in the bolded frame are initial values.

Offline auto tuning is necessary. (Refer to page 171) \*1

\*2 Set this parameter according to the motor (encoder) used. \*3 Use thermal protector input provided with the motor.

♦ Parameters referred to ♦

• Vector control (speed control) The Refer to page 81.

• Vector control (torque control) I Refer to page 107.

• Vector control (position control) I Refer to page 115.

• Orientation control I Refer to page 195.

• Encoder feedback control I Refer to page 349.



Encoder cable

Shield

P clip

- (9) Combination with a vector control dedicated motor Refer to the table below when using with a vector control dedicated motor.
- · Combination with the SF-V5RU

Voltage		200V class		400V class				
Rated speed	1500r/min							
Base frequency			50	Hz				
Maximum speed			3000	r/min				
Motor capacity	Motor frame number Motor type Inverter typ			Motor frame number	Motor type	Inverter type		
3.7kW	112M	SF-V5RU3K	FR-A721-5.5K	—	—	—		
5.5kW	132S	SF-V5RU5K	FR-A721-7.5K	132S	SF-V5RUH5K	FR-A741-7.5K		
7.5kW	132M	SF-V5RU7K	FR-A721-11K	132M	SF-V5RUH7K	FR-A741-11K		
11kW	160M	SF-V5RU11K	FR-A721-15K	160M	SF-V5RUH11K	FR-A741-15K		
15kW	160L	SF-V5RU15K	FR-A721-18.5K	160L	SF-V5RUH15K	FR-A741-18.5K		
18.5kW	180M	SF-V5RU18K	FR-A721-22K	180M	SF-V5RUH18K	FR-A741-22K		
22kW	180M	SF-V5RU22K	FR-A721-30K	180M	SF-V5RUH22K	FR-A741-30K		
30kW	200L *2	SF-V5RU30K	FR-A721-37K	200L *2	SF-V5RUH30K	FR-A741-37K		
37kW	200L *2	SF-V5RU37K	FR-A721-45K	200L *2	SF-V5RUH37K	FR-A741-45K		
45kW	200L *2	SF-V5RU45K	FR-A721-55K	200L *2	SF-V5RUH45K	FR-A741-55K		

#### · Combination with the SF-V5RU1, 3, 4 and SF-THY

	SF-V5RU□1 (1:2)			SF-V5RU□3 (1:3)			SF-V5RU□4 (1:4)			
Voltage				200V class						
Rated speed		1000r/min	1		1000r/min	ı		500r/min		
Base frequency		33.33Hz			33.33Hz		16.6Hz			
Maximum speed	2000r/min				3000r/min			2000r/min		
Motor capacity	Motor frame number	Motor type	Inverter type	Motor frame number	Motor type	Inverter type	Motor frame number	Motor type	Inverter type	
3.7kW	132S	SF-V5RU3K1	FR-A721-5.5K	132M	SF-V5RU3K3	FR-A721-5.5K	160L	SF-V5RU3K4	FR-A721-7.5K	
5.5kW	132M	SF-V5RU5K1	FR-A721-7.5K	160M	SF-V5RU5K3	FR-A721-7.5K	180L	SF-V5RU5K4	FR-A721-7.5K	
7.5kW	160M	SF-V5RU7K1	FR-A721-11K	160L	SF-V5RU7K3	FR-A721-11K	200L	SF-V5RU7K4	FR-A721-11K	
11kW	160L	SF-V5RU11K1	FR-A721-15K	180M	SF-V5RU11K3	FR-A721-15K	225S	SF-V5RU11K4	FR-A721-15K	
15kW	180M	SF-V5RU15K1	FR-A721-18.5K	180L	SF-V5RU15K3	FR-A721-18.5K	225S	SF-V5RU15K4	FR-A721-22K	
18.5kW	180L	SF-V5RU18K1	FR-A721-22K	200L	SF-V5RU18K3	FR-A721-22K	250MD	SF-THY	FR-A721-22K	
22kW	200L	SF-V5RU22K1	FR-A721-30K	200L	SF-V5RU22K3	FR-A721-30K	280MD	SF-THY	FR-A721-30K	
30kW	200L*3	SF-V5RU30K1	FR-A721-37K	225S*1	SF-V5RU30K3	FR-A721-37K	280MD	SF-THY	FR-A721-37K	
37kW	225S	SF-V5RU37K1	FR-A721-45K	250MD*1	SF-THY	FR-A721-45K	280MD	SF-THY	FR-A721-45K	
45kW	250MD	SF-THY	FR-A721-55K	250MD*1	SF-THY	FR-A721-55K	280MD	SF-THY	FR-A721-55K	

Models surrounded by black borders and 400V class are developed upon receipt of order.

\*1 The maximum speed is 2400r/min.
\*2 80% output in the high-speed range. (The output is reduced when the speed is 2400r/min or more.)

\*3 90% output in the high-speed range. (The output is reduced when the speed is 1000r/min or more.)



This chapter explains the "PRECAUTIONS FOR USE OF THE INVERTER" for use of this product.

Always read the instructions before using the equipment

3.1	EMC and leakage currents	38
3.2	Power-off and magnetic contactor (MC)	44
3.3	Inverter-driven 400V class motor	45
3.4	Precautions for use of the inverter	46
3.5	Failsafe of the system which uses the inverter .	48

\_\_\_\_

## 3.1 EMC and leakage currents

### 3.1.1 Leakage currents and countermeasures

Capacitances exist between the inverter I/O cables, other cables and earth and in the motor, through which a leakage current flows. Since its value depends on the static capacitances, carrier frequency, etc., low acoustic noise operation at the increased carrier frequency of the inverter will increase the leakage current. Therefore, take the following measures. Select the earth leakage circuit breaker according to its rated sensitivity current, independently of the carrier frequency setting.

### (1) To-earth (ground) leakage currents

Leakage currents may flow not only into the inverter's own line but also into the other lines through the earth (ground) cable, etc. These leakage currents may operate earth (ground) leakage circuit breakers and earth leakage relays unnecessarily.

- Suppression technique
  - · If the carrier frequency setting is high, decrease the *Pr. 72 PWM frequency selection* setting. Note that motor noise increases. Selecting *Pr. 240 Soft-PWM operation selection* makes the sound inoffensive.
  - By using earth leakage circuit breakers designed for harmonic and surge suppression in the inverter's own line and other line, operation can be performed with the carrier frequency kept high (with low noise).
- To-earth (ground) leakage currents
  - Take caution as long wiring will increase the leakage current. Decreasing the carrier frequency of the inverter reduces the leakage current.
  - Increasing the motor capacity increases the leakage current. The leakage current of the 400V class is larger than that of the 200V class.

### (2) Line-to-line leakage currents

Harmonics of leakage currents flowing in static capacitances between the inverter output cables may operate the external thermal relay unnecessarily. When the wiring length is long (50m or more) for the 400V class small-capacity model (7.5K or less), the external thermal relay is likely to operate unnecessarily because the ratio of the leakage current to the rated motor current increases.

Motor Capacity	Capacity Rated Motor Leakage Currents(mA)		
(kW)	Current(A)	Wiring length 50m	Wiring length 100m
3.7	12.8	440	630
5.5	19.4	490	680
7.5	25.6	535	725

• Line-to-line leakage current data example (200V class)

Motor SF-JR 4P Carrier frequency: 14.5kHz Used wire: 2mm<sup>2</sup>, 4cores Cabtyre cable

\*The leakage currents of the 400V class are about twice as large.



#### Measures

- Use *Pr. 9 Electronic thermal O/L relay*.
- If the carrier frequency setting is high, decrease the *Pr. 72 PWM frequency selection* setting. Note that motor noise increases. Selecting *Pr. 240 Soft-PWM operation selection* makes the sound inoffensive. To ensure that the motor is protected against line-to-line leakage currents, it is recommended to use a temperature sensor to directly detect motor temperature.
- Installation and selection of moulded case circuit breaker

Install a moulded case circuit breaker (MCCB) on the power receiving side to protect the wiring of the inverter input side. Select the MCCB according to the inverter input side power factor (which depends on the power supply voltage, output frequency and load). Especially for a completely electromagnetic MCCB, one of a slightly large capacity must be selected since its operation characteristic varies with harmonic currents. (Check it in the data of the corresponding breaker.) As an earth leakage circuit breaker, use the Mitsubishi earth leakage circuit breaker designed for harmonics and surge suppression.

### (3) Selection of rated sensitivity current of earth leakage circuit breaker

When using the earth leakage circuit breaker with the inverter circuit, select its rated sensitivity current as follows, independently of the PWM carrier frequency:

- Rated sensitivity current:
- $I\Delta n \ge 10 \times (Ig1 + Ign + Igi + Ig2 + Igm)$
- Standard breaker Rated sensitivity current:
  - $|\Delta n \ge 10 \times \{ |g_1 + |g_n + |g_i + 3 \times (|g_2 + |g_m) \}$



- · Breaker designed for harmonic and surge suppression Ig1, Ig2: Leakage currents in wire path during commercial power supply operation
  - Ign: Leakage current of inverter input side noise filter Igm: Leakage current of motor during commercial power
  - supply operation
  - Igi: Leakage current of inverter unit





0

Leakage current example of three-

Motor capacity (kW)

For "  $\downarrow$ " connection, the amount of leakage current is appox.1/3 of the above value

#### <Example>

		Breaker Designed for Harmonic and Surge Suppression	Standard Breaker	
5.5mm <sup>2</sup> × 5m 5.5mm <sup>2</sup> × 40m	Leakage current Ig1 (mA)	33 ×5 100	m = 0.17	
ELB Noise	Leakage current Ign (mA)	0 (without noise filter)		
	Leakage current Igi (mA)	1		
	Leakage current (g2 (mA)	33 ~4(	)m = 1.32	
igi igii <u>¥</u> ig∠ igiii lqi	Leakage current igz (inA)	100	)0m	
5	Motor leakage current Igm (mA)	0.29		
	Total leakage current (mA)	2.78	6.00	
	Rated sensitivity current (mA) ( $\geq Ig \times 10$ )	30	100	

#### = CAUTION =

- Install the earth leakage circuit breaker (ELB) on the input side of the inverter. .
- In the A connection earthed-neutral system, the sensitivity current is blunt against an earth (ground) fault in the inverter output side. Earthing (Grounding) must conform to the requirements of national and local safety regulations and electrical codes. (NEC section 250, IEC 536 class 1 and other applicable standards)
- Use a neutral-point earthed (grounded) power supply for 400V class inverter in compliance with EN standard.
- When the breaker is installed on the output side of the inverter, it may be unnecessarily operated by harmonics even if the effective value is less than the rating. In this case, do not install the breaker since the eddy current and hysteresis loss will increase, leading to temperature rise.
- The following models are standard breakers....BV-C1, BC-V, NVB, NV-L, NV-G2N, NV-G3NA and NV-2F earth leakage relay (except NV-ZHA), NV with AA neutral wire open-phase protection
- The other models are designed for harmonic and surge suppression....NV-C/NV-S/MN series, NV30-FA, NV50-FA, BV-C2, earth leakage alarm breaker (NF-Z), NV-ZHA, NV-H

### 3.1.2 EMC measures

Some electromagnetic noises enter the inverter to malfunction it and others are radiated by the inverter to malfunction peripheral devices. Though the inverter is designed to have high immunity performance, it handles low-level signals, so it requires the following basic techniques. Also, since the inverter chops outputs at high carrier frequency, that could generate electromagnetic noises. If these electromagnetic noises cause peripheral devices to malfunction, EMI measures should be taken to suppress noises. These techniques differ slightly depending on EMI paths.

1) Basic techniques

- Do not run the power cables (I/O cables) and signal cables of the inverter in parallel with each other and do not bundle them.
- Use twisted shield cables for the detector connecting and control signal cables and connect the sheathes of the shield cables to terminal SD.
- · Earth (Ground) the inverter, motor, etc. at one point.
- 2) Techniques to reduce electromagnetic noises that enter and malfunction the inverter (Immunity measures)) When devices that generate many electromagnetic noises (which use magnetic contactors, magnetic brakes, many relays, for example) are installed near the inverter and the inverter may be malfunctioned by electromagnetic noises, the following measures must be taken:
  - Provide surge suppressors for devices that generate many electromagnetic noises to suppress electromagnetic noises.
  - · Fit data line filters (page 41) to signal cables.
  - · Earth (Ground) the shields of the detector connection and control signal cables with cable clamp metal.
- 3) Techniques to reduce electromagnetic noises that are radiated by the inverter to malfunction peripheral devices (EMI measures)

Inverter-generated electromagnetic noises are largely classified into those radiated by the cables connected to the inverter and inverter main circuits (I/O), those electromagnetically and electrostatically induced to the signal cables of the peripheral devices close to the main circuit power supply, and those transmitted through the power supply cables.



Propagation Path	Measures
1) 2) 3)	<ul> <li>When devices that handle low-level signals and are liable to malfunction due to electromagnetic noises, e.g. instruments, receivers and sensors, are contained in the enclosure that contains the inverter or when their signal cables are run near the inverter, the devices may be malfunctioned by air-propagated electromagnetic noises. The following measures must be taken: <ul> <li>(1) Install easily affected devices as far away as possible from the inverter.</li> <li>(2) Run easily affected signal cables as far away as possible from the inverter and its I/O cables.</li> <li>(3) Do not run the signal cables and power cables (inverter I/O cables) in parallel with each other and do not bundle them.</li> <li>(4) Insert common mode filters into I/O and capacitors between the input lines to suppress cable-radiated noises.</li> <li>(5) Use shield cables as signal cables and power cables and run them in individual metal conduits to produce further effects.</li> </ul> </li> </ul>
4) 5) 6)	<ul> <li>When the signal cables are run in parallel with or bundled with the power cables, magnetic and static induction noises may be propagated to the signal cables to malfunction the devices and the following measures must be taken:</li> <li>(1) Install easily affected devices as far away as possible from the inverter.</li> <li>(2) Run easily affected signal cables as far away as possible from the I/O cables of the inverter.</li> <li>(3) Do not run the signal cables and power cables (inverter I/O cables) in parallel with each other and do not bundle them.</li> <li>(4) Use shield cables as signal cables and power cables and run them in individual metal conduits to produce further effects.</li> </ul>
7)	When the power supplies of the peripheral devices are connected to the power supply of the inverter in the same line, inverter-generated noises may flow back through the power supply cables to malfunction the devices. In such a case, installing the common mode filter (FR-BLF) to the power cables (output cable) of the inverter will prevent malfunction.
8)	When a closed loop circuit is formed by connecting the peripheral device wiring to the inverter, leakage currents may flow through the earth (ground) cable of the inverter to malfunction the device. In such a case, disconnection of the earth (ground) cable of the device may cause the device to operate properly.

### Data line filter

As immunity measures it may effective, provide a data line filter for the detector cable etc.

#### EMC measures



### 3.1.3 Power supply harmonics

The inverter may generate power supply harmonics from its converter circuit to affect the power generator, power capacitor etc. Power supply harmonics are different from noise and leakage currents in source, frequency band and transmission path. Take the following countermeasure suppression techniques.

This inverter has a built-in AC reactor (FR-HAL) and a circuit type specified in Harmonic suppression guideline in Japan is three-phase bridge (capacitor smoothed) and with reactor (AC side).

### 3.1.4 Harmonic suppression guideline

Harmonic currents flow from the inverter to a power receiving point via a power transformer. The harmonic suppression guideline was established to protect other consumers from these outgoing harmonic currents.

The three-phase 200V input specifications 3.7kW or less are previously covered by "Harmonic suppression guideline for household appliances and general-purpose products" and other models are covered by "Harmonic suppression guideline for consumers who receive high voltage or special high voltage". However, the general-purpose inverter has been excluded from the target products covered by "Harmonic suppression guideline for household appliances and general-purpose products" in January 2004. Later, this guideline was repealed on September 6, 2004. All capacities of all models are now target products of "Harmonic suppression guideline for consumers who receive high voltage or special high voltage".

"Guideline for specific consumers"

This guideline sets forth the maximum values of harmonic currents outgoing from a high-voltage or especially highvoltage consumer who will install, add or renew harmonic generating equipment. If any of the maximum values is exceeded, this guideline requires that consumer to take certain suppression measures.

Received Power Voltage	5th	7th	11th	13th	17th	19th	23rd	Over 23rd
6.6kV	3.5	2.5	1.6	1.3	1.0	0.9	0.76	0.70
22kV	1.8	1.3	0.82	0.69	0.53	0.47	0.39	0.36
33kV	1.2	0.86	0.55	0.46	0.35	0.32	0.26	0.24

Table 1 Maximum Values of Outgoing Harmonic Currents per 1kW Contract Power

### (1) Application of the harmonic suppression guideline for specific consumers



Rated capacity: Determined by the capacity of the applied motor and found in Table 5. It should be noted that the rated

capacity used here is used to calculate generated harmonic

amount and is different from the power supply capacity

required for actual inverter drive.

### Table 2 Conversion factors for FR-A701 series

Class	C	Conversion Factor (Ki)	
3	Three-phase bridge (Capacitor smoothing)	With reactor (AC side)	K32 = 1.8

**Table 3 Equivalent Capacity Limits** 

Received Power Voltage	Reference Capacity
6.6kV	50kVA
22/33kV	300kVA
66kV or more	2000kVA

### Table 4 Harmonic content (Values of the fundamental current is 100%)

Reactor	5th	7th	11th	13th	17th	19th	23rd	25th
Jsed (AC side)	38	14.5	7.4	3.4	3.2	1.9	1.7	1.3

1) Calculation of equivalent capacity P0 of harmonic generating equipment

The "equivalent capacity" is the capacity of a 6-pulse converter converted from the capacity of consumer's harmonic generating equipment and is calculated with the following equation. If the sum of equivalent capacities is higher than the limit in Table 3, harmonics must be calculated with the following procedure:

### $\underline{PO = \Sigma (Ki \times Pi) [kVA]}$

ι

- Ki: Conversion factor(According to Table 2)
- Pi: Rated capacity of harmonic generating equipment\* [kVA]
- i : Number indicating the conversion circuit type

### 2) Calculation of outgoing harmonic current

Outgoing harmonic current = fundamental wave current (value converted from received power voltage) × operation ratio × harmonic content

- · Operation ratio: Operation ratio = actual load factor × operation time ratio during 30 minutes
- · Harmonic content: Found in Table 4.

#### Table 5 Rated capacities and outgoing harmonic currents of inverter-driven motors

Applied	Rated (	Current A)	Fundamental Wave Current	Rated	0	utgoing	Harmonio (With rea	c Current ctor, 100	t Convert % operat	ed from tion ratio	6.6kV (m )	A)
Motor (kW)	200V	400V	Converted from 6.6kV (mA)	Capacity (kVA)	5th	7th	11th	13th	17th	19th	23rd	25th
5.5	19.1	9.55	579	6.77	220.0	83.96	42.85	19.69	18.53	11.00	9.843	7.527
7.5	25.6	12.8	776	9.07	294.9	112.5	57.42	26.38	24.83	14.74	13.19	10.09
11	36.9	18.5	1121	13.1	426.0	162.5	82.95	38.11	35.87	21.30	19.06	14.57
15	49.8	24.9	1509	17.6	573.4	218.8	111.7	51.31	48.29	28.67	25.65	19.62
18.5	61.4	30.7	1860	21.8	706.8	269.7	137.6	63.24	59.52	35.34	31.62	24.18
22	73.1	36.6	2220	25.9	843.6	321.9	164.3	75.48	71.04	42.18	37.74	28.86
30	98.0	49.0	2970	34.7	1129	430.7	219.8	101.0	95.04	56.43	50.49	38.61
37	121	60.4	3660	42.8	1391	530.7	270.8	124.4	117.1	69.54	62.22	47.58
45	147	73.5	4450	52.1	1691	645.3	329.3	151.3	142.4	84.55	75.65	57.85
55	180	89.9	5450	63.7	2071	790.3	403.3	185.3	174.4	103.6	92.65	70.85

3) Harmonic suppression technique requirement

If the outgoing harmonic current is higher than the maximum value per 1kW (contract power)  $\times$  contract power, a harmonic suppression technique is required.

4) Harmonic suppression techniques

No.	Item	Description
1	Installation of power factor improving capacitor	When used with a series reactor, the power factor improving capacitor has an effect of absorbing harmonic currents.
2	Transformer multi-phase operation	Use two transformers with a phase angle difference of 30° as in $\land$ - $\land$ , $\land$ - $\land$ combination to provide an effect corresponding to 12 pulses, reducing low-degree harmonic currents.
3	Passive filter (AC filter)	A capacitor and a reactor are used together to reduce impedances at specific frequencies, producing a great effect of absorbing harmonic currents.
4	Active filter	This filter detects the current of a circuit generating a harmonic current and generates a harmonic current equivalent to a difference between that current and a fundamental wave current to suppress a harmonic current at a detection point, providing a great effect of absorbing harmonic currents.

# **3.2 Power-off and magnetic contactor (MC)**

### (1) Inverter input side magnetic contactor (MC)

On the inverter input side, it is recommended to provide an MC for the following purposes.

(ERF to page 4 for selection.)

- 1) To release the inverter from the power supply when the fault occurs or when the drive is not functioning (e.g. emergency stop operation).
- 2) To prevent any accident due to an automatic restart at restoration of power after an inverter stop made by a power failure 3) To reset the inverter for an extended period of time

The control power supply for inverter is always running and consumes a little power. When stopping the inverter for an extended period of time, powering off the inverter will save power slightly.

- 4) To separate the inverter from the power supply to ensure safe maintenance and inspection work
- The inverter's input side MC is used for the above purpose, select class JEM1038-AC3MC for the inverter input side current when making an emergency stop during normal operation.

### REMARKS

Since repeated inrush currents at power on will shorten the life of the converter circuit (switching life is about 500,000 times.), frequent starts and stops of the MC must be avoided. Turn on/off the inverter start controlling terminals (STF, STR) to run/stop the inverter.



### Inverter start/stop circuit example

As shown on the left, always use the start signal (ON or OFF across terminals STF or STR-SD) to make a start or stop. (*Refer to page 211*)

- \*1 When the power supply is 400V class, install a step-down transformer.
- \*2 Connect the power supply terminals R1/L11, S1/L21 of the control circuit to the primary side of the MC to hold an alarm signal when the inverter's protective circuit is activated. At this time, remove jumpers across terminals R/L1-R1/L11 and S/L2-S1/L21. (Refer to *page 21* for removal of the jumper.)

### (2) Handling of the inverter output side magnetic contactor

Switch the magnetic contactor between the inverter and motor only when both the inverter and motor are at a stop. When the magnetic contactor is turned on while the inverter is operating, overcurrent protection of the inverter and such will activate. When an MC is provided to switch to a commercial power supply, for example, it is recommended to use bypass-inverter switchover function *Pr. 135 to Pr. 139 (Refer to page 337)*.

# 3.3 Inverter-driven 400V class motor

In the PWM type inverter, a surge voltage attributable to wiring constants is generated at the motor terminals. Especially for a 400V class motor, the surge voltage may deteriorate the insulation. When the 400V class motor is driven by the inverter, consider the following measures:

### Measures

It is recommended to take either of the following measures:

(1) Rectifying the motor insulation and limiting the PWM carrier frequency according to the wiring length For the 400V class motor, use an <u>insulation-enhanced motor</u>.

Specifically,

1)Specify the "400V class inverter-driven insulation-enhanced motor".

2)For the dedicated motor such as the constant-torque motor and low-vibration motor, use the "inverter-driven, dedicated motor".

3)Set Pr. 72 PWM frequency selection as indicated below according to the wiring length

	Wiring Length			
	50m or less	50m to 100m	exceeding 100m	
Pr. 72 PWM frequency selection	15 (14.5kHz) or less	9 (9kHz) or less	4 (4kHz) or less	

(2) Suppressing the surge voltage on the inverter side Connect the surge voltage suppression filter (FR-ASF-H) on the inverter output side.

- For details of Pr. 72 PWM frequency selection, refer to page 257.
- $\cdot~$  For explanation of surge voltage suppression filter (FR-ASF-H), refer to the manual of each option.
- · Do not perform real sensorless vector control and vector control with a surge voltage suppression filter (FR-ASF-H) connected.

# 3.4 Precautions for use of the inverter

The FR-A701 series is a highly reliable product, but incorrect peripheral circuit making or operation/handling method may shorten the product life or damage the product.

Before starting operation, always recheck the following items.

- (1) Use crimping terminals with insulation sleeve to wire the power supply and motor.
- (2) Application of power to the output terminals (U, V, W) of the inverter will damage the inverter. Never perform such wiring.
- (3) After wiring, wire offcuts must not be left in the inverter. Wire offcuts can cause an alarm, failure or malfunction. Always keep the inverter clean. When drilling mounting holes in an enclosure etc., take care not to allow chips and other foreign matter to enter the inverter.
- (4) Use cables of the size to make a voltage drop 2% maximum. If the wiring distance is long between the inverter and motor, a main circuit cable voltage drop will cause the motor torque to decrease especially at the output of a low frequency. Refer to *page 18* for the recommended cable sizes.
- (5) The overall wiring length should be 500m maximum. (The wiring length should be 100m maximum for vector control.) Especially for long distance wiring, the fast-response current limit function may decrease or the equipment connected to the secondary side may malfunction or become faulty under the influence of a charging current due to the stray capacity of the wiring. Therefore, note the overall wiring length. (Refer to page 20.)
- (6) Electromagnetic wave interference The input/output (main circuit) of the inverter includes high frequency components, which may interfere with the communication devices (such as AM radios) used near the inverter. In this case, connecting a capacitor type filter will reduce electromagnetic wave interference.
- (7) Do not install a power factor correction capacitor, surge suppressor or capacitor type filter on the inverter output side. This will cause the inverter to trip or the capacitor, and surge suppressor to be damaged. If any of the above devices is installed, immediately remove it.
- (8) Before starting wiring or other work after the inverter is operated, wait for at least 10 minutes after the power supply has been switched off, and check that there are no residual voltage using a tester or the like. The capacitor is charged with high voltage for some time after power off and it is dangerous.
- (9) A short circuit or earth (ground) fault on the inverter output side may damage the inverter modules.
  - Fully check the insulation resistance of the circuit prior to inverter operation since repeated short circuits caused by peripheral circuit inadequacy or an earth (ground) fault caused by wiring inadequacy or reduced motor insulation resistance may damage the inverter modules.
  - Fully check the to-earth (ground) insulation and inter-phase insulation of the inverter output side before power-on. Especially for an old motor or use in hostile atmosphere, securely check the motor insulation resistance etc.
- (10) Do not use the inverter input side magnetic contactor to start/stop the inverter. Always use the start signal (ON/OFF of STF and STR signals) to start/stop the inverter. (Refer to page 44)
- (11) Do not apply a voltage higher than the permissible voltage to the inverter I/O signal circuits. Application of permissible voltage to the inverter I/O signal circuit and incorrect polarity may damage the I/O terminal. Especially check the wiring to prevent the speed setting potentiometer from being connected incorrectly to short terminals 10E-5.
- (12) Provide electrical and mechanical interlocks for MC1 and MC2 which are used for bypass operation. When the wiring is incorrect or if there is an electronic bypass circuit as shown on the right, the inverter will be damaged by leakage current from the power supply due to arcs generated at the time of switch-over or chattering caused by a sequence error.

(Commercial operation can not be performed with the vector dedicated motor (SF-V5RU, SF-THY).)



- (13) If the machine must not be restarted when power is restored after a power failure, provide a magnetic contactor in the inverter's input side and also make up a sequence which will not switch on the start signal. If the start signal (start switch) remains on after a power failure, the inverter will automatically restart as soon as the power is restored.
- (14) Instructions for overload operation
  - When performing an operation of frequent start/stop with the inverter, rise/fall in the temperature of the transistor element of the inverter will repeat due to a continuous flow of large current, shortening the life from thermal fatigue. Since thermal fatigue is related to the amount of current, the life can be increased by reducing current at locked condition, starting current, etc. Decreasing current may increase the life. However, decreasing current will result in insufficient torque and the inverter may not start. Therefore, choose the inverter which has enough allowance for current (up to 2 rank larger in capacity).
- (15) Make sure that the specifications and rating match the system requirements.
- (16) A motor with encoder is necessary for vector control. In addition, connect the encoder directly to the backlash-free motor shaft. (An encoder is not necessary for real sensorless vector control.)
- (17) When the motor speed is unstable, due to change in the frequency setting signal caused by electromagnetic noises from the inverter, take the following measures when applying the motor speed by the analog signal.
  - Do not run the signal cables and power cables (inverter I/O cables) in parallel with each other and do not bundle them.
  - Run signal cables as far away as possible from power cables (inverter I/O cables).
  - Use shield cables as signal cables.
  - Install a ferrite core on the signal cable (Example: ZCAT3035-1330 TDK).

### 3.5 Failsafe of the system which uses the inverter

When a fault occurs, the inverter trips to output a fault signal. However, a fault output signal may not be output at an inverter fault occurrence when the detection circuit or output circuit fails, etc. Although Mitsubishi assures best quality products, provide an interlock which uses inverter status output signals to prevent accidents such as damage to machine when the inverter fails for some reason and at the same time consider the system configuration where failsafe from outside the inverter, without using the inverter, is enabled even if the inverter fails.

(1) Interlock method which uses the inverter status output signals

By combining the inverter status output signals to provide an interlock as shown below, an inverter alarm can be detected.

No	Interlock Method	Check Method	Used Signals	Refer to Page	
1)	Inverter protective	Operation check of an alarm contact	Fault output signal	214	
1)	function operation	Circuit error detection by negative logic	(ALM signal)	214	
2)	Invortor running status	Operation ready signal check	Operation ready signal	214	
2)	inverter running status	Operation ready signal check	(RY signal)	214	
		Logic check of the start signal and	Start signal		
3)	Inverter running status		(STF signal, STR signal)	206	
			Running signal (RUN signal)		
			Start signal		
4)	Invertor rupping status	Logic check of the start signal and output	(STF signal, STR signal)	206 214	
	inverter running status	current	Output current detection signal	200, 214	
			(Y12 signal)		

 Check by the output of the inverter fault signal When the fault occurs and trips the inverter, the fault output signal (ALM signal) is output (ALM signal is assigned to terminal A1B1C1 in the initial setting).

Check that the inverter functions properly.

In addition, negative logic can be set (on when the inverter is normal, off when the fault occurs).

2) Checking the inverter operating status by the inverter Power operation ready completion signal supply

Operation ready signal (RY signal) is output when the inverter power is on and the inverter becomes operative. Check if the RY signal is output after powering on the

inverter.

3) Checking the inverter operating status by the start signal input to the inverter and inverter running signal.

The inverter running signal (RUN signal) is output when the inverter is running (RUN signal is assigned to terminal RUN in the initial setting).

Check if RUN signal is output when inputting the start signal to the inverter (forward signal is STF signal and reverse signal is STR signal). For logic check, note that RUN signal is output for the period from the inverter decelerates until output to the motor is stopped, configure a sequence considering the inverter deceleration time



4) Checking the motor operating status by the start signal input to the inverter and inverter output current detection signal. The output current detection signal (Y12 signal) is output when the inverter operates and currents flows in the motor. Check if Y12 signal is output when inputting the start signal to the inverter (forward signal is STF signal and reverse signal is STR signal). Note that the current level at which Y12 signal is output is set to 150% of the inverter rated current in the initial setting, it is necessary to adjust the level to around 20% using no load current of the motor as reference with *Pr. 150 Output current detection level*.

For logic check, as same as the inverter running signal (RUN signal), the inverter outputs for the period from the inverter decelerates until output to the motor is stopped, configure a sequence considering the inverter deceleration time.

Output	Pr. 190 to Pr.	. 196 Setting
Signal	Positive logic	Negative logic
ALM	99	199
RY	11	111
RUN	0	100
Y12	12	112

• When using various signals, assign functions to *Pr:190* to *Pr: 196 (output terminal function selection)* referring to the table on the left.

#### CAUTION =

• Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### (2) Backup method outside the inverter

Even if the interlock is provided by the inverter status signal, enough failsafe is not ensured depending on the failure status of the inverter iteself. For example, even if the interlock is provided using the inverter fault output signal, start signal and RUN signal output, there is a case where a fault output signal is not output and RUN signal is kept output even if an inverter fault occurs.

Provide a speed detector to detect the motor speed and current detector to detect the motor current and consider the backup system such as cheking up as below according to the level of importance of the system.

#### 1) Start signal and actual operation check

Check the motor running and motor current while the start signal is input to the inverter by comparing the start signal to the inverter and detected speed of the speed detector or detected current of the current detector. Note that the motor current runs as the motor is running for the period until the motor stops since the inverter starts decelerating even if the start signal turns off. For the logic check, configure a sequence considering the inverter deceleration time. In addition, it is recommended to check the three-phase current when using the current detector.

#### 2) Command speed and actual operation check

Check if there is no gap between the actual speed and commanded speed by comparing the inverter speed command and detected speed of the speed detector.



# MEMO



This chapter explains the "PARAMETERS" for use of this product.

Always read this instructions before use.

The abbreviations in the explanations below are as follows:

**\_\_\_**...V/F control,

Magnetic flux ... Advanced magnetic flux vector control,

Sensorless ... Real sensorless vector control,

vector ....Vector control

(Parameters without any indication are valid for all control)

2

5

6

7

# 4.1 Operation panel (FR-DU07)

### 4.1.1 Parts of the operation panel (FR-DU07)



### 4.1.2 Basic operation (factory setting)



### 4.1.3 Change the parameter setting value

Changing example Change the *Pr. 1 Maximum frequency*.



Flicker ··· Parameter setting complete!!

 $\cdot$  By turning  $\bigcirc$ , you can read another parameter.

 $\cdot$  Press (SET) to show the setting again.

 $\cdot$  Press (SET) twice to show the next parameter.

 $\cdot$  Press (MODE) twice to return the monitor to frequency monitor.

? Er I to Er I are displayed ... Why?
@ Er I appears. ..... Write disable error
Er 2 appears. ..... Write error during operation

- Er 3 appears. ..... Calibration error
- Ery appears. ..... Mode designation error

For details refer to *page 374*.

### REMARKS

The number of digits displayed on the operation panel (FR-DU07) is four. If the values to be displayed have five digits or more including decimal places, the fifth or later numerals can not be displayed nor set. (Example) When *Pr*: *1* 

When 60Hz is set, 60.00 is displayed.

When 120Hz is set, 120.0 is displayed and second decimal place is not displayed nor set.

### 4.1.4 Setting dial push

Push the setting dial (  $\checkmark$  ) to display the set frequency currently set.

# 4.2 Parameter list

### 4.2.1 Parameter list

For simple variable-speed operation of the inverter, the initial setting of the parameters may be used as they are. Set the necessary parameters to meet the load and operational specifications. Parameter setting, change and check can be made from the operation panel (FR-DU07).

### REMARKS

• 
 indicates simple mode parameters. (initially set to extended mode)

The shaded parameters in the table allow its setting to be changed during operation even if "0" (initial value) is set in *Pr. 77 Parameter write selection.* 

Refer to the appendix 4 (page 429) for instruction codes for communication and availability of parameter clear, all clear, and parameter copy of each parameter.

Func- tion	Parameter	Name	Setting Range	Minimum Setting Increments	Initial Value	Refer to Page	Customer Setting
	© 0	Torque boost	0 to 30%	0.1%	3/2% *1	129	
	© 1	Maximum frequency	0 to 120Hz	0.01Hz	120Hz	140	
	© 2	Minimum frequency	0 to 120Hz	0.01Hz	0Hz	140	
S	© 3	Base frequency	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	60Hz	142	
ction	<b>©</b> 4	Multi-speed setting (high speed)	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	60Hz	148	
fun	© 5	Multi-speed setting (middle speed)	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	30Hz	148	
asic	© 6	Multi-speed setting (low speed)	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	10Hz	148	
ä	<b>0</b> 7	Acceleration time	0 to 3600/360s	0.1/0.01s	5/15s *1	155	
	© 8	Deceleration time	0 to 3600/360s	0 1/0 01s	5/15s *1	155	
	© 9	Electronic thermal O/L relay	0 to 500A	0.01A	Rated inverter current	165	
Б	10	DC injection brake operation frequency	0 to 120Hz. 9999	0.01Hz	3Hz	185	
njectio rake	11	DC injection brake operation time	0 to 10s, 8888	0.1s	0.5s	185	
p b	12	DC injection brake operation voltage	0 to 30%	0.1%	4/2% *1	185	
	13	Starting frequency	0 to 60Hz	0.01Hz	0.5Hz	157	
_	14	Load pattern selection	0 to 5	1	0	144	
g tion	15	Jog frequency	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	5Hz	150	
Jo	16	Jog acceleration/deceleration time	0 to 3600/360s	0.1/0.01s	0.5s	150	
	17	MRS input selection	0, 2, 4	1	0	209	
	18	High speed maximum frequency	120 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	120Hz	140	
	19	Base frequency voltage	0 to 1000V, 8888, 9999	0.1V	9999	142	
ration/ ration es	20	Acceleration/deceleration reference frequency	1 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	60Hz	155	
Accele decele tim	21	Acceleration/deceleration time increments	0, 1	1	0	155	
all ntion	22	Stall prevention operation level (torque limit level )	0 to 400%	0.1%	150%	135	
Sta	23	Stall prevention operation level compensation factor at double speed	0 to 200%, 9999	0.1%	9999	135	
Multi-speed setting	24 to 27	Multi-speed setting (4 speed to 7 speed)	0 to 400Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	148	
	28	Multi-speed input compensation selection	0, 1	1	0	152	
	29	Acceleration/deceleration pattern selection	0 to 5	1	0	158	
	31	Frequency jump 1A	0 to 400Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	141	
cy	32	Frequency jump 1B	0 to 400Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	141	
nen mp	33	Frequency jump 2A	0 to 400Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	141	
ju	34	Frequency jump 2B	0 to 400Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	141	
ш	35	Frequency jump 3A	0 to 400Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	141	
	36	Frequency jump 3B	0 to 400Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	141	
—	31	Speed display	0, 1 to 9998	1	U	226	

Func- tion	Parameter	Name	Setting Range	Minimum Setting Increments	Initial Value	Refer to Page	Customer Setting
ncy on	41	Up-to-frequency sensitivity	0 to 100%	0.1%	10%	221	
luer	42	Output frequency detection	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	6Hz	221	
Freq	43	Output frequency detection for reverse rotation	0 to 400Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	221	
	44	Second acceleration/deceleration time	0 to 3600/360s	0.1/0.01s	5s	155	
	45	Second deceleration time	0 to 3600/360s, 9999	0.1/0.01s	9999	155	
us	46	Second torque boost	0 to 30%, 9999	0.1%	9999	129	
ictio	47	Second V/F (base frequency)	0 to 400Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	142	
nd fur	48	Second stall prevention operation	0 to 220%	0.1%	150%	135	
Secol	49	Second stall prevention operation frequency	0 to 400Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	0Hz	135	
	50	Second output frequency detection	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	30Hz	221	
	51	Second electronic thermal O/L relay	0 to 500A, 9999	0.01A	9999	165	
ions	52	DU/PU main display data selection	0, 5 to 8, 10 to 14, 17 to 20, 22 to 25, 32 to 35, 50 to 57, 100	1	0	228	
tor funct	54	FM terminal function selection	1 to 3, 5 to 8, 10 to 14, 17, 18, 21, 24, 32 to 34, 50, 52, 53	1	1	228	
loni	55	Frequency monitoring reference	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	60Hz	233	
2	56	Current monitoring reference	0 to 500A	0.01A	Rated inverter	233	
c restart	57	Restart coasting time	0, 0.1 to 5s, 9999	0.1s	9999	239	
Automat	58	Restart cushion time	0 to 60s	0.1s	1s	239	
	59	Remote function selection	0, 1, 2, 3	1	0	152	
	60	Energy saving control selection	0, 4	1	0	251	
ation/	61	Reference current	0 to 500A, 9999	0.01A	9999	146, 162	
ccelera	62	Reference value at acceleration	0 to 220%, 9999	0.1%	9999	162	
natic a decele	63	Reference value at deceleration	0 to 220%, 9999	0.1%	9999	162	
Auton	64	Starting frequency for elevator mode	0 to 10Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	146	
	65	Retry selection	0 to 5	1	0	246	
	66	Stall prevention operation reduction starting frequency	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	60Hz	135	
	67	Number of retries at fault occurrence	0 to 10, 101 to 110	1	0	246	
etry	68	Retry waiting time	0 to 10s	0.1s	1s	246	
R	69	Retry count display erase	0	1	0	246	
	71	Applied motor	0 to 8, 13 to 18, 30, 33, 34, 40, 43, 44, 50, 53, 54	1	0	131, 169	
	72	PWM frequency selection	0 to 15	1	2	257	
	73	Analog input selection	0 to 7, 10 to 17	1	1	259, 263	
	74	Input filter time constant	0 to 8	1	1	265	
_	75	Reset selection/disconnected PU detection/PU stop selection	0 to 3, 14 to 17	1	14	278	
_	76	Alarm code output selection	0, 1, 2	1	0	248	
	77	Parameter write selection	0, 1, 2	1	0	280	
—	78	Reverse rotation prevention selection	0, 1, 2	1	0	281	
_	© 79	Operation mode selection	0, 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 7	1	0	283, 291	

Func- tion	Parameter	Name	Setting Range	Minimum Setting Increments	Initial Value	Refer to Page	Customer Setting
	80	Motor capacity	0.4 to 55kW, 9999	0.01kW	9999	131, 171	
	81	Number of motor poles	2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 12, 14, 16, 18, 20, 9999	1	9999	131, 171	
	82	Motor excitation current	0 to 500A, 9999	0.01A	9999	171	
	83	Rated motor voltage	0 to 1000V	0.1V	200V/400V*4	171	
ants	84	Rated motor frequency	10 to 120Hz	0.01Hz	60Hz	171	
onsta	89	Speed control gain (magnetic flux vector)	0 to 200%, 9999	0.1%	9999	131	
or co	90	Motor constant (R1)	0 to 50Ω, 9999	0.001Ω	9999	171	
Mote	91	Motor constant (R2)	0 to 50Ω, 9999	0.001Ω	9999	171	
	92	Motor constant (L1)	0 to 50 $\Omega$ (0 to 1000mH), 9999	0.001Ω (0.1mH)	9999	171	
	93	Motor constant (L2)	0 to 50 $\Omega$ (0 to 1000mH), 9999	0.001Ω (0.1mH)	9999	171	
	94	Motor constant (X)	0 to 500Ω (0 to 100%), 9999	0.01Ω (0.1%)	9999	171	
	95	Online auto tuning selection	0 to 2	1	0	181	
	96	Auto tuning setting/status	0, 1, 101	1	0	171	
	100	V/F1(first frequency)	0 to 400Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	147	
	101	V/F1(first frequency voltage)	0 to 1,000V	0.1V	0V	147	
V/F	102	V/F2(second frequency)	0 to 400Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	147	
nts '	103	V/F2(second frequency voltage)	0 to 1,000V	0.1V	0V	147	
5 poi	104	V/F3(third frequency)	0 to 400Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	147	
ole {	105	V/F3(third frequency voltage)	0 to 1,000V	0.1V	0V	147	
ustal	106	V/F4(fourth frequency)	0 to 400Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	147	
Adjı	107	V/F4(fourth frequency voltage)	0 to 1,000V	0.1V	0V	147	
	108	V/F5(fifth frequency)	0 to 400Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	147	
	109	V/F5(fifth frequency voltage)	0 to 1,000V	0.1V	0V	147	
	110	Third acceleration/deceleration time	0 to 3600/360s, 9999	0.1/0.01s	9999	155	
	111	Third deceleration time	0 to 3600/360s, 9999	0.1/0.01s	9999	155	
tions	112	Third torque boost	0 to 30%, 9999	0.1%	9999	129	
unct	113	Third V/F (base frequency)	0 to 400Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	142	
ird f	114	Third stall prevention operation current	0 to 220%	0.1%	150%	135	
ЧТ	115	Third stall prevention operation frequency	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	0	135	
	116	Third output frequency detection	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	60Hz	221	
	117	PU communication station number	0 to 31	1	0	302	
	118	PU communication speed	48, 96, 192, 384	1	192	302	
tor tion	119	PU communication stop bit length	0, 1, 10, 11	1	1	302	
nica	120	PU communication parity check	0, 1, 2	1	2	302	
l cor	121	Number of PU communication retries	0 to10, 9999	1	1	302	
PL con	122	PU communication check time interval	0, 0.1 to 999.8s, 9999	0.1s	9999	302	
	123	PU communication waiting time setting	0 to 150ms, 9999	1	9999	302	
	124	PU communication CR/LF selection	0, 1, 2	1	1	302	
	© 125	Terminal 2 frequency setting gain frequency	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	60Hz	267	
—	© 126	Terminal 4 frequency setting gain frequency	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	60Hz	267	

Func- tion	Parameter	Name	Setting Range	Minimum Setting Increments	Initial Value	Refer to Page	Customer Setting
	127	PID control automatic switchover frequency	0 to 400Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	329	
	128	PID action selection	10, 11, 20, 21, 50, 51, 60, 61	1	10	329	
tion	129	PID proportional band	0.1 to 1000%, 9999	0.1%	100%	329	
pera	130	PID integral time	0.1 to 3600s, 9999	0.1s	1s	329	
ID 0	131	PID upper limit	0 to 100%, 9999	0.1%	9999	329	
Ъ	132	PID lower limit	0 to 100%, 9999	0.1%	9999	329	
	133	PID action set point	0 to 100%, 9999	0.01%	9999	329	
	134	PID differential time	0.01 to 10.00s, 9999	0.01s	9999	329	
	135	Electronic bypass sequence selection	0, 1	1	0	337	
s	136	MC switchover interlock time	0 to 100s	0.1s	1s	337	
ypas	137	Start waiting time	0 to 100s	0.1s	0.5s	337	
В	138	Bypass selection at a fault	0, 1	1	0	337	
	139	Automatic switchover frequency from inverter to bypass operation	0 to 60Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	337	
	140	Backlash acceleration stopping	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	1Hz	158	
lash ures	141	Backlash acceleration stopping time	0 to 360s	0.1s	0.5s	158	
Backl	142	Backlash deceleration stopping	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	1Hz	158	
- <u>-</u>	143	Backlash deceleration stopping time	0 to 360s	0.1s	0.5s	158	
	144	Speed setting switchover	0, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 102, 104, 106, 108, 110	1	4	226	
PU	145	PU display language selection	0 to 7	1	0	361	
	148	Stall prevention level at 0V input	0 to 220%	0.1%	150%	135	
tion	149	Stall prevention level at 10V input	0 to 220%	0.1%	200%	135	
etec	150	Output current detection level	0 to 220%	0.1%	150%	223	
ent de	151	Output current detection signal delay time	0 to 10s	0.1s	0s	223	
Curr	152	Zero current detection level	0 to 220%	0.1%	5%	223	
	153	Zero current detection time	0 to 1s	0.01s	0.5s	223	
	154	Voltage reduction selection during stall prevention operation	0, 1	1	1	135	
	155	RT signal function validity condition selection	0, 10	1	0	210	
	156	Stall prevention operation selection	0 to 31, 100, 101	1	0	135	
	157	OL signal output timer	0 to 25s, 9999	0.1s	0s	135	
	158	AM terminal function selection	1 to 3, 5 to 8, 10 to 14, 17, 18, 21, 24, 32 to 34, 50, 52, 53	1	1	228	
	159	Automatic switchover frequency range from bypass to inverter operation	0 to 10Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	337	
	© 160	User group read selection	0, 1, 9999	1	0	281	
	161	Frequency setting/key lock operation selection	0, 1, 10, 11	1	0	361	
start	162	Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure selection	0, 1, 2, 10, 11, 12	1	0	239	
c re ions	163	First cushion time for restart	0 to 20s	0.1s	0s	239	
unct	164	First cushion voltage for restart	0 to 100%	0.1%	0%	239	
Auto fi	165	Stall prevention operation level for restart	0 to 220%	0.1%	150%	239	
detection	166	Output current detection signal retention time	0 to 10s, 9999	0.1s	0.1s	223	
Current	167	Output current detection operation selection	0, 1	1	0	223	

# Parameter list

Func- tion	Parameter	Name	Setting Range	Minimum Setting Increments	Initial Value	Refer to Page	Customer Setting
	168						
	169	Parameter for manufacturer setting. Do	not set.				
/e monitor ear	170	Watt-hour meter clear	0, 10, 9999	1	9999	228	
Cumulativ	171	Operation hour meter clear	0, 9999	1	9999	228	
roup	172	User group registered display/batch clear	9999, (0 to 16)	1	0	281	
er g	173	User group registration	0 to 999, 9999	1	9999	281	
ñ	174	User group clear	0 to 999, 9999	1	9999	281	
	178	STF terminal function selection	0 to 9, 12 to 20, 22 to 28, 42 to 44, 60, 62, 64 to 69, 74, 9999	1	60	206	
nent	179	STR terminal function selection	0 to 9, 12 to 20, 22 to 28, 42 to 44, 61, 62, 64 to 69, 74, 9999	1	61	206	
gnm	180	RL terminal function selection		1	0	206	
tion ass	181	RM terminal function selection	0 to 9, 12 to 20, 22 to 28, 42 to 44, 62, 64 to 69, 74	1	1	206	
	182	RH terminal function selection	9999	1	2	206	
fund	183	RT terminal function selection		1	3	206	
Input terminal f	184	AU terminal function selection	0 to 9, 12 to 20, 22 to 28, 42 to 44, 62 to 69, 74, 9999	1	4	206	
	185	JOG terminal function selection		1	5	206	
	186	CS terminal function selection	0 to 9, 12 to 20, 22 to 28, 42 to 44, 62, 64 to 69, 74, 9999	1	6	206	
	187	MRS terminal function selection		1	24	206	
	188	STOP terminal function selection		1	25	206	
	189	RES terminal function selection		1	62	206	
	190	RUN terminal function selection	0 to 6, 8, 10 to 20, 25 to	1	0	214	
Jent	191	SU terminal function selection	64, 70, 84, 90 to 99,	1	1	214	
ignn	192	IPF terminal function selection	100 to 106, 108, 110 to	1	2	214	
ass	193	OL terminal function selection	to 136, 139, 141 to 147,	1	3	214	
ction	194	FU terminal function selection	164, 170, 184, 190 to 199, 9999	1	4	214	
erminal fun	195	ABC1 terminal function selection	0 to 6, 8, 10 to 20, 25 to 28, 30 to 36, 39, 41 to 47, 64, 70, 84, 90, 91, 94 to 99, 100 to 106, 108, 110	1	99	214	
Output 1	196	ABC2 terminal function selection	to 116, 120, 125 to 128, 130 to 136, 139, 141 to 147, 164, 170, 184, 190, 191, 194 to 199, 9999	1	9999	214	
Multi-speed setting	232 to 239	Multi-speed setting (8 speed to 15 speed)	0 to 400Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	148	
	240	Soft-PWM operation selection	0, 1	1	1	257	
	241	Analog input display unit switchover	0, 1	1	0	267	
	242	Terminal 1 added compensation amount (terminal 2)	0 to 100%	0.1%	100%	263	
—	243	Terminal 1 added compensation amount (terminal 4)	0 to 100%	0.1%	75%	263	
	244	Cooling fan operation selection	0, 1	1	1	353	

 $\mathbb{Z}$ 

PARAMETERS

### Parameter list

Func- tion	Parameter	Name	Setting Range	Minimum Setting Increments	Initial Value	Refer to Page	Customer Setting
ation	245	Rated slip	0 to 50%, 9999	0.01%	9999	134	
ompens	246	Slip compensation time constant	0.01 to 10s	0.01s	0.5s	134	
Slip c	247	Constant-power range slip compensation selection	0, 9999	1	9999	134	
	250	Stop selection	0 to 100s,1000 to 1100s 8888, 9999	0.1s	9999	188	
	251	Output phase loss protection selection	0, 1	1	1	249	
ompensation tion	252	Override bias	0 to 200%	0.1%	50%	263	
Frequency co	253	Override gain	0 to 200%	0.1%	150%	263	
	255	Life alarm status display	(0 to 15)	1	0	354	
쏭	256	Inrush current limit circuit life display	(0 to 100%)	1%	100%	354	
che	257	Control circuit capacitor life display	(0 to 100%)	1%	100%	354	
Life	258	Main circuit capacitor life display	(0 to 100%)	1%	100%	354	
	259	Main circuit capacitor life measuring	0, 1	1	0	354	
	261	Power failure stop selection	0, 1, 2, 11, 12	1	0	243	
stop	262	Subtracted frequency at deceleration start	0 to 20Hz	0.01Hz	3Hz	243	
ure	263	Subtraction starting frequency	0 to 120Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	60Hz	243	
r fail	264	Power-failure deceleration time 1	0 to 3600/360s	0.1/0.01s	5s	243	
Powel	265	Power-failure deceleration time 2	0 to 3600s/360s, 9999	0.1/0.01s	9999	243	
	266	Power failure deceleration time switchover frequency	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	60Hz	243	
	267	Terminal 4 input selection	0, 1, 2	1	0	259	
_	268	Monitor decimal digits selection	0,1, 9999	1	9999	228	
_	269	Parameter for manufacturer setting. Do	not set.	•			
	270	Stop-on contact/load torque high- speed frequency control selection	0, 1, 2, 3	1	0	189, 342	
control	271	High-speed setting maximum current	0 to 220%	0.1%	50%	342	
torque	272	Middle-speed setting minimum current	0 to 220%	0.1%	100%	342	
Load 1 beed free	273	Current averaging range	0 to 400Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	342	
high sp	274	Current averaging filter time constant	1 to 4000	1	16	342	
contact trol	275	Stop-on contact excitation current low- speed multiplying factor	0 to 1000%, 9999	0.1%	9999	189	
Stop-on cont	276	PWM carrier frequency at stop-on contact	0 to 9, 9999	1	9999	189	

Func- tion	Parameter	Name	Setting Range	Minimum Setting Increments	Initial Value	Refer to Page	Customer Setting
	278	Brake opening frequency	0 to 30Hz	0.01Hz	3Hz	192	
ы	279	Brake opening current	0 to 220%	0.1%	130%	192	
Incti	280	Brake opening current detection time	0 to 2s	0.1s	0.3s	192	
ce fu	281	Brake operation time at start	0 to 5s	0.1s	0.3s	192	
nen	282	Brake operation frequency	0 to 30Hz	0.01Hz	6Hz	192	
seq	283	Brake operation time at stop	0 to 5s	0.1s	0.3s	192	
Brake	284	Deceleration detection function selection	0, 1	1	0	192	
	285	Overspeed detection frequency (Speed deviation excess detection frequency)	0 to 30Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	100, 192	
itrol	286	Droop gain	0 to 100%	0.1%	0%	344	
cor	287	Droop filter time constant	0 to 1s	0.01s	0.3s	344	
Droop	288	Droop function activation selection	0, 1, 2, 10, 11	1	0	344	
	291	Pulse train I/O selection	0, 1, 10, 11, 20, 21, 100	1	0	233, 346	
	292	Automatic acceleration/deceleration	0, 3, 5 to 8, 11	1	0	146, 162, 192	
	293	Acceleration/deceleration separate selection	0 to 2	1	0	162	
	294	UV avoidance voltage gain	0 to 200%	0.1%	100%	243	
	299	Rotation direction detection selection at restarting	0, 1, 9999	1	0	239	
	331	RS-485 communication station number	0 to 31(0 to 247)	1	0	302	
	332	RS-485 communication speed	3, 6, 12, 24, 48, 96, 192, 384	1	96	302	
	333	RS-485 communication stop bit length	0, 1, 10, 11	1	1	302	
	334	RS-485 communication parity check selection	0, 1, 2	1	2	302	
u	335	RS-485 communication retry count	0 to 10, 9999	1	1	302	
inicati	336	RS-485 communication check time interval	0 to 999.8s, 9999	0.1s	0s	302	
nuuc	337	RS-485 communication waiting time setting	0 to 150ms, 9999	1	9999	302	
185 CC	338	Communication operation command source	0, 1	1	0	292	
RS-4	339	Communication speed command source	0, 1, 2	1	0	292	
	340	Communication startup mode selection	0, 1, 2, 10, 12	1	0	291	
	341	RS-485 communication CR/LF selection	0, 1, 2	1	1	302	
	342	Communication EEPROM write selection	0, 1	1	0	303	
	343	Communication error count	—	1	0	316	
Func- tion	Parameter	Name	Setting Range	Minimum Setting Increments	Initial Value	Refer to Page	Customer Setting
---------------------	---------------	--	-------------------------	----------------------------------	---------------	---------------------	---------------------
	<b>350</b> *2	Stop position command selection	0, 1, 9999	1	9999	195	
	<b>351</b> *2	Orientation speed	0 to 30Hz	0.01Hz	2Hz	195	
	<b>352</b> *2	Creep speed	0 to 10Hz	0.01Hz	0.5Hz	195	
	353 *2	Creep switchover position	0 to 16383	1	511	195	
	354 *2	Position loop switchover position	0 to 8191	1	96	195	
ē	355 *2	DC injection brake start position	0 to 255	1	5	195	
onti	356 *2	Internal stop position command	0 to 16383	1	0	195	
u c	357 *2	Orientation in-position zone	0 to 255	1	5	195	
atio	358 *2	Servo torque selection	0 to 13	1	1	195	
ent	359*2	Af hit data salestion	0, 1 0 to 127	1	1	195	
Ori	361 *2	Position shift	0 to 16393	1	0	195	
	362 *2	Orientation position loop gain	0.1 to 100	0.1	1	195	
	363 *2	Completion signal output delay time	0.1 to 5s	0.1	0.5c	105	
	364 *2	Encoder stop check time	0 to 55	0.13	0.55	195	
	365 *2	Orientation limit	0 to 60s 9999	15	9999	195	
	366 *2	Recheck time	0 to 55, 9999	0.1s	9999	195	
	367 *2	Speed feedback range	0 to 400Hz 9999	0.01Hz	9999	349	
	368 *2	Feedback gain	0 to 100	0.1	1	349	
oder Iback	369 *2	Number of encoder pulses	0 to 4096	1	1024	195, 349	
Enc	374	Overspeed detection level	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	140Hz	249	
	<b>376</b> *2	Encoder signal loss detection enable/ disable selection	0, 1	1	0	249	
ation/	380	Acceleration S-pattern 1	0 to 50%	1%	0	158	
ccelera ration (	381	Deceleration S-pattern 1	0 to 50%	1%	0	158	
tttern a decelei	382	Acceleration S-pattern 2	0 to 50%	1%	0	158	
S-pa	383	Deceleration S-pattern 2	0 to 50%	1%	0	158	
input	384	Input pulse division scaling factor	0 to 250	1	0	346	
e trair	385	Frequency for zero input pulse	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	0	346	
Puls	386	Frequency for maximum input pulse	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	60Hz	346	
itrol	<b>393</b> *2	Orientation selection	0, 1, 2	1	0	195	
cor	<b>396</b> *2	Orientation speed gain (P term)	0 to 1000	1	60	195	
u	<b>397</b> *2	Orientation speed integral time	0 to 20s	0.001s	0.333s	195	
ntat	398 *2	Orientation speed gain (D term)	0 to 100	0.1	1	195	
rier	000 1			0.1		100	
0	399 *2	Orientation deceleration ratio	0 to 1000	1	20	195	
	<b>419</b> *2	Position command source selection	0, 2	1	0	117, 120	
	<b>420</b> *2	numerator	0 to 32767	1	1	122	
	<b>421</b> *2	denominator	0 to 32767	1	1	122	
0	<b>422</b> *2	Position loop gain	0 to 150s <sup>-1</sup>	1s⁻¹	25s⁻¹	124	
intro	<b>423</b> *2	Position feed forward gain	0 to 100%	1%	0	124	
ion co	<b>424</b> *2	Position command acceleration/ deceleration time constant	0 to 50s	0.001s	0s	122	
osit	<b>425</b> *2	Position feed forward command filter	0 to 5s	0.001s	0s	124	
ā	<b>426</b> *2	In-position width	0 to 32767pulse	1	100	123	
	<b>427</b> *2	Excessive level error	0 to 400K, 9999	1K	40K	123	
	428 *2	Command pulse selection	0 to 5	1	0	120	
	<b>429</b> *2	Clear signal selection	0, 1	1	1	120	
	430 *2	Pulse monitor selection	0 to 5, 9999	1	9999	120	

Func- tion	Parameter	Name	Setting Range	Minimum Setting Increments	Initial Value	Refer to Page	Customer Setting
	450	Second applied motor	0 to 8, 13 to 18, 30, 33, 34, 40, 43, 44, 50, 53, 54, 9999	1	9999	131, 169	
	451	Second motor control method selection	10, 11, 12, 20, 9999	1	9999	131	
	453	Second motor capacity	0.4 to 55kW, 9999	0.01kW	9999	131	
ants	454	Number of second motor poles	2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 9999	1	9999	131	
nsta	455	Second motor excitation current	0 to 500A,9999	0.01A	9999	171	
r co	456	Rated second motor voltage	0 to 1000V	0.1V	200/400V*4	171	
noto	457	Rated second motor frequency	10 to 120Hz	0.01Hz	60Hz	171	
u pu	458	Second motor constant (R1)	0 to 50Ω, 9999	0.001Ω	9999	171	
eco	459	Second motor constant (R2)	0 to 500, 9999	0.0010	9999	171	
S	460	Second motor constant (1.1)	$0 \text{ to } 50\Omega (0 \text{ to } 1000\text{mH}) 9999$	0.0010 (0.1mH)	0000	171	
	400	Second motor constant (L1)	0 to 5022 (0 to 1000mH), 9999	0.00122 (0.1mH)	0000	171	
	401	Second motor constant (L2)			9999	171	
	462	Second motor constant (X)	0 to 500Ω (0 to 100%), 9999	0.01Ω (0.1%)	9999	171	
	463	status	0, 1, 101	1	0	171	
	<b>464</b> *2	Digital position control sudden stop deceleration time	0 to 360.0s	0.1s	0	117	
	465 *2	First position feed amount lower 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
	466 *2	First position feed amount upper 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
	467 *2	Second position feed amount lower 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
	469 *2	Third position feed amount lower 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
	470 *2	Third position feed amount upper 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
	471 *2	Fourth position feed amount lower 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
	<b>472</b> *2	Fourth position feed amount upper 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
Ę	473 *2	Fifth position feed amount lower 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
Ictic	474 *2	Fifth position feed amount upper 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
fur	4/3*2 476 *2	Sixth position feed amount upper 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
eed	477 *2	Seventh position feed amount lower 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
on f	478 *2	Seventh position feed amount upper 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
ositi	479 *2	Eighth position feed amount lower 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
pd la	<b>480</b> *2	Eighth position feed amount upper 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
iona	481 *2	Ninth position feed amount lower 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
Jditi	482 *2	Ninth position feed amount upper 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
Co	403 *2 484 *2	Tenth position feed amount lower 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
	485 *2	Eleventh position feed amount lower 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
	486 *2	Eleventh position feed amount upper 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
	<b>487</b> *2	Twelfth position feed amount lower 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
	488 *2	Twelfth position feed amount upper 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
	489 *2	Thirteenth position feed amount lower 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
	490 *2	Thirteenth position feed amount upper 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
	491 *2 492 *2	Fourteenth position feed amount lower 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
	492 *2	Fifteenth position feed amount lower 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
	494 *2	Fifteenth position feed amount upper 4 digits	0 to 9999	1	0	117	
tput	495	Remote output selection	0, 1, 10, 11	1	0	225	
ote ou	496	Remote output data 1	0 to 4095	1	0	225	
Remo	497	Remote output data 2	0 to 4095	1	0	225	
nance	503	Maintenance timer	0 (1 to 9998)	1	0	357	
Mainte	504	Maintenance timer alarm output set time	0 to 9998, 9999	1	9999	357	
—	505	Speed setting reference	1 to 120Hz	0.01Hz	60Hz	226	

 $\mathbb{Z}$ 

## Parameter list

Func- tion	Parameter	Name	Setting Range	Minimum Setting Increments	Initial Value	Refer to Page	Customer Setting
tion/	516	S-pattern time at a start of acceleration	0.1 to 2.5s	0.1s	0.1s	158	
scelera ation D	517	S-pattern time at a completion of acceleration	0.1 to 2.5s	0.1s	0.1s	158	
tern ac eceler	518	S-pattern time at a start of deceleration	0.1 to 2.5s	0.1s	0.1s	158	
S-pat	519	S-pattern time at a completion of deceleration	0.1 to 2.5s	0.1s	0.1s	158	
	539	Modbus-RTU communication check time interval	0 to 999.8s, 9999	0.1s	9999	316	
	547	Parameter for manufacturer setting Do	not set		•		
	548	Parameter for manufacturer setting. Do					
ition	549	Protocol selection	0, 1	1	0	316	
nunica	550	NET mode operation command source selection	0, 1, 9999	1	9999	292	
Comr	551	PU mode operation command source selection	1, 2	1	2	292	
age tor	555	Current average time	0.1 to 1.0s	0.1s	1s	358	
nt aver e monit	556	Data output mask time	0.0 to 20.0s	0.1s	0s	358	
Currer value	557	Current average value monitor signal output reference current	0 to 500A	0.01A	Rated inverter current	358	
	563	Energization time carrying-over times	(0 to 65535)	1	0	228	
	564	Operating time carrying-over times	(0 to 65535)	1	0	228	
Second motor constants	569	Second motor speed control gain	0 to 200%, 9999	0.1%	9999	131	
	571	Holding time at a start	0.0 to 10.0s, 9999	0.1s	9999	157	
	574	Second motor online auto tuning	0, 1	1	0	181	
trol	575	Output interruption detection time	0 to 3600s, 9999	0.1s	1s	329	
con	576	Output interruption detection level	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	0Hz	329	
DIG	577	Output interruption cancel level	900 to 1100%	0.1%	1000%	329	
	611	Acceleration time at a restart	0 to 3600s, 9999	0.1s	5s	239	
	665	Regeneration avoidance frequency gain	0 to 200%	0.1%	100%	351	
	684	Tuning data unit switchover	0, 1	1	0	171	
	800	Control method selection	0 to 5, 9 to 12, 20	1	20	75, 131	
	802 *2	Pre-excitation selection	0, 1	1	0	185	
Jand	803	constant power range torque characteristic selection	0, 1	1	0	83, 108	
umo	804	Torque command source selection	0, 1, 3 to 6	1	0	108	
o ent	805	Torque command value (RAM)	600 to 1400%	1%	1000%	108	
Torc	806	Torque command value (RAM,EEPROM)	600 to 1400%	1%	1000%	108	
mit	807	Speed limit selection	0, 1, 2	1	0	110	
ed lii	808	Forward rotation speed limit	0 to 120Hz	0.01Hz	60Hz	110	
Spe	809	Reverse rotation speed limit	0 to 120Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	9999	110	

Func- tion	Parameter	Name	Setting Range	Minimum Setting Increments	Initial Value	Refer to Page	Customer Setting
	810	Torque limit input method selection	0, 1	1	0	83	
	811	Set resolution switchover	0, 1, 10, 11	1	0	83, 226	
mit	812	Torque limit level (regeneration)	0 to 400%, 9999	0.1%	9999	83	
e li	813	Torque limit level (3rd quadrant)	0 to 400%, 9999	0.1%	9999	83	
orqu	814	Torque limit level (4th quadrant)	0 to 400%, 9999	0.1%	9999	83	
P	815	Torque limit level 2	0 to 400%, 9999	0.1%	9999	83	
	816	Torque limit level during acceleration	0 to 400%, 9999	0.1%	9999	83	
	817	Torque limit level during deceleration	0 to 400% 9999	0.1%	9999	83	
gain ng	818	Easy gain tuning response level setting	1 to 15	1	2	88	
Easy tuni	819	Easy gain tuning selection	0 to 2	1	0	88	
	820	Speed control P gain 1	0 to 1000%	1%	60%	88	
	821	Speed control integral time 1	0 to 20s	0.001s	0.333s	88	
	822	Speed setting filter 1	0 to 5s, 9999	0.001s	9999	265	
	823 *2	Speed detection filter 1	0 to 0.1s	0.001s	0.001s	127	
	824	Torque control P gain 1	0 to 200%	1%	100%	113	
<u>ح</u>	825	Torque control integral time 1	0 to 500ms	0.1ms	5ms	113	
ctio	826	Torque setting filter 1	0 to 5s, 9999	0.001s	9999	265	
fun	827	Torque detection filter 1	0 to 0.1s	0.001s	0s	127	
lent	828	Model speed control gain	0 to 1000%	1%	60%	95	
Istm	830	Speed control P gain 2	0 to 1000%, 9999	1%	9999	88	
Adju	831	Speed control integral time 2	0 to 20s, 9999	0.001s	9999	88	
	832	Speed setting filter 2	0 to 5s, 9999	0.001s	9999	265	
	833 *2	Speed detection filter 2	0 to 0.1s, 9999	0.001s	9999	127	
	834	Torque control P gain 2	0 to 200%, 9999	1%	9999	113	
	835	Torque control integral time 2	0 to 500ms, 9999	0.1ms	9999	113	
	836	Torque setting filter 2	0 to 5s, 9999	0.001s	9999	265	
	837	Torque detection filter 2	0 to 0.1s, 9999	0.0015	9999	127	
	840 *2	Torque bias selection	0 to 3, 9999	10/	9999	97	
	041 *2 942 +0	Torque bias 1	600 to 1400%, 9999	1%	9999	97	
as	042 *2 942 *2	Torque bias 2	600 to 1400%, 9999	1 %	9999	97	
e bi	8// *2	Torque bias 5	0 to 5s, 9999	0.001s	9999	97	
urqu	845 *2	Torque bias operation time	0 to 55, 9999	0.0015	9999	97	
10	846 *2	Torque bias balance compensation	0 to 10V 9999	0.010	9999	97	
	847 *2	Fall-time torque bias terminal 1 bias	0 to 400% 9999	1%	9999	97	
	848 *2	Fall-time torque bias terminal 1 gain	0 to 400%, 9999	1%	9999	97	
	849	Analog input offset adjustment	0 to 200%	0.1%	100%	265	
	850	Brake operation selection	0, 1	1	0	185	
	<b>853</b> *2	Speed deviation time	0 to 100s	0.1s	1s	100	
tion	854	Excitation ratio	0 to 100%	1%	100%	128	
nuc	858	Terminal 4 function assignment	0, 1, 4, 9999	1	0	258	
lal f	859	Torque current	0 to 500A, 9999	0.01A	9999	171	
litior	860	Second motor torque current	0 to 500A, 9999	0.01A	9999	171	
Add	862	Notch filter time constant	0 to 60	1	0	101	
	863	Notch filter depth	0, 1, 2, 3	1	0	101	
	864	Torque detection	0 to 400%	0.1%	150%	224	
	865	Low speed detection	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	1.5Hz	221	
Indication function	866	Torque monitoring reference	0 to 400%	0.1%	150%	233	
—	867	AM output filter	0 to 5s	0.01s	0.01s	233	
	868	Terminal 1 function assignment	0 to 6, 9999	1	0	258	

## Parameter list

Func- tion	Parameter	Name	Setting Range	Minimum Setting Increments	Initial Value	Refer to Page	Customer Setting
e v	872	Input phase failure protection selection	0, 1	1	1	249	
tion	<b>873</b> *2	Speed limit	0 to 120Hz	0.01Hz	20Hz	100	
rote	874	OLT level setting	0 to 200%	0.1%	150%	83	
сц	875	Fault definition	0, 1	1	0	250	
suc	877	Speed feed forward control/model adaptive speed control selection	0, 1, 2	1	0	95	
functio	878	Speed feed forward filter	0 to 1s	0.01s	0s	95	
lethod	879	Speed feed forward torque limit	0 to 400%	0.1%	150%	95	
ntrol m	880	Load inertia ratio	0 to 200 times	0.1	7	88, 95	
ů	881	Speed feed forward gain	0 to 1000%	1%	0%	95	
ction	882	Regeneration avoidance operation selection	0, 1, 2	1	0	351	
ince fund	883	Regeneration avoidance operation level	300 to 800V	0.1V	380/760VDC *4	351	
avoida	884	Regeneration avoidance at deceleration detection sensitivity	0 to 5	1	0	351	
eneration	885	Regeneration avoidance compensation frequency limit value	0 to 10Hz, 9999	0.01Hz	6Hz	351	
Rege	886	Regeneration avoidance voltage gain	0 to 200%	0.1%	100%	351	
ee neters	888	Free parameter 1	0 to 9999	1	9999	360	
Fr param	889	Free parameter 2	0 to 9999	1	9999	360	
	891	Cumulative power monitor digit shifted times	0 to 4, 9999	1	9999	252	
	892	Load factor	30 to 150%	0.1%	100%	252	
onitor	893	Energy saving monitor reference (motor capacity)	0.1 to 55kW	0.01kW	Inverter rated capacity	252	
ing mc	894	Control selection during commercial power-supply operation	0, 1, 2, 3	1	0	252	
savi	895	Power saving rate reference value	0, 1, 9999	1	9999	252	
Jergy	896	Power unit cost	0 to 500, 9999	0.01	9999	252	
ш	897	Power saving monitor average time	0, 1 to 1000h, 9999	1h	9999	252	
	898	Power saving cumulative monitor clear	0, 1, 10, 9999	1	9999	252	
	899	Operation time rate (estimated value)	0 to 100%, 9999	0.1%	9999	252	

Func- tion	Parameter	Name	Setting Range	Minimum Setting Increments	Initial Value	Refer to Page	Customer Setting
	C0 (900) *3	FM terminal calibration	—	_	—	236	
	C1 (901) *3	AM terminal calibration	—	—	—	236	
	C2 (902) *3	Terminal 2 frequency setting bias frequency	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	0Hz	267	
neters	C3 (902) *3	Terminal 2 frequency setting bias	0 to 300%	0.1%	0%	267	
parar	125 (903) *3	Terminal 2 frequency setting gain frequency	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	60Hz	267	
ation	C4 (903) *3	Terminal 2 frequency setting gain	0 to 300%	0.1%	100%	267	
Calibr	C5 (904) *3	Terminal 4 frequency setting bias frequency	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	0Hz	267	
	C6 (904) *3	Terminal 4 frequency setting bias	0 to 300%	0.1%	20%	267	
	126 (905) *3	Terminal 4 frequency setting gain frequency	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	60Hz	267	
	C7 (905) *3	Terminal 4 frequency setting gain	0 to 300%	0.1%	100%	267	
	C12 (917) ∗3	Terminal 1 bias frequency (speed)	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	0Hz	267	
	C13 (917) ∗3	Terminal 1 bias (speed)	0 to 300%	0.1%	0%	267	
	C14 (918) ∗3	Terminal 1 gain frequency (speed)	0 to 400Hz	0.01Hz	60Hz	267	
Ś	C15 (918) ∗3	Terminal 1 gain (speed)	0 to 300%	0.1%	100%	267	
neter	C16 (919) ∗3	Terminal 1 bias command (torque/ magnetic flux)	0 to 400%	0.1%	0%	273	
paraı	C17 (919) ∗3	Terminal 1 bias (torque/magnetic flux)	0 to 300%	0.1%	0%	273	
ation	C18 (920) ∗3	Terminal 1 gain command (torque/ magnetic flux)	0 to 400%	0.1%	150%	273	
Calibr	C19 (920) ∗3	Terminal 1 gain (torque/magnetic flux)	0 to 300%	0.1%	100%	273	
0	C38 (932) *3	Terminal 4 bias command (torque/ magnetic flux)	0 to 400%	0.1%	0%	273	
	C39 (932) *3	Terminal 4 bias (torque/magnetic flux)	0 to 300%	0.1%	20%	273	
	C40 (933) *3	Terminal 4 gain command (torque/ magnetic flux)	0 to 400%	0.1%	150%	273	
	C41 (933) ∗3	Terminal 4 gain (torque/magnetic flux)	0 to 300%	0.1%	100%	273	
	989	Parameter for manufacturer setting. Do	not set.				
D	990	PU buzzer control	0, 1	1	1	363	
Щ	991	PU contrast adjustment	0 to 63	1	58	363	
sis	Pr. CL	Parameter clear	0, 1	1	0	364	
ear nete	ALLC	All parameter clear	0, 1	1	0	365	
Clear	Er.CL	Faults history clear	0, 1	1	0	368	
ő	PCPY	Parameter copy	0 1 2 3	1	0	366	

\*1 \*2 \*3 \*4

 PCPY
 Parameter copy
 0, 1, 2, 3

 Differ according to capacities. (7.5K or less/11K or more)
 Setting can be made only when the FR-A7AP is mounted.

 The parameter number in parentheses is the one for use with the parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07).
 Differs according to the voltage class. (200V class/400V class)

4

Parameter List

## Parameters according to purposes

4.3	Control mode	71
4.3.1 4.3.2	What is vector control? Change the control method (Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 451, Pr. 800)	
4.4	Speed control by real sensorless vector control, vector control	79
4.4.1	Setting procedure of real sensorless vector control (speed control)	81
4.4.2 4 4 3	Setting procedure of vector control (speed control)	82
	(Pr. 22, Pr. 803, Pr. 810 to Pr. 817, Pr. 858, Pr. 868, Pr. 874)	83
4.4.4	To perform high accuracy/fast response operation (gain adjustment of real sensorless vector control and vector control) (Pr. 818 to Pr. 821, Pr. 830, Pr. 831, Pr. 880)	88
4.4.5	Speed feed forward control, model adaptive speed control (Pr. 828, Pr. 877 to Pr. 881)	
4.4.6	Torque biases (Pr. 840 to Pr. 848)	
4.4.7	Prevent the motor from overrunning (Pr. 285, Pr. 853, Pr. 873)	100 101
4.5	Torque control by real sensorless vector control, vector control	
4.5.1	Torque control	102
4.5.2	Setting procedure of real sensorless vector control (torque control)	106
4.5.3	Setting procedure of vector control (torque control)	107
4.5.4	l orque command (Pr. 803 to Pr. 806) Speed limit (Pr. 807 to Pr. 809)	108 110
4.5.6	Gain adjustment of torque control (Pr. 824, Pr. 825, Pr. 834, Pr. 835)	113
46	Position control by vector control	115
4.6.1	Position control	115
4.6.2	Conditional position feed function by contact input (Pr. 419, Pr. 464 to Pr. 494)	113
4.6.3	Position control (Pr. 419, Pr. 428 to Pr. 430) by inverter pulse train input	120
4.6.4	Setting of the electronic gear (Pr. 420, Pr. 421, Pr. 424)	122
4.6.5	Setting of positioning adjustment parameter (Pr. 426, Pr. 427)	123 124
4.6.7	Trouble shooting for when position control is not exercised normally	126
4 7		
4.7	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector control	127
<b>4.7</b> 4.7.1	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector control Speed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)	<b>127</b> 127 128
4.7.1 4.7.2 4.8	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector control         Speed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)         Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)         Adjust the output torque (current) of the motor	<b>127</b> 127 128 <b>129</b>
4.7.1 4.7.2 4.8 4.8.1	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector control         Speed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)         Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)         Adjust the output torque (current) of the motor         Manual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)	127 127 128 128 129 
4.7.1 4.7.2 4.8 4.8.1 4.8.2	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector control         Speed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)         Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)         Adjust the output torque (current) of the motor         Manual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)         Advanced magnetic flux vector control (Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450,	127 
4.7.1 4.7.2 4.8 4.8.1 4.8.2	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector control         Speed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)         Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)         Adjust the output torque (current) of the motor         Manual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)         Advanced magnetic flux vector control (Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450, Pr. 451, Pr. 453, Pr. 454, Pr. 569, Pr. 800)         Slip componention (Pr. 245 to Pr. 247)	127 127 128 128 129 129 129 131
4.7 4.7.1 4.7.2 4.8 4.8.1 4.8.2 4.8.3 4.8.3 4.8.4	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector control         Speed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)         Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)         Adjust the output torque (current) of the motor         Manual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)         Advanced magnetic flux vector control (Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450, Pr. 451, Pr. 453, Pr. 454, Pr. 569, Pr. 800)         Slip compensation (Pr. 245 to Pr. 247)         Stall prevention operation (Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 48, Pr. 49, Pr. 66, Pr. 114, Pr. 115)	127 127 128 129 129 129 129 131 134
4.7.1 4.7.2 4.8 4.8.1 4.8.2 4.8.3 4.8.4	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector controlSpeed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)Adjust the output torque (current) of the motorManual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)Advanced magnetic flux vector control (Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450,Pr. 451, Pr. 453, Pr. 454, Pr. 569, Pr. 800)Slip compensation (Pr. 245 to Pr. 247)Stall prevention operation (Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 48, Pr. 49, Pr. 66, Pr. 114, Pr. 115,Pr. 148, Pr. 149, Pr. 154, Pr. 156, Pr. 157, Pr. 858, Pr. 868)	127 127 128 129 129 129 131 134 
4.7.1 4.7.2 4.8 4.8.1 4.8.2 4.8.3 4.8.4 4.8.4 4.8.4	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector controlSpeed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)Adjust the output torque (current) of the motorManual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)Advanced magnetic flux vector control (Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450,Pr. 451, Pr. 453, Pr. 454, Pr. 569, Pr. 800)Slip compensation (Pr. 245 to Pr. 247)Stall prevention operation (Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 48, Pr. 49, Pr. 66, Pr. 114, Pr. 115,Pr. 148, Pr. 149, Pr. 154, Pr. 156, Pr. 157, Pr. 858, Pr. 868)Limit the output frequency	127 127 128 129 129 129 131 134 134 135 140
4.7.1 4.7.2 4.8 4.8.1 4.8.2 4.8.3 4.8.3 4.8.4 4.9 4.91	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector controlSpeed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)Adjust the output torque (current) of the motorManual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)Advanced magnetic flux vector control (Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450,Pr. 451, Pr. 453, Pr. 454, Pr. 569, Pr. 800)Slip compensation (Pr. 245 to Pr. 247)Stall prevention operation (Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 48, Pr. 49, Pr. 66, Pr. 114, Pr. 115,Pr. 148, Pr. 149, Pr. 154, Pr. 156, Pr. 157, Pr. 858, Pr. 868)Limit the output frequencyMaximum/minimum frequency (Pr. 1, Pr. 2, Pr. 18)	127 127 128 129 129 129 131 134 135 140 140
4.7 4.7.1 4.7.2 4.8 4.8.1 4.8.2 4.8.3 4.8.4 4.8.3 4.8.4 4.9 4.9.1 4.9.2	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector controlSpeed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)Adjust the output torque (current) of the motorManual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)Advanced magnetic flux vector control (Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450,Pr. 451, Pr. 453, Pr. 454, Pr. 569, Pr. 800)Slip compensation (Pr. 245 to Pr. 247)Stall prevention operation (Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 48, Pr. 49, Pr. 66, Pr. 114, Pr. 115,Pr. 148, Pr. 149, Pr. 154, Pr. 156, Pr. 157, Pr. 858, Pr. 868)Limit the output frequencyMaximum/minimum frequency (Pr. 1, Pr. 2, Pr. 18)Avoid mechanical resonance points (Frequency jump) (Pr. 31 to Pr. 36)	127 127 128 129 129 129 131 134 135 140 140 141
4.7.1 4.7.2 4.8 4.8.1 4.8.2 4.8.3 4.8.4 4.8.3 4.8.4 4.9 4.9 4.9.1 4.9.2 4.10	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector controlSpeed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)Adjust the output torque (current) of the motorManual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)Advanced magnetic flux vector control (Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450,Pr. 451, Pr. 453, Pr. 454, Pr. 569, Pr. 800)Slip compensation (Pr. 245 to Pr. 247)Stall prevention operation (Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 48, Pr. 49, Pr. 66, Pr. 114, Pr. 115,Pr. 148, Pr. 149, Pr. 154, Pr. 156, Pr. 157, Pr. 858, Pr. 868)Limit the output frequencyMaximum/minimum frequency (Pr. 1, Pr. 2, Pr. 18)Avoid mechanical resonance points (Frequency jump) (Pr. 31 to Pr. 36)	127 127 128 129 129 131 134 135 140 140 141 142
4.7 4.7.1 4.7.2 4.8 4.8.1 4.8.2 4.8.3 4.8.3 4.8.4 4.9 4.9.1 4.9.2 4.10 4.10.	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector controlSpeed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)Adjust the output torque (current) of the motorManual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)Advanced magnetic flux vector control (Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450,Pr. 451, Pr. 453, Pr. 454, Pr. 569, Pr. 800)Slip compensation (Pr. 245 to Pr. 247)Stall prevention operation (Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 48, Pr. 49, Pr. 66, Pr. 114, Pr. 115,Pr. 148, Pr. 149, Pr. 154, Pr. 156, Pr. 157, Pr. 858, Pr. 868)Limit the output frequencyMaximum/minimum frequency (Pr. 1, Pr. 2, Pr. 18)Avoid mechanical resonance points (Frequency jump) (Pr. 31 to Pr. 36)Set V/F pattern11Base frequency, voltage (Pr. 3, Pr. 19, Pr. 47, Pr. 113)	127 127 128 129 129 129 131 134 135 140 140 141 141 142 142
4.7 4.7.1 4.7.2 4.8 4.8.1 4.8.2 4.8.3 4.8.3 4.8.4 4.9 4.9.1 4.9.2 4.10 4.10. 4.	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector control         Speed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)         Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)         Adjust the output torque (current) of the motor         Manual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)         Advanced magnetic flux vector control (Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450, Pr. 451, Pr. 453, Pr. 454, Pr. 569, Pr. 800)         Slip compensation (Pr. 245 to Pr. 247)         Stall prevention operation (Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 48, Pr. 49, Pr. 66, Pr. 114, Pr. 115, Pr. 148, Pr. 149, Pr. 154, Pr. 156, Pr. 157, Pr. 858, Pr. 868)         Limit the output frequency         Maximum/minimum frequency (Pr. 1, Pr. 2, Pr. 18)         Avoid mechanical resonance points (Frequency jump) (Pr. 31 to Pr. 36)         Set V/F pattern         1         2       Load pattern selection (Pr. 14)	127 127 128 129 129 129 131 134 134 135 140 140 141 141 142 142 144
4.7 4.7.1 4.7.2 4.8 4.8.1 4.8.2 4.8.3 4.8.3 4.8.4 4.9 4.9.1 4.9.2 4.10 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.10.	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector control         Speed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)         Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)         Adjust the output torque (current) of the motor         Manual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)         Advanced magnetic flux vector control (Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450, Pr. 451, Pr. 453, Pr. 454, Pr. 569, Pr. 800)         Slip compensation (Pr. 245 to Pr. 247)         Stall prevention operation (Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 48, Pr. 49, Pr. 66, Pr. 114, Pr. 115, Pr. 148, Pr. 149, Pr. 154, Pr. 156, Pr. 157, Pr. 858, Pr. 868)         Limit the output frequency         Maximum/minimum frequency (Pr. 1, Pr. 2, Pr. 18)         Avoid mechanical resonance points (Frequency jump) (Pr. 31 to Pr. 36)         Set V/F pattern         1         1       Base frequency, voltage (Pr. 3, Pr. 19, Pr. 47, Pr. 113)         2       Load pattern selection (Pr. 14)         3       Elevator mode (automatic acceleration/deceleration) (Pr. 61, Pr. 64, Pr. 292)         4       Adjustable 5 points V/F (Pr. 71, Pr. 100 to Pr. 109)	127 127 128 129 129 129 131 134 135 140 140 140 141 142 142 144 146 147
4.7 4.7.1 4.7.2 4.8 4.8.1 4.8.2 4.8.3 4.8.3 4.8.4 4.9 4.91 4.9.2 4.10 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.11	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector control         Speed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)         Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)         Adjust the output torque (current) of the motor         Manual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)         Advanced magnetic flux vector control (Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450, Pr. 451, Pr. 453, Pr. 454, Pr. 569, Pr. 800)         Slip compensation (Pr. 245 to Pr. 247)         Stall prevention operation (Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 48, Pr. 49, Pr. 66, Pr. 114, Pr. 115, Pr. 148, Pr. 149, Pr. 154, Pr. 156, Pr. 157, Pr. 858, Pr. 868)         Limit the output frequency         Maximum/minimum frequency (Pr. 1, Pr. 2, Pr. 18)         Avoid mechanical resonance points (Frequency jump) (Pr. 31 to Pr. 36)         Set V/F pattern         1         1       Base frequency, voltage (Pr. 3, Pr. 19, Pr. 47, Pr. 113)         2       Load pattern selection (Pr. 14)         3       Elevator mode (automatic acceleration/deceleration) (Pr. 61, Pr. 64, Pr. 292)         4       Adjustable 5 points V/F (Pr. 71, Pr. 100 to Pr. 109)         Frequency setting by external terminals	127 127 128 129 129 129 131 134 135 140 141 141 142 142 142 144 146 147 148
4.7 4.7.1 4.7.2 4.8 4.8.1 4.8.2 4.8.3 4.8.3 4.8.4 4.9 4.9.1 4.9.2 4.10 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.11.	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector control         Speed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)         Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)         Adjust the output torque (current) of the motor         Manual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)         Advanced magnetic flux vector control (Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450, Pr. 451, Pr. 453, Pr. 454, Pr. 569, Pr. 800)         Slip compensation (Pr. 245 to Pr. 247)         Stall prevention operation (Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 48, Pr. 49, Pr. 66, Pr. 114, Pr. 115, Pr. 148, Pr. 149, Pr. 154, Pr. 156, Pr. 157, Pr. 858, Pr. 868)         Limit the output frequency         Maximum/minimum frequency (Pr. 1, Pr. 2, Pr. 18)         Avoid mechanical resonance points (Frequency jump) (Pr. 31 to Pr. 36)         Set V/F pattern         1         1       Base frequency, voltage (Pr. 3, Pr. 19, Pr. 47, Pr. 113)         2       Load pattern selection (Pr. 14)         3       Elevator mode (automatic acceleration/deceleration) (Pr. 61, Pr. 64, Pr. 292)         4       Adjustable 5 points V/F (Pr. 71, Pr. 100 to Pr. 109)         Frequency setting by external terminals         1       Multi-speed setting operation (Pr. 4 to Pr. 6, Pr. 24 to Pr. 27, Pr. 232 to Pr. 239)	127 127 128 129 129 129 131 134 135 140 141 141 142 142 142 144 146 147 148 148
4.7 4.7.1 4.7.2 4.8 4.8.1 4.8.2 4.8.3 4.8.4 4.9 4.9.1 4.9.2 4.10 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.11. 4.11. 4.11. 4.11.	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector control         Speed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)         Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)         Adjust the output torque (current) of the motor         Manual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)         Advanced magnetic flux vector control (Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450, Pr. 451, Pr. 453, Pr. 454, Pr. 569, Pr. 800)         Slip compensation (Pr. 245 to Pr. 247)         Stall prevention operation (Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 48, Pr. 49, Pr. 66, Pr. 114, Pr. 115, Pr. 148, Pr. 149, Pr. 154, Pr. 156, Pr. 157, Pr. 858, Pr. 868)         Limit the output frequency         Maximum/minimum frequency (Pr. 1, Pr. 2, Pr. 18)         Avoid mechanical resonance points (Frequency jump) (Pr. 31 to Pr. 36)         Set V/F pattern         1         1       Base frequency, voltage (Pr. 3, Pr. 19, Pr. 47, Pr. 113)         2       Load pattern selection (Pr. 14)         3       Elevator mode (automatic acceleration/deceleration) (Pr. 61, Pr. 64, Pr. 292)         4       Adjustable 5 points V/F (Pr. 71, Pr. 100 to Pr. 109)         Frequency setting by external terminals         1       Multi-speed setting operation (Pr. 4 to Pr. 6, Pr. 24 to Pr. 27, Pr. 232 to Pr. 239)         2       Jog operation (Pr. 15, Pr. 16)	127 127 128 129 129 129 131 134 135 140 141 141 142 142 142 144 146 147 148 148
4.7 4.7.1 4.7.2 4.8 4.8.1 4.8.2 4.8.3 4.8.4 4.9 4.9.1 4.9.2 4.10 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.11. 4.1.1. 4.1.1.	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector control         Speed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)         Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)         Adjust the output torque (current) of the motor         Manual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)         Advanced magnetic flux vector control (Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450, Pr. 451, Pr. 453, Pr. 454, Pr. 569, Pr. 800)         Slip compensation (Pr. 245 to Pr. 247)         Stall prevention operation (Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 48, Pr. 49, Pr. 66, Pr. 114, Pr. 115, Pr. 148, Pr. 149, Pr. 154, Pr. 156, Pr. 157, Pr. 858, Pr. 868)         Limit the output frequency         Maximum/minimum frequency (Pr. 1, Pr. 2, Pr. 18)         Avoid mechanical resonance points (Frequency jump) (Pr. 31 to Pr. 36)         Set V/F pattern         1       Base frequency, voltage (Pr. 3, Pr. 19, Pr. 47, Pr. 113)         2       Load pattern selection (Pr. 14)         3       Elevator mode (automatic acceleration/deceleration) (Pr. 61, Pr. 64, Pr. 292)         4       Adjustable 5 points V/F (Pr. 71, Pr. 100 to Pr. 109)         Frequency setting by external terminals         1       Multi-speed setting operation (Pr. 4 to Pr. 6, Pr. 24 to Pr. 27, Pr. 232 to Pr. 239)         2       Jog operation of multi-speed and remote setting (Pr. 28)         3       Input compensation of multi-speed and remote setting (Pr. 28)	127 127 128 129 129 129 131 134 134 135 140 141 141 142 142 142 142 144 146 147 148 148 150 152 152
4.7 4.7.1 4.7.2 4.8 4.8.1 4.8.2 4.8.3 4.8.3 4.8.4 4.9 4.9 4.91 4.92 4.10 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.11. 4.1. 4.11. 4.11. 4.1.1. 4.1.1. 4.1.1. 4.1.1. 4.1.1. 4.1.1. 4	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector control         Speed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)         Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)         Adjust the output torque (current) of the motor         Manual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)         Advanced magnetic flux vector control (Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450, Pr. 451, Pr. 453, Pr. 454, Pr. 569, Pr. 800)         Slip compensation (Pr. 245 to Pr. 247)         Stall prevention operation (Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 48, Pr. 49, Pr. 66, Pr. 114, Pr. 115, Pr. 148, Pr. 149, Pr. 154, Pr. 156, Pr. 157, Pr. 858, Pr. 868)         Limit the output frequency         Maximum/minimum frequency (Pr. 1, Pr. 2, Pr. 18)         Avoid mechanical resonance points (Frequency jump) (Pr. 31 to Pr. 36)         Set V/F pattern         1       Base frequency, voltage (Pr. 3, Pr. 19, Pr. 47, Pr. 113)         2       Load pattern selection (Pr. 14)         3       Elevator mode (automatic acceleration/deceleration) (Pr. 61, Pr. 64, Pr. 292)         4       Adjustable 5 points V/F (Pr. 71, Pr. 100 to Pr. 109)         Frequency setting by external terminals         1       Multi-speed setting operation (Pr. 4 to Pr. 6, Pr. 24 to Pr. 27, Pr. 232 to Pr. 239)         2       Jog operation (Pr. 15, Pr. 16)         3       Input compensation of multi-speed and remote setting (Pr. 28)      <	127           127           128           129           131           134           135           140           141           142           144           145           142           142           143           144           145           146           147           148           150           152           152
4.7 4.7.1 4.7.2 4.8 4.8.1 4.8.2 4.8.3 4.8.4 4.9 4.9.1 4.9.2 4.10 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.10. 4.11. 4.11. 4.11. 4.11. 4.11. 4.11. 4.11. 4.12	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector control         Speed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)         Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)         Adjust the output torque (current) of the motor         Manual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)         Advanced magnetic flux vector control (Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450, Pr. 451, Pr. 453, Pr. 454, Pr. 569, Pr. 800)         Slip compensation (Pr. 245 to Pr. 247)         Stall prevention operation (Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 48, Pr. 49, Pr. 66, Pr. 114, Pr. 115, Pr. 148, Pr. 149, Pr. 154, Pr. 156, Pr. 157, Pr. 858, Pr. 868)         Limit the output frequency         Maximum/minimum frequency (Pr. 1, Pr. 2, Pr. 18)         Avoid mechanical resonance points (Frequency jump) (Pr. 31 to Pr. 36)         Set V/F pattern         1         2       Load pattern selection (Pr. 14)         3       Elevator mode (automatic acceleration/deceleration) (Pr. 61, Pr. 64, Pr. 292)         4       Adjustable 5 points V/F (Pr. 71, Pr. 100 to Pr. 109)         Frequency setting by external terminals         1       Multi-speed setting operation (Pr. 4 to Pr. 6, Pr. 24 to Pr. 27, Pr. 232 to Pr. 239)         2       Jog operation of multi-speed and remote setting (Pr. 28)         4       Remote setting function (Pr. 59)	127 127 128 129 129 129 131 134 135 140 141 141 142 142 142 144 146 147 148 148 150 152 152
4.7 4.7.1 4.7.2 4.8 4.8.1 4.8.2 4.8.3 4.8.3 4.8.4 4.9 4.9 4.91 4.9.2 4.10 4.10 4.10 4.10 4.10 4.10 4.10 4.10 4.11 4.11 4.11 4.11 4.11 4.11 4.11	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector control         Speed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)         Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)         Adjust the output torque (current) of the motor         Manual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)         Advanced magnetic flux vector control (Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450, Pr. 451, Pr. 453, Pr. 454, Pr. 569, Pr. 800)         Slip compensation (Pr. 245 to Pr. 247)         Stall prevention operation (Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 48, Pr. 49, Pr. 66, Pr. 114, Pr. 115, Pr. 148, Pr. 149, Pr. 154, Pr. 156, Pr. 157, Pr. 858, Pr. 868)         Limit the output frequency         Maximum/minimum frequency (Pr. 1, Pr. 2, Pr. 18)         Avoid mechanical resonance points (Frequency jump) (Pr. 31 to Pr. 36)         Set V/F pattern         1       Base frequency, voltage (Pr. 3, Pr. 19, Pr. 47, Pr. 113)         2       Load pattern selection (Pr. 14)         3       Elevator mode (automatic acceleration/deceleration) (Pr. 61, Pr. 64, Pr. 292)         4       Adjustable 5 points V/F (Pr. 71, Pr. 100 to Pr. 109)         Frequency setting by external terminals         1       Multi-speed setting operation (Pr. 4 to Pr. 6, Pr. 24 to Pr. 27, Pr. 232 to Pr. 239)         2       Jog operation (Pr. 15, Pr. 16)         3       Input compensation of multi-speed and remote setting (Pr. 28)         4       Remote setting fu	127           127           128           129           131           134           135           140           141           142           144           145           147           148           150           152           155
4.7 4.7.1 4.7.2 4.8 4.8.1 4.8.2 4.8.3 4.8.4 4.9 4.9 4.9.1 4.92 4.10 4.10 4.10 4.10 4.10 4.10 4.10 4.10 4.11 4.11 4.11 4.11 4.11 4.11 4.11 4.11 4.11	Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector control         Speed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837)         Excitation ratio (Pr. 854)         Adjust the output torque (current) of the motor         Manual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)         Advanced magnetic flux vector control (Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450, Pr. 451, Pr. 453, Pr. 454, Pr. 569, Pr. 800)         Slip compensation (Pr. 245 to Pr. 247)         Stall prevention operation (Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 48, Pr. 49, Pr. 66, Pr. 114, Pr. 115, Pr. 148, Pr. 149, Pr. 154, Pr. 156, Pr. 157, Pr. 858, Pr. 868)         Limit the output frequency         Maximum/minimum frequency (Pr. 1, Pr. 2, Pr. 18)         Avoid mechanical resonance points (Frequency jump) (Pr. 31 to Pr. 36)         Set V/F pattern         1         1       Base frequency, voltage (Pr. 3, Pr. 19, Pr. 47, Pr. 113)         2       Load pattern selection (Pr. 14)         3       Elevator mode (automatic acceleration/deceleration) (Pr. 61, Pr. 64, Pr. 292)         4       Adjustable 5 points V/F (Pr. 71, Pr. 100 to Pr. 109)         Frequency setting by external terminals         1       Multi-speed setting operation (Pr. 4 to Pr. 6, Pr. 24 to Pr. 27, Pr. 232 to Pr. 239)         2       Jog operation (Pr. 15, Pr. 16)         3       Input compensation of multi-speed and remote setting (Pr. 28)	127           127           128           129           131           134           135           140           141           142           142           142           142           142           142           142           142           142           142           142           143           150           152           155           155

-	Pr 516 to Pr 510)	158
4.12.4	Shortest acceleration/deceleration and optimum acceleration/deceleration (automatic acceleration/deceleration) (Pr 61 to Pr 63 Pr 292 Pr 293)	162
4.13	Selection and protection of a motor	165
4.13.1	Motor protection from overheat (Electronic thermal relay function) (Pr. 9, Pr. 51)	165
4.13.2	Applied motor (Pr. 71, Pr. 450)	169
4.13.3	Offline auto tuning (Pr. 71, Pr. 80 to Pr. 84, Pr. 90 to Pr. 94, Pr. 96, Pr. 450, Pr. 453 to Pr. 463, Pr. 684, Pr. 850, Pr. 860)	171
4.13.4	Online auto tuning (Pr. 95, Pr. 574)	
4.14 I	Notor brake and stop operation	185
4.14.1	DC injection brake and zero speed control, servo lock (LX signal, X13 signal,	
	Pr. 10 to Pr. 12, Pr. 802, Pr. 850)	185
4.14.2	Stop selection (Pr. 250)	
4.14.3	Stop-on contact control function (Pr. 6, Pr. 48, Pr. 270, Pr. 275, Pr. 276)	
4.14.5	Orientation control (Pr. 350 to Pr. 366, Pr. 369, Pr. 393, Pr. 396 to Pr. 399)	
445 1	Substian appianment of external terminal and control	206
4.15 1		206
4.15.1	Input terminal function selection (Pr. 178 to Pr. 189)	
4.15.2	Condition selection of function validity by the second function selection signal (RT) and	
	third function selection signal (X9) (RT signal, X9 signal, Pr. 155)	210
4.15.4	Start signal operation selection (STF, STR, STOP signal, Pr. 250)	211
4.15.5	Magnetic flux decay output shutoff signal (X74 signal)	213
4.15.6	Output terminal function selection (Pr. 190 to Pr. 196)	214
4.15.7	Detection of output frequency (SU, FU, FU2, FU3, FB, FB2, FB3, LS signal, $Pr \ 41$ to $Pr \ 43$ $Pr \ 50$ $Pr \ 116$ $Pr \ 865$ )	221
4,15,8	Output current detection function	221
	(Y12 signal, Y13 signal, Pr. 150 to Pr. 153, Pr. 166, Pr. 167)	223
4.15.9	Detection of output torque (TU signal, Pr. 864)	224
4.15.10	Remote output function (REM signal, Pr. 495 to Pr. 497)	225
4.16 I	Ionitor display and monitor output signal	226
		220
4.16.1	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811)	226
4.16.1 4.16.2	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811) DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170, Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891)	226
4.16.1 4.16.2 4.16.3	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811) DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170, Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891) Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage	226
4.16.1 4.16.2 4.16.3	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811) DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170, Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891) Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) (Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867)	220 
4.16.1 4.16.2 4.16.3 4.16.4	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811) DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170, Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891) Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) (Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867) Terminal FM, AM calibration (Calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900), C1 (Pr. 901))	226 
4.16.1 4.16.2 4.16.3 4.16.4 <b>4.17</b>	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811) DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170, Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891) Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) (Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867) Terminal FM, AM calibration (Calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900), C1 (Pr. 901)) Dperation selection at power failure and instantaneous power failure	226 
4.16.1 4.16.2 4.16.3 4.16.4 <b>4.17</b> 4.17.1	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811) DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170, Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891) Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) (Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867) Terminal FM, AM calibration (Calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900), C1 (Pr. 901)) <b>Deperation selection at power failure and instantaneous power failure</b> Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure/flying start	226 
4.16.1 4.16.2 4.16.3 4.16.4 <b>4.17</b> 4.17.1 4.17.2	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811) DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170, Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891) Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) (Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867) Terminal FM, AM calibration (Calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900), C1 (Pr. 901)) <b>Dperation selection at power failure and instantaneous power failure</b> Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure/flying start (Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr. 162 to Pr. 165, Pr. 299, Pr. 611) Power failure-time deceleration-to-stop function (Pr. 261 to Pr. 266, Pr. 294.)	220 
4.16.1 4.16.2 4.16.3 4.16.4 <b>4.17</b> 4.17.1 4.17.2	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811) DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170, Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891) Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) (Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867) Terminal FM, AM calibration (Calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900), C1 (Pr. 901)) <b>Deration selection at power failure and instantaneous power failure</b> Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure/flying start (Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr. 162 to Pr. 165, Pr. 299, Pr. 611) Power failure-time deceleration-to-stop function (Pr. 261 to Pr. 266, Pr. 294 )	226 
4.16.1 4.16.2 4.16.3 4.16.4 <b>4.17</b> ( 4.17.1 4.17.2 <b>4.18</b> (	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811) DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170, Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891) Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) (Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867) Terminal FM, AM calibration (Calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900), C1 (Pr. 901)) <b>Deration selection at power failure and instantaneous power failure</b> Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure/flying start (Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr. 162 to Pr. 165, Pr. 299, Pr. 611) Power failure-time deceleration-to-stop function (Pr. 261 to Pr. 266, Pr. 294 ) <b>Deration setting at fault occurrence</b>	226 228 228 233 236 239 243 243 243 244 246
4.16.1 4.16.2 4.16.3 4.16.4 <b>4.17</b> 4.17.1 4.17.2 <b>4.18</b> ( 4.18.1 4.18.2	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811) DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170, Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891) Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) (Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867) Terminal FM, AM calibration (Calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900), C1 (Pr. 901)) <b>Deration selection at power failure and instantaneous power failure</b> Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure/flying start (Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr. 162 to Pr. 165, Pr. 299, Pr. 611) Power failure-time deceleration-to-stop function (Pr. 261 to Pr. 266, Pr. 294 ) <b>Deration setting at fault occurrence</b> Retry function (Pr. 65, Pr. 67 to Pr. 69) Eault code output colortion (Pr. 76)	220 
4.16.1 4.16.2 4.16.3 4.16.4 <b>4.17</b> 4.17.1 4.17.2 <b>4.18</b> ( 4.18.1 4.18.2 4.18.3	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811) DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170, Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891) Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) (Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867) Terminal FM, AM calibration (Calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900), C1 (Pr. 901)) <b>Deration selection at power failure and instantaneous power failure</b> Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure/flying start (Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr. 162 to Pr. 165, Pr. 299, Pr. 611) Power failure-time deceleration-to-stop function (Pr. 261 to Pr. 266, Pr. 294 ) <b>Deration setting at fault occurrence</b> Retry function (Pr. 65, Pr. 67 to Pr. 69) Fault code output selection (Pr. 76)	228 228 233 236 239 239 243 243 246 246 246 248 249
4.16.1 4.16.2 4.16.3 4.16.4 <b>4.17</b> 4.17.1 4.17.2 <b>4.18</b> 4.18.1 4.18.2 4.18.3 4.18.4	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811) DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170, Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891) Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) (Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867) Terminal FM, AM calibration (Calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900), C1 (Pr. 901)) <b>Deration selection at power failure and instantaneous power failure</b> Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure/flying start (Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr. 162 to Pr. 165, Pr. 299, Pr. 611) Power failure-time deceleration-to-stop function (Pr. 261 to Pr. 266, Pr. 294 ) <b>Deration setting at fault occurrence</b> Retry function (Pr. 65, Pr. 67 to Pr. 69) Fault code output selection (Pr. 76) Input/output phase loss protection selection (Pr. 251, Pr. 872) Overspeed detection (Pr. 374)	226 228 228 228 233 236 239 239 239 239 239 246 246 246 246 246 249 249 249
4.16.1 4.16.2 4.16.3 4.16.4 <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b>	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811) DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170, Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891) Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) (Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867) Terminal FM, AM calibration (Calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900), C1 (Pr. 901)) <b>Deration selection at power failure and instantaneous power failure</b> Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure/flying start (Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr. 162 to Pr. 165, Pr. 299, Pr. 611) Power failure-time deceleration-to-stop function (Pr. 261 to Pr. 266, Pr. 294 ) <b>Deration setting at fault occurrence</b> Retry function (Pr. 65, Pr. 67 to Pr. 69) Fault code output selection (Pr. 76) Input/output phase loss protection selection (Pr. 251, Pr. 872) Overspeed detection (Pr. 374) Encoder signal loss detection (Pr. 376)	228 228 233 236 239 239 243 243 243 2446 246 246 248 249 249 249 249
4.16.1 4.16.2 4.16.3 4.16.4 <b>4.17</b> ( 4.17.1 4.17.2 <b>4.18</b> ( 4.18.1 4.18.2 4.18.3 4.18.4 4.18.5 4.18.6	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811) DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170, Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891) Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) (Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867) Terminal FM, AM calibration (Calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900), C1 (Pr. 901)) <b>Deration selection at power failure and instantaneous power failure</b> Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure/flying start (Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr. 162 to Pr. 165, Pr. 299, Pr. 611) Power failure-time deceleration-to-stop function (Pr. 261 to Pr. 266, Pr. 294 ) <b>Deration setting at fault occurrence</b> Retry function (Pr. 65, Pr. 67 to Pr. 69) Fault code output selection (Pr. 76) Input/output phase loss protection selection (Pr. 251, Pr. 872) Overspeed detection (Pr. 374) Encoder signal loss detection (Pr. 376) Fault definition (Pr. 875)	220 228 233 236 239 239 243 243 243 244 249 249 249 249 249 250
4.16.1 4.16.2 4.16.3 4.16.4 <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b>	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811) DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170, Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891) Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) (Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867) Terminal FM, AM calibration (Calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900), C1 (Pr. 901)) <b>Deration selection at power failure and instantaneous power failure</b> Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure/flying start (Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr. 162 to Pr. 165, Pr. 299, Pr. 611) Power failure-time deceleration-to-stop function (Pr. 261 to Pr. 266, Pr. 294 ) <b>Deration setting at fault occurrence</b> Retry function (Pr. 65, Pr. 67 to Pr. 69) Fault code output selection (Pr. 76) Input/output phase loss protection selection (Pr. 251, Pr. 872) Overspeed detection (Pr. 374) Encoder signal loss detection (Pr. 376) Fault definition (Pr. 875)	220 228 233 236 239 239 243 243 243 243 244 249 249 249 249 249 249 250 251
4.16.1 4.16.2 4.16.3 4.16.4 <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.19</b> <b>4.19</b>	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811)         DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170,         Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891)         Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) (Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867)         Terminal FM, AM calibration (Calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900), C1 (Pr. 901)) <b>Operation selection at power failure and instantaneous power failure</b> Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure/flying start         (Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr. 162 to Pr. 165, Pr. 299, Pr. 611)         Power failure-time deceleration-to-stop function (Pr. 261 to Pr. 266, Pr. 294 ) <b>Operation setting at fault occurrence</b> Retry function (Pr. 65, Pr. 67 to Pr. 69)         Fault code output selection (Pr. 76)         Input/output phase loss protection selection (Pr. 251, Pr. 872)         Overspeed detection (Pr. 374)         Encoder signal loss detection (Pr. 376)         Fault definition (Pr. 875) <b>Energy saving operation and energy saving monitor</b> Energy saving control (Pr. 60)         Energy saving control (Pr. 60)         Energy saving control (Pr. 60)	220 
4.16.1 4.16.2 4.16.3 4.16.4 <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.19</b> <b>4.20</b> <b>4.19</b> <b>4.20</b> <b>4.20</b>	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811)         DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170,         Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891)         Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) (Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867)         Terminal FM, AM calibration (Calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900), C1 (Pr. 901)) <b>Operation selection at power failure and instantaneous power failure</b> Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure/flying start (Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr. 162 to Pr. 165, Pr. 299, Pr. 611)         Power failure-time deceleration-to-stop function (Pr. 261 to Pr. 266, Pr. 294 ) <b>Operation setting at fault occurrence</b> Retry function (Pr. 65, Pr. 67 to Pr. 69)         Fault code output selection (Pr. 76)         Input/output phase loss protection selection (Pr. 251, Pr. 872)         Overspeed detection (Pr. 374)         Encoder signal loss detection (Pr. 376)         Fault definition (Pr. 875)         Energy saving control (Pr. 60)         Energy saving control (Pr. 60)         Energy saving monitor (Pr. 891 to Pr. 899)	220 228 233 236 239 243 243 243 244 249 249 249 249 249 249 249 249 250 250 251 251 252 257
4.16.1 4.16.2 4.16.3 4.16.4 <b>4.17</b> 4.17.1 4.17.2 <b>4.18</b> (4.18.1 4.18.2 4.18.3 4.18.4 4.18.5 4.18.6 <b>4.19</b> 4.19.1 4.19.2 <b>4.20</b>	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811)         DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170,         Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891)         Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) (Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867)         Terminal FM, AM calibration (Calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900), C1 (Pr. 901)) <b>Operation selection at power failure and instantaneous power failure</b> Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure/flying start (Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr. 162 to Pr. 165, Pr. 299, Pr. 611)         Power failure-time deceleration-to-stop function (Pr. 261 to Pr. 266, Pr. 294 ) <b>Operation setting at fault occurrence</b> Retry function (Pr. 65, Pr. 67 to Pr. 69)         Fault code output selection (Pr. 76)         Input/output phase loss protection selection (Pr. 251, Pr. 872)         Overspeed detection (Pr. 376)         Fault definition (Pr. 875)         Energy saving operation and energy saving monitor         Energy saving control (Pr. 60)         Energy saving monitor (Pr. 891 to Pr. 899)         Motor noise, EMI measures         PWM carrier frequency and Soft-PWM control (Pr. 72, Pr. 240)	220 228 233 236 239 243 243 243 243 244 249 249 249 249 249 249 250 251 251 251 252 257
4.16.1 4.16.2 4.16.3 4.16.4 <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.19</b> <b>4.19</b> <b>4.19</b> <b>4.20</b> <b>4.20</b>	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811)         DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170,         Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891)         Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) (Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867)         Terminal FM, AM calibration (Calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900), C1 (Pr. 901)) <b>Operation selection at power failure and instantaneous power failure</b> Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure/flying start (Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr. 162 to Pr. 165, Pr. 299, Pr. 611)         Power failure-time deceleration-to-stop function (Pr. 261 to Pr. 266, Pr. 294 ) <b>Operation setting at fault occurrence</b> Retry function (Pr. 65, Pr. 67 to Pr. 69)         Fault code output selection (Pr. 374)         Encoder signal loss detection (Pr. 376)         Fault definition (Pr. 875) <b>Energy saving operation and energy saving monitor</b> Energy saving control (Pr. 60)         Energy saving control (Pr. 891 to Pr. 899) <b>Motor noise, EMI measures</b> PWM carrier frequency and Soft-PWM control (Pr. 72, Pr. 240)	220 228 233 236 239 243 243 243 243 244 249 249 249 249 249 249 249 249 250 251 251 251 252 257 257 257 258
4.16.1 4.16.2 4.16.3 4.16.4 <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.17</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.18</b> <b>4.19</b> <b>4.19</b> <b>4.20</b> <b>4.20</b> <b>4.21</b> <b>4.21</b> <b>4.21</b>	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811)         DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170,         Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891)         Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) (Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867)         Terminal FM, AM calibration (Calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900), C1 (Pr. 901)) <b>Operation selection at power failure and instantaneous power failure</b> Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure/flying start (Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr. 162 to Pr. 165, Pr. 299, Pr. 611)         Power failure-time deceleration-to-stop function (Pr. 261 to Pr. 266, Pr. 294) <b>Operation setting at fault occurrence</b> Retry function (Pr. 65, Pr. 67 to Pr. 69)         Fault code output selection (Pr. 76)         Input/output phase loss protection selection (Pr. 251, Pr. 872)         Overspeed detection (Pr. 374)         Encoder signal loss detection (Pr. 376)         Fault definition (Pr. 875) <b>Energy saving operation and energy saving monitor</b> Energy saving control (Pr. 80)         Energy saving monitor (Pr. 891 to Pr. 899) <b>Motor noise, EMI measures</b> PWM carrier frequency and Soft-PWM control (Pr. 72, Pr. 240)         Function assignment of analog input terminal (Pr. 858, Pr. 868)	220 228 233 236 239 243 243 243 243 244 249 249 249 249 249 249 249 249 250 251 251 252 257 257 257 257 258
4.16.1 4.16.2 4.16.3 4.16.4 <b>4.17</b> 4.17.1 4.17.2 <b>4.18</b> ( 4.18.1 4.18.2 4.18.3 4.18.4 4.18.5 4.18.6 <b>4.19</b> 4.19.1 4.19.2 <b>4.20</b> <b>4.20</b> <b>4.20</b> <b>4.21</b> <b>4.21</b> .1 4.21.2 4.21.2	Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811)         DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170,         Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891)         Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) (Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867)         Terminal FM, AM calibration (Calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900), C1 (Pr. 901)) <b>Operation selection at power failure and instantaneous power failure</b> Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure/flying start         (Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr. 162 to Pr. 165, Pr. 299, Pr. 611)         Power failure-time deceleration-to-stop function (Pr. 261 to Pr. 266, Pr. 294)         Operation setting at fault occurrence         Retry function (Pr. 65, Pr. 67 to Pr. 69)         Fault code output selection (Pr. 76)         Input/output phase loss protection selection (Pr. 251, Pr. 872)         Overspeed detection (Pr. 374)         Encoder signal loss detection (Pr. 376)         Fault definition (Pr. 875)         Energy saving operation and energy saving monitor         Energy saving control (Pr. 60)         Energy saving control (Pr. 60)         Energy saving monitor (Pr. 891 to Pr. 899)         Motor noise, EMI measures         PWM carrier frequency and Soft-PWM control (Pr. 72, Pr. 240)         Erequency/torque setting by analog input (terminal 1, 2, 4)	220 228 233 236 239 243 243 243 246 248 249 249 249 249 249 249 249 250 251 251 252 257 257 257 257 258 258 259

4.21.4 Response level of analog input and noise elimination (Pr. 74, Pr. 822, Pr. 826, Pr. 832, Pr. 836, Pr. 849)	265
4.21.5 Bias and gain of frequency setting voltage (current)	
(Pr. 125, Pr. 126, Pr. 241, C2(Pr. 902) to C7(Pr. 905), C12(Pr. 917) to C15(Pr. 918))	267
4.21.6 Bias and gain of torque (magnetic flux) setting voltage (current) (Pr. 241, C16(Pr. 919) to C19(Pr. 920), C38 (Pr. 932) to C41 (Pr. 933))	273
4.22 Misoperation prevention and parameter setting restriction	278
4.22.1 Reset selection/disconnected PU detection/PU stop selection (Pr. 75)	
4.22.2 Parameter write selection (Pr. 77)	280
4.22.3 Reverse rotation prevention selection (Pr. 78)	
4.22.4 Display of applied parameters and user group function (Pr. 160, Pr. 172 to Pr. 174)	
4.23 Selection of operation mode and operation location	283
4.23.1 Operation mode selection (Pr. 79)	
4.23.2 Operation mode at power on (Pr. 79, Pr. 340)	
communication operation (Pr. 338, Pr. 339, Pr. 550, Pr. 551)	292
4.24 Communication operation and setting	297
4 24 1 Wiring and configuration of PU connector	297
4.24.2 Wiring and arrangement of RS-485 terminals	
4.24.3 Initial settings and specifications of RS-485 communication	
(Pr. 117 to Pr. 124, Pr. 331 to Pr. 337, Pr. 341, Pr. 549)	
4.24.4 Communication EEPROM write selection (Pr. 342)	
4.24.5 Witsubishi inverter protocol (computer link communication)	
Pr. 539, Pr. 549)	316
4.25 Special operation and frequency control	329
4.25.1 PID control (Pr. 127 to Pr. 134, Pr. 575 to Pr. 577)	
4.25.2 Bypass-inverter switchover function (Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr. 135 to Pr. 139, Pr. 159)	337
4.25.3 Load torque high speed frequency control (Pr. 4, Pr. 5, Pr. 270 to Pr. 274)	342
4.25.4 Droop control (Pr. 286 to Pr. 288)	
4.25.5 Frequency setting by pulse train input (Pr. 291, Pr. 384 to Pr. 386)	
4.25.7 Regeneration avoidance function (Pr. 665, Pr. 882 to Pr. 886)	
4.26 Llooful functions	252
4.20 Oseful functions	353
4.20.1 Cooling fan operation selection (Pr. 244)	
4.26.3 Maintenance timer alarm (Pr. 503, Pr. 504)	
4.26.4 Current average value monitor signal (Pr. 555 to Pr. 557)	358
4.26.5 Free parameter (Pr. 888, Pr. 889)	360
4.27 Setting of the parameter unit and operation panel	361
4.27.1 PU display language selection (Pr. 145)	361
4.27.2 Operation panel frequency setting/key lock operation selection (Pr. 161)	
4.27.3 Buzzer control (Pr. 990)	
4.27.4 PU contrast adjustment (Pr. 991)	
4.28 Parameter clear	364
4.29 All parameter clear	365
4.30 Parameter copy and parameter verification	366
4.30.1 Parameter copy 4.30.2 Parameter verification	
4.31 Check and clear of the faults history	368

## 4.3 Control mode

V/F control (initial setting), advanced magnetic flux vector control, real sensorless vector control and vector control are available with this inverter.

#### (1) V/F Control

· It controls frequency and voltage so that the ratio of frequency (F) to voltage (V) is constant when changing frequency.

#### (2) Advanced magnetic flux vector control

• This control devides the inverter output current into an excitation current and a torque current by vector calculation and makes voltage compensation to flow a motor current which meets the load torque.

#### POINT

If the following conditions are not satisfied, select V/F control since malfunction such as insufficient torque and uneven rotation may occur.

- The motor capacity should be equal to or one rank lower than the inverter capacity.
- Motor to be used is any of Mitsubishi standard motor, high efficiency motor (SF-JR, SF-HR two-pole, four-pole, six-pole 0.4kW or more) or Mitsubishi constant torque motor (SF-JRCA four-pole, SF-HRCA 3.7kW or more). When using a motor other than the above (other manufacturer's motor, etc.), perform offline auto tuning without fail.
- · Single-motor operation (one motor run by one inverter) should be performed.
- Wiring length from inverter to motor should be within 30m. (Perform offline auto tuning in the state where wiring work is performed when the wiring length exceeds 30m.)

#### (3) Real sensorless vector control

- By estimating the motor speed, speed control and torque control with more advanced current control function are enabled. When high accuracy and fast response is necessary, select the real sensorless vector control and perform offline auto tuning and online auto tuning.
- This control can be applied to the following applications.
- $\cdot$  To minimize the speed fluctuation even at at a severe load fluctuation
- $\cdot$  To generate low speed torque
- · To prevent machine from damage due to too large torque (torque limit)
- · To perform torque control

#### POINT

If the following conditions are not satisfied, select V/F control since malfunction such as insufficient torque and uneven rotation may occur.

- · The motor capacity should be equal to or one rank lower than the inverter capacity.
- Perform offline auto tuning without fail. Offline auto tuning is necessary under real sensorless vector control even when the Mitsubishi motor is used.
- · Single-motor operation (one motor run by one inverter) should be performed.

#### (4) Vector control

- When the FR-A7AP is mounted, full-scale vector control operation can be performed using a motor with encoder.
   Fast response/high accuracy speed control (zero speed control, servo lock), torque control, and position control can be performed.
- What is vector control?

Excellent control characteristics when compared to V/F control and other control techniques, achieving the control characteristics equal to those of DC machines.

It is suitable for applications below.

- $\cdot$  To minimize the speed fluctuation even at a severe load fluctuation
- · To generate low speed torque
- · To prevent machine from damage due to too large torque (torque limit)
- To perform torque control or position control
- · Servo-lock torque control which generates torque at zero speed (i.e. status of motor shaft = stopped)

## POINT

If the conditions below are not satisfied, malfunction such as insufficient torque and uneven rotation may occur.

- · The motor capacity should be equal to or one rank lower than the inverter capacity.
- Motor to be used is any of Mitsubishi standard motor with encoder, high efficiency motor with encoder (SF-JR, SF-HR two-pole, four-pole, six-pole) or Mitsubishi constant torque motor with encoder (SF-JRCA four-pole, SF-HRCA 3.7kW or more) or vector control dedicated motor (SF-V5RU). When using a motor other than the above (other manufacturer's motor), perform offline auto tuning without fail.
- · Single-motor operation (one motor run by one inverter) should be performed.
- Wiring length from inverter to motor should be within 30m. (Perform offline auto tuning in the state where wiring work is performed when the wiring length exceeds 30m.)



Vector control is one of the control techniques for driving an induction motor. To help explain vector control, the fundamental equivalent circuit of an induction motor is shown below:



In the above diagram, currents flowing in the induction motor can be classified into a current id (excitation current) for making a magnetic flux in the motor and a current iq (torque current) for causing the motor to develop a torque.



In vector control, the voltage and output frequency are calculated to control the motor so that the excitation current and torque current (as shown in the left figure) flow to the optimum as described below:

- (1) The excitation current is controlled to place the internal magnetic flux of the motor in the optimum status.
- (2) Derive the torque command value so that the difference between the motor speed command and the actual speed (speed estimated value for real sensorless vector control) obtained from the encoder connected to the motor shaft is zero. Torque current is controlled so that torque as set in the torque command is developed.

Motor-generated torque (TM), slip angular velocity ( $\omega$ s) and the motor's secondary magnetic flux ( $\phi$ 2) can be found by the following calculation:

$$T_{M} \propto \phi_{2} \cdot iq$$
  
$$\phi_{2} = M \cdot id$$

 $\omega s = \frac{r2}{L2} \cdot \frac{iq}{id}$ where, L2 = secondary inductance  $L2 = \ell_2 + M$ 

Vector control provides the following advantages:

- Excellent control characteristics when compared to V/ F control and other control techniques, achieving the control characteristics equal to those of DC machines.
- (2) Applicable to fast response applications with which induction motors were previously regarded as difficult to use. Applications requiring a wide variable-speed range from extremely low speed to high speed, frequent acceleration/deceleration operations, continuous four-quadrant operations etc.
- (3) Allows torque control.
- (4) Allows servo-lock torque control which generates a torque at zero speed (i.e. status of motor shaft = stopped). (Cannot be performed under real sensorless vector control.)





ľ

(1) Speed control

Speed control operation is performed to zero the difference between the speed command ( $\omega^*$ ) and actual rotation detection value ( $\omega$ FB). At this time, the motor load is found and its result is transferred to the torque current controller as a torque current command (iq\*).

(2) Torque current control

A voltage (Vq) is calculated to start a current (iq\*) which is identical to the torque current command (iq) found by the speed controller.

(3) Magnetic flux control

The magnetic flux ( $\phi$ 2) of the motor is derived from the excitation current (id). The excitation current command (id\*) is calculated to use that motor magnetic flux ( $\phi$ 2) as a predetermined magnetic flux.

(4) Excitation current control

A voltage (Vd) is calculated to start a current (id) which is identical to the excitation current command (id\*) found by magnetic flux control.

(5) Output frequency calculation

Motor slip ( $\omega$ s) is calculated on the basis of the torque current value (iq) and magnetic flux ( $\phi$ 2). The output frequency ( $\omega$ 0) is found by adding that slip ( $\omega$ s) to the feedback ( $\omega$ FB) found by a feedback from the encoder.

The above results are used to make PWM modulation and run the motor.

## 4.3.2 Change the control method (Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 451, Pr. 800)

Set when selecting the advanced magnetic flux vector control, real sensorless vector control or vector control. Select a control mode from speed control mode, torque control mode and position control mode under real sensorless vector control or vector control. The initial value is V/F control.

•Select a control method using Pr. 800 (Pr. 451) Control method selection .

•Each control method can be switched using a method switching signal (MC).

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description			
80	Motor capacity	0000	0.4 to 55kW	Set the applied motor capaci	ty.		
00	motor capacity	3333	9999	V/F control			
			2, 4, 6, 8, 10	Set the number of motor pole	es.		
81	Number of motor poles	9999	12, 14, 16, 18, 20	X18 signal-ON:V/F control	Set 10 + number of motor poles		
			9999	V/F control			
			0 to 5	Vector control			
800	Control method	20	9	Vector control test operation	Vector control test operation		
800	selection		10, 11, 12	Real sensorless vector contr	ol		
			20	V/F control (advanced magnet	ic flux vector control)		
454	Second motor control	0000	10, 11, 12	Real sensorless vector contr	Real sensorless vector control		
451	method selection	9999	20, 9999	V/F control (advanced magnetic flux vector control)			

#### (1) Setting of the motor capacity and the number of motor poles (Pr. 80, Pr. 81)

• Motor specifications (the motor capacity and the number of motor poles) must be set to select advanced magnetic flux vector control, real sensorless vector control or vector control.

• Set the motor capacity (kW) in *Pr. 80 Motor capacity* and set the number of motor poles in *Pr. 81 Number of motor poles*.

#### REMARKS

• Setting number of motor poles in Pr. 81 changes the Pr. 144 Speed setting switchover setting automatically. (Refer to page 226.)

#### (2) Selection of control method and control mode

 Select the inverter control method for V/F control, advanced magnetic flux vector control (speed control), real sensorless vector control (speed control, torque control) and vector control (speed control, torque control, and position control).

<i>Pr. 80,</i> <i>Pr. 81</i> Setting	Pr. 800 Setting	Pr. 451 Setting	Control Method	Control Mode	Remarks	
	0 —			Speed control	—	
	1			Torque control		
	2	_		Speed control-torque control switchover	MC ON: Torque control MC OFF: Speed control	
	3		Vector control	Position control	—	
	4	_		Speed control-position control switchover	MC ON: Position control MC OFF: Speed control	
Othor	5	_		Position control-torque control switchover	MC ON: Torque control MC OFF: Position control	
than	9			Vector control test operation		
9999	10			Speed control		
	11		Real sensorless vector	Torque control		
	1	2	control	Speed control-torque control switchover	MC ON: Torque control MC OFF: Speed control	
	2 ( <i>Pr: 800</i> in	0 itial value)	Advanced magnetic flux vector control	Speed control	—	
			V/F cor	ntrol, advanced magnetic flux ve	ctor control	
9999	* V/F control					

\* Control method is V/F control regardless of the setting value of Pr. 800 when "9999" is set in Pr. 80 Motor capacity or Pr. 81 Number of motor poles.

### (3) Vector control test operation (*Pr.* $8\theta\theta$ = "9")

· Speed control test operation can be performed even when the motor is not connected.

The speed calculation value changes to track the speed command and the transition can be checked with the operation panel and analog signal output at FM and AM.

#### = CAUTION :

- Since current is not detected and voltage is not output, monitors related to current and voltage such as output current and output voltage, etc. and output signals do not function.
- · For speed calcuration, speed is calculated in consideration of Pr. 880 Load inertia ratio.

#### (4) Control method switching by external terminals (RT signal, X18 signal)

- The switching of the control method (V/F control, advanced magnetic flux vector control, real sensorless vector control and vector control) by the external terminal may be made in either of the following two ways: switching by the second function selection signal (RT), or V/F switching signal (X18).
- Two types of control method can be switched with the RT signal by setting the type of motor to be used as second motor in *Pr. 450 Second applied motor* and control method of the motor in *Pr. 451 Second motor control method selection*. Turn on the RT signal to select the second function.
- For switching by the X18 signal, setting "12, 14, 16, 18, 20" in *Pr. 81 Number of motor poles* and turning the X18 signal on switches the currently selected control method (advanced magnetic flux vector control, real sensorless vector control and vector control) to V/F control. In this case, use this signal only for changing the control method of one motor since second function as electronic thermal relay characteristic, etc. can not be changed. (Use the RT signal to change the second function.)

For the terminal used for X18 signal input, set "18" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* to assign the function.

First Motor Control Method	Second Motor Control Method (RT signal is on)	Pr. 450 Setting	<i>Pr. 453, Pr. 454</i> Setting	Pr. 451 Setting
	V/E control	9999	—	—
V/E control			9999	—
V/F control	Advanced magnetic flux vector control	Other than 9999	Other than	20, 9999
	Real sensorless vector control		9999	10 to 12
Advanced magnetic flux vector	Same control as the first motor *1	9999	—	—
control	V/F control	0.11 11	9999	—
Real sensorless vector control	Advanced magnetic flux vector control	Other than 9999	Other than	20, 9999
	Real sensorless vector control		9999	10 to 12

\*1 V/F control is selected when "12, 14, 16, 18, 20" is set in *Pr*: 81 and the X18 signal is on. When the X18 signal is not assigned, turning the RT signal on selects V/F control as the RT signal shares this function.

#### REMARKS

• The RT signal is assigned to the terminal RT in the initial setting. By setting "3" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection*), you can assign the RT signal to the other terminal.

The RT signal acts as the second function selection signal and makes the other second functions valid. (Refer to page 210.)

## (5) Switching the control method from the external terminal (MC signal)

• When "12 (2)" is set in *Pr. 800 (Pr. 451*), speed control is selected when the control mode switching signal (MC) is off, and torque control is selected when the signal is off under real sensorless vector control and vector control. Switching between speed control and torque control is always enabled.

Under vector control, speed control/position control switchover and torque control/position control switchover can be made by setting "4, 5" in *Pr. 800.* For the terminal used for MC signal input, set "26" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* to assign the function.

• When an analog input terminal (terminal 1,4) is used for torque limit, torque command, etc., terminal functions also switch as below if control mode is switched.

Du 969 Sotting	Real Sensorless Vector Control (Pr. 800 = 12), Vector Control (Pr. 800 = 2)			
Tr. 808 Setting	Speed control (MC signal-OFF)	ignal-OFF) Torque control (MC signal-ON)		
0 (initial value) Speed setting auxiliary Speed limit auxiliary		Speed limit auxiliary		
1	Magnetic flux command	Magnetic flux command		
2	Regenerative torque limit (Pr. 810 = 1)			
3		Torque command (Pr: 804 = 0)		
4	Torque limit ( $Pr: 810 = 1$ )	Torque command (Pr: 804 = 0)		
5		Forward reverse speed limit (Pr. 807 = 2)		
6				
9999				

#### • Terminal 1 function according to control

Dr. 969 Sotting	Vector Control (Pr. 800 = 4)			
Pr. 808 Setting	Speed control (MC signal-OFF)	al-OFF) Position control (MC signal-ON)		
0 (initial value)	Speed setting auxiliary	—		
1	Magnetic flux command	Magnetic flux command		
2	Regenerative torque limit (Pr: 810 = 1)	Regenerative torque limit (Pr. 810 = 1)		
3	—	—		
4	Torque limit ( $Pr. 810 = 1$ )	Torque limit ( $Pr. 810 = 1$ )		
5	—	—		
6	Torque bias	—		
9999	_	—		

Dr. 969 Sotting	Vector Control (Pr. 800 = 5)			
rr. 808 Setting	Position control (MC signal-OFF)	Torque control (MC signal-ON)		
0 (initial value)	—	Speed setting auxiliary		
1	Magnetic flux command	Magnetic flux command		
2	Regenerative torque limit (Pr. 810 = 1)	—		
3	_	Torque command ( <i>Pr. 804</i> = 0)		
4	Torque limit ( $Pr: 810 = 1$ )	Torque command ( <i>Pr. 804</i> = 0)		
5	—	Forward reverse speed limit (Pr. 807 = 2)		
6	—	—		
9999	—	—		

## • Terminal 4 function according to control

D <sub>#</sub> 959 Sotting	Real Sensorless Vector Control ( <i>Pr.</i> $800 = 12$ ), Vector Control ( <i>Pr.</i> $800 = 2$ )			
17. 050 Setting	Speed control (MC signal-OFF)	IC signal-OFF) Torque control (MC signal-ON)		
0 (initial value)	Speed command (AU signal-ON)	Speed limit (AU signal-ON)		
1	Magnetic flux command	Magnetic flux command		
4	Torque limit ( $Pr: 810 = 1$ )	—		
9999				

Du 959 Sotting	Vector Control (Pr. 800 = 4)			
rr. 050 Setting	Speed control (MC signal-OFF)	signal-OFF) Position control (MC signal-ON)		
0 (initial value)	Speed command (AU signal-ON)	—		
1	Magnetic flux command	Magnetic flux command		
4	Torque limit ( $Pr: 810 = 1$ )	Torque limit ( $Pr. 810 = 1$ )		
9999		—		

D <sub>#</sub> 959 Sotting	Vector Control (Pr. 800 = 5)		
rr. 050 Setting	Position control (MC signal-OFF)	ontrol (MC signal-OFF) Torque control (MC signal-ON)	
0 (initial value)	_	Speed limit (AU signal-ON)	
1	Magnetic flux command	Magnetic flux command	
4	Torque limit ( $Pr: 810 = 1$ )	—	
9999	_	—	

- :No function

#### REMARKS

- Switching between speed control and torque control is always enabled independently of whether the motor is at a stop or running or the DC injection brake operation (pre-excitation).
- During motor operation, speed control/position control switchover and torque control/position control switchover is made when frequency drops to the *Pr. 865 Low speed detection*.

#### CAUTION =

• Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### Parameters referred to +

Advanced magnetic flux vector control I F Refer to page 131 Real sensorless vector control, vector control (speed control) F Refer to page 79 Real sensorless vector control, vector control (torque control) F Refer to page 102 Vector control (position control) F Refer to page 115 Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) F Refer to page 206 Pr. 450 Second applied motor F Refer to page 169 Pr. 804 Torque command source selection F Refer to page 108 Pr. 807 Speed limit selection F Refer to page 110 Pr. 810 Torque limit input method selection F Refer to page 83

Pr. 858 Terminal 4 function assignment, Pr. 868 Terminal 1 function assignment IF Refer to page 258

# 4.4 Speed control by real sensorless vector control, vector control

Purpose	Parameter that s	should be Set	Refer to Page
To perform torque limit during speed control	Torque limit	Pr. 22, Pr. 803, Pr. 810, Pr. 812 to Pr. 817, Pr. 858, Pr. 868, Pr. 874	83
Gain adjustment of speed control	Easy gain tuning Gain adjustment	Pr. 818 to Pr. 821, Pr. 830, Pr. 831, Pr. 880	88
To enhance the trackability of the motor in response to a speed command change	Speed feed forward control, model adaptive speed control	Pr. 828, Pr. 877 to Pr. 881	95
Stabilize the speed detection signal	Speed detection filter	Pr. 823, Pr. 833	127
Accelerates the rise of the torque at a start	Torque bias	Pr. 840 to Pr. 848	97
Avoid mechanical resonance	Notch filter	Pr. 862, Pr. 863	101

Speed control is exercised to match the speed command and actual motor speed.

## (1) Control block diagram







## 4.4.1 Setting procedure of real sensorless vector control (speed control) Sensorless



- The carrier frequencies are selectable from among 2k, 6k, 10k, 14kHz for real sensoriess vector control.
   Torque control can not be performed in the low speed (approx. 10Hz or less) regeneration range and with light load at low speed.
- (approx. 20% or less of rated torque at approx. 5Hz or less). Choose vector control.
- Performing pre-excitation (LX signal and X13 signal) under torque control may start the motor running at a low speed even when the start command (STF or STR) is not input. The motor may run also at a low speed when the speed limit value = 0 with a start command input. Perform pre-excitation after making sure that there will be no problem in safety if the motor runs.
- Do not switch between the STF (forward rotation command) and STR (reverse rotation command) during operation under torque control. Overcurrent trip (E.OCD) or opposite rotation deceleration fault (E.11) occurs.
- When the inverter is likely to start during motor coasting under real sensorless vector control, set to make frequency search of automatic restart after instantaneous power failure valid ( $Pr. 57 \neq$  "9999", Pr. 162 = "10").
- Enough torque may not be generated in the ultra-low speed range less than approx. 2Hz when performing real sensorless vector control.
- The guideline of speed control range is as shown below.
- Driving: 1:200 (2, 4, 6 poles) Can be used at 0.3Hz or more at rated 60Hz
- 1:30 (8, 10 poles) Can be used at 2Hz or more at rated 60Hz

## 4.4.2 Setting procedure of vector control (speed control) \_\_\_\_\_



- Speed command setting range is 0 to 120Hz for vector control.
- The carrier frequencies are selectable from among 2k, 6k, 10k, 14kHz for vector control.

## 4.4.3 Torque limit level setting for speed control (Pr. 22, Pr. 803, Pr. 810 to Pr. 817, Pr. 858, Pr. 868, Pr. 874) Sensorless Vector

This function limits the output torque to the predetermined value during speed control under real sensorless vector control or vector control.

- Set the torque limit level within the range 0 to 400% in *Pr. 22*. When the TL signal is turned on, torque limit level 2 functions.
- You can select whether the torque limit level is set using parameters or analog input teminals (terminal 1, 4). In addition, you can set torque limit level for forward (power driving/regeneration) and reverse (power driving/ regeneration) operation individually.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Desc	cription
22	Stall prevention operation level (torque limit level)	150%	0 to 400%	Set the torque limit le assumption that the r	vel in % on the ated torque is 100%
803	Constant power range torque characteristic	0	0	Constant motor output limit	Select the torque limit in the constant power
	selection	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	1	Constant torque limit	range by torque limit setting.
810	Torque limit input method	0	0	Internal torque limit (to settings)	orque limit by parameter
	selection		1	External torque limit ( 1, 4)	torque limit by terminal
811	Set resolution switchover	0		Speed setting and running speed monitor increments from the PU, RS- 485 communication or communication option.	Torque limit setting increments <i>Pr. 22, Pr. 812 to Pr. 817</i>
			0	1r/min 0.1r/min	0.1%
			10 11	1r/min 0.1r/min	0.01%
812	Torque limit level (regeneration)	9999	0 to 400%	Set the torque limit leve regeneration.	el for forward rotation
	(		9999	Limit at the value of <i>Pr. 22</i> or analog terminal	
813	Torque limit level (3rd quadrant)	9999	0 to 400%	driving.	
			9999	Set the torque limit level for reverse rotation	
814	Torque limit level (4th	9999	0 to 400%	regeneration.	
	quadrant)		9999	Limit at the value of Pr. 22 or analog terminal	
815	Torque limit level 2	9999	0 to 400%	When the torque limit on, the <i>Pr</i> : 815 value i regardless of <i>Pr</i> : 810	selection (TL) signal is s a torque limit value
			9999	Limit at the value of <i>Pr. 22</i> or analog terminal	
816	Iorque limit level during	9999	0 to 400%	Set the torque limit value during acceleration	
			9999 0 to 400%	Same lorque limit as	at constant speed
817	deceleration	9999	9999	Same torque limit as	at constant speed
	Terminal 4 function		0000	When "4" is set in the	e torque limit can be
858	assignment	0	0, 4, 9999	changed with a signa	I to terminal 4.
868	assignment	0	0, 2 to 5, 9999	When "4" is set in, the changed with a signa	e torque limit can be I to terminal 1.
874	OLT level setting	150%	0 to 200%	This function can mal torque limit is activate the output at which a	ke an inverter trip if the ed to stall the motor. Set n inverter trip is made.

· Under real sensorless vector control, the lower limit of torque limit level is set 30% if the value less than 30% is input.

## (1) Torque limit block diagram



## (2) Selection of torque limit input method (*Pr.* 810)

• Set *Pr.* 810 Torque limit input method selection to select the method to limit output torque during speed control. Torque limit by parameter setting is initially set.

Parameter Number	Setting Range	Torque Limit Input Method	Description
810	0 (initial value) Internal torque limit		Parameter-set torque limit operation is performed. Changing the torque limit parameter value by communication enables torque limit to be input by communication.
	1	External torque limit	Torque limit using the analog voltage (current) from terminal 1 or terminal 4 is made valid.

## (3) Torque limit level by parameter setting (*Pr.* 810 = "0", *Pr.* 812 to *Pr.* 814)



- · In the initial setting, limit is made on all quadrants on the Pr. 22 Stall prevention operation level (torque limit level).
- When you want to set the level on a guadrant basis, set the torque limit level in Pr. 812 Torque limit level (regeneration), Pr. 813 Torque limit level (3rd quadrant), Pr. 814 Torque limit level (4th quadrant).

When "9999" is set, Pr. 22 is the torque limit level.

## (4) Torque limit level by analog input (terminal 1, 4) (Pr. 810 = "1", Pr. 858, Pr. 868)

- · With the upper limit of torque limit as set in Pr. 22, the analog input from terminal 1 input is used as the torque limit value within the Pr. 22 setting range.
- When torque limit value is input from terminal 1, set "4" in Pr. 868 Terminal 1 function assignment. When torque limit value is input from terminal 4, set "4" in Pr. 858 Terminal 4 function assignment.
- When Pr: 858 = "4" and Pr: 868 = "2", torque is limitted by analog input from terminal 1 for regeneration and by terminal 4 for driving.
- Torque limit by analog input can be calibrated using *calibration parameter C16 (Pr. 919) to C19 (Pr. 920), C38 (Pr. 932) to* C41 (Pr. 933) . (Refer to page 273)



Analog input (terminal 1, 4) or internal torque control (Pr. 22 etc.) whichever is smaller

Dr. 959 Catting	Dr. 9(9 Catting	Real Sensorless Vecto	tor Control (Speed Control)		
Pr. 858 Setting *1	Pr. 808 Setting *2	Terminal 4 function	Terminal 1 function		
	0 (initial value)		Speed setting auxiliary		
	1 *4		Magnetic flux command		
0	2	Speed command			
(initial value)	3	(ALL signal-ON)	—		
(initial value)	4	(AU signal-ON)	Torque limit ( $Pr. 810 = 1$ )		
	5		—		
	6 *4		Torque bias ( $Pr: 840 = 1 \text{ to } 3$ )		
	9999				
	0 (initial value)	Magnetic flux command	Speed setting auxiliary		
	1 *4	*3	Magnetic flux command		
	2				
1 *4	3		_		
	4	Magnetic flux command	Torque limit ( $Pr. 810 = 1$ )		
	5	Magnetie nux command	—		
	6 *4		Torque bias ( $Pr: 840 = 1 \text{ to } 3$ )		
	9999		—		
	0 (initial value) Torque lim		Speed setting auxiliary		
	1 *4		Magnetic flux command		
	2	Driving torque limit (Pr: 810 = 1)	Regenerative torque limit ( <i>Pr</i> : 810 = 1)		
4 *2	3	Torque limit (Pr: 810 = 1)			
	4	*3	Torque limit ( $Pr. 810 = 1$ )		
	5		—		
	6 *4	Torque limit ( $Pr: 810 = 1$ )	Torque bias ( $Pr. 840 = 1 \text{ to } 3$ )		
	9999				
9999			]		

• Terminal 1, 4 function according to control (—: without function)

\*1 When the Pr. 868 setting is other than "0", other functions of terminal 1 (auxiliary input, override function, PID control) do not function.

\*2 When the *Pr. 858* setting is other than "0", PID control and speed command from terminal 4 do not function even if the AU signal turns on.

\*3 When "1" (magnetic flux command) or "4" (torque limit) is set in both *Pr. 858* and *Pr. 868*, function of terminal 1 has higher priority and terminal 4 has no function.

\*4 Setting is valid only when exercising vector control with the FR-A7AP.

## (5) Second torque limit level (TL signal, Pr. 815)



- For *Pr. 815 Torque limit level 2*, the *Pr. 815* value is a torque limit value regardless of *Pr. 810 Torque limit input method selection* when the torque limit selection signal (TL) is on.
- Set "27" in *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* to assign a function to the TL signal.

· Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

## (6) Set a torque limit value during acceleration and deceleration individually (Pr. 816, Pr. 817)

• You can set torque limit during acceleration and deceleration individually. The following chart shows torque limit according to the settings of *Pr. 816 Torque limit level during acceleration* and *Pr. 817 Torque limit level during deceleration*.



### (7) Setting increments switchover of the torque limit level (Pr. 811)

• By setting "10, 11" in *Pr. 811 Set resolution switchover*, the setting increments of *Pr. 22 Torque limit level* and *Pr. 812 to Pr. 817 (torque limit level)* can be switched to 0.01%.

#### REMARKS

- The internal resolution of the torque limit is 0.024% (100/2<sup>12</sup>) and the fraction less than the resolution is rounded off.
- When the torque limit setting increments have been changed (0.1%⇔0.01%), reset is necessary because the settings of *Pr. 22* and *Pr. 812 to Pr. 817* are multiplied by 1/10 (ten times).

For example, when 10 (0.01%) set in Pr: 811 is changed to 1 (0.1%) with Pr: 22 = 150.00%,

- Pr. 22 = 1500.0% and the maximum torque is 400%.
- The fraction less than the resolution equivalent to 0.1% is rounded off even if "10 or 11" is set in *Pr. 811* when real sensorless vector control is selected.
- · Refer to page 226 for switchover of speed setting increments.

#### (8) Change the torque characteristics in the constant power range (*Pr.* 803)



• You can select whether the torque imit in the constant power range be constant torque limit (setting is "1") or constant power limit (initial setting is "0"), using *Pr: 803 Constant power range torque characteristic selection* under torque limit operation.

## (9) Trip when torque limit is activated (Pr. 874)



This function can cause a trip if the torque limit is activated to stall the motor.

The motor stalls if the torque limit is activated under a high load applied during speed control or position control. At this time, if the motor speed is lower than the speed set in *Pr*: *865 Low speed detection* and also the output torque exceeds the level set in *Pr: 874 OLT level setting* for 3s, it is regarded as a stop effected by stall prevention and E. OLT is output, resulting in a trip.

#### REMARKS

If the frequency has fallen to 0.5Hz by stall prevention operation and remains for 3s under V/F control and advanced magnetic flux vector control, a fault (E.OLT) appears and trip the inverter. In this case, this function is activated regardless of *Pr. 874*. This fault is not provided under torque control.

#### ♦ Parameters referred to ♦

- Pr. 22 Stall prevention operation level I Refer to page 135
- Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) I Refer to page 206
- Pr. 840 Torque bias selection IP Refer to page 97
- Pr. 865 Low speed detection I Refer to page 221

## 4.4.4 To perform high accuracy/fast response operation (gain adjustment of real sensorless vector control and vector control) (Pr. 818 to Pr. 821, Pr. 830,

Pr. 831, Pr. 880) Sensorless Vector

The ratio of the load inertia to the motor inertia (load moment of inertia) is estimated in real time from the torque command and speed during motor operation by vector control. As optimum gain of speed control and position control are automatically set from the load inertia ratio and response level, time and effort of making gain adjustment are reduced. (Easy gain tuning)

When the load inertia ratio can not be estimated due to load fluctuation or real sensorless vector control is exercised, control gain is automatically set by manually inputting the load inertia ratio.

Make a manual input adjustment when vibration, noise or any other unfavorable phenomenon occurs due to large load inertia or gear backlash, for example, or when you want to exhibit the best performance that matches the machine.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
818	Easy gain tuning response level setting	2	1 to 15	Set the response level. 1: Slow response to 15: Fast response
			0	Without easy gain tuning
819	Easy gain tuning selection	0	1	With load estimation, with gain calculation (valid only during vector control)
			2	With load (Pr. 880) manual input, gain calculation
820	Speed control P gain 1	60%	0 to 1000%	Set the proportional gain for speed control. (Increasing the value improves trackability in response to a speed command change and reduces speed variation with disturbance.)
821	Speed control integral time 1	0.333s	0 to 20s	Set the integral time during speed control. (Decrease the value to shorten the time taken for returning to the original speed if speed variation with disturbance occurs.)
830	Speed control P gain 2	9999	0 to 1000%	Second function of <i>Pr. 820</i> (valid when RT signal is on)
			9999	No function
831	Speed control integral	9999	0 to 20s	Second function of <i>Pr. 821</i> (valid when RT signal is on)
			9999	No function
880	Load inertia ratio	7 times	0 to 200 times	Set the load intertia ratio to the motor.

## (1) Block diagram of easy gain tuning function



## (2) Easy gain tuning execution procedure (Pr. 819 = "1" load inertia ratio automatic estimation)

Easy gain tuning (load inertia ratio automatic estimation) is valid only in the speed control or position control mode under vector control.

It is invalid under torque control, V/F control, advanced magnetic flux vector control and real sensorless vector control.

Set the response level using *Pr. 818 Easy gain tuning response level setting*.
 Refer to the diagram on the right and set the response level.
 Increasing the value will improve trackability

to the command, but too high value will generate vibration. The relationship between the setting and response level are shown on the right.



2) Each control gain is automatically set from the load inertia ratio estimated during acceleration/deceleration operation and the *Pr.* 818 Easy gain tuning response level setting value.

*Pr.* 880 Load inertia ratio is used as the initial value of the load inertia ratio for tuning. Estimated value is set in *Pr.* 880 during tuning.

The load inertia ratio may not be estimated well, e.g. it takes a long time for estimation, if the following conditions are not satisfied.

- · Time taken for acceleration/deceleration to reach 1500r/min is 5s or less.
- $\cdot$  Speed is 150r/min or more.
- $\cdot$  Acceleration/deceleration torque is 10% or more of the rated torque.
- $\cdot\,$  Abrupt disturbance is not applied during acceleration/deceleration.
- $\cdot\,$  Load inertia ratio is approx. 30 times or less.
- $\cdot\,$  No gear backlash nor belt looseness is found.

3) Press (FWD) or (REV) to estimate the load inertia ratio or calculate gain any time. (The operation command for external operation is the STF or STR signal.)

## (3) Easy gain tuning execution procedure (*Pr. 819* = "2" load inertia manual input)

Easy gain tuning (load inertia ratio manual input) is valid only in the speed control mode under real sensorless vector control or in the speed control or position control mode under vector control.

- 1) Set the load inertia ratio to the motor in *Pr. 880 Load inertia ratio*.
- 2) Set "2" (with easy gain tuning) in *Pr. 819 Easy gain tuning selection*. Then, *Pr. 820 Speed control P gain 1* and *Pr. 821 Speed control integral time 1* are automatically set by gain calculation. Operation is performed in a gain adjusted status from the next operation.
- Perform a test run and set the response level in *Pr. 818 Easy gain tuning response level setting*. Increasing the value will improve trackability to the command, but too high value will generate vibration. (When "2" (parameter write enabled during operation) is set in *Pr. 77 Parameter write selection*, response level adjustment can be made during operation.)

#### REMARKS

- When "1 or 2" is set in *Pr.* 819 and then returned the *Pr.* 819 setting to "0" after tuning is executed, tuning results which are set in each parameter remain unchanged.
- When good tuning accuracy is not obtained after executing easy gain tuning due to disturbance and such, perform fine adjustment by manual input. Set "0" (without easy gain tuning) in *Pr.* 819.

## (4) Parameters automatically set by easy gain tuning

The following table indicates the relationship between easy gain tuning function and gain adjustment parameter.

	Easy Gain Tuning Selection (Pr. 819) Setting			
	0	1	2	
Load inertia ratio (Pr. 880)	Manual input	<ul> <li>a) Inertia estimation result (RAM) by easy gain tuning is dispayed.</li> <li>b) Set the value in the following cases: <ul> <li>Every hour after power-on</li> <li>When a value other than "1" is set in <i>Pr</i>: 819</li> <li>When vector control is changed to other control (V/F control etc.) using <i>Pr</i>: 800</li> </ul> </li> <li>c) Write is enabled only during a stop (manual input)</li> </ul>	Manual input	
Speed control P gain 1 ( <i>Pr. 820</i> ) Speed control integral time 1 ( <i>Pr. 821</i> ) Model speed control gain ( <i>Pr. 828</i> ) Position loop gain ( <i>Pr. 422</i> )	Manual input	<ul> <li>a) Tuning result (RAM) is displayed.</li> <li>b) Set the value in the following cases: <ul> <li>Every hour after power-on</li> <li>When a value other than "1" is set in <i>Pr</i>: 819</li> <li>When vector control is changed to other control (V/F control etc.) using <i>Pr</i>: 800</li> <li>c) Write (manual input) disabled</li> </ul> </li> </ul>	<ul> <li>a) Gain is calculated when "2" is set in <i>Pr</i>: <i>819</i> and the result is set in the parameter.</li> <li>b) When the value is read, the tuning result (parameter setting value) is displayed.</li> <li>c) Write (manual input) disabled</li> </ul>	

#### = CAUTION =

 Performing easy gain tuning with larger inertia than the specified value during vector control may cause malfunction such as hunting. In addition, when the motor shaft is fixed with servo lock or position control, bearing may be damaged. To prevent these, make gain adjustment by manual input without performing easy gain tuning.

## (5) Manual input speed control gain adjustment

· Make adjustment when any of such phenomena as unusual machine vibration/noise, low response level and overshoot has occurred.



 $\cdot\,$  When there is load inertia, the actual speed gain is as given below.



Actual speed gain = speed gain of motor without load ×  $\frac{JM}{JM+JL}$  JM: Inertia of the motor JL: Motor shaft-equivalent load inertia

· Adjustment procedures are as below:

1)Check the conditions and simultaneously change the *Pr. 820* value.

2) If you cannot make proper adjustment, change the Pr. 821 value and repeat step 1).

No.	Phenomenon/ Condition	Adjustment Method			
	Load inertia is large	Set the Pr. 820 and Pr. 821 values a little higher.			
1		Pr. 820	Pr: 820When a speed rise is slow, increase the value 10% by 10% until just before vibration/noise is produced, and set about 0.8 to 0.9 of that value.		
		Pr. 821	If an overshoot occurs, double the value until an overshoot does not occur, and set about 0.8 to 0.9 of that value.		
	Vibration/noise generated from mechanical system	Set the Pr. 820 value a little lower and the Pr. 821 value a little higher.			
2		Pr. 820	Decrease the value 10% by 10% until just before vibration/noise is not produced,		
			and set about 0.8 to 0.9 of that value.		
		Pr. 821	If an overshoot occurs, double the value until an overshoot does not occur, and		
			set about 0.8 to 0.9 of that value.		
	Slow response	Set the <i>Pr.</i> 820 value a little higher.			
3		Pr 820	When a speed rise is slow, increase the value 5% by 5% until just before		
		17. 820	vibration/noise is produced, and set about 0.8 to 0.9 of that value.		
	Long return time (response time)	Set the <i>Pr. 821</i> value a little lower.			
4		Decrease the <i>Pr. 821</i> value by half until just before an overshoot or the unstable phenomenon			
		does not occur, and set about 0.8 to 0.9 of that value.			
	Overshoot	Set the <i>Pr.</i> 821 value a little higher.			
5	or unstable	Increase the Pr. 821 value double by double until just before an overshoot or the unstable			
	phenomenon occurs.	non occurs. phenomenon does not occur, and set about 0.8 to 0.9 of that value.			

## REMARKS

When making manual input gain adjustment, set "0" (without easy gain tuning) (initial value) in *Pr. 819 Easy gain tuning selection*.

*Pr. 830 Speed control P gain 2* and *Pr. 831 Speed control integral time 2* are made valid when the RT terminal is switched on. Make adjustments in the same way as *Pr. 820* and *Pr. 821*.

## (6) When using a multi-pole motor (8 poles or more)

Specially when using a multi-pole motor with more than 8 poles under real sensorless vector control or vector control, adjust *Pr. 820 Speed control P gain 1* and *Pr. 824 Torque control P gain 1* according to the motor referring to the following methods.

- For *Pr. 820 Speed control P gain 1*, increasing the setting value improves the response level, but a too large gain will produce vibration and/or unusual noise.
- For *Pr. 824 Torque control P gain 1*, note that a too low value will produce current ripples, causing the motor to generate sound synchronizing the cycle of current ripples.

#### Adjustment method

No.	Phenomenon/Condition	Adjustment Method		
1	The motor rotation is unstable in the low speed range.	Set a higher value in <i>Pr. 820 Speed control P gain 1</i> according to the motor inertia. Since the self inertia of a multi-pole motor tends to become large, make adjustment to improve the unstable phenomenon, then make fine adjustment in consideration of the response level using that setting as reference. In addition, when performing vector control with encoder, gain adjustment according to the inertia can be easily done using easy gain tuning ( <i>Pr. 819</i> = 1).		
2	Speed trackability is poor	Set a higher value in Pr. 820 Speed control P gain 1.		
3	Speed variation at the load fluctuation is large	Increase the value 10% by 10% until just before vibration or unusual noise is produced, and set about 0.8 to 0.9 of that value. If you cannot make proper adjustment, increase the value of <i>Pr. 821 Speed control integral time 1</i> double by double and make adjustment of <i>Pr. 820</i> again.		
4	Torque becomes insufficient or torque ripple occurs at starting or in the low speed range under real sensorless vector control.	Set the speed control gain a little higher. (same as No. 1) If the problem still persists after gain adjustment, increase <i>Pr. 13 Starting</i> <i>frequency</i> or set the acceleration time shorter if the inverter is starting to avoid continuous operation in the ultra low speed range.		
5	Unusual motor and machine vibration, noise or overcurrent occurs.	Set a lower value in Pr. 824 Torque control P gain 1.		
6	Overcurrent or overspeed (E.OS) occurs at a start under real sensorless vector control.	Decrease the value 10% by 10% until just before the phenomenon is improved, and set about 0.8 to 0.9 of that value.		

## (7) P/PI switchover (X44 signal)

 By turning the P/PI control switching signal (X44) on/off during seed control operation under real sensorless vector control or vector control, you can select whether to add the integral time (I) or not when performing gain adjustment with P gain and integral time.

When the X44 signal is off..... PI control

When the X44 signal is on..... P control

• For the terminal used for X44 signal input, set "44" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* to assign the function.

[Function block diagram]



#### = CAUTION :

• Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

## (8) Troubleshooting (speed)

	Phenomenon	Cause	Countermeasures		
1	Motor does not rotate. (Vector control)	<ul> <li>(1) The motor wiring is wrong</li> <li>(2) Encoder specifications (encoder specification selection switch FR-A7AP) are wrong</li> <li>(3) The encoder wiring is wrong.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>(1) Wiring check Select V/F control (set "9999" in <i>Pr. 80</i> or <i>Pr. 81</i>) and check the rotation direction of the motor. For the SF-V5RU (1500r/min series), set "160V (320V)" in <i>Pr. 19 Base frequency voltage</i>, and set "50Hz" in <i>Pr. 3 Base frequency</i>. When the forward rotation signal is input, the motor running in the counterclockwise direction as viewed from the motor shaft is normal. (If it runs in the clockwise direction, the phase sequence of the inverter secondary side wiring is incorrect.)</li> <li>(2) Check the encoder specifications. Check the encoder specifications selection switch (FR-A7AP) of differential/complementary</li> <li>(3) Check that FWD is displayed when running the motor in the counter-clockwise direction from outside during a stop of the inverter with vector control setting. If REV is displayed, the encoder phase sequence is wrong. Perform the correct wiring or match the <i>Pr. 359 Encoder</i> <i>rotation direction.</i></li> </ul>		
			<i>Pr. 359</i> Relationship between the Motor		
			Setting and Encoder		
			0 Encoder Clockwise direction as viewed from A is forward rotation		
			1 (Initial value) Encoder Counter clockwise direction as viewed from A is forward rotation		
		(4) The <i>Pr. 369 Number of encoder</i> <i>pulses</i> setting and the number of encoder used are different.	(4) The motor will not run if the parameter setting is smaller than the number of encoder pulses used. Set the <i>Pr</i> : <i>369 Number of encoder pulses</i> correctly.		
		(5) Encoder power specifications are wrong. Or, power is not input.	(5) Check the power specifications (5V/12V/15V/24V) of encoder and input the external power supply.		
2	Motor does not run at correct speed. (Speed command does not match actual speed)	<ul> <li>(1) The speed command from the command device is incorrect. The speed command is compounded with noise.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>(1) Check that a correct speed command comes from the command device.</li> <li>Decrease <i>Pr. 72 PWM frequency selection</i>.</li> </ul>		
		(2) The speed command value does not match the inverter- recognized value.	(2) Readjust speed command bias/gain <i>Pr. 125, Pr. 126, C2</i> to <i>C7</i> and <i>C12</i> to <i>C15</i> .		
		(3) The number of encoder pulses setting is incorrect.	(3) Check the setting of <i>Pr. 369 Number of encoder pulses</i> . (vector control)		
3	Speed does not rise to the speed command.	<ol> <li>Insufficient torque.</li> <li>Torque limit is actuated.</li> </ol>	<ul> <li>(1) -1 Increase the torque limit value.</li> <li>(Refer to torque limit of speed control on <i>page 83</i>)</li> <li>(1) -2 Insufficient capacity</li> </ul>		
		<ol> <li>Only P (proportional) control is selected.</li> </ol>	(2) When the load is heavy, speed deviation will occur under P (proportional) control. Select PI control.		

	Phenomenon Cause		Countermeasures		
4	Motor speed is unstable.	<ol> <li>The speed command varies.</li> <li>Insufficient torque.</li> <li>The speed control gains do not match the machine. (mechanical representation)</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>(1) -1 Check that a correct speed command comes from the command device. (Take measures against noises.)</li> <li>(1) -2 Decrease Pr. 72 PWM frequency selection.</li> <li>(1) -3 Increase Pr. 822 Speed setting filter 1. (Refer to page 265)</li> <li>(2) Increase the torque limit value. (Refer to torque limit of speed control on page 83)</li> <li>(3) -1 Perform easy gain tuning. (Refer to page 89)</li> <li>(3) -2 Adjust Pr. 820, Pr. 821. (Refer to page 91)</li> <li>(2) Decrease and a control on page 83)</li> </ol>		
		resonance)	control.		
5	Motor or machine hunts 5 (vibration/noise is produced).	<ul><li>(1) The speed control gain is high.</li><li>(2) The termus control gain is high.</li></ul>	<ol> <li>1 Perform easy gain tuning. (<i>Refer to page 89</i>)</li> <li>2 Decrease Pr: 820 and increase Pr: 821.</li> <li>3 Perform speed feed foward control and model adaptive speed control.</li> <li>Decrease the Press and the statement of the speed control.</li> </ol>		
		<ul> <li>(2) The torque control gain is high.</li> <li>(3) The motor wiring is wrong</li> </ul>	(2) Decrease the <i>Pr.</i> 824 value.		
6	Acceleration/deceleration time does not match the setting.	<ul> <li>(1) Insufficient torque.</li> <li>(2) Large load inertia</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>(1) -1 Increase the torque limit value. (Refer to torque limit of speed control on <i>page 83</i>)</li> <li>(1) -2 Perform speed feed foward control.</li> <li>(2) Set the acceleration/deceleration time that meets the</li> </ul>		
			load.		
7	Machine operation is unstable	(1) The speed control gains do not match the machine.	<ol> <li>(1) -1 Perform easy gain tuning. (<i>Refer to page 89</i>)</li> <li>(1) -2 Adjust <i>Pr. 820, Pr. 821. (Refer to page 91</i>)</li> <li>(1) -3 Perform speed feed foward control and model adaptive speed control.</li> </ol>		
		<ul> <li>(2) Slow response because of improper acceleration/ deceleration time of the inverter.</li> </ul>	(2) Change the acceleration/deceleration time to an optimum value.		
8	Speed fluctuates at low speed.	(1) Adverse effect of high carrier frequency.	(1) Decrease Pr. 72 PWM frequency selection.		
Ĩ		(2) Low speed control gain.	(2) Increase Pr. 820 Speed control P gain 1.		

## 4.4.5 Speed feed forward control, model adaptive speed control (Pr. 828, Pr. 877 to Pr. 881) Sensorless Vector

• By making parameter setting, select the speed feed forward control or model adaptive speed control. The speed feed forward control enhances the trackability of the motor in response to a speed command change.

The model adaptive speed control enables individual adjustment of speed trackability and motor disturbance torque response.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
828	Model speed control gain	60%	0 to 1000%	Set the gain for model speed controller.
	Speed feed forward control/model adaptive speed control selection	0	0	Normal speed control is exercised.
877			1	Speed feed forward control is exercised.
			2	Model adaptive speed control is enabled.
878	Speed feed forward filter	0s	0 to 1s	Set the primary delay filter for the speed feed forward result calculated using the speed command and load inertia ratio.
879	Speed feed forward torque limit	150%	0 to 400%	Limits the maximum value of the speed feed forward torque.
880	Load inertia ratio	7 times	0 to 200 times	Set the load inertia ratio to the motor.
881	Speed feed forward gain	0%	0 to 1000%	Set the feed forward calculation result as a gain.

### POINT

When model adaptive speed control is selected, the data obtained from easy gain tuning is used for *Pr. 828 Model speed control gain*. Perform easy gain tuning also (simultaneously). (*Refer to page 88*)

## (1) Speed feed forward control (Pr. 877 = "1")

- Calculate required torque in responce to the acceleration/deceleration command for the inertia ratio set in *Pr. 880* and generate torque immediately.
- · When the speed feed forward gain is 100%, the calculation result of the speed feed forward is reflected as-is.
- · If the speed command changes suddenly, large torque is generated due to the speed feed forward calculation. The maximum value of the speed feed forward is limited using *Pr*: *879*.
- · Using *Pr*:878, the speed feed forward result can be dulled by the primary delay filter.



## (2) Model adaptive speed control (Pr. 877 = "2")

- The motor's model speed is calculated to feed back the model side speed controller. This model speed is also used as the actual speed controller command.
- The inertia ratio in *Pr*: 880 is used for calculation of the torque current command value given by the model side speed controller.
- The torque current command value of the model side speed controller is added to the output of the actual speed controller, and the result is used as the iq current control input.
- *Pr.* 828 is used for model side speed control (P control), and the first gain in *Pr.* 820 is used for the actual speed controller. The model adaptive speed control is valid for the first motor only.
- When Pr. 877 = 2, switching to the second motor handles the second motor as Pr. 877 = 0.

#### [Block diagram]



#### = CAUTION :

The adequate gain value for the model and actual loop parts are set according to the responce setting of easy gain tuning under model adaptive speed control. To increase the responce level, the *Pr. 818 Easy gain tuning response level setting* needs to be changed (increased).

### (3) Combination of easy gain tuning

The following table indicates the relationships between the speed feed forward/model adaptive speed control and easy gain tuning function.

	Easy Gain Tuning Selection (Pr. 819) Setting		
	0	1	2
Load inertia ratio (Pr. 880)	Manual input	Inertia ratio estimation value found by easy gain tuning is displayed. Manual input enabled only during a stop.	Manual input
Speed control P gain 1 (Pr. 820)	Manual input	Tuning results are displayed. Write disabled	Tuning results are displayed. Write disabled
Speed control integral time 1 ( <i>Pr. 821</i> )	Manual input	Tuning results are displayed. Write disabled	Tuning results are displayed. Write disabled
Model speed control gain (Pr. 828)	Manual input	Tuning results are displayed. Write disabled	Tuning results are displayed. Write disabled
Speed feed forward gain (Pr. 881)	Manual input	Manual input	Manual input

#### ♦Parameters referred to ♦

Pr. 820 Speed control P gain 1, Pr. 830 Speed control P gain 2 B Refer to page 88 Pr. 821 Speed control integral time 1, Pr. 831 Speed control integral time 2 B Refer to page 88

## 4.4.6 Torque biases (Pr. 840 to Pr. 848) \_\_\_\_\_

This function accelerates the rise of the torque at a start. Adjust the torque at a motor start using the contact signals or analog signals .

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
	Torque bias selection	9999	0	Set the torque bias amount with the contact signal (X42, X43) using <i>Pr. 841 to Pr. 843</i> .
			1	Set the terminal 1-based torque bias amount as desired in $C16$ to $C19$ . (in the case a cage goes up when a motor runs reversely)
840			2	Set the terminal 1-based torque bias amount as desired in $C16$ to $C19$ . (in the case a cage goes up when a motor runs forward)
			3	The terminal 1-based torque bias amount can be set automatically in <i>C16 to C19, Pr. 846</i> according to the load.
			9999	Without torque bias, rated torque 100%
841	Torque bias 1		600 to 999%	Negative torque bias amount (-400% to -1%)
842	Torque bias 29999Torque bias 3		1000 to 1400%	Positive torque bias amount (0% to 400%)
843			9999	Without torque bias setting
844	Torque bias filter	9999	0 to 5s	Time until torque rises.
044			9999	Same operation as when 0s is set.
845	Torque bias operation	9999	0 to 5s	Time for maintaining torque equivalent to the torque bias amount.
	ume		9999	Same operation as when 0s is set.
846	Torque bias balance	9999	0 to 10V	Set the voltage under balanced load.
040	compensation		9999	Same operation as when 0V is set.
847	Fall-time torque bias	9999	0 to 400%	Set the bias value of the torque command.
047	terminal 1 bias		9999	Same as at a rise time (C16, C17 (Pr. 919)).
848	Fall-time torque bias	9999	0 to 400%	Set the gain value of the torque command.
040	terminal 1 gain		9999	Same as at a rise time (C18, C19 (Pr. 920)).

The above parameters can be set when the FR-A7AP (option) is mounted.

## (1) Block diagram


# (2) Setting torque bias amount with the contact input (*Pr.* $84\theta$ = "0")

- Select the torque bias amount in the table below according to the combination of contact signals.
- Set "42" in *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* for the terminal used for X42 signal input and set "43" for the terminal used for X43 signal input to assign functions.

Torque Bias Selection 1 (X42)	Torque Bias Selection 2 (X43)	Torque Bias Amount
OFF	OFF	0%
ON	OFF	Pr. 841 -400% to +400% (setting value : 600 to 1400%)
OFF	ON	Pr. 842 -400% to +400% (setting value : 600 to 1400%)
ON	ON	Pr. 843 -400% to +400% (setting value : 600 to 1400%)

Example) when *Pr.* 841 = 1025, 25% when *Pr.* 842 = 975, -25% when *Pr.* 843 = 925, -75%

#### CAUTION :

Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

# (3) Setting torque bias amount with terminal 1 (*Pr.* 840 = "1, 2")

· Calculate torque bias from the load input from terminal 1 as shown in the diagram below and provide torque bias.

· When torque bias amount is set from terminal 1, set "6" in Pr. 868 Terminal 1 function assignment .



# (4) Setting torque bias amount with terminal 1 (*Pr.* 840 = "3")

- C16 Terminal 1 bias command (torque/magnetic flux), C17 Terminal 1 bias (torque/magnetic flux), C18 Terminal 1 gain command (torque/magnetic flux), C19 Terminal 1 gain (torque/magnetic flux), and Pr. 846 Torque bias balance compensation can be set automatically according to the load.
- When torque command is set from terminal 1, set "6" in *Pr. 868 Terminal 1 function assignment*.
- · Setting C16, C17 (Pr. 919), C18, C19 (Pr. 920)



When starting torque bias operation after completion of automatic setting, set "1 or 2" in Pr. 840.

#### (5) Torque bias operation

- When a value other than 9999 is set in *Pr. 844 Torque bias filter*, you can slow the rise of torque. At this time, the torque rises according to the time constant of the primary delay filter.
- · Set the time for output torque be maintained with the torque bias command value alone in Pr. 845 Torque bias operation time.



\* When pre-excitation is not made, the torque bias functions simultaneously with the start signal.

#### = CAUTION

When torque bias is made valid and "6" is set in *Pr. 868*, terminal 1 serves as torque command not as frequency setting auxiliary. When override compensation is set by *Pr. 73* and terminal 1 acts as main speed, no main speed (main speed = 0Hz) is slected.

 Changing the terminal assignment using Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) may affect the other functions. Make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### Reference parameters

- Pr. 73 Analog input selection IF Refer to page 259.
- Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) 🐨 Refer to page 206.
  - C16 to C19 (torque setting voltage (current) bias and gain) The Refer to page 273.

# 4.4.7 Prevent the motor from overrunning (Pr. 285, Pr. 853, Pr. 873) \_\_\_\_\_

This function prevents the motor from overrunning when the load torque is too large and incorrect number of encoder is set.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
285	Speed deviation excess	0000	9999	Without speed deviation excessive
205	detection frequency *1	3333	0 to 30Hz	If the difference (absolute value) between the
853 *2	Speed deviation time	1.0s	0 to 100s	speed command value and actual speed during speed control under vector control exceeds the <i>Pr. 285 Speed deviation excess detection frequency</i> for more than the time set in <i>Pr. 853 Speed</i> <i>deviation time</i> , speed deviation excessive occurs and inverter fault (E. OSD) appears, resulting in a trip.
873 *2	Speed limit	20Hz	0 to 120Hz	Frequency is limited at the set frequency + Pr. 873.

\*1 Acts as overspeed detection frequency under encoder feed back operation. (Refer to page 192)

\*2 This parameter can be set when the FR-A7AP (option) is mounted.

#### (1) Speed deviation excessive (Pr. 285, Pr. 853)

When the deviation between the set frequency and actual speed is large, e.g. too large load torque, this function can cause the inverter to provide a speed deviation excessive fault (E.OSD) and come to a trip.



#### (2) Speed limit (Pr. 873)

This function prevents the motor from overrunning when the setting of number of encoder pulses and the actual number differ.

When the setting of number of encoder pulses is smaller than the actual number, the motor may increase its speed. To prevent this, restrict the output frequency with frequency (obtained by adding the set frequency and *Pr*: 873).



#### = CAUTION =

• If automatic restart after instantaneous power failure ( $Pr. 57 \neq 9999$ ) is selected when the setting of number of encoder pulses is smaller than the actual number, the output speed is limited with the synchronous speed obtained by adding the maximum setting (Pr. 1) and Pr. 873 setting.

When speed limit function is activated due to regenerative torque limit, output torque may suddenly decrease. In addition, output phase loss (E.LF) may occur when speed limit function is activated during pre-excitation. When the setting of number of encoder pulses are correct, it is recommended to set a mamimum value (120Hz) in *Pr: 873*.

#### Reference parameters

Pr. 285 Overspeed detection frequency IPR Refer to page 192.

# 4.4.8 Notch filter (Pr. 862, Pr. 863) Sensorless Vector

You can reduce the response level of speed control in the resonance frequency band of the mechanical system to avoid mechanical resonance.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
862	Notch filter time constant	0	0 to 60	Refer to the following table
863	Notch filter depth	0	0 to 3	0 (deep) $\rightarrow$ 3 (shallow)

#### (1) Pr. 862 Notch filter time constant

• If you do not know the mechanical resonance frequency, decrease notch frequency gradually from the highest value. The point at which the smallest vibration is generated is the notch frequency setting.

· Machine characteristic can be obtained beforehand with machine analyzer by FR-Configurator. Necessary notch frequency can be determined from this.

Setting	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9
Frequency	Invalid	1000	500	333.3	250	200	166.7	142.9	125	111.1
Setting	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19
Frequency	100	90.9	83.3	76.9	71.4	66.7	62.5	58.8	55.6	52.6
Setting	20	21	22	23	24	25	26	27	28	29
Frequency	50	47.6	45.5	43.5	41.7	40	38.5	37	35.7	34.5
Setting	30	31	32	33	34	35	36	37	38	39
Frequency	33.3	32.3	31.3	30.3	29.4	28.6	27.8	27.0	26.3	25.6
Setting	40	41	42	43	44	45	46	47	48	49
Frequency	25.0	24.4	23.8	23.3	22.7	22.2	21.7	21.3	20.8	20.4
Setting	50	51	52	53	54	55	56	57	58	59
Frequency	20.0	19.6	19.2	18.9	18.5	18.2	17.9	17.5	17.2	16.9
Setting	60									

Frequency 16.7

# (2) Pr. 863 Notch filter depth

The notch filter with deeper depth has an effect on minimizing mechanical resonance. However, large vibration may be generated adversely due to substantial phase delay. Make adjustment of notch depth in order of the shallower depth.

Setting	3	2	1	0
Depth	Shallow	$\rightarrow$	$\leftarrow$	Deep
Gain	-4dB	-8dB	-14dB	-40dB

# 4.5 Torque control by real sensorless vector control, vector control

Purpose	Parameter	r that must be Set	Refer to Page
Selection of torque command source and setting of torque command value	Torque command	Pr. 803 to Pr. 806	108
Prevent the motor overspeed	Speed limit	Pr. 807 to Pr. 809	110
Improve torque control accuracy	Gain adjustment for torque control	Pr. 824, Pr. 825, Pr. 834, Pr. 835	113
Stabilize the torque detection signal	Torque detection filter	Pr. 827, Pr. 837	127

# 4.5.1 Torque control

- Torque control is exercised to develop torque as set in the torque command.
- The motor speed becomes constant when the motor output torque and load torque are balanced.
- For torque control, therefore, the speed is determined by the load.
- For torque control, the motor gains speed as the motor output torque becomes greater than the motor load. To prevent overspeed, set the speed limit value so that the motor speed does not increase too high. (Torque control is disabled under speed limit since speed control is exercised.)
- When speed limit is not set, the speed limit value setting is regarded as 0Hz to disable torque control.

# (1) Block diagram



# Torque control by real sensorless vector control, vector control



# (2) Operation transition



• When "0" is set in *Pr*: 7 or *Pr*: 8, speed control is exercised upon powering off a start signal and the output torque is limited at the torque limit value.



Item	Description				
	External operation	STF, STR signal			
Start signal	PU operation	(FWD) and (REV) of FR-DU07, FR-PU07 or FR-PU04			
Torque command	Select the input method of torque command and input the torque command.				
Speed limit	Select the input method of speed limit and input the speed limit value.				

# (3) Operation example (when *Pr. 804* = "0")

Torque control is enabled if the actual speed is less than the speed limit value.

When the actual speed reaches or exceeds the speed limit value, speed limit operation starts, torque control is stopped, and speed control (proportional control) starts.

The following shows the operations in response to the analog input command from terminal 1.



\*When the speed limit activates, torque according to the commanded is not developed.

- 1) When STF signal is turned on, the speed limit value is increased according to the time set in *Pr.* 7.
- 2) Speed control operation is performed if the actual speed rises to or above the speed limit value.
- 3) When the STF signal is turned off, the speed limit value is decreased according to the time set in *Pr.* 8.
- 4) For torque control, the actual speed becomes constant when the torque command and load torque are balanced.
- 5) The motor torque developing direction is determined by the combination of the torque command input polarity and start signal as indicated in the following table.

Torque Command	Torque Develo	pping Direction
Polarity	STF signal ON	STR signal ON
Positive torque command	Forward rotation direction (forward rotation driving/reverse rotation regeneration)	Reverse rotation direction (forward rotation regeneration/reverse rotation driving)
Negative torque command	Reverse rotation direction (forward rotation regeneration/reverse rotation driving)	Forward rotation direction (forward rotation driving/reverse rotation regeneration)

#### REMARKS

- When speed limit operation starts, speed control is exercised to enable internal torque limit (*Pr. 22 torque limit level*) (initial value). Speed control may not be returned to torque control in this case.
- Torque limit be set to external torque limit (terminal 1, 4). (Refer to page 83.)
- Undervoltage avoidance function (*Pr. 261* = "11, 12") of power-failure deceleration stop function is made invalid under torque control. When *Pr. 261* = "11 (12)", the inverter operates in the same manner as when "1 (2)" is set in *Pr. 261*.
- Set linear acceleration/deceleration (Pr. 29 = "0 (initial value)") when torque control is exercised. When acceleration/deceleration patterns other than the linear acceleration/deceleration are selected, the protective function of the inverter may function. (*Refer to page 158*)

#### = CAUTION =

Performing pre-excitation (LX signal and X13 signal) under torque control (real sensorless vector control) may start the motor running at a low speed even when the start command (STF or STR) is not input. The motor may run also at a low speed when the speed limit value = 0 with a start command input. Perform pre-excitation after making sure that there will be no problem in safety if the motor runs.

#### 4.5.2 Setting procedure of real sensorless vector control (torque control) (Sensorless)



#### = CAUTION

- Make sure to perform offline auto tuning before performing real sensorless vector control.
- The carrier frequencies are selectable from among 2k, 6k, 10k, 14kHz for real sensorless vector control.
- Torque control can not be performed in the low speed (approx. 10Hz or less) regeneration range and with light load at low speed (approx. 20% or less of rated torque at approx. 5Hz or less). Choose vector control. Performing pre-excitation (LX signal and X13 signal) under torque control may start the motor running at a low speed even when
- the start command (STF or STR) is not input. The motor may run also at a low speed when the speed limit value = 0 with a start command input. Perform pre-excitation after making sure that there will be no problem in safety if the motor runs.
- Do not switch between the STF (forward rotation command) and STR (reverse rotation command) during operation under torque control. Overcurrent trip (E.OCD) or opposite rotation deceleration error (E.11) occurs.
- When the inverter is likely to start during motor coasting under real sensorless vector control, set to make frequency search of automatic restart after instantaneous power failure valid (Pr. 57 ≠ "9999", Pr. 162 = "10").
- Enough torque may not be generated in the ultra-low speed range less than approx. 2Hz when performing real sensorless vector control.

The guideline	of speed	control	range i	s as	shown below.	

- Driving: Can be used at 0.3Hz or more at rated 60Hz 1:200 (2, 4, 6 poles)
- 1:30 (8, 10 poles) Regeneration:1:12 (2 to 10 poles) Can be used at 2Hz or more at rated 60Hz
- Can be used at 5Hz or more at rated 60Hz

4.5.3 Setting procedure of vector control (torque control) \_\_\_\_\_



· The carrier frequencies are selectable from among 2k, 6k, 10k, 14kHz for vector control.

# 4.5.4 Torque command (Pr. 803 to Pr. 806) Sensorless Vector

Torque command source for torque control can be selected.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description		
	Constant power range		0	Constant motor output command	Select the torque command in	
803	torque characteristic selection	0	1	Constant torque command	the constant power range by torque command setting.	
			0	Torque command by terminal1 ana ( <i>Refer to page 273</i> )	log input	
			1	Torque command by parameter se (-400% to 400%)	tting (Pr: 805 or Pr: 806)	
804	Torque command	0	3	Torque command by parameter setting ( <i>Pr. 805</i> or <i>Pr. 806</i> ) (-400% to 400%)	Torque command with using CC- Link communication (FR-A7NC) Setting from the remote resister can be made. (-400% to 400%)	
004	source selection		4	12 bit/16 bit digital input (FR-A7AX)		
			5	Torque command by parameter setting ( <i>Pr. 805 or Pr. 806</i> ) (Set from communication other than CC-Link communication : -400% to 400%)	Torque command with using CC- Link communication (FR-A7NC) Setting from the remote resister can be made. (-327.68% to 327.67%)	
			6	(Set from CC-Link communication : -327.68% to 327.67%)	_	
805	Torque command value (RAM)	1000%	600 to 1400%	Writes the torque command value On the assumption that 1000% is 0 an offset from 1000%.	to the RAM. 0%, the torque command is set by	
806	Torque command value (RAM,EEPROM)	1000%	600 to 1400%	Writes the torque command value to the RAM and EEPROM. On the assumption that 1000% is 0%, the torque command is set an offset from 1000%.		

# (1) Control block diagram



# (2) Torque command (*Pr. 804* = "0" (initial value)) by analog input (terminal 1)



- Torque command is given by voltage (current) input to terminal 1.
- When torque command is input from terminal 1, set "4 or 3" in *Pr. 868 Terminal 1 function assignment*.
- Torque command by analog input can be calibrated using *calibration parameter C16 (Pr. 919) to C19 (Pr. 920). (Refer to page 273 )*

# (3) Torque command using parameters (Pr. 804 = "1")



- Torque command value can be set by setting *Pr: 805 Torque command value (RAM)* or *Pr: 806 Torque command value (RAM,EEPROM)*.
- For *Pr.* 805 or *Pr.* 806, the torque command is set by an offset from 1000% on the assumption that 1000% is 0%. The relationship between the *Pr.* 805 or *Pr.* 806 setting and actual torque command value at this time is shown on the left.
- When changing the torque command frequently, write to *Pr*: *805*. Performing frequent parameter write to *Pr*: *806* will shorten the life of the EEPROM.

#### REMARKS

When torque command is set in *Pr*: 805 (RAM), powering off the inverter will erase the changed parameter values. Therefore, the parameter value available when power is switched on again is the value set in *Pr*: 806 (EEPROM).

#### 

When giving a torque command by parameter setting, set the speed limit value to an appropriate value to prevent overspeed. *(Refer to page 110.)* 

# (4) Torque command by CC-Link communication (*Pr.* 804 = "3, 5, 6")

- · Writing a value to *Pr. 805* or *Pr. 806* using the FR-A7NC (communication option) sets the torque command value.
- When "3 or 5" is set in *Pr.804*, torque command can be set in remote resister RWw1 or RWwC using the FR-A7NC (communication option).
- By setting "5, 6" in *Pr.804*, the range of torque command setting from FR-A7NC (communication option) is set from -327.68% to 327.67% (0.01% increments).

Pr. 804 Setting	Torque Command Source	Setting Range	Increments
1	Torque command by parameter setting (Pr. 805 or Pr. 806)	600 to 1400 (-400% to 400%)	1%
	Torque command by parameter setting (Pr. 805 or Pr. 806)		
3	Torque command from remote resister (RWw1 or RWwC) with using CC-Link communication (FR-A7NC)	600 to 1400 (-400% to 400%)	1%
	Torque command by parameter setting ( <i>Pr. 805 or Pr. 806</i> ) without using CC-Link communication (FR-A7NC)	600 to 1400 (-400% to 400%)	1%
5	Torque command by parameter setting ( <i>Pr. 805 or Pr. 806</i> ) with using CC-Link communication (FR-A7NC)	-32768 to 32767 (two's complement) (-327.68% to 327.67%)	0.01%
	Torque command from remote resister (RWw1 or RWwC) with using CC-Link communication (FR-A7NC)	-32768 to 32767 (two's complement) (-327.68% to 327.67%)	0.01%
6	Torque command by parameter setting ( <i>Pr. 805 or Pr. 806</i> ) without using CC-Link communication (FR-A7NC)	600 to 1400 (-400% to 400%)	1%
6	Torque command by parameter setting ( <i>Pr. 805 or Pr. 806</i> ) with using CC-Link communication (FR-A7NC)	-32768 to 32767 (two's complement) (-327.68% to 327.67%)	0.01%

# REMARKS

For details of the setting with the FR-A7NC, refer to the FR-A7NC instruction manual.

# (5) Torque command by 16 bit digital input (Pr. 804 = 4)

· Give a torque command by 16 bit or 12 bit digital input using the FR-A7AX (plug-in option).

#### REMARKS

For details of the setting with the FR-A7AX, refer to the FR-A7AX instruction manual.

# (6) Change the torque characteristics in the constant power (*Pr.* 803)



Due to the motor characteristics, torque is reduced at or above the base frequency. Set "1" in *Pr. 803 Constant power range torque characteristic selection* when you want to keep the torque to be constant even at or above the base frequency.

4

#### ♦ Parameters referred to ♦

Pr. 868 Terminal 1 function assignment 🐨 Refer to page 83. Calibration parameter C16 (Pr. 919) to C19 (Pr. 920) (terminal 1 bias, gain torque) 🖙 Refer to page 273

# 4.5.5 Speed limit (Pr. 807 to Pr. 809) Sensorless Vector

Set the speed limit value to prevent overspeed of the motor in case the load torque becomes less than the torque command value, etc. during torque control operation.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
			0	Use the speed command value during speed control as speed limit.
807	907 Croad limit coloction	0	1	According to <i>Pr. 808</i> and <i>Pr. 809</i> , set the speed limit in forward and reverse rotation directions individually.
807 Speed limit selecti			2	Forward/reverse rotation speed limit The analog voltage of the terminal 1 input is used to make speed limit. The speed limit of the forward rotation and reverse rotation is switched according to the polarity.
808	Forward rotation speed limit	60Hz	0 to120Hz	Set the speed limit for the forward rotation direction.
809	Reverse rotation speed	0000	0 to120Hz	Set the speed limit of the reverse rotation side.
	limit	9999	9999	As set in Pr. 808.

# (1) Control block diagram





# (2) Use the speed command for speed control (*Pr. 807* = "0" initial value)

 Set the speed limit in the same method as speed setting for speed control (speed setting by the PU (FR-DU07/ FR-PU07/FR-PU04), multi-speed setting, options, etc.)

According to the acceleration time set in *Pr. 7 Acceleration time*, the limit level is increased from 0Hz upon turning on of the start signal, and when the start signal turns off, the speed limit level is decreased from the then speed limit level to the DC injection brake operation speed in *Pr. 10* to a stop in accordance with the deceleration time set in *Pr. 8 Deceleration time*.

#### REMARKS

When the above speed limit command is greater than the *Pr. 1 Maximum frequency* value, the speed limit value is the *Pr. 1 Maximum frequency* value, and when the speed limit command is less than the *Pr. 2 Minimum frequency* value, the speed limit value is the *Pr. 2 Minimum frequency* value. Similarly when the speed limit command is smaller than *Pr. 13 Starting frequency*, the speed limit value is 0Hz.

When speed limit is to be made using analog input, perform calibration of the analog input terminal 1, 2 and 4. (*Refer to page 273.*)

#### = CAUTION

When speed limit is to be made using the analog command (terminal 1,2,4), turn off the external signals (RH, RM, RL). If any of external signals (RH, RM, RL) is on, multi-speed limits are made valid.

# (3) Set the forward rotation and reverse rotation individually (*Pr.* 807 = "1")

Set the speed limit during foward rotation using *Pr. 808 Forward rotation speed limit* and the speed limit during reverse rotation using *Pr. 809 Reverse rotation speed limit*.

The speed during forward and reverse rotation is limited at the setting value of *Pr. 808* when "9999" (initial value) is set in *Pr. 809*.



# (4) Forward rotation/reverse rotation speed limit (*Pr. 807* = "2")

- When making a speed limit using analog input from terminal 1, the speed limit of the forward and reverse rotation can be switched according to the polarity of voltage.
- Forward/reverse rotation speed limit is made valid when Pr. 868 Terminal 1 function assignment = "5".
- For 0 to 10V input, set the forward rotation speed limit. The reverse rotation speed limit at this time is the value of *Pr.1 Maximum frequency*.
- For -10 to 0V input, set the reverse rotation speed limit. The forward rotation speed limit at this time is the value of *Pr. 1 Maximum frequency*.
- · The maximum speed of both the forward and reverse rotations is Pr. 1 Maximum frequency .



When the actual speed reaches or exceeds the speed limit value, torque control is switched to speed control to prevent overspeed.

51 (SL) appears on the operation panel during speed limit operation and the OL signal is output.

#### ♦ Parameters referred to ♦

Pr. 1 Maximum frequency, Pr. 2 Minimum frequency IF Refer to page 140
Pr. 7 Acceleration time, Pr. 8 Deceleration time IF Refer to page 155
Pr. 13 Starting frequency IF Refer to page 157
Pr. 4 to Pr. 6, Pr. 24 to Pr. 27, Pr. 232 to Pr. 239 (Multi-speed operation) IF Refer to page 148
Pr. 868 Terminal 1 function assignment IF Refer to page 258
Pr. 125, Pr. 126, C2 to C7, C12 to C15 (frequency setting voltage (current) bias/gain) IF Refer to page 267

# 4.5.6 Gain adjustment of torque control (Pr. 824, Pr. 825, Pr. 834, Pr. 835) Sensorless Vector

Although stable operation is possible with the initial value, make adjustment when any of such phenomena as unusual motor and machine vibration/noise and overcurrent has occurred.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
824	Torque control P gain 1	100%	0 to 200%	Set the current loop proportional gain. 100% is equivalent to 2000rad/s.
825	Torque control integral time 1	5ms	0 to 500ms	Set the current loop integral compensation time.
834	Torque control P gain 2	9999	0 to 200%	Set the current loop proportional gain when the RT signal is on.
			9999	Without torque control P gain 2 function
835 Torque control integra time 2	Torque control integral	9999	0 to 500ms	Set the current loop integral compensation time when the RT signal is on.
	time 2		9999	Without torgue control integral time 2 function

# (1) Adjustment of current loop proportional (P) gain

- · For general adjustment, make setting within the range 50 to 200% as a guideline.
- · Set the proportional gain for torque control.
- Increasing the value improves trackability in response to a current command change and reduces current variation with disturbance. However, a too large gain will cause instability, generating harmonic torque pulsation.

# (2) Adjustment of current control integral time

- · Set the integral time of current control during torque control.
- $\cdot$  A small value enhances the torque response level, but a too small value will cause current fluctuation.
- Decreasing the value shortens the time taken to return to the original torque if current variation with disturbance occurs.

# (3) Use multiple gains

- When you want to change the gain according to applications, switch multiple motors with one inverter, etc., use *Torque control P gain 2* and *Torque control integral time 2*.
- Pr. 834 Torque control P gain 2 and Pr. 835 Torque control integral time 2 are valid when the RT signal is on.

#### REMARKS

The RT signal acts as the second function selection signal and makes the other second functions valid. (*Refer to page 210.*) The RT signal is assigned to the terminal RT in the initial setting. By setting "3" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)*, you can assign the RT signal to the other terminal.

# (4) Adjustment procedure

Make adjustment when any of such phenomena as unusual motor and machine vibration/noise/current and overcurrent has occurred.

1)Check the conditions and simultaneously change the Pr. 824 value.

2) If you cannot make proper adjustment, change the Pr. 825 value and repeat step 1).

	Adjustment Method						
Set Pr. 824 overcurre	Set <i>Pr.</i> 824 a little lower and <i>Pr.</i> 825 a little higher. First lower <i>Pr.</i> 824 and check the motor for unusual vibration/noise and overcurrent. If the problem still persists, increase <i>Pr.</i> 825.						
Pr: 824	Decrease the value 10% by 10% until just before unusual noise and current are improved, and set about 0.8 to 0.9 of that value. Note that a too low value will produce current ripples, causing the motor to generate sound synchronizing the cycle of current ripples.						
Pr: 825	Increase the current value double by double until just before an unusual noise and current does not occur, and set about 0.8 to 0.9 of that value. Note that taking a too long time will produce current ripples, causing the motor to generate sound synchronizing the cycle of current ripples.						

# (5) Troubleshooting (Torque)

	Phenomenon	Cause	Countermeasures
		<ul> <li>(1) The phase sequence of the motor or encoder wiring is wrong.</li> <li>(2) The P and C and the state of the second s</li></ul>	<ul> <li>(1) Check the wiring. (Refer to page 14)</li> <li>(2) Check the D 200 cetting. (D 6 - 1 75)</li> </ul>
		(2) The <i>Pr.</i> 800 Control method selection setting is improper.	(2) Check the Pr. 800 setting. (Refer to page 75)
		(3) The speed limit value is not input.	(3) Set the speed limit value. (If the speed limit value is not input, the motor will not rotate since the speed limit value is regarded as 0Hz.)
1	Torque control is not exercised normally.	(4) The torque command varies.	<ul> <li>(4)-1 Check that the command device gives a correct torque command.</li> <li>(4)-2 Decrease <i>Pr. 72 PWM frequency selection</i>.</li> <li>(4)-3 Increase <i>Pr. 826 Torque setting filter 1</i></li> </ul>
		(5) The torque command does not match the inverter-recognized value.	(5) Recalibrate C16 Terminal 1 bias command (torque/ magnetic flux), C17 Terminal 1 bias (torque/magnetic flux), C18 Terminal 1 gain command (torque/magnetic flux), C19 Terminal 1 gain (torque/magnetic flux). (Refer to page 273)
		(6) Torque variation due to the change in the motor temperature.	(6) Select magnetic flux observer by setting <i>Pr. 95 Online</i> <i>auto tuning selection. (Refer to page 181)</i>
2	When the torque command is small, the motor rotates in the direction opposite to the start signal.	The offset calibration of the torque command does not match.	Recalibrate C16 Terminal 1 bias command (torque/magnetic flux) and C17 Terminal 1 bias (torque/magnetic flux). (Refer to page 273)
3	Normal torque control cannot be exercised during acceleration/ deceleration. The motor vibrates.	The speed limit is activated. (When $Pr: 807 = "0, 2"$ , the speed limit may be activated since the speed limit value changes with the setting of the acceleration/ deceleration time in $Pr: 7$ and $Pr: 8$ .)	Reduce the acceleration/deceleration time. Or, set the acceleration/deceleration time to "0". (The speed limit during acceleration/deceleration depends on the speed limit during the constant speed.)
4	Output torque is not linear in response to the torque command.	Insufficient torque.	Return the excitation ratio in <i>Pr. 854</i> to the initial value.

#### ♦ Parameters referred to ♦

Pr. 72 PWM frequency selection I Refer to page 257 Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) Refer to page 206 Pr. 800 Control method selection Refer to page 75 Pr. 807 Speed limit selection Refer to page 110

C16 to C19 (torque setting voltage (current) bias and gain) IP Refer to page 273

#### Purpose Parameter that must be Set Refer to Page Conditional position control by Position command by Pr. 419, Pr. 464 to Pr. 494 117 parameter setting parameter Position control by pulse train input Position command by Pr. 419, Pr. 428 to Pr. 430 120 of the inverter conditional pulse train Adjust the gear ratio of motor and Setting the electronic Pr. 420, Pr. 421, Pr. 424 122 machine gear Setting of positioning adjustment In-position width Pr. 426, Pr. 427 123 parameter **Excessive level error** Gain adjustment of Improve position control accuracy Pr. 422, Pr. 423, Pr. 425 124 position control

# 4.6 Position control by vector control

# 4.6.1 Position control Vector

- In the position control, the speed command is calculated so that the difference between command pulse (or parameter setting) and the number of feedback pulses from the encoder is zero to run the motor.
- This inverter can perform conditional position feed by contact input and position control by inverter conditional pulse input.

# (1) Setting procedure



#### = CAUTION =

• The carrier frequencies are selectable from among 2k, 6k, 10k, 14kHz for vector control.





# (3) Example of operation

The speed command given to rotate the motor is calculated to zero the difference between the number of internal command pulse train pulses (when Pr: 419 = 0, the number of pulses set by parameter (Pr: 465 to Pr: 494) is changed to the command pulses in the inverter) and the number of pulses fed back from the motor end encoder.

- 1) When a pulse train is input, pulses are accumulated in the deviation counter and these droop pulses act as position control pulses to give the speed command.
- 2)As soon as the motor starts running under the speed command of the inverter, the encoder generates feed back pulses and the droop of the deviation counter is counted down. The deviation counter maintains a given droop pulse value to keep the motor running.
- 3) When the command pulse input stops, the droop pulses of the deviation counter decrease, reducing the speed. The motor stops when there are no droop pulses.
- 4) When the number of droop pulses has fallen below the value set in *Pr. 426 In-position width*, it is regarded as completion of positioning and the in-position signal (Y36) turns on.



- For conditional position control function by contact input, the STF and STR terminals provide the forward (reverse) command signal. The motor can run only in the direction where the forward (reverse) signal is on. Turning the STF signal off does not run the motor forward and turning the STR signal off does not run the motor reverse.
- The pulse train is rough during acceleration and coarse at the maximum speed. During deceleration the pulse train is rough and at last there are no pulses. The motor stops shortly after the command pulses stop.
   This time lag is necessary for maintaining the stop accuracy and called stop settling time.

#### REMARKS

- For the servo on signal (LX), set "23" in *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* to assign the function.
- For the in-position signal (Y36), set "36" in *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* to assign the function.

#### CAUTION

Changing the terminal function using any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189, 190 to Pr. 196* may affect the other functions. Make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### + Parameters referred to +

Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) E Refer to page 206 Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection) E Refer to page 214

# 4.6.2 Conditional position feed function by contact input (Pr. 419, Pr. 464 to Pr. 494)

Inputting the number of pulses (positions) in the parameters and setting multi-speed and forward (reverse) commands enable position control. The motor does not return to the home position with this conditional position feed function .

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
419	Position command source	0 -	0	Conditional position control function by contact input. (position command by parameter settings)
419	selection		2	Conditional pulse train position command by inverter pulse train input
464	Digital position control sudden stop deceleration time	0s	0 to 360.0s	Set the time until the inverter stops when the forward rotation (reverse rotation) command is turned off with the position feed forward function.

Parameter	Name	Initial Value Setting	Selection Method (OFF: ×, ON: O)				Position Feed	
Number			Range	REX	RH	RM	RL	Frequency
465	First position feed amount lower 4 digits	0	0 to 9999					High append (Br. 4)
466	First position feed amount upper 4 digits	0	0 to 9999		0	×	X	
467	Second position feed amount lower 4 digits	0	0 to 9999	~	~		×	Middle speed (Pr. 5)
468	Second position feed amount upper 4 digits	0	0 to 9999		^		~	
469	Third position feed amount lower 4 digits	0	0 to 9999		~	~	0	low speed (Pr. 6)
470	Third position feed amount upper 4 digits	0	0 to 9999		X	×	0	
471	Fourth position feed amount lower 4 digits	0	0 to 9999		×	0	0	4 speed (Pr: 24)
472	Fourth position feed amount upper 4 digits	0	0 to 9999					
473	Fifth position feed amount lower 4 digits	0	0 to 9999		0	×	0	5 speed (Pr. 25)
474	Fifth position feed amount upper 4 digits	0	0 to 9999					
475	Sixth position feed amount lower 4 digits	0	0 to 9999	~		0		6 speed (Pr: 26)
476	Sixth position feed amount upper 4 digits	0	0 to 9999		0		^	
477	Seventh position feed amount lower 4 digits	0	0 to 9999		0		0	$7$ speed ( $P_{\rm ff}$ 27)
478	Seventh position feed amount upper 4 digits	0	0 to 9999					1 Speed (11. 27)
479	Eighth position feed amount lower 4 digits	0	0 to 9999	0	×	×	×	8 speed (Pr. 232)
480	Eighth position feed amount upper 4 digits	0	0 to 9999					

Parameter	Name	Initial Value	Setting	Se (	election OFF: ×,	n Metho , ON: C	od ))	Position Feed
Number			Kange	REX	RH	RM	RL	rrequency
481	Ninth position feed amount lower 4 digits	0	0 to 9999	0	~	~	0	9 Speed (Pr 233)
482	Ninth position feed amount upper 4 digits	0	0 to 9999		^	^	0	o opeed (17. 255)
483	Tenth position feed amount lower 4 digits	0	0 to 9999	0	~	0	~	10 speed $(P_r, 234)$
484	Tenth position feed amount upper 4 digits	0	0 to 9999	Ū	^	0	^	10 Speed (17. 254)
485	Eleventh position feed amount lower 4 digits	0	0 to 9999	0		0	0	11 speed $(P_{rr}, 235)$
486	Eleventh position feed amount upper 4 digits	0	0 to 9999		^			11 speed (17. 255)
487	Twelfth position feed amount lower 4 digits	0	0 to 9999	0	0	~	~	12 speed (Pr. 236)
488	Twelfth position feed amount upper 4 digits	0	0 to 9999		Ũ	~	~	12 0000 (11. 200)
489	Thirteenth position feed amount lower 4 digits	0	0 to 9999	0	0	×	0	13 speed (Pr. 237)
490	Thirteenth position feed amount upper 4 digits	0	0 to 9999					
491	Fourteenth position feed amount lower 4 digits	0	0 to 9999	0	0	0	×	14 speed (Pr: 238)
492	Fourteenth position feed amount upper 4 digits	0	0 to 9999		U			
493	Fifteenth position feed amount lower 4 digits	0	0 to 9999	0	0	0	0	15 speed (Pr. 230)
494	Fifteenth position feed amount upper 4 digits	0	0 to 9999		0	0		10 0000 (11. 257)

The above parameters can be set when the FR-A7AP (option) is mounted.

# (1) Setting of position feed amount by parameter

·Set position feed amount in Pr. 465 to Pr. 494.

•The feed amount set in each parameter is selected by mult-speed terminal (RH, RM, RL, REX).

·Set (encoder resolution  $\times$  speed  $\times$  4 times) for position feed amount.

·For example, the formula for stopping the motor after 100 rotations using the FR-V5RU is as follows:

2048 (pulse/rev)  $\times$  100 (speed)  $\times$  4 = 819200 (feed amount)

To set 819200 for the first position feed amount, divide the value into upper four digits and lower four digits and set 81 (decimal) in *Pr*: 466 (upper) and 9200 (decimal) in *Pr*: 465 (lower).

# (2) Position command operation by parameter



• For deceleration by turning the STF(STR) off, use *Pr. 464 Digital position control sudden stop deceleration time* to set deceleration time.

#### REMARKS

- Acceleration/deceleration time is 0.1s minimum and 360s maximum.
- Pr. 20 Acceleration/deceleration reference frequency is clamped at a minimum of 16.66Hz (500r/min).
- The acceleration/deceleration patterns for position control are all linear acceleration and the setting of *Pr. 29 Acceleration/ deceleration pattern selection* is invalid.

#### = CAUTION

Information on multi-speed command (position command by RL, RM, RH, and REX signals) is determined at rising of the forward (reverse) command to perform position control. Therefore, set forward (reverse) command after multi-speed command (position command). Position feed is invalid if the multi-speed command is given after forward (reverse) command.

#### ♦ Parameters referred to ♦

```
Pr. 20 Acceleration/deceleration reference frequency IP Refer to page 155
Pr. 29 Acceleration/deceleration pattern selection IP Refer to page 158
```

# 4.6.3 Position control (Pr. 419, Pr. 428 to Pr. 430) by inverter pulse train input \_\_\_\_\_

Conditional position pulse train command can be input by pulse train input and sign signal (NP) from the JOG terminal.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Desc	ription	
/19	419 Position command source selection	0	0	Conditional position control function by contact input. (position command by parameter settings)		
415		U	2	Conditional pulse train po inverter pulse train input	osition command by	
428	428 Command pulse selection	0	0 to 2	Pulse train + sign	Negative logic	
420			3 to 5	Fuise train + sign	Positive logic	
429		1	0	Deviation counter is cleared at edge of turning of the clear signal (CLR) from off.		
429 Clear signal selec		I	1	Deviation counter while t on	he clear signal (CLR) is	
430	Pulse monitor selection	9999	0 to 5	The status of various pulses during running is displayed.		
			9999	Frequency monitor is displayed		

The above parameters can be set when the FR-A7AP (option) is mounted.

# (1) Operation

Turning on the servo on signal (LX) cancels the output shut-off and the operation ready signal (RDY) turns on after 0.1s. Turning on the STF (forward stroke end signal) or STR (forward stroke end signal) runs the motor according to the commanded pulse. When the forward (reverse) stroke end signal turns off, the motor does not run in that direction.



# (2) Pulse train form type selection (Pr. 428, NP signal)

#### 1)Set "2"(conditional pulse train position command) in Pr. 419.

2)Set "68" in *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* to assign conditional position pulse train sign (NP). 3)Select command pulse train using *Pr. 428* 

Pr. 428 Setting	Command	Pulse Train Type	At Forward Rotation	At Reverse Rotation
0 to 2	Negative logic	Pulse train + sign	JOG UUUUUU	— • Г• Г• Г• Г
3 to 5	Positive logic	Pulse train + sign	JOG_IIII	£L

4)Select vector control, then select position control.

# REMARKS

When *Pr. 419 Position command source selection* = "2" (conditional pulse train position command), JOG terminal serves as conditional position pulse train input terminal regardless of the *Pr. 291 Pulse train I/O selection* setting.

# (3) Selection of clear signal (Pr. 429, CLR signal)

- $\cdot$  Use this function to zero the droop pulse for home position operation, etc.
- When "0" is set in *Pr. 429*, the deviation counter is cleared at the edge of truning on of the clear signal (CLR). In addition, the CLR signal turns on in synchronization with zero pulse signal of the encoder at home position operation, etc., deviation counter is cleared.
- For the terminal used for CLR signal, set "69" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* to assign the function.



# (4) Pulse monitor selection (Pr. 430)

The status of various pulses during running is displayed.

Set "6" in Pr. 52 DU/PU main display data selection to display output frequency monitor.

Pr. 430 Setting	Description	Display Range (FR-DU07)	Display Range (FR-PU04/FR-PU07)
0	The cumulative command pulse value is displayed	Lower 4 digits	Lower 5 digits
1	The cumulative command pulse value is displayed.	Upper 4 digits	Upper 5 digits
2	The sumulative feedback pulse value is displayed	Lower 4 digits	Lower 5 digits
3	The cumulative recuback pulse value is displayed.	Upper 4 digits	Upper 5 digits
4	The dream pulses are manifered	Lower 4 digits	Lower 5 digits
5	The droop pulses are monitored.	Upper 4 digits	Upper 5 digits
9999	Frequency monitor is displayed. (initial value)		

#### REMARKS

Count the number of pulses when the servo is on.

· The cumulative pulse value is cleared when the base is shut off or the clear signal (CLR) is turned on.

#### CAUTION

Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### ♦Parameters referred to ♦

Pr. 52 DU/PU main display data selection I Refer to page 228 Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) F Refer to page 206

#### 4.6.4 Setting of the electronic gear (Pr. 420, Pr. 421, Pr. 424)

Set the ratio of the machine side gear and the motor side gear.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
420	Command pulse scaling factor numerator	1	0 to 32767 *	Set the electric gear.
421	Command pulse scaling factor denominator	1	0 to 32767 *	<i>Pr. 420</i> is a numerator and <i>Pr. 421</i> is a denominator.
424	Position command acceleration/deceleration time constant	0s	0 to 50s	Used when rotation has become unsmooth at a large electronic gear ratio (about 10 times or more) and low speed.

The above parameters can be set when the FR-A7AP (option) is mounted.

When the operation panel (FR-DU07) is used, the maximum setting is 9999. When a parameter unit is used, up to the maximum value within the setting range can be set.

#### (1) Calculation of the gear ratio (Pr. 420, Pr. 421)

• The position resolution (travel per pulse  $\Delta \ell$  [mm]) is determined by the travel per motor revolution  $\Delta s$  [mm] and the feedback pulses Pf [pulse/rev] of the detector, and is represented by the following expression.

$$\Lambda \ell = \frac{\Delta s}{\Delta s}$$
  $\Delta \ell$ :travel per pulse [mm]  
 $\Delta s$ : travel per motor rotation

 $\Delta s$ : travel per motor rotation [mm]

Pf: number of feedback pulses [pulse/rev] (number of pulses after multiplying the number of encoder pulses by four)

Using the parameters, the travel per command pulse can be set separately to set the travel per command pulse without a fraction.

$$\Delta \ell = \frac{\Delta \mathbf{s}}{-\mathbf{Pf}} \times \frac{Pr.\ 420}{Pr.\ 421}$$

Pf

In addition, the relationship between the motor speed and internal command pulse frequency is as follows:

fo  $\times \frac{Pr. 420}{Pr. 421}$  = Pf  $\times \frac{No}{60}$  fo : Internal command pulse frequency [pps] No : Motor speed [r/min]

#### = CAUTION =

Set the electronic gear in the range of 1/50 to 20.

Note that too small a value will decrease the speed command and too large a value will increase the speed ripples.

#### [Setting example 1]

The electronic gear ratio is  $\Delta s = 10$  (mm) when the travel per pulse  $\Delta \ell = 0.01$  (mm) and the number of feedback pulses Pf = 4000 (pulse/rev) in a drive system where the ballscrew pitch PB = 10 (mm) and the reduction ratio 1/n = 1. According to the following expression,

$$\Delta \ell = \frac{\Delta s}{Pf} \times \frac{Pr. 420}{Pr. 421}$$
$$\frac{Pr. 420}{Pr. 421} = \Delta \ell \times \frac{Pf}{\Delta s}$$
$$= 0.01 \times \frac{4000}{10} = \frac{4}{10}$$

Therefore, set "4" in Pr. 420 and "1" in Pr. 421.

[Setting example 2]

Find the internal command pulse frequency of the dedicated motor rated speed.

Note that the command pulse scaling factor Pr. 420/Pr. 421 = 1.

Assuming that the number of encoder pulses is 2048 (pulses/rev) (feedback pulse Pf =  $2048 \times 4$ ),

fo = 2048 × 
$$\frac{4}{(\text{multiplication})} \times \frac{\text{No}}{60} \times \frac{Pr. 421}{Pr. 420}$$

204800

Therefore, the internal command pulse frequency is 204800 (pps).

Position control by vector control

Relationship between position resolution  $\Delta\,\ell\,$  and overall accuracy

Since overall accuracy (positioning accuracy of machine) is the sum of electrical error and mechanical error, normally take measures to prevent the electrical system error from affecting the overall error. As a guideline, refer to the following relationship.

$$\Delta \ell < \left(\frac{1}{5} \text{ to } \frac{1}{10}\right) \times \Delta \epsilon \qquad \Delta \epsilon: \text{positioning accuracy}$$

<Stopping characteristic of motor>

When parameters are used to run the motor, the internal command pulse frequency and motor speed have the relationship as shown in the chart on *page 116*, and as the motor speed decreases, pulses are accumulated in the deviation counter of the inverter. These pulses are called droop pulses ( $\varepsilon$ ) and the relationship between command frequency (fo) and position loop gain (Kp: *Pr*: 422) is as represented by the following expression.

 $\varepsilon = \frac{\text{fo}}{\text{Kp}}$  [pulse]  $\varepsilon = \frac{204800}{25}$  [pulse] (rated motor speed)

When the initial value of Kp is  $25s^{-1}$ , the droop pulses ( $\epsilon$ ) are 8192 pulses.

Since the inverter has droop pulses during running, a stop settling time (ts) is needed from when the command has zeroed until the motor stops. Set the operation pattern in consideration of the stop settling time.

ts = 
$$3 \times \frac{1}{\text{Kp}}$$
 [s]

When the initial value of Kp is  $25s^{-1}$ , the stop settling time (ts) is 0.12s. The positioning accuracy  $\Delta \varepsilon$  is (5 to 10)  $\times \Delta \ell = \Delta \varepsilon$  [mm]

#### (2) Position command acceleration/deceleration time constant (Pr. 424)

• When the electronic gear ratio is large (about 10 or more times) and the speed is low, rotation will not be smooth, resulting in pulse-wise rotation. At such a time, set this parameter to smooth the rotation.

When acceleration/deceleration time cannot be provided for the command pulses, a sudden change in command pulse frequency may cause an overshoot or error excess alarm. At such a time, set this parameter to provide acceleration/deceleration time.

Normally set 0.

+ Parameters referred to +

Pr. 422 Position loop gain I Refer to page 124

# 4.6.5 Setting of positioning adjustment parameter (Pr. 426, Pr. 427) \_\_\_\_\_

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
426	In-position width	100 pulses	0 to 32767 pulses *	When the number of droop pulses has fallen below the setting value, the in-position signal (Y36) turns on.
427	Excessive level error	40K	0 to 400K	Excessive position error (E.OD) occurs when the number of droop pulses exceeds the setting.
			9999	Function invalid

The above parameters can be set when the FR-A7AP (option) is mounted.

\* When the operation panel (FR-DU07) is used, the maximum setting is 9999. When a parameter unit is used, up to the maximum value within the setting range can be set.

# (1) In-position width (Pr. 426)

The Y36 signal acts as an in-position signal.

When the number of droop pulses has fallen below the setting value, the in-position signal (Y36) turns on. For the Y36 signal, assign the function by setting "36" (positive logic) or "136" (negative logic) in any of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)*.

# (2) Excessive level error (Pr. 427)

When droop pulses exceed the value set in *Pr*: 427, excessive position error occurs and displays a fault (E.OD) to trip the inverter. When you decreased the *Pr*: 422 *Position loop gain* setting, increase the error excessive level setting. Also decrease the setting when you want to detect an error slightly earlier under large load.

When "9999" is set in *Pr. 427*, excessive position error (E.OD) does not occur regardless of droop pulses.

# 4.6.6 Gain adjustment of position control (Pr. 422, Pr. 423, Pr. 425) \_\_\_\_\_

Easy gain tuning is available as an easy tuning method. Refer to *page 88* for easy gain tuning. If it does not produce any effect, make fine adjustment by using the following parameters. Set "0" in *Pr. 819 Easy gain tuning selection* before setting the parameters below.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
422	Position loop gain	25s⁻ <sup>1</sup>	0 to 150s <sup>-1</sup>	Set the gain of the position loop.
423	Position feed forward gain	0%	0 to 100%	Function to cancel a delay caused by the droop pulses of the deviation counter.
425	Position feed forward command filter	0s	0 to 5s	Enters the primary delay filter in response to the feed forward command.

The above parameters can be set when the FR-A7AP (option) is mounted.

# (1) Position loop gain (Pr. 422)

- Make adjustment when any of such phenomena as unusual vibration, noise and overcurrent of the motor/machine occurs.
- · Increasing the setting improves trackability for the position command and also improves servo rigidity at a stop, but oppositely makes an overshoot and vibration more liable to occur.
- · Normally set this parameter within the range about 5 to 50.

Phenomenon/Condition	Adjustment Method			
	Increase the Pr. 422 value.			
Slow response	Pr. 422	Increase the value 3s <sup>-1</sup> by 3s <sup>-1</sup> until just before an overshoot, stop-time vibration or other instable phenomenon occurs, and set about 0.8 to 0.9 of that value.		
Overshoot, stop-time	Decrease the <i>Pr. 422</i> value.			
vibration or other instable phenomenon occurs.	Pr. 422	Decrease the value 3s <sup>-1</sup> by 3s <sup>-1</sup> until just before an overshoot, stop-time vibration or other instable phenomenon does not occur, and set about 0.8 to 0.9 of that value.		

# (2) Position feed forward gain (Pr. 423)

- · This function is designed to cancel a delay caused by the droop pulses of the deviation counter.
- When a tracking delay for command pulses poses a problem, increase the setting gradually and use this parameter within the range where an overshoot or vibration will not occur.
- This function has no effects on servo rigidity at a stop.
- · Normally set this parameter to 0.

# (3) Troubleshooting (Position control)

	Phenomenon	Cause	Countermeasures		
		<ol> <li>The phase sequence of the motor or encoder wiring is wrong.</li> </ol>	(1) Check the wiring. (Refer to page 33)		
		(2) The control mode selection <i>Pr</i> : 800 setting is improper.	(2) Check the <i>Pr.</i> 800 setting. ( <i>Refer to page 75</i> )		
		(3) The servo on signal or stroke end signal (STF, STR) is not input.	(3) Check that the signals are input normally.		
1	Motor doos pot rotato	<ul> <li>(4) Command pulse, position pulse sign (NP) are not correctly input.</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>(4)-1 Check that the command pulses are input normally.</li> <li>(Check the cumulative command pulse value in <i>Pr</i>: 430)</li> </ul>		
	1 Motor does not rotate.		<ul> <li>(4)-2 Check the command pulse form and command pulse selection, <i>Pr. 428</i>, setting.</li> <li>(4)-3 Check that the position pulse sign (NP) is assigned to the input terminal. (inverter pulse input)</li> </ul>		
		(5) <i>Pr. 419 Position command source selection</i> setting is not correct.	(5) Check the position command source selection <i>in Pr</i> : <i>419</i> .		
		(6) When "0" is set in <i>Pr. 419</i> <i>Position command source</i> <i>selection</i> , the settings of position feed amount in <i>Pr. 465 to Pr. 494</i>	(6) Check the position feed amount in <i>Pr. 465 to Pr. 494</i> .		
		are not correct.			
		(1) The command pulses are not input correctly.	(1)-1 Check the command pulse form and command pulse selection, <i>Pr. 428</i> setting.		
			<ul> <li>(1)-2 Check that the command pulses are input normally.</li> <li>(Check the cumulative command pulse value in <i>Pr</i>: 430)</li> </ul>		
2	Position shift occurs.		(1)-3 Check that the position pulse sign (NP) is assigned to the input terminal. (inverter pulse input)		
		(2) The command is affected by noise. Or the encoder feedback signal is compounded with noise.	<ul> <li>(2)-1 Decrease the <i>Pr. 72 PWM frequency selection</i> value.</li> <li>(2)-2 Change the earthing (grounding) point of shielded wire. Or leave the cable suspended.</li> </ul>		
		(1) The position loop gain is high.	(1) Decrease the <i>Pr. 422</i> value.		
3	Motor or machine hunts.	(2) The speed gain is high.	<ul><li>(2)-1 Perform easy gain tuning.</li><li>(2)-2 Decrease <i>Pr. 820</i> and increase <i>Pr. 821</i>.</li></ul>		
4	Machine operation is unstable.	(1) The acceleration/deceleration time setting has adverse effect.	(1) Decrease Pr. 7 and Pr. 8.		

#### → Parameters referred to ◆

Pr. 7 Acceleration time IF Refer to page 155

Pr. 8 Deceleration time TF Refer to page 155

Pr. 72 PWM frequency selection I Refer to page 257

Pr. 800 Control method selection IP Refer to page 75

Pr. 802 Pre-excitation selection IP Refer to page 185

Pr. 819 Easy gain tuning selection I Refer to page 88

Pr. 820 Speed control P gain 1 I Refer to page 88

Pr. 821 Speed control integral time 1 IP Refer to page 88



# 4.6.7 Trouble shooting for when position control is not exercised normally \_\_\_\_\_\_



#### REMARKS

The speed command of position control relates to speed control. (Refer to page 81)

# 4.7 Adjustment of real sensorless vector control, vector control

Purpose	Parameter	Refer to Page	
Stabilize speed and feedback signal	Speed detection filter Torque detection filter	Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837	127
Change the excitation ratio	Excitation ratio	Pr. 854	128

# 4.7.1 Speed detection filter and torque detection filter (Pr. 823, Pr. 827, Pr. 833, Pr. 837) Sensorless Vector

Set the time constant of the primary delay filter relative to the speed feedback signal and torque feedback signal. Since this function reduces the speed loop response, use it with the initial value.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
			0	Without filter
823 *1	Speed detection filter 1	0.001s	0.001 to 0.1s	Set the time constant of the primary delay filter relative to the speed feedback signal.
			0	Without filter
827 1	Torque detection filter 1	0s	0.001 to 0.1s	Set the time constant of the primary delay filter relative to the torque feedback signal.
<b>833</b> ∗1	Speed detection filter 2	9999	0 to 0.1s	Second function of <i>Pr. 823</i> (valid when RT signal is on)
			9999	Same as the Pr. 823 setting
837	Torque detection filter 2	9999	0 to 0.1s	Second function of <i>Pr.</i> 827 (valid when RT signal is on)
			9999	Same as the Pr. 827 setting

\*1 This parameter can be set when the FR-A7AP (option) is mounted.

# (1) Stabilize speed detection (Pr. 823, Pr. 833)

Since the current loop response reduces, use it with the initial value.
 Increase the setting value gradually and adjust the value to stabilize the speed when speed ripples occur due to harmonic disturbance, etc. A too large value will run the motor unstably.

· Pr. 823 and Pr. 833 are valid only during vector control

# (2) Stabilize speed detection (Pr. 827, Pr. 837)

Since the current loop response reduces, use it with the initial value.
 Increase the setting value gradually and adjust the value to stabilize the speed when torque ripples occur due to harmonic disturbance, etc. A too large value will run the motor unstably.

# (3) Use multiple primary delay filters.

• Use *Pr. 833* and *Pr. 837* to change the filter accroding to applications. *Pr. 833* and *Pr. 837* are valid when the RT signal is on.

#### REMARKS

- The RT signal acts as the second function selection signal and makes the other second functions valid. (*Refer to page 210.*) The RT signal is assigned to the RT terminal in the initial setting. By setting "3" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function*
- selection), you can assign the RT signal to the other terminal.

# 4.7.2 Excitation ratio (Pr. 854) Sensorless Vector

Decrease the excitation ratio when you want to improve efficiency under light load. (Motor magnetic noise decreases.)

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
854	Excitation ratio	100%	0 to 100%	Set the excitation ratio under no load.

 Note that the rise of output torque becomes slow if excitation ratio is decreased.
 This function is appropriate for applications as machine tools which repeat rapid acceleration/deceleration up to high speed.



#### REMARKS

When "1" (magnetic flux with terminal) is set in *Pr. 858 Terminal 4 function assignment* or *Pr. 868 Terminal 1 function assignment*, the *Pr. 854* setting is made invalid.

# 4.8 Adjust the output torque (current) of the motor

Purpose	Paramete	Refer to Page	
Set starting torque manually	Manual torque boost	Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112	129
Automatically control output current according to load	Advanced magnetic flux vector control	Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450, Pr. 451, Pr. 453, Pr. 454, Pr. 569, Pr. 800	131
Compensate for motor slip to secure low-speed torque	Slip compensation	Pr. 245 to Pr. 247	134
Limit output current to prevent inverter trip	Stall prevention operation	Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 66, Pr. 154, Pr. 156, Pr. 157	135

# 4.8.1 Manual torque boost (Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)

You can compensate for a voltage drop in the low-frequency range to improve motor torque reduction in the lowspeed range.

•Motor torque in the low-frequency range can be adjusted to the load to increase the starting motor torque.

•Three types of starting torque boost can be changed by switching terminals.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value		Setting Range	Description
0	Torque boost	7.5K or less	3%	0 to 30%	Set the output voltage at 0Hz as %
0	Torque boost	11K or more	2%	0 10 30 /0	
46	Second torque boost	9999		0 to 30%	Set the torque boost value when the
					RT signal is on.
				9999	Without second torque boost
		9999		0 to 30%	Set the torque boost value when the
112	Third torque boost				X9 signal is on.
				9999	Without third torque boost

# (1) Starting torque adjustment

- On the assumption that *Pr. 19 Base frequency voltage* is 100%, set the output voltage at 0Hz in % in *Pr. 0 (Pr. 46, Pr. 112)*.
- Adjust the parameter little by little (about 0.5%), and check the motor status each time. If the setting is too large, the motor will overheat. The guideline is about 10% at the greatest.



# (2) Set multiple torque boost (RT signal, X9 signal, Pr. 46, Pr. 112)

- · Use the second (third) torque boost when changing the torque boost according to application or when using multiple motors by switching between them by one inverter.
- Pr. 46 Second torque boost is made valid when the RT signal turns on.
- *Pr. 112 Third torque boost* is valid when the X9 signal is on. For the terminal used for X9 signal input, set "9" in any of *Pr. 178* to *Pr. 189* (input terminal function selection) to assign the X9 signal function.

#### REMARKS

- The RT(X9) signal acts as the second (third) function selection signal and makes the other second (third) functions valid. (*Refer to page 210*)
- The RT signal is assigned to the RT terminal in the default setting. By setting "3" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)*, you can assign the RT signal to the other terminal.

#### 

- Increase the setting when the distance between the inverter and motor is long or when motor torque is insufficient in the low-speed range. If the setting is too large, an overcurrent trip may occur.
- The Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112 settings are valid only when V/F control is selected.
- When using the inverter dedicated motor (constant torque motor) with the 5.5K or 7.5K, set the torque boost value to 2%. If the initial set *Pr*: *71* value is changed to the setting for use with a constant-torque motor, the *Pr*: *0* setting changes to the corresponding value in above.
- Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### Parameters referred to +

Pr. 3 Base frequency, Pr. 19 Base frequency voltage IP Refer to page 142

Pr. 71 Applied motor I Refer to page 169

Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (Input terminal function selection) I Refer to page 206

# 4.8.2 Advanced magnetic flux vector control (Pr. 71, Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 89, Pr. 450, Pr. 451, Pr. 453, Pr. 454, Pr. 569, Pr. 800) Magnetic flux

Advanced magnetic flux vector control can be selected by setting the capacity, number and type of motor to be used in *Pr.* 80 and *Pr.* 81.

•What is advanced magnetic flux vector control?

The low speed torque can be improved by providing voltage compensation so that the motor current which meets the load torque to flow. Output frequency compensation (slip compensation) is made so that the motor actual speed approximates a speed command value. Effective when load fluctuates drastically, etc.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
71	Applied motor	0	0 to 8, 13 to 18, 30, 33, 34, 40, 43, 44, 50, 53, 54	By selecting a standard motor or constant torque motor, thermal characteristic and motor constants of each motor are set.
80	Motor capacity	0000	0.4 to 55kW	Set the applied motor capacity.
00	Motor capacity	3333	9999	V/F control
			2, 4, 6, 8, 10	Set the number of motor poles.
81	Number of motor poles	9999	12, 14, 16, 18, 20	X18 signal-ON:V/F control * Set 10 + number of motor poles.
			9999	V/F control
89	Speed control gain (magnetic flux vector)	9999	0 to 200%	Motor speed fluctuation due to load fluctuation is adjusted during advanced magnetic flux vector control. 100% is a referenced value.
			9999	Gain matching with the motor set in Pr. 71.
450	50 Second applied motor	9999	0 to 8, 13 to 18, 30, 33, 34, 40, 43, 44, 50, 53, 54	Set when using the second motor. (same specifications as <i>Pr</i> : 71)
			9999	Function invalid (Pr. 71 is valid)
	1 Second motor control method selection	9999	10, 11, 12	Real sensorless vector control
451			20, 9999	V/F control (advanced magnetic flux vector control)
453	Second motor canacity	9999	0.4 to 55kW	Set the capacity of the second motor.
400		0000	9999	V/F control
454	Number of second motor	9999	2, 4, 6, 8, 10	Set the number of poles of the second motor.
	poles		9999	V/F control
569	Second motor speed control gain	9999	0 to 200%	Second motor speed fluctuation due to load fluctuation is adjusted during advanced magnetic flux vector control. 100% is a referenced value.
			9999	Gain matching with the motor set in <i>Pr</i> : 450.
			0 to 5	Vector control
	Control method selection	20	9	Vector control test operation
800			10, 11, 12	Real sensorless vector control
			20	V/F control (advanced magnetic flux vector control)

Use Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 to assign the terminals used for the X18 and MC signal. (Refer to page 206)

#### POINT

If the following conditions are not satisfied, select V/F control since malfunction such as insufficient torque and uneven rotation may occur.

- · The motor capacity should be equal to or one rank lower than the inverter capacity.
- Motor to be used is either Mitsubishi standard motor (SF-JR, SF-HR two-pole, four-pole, six-pole 3.7kW or more) or Mitsubishi constant torque motor (SF-JRCA four-pole, SF-HRCA 3.7kW or more). When using a motor other than the above (other manufacturer's motors, etc.), perform offline auto tuning without fail.
- Single-motor operation (one motor run by one inverter) should be performed.

• The wiring length from inverter to motor should be within 30m. (Perform offline auto tuning in the state where wiring work is performed when the wiring length exceeds 30m.)

# (1) Selection method of advanced magnetic flux vector control

	Perform secure wiring (Refer to page 14)	].				
	Set the motor. (Pr. 71)	)				
Ν	Notor	Pr. 71 Setting *1	REMARKS			
Mitsubishi standard	SF-JR	0 (initial value)				
Mitsubishi hiah	SF-HR	40				
efficiency motor	Others	3	Offline auto tuning is necessary. *2			
Mitsubishi constant	SF-JRCA 4P	1				
torque motor	SF-HRCA	50				
	Others (SF-JRC, etc.)	13	Offline auto tuning is necessary. *2			
Other manufacturer's standard motor	_	3	Offline auto tuning is necessary. +2			
Other manufacturer's constant torque motor	_	13	Offline auto tuning is necessary. +2			
*2 Refer to page 171 f Set the motor cap	*2 Refer to page 171 for offline auto tuning.					
(Pr. 80	, Pr. 81) (Refer to page 7	5)				
Set the ope	of motor poles (number of poles) in <i>Pr. 81 Number of motor poles</i> . (V/F control is performed when the setting is "9999" (initial value).) Set the operation command. <i>(Refer to page 283)</i> Select the start command and speed command. (1) Start command					
	( )	1. Operation panel : Setting by pressin	$\mathbf{q}$ (FWD) / (REV) of the operation panel			
	(2)	<ol> <li>External command rotation command</li> <li>Speed command</li> <li>Operation panel :</li> </ol>	d : Setting by forward rotation or revers (terminal STF or STR)			
		Setting by 🔘 o	f the operation panel			
	<ol> <li>External analog command (terminal 2 or 4) : Give a speed command using the analog signal input to terminal 2 (or terminal 4).</li> <li>Multi-speed command : The external signals (RH, RM, RL) may also be used to give speed command.</li> </ol>					
	Test run					
As required <ul> <li>Perform offline auto</li> <li>Select online auto tu</li> </ul>	As required         • Perform offline auto tuning. (Pr. 96) (refer to page 171)         • Select online auto tuning. (Pr. 95) (refer to page 181)					

When higher accuracy operation is necessary, set online auto tuning after performing offline auto tuning and select real sensorless vector control.

#### = CAUTION

- Uneven rotation slightly increases as compared to the V/F control. (It is not suitable for machines such as grinding machine and wrapping machine which requires less uneven rotation at low speed.)
- When a surge voltage suppression filter (FR-ASF-H) is connected between the inverter and motor, output torque may decrease.
- Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### (2) Adjust the motor speed fluctuation at load fluctuation (speed control gain)

The motor speed fluctuation at load fluctuation can be adjusted using *Pr. 89*. (It is useful when the speed command does not match the motor speed after the FR-A201 series inverter is replaced with the FR-A701 series inverter, etc.)



#### (3) Advanced magnetic flux vector control is performed with two motors

- Turning the RT signal on allows the second motor to be controled.
- Set the second motor in *Pr. 450 Second applied motor*. (Initial setting is "9999" (without second applied motor). *Refer* to page 169.)

Function	RT signal ON (second motor)	RT signal OFF (first motor)
Applied motor	Pr. 450	Pr. 71
Motor capacity	Pr. 453	Pr. 80
Number of motor poles	Pr. 454	Pr. 81
Speed control gain	Pr. 569	Pr. 89
Control method selection	Pr. 451	Pr. 800

#### REMARKS

• The RT signal acts as the second function selection signal and makes the other second functions valid. (*Refer to page 210*) The RT signal is assigned to the terminal RT in the initial setting. By setting "3" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)*, the RT signal can be assigned to the other terminal.

#### 

Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### ♦ Parameters referred to ♦

Pr. 71, Pr. 450 Applied motor I Refer to page 169 Pr. 800, Pr. 451 Control method selection I Refer to page 75
## 4.8.3 Slip compensation (Pr. 245 to Pr. 247)

The inverter output current may be used to assume motor slip to keep the motor speed constant.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description	
245	Patod slip	0000	0.01 to 50%	Used to set the rated motor slip.	
245	Rated Shp	3333	0, 9999	No slip compensation	
246	Slip compensation time constant	0.5s	0.01 to 10s	Used to set the slip compensation response time. When the value is made smaller, response will be faster. However, as load inertia is greater, a regenerative overvoltage fault (E.OV <sup>III</sup> ) is more liable to occur.	
247	Constant-power range slip	9999	0	Slip compensation is not made in the constant power range (frequency range above the frequency set in <i>Pr</i> : <i>3</i> )	
	compensation selection		9999	Slip compensation is made in the constant power range.	

• Slip compensation is validated when the motor rated slip calculated by the following formula is set in *Pr. 245*. Slip compensation is not made when *Pr. 245* = "0" or "9999".

## Rated slip = $\frac{\text{Synchronous speed at base frequency - rated speed}}{\text{Synchronous speed at base frequency}} \times 100[\%]$

### REMARKS

When performing slip compensation, the output frequency may become greater than the set frequency. Set the *Pr. 1 Maximum frequency* value a little higher than the set frequency.

#### + Parameters referred to +

Pr. 1 Maximum frequency I Refer to page 140

Pr. 3 Base frequency I Refer to page 142

# 4.8.4 Stall prevention operation (Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 48, Pr. 49, Pr. 66, Pr. 114, Pr. 115, Pr. 148, Pr. 149, Pr. 154, Pr. 156, Pr. 157, Pr. 858, Pr. 868)

This function monitors the output current and automatically changes the output frequency to prevent the inverter from coming to trip due to overcurrent, overvoltage, etc. It can also limit stall prevention and fast response current limit operation during acceleration/deceleration, driving or regeneration. Invalid under real sensorless vector control or vector control.

Stall prevention

- If the output current exceeds the stall prevention operation level, the output frequency of the inverter is automatically varied to reduce the output current.
- Also the second stall prevention function can restrict the output frequency range in which the stall prevention function is valid. (*Pr. 49*)
- Fast response current limit

If the current exceeds the limit value, the output of the inverter is shut off to prevent an overcurrent.

Number	Name	Initial Value	Range	Description		
	Stall provention energian		0	Stall prevention operat	ion selection becomes invalid.	
22	level	150%	0.1 to 400%	Set the current value at which stall prevention operation will be started.		
23	Stall prevention operation level compensation factor	9999	0 to 200%	The stall operation level operating at a high spe	el can be reduced when eed above the rated frequency.	
	at double speed		9999	Constant according to Pr. 22		
	Second stall prevention		0	Second stall preventio	n operation invalid	
48	operation current	150%	0.1 to 220%	The second stall preve set.	ention operation level can be	
			0	Second stall preventio	n operation invalid	
49	Second stall prevention operation frequency	0Hz	0.01 to 400Hz	Set the frequency at w of <i>Pr</i> : 48 is started.	hich stall prevention operation	
			9999	Pr: 48 is valid when the	e RT signal is on.	
66	Stall prevention operation reduction starting frequency	60Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency at which the stall operation level i started to reduce.		
	Third stall provention		0	Third stall prevention operation invalid		
114	operation current	150%	0.1 to 220%	Stall prevention operation level can be changed the X9 signal.		
	Third stall provention		0	Third stall prevention operation invalid		
115	operation frequency	0Hz	0.01 to 400Hz	Set the frequency at which stall prevention operation when the X9 signal is on starts.		
148	Stall prevention level at 0V input	150%	0 to 220%	Stall prevention operation level can be changed by		
149	Stall prevention level at 10V input	200%	0 to 220%	the analog signal input to terminal 1 (terminal 4).		
154	Voltage reduction	1	0	With voltage reduction	You can select whether to use output voltage reduction	
	prevention operation	I	1	Without voltage reduction	during stall prevention operation or not.	
156	Stall prevention operation selection	0	0 to 31, 100, 101	You can select whether stall prevention operation and fast response current limit operation will be performed or not.		
157	OL signal output timer	0s	0 to 25s	Set the output start time of the OL signal output whe stall prevention is activated.		
			9999	Without the OL signal output		
858	Terminal 4 function assignment	0	0, 1, 4, 9999	By setting "4", the stall be changed with a sign	prevention operation level can nal to terminal 4.	
868	Terminal 1 function assignment	0	0 to 6, 9999	By setting "4", the stall be changed with a sign	prevention operation level can nal to terminal 1.	



- (1) Setting of stall prevention operation level (Pr. 22)
  - Set in *Pr. 22* the ratio of the output current to the rated inverter current at which stall prevention operation will be performed. Normally set 150% (initial value).
  - Stall prevention operation stops acceleration (makes deceleration) during acceleration, makes deceleration during constant speed, and stops deceleration during deceleration.

When stall prevention operation is performed, the OL signal is output.

#### — CAUTION

· If an overload status lasts long, an inverter trip (e.g. electronic thermal relay function (E.THM)) may occur.

When *Pr*: *156* has been set to activate the fast response current limit (initial setting), the *Pr*: *22* setting should not be higher than 170%. The torque will not be developed by doing so.

• When real sensorless vector control or vector control is selected using Pr. 800 Control method selection, Pr.22 serves as torque limit level.

### (2) Stall prevention operation signal output and output timing adjustment (OL signal, Pr. 157)

- When the output power exceeds the stall prevention operation level and stall prevention is activated, the stall prevention operation signal (OL signal) turns on for longer than 100ms. When the output power falls to or below the stall prevention operation level, the output signal turns off.
- · Use Pr. 157 OL signal output timer to set whether the OL signal is output immediately or after a preset period of time.
- · This operation is also performed when the regeneration avoidance function aL (overvoltage stall) is executed.

Pr. 157 Setting	Description			
0 (initial value)	Output immediately			
0.1 to 25	Output after the set time (s) has elapsed			
9999	Not output			



#### REMARKS

The OL signal is assigned to the terminal OL in the initial setting. The OL signal can also be assigned to the other terminal by setting "3 (positive logic) or 103 (negative logic)" to any of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)*.

#### = CAUTION

- If the frequency has fallen to 0.5Hz by stall prevention operation and remains for 3s, a fault (E.OLT) appears to trip the inverter output.
- Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### (3) Setting of stall prevention operation in high frequency range (Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 66)



 During high-speed operation above the rated motor frequency, acceleration may not be made because the motor current does not increase. If operation is performed in a high frequency range, the current at motor lockup becomes smaller than the rated output current of the inverter, and the protective function (OL) is not executed if the motor is at a stop.

To improve the operating characteristics of the motor in this case, the stall prevention level can be reduced in the high frequency range. This function is effective for performing operation up to the high-speed range on a centrifugal separator etc. Normally, set 60Hz in *Pr. 66* and 100% in *Pr. 23*.

· Formula for stall prevention operation level

Stall prevention operation level in = 
$$A + B \times \left[\frac{Pr. 22 - A}{Pr. 22 - B}\right] \times \left[\frac{Pr. 23 - 100}{100}\right]$$
  
However,  $A = \frac{Pr. 66(Hz) \times Pr. 22(\%)}{Output frequency (H)}$ ,  $B = \frac{Pr. 66(Hz) \times Pr. 22(\%)}{400Hz}$ 

• When *Pr. 23 Stall prevention operation level compensation factor at double speed* = "9999" (initial value), the stall prevention operation level is kept constant at the *Pr. 22* setting up to 400Hz.

## (4) Set multiple stall prevention operation levels (Pr. 48, Pr. 49, Pr. 114, Pr. 115)

- Setting "9999" in *Pr. 49 Second stall prevention operation frequency* and turning the RT signal on make *Pr. 48 Second stall prevention operation current* valid.
- In *Pr. 48 (Pr. 114)*, you can set the stall prevention operation level at the output frequency from OHz to that set in *Pr. 49 (Pr. 115)*.
- During acceleration, however, the operation level is as set in Pr. 22.
- This function can also be used for stop-on-contact or similar operation by decreasing the *Pr. 48 (Pr. 114)* setting to weaken the deceleration torque (stopping torque).
- *Pr. 114* and *Pr. 115* are made valid when the X9 signal is on. For the terminal used for X9 signal input, set "9" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189* input terminal function selection to assign the X9 signal function.



<i>Pr. 49</i> Setting	Pr. 115 Setting	Operation
) (initial	) value)	The second (third) stall prevention operation is not performed.
0.01Hz to 400Hz		The second (third) stall prevention operation is performed according to the frequency.*1
9999 ⁺2 Setting can not be made.		The second (third) stall prevention function is performed according to the RT signal. RT signal ON Stall level <i>Pr. 48</i> RT signal OFF Stall level <i>Pr. 22</i>

\*1 The smaller setting of the stall prevention operation levels set in *Pr. 22* and *Pr. 48* has a higher priority.

\*2 When Pr. 868 = "4" (Stall prevention operation level analog input), the stall prevention operation level also switches from the analog input (terminal 1 input) to the stall prevention operation level of Pr. 48 when the RT signal turns on. (The second stall prevention operation level cannot be input in an analog form.)

Set frequency exceeds Pr. 49 (Pr. 115)



Set frequency is Pr. 49 (Pr. 115) or less



#### REMARKS

When  $Pr. 49 \neq$  "9999" (level changed according to frequency) and Pr. 48 = "0%", the stall prevention operation level is 0% at or higher than the frequency set in Pr. 49.

In the initial setting, the RT signal is assigned to the RT terminal. By setting "3" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)*, you can assign the RT signal to the other terminal.

#### = CAUTION

Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

• The RT(X9) signal acts as the second (third) function selection signal and makes the other second (third) functions valid. (*Refer* to page 210)

# (5) Stall prevention operation level setting by terminal 1 (terminal 4) (analog variable) (*Pr. 148, Pr. 149, Pr. 858, Pr. 868*)



- To set the stall prevention operation level using terminal 1 (analog input), set *Pr. 868 Terminal 1 function assignment* to "4".
- Input 0 to 5V (or 0 to 10V) to terminal 1. Select 5V or 10V using *Pr*: 73 Analog input selection. When *Pr*: 73 = "1" (initial value), 0 to  $\pm$ 10V is input.
- To set stall prevention operation level using terminal 4 (analog current input), set "4" in *Pr. 858 Terminal 4 function assignment*.

Input 0 to 20mA to terminal 4. The AU signal need not be turned on.

- Set the current limit level at the input voltage of 0V (0mA) in *Pr. 148 Stall prevention level at 0V input*
- Set the current limit level at the input voltage of 10V/ 5V (20mA) in *Pr. 149 Stall prevention level at 10V input.*

Du 959 Sotting	D. 969 Sotting	V/F, Advanced Magnetic Flux Vector Control					
Fr. 656 Setting	Tr. 808 Setting	Terminal 4 function	Terminal 1 function				
	0 (initial value)		Frequency auxiliary				
	1		Magnetic flux command				
0	2	Frequency command					
(initial value)	3		—				
(initial value)	4 *1	(AU signal-ON)	Stall prevention				
	5		—				
	6		Torque bias				
	9999		—				
	0 (initial value)	Magnetic flux command	_				
	1	—	Magnetic flux command				
	2		—				
1	3		—				
	4 *1	Magnetic flux command	Stall prevention				
	5	Magnetic nux command	—				
	6		Torque bias				
	9999		—				
	0 (initial value)	Stall prevention	Frequency auxiliary				
	1		Magnetic flux command				
	2						
<b>4</b> *2	3		—				
	4 *1	*3	Stall prevention				
	5						
	6	Stall prevention	Iorque bias				
	9999		—				
9999	—	—					

\*1 When *Pr: 868* = "4" (analog stall prevention), other functions of terminal 1 (auxiliary input, override function, PID control) do not function.
\*2 When *Pr: 858* = "4" (analog stall prevention), PID control and speed command from terminal 4 do not function even if the AU signal turns on.
\*3 When "4" (stall prevention) is set in both *Pr: 858* and *Pr: 868*, function of terminal 1 has higher priority and terminal 4 has no function.

## REMARKS

· The fast response current limit level cannot be set.

## (6) To further prevent an alarm stop (Pr. 154)

- When *Pr. 154* is set to "0", the output voltage reduces during stall prevention operation. By making setting to reduce the output voltage, an overcurrent trip can further become difficult to occur.
- $\cdot\,$  Use this function where a torque decrease will not pose a problem.

Pr. 154 Setting	Description
0	Output voltage reduced
1 (initial value)	Output voltage not reduced

## (7) Limit the stall prevention operation and fast response current limit operation according to the operating status (Pr. 156)

· Refer to the following table and select whether stall prevention and fast-response current limit operation will be performed or not and the operation to be performed at OL signal output.

Fast Respons		Stall Prevention Operation Selection O:Activated •:Not activated		OL Signal Output O:Operation	Pr. 156	Fast Response Current Limit	Stall Prevention Operation Selection O:Activated •:Not activated			OL Signal Output O:Operation	
Setting	O: Activated ●: Not activated	Acceleration	Constant speed	Deceleration	continued ●:Operation not continued *1	Setting	<ul><li>○:Activated</li><li>●: Not activated</li></ul>	Acceleration	Constant speed	Deceleration	continued •:Operation not continued *1
0 (initial value)	0	0	0	0	0	16	0	0	0	0	•
1	•	0	0	0	0	17	•	0	0	0	•
2	0	•	0	0	0	18	0	•	0	0	•
3	•	•	0	0	0	19	•	•	0	0	•
4	0	0	•	0	0	20	0	0	•	0	•
5	•	0	•	0	0	21	•	0	•	0	•
6	0	•	•	0	0	22	0	•	•	0	•
7	•	•	•	0	0	23	•	•	•	0	•
8	0	0	0	•	0	24	0	0	0	0	•
9	•	0	0	•	0	25	•	0	0	•	•
10	0	•	0	•	0	26	0	•	0	•	•
11	•	•	0	•	0	27	•	•	0	•	•
12	0	0	•	•	0	28	0	0	•	•	•
13	•	0	•	•	0	29	•	0	•	•	•
14	0	•	•	•	0	30	0	•	•	•	•
15	•	•	•	•	*2	31	•	•	•	•	*2
iving	0	0	0	0	0	iving	•	0	0	0	0

100     *3     •     •     •     •     -*2	100	Drivii	0	0	0	0	0	101	Drivii	•	0	0	0	0
	100 *3	Regeneration	•	•	•	•	*2	101 *3	Regeneration	•	•	•	•	*2

\*1 When "Operation not continued for OL signal output" is selected, the " E IL [ aut (stopped by stall prevention) is displayed and operation stopped

\*2 \*3

Since both fast response current limit and stall prevention are not activated, OL signal and E.OLT are not output. The settings "100" and "101" allow operations to be performed in the driving and regeneration modes, respectively. The setting "101" disables the fast response current limit in the driving mode.

#### CAUTION

When the load is heavy, when the lift is predetermined, or when the acceleration/deceleration time is short, stall prevention is activated and acceleration/deceleration may not be made according to the preset acceleration/deceleration time. Set Pr. 156 and stall prevention operation level to the optimum values.

# CAUTION

A Do not set a small value as the stall prevention operation current.

Otherwise, torque generated will reduce.

Always perform test operation.

Stall prevention operation during acceleration may increase the acceleration time.

Stall prevention operation performed during constant speed may cause sudden speed changes.

Stall prevention operation during deceleration may increase the deceleration time, increasing the deceleration distance.

#### ♦ Parameters referred to ♦

- Pr. 22 Torque limit level I Refer to page 83
- Pr. 73 Analog input selection I Refer to page 259
- Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (Input terminal function selection) I Refer to page 206
- Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection) TP Refer to page 214
- · Pr. 858 Terminal 4 function assignment, Pr. 868 Terminal 1 function assignment IP Refer to page 258

In vertical lift applications, make setting so that the fast response current limit is not activated. Torque may not be produced, causing a drop due to gravity.



Purpose	Parameter	Refer to Page	
Set upper limit and lower limit of output frequency	Maximum/minimum frequency	Pr. 1, Pr. 2, Pr. 18	140
Perform operation by avoiding mechanical resonance points	Frequency jump	Pr. 31 to Pr. 36	141

## 4.9.1 Maximum/minimum frequency (Pr. 1, Pr. 2, Pr. 18)

You can limit the motor speed. Clamp the upper and lower limits of the output frequency.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
1	Maximum frequency	120Hz	0 to 120Hz	Set the upper limit of the output frequency.
2	Minimum frequency	0Hz	0 to 120Hz	Set the lower limit of the output frequency.
18	High speed maximum frequency	120Hz	120 to 400Hz	Set when performing the operation at 120Hz or more.



## (1) Set maximum frequency

maximum frequency · Set the upper limit of the output frequency in *Pr. 1 Maximum frequency*. If the frequency of the frequency command entered is higher than the setting, the output frequency is clamped at the maximum frequency.

When you want to perform operation above 120Hz, set the upper limit of the output frequency to Pr: 18 High speed maximum frequency. (When Pr: 18 is set, Pr: 1 automatically switches to the frequency of Pr: 18. When Pr: 18 is set, Pr: 18 automatically switches to the frequency of Pr: 1.)

## REMARKS

When performing operation above 60Hz using the frequency setting analog signal, change *Pr. 125 (Pr. 126) (frequency setting gain)*. If only *Pr. 1* or *Pr. 18* is changed, operation above 60Hz cannot be performed.

## (2) Set minimum frequency

- · Use *Pr. 2 Minimum frequency* to set the lower limit of the output frequency.
- The output frequency is clamped by the *Pr*: 2 setting even if the set frequency is equal to or less than the *Pr*: 2 setting (The frequency will not decrease to the *Pr*: 2 setting.)

#### REMARKS

- When *Pr. 15 Jog frequency* is equal to or less than *Pr. 2*, the *Pr. 15* setting has precedence over the *Pr. 2* setting.
- When stall prevention is activated to decrease the output frequency, the output frequency may drop to Pr. 2 or below.

# 

▲ Note that when Pr. 2 is set to any value equal to or more than Pr. 13 Starting frequency, simply turning on the start signal will run the motor at the preset frequency according to the set acceleration time even if the command frequency is not input.

#### Parameters referred to +

Pr. 13 Starting frequency IP Refer to page 157

Pr. 15 Jog frequency IP Refer to page 150

Pr. 125 Terminal 2 frequency setting gain frequency, Pr. 126 Terminal 4 frequency setting gain frequency IF Refer to page 267

## 4.9.2 Avoid mechanical resonance points (Frequency jump) (Pr. 31 to Pr. 36)

When it is desired to avoid resonance attributable to the natural frequency of a mechanical system, these parameters allow resonant frequencies to be jumped.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
31	Frequency jump 1A	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999	
32	Frequency jump 1B	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999	
33	Frequency jump 2A	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999	1A to 1B, 2A to 2B, 3A to 3B is
34	Frequency jump 2B	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999	9999: Function invalid
35	Frequency jump 3A	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999	
36	Frequency jump 3B	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999	





Purpose	Parameter	Refer to Page	
Set motor ratings	Base frequency, base frequency voltage	Pr. 3, Pr. 19, Pr. 47, Pr. 113	142
Select a V/F pattern according to applications	Load pattern selection	Pr. 14	144
Automatically set a V/F pattern for elevators	Elevator mode (automatic acceleration)	Pr. 61, Pr. 64, Pr. 292	146
Use special motor	Adjustable 5 points V/F	Pr. 71, Pr. 100 to Pr. 109	147

## 4.10.1 Base frequency, voltage (Pr. 3, Pr. 19, Pr. 47, Pr. 113)

Used to adjust the inverter outputs (voltage, frequency) to the motor rating.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
3	Base frequency	60Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency when the motor rated torque is generated. (50Hz/60Hz)
			0 to 1000V	Set the base voltage.
19	Base frequency voltage	9999	8888	95% of power supply voltage
			9999	Same as power supply voltage
47	Second V/F (base frequency)	9999	0 to 400Hz	Set the base frequency when the RT signal is on.
			9999	Second V/F invalid
113	Third V/F (base frequency)	9999	0 to 400Hz	Set the base frequency when the X9 signal is ON.
			9999	Third V/F is invalid



## (1) Setting of base frequency (Pr. 3)

• When operating a standard motor, generally set the rated frequency of the motor to *Pr. 3 Base frequency*. When running the motor using bypass operation, set *Pr. 3* to the same value as the power supply frequency.

If the frequency given on the motor rating plate is "50Hz" only, always set to "50Hz". Leaving the base frequency unchanged from "60Hz" may make the voltage too low and the torque insufficient. It may result in an inverter trip due to overload. Special care must be taken when "1" (reduced torque load) is set in *Pr. 14 Load pattern selection*.

When using the Mitsubishi constant-torque motor, set Pr. 3 to 60Hz.

## (2) Set multiple base frequencies (*Pr. 47, Pr. 113*)

- When you want to change the base frequency when switching two motors with one inverter, use the *Pr*: 47 Second *V/F* (base frequency).
- *Pr. 47 Second V/F (base frequency)* is made valid when the RT signal in ON and *Pr. 113 Third V/F (base frequency)* is made valid when the X9 signal is on. Assign the terminal for X9 signal input using any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)*.

## REMARKS

- The RT(X9) signal acts as the second (third) function selection signal and makes the other second (third) functions valid. (*Refer* to page 210)
- In the initial setting, the RT signal is assigned to the RT terminal. By setting "3" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)*, you can assign the RT signal to the other terminal.

### (3) Base frequency voltage setting (Pr. 19)

- · Use Pr. 19 Base frequency voltage to set the base voltage (e.g. rated motor voltage).
- · If the setting is less than the power supply voltage, the maximum output voltage of the inverter is as set in Pr. 19.
- · Pr. 19 can be utilized in the following cases.
  - (a) When regeneration frequency is high (e.g. continuous regeneration) During regeneration, the output voltage becomes higher than the reference and may cause an overcurrent trip (E.OC□) due to an increased motor current.
  - (b) When power supply voltage variation is large When the power supply voltage exceeds the rated voltage of the motor, speed variation or motor overheat may be caused by excessive torque or increased motor current.
- Set parameters as below when running the vector control dedicated motor (SF-V5RU, SF-V5RU1, SF-V5RU3, SF-V5RU4, SF-VR) under V/F control.

Motor Type	Pr. 19 Setting	Pr. 3 Setting
SF-V5RU-3.7kW	170V	
SF-V5RU-5.5kW or more	160V	
SF-V5RUH-3.7kW	340V	50Hz
SF-V5RUH-5.5kW or more	320V	
SF-V5RU1-30kW or less	160V	
SF-V5RU1-37kW	170V	22 22LI <del>-</del>
SF-V5RU3-22kW or less	160V	33.33HZ
SF-V5RU3-30kW	170V	
SF-V5RU4-3.7kW, 7.5kW	150V	16 6747
SF-V5RU4-other than the above	160V	10.07 HZ
SF-VR	160V	5047
SF-VRH	320V	50112

#### REMARKS

When operation is discontinued under vector control due to failure of an encoder, etc., setting "9999" in *Pr. 80 Motor capacity* or *Pr. 81 Number of motor poles* enables V/F control operation.

#### = Caution =

- When advanced magnetic flux vector control mode, real sensorless vector control or vector control is selected, *Pr. 3, Pr. 47, Pr. 113* and *Pr. 19* are made invalid and *Pr. 83* and *Pr. 84* are made valid.
- Note that *Pr*: 3 or *Pr*: 47 and *Pr*: 113 values are made valid as inflection points of S-pattern when *Pr*: 29 Acceleration/deceleration pattern selection = "1" (S-pattern acceleration/deceleration A).
- When *Pr. 71 Applied motor* is set to "2" (adjustable 5 points V/F characteristic), the *Pr. 47* and *Pr. 113* setting becomes invalid. In addition, you cannot set "8888" or "9999" in *Pr. 19*.
- Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### Parameters referred to +

- Pr. 14 Load pattern selection IP Refer to page 144
- Pr. 29 Acceleration/deceleration pattern selection I Refer to page 158
- Pr. 71 Applied motor I Refer to page 169
- Pr. 80 Motor capacity Refer to page 75.
- Pr. 83 Rated motor voltage, Pr. 84 Rated motor frequency IP Refer to page 171.
- Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) I Refer to page 206.
- Advanced magnetic flux vector control I Refer to page 131.

## 4.10.2 Load pattern selection (Pr. 14)

You can select the optimum output characteristic (V/F characteristic) for the application and load characteristics.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
		0	0	For constant torque load
			1	For reduced-torque load
14	Load pattern selection		2	For constant torque elevators (at reverse rotation boost of 0%)
			3	For constant torque elevators (at forward rotation boost of 0%)
			4	RT signal onfor constant torque load RT signal offfor constant torque elevators at reverse rotation boost of 0%
			5	RT signal onfor constant torque load RT signal offfor constant torque elevators at forward rotation boost of 0%

#### Pr.14=0

100%

Output voltage



- At or less than the base frequency, the output voltage varies linearly with the output frequency.
- Set this value when driving the load whose load torque is constant even if the speed varies, e.g. conveyor, cart or roll drive.



If the load is a fan or pump, select "for rated torque load (setting "0")" in any of the following cases.

- When a blower of large moment of inertia (J) is accelerated in a short time
- For constant-torque load such as rotary pump or gear pump
- When load torque increases at low speed, e.g. screw pump

# 100% **Dutput voltage** Pr.3 Base frequency Output frequency (Hz)

Pr.3 Base frequency

Output frequency (Hz)

## (2) For variable-torque load (setting "1")

- At or less than the base frequency, the output voltage varies with the output frequency in a square curve.
- Set this value when driving the load whose load torque varies in proportion to the square of the speed, e.g. fan or pump.

Pr:14=2

For vertical lift loads At forward rotation boost ... Pr.0 setting At reverse rotation boost...0%



Pr:14=3

For vertical lift loads At forward rotation boost...0% At reverse rotation boost ... Pr.0 setting .



## (3) Vertical lift load applications (setting values "2, 3")

Set "2" when a vertical lift load is fixed as power driving load at forward rotation and regenerative load at reverse rotation.

Pr. 0 Torque boost is valid during forward rotation and torque boost is automatically changed to "0%" during reverse rotation.

Set "3" for an elevated load that is in the driving mode during reverse rotation and in the regenerative load mode during forward rotation according to the load weight, e.g. counterweight system.

#### REMARKS

When torque is continuously regenerated as vertical lift load, it is effective to set the rated voltage in Pr. 19 Base frequency voltage to prevent trip due to current at regeneration.





Pr. 14 Setting	RT(X17) Signal	Output Characteristics	
4	ON	For constant torque load (same as when the setting is "0")	
4	OFF	For elevators at reverse rotation boost of 0% (same as when the setting is "2")	
5	ON	For constant torque load (same as when the setting is "0")	
5	OFF	For elevators at forward rotation boost of 0% (same as when the setting is "3")	

# (4) Change load pattern selection using terminal (setting values are "4, 5")

 Output characteristic can be switched between for constant torque load and for elevator using the RT signal or X17 signal.

For the terminal used for X17 signal input, set "17" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* to assign the function.

When X17 is assigned, switchover by the RT signal is made invalid.

#### REMARKS

The RT signal is assigned to the terminal RT in the initial setting. By setting "3" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)*, the RT signal can be assigned to the other terminal.

#### — CAUTION =

When advanced magnetic flux vector control, real sensorless vector control or vector control is selected, this parameter setting is ignored.

Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Make setting after confirming the function of each terminal. When the RT signal is on, the other second functions are also valid.

#### ♦ Parameters referred to ♦

Pr. 0 Torque boost Refer to page 129

Pr. 3 Base frequency IP Refer to page 142

Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) IF Refer to page 206

Advanced magnetic flux vector control I Refer to page 131. Real sensorless vector control I Refer to page 75.

## 4.10.3 Elevator mode (automatic acceleration/deceleration) (Pr. 61, Pr. 64, Pr. 292)

Operation matching a load characteristic of elevator with counterweight can be performed.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
61	Poforonco ourrent	0000	0 to 500A	Set the reference current for elevator mode.
01		9999	9999	Rated inverter current value reference
64	Starting frequency for	0000	0 to 10%	Set the starting frequency for the elevator mode.
04	elevator mode	9999	9999	Starting frequency 2Hz
	Automatic acceleration/ deceleration	0	0	Normal mode
			3	Optimum acceleration/deceleration mode ( <i>Refer to page 162.</i> )
202			5	Elevator mode 1 (stall prevention operation level 150%)
292			6	Elevator mode 2 (stall prevention operation level 180%)
			7, 8	Brake sequence mode 1, 2 (Refer to page 192.)
			11	Minimum acceleration/deceleration mode ( <i>Refer to page 162.</i> )

### (1) Elevator mode

When "5" or "6" is set in *Pr. 292 Automatic acceleration/deceleration*, elevator mode is selected and each setting is changed as in the table below.

• Enough torque is generated during power driving and the torque boost value is automatically changed during regeneration and operation without load so that overcurrent protection function does not activate due to over excitation.



· When operating the elevator with load more than the rated inverter current, the maximum torque may become insufficient.

For the elevator without counterweight, setting "2 or 3" (for elevator load) in *Pr. 14 Load pattern selection* and an appropriate value in *Pr. 19 Base frequency voltage* will generate larger maximum torque than when elevator mode is selected.

#### REMARKS

• Stall prevention operation level automatically decreases according to the electronic thermal relay function cumulative value, to prevent inverter overload trip (E.THT, E.THM).

## (2) Adjustment of elevator mode (Pr. 61, Pr. 64)

· By setting the adjustment parameters *Pr.* 61 and *Pr.* 64, the application range can be made wider.

Parameter Number	Name	Setting Range	Description	
61	Reference current	0 to 500A	For example, when the motor and inverter are different in capacity, set the rated motor current value. Set reference current (A) of the stall prevention operation level	
		9999 (initial value)	The rated inverter output current is defined as reference.	
64 Starting frequency for		0 to 10Hz	Set the starting frequency for the elevator mode.	
04	elevator mode	9999 (initial value)	Starting frequency 2Hz	

#### REMARKS

• Even if elevator mode has been selected, inputting the jog signal (jog operation), RT signal (second function selection) or X9 signal (third function selection) during an inverter stop will switch to the normal operation and give priority to jog operation or second and third function selection. Note that JOG and RT signal input is invalid even if JOG signal and RT signal are input during operation with acceleration/deceleration selected.

Elevator mode is invalid when advanced magnetic flux vector, real sensorless vector control or vector control is selected.

• Since the *Pr*: 61 and *Pr*: 64 settings automatically return to the initial value (9999) if the *Pr*: 292 setting is changed, set *Pr*: 292 first when you need to set *Pr*: 61 and *Pr*: 64.

## 4.10.4 Adjustable 5 points V/F (Pr. 71, Pr. 100 to Pr. 109)

A dedicated V/F pattern can be made by freely setting the V/F characteristic between a startup and the base frequency and base voltage under V/F control (frequency voltage/frequency). The torque pattern that is optimum for the machine's characteristic can be set.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
71	Applied motor	0	0 to 8, 13 to 18, 30, 33, 34, 40, 43, 44, 50, 53, 54	Set "2" for adjustable 5 points V/F control.
100	V/F1(first frequency)	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999	
101	V/F1(first frequency voltage)	0V	0 to 1000V	
102	V/F2(second frequency)	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999	
103	V/F2(second frequency voltage)	0V	0 to 1000V	
104	V/F3(third frequency)	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999	Set each points (frequency,
105	V/F3(third frequency voltage)	0V	0 to 1000V	9999: No V/F setting
106	V/F4(fourth frequency)	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999	
107	V/F4(fourth frequency voltage)	0V	0 to 1000V	1
108	V/F5(fifth frequency)	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999	
109	V/F5(fifth frequency voltage)	0V	0 to 1000V	



Any V/F characteristic can be provided by presetting the parameters of V/F1 (first frequency voltage/first frequency) to V/F5.

For a machine of large static friction coefficient and small dynamic static friction coefficient, for example, set a V/F pattern that will increase the voltage only in a low-speed range since such a machine requires large torque at a start.

#### (Setting procedure)

1)Set the rated motor voltage in Pr. 19 Base frequency voltage. (No function at the setting of "9999" (initial value) or "8888".)

2)Set Pr. 71 Applied motor to "2" (Adjustable 5 points V/F characteristic). 3)Set the frequency and voltage you want to set in Pr. 100 to Pr. 109.

# CAUTION

A Set this parameter correctly according to the motor used. Incorrect setting may cause the motor to overheat and burn.

#### = CAUTION :

Adjustable 5 points V/F characteristics function only under V/F control. They do not function under advanced magnetic flux vector control, real sensorless vector control or vector control.

- When Pr. 19 Base frequency voltage = "8888" or "9999", Pr. 71 cannot be set to "2". To set Pr. 71 to "2", set the rated voltage value in Pr. 19.
- When the frequency values at each point are the same, a write disable error ( $\xi l$ ) appears.
- Set the points (frequencies, voltages) of Pr. 100 to Pr. 109 within the ranges of Pr. 3 Base frequency and Pr. 19 Base frequency voltage.
- When "2" is set in *Pr. 71, Pr. 47 Second V/F (base frequency)* and *Pr. 113 Third V/F (base frequency)* will not function. When *Pr. 71* is set to "2", the electronic thermal relay function makes calculation as a standard motor.

#### REMARKS

A greater energy saving effect can be expected by combining Pr. 60 Energy saving control selection and adjustable 5 points V/F. For the 5.5K, 7.5K, the Pr. 0 Torque boost and Pr. 12 DC injection brake operation voltage settings are automatically changed according to the Pr. 71 setting as follows.

Pr. 71	Standard Motor Setting 0, 2, 3 to 8, 40, 43, 44	Constant Torque Motor Setting 1, 13 to 18, 50, 53, 54	
Pr. 0	3%	2%	
Pr. 12	4%	2%	

#### Parameters referred to +

- · Pr. 3 Base frequency, Pr. 19 Base frequency voltage IP Refer to page 142
- Pr. 12 DC injection brake operation voltage IP Refer to page 185
- · Pr. 47 Second V/F (base frequency), Pr. 113 Third V/F (base frequency) IF Refer to page 142
- Pr. 60 Energy saving control selection I Refer to page 251
- Pr. 71 Applied motor, Pr. 450 Second applied motor IF Refer to page 169
- Advanced magnetic flux vector control I Refer to page 131
- · Real sensorless vector control I Refer to page 75
- Vector control I Refer to page 75

## **4.11 Frequency setting by external terminals**

Purpose	Parameter	Refer to Page	
Make frequency setting by combination of terminals	Multi-speed operation	Pr. 4 to Pr. 6, Pr. 24 to Pr. 27, Pr. 232 to Pr. 239	148
Perform jog operation	Jog operation	Pr. 15, Pr. 16	150
Added compensation for multi-speed setting and remote setting	Multi-speed input compensation selection	Pr. 28	152
Infinitely variable speed setting by terminals	Remote setting function	Pr. 59	152

## 4.11.1 Multi-speed setting operation (Pr. 4 to Pr. 6, Pr. 24 to Pr. 27, Pr. 232 to Pr. 239)

Can be used to change the preset speed in the parameter with the contact terminals. Any speed can be selected by merely turning on-off the contact signals (RH, RM, RL, REX signals).

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description		
4	Multi-speed setting (high speed)	60Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency when RH turns on.		
5	Multi-speed setting (middle speed)	30Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency when RM turns on.		
6	Multi-speed setting (low speed)	10Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency when RL turns on.		
24	Multi-speed setting (speed 4)	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999			
25	Multi-speed setting (speed 5)	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999			
26	Multi-speed setting (speed 6)	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999			
27	Multi-speed setting (speed 7)	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999	Fraguency from encod 4 to encod 45		
232	Multi-speed setting (speed 8)	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999	Frequency from speed 4 to speed 15		
233	Multi-speed setting (speed 9)	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999	combination of the PH_PM_PL and		
234	Multi-speed setting (speed 10)	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999	REX signals		
235	Multi-speed setting (speed 11)	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999	9999: not selected		
236	Multi-speed setting (speed 12)	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999			
237	Multi-speed setting (speed 13)	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999			
238	Multi-speed setting (speed 14)	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999			
239	Multi-speed setting (speed 15)	9999	0 to 400Hz, 9999	1		

The above parameters allow its setting to be changed during operation in any operation mode even if "0" (initial value) is set in Pr. 77 Parameter write selection.





## (1) Multi-speed setting (Pr. 4 to Pr. 6)

• Operation is performed at the frequency set in *Pr. 4* when the RH signal turns on, *Pr. 5* when the RM signal turns on, and *Pr. 6* when the RL signal turns on.

## REMARKS

- In the initial setting, if two or three speeds are simultaneously selected, priority is given to the set frequency of the lower signal. For example, when the RH and RM signals turn on, the RM signal (*Pr. 5*) has a higher priority.
- The RH, RM, RL signals are assigned to the terminal RH, RM, RL in the initial setting.
  - By setting "0 (RL)", "1 (RM)", "2 (RH)" in any of *Pr*.178 to *Pr*.189 (input terminal function assignment), the signals can be assigned to other terminals.
- (2) Multi-speed setting higher than speed 4 (*Pr. 24 to Pr. 27, Pr. 232 to Pr. 239*)
  - Frequency from speed 4 to speed 15 can be set according to the combination of the RH, RM, RL and REX signals. Set the running frequencies in *Pr. 24 to Pr. 27, Pr. 232 to Pr. 239.* (In the initial value setting, speed 4 to speed 15 are unavailable.).
  - For the terminal used for REX signal input, set "8" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* to assign the function.
  - \* When "9999" is set in *Pr. 232 Multi-speed setting (speed 8)*, operation is performed at frequency set in *Pr. 6* when RH, RM and RL are turned off and REX is turned on.

Frequency setting by external terminals



#### CAUTION

• Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178* to *Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### Parameters referred to +

- Pr. 15 Jog frequency I Refer to page 150
- Pr. 28 Multi-speed input compensation selection IP Refer to page 152

Pr. 59 Remote function selection Refer to page 152

Pr. 79 Operation mode selection IF Refer to page 283

Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) IFR Refer to page 206

## 4.11.2 Jog operation (Pr. 15, Pr. 16)

You can set the frequency and acceleration/deceleration time for jog operation. Jog operation can be performed from either the outside or PU.

Can be used for conveyor positioning, test operation, etc.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
15	Jog frequency	5Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency for jog operation.
16	Jog acceleration/ deceleration time	0.5s	0 to 3600/360s*	Set the acceleration/deceleration time for jog operation. Set the time taken to reach the frequency (Initial value is 60Hz) set in <i>Pr. 20 Acceleration/deceleration reference frequency</i> for acceleration/ deceleration time. The acceleration and deceleration time cannot be set separately.

The above parameters are displayed as simple mode parameters only when the parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07) is connected. When the operation panel (FR-DU07) is connected, the above parameters can be set only when *Pr. 160 User group read selection* = "0". (*Refer to page 281*) \* When the setting of *Pr. 21 Acceleration/deceleration time increments* is "0" (initial value), the setting range is "0 to 3600s" and the setting increments are

"0.1s", and when the setting is "1", the setting range is "0 to 360s" and the setting increments are "0.01s"

#### (1) Jog operation from outside

· When the jog signal is on, a start and stop can be made by the start signal (STF, STR). (The JOG signal is assigned to the terminal JOG in the initial setting)



#### REMARKS

- · When you want to change the running frequency, change Pr. 15 Jog frequency . (initial value "5Hz")
- When you want to change the acceleration/deceleration time change *Pr. 16 Jog acceleration/deceleration time*. (initial value "0.5s")

Frequency setting by external terminals



- This function is invalid when Pr. 79 = "3".
- Jog operation is invalid under position control.

#### ♦ Parameters referred to ♦

- Pr. 13 Starting frequency I Refer to page 157
- Pr. 29 Acceleration/deceleration pattern selection I Refer to page 158
- · Pr. 20 Acceleration/deceleration reference frequency, Pr. 21 Acceleration/deceleration time increments (187) Refer to page 155
- Pr. 79 Operation mode selection IP Refer to page 283
- Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) IF Refer to page 206

## 4.11.3 Input compensation of multi-speed and remote setting (Pr. 28)

By inputting the frequency setting compensation signal (terminal 1, 2), the speed (frequency) can be compensated for relative to the multi-speed setting or the speed setting by remote setting function.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
20	Multi-speed input compensation selection	0	0	Without compensation
20		0	1	With compensation

REMARKS

- Select the terminal (terminal 1, 2) used for compensation input voltage (0 to ±5V, 0 to ±10) using Pr. 73 Analog input selection.
- When using terminal 1 for compensation input, set "0" (initial value) in *Pr. 868 Terminal 1 function assignment*.

Parameters referred to +

Pr. 4 to Pr. 6, Pr. 24 to Pr. 27, Pr. 232 to Pr. 239 (multi-speed operation) I Refer to page 148

Pr. 73 Analog input selection I Refer to page 259

Pr. 59 Remote function selection I Refer to page 152

Pr. 868 Terminal 1 function assignment IPR Refer to page 258

## 4.11.4 Remote setting function (Pr. 59)

- Even if the operation panel is located away from the enclosure, you can use contact signals to perform continuous variable-speed operation, without using analog signals.
- By merely setting this parameter, you can use the acceleration, deceleration and setting clear functions of the motorized speed setter (FR-FK).

Paramotor		Initial	Sotting	Description		
Number	Name	Value	Range	RH, RM, RL signal function	Frequency setting storage function	
59	Remote function selection	0	0	Multi-speed setting		
			1	Remote setting	Yes	
			2	Remote setting	No	
			3	Remote setting	No (Turning STF/STR off clears remotely- set frequency.)	



\* External operation frequency (other than multi-speed) or PU running frequency

## (1) Remote setting function

- Use *Pr. 59* to select whether the remote setting function is used or not and whether the frequency setting storage function in the remote setting mode is used or not.
- When *Pr. 59* is set to any of "1 to 3" (remote setting function valid), the functions of the RH, RM and RL signals are changed to acceleration (RH), deceleration (RM) and clear (RL).
- · When the remote function is used, the output frequency of the inverter can be compensated for as follows:
  - External operation .. Frequency set with RH and RM operation + external operation frequency other than multi-speed (PU operation frequency when *Pr*: 79 = "3" (external, PU combined)) and terminal 4 input.

(When making analog input compensation, set "1" in *Pr. 28 Multi-speed input compensation selection*.

When *Pr*: 28 is set to "0" and acceleration/deceleration is made to reach the set frequency of the analog voltage input (terminal 2 or terminal 4) by RH/RM, the auxiliary input by terminal 1 becomes invalid.)

PU operation ......... Frequency set by RH/RM operation + PU running frequency

#### (2) Frequency setting storage

• The frequency setting storage function stores the remotely-set frequency (frequency set by RH/RM operation) into the memory (EEPROM). When power is switched off once, then on, operation is resumed with that output frequency value. (Pr: 59 = 1)

#### <Frequency setting storage conditions>

- · Frequency at the point when the start signal (STF or STR) turns off
- The remotely-set frequency is stored every one minute after one minute has elapsed since turn off (on) of both the RH (acceleration) and RM (deceleration) signals. (The frequency is written if the present frequency setting compared with the past frequency setting every one minute is different. The state of the RL signal does not affect writing.)

#### = CAUTION =



- When the acceleration or deceleration signal switches on, acceleration/deceleration time is as set in *Pr. 44 Second acceleration/ deceleration time* and *Pr. 45 Second deceleration time*. Note that when long time has been set in *Pr. 7* or *Pr. 8*, the acceleration/ deceleration time is as set in *Pr. 7* or *Pr. 8*. (when RT signal is off)
   When the RT signal is on, acceleration/deceleration is made in the time set to *Pr. 44* and *Pr. 45*, regardless of the *Pr. 7* or *Pr. 8*.
- when the RT signal is on, acceleration/deceleration is made in the time set to Pr: 44 and Pr: 45, regardless of the Pr: 7 or Pr: 8 setting.
- Even if the start signal (STF or STR) is off, turning on the acceleration (RH) or deceleration (RM) signal varies the preset frequency.
- When switching the start signal from ON to OFF, or changing frequency by the RH or RM signal frequently, set the frequency setting value storage function (write to EEPROM) invalid (Pr. 59 = "2, 3"). If set valid (Pr. 59 = "1"), frequency is written to EEPROM frequently, this will shorten the life of the EEPROM.
- The RH, RM, RL signals can be assigned to the input terminal using any *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)*. When terminal assignment is changed, the other functions may be affected. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.
- · Also available for the network operation mode.

## Frequency setting by external terminals

## REMARKS

During jog operation or PID control operation, the remote setting function is invalid.

## Setting frequency is "0"



## 

Mhen selecting this function, re-set the maximum frequency according to the machine.

#### Parameters referred to +

Pr. 1 Maximum frequency, Pr. 18 High speed maximum frequency IPR Refer to page 140

- Pr. 7 Acceleration time, Pr. 8 Deceleration time, Pr. 44 Second acceleration/deceleration time, Pr. 45 Second deceleration time Tr Refer to page 155 Pr. 28 Multi-speed input compensation selection Tr Refer to page 152
- Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) Refer to page 206

# 4.12 Setting of acceleration/deceleration time and acceleration/deceleration pattern

Purpose	Parameter that	Refer to Page	
Motor acceleration/deceleration time setting	Acceleration/deceleration time	Pr. 7, Pr. 8, Pr. 20, Pr. 21, Pr. 44, Pr. 45, Pr. 110, Pr. 111	155
Starting frequency	Starting frequency and start- time hold	Pr. 13, Pr. 571	157
Set acceleration/deceleration pattern suitable for application	Acceleration/deceleration pattern and backlash measures	Pr. 29, Pr. 140 to Pr. 143, Pr. 380 to Pr. 383, Pr. 516 to Pr. 519	158
Automatically set appropriate acceleration/deceleration time	Automatic acceleration/ deceleration	Pr. 61 to Pr. 63, Pr. 292	162

# 4.12.1 Setting of the acceleration and deceleration time (Pr. 7, Pr. 8, Pr. 20, Pr. 21, Pr. 44, Pr. 45, Pr. 110, Pr. 111)

Used to set motor acceleration/deceleration time.

Set a larger value for a slower speed increase/decrease or a smaller value for a faster speed increase/decrease. For the acceleration time at automatic restart after instantaneous power failure, refer to *Pr. 611 Acceleration time at a restart (page 239)*.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value		Setting Range	Des	scription
7	Acceleration time	7.5K or less 5s		0 to 3600/360s *1	Set the motor acceleration time	
,	Acceleration time	11K or more 15s		0 10 0000/0003 1		
8	Deceleration time	7.5K or less 5s		0 to 3600/360s *1	Set the motor decel	eration time
Ű	Deceleration time	11K or more	15s	0 10 0000/0003 1		
20	Acceleration/ deceleration reference frequency	60Hz		1 to 400Hz	Set the frequency that will be the basis of acceleration/deceleration time. As acceleration/deceleration time, set the frequency change time from stop to <i>Pr. 20</i> .	
Acceleration/				0	Increments: 0.1s Range: 0 to 3600s	Increments and setting range of acceleration/
21	deceleration time increments	0		1	Increments: 0.01s Range: 0 to 360s	deceleration time setting can be changed.
44	Second acceleration/ deceleration time	5s		0 to 3600/360s *1	Set the acceleration the RT signal is on.	/deceleration time when
45	Second	9999		0 to 3600/360s *1	Set the deceleration time when the RT signal is on.	
				9999	Acceleration time = deceleration time	
110	Third acceleration/	9999		0 to 3600/360s *1	Set the acceleration/deceleration time when the X9 signal is on.	
	deceleration time			9999	Without the third acceleration/deceleration function.	
111	Third deceleration	9999		0 to 3600/360s *1	Set the deceleration time when the X9 signal is on.	
	ume			9999	Acceleration time = deceleration time	

\*1 Depends on the *Pr. 21 Acceleration/deceleration time increments* setting. The initial value for the setting range is "0 to 3600s" and the setting increments is "0.1s".



## (1) Acceleration time setting (Pr. 7, Pr. 20)

• Use *Pr. 7 Acceleration time* to set the acceleration time required to reach *Pr. 20 Acceleration/deceleration reference frequency* from OHz.

 $\cdot\,$  Set the acceleration time according to the following formula.

Acceleration	_	Pr. 20		Acceleration time from stop to
time setting	=	Maximum operating frequency - Pr: 13	×	maximum operating frequency

Example) When Pr: 20 = 60Hz (initial value), Pr: 13 = 0.5Hz, and acceleration can be made up to the maximum operating frequency of 50Hz in 10s

Du 7	60Hz	10 10.1.
F /. /	50Hz - 0.5Hz ×	10s 📮 12.1s

PARAMETERS

## (2) Deceleration time setting (Pr. 8, Pr. 20)

- Use *Pr.* 8 Deceleration time to set the deceleration time required to reach 0Hz from *Pr.* 20 Acceleration/deceleration reference frequency.
- Set the deceleration time according to the following formula.

Deceleration		Pr. 20	_	Deceleration time from maximum	
time setting	=	Maximum operating frequency - Pr: 10	×	operating frequency to stop.	

Example)When the frequency can be decelerated down to the maximum operating frequency of 50Hz in 10s with 120Hz set in *Pr. 20* and

 $Pr. 8 = \frac{120 \text{Hz}}{50 \text{Hz} - 3 \text{Hz}} \times 10s \doteq 25.5s$ 

#### (3) Change the setting range and increments of the acceleration/deceleration time (Pr. 21)

 Use *Pr. 21* to set the acceleration/deceleration time and minimum setting range. Setting "0" (initial value).....0 to 3600s (minimum setting increments 0.1s) Setting "1" .....0 to 360s (minimum setting increments 0.01s)

#### = Caution =

3Hz set in Pr. 10

Changing the *Pr. 21* setting changes the acceleration/deceleration time setting (*Pr. 7, Pr. 8, Pr. 16, Pr. 44, Pr. 45, Pr. 110, Pr. 111, Pr. 264, Pr. 265*).
 (The *Pr. 611 Acceleration time at a restart* setting is not affected.)

<Example> When Pr: 21 = "0", setting "5.0" s in Pr: 7 and "1" in Pr: 21 automatically changes the Pr: 7 setting to "0.5" s.

## (4) Set multiple acceleration/deceleration time (RT signal, Pr. 44, Pr. 45, Pr. 110, Pr. 111)

- *Pr: 44* and *Pr: 45* are valid when the RT signal is on, and *Pr: 110* and *Pr: 111* are valid when the X9 signal is on. When both the RT and X9 are on, *Pr: 110* and *Pr: 111* are valid.
- For the terminal used for X9 signal input, set "9" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* to assign the function.
- When "9999" is set in *Pr. 45* or *Pr. 111*, the deceleration time becomes equal to the acceleration time (*Pr. 44, Pr. 110*).
- $\cdot\,$  When  $\it Pr.\,110$  = "9999", third acceleration/deceleration time is invalid.

#### 

In S-shaped acceleration/deceleration pattern A (*refer to page 158*), the set time is the period required to reach the base frequency set in *Pr. 3 Base frequency*.

Acceleration/deceleration time formula when the set frequency is the base frequency or higher

$$t = \frac{4}{9} \times \frac{1}{(Pr: 3)^2} \times f^2 + \frac{5}{9} T$$
 T: Acceleration/deceleration time setting value(s)  
f: Set frequency(Hz)

· Guideline for acceleration/deceleration time when Pr. 3 Base frequency = 60Hz (0Hz to set frequency)

Frequency setting (Hz) Acceleration/ deceleration time (s)	60	120	200	400
5	5	12	27	102
15	15	35	82	305

The RT, X9 signal can be assigned to the input terminal using any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)*. When terminal assignment is changed, the other functions may be affected. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### REMARKS

- The RT (X9) signal acts as the second (third) function selection signal and makes the other second (third) function valid. (*Refer* to page 210)
- The RT signal is assigned to the RT terminal in the default setting. By setting "3" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)*, you can assign the RT signal to the other terminal.
- If the *Pr. 20* setting is changed, the *Pr. 125* and *Pr. 126 (frequency setting signal gain frequency)* settings do not change. Set *Pr. 125* and *Pr. 126* to adjust the gains.
- When the *Pr. 7, Pr. 8, Pr. 44, Pr. 45, Pr. 110* and *Pr. 111* settings are 0.03s or less, the acceleration/deceleration time is 0.04s (under V/F control, advanced magnetic flux vector control). At that time, set *Pr. 20* to "120Hz" or less.
- If the acceleration/deceleration time is set, the actual motor acceleration/deceleration time cannot be made shorter than the shortest acceleration/deceleration time determined by the mechanical system J (moment of inertia) and motor torque.

#### Parameters referred to .

Pr. 3 Base frequency I Refer to page 142

Pr. 10 DC injection brake operation frequency I Refer to page 185

Pr. 29 Acceleration/deceleration pattern selection Refer to page 158

Pr. 125, Pr. 126 (frequency setting gain frequency) Refer to page 267

Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) I Refer to page 206

## 4.12.2 Starting frequency and start-time hold function (Pr. 13, Pr. 571)

You can set the starting frequency and hold the set starting frequency for a certain period of time. Set these functions when you need the starting torque or want to smooth motor drive at a start.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
13	Starting frequency	0.5Hz	0 to 60Hz	Frequency at start can be set in the range 0 to 60Hz. You can set the starting frequency at which the start signal is turned on.
571	Holding time at a start	9999	0.0 to 10.0s 9999	Set the holding time of <i>Pr. 13 Starting frequency</i> . Holding function at a start is invalid



## (1) Starting frequency setting (Pr. 13)

- Frequency at start can be set in the range 0 to 60Hz.
- You can set the starting frequency at which the start signal is turned on.

#### = CAUTION =

The inverter will not start if the frequency setting signal is less than the value set in *Pr. 13*.

For example, when 5Hz is set in Pr. 13, the motor will not start running until the frequency setting signal reaches 5Hz.



## (2) Start-time hold function (Pr. 571)

- This function holds the time set in *Pr. 571* and the output frequency set in *Pr. 13 Starting frequency*.
- This function performs initial excitation to smooth the motor drive at a start.

#### REMARKS

When Pr. 13 = "OHz", the starting frequency is held at 0.01Hz.

#### 

- · When the start signal was turned off during start-time hold, deceleration is started at that point.
- At switching between forward rotation and reverse rotation, the starting frequency is valid but the start-time hold function is invalid.

# 

Note that when *Pr. 13* is set to any value equal to or less than *Pr. 2 Minimum frequency*, simply turning on the start signal will run the motor at the preset frequency even if the command frequency is not input.

#### Parameters referred to +

Pr. 2 Minimum frequency IF Refer to page 140

# 4.12.3 Acceleration/deceleration pattern (Pr. 29, Pr. 140 to Pr. 143, Pr. 380 to Pr. 383, Pr. 516 to Pr. 519)

You can set the acceleration/deceleration pattern suitable for application.

You can also set the backlash measures that stop acceleration/deceleration once at the parameter-set frequency and time during acceleration/deceleration.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description	
			0	Linear acceleration/ deceleration	
			1	S-pattern acceleration/deceleration A	
20	Acceleration/deceleration pattern selection	0	2	S-pattern acceleration/deceleration B	
25		0	3	Backlash measures	
			4	S-pattern acceleration/deceleration C	
			5	S-pattern acceleration/deceleration D	
140	Backlash acceleration stopping frequency	1Hz	0 to 400Hz		
141	Backlash acceleration stopping time	0.5s	0 to 360s	Set the stopping frequency and time for	
142	Backlash deceleration stopping frequency	1Hz	0 to 400Hz	Valid when $Pr. 29 = 3$	
143	Backlash deceleration stopping time	0.5s	0 to 360s		
380	Acceleration S-pattern 1	0	0 to 50%	Valid when S-pattern acceleration/ deceleration C ( <i>Pr: 29</i> = 4) is set.	
381	Deceleration S-pattern 1	0	0 to 50%	Set the time taken for S-pattern from starting of acceleration/deceleration to linear acceleration as % to the	
382	Acceleration S-pattern 2	0	0 to 50%	acceleration/deceleration time ( <i>Pr. 7, Pr. 8</i> etc.).	
383	Deceleration S-pattern 2	0	0 to 50%	An acceleration/deceleration pattern can be changed with the X20 signal.	
516	S-pattern time at a start of acceleration	0.1s	0.1 to 2.5s		
517	S-pattern time at a completion of acceleration	0.1s	0.1 to 2.5s	valid when S-pattern acceleration/ deceleration D ( $Pr. 29 = 5$ ) is set.	
518	S-pattern time at a start of deceleration	0.1s	0.1 to 2.5s	acceleration/deceleration (S-pattern	
519	S-pattern time at a completion of deceleration	0.1s	0.1 to 2.5s	operation).	





= CAUTION

## (1) Linear acceleration/ deceleration (*Pr. 29* = "0", initial value)

When the frequency is changed for acceleration, deceleration, etc. in inverter operation, the output frequency is changed linearly (linear acceleration/ deceleration) to reach the set frequency without straining the motor and inverter. Linear acceleration/deceleration has a uniform frequency/time slope.

## (2) S-pattern acceleration/deceleration A (Pr. 29 = "1")

For machine tool spindle applications, etc.

Used when acceleration/deceleration must be made in a short time to a highspeed range of not lower than the base frequency. In this acceleration/ deceleration pattern, *Pr. 3 Base frequency* (fb) is the inflection point of the S pattern and you can set the acceleration/deceleration time appropriate for motor torque reduction in a constant-power operation region of base frequency (fb) or higher.

As the acceleration/deceleration time of S-pattern acceleration/deceleration A, set the time taken until *Pr. 3 Base frequency* is reached, not *Pr. 20 Acceleration/deceleration reference frequency*.



### (3) S-pattern acceleration/deceleration B (Pr. 29 = "2")

• For prevention of load shifting in conveyor and other applications Since acceleration/deceleration is always made in an S shape from current frequency (f2) to target frequency (f1), this function eases shock produced at acceleration/deceleration and is effective for load collapse prevention, etc.

## (4) Backlash measures (*Pr. 29* = "3", *Pr. 140 to Pr. 143*)

#### · What is backlash?

Reduction gears have an engagement gap and have a dead zone between forward rotation and reverse rotation. This dead zone is called backlash, and this gap disables a mechanical system from following motor rotation.

More specifically, a motor shaft develops excessive torque when the direction of rotation changes or when constant-speed operation shifts to deceleration, resulting in a sudden motor current increase or regenerative status.

To avoid backlash, acceleration/deceleration is temporarily stopped.

Set the acceleration/deceleration stopping frequency and time in *Pr. 140 to Pr. 143*.

Setting the backlash measures increases the acceleration/deceleration time by the stopping time.



Parameter setting (%) Ts / T  $\times$  100%

S-pattern acceleration

Ts

Т

# (5) S-pattern acceleration/deceleration C (*Pr. 29* = "4", *Pr. 380 to Pr. 383*)

- With the S-pattern acceleration/deceleration C switch signal (X20), an acceleration/deceleration curve S-pattern 1 or S-pattern 2 can be selected.
- For the terminal used for X20 signal input, set "20" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* to assign the function.

Operation X20 signal	During Acceleration	During Deceleration
OFF	Pr. 380 Acceleration S- pattern 1	Pr. 381 Deceleration S-pattern 1
ON	Pr. 382 Acceleration S- pattern 2	Pr. 383 Deceleration S-pattern 2

• Set % of time taken for forming an S-pattern in *Pr. 380 to Pr. 383* as acceleration time is 100%.

## REMARKS

- At a start, the motor starts at *Pr. 13 Starting frequency* when the start signal turns on.
- If there is a difference between the speed command and speed at a start of deceleration due to torque limit operation etc., the speed command is matched with the speed to make deceleration.

#### = CAUTION =

· Change the S pattern acceleration/deceleration C switch (X20 signal) after the speed becomes constant.

Linear

Ts

acceleration

- S pattern operation before switching continues even if the X20 signal is changed during acceleration or deceleration.
- The X20 signal can be assigned to the input terminal using any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)*. Changing the terminal assignment may affect the other functions. Make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

PARAMETERS



## (6) S-pattern acceleration/deceleration D (*Pr. 29* = "5", *Pr. 516 to Pr. 519*)

• Set the time taken for S-pattern operation of S-pattern acceleration/deceleration using *Pr. 516 to Pr. 519*.

Set each S-pattern operation time for acceleration start (*Pr. 516*), acceleration completion (*Pr. 517*), deceleration start (*Pr. 518*) and deceleration completion (*Pr. 519*).

 When S-pattern acceleration/deceleration D is set, acceleration/deceleration time will become longer as follows:

Actual acceleration time T2 = set acceleration time T1 + (S-pattern time at a start of acceleration+S-pattern time at a completion of acceleration) /2 Actual deceleration time T2 = set deceleration time T1 + (S-pattern time at a start of deceleration+S-pattern time at a completion of deceleration) /2

Set acceleration/deceleration time T1 indicates the actual time taken for linear acceleration/deceleration calculated based on the *Pr: 7, Pr: 8, Pr: 44, Pr: 45, Pr: 110* and *Pr: 111* setting.



 Even if the start signal is turned off during acceleration, the inverter will not decelerate immediately to avoid sudden frequency change. (Likewise, the inverter will not immediately accelerate when deceleration is changed to reacceleration by turning the start signal on during deceleration, etc.)

For example, the actual acceleration time when starting the inverter with an S-pattern acceleration/deceleration pattern D selected for a stop to 60Hz in the parameter initial setting is as shown left:

Set acceleration time T1 = (Set frequency - Pr: 13) × Pr: 7/Pr: 20 Actual acceleration time T2 = set acceleration time T1 + (Pr: 516 + Pr: 517)/2

Therefore,

Set acceleration time T1 =  $(60Hz - 0.5Hz) \times 5s/60Hz$   $\Rightarrow 4.96s$  (actual acceleration time at linear acceleration) Actual acceleration time T2 = 4.96s + (0.1s + 0.1s)/2= 5.06s (acceleration time at S-pattern acceleration)

The actual deceleration time when stopping the inverter with an S-pattarn acceleration/deceleration D selected from running frequency to 0 Hz in the parameter initial setting is as shown left:

Set deceleration time T1 = (Set frequency -  $Pr: 10^*$ ) × Pr: 8/Pr: 20Actual deceleration time T2 = Set deceleration time T1 + (Pr: 518+ Pr: 519)/2

\* *Pr.10* .... DC injection brake operation frequency

#### Therefore,

Set deceleration time T1 = $(60Hz - 3Hz) \times 5s/60Hz$
$\doteq$ 4.75s (actual deceleration time
at linear deceleration)
Actual deceleration time T2 = $4.75s + (0.1s + 0.1s)/2$
= 4.85s (deceleration time at
S-pattern deceleration)





#### = CAUTION :

- When the acceleration/deceleration time (Pr. 7, Pr. 8, etc.) setting under real sensorless vector control or vector control is 0s, the S-pattern acceleration/deceleration A to D (Pr. 29 = "1, 2, 4, 5") is linear acceleration/deceleration.
- Set linear acceleration/deceleration (Pr. 29 = "0 (initial value)") when torque control is exercised under real sensorless vector control or vector control. When acceleration/deceleration patterns other than the linear acceleration/deceleration are selected, the protective function of the inverter may function.

#### Parameters referred to +

- Pr. 3 Base frequency TF Refer to page 142 Pr. 7 Acceleration time, Pr. 8 Deceleration time, Pr. 20 Acceleration/deceleration reference frequency TF Refer to page 155 Pr. 10 DC injection brake operation frequency TF Refer to page 185 Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (Input terminal function selection) TF Refer to page 206

# 4.12.4 Shortest acceleration/deceleration and optimum acceleration/deceleration (automatic acceleration/deceleration) (Pr. 61 to Pr. 63, Pr. 292, Pr. 293)

The inverter operates in the same conditions as when appropriate values are set in each parameter even if acceleration/deceleration time and V/F pattern are not set. This function is useful when you just want to operate, etc. without fine parameter setting.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
61	Reference current	9999	0 to 500A	Set the reference current during shortest/ optimum acceleration/deceleration.
			9999	Rated inverter output current value is reference
62	Reference value	9999	0 to 220%	Set the limit value/optimum value during shortest/optimum acceleration.
02	at acceleration	9999	9999	Shortest acceleration/deceleration: 150% is a limit value Optimum acceleration/deceleration: 100% is an optimum value
63 Reference valuation	Reference value	9999	0 to 220%	Set the limit value/optimum value during shortest/optimum deceleration.
	at deceleration	0000	9999	Shortest acceleration/deceleration: 150% is a limit value Optimum acceleration/deceleration: 100% is an optimum value
	Automatic acceleration/ deceleration		0	Normal mode
		0	3	Optimum acceleration/deceleration mode
292			5, 6	Elevator mode1, 2 (refer to page 146)
			7, 8	Brake sequence mode 1, 2 (Refer to page 192.)
			11	Shortest acceleration/deceleration mode
			0	Both acceleration and deceleration are made in the shortest/
	Acceleration/		Ŭ	optimum acceleration/deceleration mode
293	deceleration	0	1	Only acceleration is made in the shortest/optimum
	separate	0		acceleration/deceleration mode
	5010011		2	Only deceleration is made in the shortest/optimum acceleration/deceleration mode

## (1) Shortest acceleration/deceleration mode (*Pr. 292* = "1, 11", *Pr. 293*)

- Set when you want to accelerate/decelerate the motor for the shortest time. It is desired to make acceleration/ deceleration in a shorter time for a machine tool etc. but the design values of machine constants are unknown.
- Acceleration/deceleration speed is automatically adjusted at a start of acceleration/deceleration so that acceleration/deceleration is made with the maximum torque the inverter can output according to the setting value of *Pr. 7 Acceleration time* and *Pr. 8 Deceleration time*. (The setting values of *Pr. 7* and *Pr. 8* are not changed)
- Either acceleration or deceleration can be made in the shortest time using *Pr. 293 Acceleration/deceleration separate selection*.
- When the setting value is "0" (initial value), both acceleration and deceleration can be made in the shortest time.
- When the shortest acceleration/deceleration mode is selected under V/F control and advanced magnetic flux vector control, the stall prevention operation level during acceleration/deceleration becomes 150% (adjustable using *Pr. 61* to *Pr. 63*). The setting of *Pr. 22 Stall prevention operation level* and stall level by analog input are used only during a constant speed operation.

Adjustment using *Pr. 61* to *Pr. 63* can not be made under real sensorless vector control or vector control since torque limit level (*Pr. 22* etc.) is used during acceleration/deceleration.

- · It is inappropriate to use for the following applications.
  - a)Machine with a large inertia such as a fan (more than 10 times). Since stall prevention operation will be activated for a long time, this type of machine may be brought to an alarm stop due to motor overloading, etc. .
  - b)It is desired to always perform operation with a constant acceleration/deceleration time.
  - c)It is desired to perform operation making sure the inverter and motor have enough capability.

#### REMARKS

- Even if automatic acceleration/deceleration mode has been selected, inputting the jog signal (jog operation), RT signal (second function selection) or X9 signal (third function selection) during an inverter stop will switch to the normal operation and give priority to jog operation, second function selection or third function selection. Note that JOG and RT signal input is invalid even if JOG signal and RT signal are input during operation in automatic acceleration/deceleration mode.
- Since acceleration/deceleration is made with the stall prevention operation being activated, the acceleration/deceleration speed always varies according to the load conditions.
- Note that when proper values are set in *Pr*: 7 and *Pr*: 8, acceleration/deceleration time may be shorter than selecting shortest acceleration/deceleration mode.

## (2) Optimum acceleration/deceleration mode (Pr. 292 = "3", Pr. 293)

• The optimum operation within the rating range where the inverter can be continuously used regardless of the inverter capability is performed.

Automatically set torque boost and acceleration/deceleration time so that the average current during acceleration/ deceleration is the rated current by the self-learning of the inverter.

It is appropriate for applications such as automatic transfer machine, etc. which is small in load change and is operated in a predetermined pattern.

• At the initial time when the optimum acceleration/deceleration mode has been selected, operation is performed at the values set in *Pr. 0 Torque boost, Pr. 7 Acceleration time* and *Pr. 8 Deceleration time*. After operation, the average current and peak current are calculated from the motor current during acceleration/deceleration. These values are compared with the reference current (initial value is rated inverter current) and calculated, then more appropriate values are set in *Pr. 0, Pr. 7* and *Pr. 8*.

After that, operation is performed under the conditions of *Pr*: 0, *Pr*: 7 and *Pr*: 8 set, and more appropriate values are calculated.

Note that the *Pr*: 0 value will not change under advanced magnetic flux vector control, real sensorless vector control or vector control.

- · When overvoltage fault (E.OV3) occurs at deceleration, the *Pr*: 8 setting value becomes 1.4 times larger.
- · Storage of parameters

The optimum values of *Pr*: 0, *Pr*: 7 and *Pr*: 8 are written to both the parameter RAM and EEPROM only three times of acceleration/ deceleration after the optimum acceleration/deceleration mode has been selected or after the power is switched on or the inverter is reset. At of after the fourth attempt, they are not stored into EEPROM. Hence, after power-on or inverter reset, the values changed at the third time are valid. Note that the values changed at the fourth or later time are calculated to optimum and the values of *Pr*: 0, *Pr*: 7 and *Pr*: 8 are set to RAM, the values can be stored into EEPROM by reading and writting the values with the operation panel and paramter unit.

Number of	Pr. 0, Pr.		
Optimum Value Changes	EEPROM value	RAM value	Optimum Conditions
1 to 3 times	Updated	Updated	Updated
4 or more times	Unchanged from third value	Updated	Updated

• Either acceleration or deceleration can be made in the optimum acceleration/deceleration mode using *Pr. 293 Acceleration/deceleration separate selection.* 

When the setting value is "0" (initial value), both acceleration and deceleration are made in the optimum acceleration/deceleration mode.

It is inappropriate for machines which change in load and operation conditions.
 Since the stored optimum values are used for the next operation, faults, e.g. acceleration/deceleration is not made if conditons change, alarm stop is made due to overcurrent protective function, may occur.

#### REMARKS

- If shortest acceleration/deceleration mode has been selected, inputting the jog signal (jog operation), RT signal (second function selection) or X9 signal (third function selection) during an inverter stop will switch to the normal operation and give priority to jog operation, second function selection or third function selection. Note that JOG and RT signal input is invalid even if JOG signal and RT signal are input during operation in shortest/optimum acceleration/deceleration mode.
- Because of the learning system, this mode is not valid at the first operation after the optimum acceleration/deceleration mode is set.
- The optimum value are operated on only when acceleration is made from a stop to 30Hz or more or when deceleration is made from 30Hz or more to stop.
- When the motor is not connected or output current is less than 5% of the rated inverter current, optimum acceleration/ deceleration mode will not function.
- Even when the optimum acceleration/deceleration mode is selected and Pr. 293 = "1" (acceleration only for the optimum acceleration/deceleration mode), overvoltage fault (E.OV3) occurrence at deceleration makes the Pr. 8 setting value be set again longer.

## (3) Adjustment of shortest and optimum acceleration/deceleration mode (Pr. 61 to Pr. 63)

· By setting the adjustment parameters Pr. 61 to Pr. 63, the application range can be made wider.

Parameter Number	Name	Setting Range	Description	
61	61 Reference current		For example, when the motor and inverter are different in capacity, set the rated motor current value. Shortest acceleration/deceleration: Set reference current (A) of the stall prevention operation level during acceleration/deceleration Optimum acceleration/deceleration: Set reference current (A) of the optimum current during acceleration/deceleration	
		9999 (initial value)	The rated inverter current is defined as reference.	
			Set when it is desired to change the reference level of acceleration and deceleration.	
62	Reference value at acceleration Reference value at deceleration	0 to 220%	Shortest acceleration/deceleration: Set the stall prevention operation level (ratio to the current value of $Pr: 61$ ) during acceleration/deceleration. Optimum acceleration/deceleration: Set the optimum current level (ratio to the current value of $Pr: 61$ ) during acceleration/deceleration.	
00		9999 (initial value)	Shortest acceleration/deceleration: The 150% value during shortest acceleration/deceleration is judged as the stall prevention operation level. Optimum acceleration/deceleration: 100% is the optimum value	

### REMARKS

· *Pr. 61 to Pr. 63* are invalid when real sensorless vector control or vector control is selected in the shortest acceleration/ deceleration mode.

• Since the *Pr. 61 to Pr. 63* settings automatically return to the initial value (9999) if the *Pr. 292* setting is changed, set *Pr. 292* first when you need to set *Pr. 61 to Pr. 63*.

#### A Parameters referred to +

Pr. 0 Torque boost I Refer to page 129

Pr. 7 Acceleration time, Pr. 8 Deceleration time IF Refer to page 155

Pr. 22 Stall prevention operation level I Refer to page 135

Pr. 22 Torque limit level Tr Refer to page 83

## 4.13 Selection and protection of a motor

Purpose	Parameter that must be Set		Refer to Page
Motor protection from overheat	Electronic thermal O/L relay	Pr. 9, Pr. 51	165
Use the constant torque motor	Applied motor	Pr. 71	169
The motor performance can be maximized for operation in magnetic flux vector control method	Offline auto tuning	Pr. 82 to Pr. 84, Pr. 90 to Pr. 94, Pr. 96	171
High accuracy operation unaffected by the motor temperature and stable operation with high torque down to ultra low speed are performed	Online auto tuning	Pr. 95, Pr. 574	181

## 4.13.1 Motor protection from overheat (Electronic thermal relay function) (Pr. 9, Pr. 51)

Set the current of the electronic thermal O/L relay to protect the motor from overheat. This feature provides the optimum protective characteristics, including reduced motor cooling capability, at low speed.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description	
9	9 Electronic thermal Rated inverter 0 to 500A		0 to 500A	Set the rated motor current.	
51	Second electronic thermal O/L relay.		0 to 500A	Made valid when the RT signal is on. Set the rated motor current.	
	inerniai O/L feldy *	-	9999	Second electronic thermal O/L relay invalid	

\* When parameter is read using the FR-PU04, a parameter name different from an actual parameter is displayed.

## (1) Electronic thermal relay function operation characteristic (THM)

[Electronic thermal relay function operation characteristic (E.THM)] This function detects the overload (overheat) of the



This function detects the overload (overheat) of the motor, stops the operation of the inverter's output transistor, and trips. (The operation characteristic is shown on the left)

• Set the rated current [A] of the motor in *Pr. 9.* (If the motor has both 50Hz and 60Hz rating and the *Pr. 3 Base frequency* is set to 60Hz, set the 1.1 times of the 60Hz rated motor current.)

Set "0" in *Pr. 9* when you do not want to activate the electronic thermal relay function, e.g. when using an external thermal relay with the motor. (Note that the output transistor protection of the inverter functions (E.THT).)

- When using the Mitsubishi constant-torque motor
- 1) Set "1" or any of "13" to "18", "50", "53", "54" in *Pr*: 71. (This provides a 100% continuous torque characteristic in the low-speed range.)
- 2) Set the rated current of the motor in Pr. 9.
- \*1 When a value 50% of the rated inverter current (current value) is set in *Pr*: 9
- \*2 The % value denotes the percentage to the rated inverter current. It is not the percentage to the rated motor current.
- \*3 When you set the electronic thermal relay function dedicated to the Mitsubishi constant-torque motor, this characteristic curve applies to operation at 6Hz or higher.

#### 

- Fault by electronic thermal relay function is reset by inverter power reset and reset signal input. Avoid unnecessary reset and power-off.
- When multiple motors are operated by a single inverter, protection cannot be provided by the electronic thermal relay function. Install an external thermal relay to each motor.
- When the difference between the inverter and motor capacities is large and the setting is small, the protective characteristics of the electronic thermal relay function will be deteriorated. In this case, use an external thermal relay.
- A special motor cannot be protected by the electronic thermal relay function. Use the external thermal relay.
- Since a thermal relay protector is built in a motor dedicated for vector control (SF-V5RU), set "0" in *Pr. 9* to use the motor.
   Electronic thermal relay does not function when 5% or less of inverter rated current is not to electronic thermal relay cotting.
- Electronic thermal relay does not function when 5% or less of inverter rated current is set to electronic thermal relay setting.

## (2) Electronic thermal relay function operation characteristic (THT)

Electronic thermal relay function (transistor protection thermal) operation characteristics of the inverter when the ratio of the motor current to the inverter rated current is presented as transverse is shown. Transverse is calculated as follows: (motor current [A]/inverter rated current [A])  $\times$  100 [%].



#### — CAUTION =

• Fault by electronic thermal relay function is reset by inverter power reset and reset signal input. Avoid unnecessary reset and power-off.

• The operation time of the transistor protection thermal relay shortens when the *Pr. 72 PWM frequency selection* setting increases.



## (3) Set multiple electronic thermal relay functions (Pr. 51)

Use this function when rotating two motors of different rated currents individually by a single inverter. (When rotating two motors together, use external thermal relays.)

- · Set the rated current of the second motor in Pr. 51.
- When the RT signal is on, thermal protection is provided based on the Pr. 51 setting.

Pr. 450	Pr. 9	Pr. 51	<i>Pr. 51</i> <b>RT = OFF</b>		RT = ON	
Second applied motor	Electronic thermal O/L relay	Second electronic thermal O/L relay	First motor	Second motor	First motor	Second motor
		9999	×	×	×	×
9999	0	0	×	×	×	×
		0.01 to 500 (0.1 to 3600)	×	*	×	0
9999	Other than	9999	0	×	0	×
		0	0	×	*	×
	0	0.01 to 500 (0.1 to 3600)	0	*	*	0
		9999	×	×	×	×
	0	0	×	×	×	×
3333		0.01 to 500 (0.1 to 3600)	×	*	×	0
		9999	0	*	*	0
		0	0	×	*	×
0000	U U	0.01 to 500 (0.1 to 3600)	0	*	*	0



O .... Output current value is used to perform integration processing.

.... Output current is assumed as 0A to perform integration processing. (cooling processing)

× ..... Electronic thermal relay function is not activated.

#### REMARKS

- The RT signal acts as the second function selection signal and makes the other second functions valid. (Refer to page 210)
- The RT signal is assigned to the RT terminal in the initial setting. By setting "3" in any of Pr. 178

to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection), you can assign the RT signal to the other terminal.

## (4) Electronic thermal relay function prealarm (TH) and alarm signal (THP signal)

Electronic thermal relay function operation level			2 100 85	1% 5%
Electronic thermal O/ relay alarm (THP)	L OFF	//ON//	/ <u>Ó</u> Ŋ/	-Time

100%: Electronic thermal relay function alarm operation value · The alarm signal (THP) is output and an electronic thermal pre alarm (TH) is displayed when the electronic thermal relay function cumulative value reaches 85% of the level set in Pr. 9 or Pr. 51. If it reaches 100% of the Pr. 9 Electronic thermal O/L relay setting, electronic thermal relay function protection (E. THM/E.THT) occurs.

- The inverter does not trip even when the alarm signal (THP) is output.
- For the terminal used for the THP signal output, assign the function by setting "8" (positive logic) or "108" (negative logic) in any of Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection).

#### CAUTION :

Inverter

U

V

W

OH

SD

External thermal relay input connection example

Changing the terminal assignment using Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection) may affect the other functions. Make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

## (5) External thermal relay input (OH signal)

Thermal relay protector

Motor

(IM)

To protect the motor against overheat, use the OH signal when using an external thermal relay or the built-in thermal protector of the motor.

- When the thermal relay operates, the inverter trips and outputs the fault signal (E.OHT).
- For the terminal used for OH signal input, assign the function by setting "7" in any of Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)





## (6) PTC thermistor input (PTC signal)



PTC thermistor input connection example



Built-in PTC thermistor of the motor can be input to the PTC signal (AU terminal).

- For the terminal used for PTC signal input, assign the function by setting "63" in *Pr. 184 AU terminal function selection* and also set the AU/PTC switchover switch to the PTC terminal function. (The initial setting is the AU terminal function.)
- If a motor overheat state is detected for more than 10s according to the input from the PTC thermistor, the inverter trips and outputs the PTC thermal fault signal (E.PTC).

The input specifications of the PTC thermistor	Motor Temperature	PTC Thermistor Resistance Value ( $\Omega$ )
are shown on the right.	Normal	0 to 500
	Boundary	500 to 4k
	Overheat	4k or higher

#### — CAUTION :

- When the PTC signal was not assigned to *Pr: 184* and the AU/PTC switchover switch was set to the PTC terminal function, the function assigned to the AU terminal is always off. Reversely, when the PTC signal was assigned to *Pr: 184* and the AU/PTC switchover switch was set to the AU terminal function, a PTC thermal fault (E.PTC) occurs since the function is always in a motor overheat state.
- · When you want to input a current, assign the AU signal to the other signal.
- When terminal assignment is changed, the other functions may be affected. Please make setting after confirming the function of the AU terminal.

#### Parameters referred to +

- Pr. 71 Applied motor 🕮 Refer to page 169
- Pr. 72 PWM frequency selection I Refer to page 257

Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) I Refer to page 206

Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection) IPR Refer to page 214

Specifications of the AU terminal I Refer to page 22

## 4.13.2 Applied motor (Pr. 71, Pr. 450)

Setting of the used motor selects the thermal characteristic appropriate for the motor.

Setting is necessary when using a constant-torque motor. Thermal characteristic of the electronic thermal relay function suitable for the motor is set.

When advanced magnetic flux vector, real sensorless vector control or vector control is selected, the motor constants (SF-JR, SF-HR, SF-JRCA, SF-HRCA, SF-V5RU (1500r/min series)) necessary for control are selected as well.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
71	Applied motor	0	0 to 8, 13 to 18, 30, 33, 34, 40, 43, 44, 50, 53, 54	Selecting the standard motor or constant- torque motor sets the corresponding motor thermal characteristic.
450	Second applied motor	9999	0 to 8, 13 to 18, 30, 33, 34, 40, 43, 44, 50, 53, 54	Set when using the second motor. (same specifications as <i>Pr.</i> 71)
			9999	Not function

#### (1) Set the motor to be used

Refer to the following list and set this parameter according to the motor used.

Pr. 71 (Pr. 450) Setting		Thermal Characteristic of the Electronic Thermal Relay			Mot	tor (O : used moto	or)
Pr. 71	Pr. 450	Funct	tion	nermai Kelay	Standard (SF-JR etc.)	Constant torque (SF-JRCA etc.)	Vector (SF-V5RU)
0 ( <i>Pr</i> : 71 init	) ial value)	Thermal characteristics of a stan	dard motor		0		
1		Thermal characteristics of the Mitsubishi constant-torque motor				0	
2	2	Thermal characteristics of a stan Adjustable 5 points V/F (Refer to p	dard motor page 147)		0		
30	0	Vector control dedicated motor	SF-V5RU (15	500r/min series)			0
40	0	Thermal characteristic of Mitsubi	shi high efficie	ncy motor SF-	O*1		
50	0	Thermal characteristic of Mitsubish HRCA	i constant-torqu	e motor SF-		O *2	
3	3	Standard motor			0		
1;	3	Constant-torque motor Vector control dedicated motor SF-V5RU (except for 1500 r/min series).				0	O *3
3:	3	Vector control dedicated motor SF-V5RU (1500r/min series), SF-THY	Select "offli se	Select "offline auto tuning setting"			0
43	3	Mitsubishi High efficiency motor (SF-HR)	-		O *1		
53	3	Mitsubishi constant-torque motor (SF-HRCA)				O *2	
4	ŀ	Standard motor			0		
14	4	Constant-torque motor Vector control dedicated motor SF-V5RU (except for 1500 r/min series).				0	○ *3
34	4	Vector control dedicated motor SF-V5RU (1500r/min series), SF-THY	Auto tuning d change	ata can be read, ed, and set			0
44	4	Mitsubishi High efficiency motor (SF-HR)			O*1		
54	4	Mitsubishi constant-torque motor (SF-HRCA)				O *2	
5	5	Standard motor	Star	Direct input of	0		
1	5	Constant-torque motor	connection	motor		0	
6	6	Standard motor	Delta	constants is	0	<u> </u>	
10	6	Constant-torque motor	connection	Matan		0	
/		Standard motor	Star	Motor	0		
17		Constant-torque motor	connection	direct input		0	ļ
8			Delta	+	0		
18	8	Constant-torque motor	connection offline auto tuning			0	
_	9999 (initial value)	Without second applied motor					

Motor constants of Mitsubishi high efficiency motor SF-HR. Motor constants of Mitsubishi constant-torque motor SF-HRCA.

\*2 \*3

Select this setting for vector control dedicated motor (SF-V5RU (except for 1500 r/min series).
#### REMARKS

- When performing offline auto tuning, set "3, 7, 8, 13, 17, 18, 33, 43, 53" in Pr. 71.
- (Refer to page 171 for offline auto tuning)

For the 5.5K and 7.5K, the *Pr. 0 Torque boost* and *Pr. 12 DC injection brake operation voltage* settings are automatically changed according to the *Pr. 71* setting as follows.

Pr. 71	Standard Motor Setting 0, 2, 3 to 8, 40, 43, 44	Constant Torque Motor Setting 1, 13 to 18, 50, 53, 54
Pr: 0	3%	2%
Pr. 12	4%	2%

# (2) Use two types motors (Pr. 450)

- · Set Pr. 450 Second applied motor to use two types motors with one inverter.
- $\cdot\,$  When "9999" (initial value) is set, no function is selected.
- · When Pr:  $450 \neq$  9999, turning the RT signal on makes the following parameter valid.

Function	RT Signal ON (second motor)	RT Signal OFF (first motor)
Applied motor	Pr. 450	Pr. 71
Control method selection	Pr. 451	Pr. 800
Motor capacity	Pr. 453	Pr. 80
Number of motor poles	Pr. 454	Pr. 81
Motor excitation current	Pr. 455	Pr. 82
Rated motor voltage	Pr. 456	Pr. 83
Rated motor frequency	Pr. 457	Pr. 84
Motor constant (R1)	Pr. 458	Pr. 90

Function	RT Signal ON (second motor)	RT Signal OFF (first motor)
Motor constant (R2)	Pr. 459	Pr. 91
Motor constant (L1)	Pr. 460	Pr. 92
Motor constant (L2)	Pr. 461	Pr. 93
Motor constant (X)	Pr. 462	Pr. 94
Auto tuning setting/status	Pr. 463	Pr. 96
Online auto tuning selection	Pr. 574	Pr. 95
Torque current	Pr. 860	Pr. 859

# REMARKS

- The RT signal acts as the second function selection signal and makes the other second functions valid. (*Refer to page 210*)
- The RT signal is assigned to the terminal RT in the initial setting. By setting "3" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)*, you can assign the RT signal to the other terminal.

#### 

• Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

# 

Set this parameter correctly according to the motor used. Incorrect setting may cause the motor to overheat and burn.

#### + Parameters referred to +

Pr. 0 Torque boost 🐨 Refer to page 129

Pr. 12 DC injection brake operation voltage IP Refer to page 185

Pr. 80 Motor capacity, Pr. 81 Number of motor poles, Pr. 453 Second motor capacity, Pr. 454 Number of second motor poles TF Refer to page 131

Pr. 82 to Pr. 84, Pr. 90 to Pr. 94, Pr. 96, Pr. 455 to Pr. 463, Pr. 859, Pr. 860 (Motor constant)

Pr. 95 Online auto tuning selection, Pr. 574 Second motor online auto tuning Ter Refer to page 181

Pr. 451 Second motor control method selection, Pr. 800 Control method selection I Refer to page 75 Pr. 100 to Pr. 109 (Adjustable 5 points V/F) Refer to page 147

# 4.13.3 Offline auto tuning (Pr. 71, Pr. 80 to Pr. 84, Pr. 90 to Pr. 94, Pr. 96, Pr. 450, Pr. 453 to Pr. 463, Pr. 684, Pr. 859, Pr. 860) Magnetic flux Sensorless Vector

The motor performance can be maximized with offline auto tuning.

• What is offline auto tuning?

When performing advanced magnetic flux vector control, real sensorless vector control or vector control, the motor can be run with the optimum operating characteristics by automaticaly measuring the motor constants (offline auto tuning) even when each motor constants differs, other manufacturer's motor is used, or the wiring length is long.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description	
71	Applied motor	0	0 to 8, 13 to 18, 30, 33, 34, 40, 43, 44, 50, 53, 54	By selecting a standard motor or constant torque motor, thermal characteristic and motor constants of each motor are set.	
80	Motor capacity	9999	0.4 to 55kW	Set the applied motor capacity.	
			9999	V/F control	
			2, 4, 6, 8, 10	Set the number of motor poles.	
81	Number of motor poles	9999	12, 14, 16, 18, 20	X18 signal-ON:V/F control Set 10 + number of motor poles.	
			9999	V/F control	
82	Motor excitation current	9999	0 to 500A	Tuning data (The value measured by offline auto tuning is automatically set.)	
		0000	9999	Use the Mitsubishi motor (SF-JR, SF-HR, SF- JRCA, SF-HRCA, SF-V5RU (1500r/min series)) constants	
83	Rated motor voltage	200/400V *	0 to 1000V	Set the rated motor voltage(V). * The initial value differs according to the voltage level. (200V/400V)	
84	Rated motor frequency	60Hz	10 to 120Hz	Set the rated motor frequency (Hz).	
90	Motor constant (R1)	9999	0 to 50Ω, 9999		
91	Motor constant (R1)	9999	0 to 50Ω, 9999		
92	Motor constant (L1)	9999	0 to 50Ω, (0 to 1000mH), 9999	Tuning data (The value measured by offline auto tuning is automatically set.)	
93	93 Motor constant (L2)		0 to 50Ω (0 to 1000mH), 9999	9999: Use the Mitsubishi motor (SF-JR, SF-HR, SF-JRCA, SF-HRCA, SF-V5RU (1500r/min serie constants	
94	Motor constant (X)	9999	0 to 500Ω (0 to 100%), 9999		
			0	Offline auto tuning is not performed	
96	Auto tuning setting/ status	0	1	Offline auto tuning is performed without motor running	
			101	Offline auto tuning is performed with motor running	
450	Second applied motor	9999	0 to 8, 13 to 18, 30, 33, 34, 40, 43, 44, 50, 53, 54	Set when using the second motor. (same specifications as <i>Pr.</i> 71)	
			9999	Not function	
453	Second motor capacity	9999	0.4 to 55kW	Set the capacity of the second motor.	
			9999	V/F control	
454	Number of second motor	9999	2, 4, 6, 8, 10	Set the number of poles of the second motor.	
	poles		9999	V/F control	
455	Second motor excitation		0 to 500A	(The value measured by offline auto tuning is automatically set.)	
455	current	9999	9999	Use the Mitsubishi motor (SF-JR, SF-HR, SF- JRCA, SF-HRCA, SF-V5RU (1500r/min series)) constants	
456	Rated second motor voltage	200/400V *	0 to 1000V	Set the rated voltage (V) of the second motor. * The initial value differs according to the voltage level. (200V/400V)	
457	Rated second motor frequency	60Hz	10 to 120Hz	Set the rated motor frequency (Hz) of the second motor.	

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description		
458	Second motor constant (R1)	9999	0 to 50Ω, 9999			
459	Second motor constant (R2)	9999	0 to 50Ω, 9999	Tuning data of the second motor		
460	460 Second motor constant (L1)		0 to 50Ω (0 to 1000mH), 9999	(The value measured by offline auto tuning is automatically set.) 9999: Use the Mitsubishi motor (SF-JR, SF-HR,		
461 Second motor constar (L2)		9999	0 to 50Ω (0 to 1000mH), 9999	CONSTRUCTION SECTION SECTION (15001/min series))		
462	Second motor constant (X)	9999	0 to 500Ω (0 to 100%), 9999			
	Second motor auto		0	Second motor auto tuning is not performed		
463		0	1	Offline auto tuning is performed without second motor running		
	tuning setting/status		101	Offline auto tuning is performed with second motor running		
684	Tuning data unit	0	0	Internal data converted value		
004	switchover	0	1	Displayed in "A, Ω, mH, %"		
859		0000	0 to 500A	Tuning data (The value measured by offline auto tuning is automatically set.)		
000		3333	9999	Use the Mitsubishi motor (SF-JR, SF-HR, SF- JRCA, SF-HRCA, SF-V5RU (1500r/min series)) constants		
860	Second motor torque	0000	0 to 500A	Tuning data of the second motor (The value measured by offline auto tuning is automatically set.)		
	current	5555	9999	Use the Mitsubishi motor (SF-JR, SF-HR, SF- JRCA, SF-HRCA, SF-V5RU (1500r/min series)) constants		

POINT

• This function is made valid only when a value other than "9999" is set in *Pr.* 80 and *Pr.* 81 and advanced magnetic flux vector control, real sensorless vector control or vector control is selected.

· You can copy the offline auto tuning data (motor constants) to another inverter with the PU (FR-DU07/FR-PU07).

• Even when motors (other manufacturer's motor, SF-JRC, etc.) other than Mitsubishi standard motor, high efficiency motor (SF-JR SF-HR 3.7kW or more), Mitsubishi constant-torque motor (SF-JRCA four-pole, SF-HRCA 3.7kW or more) and vector control dedicated motor (SF-V5RU (1500r/min series)) are used or the wiring length is long, using the offline auto tuning function runs the motor with the optimum operating characteristics.

• Tuning is enabled even when a load is connected to the motor. (As the load is lighter, tuning accuracy is higher. Tuning accuracy does not change even if the inertia is large.)

• For the offline auto tuning, you can select either the motor non-rotation mode (Pr. 96 = "1") or rotation mode (Pr. 96 = "101").

 $\cdot \,$  The rotation mode has higher tuning accuracy than the non-rotation mode.

 $\cdot\,$  Reading/writing/copy of motor constants tuned by offline auto tuning are enabled.

The offline auto tuning status can be monitored with the PU (FR-DU07/FR-PU07/FR-PU04).

· Do not use an inverter with a surge voltage suppression filter (FR-ASF-H) connected between the inverter and motor.

# (1) Before performing offline auto tuning

Check the following before performing offline auto tuning.

- Make sure advanced magnetic flux vector control (*Pr. 80, Pr. 81*), real sensorless vector control or vector control (*Pr. 800*) is selected.
- $\cdot\,$  A motor should be connected. Note that the motor should be at a stop at a tuning start.
- The motor capacity should be equal to or one rank lower than the inverter capacity.
- · The maximum frequency is 120Hz.
- · Motors such as high-slip motor, high-speed motor and special motor cannot be tuned.
- Even if tuning is performed without motor running (*Pr. 96 Auto tuning setting/status* = "1"), the motor may run slightly. Therefore, fix the motor securely with a mechanical brake, or before tuning, make sure that there will be no problem in safety if the motor runs. (Caution is required especially in vertical lift applications). Note that if the motor runs slightly, tuning performance is unaffected.
- Note the following when selecting offline auto tuning performed with motor running (*Pr. 96 Auto tuning setting/status* = "101").

Torque is not enough during tuning.

The motor may be run at nearly its rated speed.

The brake is open.

No external force is applied to rotate the motor.

- Offline auto tuning will not be performed properly if it is performed with a surge voltage suppression filter (FR-ASF-H) connected between the inverter and motor. Remove it before starting tuning.
- When exercising vector control, use the encoder that is coupled directly to the motor shaft without looseness. Speed ratio should be 1:1.

# (2) Setting

- 1) Select the advanced magnetic flux vector control, real sensorless vector control or vector control (refer to page 75).
- 2) Set "1" or "101" in Pr. 96 Auto tuning setting/status .
  - $\cdot$  When the setting is "1" . . . . . . Tuning is performed without motor running.

It takes approximately 25 to 120s \* until tuning is completed.

(Excitation noise is produced during tuning.)

- \*Tuning time differs according to the inverter capacity and motor type.
- When the setting is "101" . . . . . Tuning is performed with motor running. It takes approximately 40s until tuning is completed.

The motor runs at nearly its rated frequency.

- 3) Set the rated motor current (initial value is rated inverter current) in *Pr. 9 Electronic thermal O/L relay (refer to page 165 )*.
- 4) Set the rated voltage of motor (initial value is 200V/400V) in *Pr. 83 Rated motor voltage* and rated frequency of motor (initial value is 60Hz) in *Pr. 84 Rated motor frequency*.

(For a Japanese standard motor, etc. which has both 50Hz and 60Hz rated values, set 200V/60Hz or 400V/60Hz).) For vector control dedicated motor SF-V5RU1 / V5RU3 / V5RU4, set as the following table.

	Pr. 83 Setting	Pr. 84 Setting
SF-V5RU1-30kW or less	160V	
SF-V5RU1-37kW	170V	33 334-
SF-V5RU3-22kW or less	160V	35.55112
SF-V5RU3-30kW	170V	
SF-V5RU4-3.7kW, 7.5kW	150V	16 6747
SF-V5RU4-other than the above	160V	10.07112

#### REMARKS

- When using the vector control dedicated motor SF-V5RU (1500r/min series) or SF-THY, setting 33 and 34 in *Pr.* 71 selects internal constants appropriate for dedicated motors. Therefore, *Pr.* 83 and *Pr.* 84 settings are unnecessary.
- Perform auto tuning for SF-V5RU (except for 1500 r/min series) with setting 13 or 14 in *Pr. 71* (For perform auto tuning, set *Pr. 83* and *Pr. 84*)

5) Set Pr. 71 Applied motor according to the motor used.

	Pr. 71 Setting *	
Mitaubiahi atandard matar	SF-JR	3
Mitsubishi biqb efficiency motor	SF-HR	43
Millaubiani nigri cinciciley motor	Others	3
	SF-JRCA 4P	13
Mitsubishi constant-torque motor	SF-HRCA	53
	Others (SF-JRC, etc.)	13
Vector control dediated motor	SF-V5RU (1500r/min series) SF-THY	33
	SF-V5RU (except for 1500r/min series)	13
Other manufacturer's standard motor	_	3
Other manufacturer's constant torque motor	_	13

\* For other settings of Pr. 71, refer to page 169.

# (3) Execution of tuning

<ul> <li>Before performing tuning, check the monitor display of the operation panel (FR-DU07) or parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07) if the inverter is in the state ready for tuning. (Refer to 2) below) When the start command is turned on under V/F control, the motor starts.</li> </ul>
1)When performing PU operation, press (FWD)/(REV) of the operation panel.
For external operation, turn on the start command (STF signal or STR signal). Tuning starts.
CAUTION
· When selecting offline auto tuning performed with motor running (Pr. 96 Auto tuning setting/status = "101"), caution must be
taken since the motor runs.
· To force tuning to end, use the MRS or RES signal or press (RESET) of the operation panel.
(Turning the start signal (STF signal or STR signal) off also ends tuning.)
• During offline auto tuning, only the following I/O signals are valid: (initial value)
· Input signals <valid signal=""> STOP, OH, MRS, RT, CS, RES, STF, STR</valid>
• Output terminal RUN, OL, IPF, FM, AM, ATBTC1
frequency are selected
· Since the RUN signal turns on when tuning is started, caution is required especially when a sequerence which releases a
mechanical brake by the RUN signal has been designed.
When executing offline auto tuning, input the run command after switching on the main circuit power (R/L1, S/L2, T/L3) of the
inverter.
· Do not perform ON/OFF switching of the second function selection signal (RT) during execution of offline auto tuning. Auto
tuning is not excecuted properly.
• Setting offline auto tuning ( <i>Pr. 96 Auto tuning setting/status</i> = "1 or 101") will make pre-excitation invalid.

2)Monitor is displayed on the operation panel (FR-DU07) and parameter unit (FR-PU07/FR-PU04) during tuning as below.

	Parameter Unit (FR-PU07/FR-PU04) Display		Operation Panel (FR-DU07) Display	
Pr. 96 setting	1	101	1	101
(1) Setting	1 STOP PU	101 stop pu		
(2) Tuning in progress	TUNE 2 STF FWD PU	TUNE 102 STF FWD PU		
(3) Normal end	TUNE 3 COMPLETION STF STOP PU	TUNE 103 COMPLETION STF STOP PU	Bickering	HON EXT. 4-9 FWD Flickering
(4) Error end (when the inverter protective function is activated)	TUNE 9 ERROR STF STOP PU		3	

· Reference: Offline auto tuning time (when the initial value is set)

Offline Auto Tuning Setting	Time
Non-rotation mode (Pr. 96 = "1")	Approximately 25 to 120s (Tuning time differs according to the inverter capacity and motor type.)
Rotation mode ( <i>Pr. 96</i> = "101")	Approximately 40s (Offline auto tuning time varies with the acceleration and deceleration time settings as indicated below. Offline auto tuning time = acceleration time + deceleration time + approx. 30s)

3)When offline auto tuning ends, press (SUP) of the operation panel during PU operation. For external operation, turn off the start signal (STF signal or STR signal).

This operation resets the offline auto tuning and the PU's monitor display returns to the normal indication.

(Without this operation, next operation cannot be started.)

# REMARKS

- Do not change the Pr. 96 setting after completion of tuning (3 or 103).
- If the Pr. 96 setting is changed, tuning data is made invalid.
- If the Pr. 96 setting is changed, tuning must be performed again.

4)If offline auto tuning ended in error (see the table below), motor constants are not set. Perform an inverter reset and restart tuning.

Error Display	Error Cause	Remedy
8	Forced end	Set "1" or "101" in <i>Pr. 96</i> and perform tuning again.
9	Inverter protective function operation	Make setting again.
91	Current limit (stall prevention) function was activated.	Increase acceleration/deceleration time. Set "1" in <i>Pr. 156</i> .
92	Converter output voltage reached 75% of rated value.	Check for fluctuation of power supply voltage.
93	Calculation error A motor is not connected.	Check the motor wiring and make setting again. Set the rated current of the motor in <i>Pr.9</i> .

5)When tuning is ended forcibly by pressing (STP) or turning off the start signal (STF or STR) during tuning, offline

auto tuning does not end normally. (The motor constants have not been set.) Perform an inverter reset and restart tuning.

- 6)When using the motor corresponding to the following specifications and conditions, reset *Pr:9 Electronic thermal O/L relay* as below after tuning is completed.
  - a) When the rated power specifications of the motor is 200/220V (400/440V) 60Hz, set 1.1 times rated motor current value in *Pr:9*.
  - b)When performing motor protection from overheat using a PTC thermistor or motor with temperature detector such as Klixon, set "0" (motor overheat protection by the inverter is invalid) in *Pr:9*.

- The motor constants measured once in the offline auto tuning are stored as parameters and their data are held until the offline auto tuning is performed again.
- $\cdot\,$  An instantaneous power failure occurring during tuning will result in a tuning error.

After power is restored, the inverter goes into the normal operation mode. Therefore, when STF (STR) signal is on, the motor runs in the forward (reverse) rotation.

· Any alarm occurring during tuning is handled as in the ordinary mode. Note that if a fault retry has been set, retry is ignored.

 $\cdot~$  The set frequency monitor displayed during the offline auto tuning is 0Hz.

# 

▲ Note that the motor may start running suddenly.

A When the offline auto tuning is used in vertical lift application, e.g. a lifter, it may drop due to insufficient torque.

# (4) Utilizing or changing offline auto tuning data for use

The data measured in the offline auto tuning can be read and utilized or changed. <Operating procedure>

1)Set Pr. 71 according to the motor used.

	Pr. 71 Setting*	
Mitsubishi standard motor	SF-JR	4
Mitsubishi high efficiency	SF-HR	44
motor	Others	4
	SF-JRCA 4P	14
motor	SF-HRCA	54
motor	Others (SF-JRC, etc.)	14
Vector control dedicated	SF-V5RU (1500r/min series) SF-THY	34
motor	SF-V5RU (except for 1500r/min series)	14
Other manufacturer's standard motor	-	4
Other manufacturer's constant torgue motor	_	14

\*1 For other settings of *Pr. 71*, refer to the *page 169*.

2)In the parameter setting mode, read the following parameters and set desired values.

Parameter Number	Name	Setting Range	Setting Increments	Initial Value
82	Motor excitation current	0 to ***, 9999	1	9999
90	Motor constant (R1)	0 to ***, 9999	1	9999
91	Motor constant (R2)	0 to ***, 9999	1	9999
92	Motor constant (L1)	0 to ***, 9999	1	9999
93	Motor constant (L2)	0 to ***, 9999	1	9999
94	Motor constant (X)	0 to ***, 9999	1	9999
859	Torque current	0 to ***, 9999	1	9999

#### REMARKS

• The display units of the motor constants read using *Pr. 684 Tuning data unit switchover* can be changed. Note that parameter values can not be changed.

Pr. 684 Setting	Pr. 82, Pr. 455	Pr. 90, Pr. 458	Pr. 91, Pr. 459	Pr. 92, Pr. 460	Pr. 93, Pr. 461	Pr. 94, Pr. 462	Pr. 859, Pr. 860
0		Internal data converted value					
1	0.01A	0.001Ω	0.001Ω	0.1mH	0.1mH	0.1%	0.01A

• When "9999" is set in *Pr. 82, Pr. 90* to *Pr. 94, Pr. 455, Pr. 458* to *Pr. 462, Pr. 859, Pr. 860,* Mitsubishi motor (SF-JR, SF-HR, SF-JRCA, SF-HRCA, SF-V5RU (1500r/min series)) constants are used.

• As the motor constants measured in the offline auto tuning have been converted into internal data (\*\*\*\*), refer to the following setting example when making setting:

Setting example To slightly increase *Pr. 90* value (5%)

When Pr: 90 is displayed "2516",

set 2642, i.e. 2516 × 1.05 = 2641.8, in Pr. 90.

(The value displayed has been converted into a value for internal use. Hence, simple addition of a given value to the displayed value has no significance.)

# (5) Method to set the motor constants without using the offline auto tuning data

The *Pr*: 92 and *Pr*: 93 motor constants may either be entered in  $[\Omega]$  or in [mH]. Before starting operation, confirm which motor constant unit is used.

• To enter the Pr. 92 and Pr. 93 motor constants in [ $\Omega$ ]

#### <Operating procedure>

1) Set Pr. 71 according to the motor used.

		Star Connection Motor	Delta Connection Motor
Setting	Standard motor	5	6
Getting	Constant-torque motor	15	16

2) In the parameter setting mode, read the following parameters and set desired values.

Iq = torque current,	1100 = rated (	current, I	0 = no l	oad	current

$$Iq = \sqrt{100^2 - 10^2}$$

Parameters Number	Name	Setting Range	Setting Increments	Initial Value
82	Motor excitation current (no load current)	0 to 500A, 9999	0.01A	9999
90	Motor constant (r1)	0 to 50Ω, 9999	0.001Ω	9999
91	Motor constant (r2)	0 to 50Ω, 9999	0.001Ω	9999
92	Motor constant (x1)	0 to 50Ω, 9999	0.001Ω	9999
93	Motor constant (x2)	0 to 50Ω, 9999	0.001Ω	9999
94	Motor constant (xm)	0 to 500Ω, 9999	0.01Ω	9999
859	Torque current	0 to 500A, 9999	0.01A	9999

3) Refer to the following table and set Pr. 83 and Pr. 84.

Parameter Number	Name	Setting Range	Setting Increments	Initial Value
83	Rated motor voltage	0 to 1000V	0.1V	200V/400V*
84	Rated motor frequency	10 to 120Hz	0.01Hz	60Hz

\* The initial value differs according to the voltage level. (200V/400V)

#### REMARKS

When "9999" is set in *Pr. 82, Pr. 90 to Pr. 94, Pr. 859*, Mitsubishi motor (SF-JR, SF-HR, SF-JRCA, SF-HRCA, SF-V5RU (1500r/min series)) constants are used.

#### = CAUTION =

· If "star connection" is mistaken for "delta connection" or vice versa during setting of *Pr. 71*, advanced magnetic flux vector control, real sensorless vector control and vector control cannot be exercised properly.

- To enter the *Pr*: 92 and *Pr*: 93 motor constants in [mH] <Operating procedure>
- 1) Set Pr: 71 according to the motor used.

N	Pr.71 Setting*	
Mitsubishi standard motor	SF-JR	0
motor	SF-HR	40
Mitsubishi constant-torque	SF-JRCA 4P	1
motor	SF-HRCA	50
Vector control dedicated motor	SF-V5RU 1500r/min series	30

\*1 For other settings of Pr. 71, refer to the page 169.

2) In the parameter setting mode, read the following parameters and set desired values. Calculate the *Pr. 94* value from the following formula.

*Pr: 94* setting = (1 -  $\frac{M^2}{L1 \times L2}$ ) × 100 (%)



#### Motor equivalent circuit diagram

Parameter Number	Name	Setting Range	Setting Increments	Initial Value
82	Motor excitation current (no load current)	0 to 500A, 9999	0.01A	9999
90	Motor constant (R1)	0 to 50Ω, 9999	0.001Ω	9999
91	Motor constant (R2)	0 to 50Ω, 9999	0.001Ω	9999
92	Motor constant (L1)	0 to 1000mH, 9999	0.1mH	9999
93	Motor constant (L2)	0 to 1000mH, 9999	0.1mH	9999
94	Motor constant (X)	0 to 100%, 9999	0.1%	9999
859	Torque current	0 to 500A, 9999	0.01A	9999

3) Refer to the following table and set Pr. 83 and Pr. 84.

Number	Name	Setting Range	Increments	Value
83	Rated motor voltage	0 to 1000V	0.1V	200V/400V*
84	Rated motor frequency	10 to 120Hz	0.01Hz	60Hz

\* The initial value differs according to the voltage level. (200V/400V)

#### REMARKS

When "9999" is set in *Pr. 82, Pr. 90 to Pr. 94, Pr. 859*, Mitsubishi motor (SF-JR, SF-HR, SF-JRCA, SF-HRCA, SF-V5RU (1500r/ min series)) constants are used.

# (6) Tune second applied motor

- When you want to switch two motors with one inverter, set the second motor in *Pr. 450 Second applied motor (refer to page 169)*. Initial setting is without second applied motor.
- · Turning the RT signal on makes the following parameters for the second parameters valid.

Functions	RT Signal ON (second motor)	RT Signal OFF (first motor)
Motor capacity	Pr. 453	Pr. 80
Number of motor poles	Pr. 454	Pr. 81
Motor excitation current	Pr. 455	Pr. 82
Rated motor voltage	Pr. 456	Pr. 83
Rated motor frequency	Pr. 457	Pr. 84
Motor constant (R1)	Pr. 458	Pr. 90
Motor constant (R2)	Pr. 459	Pr. 91
Motor constant (L1)	Pr. 460	Pr. 92
Motor constant (L2)	Pr. 461	Pr. 93
Motor constant (X)	Pr. 462	Pr. 94
Auto tuning setting/status	Pr. 463	Pr. 96

#### REMARKS

• The RT signal is assigned to the terminal RT in the initial setting. By setting "3" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)*, you can assign the RT signal to the other terminal.

#### — CAUTION

• Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### Parameters referred to +

- Pr. 7 Acceleration time, Pr. 8 Deceleration time I Refer to page 155
- Pr. 9 Electronic thermal O/L relay I Refer to page 165

Pr. 71 Applied motor I Refer to page 169

- Pr. 80 Motor capacity, Pr. 81 Number of motor poles I Refer to page 75
- Pr. 95 Online auto tuning selection I Refer to page 181
- Pr. 156 Stall prevention operation selection IPR Refer to page 135
- Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) I Refer to page 206
- Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection) I Refer to page 214

Pr. 800 Control method selection IF Refer to page 75

# 4.13.4 Online auto tuning (Pr. 95, Pr. 574) Magnetic flux Sensorless Vector

When online auto tuning is selected under advanced magnetic flux vector control, real sensorless vector control or vector control, excellent torque accuracy is provided by temperature compensation even if the secondary resistance value of the motor varies with the rise of the motor temperature.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
			0	Online auto tuning is not performed
95 Online auto tuning selection	0	1	Start-time online auto tuning	
		2	Magnetic flux observer (normal tuning)	
574	Second motor online auto tuning	0	0, 1	Select the second motor online auto tuning. (same as <i>Pr. 95</i> )

# (1) Start-time online auto tuning (setting is "1")

- By quickly tuning the motor constants at a start, high accuracy operation unaffacted by the motor temperature and stable operation with high torque down to ultra low speed can be performed.
- Make sure advanced magnetic flux vector control (*Pr. 80, Pr. 81*), real sensorless vector control or vector control (*Pr. 800*) is selected.
- · Before performing online auto tuning, perform offline auto tuning without fail.

# <Operation method>

- 1) Refer to *page 171* to perform offline auto tuning.
- 2) Check that "3" or "103" (offline auto tuning completion) is set in Pr. 96 Auto tuning setting/status.
- 3) Set "1" (start-time online auto tuning) in *Pr. 95 Online auto tuning selection*.
- Online auto tuning is performed from the next starting.
- 4) Before starting operation, check that the following parameters have been set.

Parameter Number	Description
9	Used as rated motor current and electronic thermal relay parameters.
71	Applied motor
80	Motor capacity (down to one rank lower than the inverter capacity, note that the capacity should be 0.4kW or more)
81	Number of motor poles

5) When performing PU operation, press (FWD)/(REV) of the operation panel.

For external operation, turn on the run command (STF signal or STR signal).

#### = Caution =

• For using start-time online auto tuning in elevator, examine the utilization of a brake sequence for the brake opening timing at a start. Though the tuning ends in about a maximum of 500ms after a start, torque is not provided fully during that period. Therefore, note that there may be a possibility of drop due to gravity.

It is recommended to perform tuning using a start time tuning signal (X28). (Refer to page 183.)

# (2) Magnetic flux observer (normal tuning) (setting value is "2")

• When exercising vector control using a motor with encoder, it is effective for torque accuracy improvement. The current flowing in the motor and the inverter output voltage are used to estimate/observe the magnetic flux in the motor.

The magnetic flux of the motor is always (including during operation) detected with high accuracy so that an excellent characteristic is provided regardless of the change in the temperature of the secondary resistance. • Vector control (*Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 800*) should be selected. (*Refer to page 75.*)

#### - CAUTION =

 For the SF-V5RU, SF-JR (with encoder), SF-HR (with encoder), SF-JRCA (with encoder) or SF-HRCA (with encoder), it is not necessary to perform offline auto tuning to select adaptive magnetic flux observer. (Note that it is necessary to perform offline auto tuning (non-rotation mode) for the wiring length resistance to be reflected on the control when the wiring length is long (30m or longer as reference).

#### REMARKS

- Online auto tuning does not operate if the MRS signal is input, if the preset speed is less than the *Pr. 13 Starting frequency* (V/F control or advanced magnetic flux vector control), or if the starting conditions of the inverter are not satisfied, e.g. inverter error.
   Online auto tuning does not operate during deceleration or at a restart during DC brake operation.
- Invalid for jog operation.
- Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure overrides when automatic restart after instantaneous power failure is selected. (Start-time online auto tuning is not performed at frequency search.)
- Perform online auto tuning at a stop with the X28 signal when using automatic restart after instantaneous power failure together. (Refer to *the following* for details.)
- $\cdot\;$  Zero current detection and output current detection are valid during online auto tuning.
- $\cdot~$  The RUN signal is not output during online auto tuning. The RUN signal turns on at a start.
- · If the period from an inverter stop to a restart is within 4s, start-time tuning is performed but the tuning results are not reflected.

# (3) Start-time online auto tuning from external terminal (X28 signal, Y39 signal)



Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) or Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

# (4) Tune second applied motor

• When you want to switch two motors with one inverter, set the second motor in *Pr. 450 Second applied motor*. (Initial setting is without second applied motor. (*Refer to page 169*))

Perform tuning using Pr. 574 Second motor online auto tuning.

Pr. 574 Second motor online auto tuning is made valid when the RT signal turns on.

Parameter Number	Description
51	Used as rated motor current and electronic thermal relay parameters.
450	Applied motor
453	Motor capacity (down to one rank lower than the inverter capacity, note that the capacity should be 0.4kW or more)
454	Number of motor poles

# REMARKS

• The RT signal acts as the second function selection signal and makes the other second functions valid. (*Refer to page 210.*) The RT signal is assigned to the terminal RT in the initial setting. By setting "3" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)*, you can assign the RT signal to the other terminal.

#### = CAUTION =

• Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### Parameters referred to +

- Pr. 9 Electronic thermal O/L relay Trefer to page 165
- Pr. 71 Applied motor IP Refer to page 169
- Pr. 80 Motor capacity Refer to page 75
- Pr. 81 Number of motor poles Refer to page 75
- Pr. 96 Auto tuning setting/status I Refer to page 171
- Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) Refer to page 206
- Pr. 190 to Pr .196 (output terminal function selection) I Refer to page 214

# **4.14 Motor brake and stop operation**

Purpose	Parameter that must	Refer to Page	
Motor braking torque adjustment	DC injection brake and zero speed control, servo lock	Pr. 10 to Pr. 12, Pr. 802, Pr. 850	185
Coast the motor to a stop	Selection of motor stopping method	Pr. 250	188
Used to stop the motor with a mechanical brake (vibration restraint at stop-on-contact)	Stop-on-contact control	Pr. 270, Pr. 275, Pr. 276	189
Used to stop the motor with a mechanical brake (operation timing of a mechanical brake)	Brake sequence function	Pr. 278 to Pr. 285, Pr. 292	192
Perform position stop (orientation) control of the rotation shaft	Orientation control	Pr. 350 to Pr. 366, Pr. 369, Pr. 393, Pr. 396 to Pr. 399	195

# 4.14.1 DC injection brake and zero speed control, servo lock (LX signal, X13 signal, Pr. 10 to Pr. 12, Pr. 802, Pr. 850)

The DC injection brake can be operated at a motor stop to adjust the stop timing and braking torque. Zero speed control can be selected during real sensorless vector control and either zero speed control or servo lock can be selected under vector control.

In DC injection brake operation, DC voltage is directly applied to the motor to prevent the motor shaft from rotating when a motor decelerates to stop. While, in zero speed control, vector control is performed to maintain 0r/min. In either control, the motor will not return to the original position if the motor shaft rotates due to external force.

The motor shaft position is maintained with servo lock. The motor will return to the original position if the motor shaft rotates due to external force.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value		Setting Range	Description		
10	DC injection brake operation frequency	3Hz	3Hz		Set the operation frequency of the DC injection brake (zero speed control, servo lock).		
				9999	Operated at Pr. 13 or less.		
11	DC injection brake	0.5s		injection brake		0	DC injection brake (zero speed control) disabled
	operation time			0.1 to 10s	Set the operation time of the DC injection brake (zero speed control, servo lock).		
12	DC injection brake	7.5K or less	4%	0 to 30%	Set the DC injection brake voltage (torque).		
12	operation voltage	11K or more	2%	0 10 30 %	When "0" is set, DC injection brake is disabled.		
902 *	Pre-excitation	0		0	Zero speed control		
002	selection	0	U		Servo lock		
850	Brake operation	0		0	DC injection brake operation		
	selection	0		1	Zero speed control		

\* This parameter can be set when the FR-A7AP (option) is mounted.







# (1) Operation frequency setting (Pr. 10)

- When the frequency at which the DC injection brake (zero speed control, servo lock) operates is set in *Pr. 10*, the DC voltage is applied to the motor when this frequency is reached during deceleration.
- At the *Pr*: *10* setting of "9999", the DC injection brake (zero speed control, servo lock) is applied to the motor when deceleration is made to the frequency set in *Pr*: *13 Starting frequency*.

#### REMARKS

- Performing pre-excitation (zero speed control) under real sensorless vector may cause motor vibration, etc. at deceleration to stop. To prevent this, set *Pr:10 DC injection brake operation frequency* to 0.5Hz or less.
  The initial value of *Pu* to extend the sense to 0.5Hz or less.
- The initial value of *Pr. 10* automatically changes to 0.5Hz during vector control.

### (2) Operation time setting (X13 signal, Pr. 11)

- Use *Pr. 11* to set the duration period the DC injection brake (zero speed control, servo lock) is applied.
- When the motor does not stop due to large load moment (J), increasing the setting produces an effect.
- When Pr: II = "0s", the DC injection brake (zero speed control, servo lock) is not operated. (At a stop, the motor coasts.)
- When *Pr. 11* = "8888", the DC injection brake (zero speed control, servo lock) is applied when X13 signal is turned on.
- For the terminal used for X13 signal input, set "13" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189* to assign the function. *(Refer to page 206)*

#### REMARKS

- When the X13 signal is turned on with *Pr. 11* = "8888", zero speed control is activated regardless of setting of *Pr. 850 Brake operation selection*.
- Under vector control, zero speed control or servo lock is activated depending on the *Pr. 802* setting.

# (3) Operation voltage (torque) setting (Pr. 12)

- Use *Pr. 12* to set the percentage to the power supply voltage. (This parameter is not used during zero speed control or servo lock.)
- When Pr. 12 = "0%", the DC injection brake is not operated. (At a stop, the motor coasts.)
- When using the constant-torque motor (SF-JRCA) and energy saving motor (SF-HR, SF-HRCA), change the *Pr. 12* setting as follows.

SF-JRCA: 3.7K or less ...4%, 5.5K or more...2%

SF-HR, SF-HRCA: 5.5K and 7.5K...3%, 11K or more...2%

#### REMARKS

- For the 5.5K and 7.5K, when the *Pr. 12* setting is as below, changing the *Pr. 71 Applied motor* setting changes the *Pr. 12* setting automatically, it is not necessary to change the *Pr. 12* setting.
  - (a) When Pr. 12 is 4% (initial value)

The *Pr. 12* setting is automatically changed to 2% if the *Pr. 71* value is changed from the value selecting the standard motor (0, 2 to 8, 40, 43, 44) to the value selecting the constant torque motor (1, 13 to 18, 50, 53, 54).

(b) When *Pr*: 12 is 2%

The *Pr. 12* setting is automatically changed to 4% (initial value) if the *Pr. 71* value is changed from the value selecting the constant torque motor (1, 13 to 18, 50, 53, 54) to the value selecting the standard motor (0, 2 to 8, 40, 43, 44).

Even if the Pr. 12 setting is increased, braking torque is limited so that the output current is within the rated inverter current.

#### (4) Brake operation selection during real sensorless vector control (Pr. 850)

You can select DC injection brake (initial value) or zero speed control for brake operation during real sensorless vector control.

When Pr. 850 = "1", zero speed control is exercised when the frequency reaches or decreases below the frequency set in Pr. 10.

#### REMARKS

- When the X13 signal is on with *Pr. 11* = "8888", zero speed control is activated regardless of setting of *Pr. 850 Brake operation selection*.
- When restarting from brake operation during real sensorless vector control, set "1" (zero speed control) in *Pr. 850.* When the setting value is "0" (DC injection brake), it may take approx. 2s until frequency is actually output from when the start command is input.

# (5) Brake operation selection under vector control (Pr. 802)

· When pre-excitation is performed, select zero speed control or servo lock using Pr. 802.

Pr. 802 Setting	Pre-excitation	Description
0 (initial value)	Zero speed control	Even under load, an attempt is made to maintain 0r/min to keep the motor shaft stopped. Note that if the shaft is overcome and turned by external force, it does not return to the original position. Position control is not exercised and only speed control is carried out to perform operation.
1	Servo lock	Even under load, an attempt is made to maintain the motor shaft position. Note that if the shaft is turned by external force, it returns to the original position after the external force has gone away. Since position control is exercised, you can adjust this position loop gain using <i>Pr. 422 Position loop gain</i> .

· The relationship between the DC injection brake operation and pre-excitation operation under each control

Control Method	Control Mode	Pr. 802	Pr. 850	Decelerates to Stop	LX-ON	X13-ON ( <i>Pr. 11</i> = "8888")	
V/F control	—	_	_	DC Injection brake	_	DC Injection brake	
Advanced magnetic flux vector control	—			DC Injection brake	_	DC Injection brake	
	Speed	—	0	DC Injection brake	Zero speed	Zero speed	
Real sensorless vector	Opeed	_	1	Zero speed	Zelo speed	Zero speed	
control	Torquo	—	0	DC Injection brake	Zero speed	Zero speed	
	loique	_	1	Zero speed	Zelo speed		
	Spood	0	_	Zero speed	Zero speed	Zero speed	
Vector control	Speed	1	_	Servo lock	Servo lock	Servo lock	
	Torque	_	_	Zero speed	Zero speed	Zero speed	
	Position			—	Servo lock	—	

# (6) Pre-excitation signal (LX signal)

- When the LX signal is turned on under real sensorless vector control or vector control, pre-excitation (zero speed control or servo lock) is exercised during a stop.
- · For the terminal used for LX signal input, set "23" in any of Pr. 178 to Pr. 186 to assign the function.



#### \_\_\_\_ CAUTION =

- Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.
- Performing pre-excitation (LX signal and X13 signal) under torque control (real sensorless vector control) may start the motor running at a low speed even when the start command (STF or STR) is not input. The motor may run also at a low speed when the speed limit value=0 with a start command input. Perform pre-excitation after making sure that there will be no problem in safety if the motor runs.
- · Although FWD/REV of the operation panel is not lit during pre-excitation, note that voltage is applied to the motor.
- Note that when offline auto tuning (*Pr. 96 Auto tuning setting/status* = "1 or 101") is performed during pre-excitation, offline auto tuning is not executed but the motor starts.

# 

⚠️ Do not set *Pr. 11* to "0, 8888" and *Pr. 12* to "0" under orientation operation. Otherwise, the motor will not stop properly.

As stop holding torque is not produced, install a mechanical brake.

After the machine stops fully and the mechanical brake is applied, switch the LX signal (pre-excitation) off.

#### Parameters referred to +

Pr. 13 Starting frequency I Refer to page 157

Pr. 71 Applied motor IP Refer to page 169

Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (Input terminal function selection) I Refer to page 206

Pr. 422 Position loop gain I Refer to page 124



# 4.14.2 Stop selection (Pr. 250)

Used to select the stopping method (deceleration to a stop or coasting) when the start signal turns off. Used to stop the motor with a mechanical brake, etc. together with switching off of the start signal. You can also select the operations of the start signals (STF/STR). (Refer to *page 211* for start signal selection)

Parameter				Description			
Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Start signal (STF/STR) (Refer to page 211)	Stop operation		
250		0 to 100s		STF signal: Forward rotation start STR signal: Reverse rotation start	The motor is coasted to a stop when the preset time elapses after the start signal is turned off.The		
	Ston selection	0000	1000s to 1100s	STF signal: Start signal STR signal: Forward/ reverse signal	motor is coasted to a stop ( <i>Pr. 250</i> - 1000)s after the start signal is turned off.		
			9999	STF signal: Forward rotation start STR signal: Reverse rotation start	When the start signal is turned off, the motor		
			8888	STF signal: Start signal STR signal: Forward/ reverse signal	decelerates to stop.		





#### REMARKS

Stop selection is invalid when the following functions are activated.

- Position control (Pr. 419 = 0)
- · Power failure stop function (Pr. 261)
- · PU stop (Pr. 75)
- · Deceleration stop because of fault definition (Pr. 875)
- · Deceleration stop because of communication error (Pr. 502)
- · Offline auto tuning (with motor running)
- · Emergency stop by LONWORKS communication
- When setting of *Pr. 250* is not 9999 nor 8888, acceleration/deceleration is performed according to the frequency command, until start signal is OFF and output is shutoff.

#### = CAUTION :

• When the start signal is turned on again during motor coasting, the motor starts at *Pr. 13 Starting frequency*.

#### ♦ Parameters referred to ♦

Pr. 7 Acceleration time , Pr. 8 Deceleration time IPR Refer to page 155

Pr. 13 Starting frequency I Refer to page 157

# (1) Decelerate the motor to a stop

- · Set Pr. 250 to "9999" (initial value) or "8888".
- The motor decelerates to a stop when the start signal (STF/STR) turns off.

# (2) Coast the motor to a stop

- Use Pr. 250 to set the time from when the start signal turns off until the output is shut off. When any of "1000" to "1100" is set, the output is shut off after (Pr. 250 1000)s.
- The output is shut off when the time set in *Pr. 250* has elapsed after the start signal had turned off. The motor coasts to a stop.
- · The RUN signal turns off when the output stops.

# 4.14.3 Stop-on contact control function (Pr. 6, Pr. 48, Pr. 270, Pr. 275, Pr. 276)

# Magnetic flux Sensorless

To ensure accurate positioning at the upper limit etc. of a lift, stop-on-contact control causes a mechanical brake to be closed while the motor is developing a holding torque to keep the load in contact with a mechanical stopper etc.

This function suppresses vibration which is liable to occur when the load is stopped upon contact in vertical motion applications, ensuring steady precise positioning.

<Without stop-on-contact control> <With stop-on-contact control>



Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description	
6	Multi-speed setting (low speed)	10Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the output frequency for stop-on-contact control.	
22	Stall prevention operation level	150%	0 to 400%	Sat the stall provention exerction level for stan on contact control	
48	Second stall prevention operation current	150%	0 to 220%	The smaller value set in either <i>Pr. 22</i> or <i>Pr. 48</i> has a priority.	
			0	Normal operation	
	Stop-on contact/ load torque high- speed frequency		1	Stop-on-contact control	
270		0	2	Load torque high speed frequency control (Refer to page 342)	
	control selection		3	Stop-on-contact+load torque high speed frequency control ( <i>Refer</i> to page 342)	
275	Stop-on contact excitation current low-speed	pp-on contact citation current y-speed 9999		Set the force (holding torque) for stop-on-contact control. Normally set 130% to 180%. Valid only during advanced magnetic flux vector control	
	multiplying factor		9999	No compensation.	
276	PWM carrier frequency at stop- on contact	9999	0 to 9	Set a PWM carrier frequency for stop-on-contact control. For real sensorless vector control, carrier frequency is always 2Hz when a setting value is 0 to 5 and always 6Hz when a setting value is 6 to 9. (Valid at the frequency of 3Hz or less.)	
			9999	As set in Pr. 72 PWM frequency selection .	

#### <Connection and operation example>



\* The input terminal used differs according to the Pr. 180 to Pr. 189 settings.



# (1) Set stop-on-contact control

- Make sure that the inverter is in external operation mode. (*Refer to page 283*)
- · Select either real sensorless vector control or advanced magnetic flux vector control.
- Set"1 or 3" in Pr. 270 Stop-on contact/load torque high-speed frequency control selection.
  Set output frequency during stop-on-contact control in Pr. 6 Multi-speed setting (low speed).
- Set output frequency during stop-on-contact control in *Pr. 6 Multi-speed setting (low speed)*.
   The frequency should be as low as possible (about 2Hz). If it is set to more than 30Hz, the operating frequency will
- be 30Hz.
  When both the RT and RL signals are switched on, the inverter enters the stop-on-contact mode, in which operation is performed at the frequency set in *Pr. 6* independently of the preceding speed.

#### 

- By increasing the *Pr. 275* setting, the low-speed (stop-on-contact) torque increases, but overcurrent fault (E.OCT) may occur or the machine may oscillate in a stop-on-contact state.
- The stop-on-contact function is different from servo-lock function, and if used to stop or hold a load for an extended period, this function can cause the motor to overheat.

After a stop, immediately change to a mechanical brake to hold the load.

Under the following operating conditions, the stop-on-contact function is made invalid:

PU operation (Pr. 79) · JOG operation (JOG signal) · PU+external operation (Pr. 79) · PID control function operation (Pr. 128)

· Remote setting function operation (Pr. 59) · Start time tuning · Orientation control function operation

· When performing stop-on-contact control during encoder feedback control, encoder feedback control is made invalid due to a mode shift to the stop-on-contact control mode.

# (2) Function switching of stop-on-contact control selection

	Normal C (either RL or RT is	Operation off or both are off)	With Stop-on-Contact Control (both RL and RT are on)			
Useful Functions	Real sensorless vector control	Real sensorless vector controlAdvanced magnetic flux vector control		Advanced magnetic flux vector control		
Output frequency	Multi- 0 to 5V, 4 to 20	speed 0 to 10V mA etc.	Pr. 6 9	setting		
Stall prevention operation level	- Pr: 22 setting		_	The smaller value set in either <i>Pr. 22</i> or <i>Pr. 48</i> .		
Torque limit level	Pr. 22 setting	—	Pr: 22 setting	—		
Excitation current low speed scaling factor	-	_	_	The current is compensated for by <i>Pr</i> : <i>275</i> (0 to 1000%) settings before RL and RT are switched on.		
Carrier frequency	Pr: 72	setting	Pr: 276 setting when ou less (Pr: 72 when	tput frequency is 3Hz or <i>Pr. 276</i> = "9999")		
Fast response current limit	_	Valid		Invalid		

\* When RL and RT are on, Pr. 49 Second stall prevention operation frequency is invalid.

# (3) Set frequency when stop-on-contact control (Pr. 270 = 1, 3) is selected

• The following table lists the frequencies set when the input terminals (RH, RM, RL, RT, JOG) are selected together. Bold frame indicates stop-on-contact control is valid.

Stop-on-	contact control is	disabled wher	n remote setting	function is	selected (	Pr. 59 =	1 to 3).
----------	--------------------	---------------	------------------	-------------	------------	----------	----------

In	put Si	gnal	(O = c	on)	Set Erequency	In	put Si	ignal	(O = 0	on)	Set Frequency
RH	RM	RL	RT	JOG	Set Frequency	RH	RM	RL	RT	JOG	Set Frequency
0					Pr. 4 Multi-speed setting (high speed)		0		0	0	Pr. 15 Jog frequency
	0				Pr. 5 Multi-speed setting (middle speed)		0	0		0	Pr. 15 Jog frequency
		0			Pr. 6 Multi-speed setting (low speed)		0	0	0		Pr: 6 Multi-speed setting (low speed)
			0		By 0 to 5V(0 to 10V), 4 to 20mA	0			0	0	Pr. 15 Jog frequency
					input	0		0		0	Pr. 15 Jog frequency
	-			0	Pr. 15 Jog frequency	0		0	0		Pr. 6 Multi-speed setting (low speed)
0	0				Pr. 26 Multi-speed setting (speed 6)	0	0			0	Pr. 15 Jog frequency
0		0			Pr. 25 Multi-speed setting (speed 5)	0	0		0		Pr. 26 Multi-speed setting (speed 6)
0			0		Pr. 4 Multi-speed setting (high speed)	0	0	0			Pr. 27 Multi-speed setting (speed 7)
0				0	Pr. 15 Jog frequency		0	0	0	0	Pr. 15 Jog frequency
	0	0			Pr. 24 Multi-speed setting (speed 4)	0		0	0	0	Pr. 15 Jog frequency
	0		0		Pr. 5 Multi-speed setting (middle speed)	0	0		0	0	Pr. 15 Jog frequency
	0			0	Pr. 15 Jog frequency	0	0	0		0	Pr. 15 Jog frequency
		0	0		Pr. 6 Multi-speed setting (low speed)	0	0	0	0		Pr. 6 Multi-speed setting (low speed)
		0		0	Pr. 15 Jog frequency	0	0	0	0	0	Pr. 15 Jog frequency
			0	0	Pr. 15 Jog frequency	_	-			-	By 0 to $5V(0$ to $10V)$ 4 to $20mA$
		0	0	0	Pr. 15 Jog frequency						input

#### = CAUTION =

Changing the terminal function using any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### + Parameters referred to +

Pr. 4 to Pr. 6, Pr. 24 to Pr. 27 (multi-speed setting) IF Refer to page 148

Pr. 15 Jog frequency I Refer to page 150

- Pr. 22 Stall prevention operation level, Pr. 48 Second stall prevention operation current 🖙 Refer to page 135
- Pr. 22 Torque limit level I Refer to page 83

Pr. 59 Remote function selection I Refer to page 152

Pr. 72 PWM frequency selection I Refer to page 257

Pr. 79 Operation mode selection I Refer to page 283

Pr. 95 Online auto tuning selection Refer to page 181

Pr. 128 PID action selection I Refer to page 329

Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) IF Refer to page 206

Pr. 270 = 2, 3 (load torque high-speed frequency control) Refer to page 342

# 4.14.4 Brake sequence function (Pr. 278 to Pr. 285, Pr. 292) Magnetic flux Sensorless Vector

This function is used to output from the inverter the mechanical brake operation timing signal in vertical lift and other applications.

This function prevents the load from dropping with gravity at a start due to the operation timing error of the mechanical brake or an overcurrent alarm from occurring at a stop, ensuring secure operation.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
278	Brake opening frequency	3Hz	0 to 30Hz	Set to the rated slip frequency of the motor + about 1.0Hz. This parameter may be only set if $Pr. 278 \le Pr. 282$ .
279	Brake opening current	130%	0 to 220%	Generally, set this parameter to about 50 to 90%. If the setting is too low, the load is liable to drop due to gravity at start. Suppose that the rated inverter current is 100%.
280	Brake opening current detection time	0.3s	0 to 2s	Generally, set this parameter to about 0.1 to 0.3s.
281	Brake operation time at start	0.3s	0 to 5s	Set the mechanical delay time until the brake is loosened. Set the mechanical delay time until the brake is loosened + about 0.1 to 0.2s when $Pr$ : $292 = "8"$ .
282	Brake operation frequency	6Hz	0 to 30Hz	Set the frequency to activate the mechanical brake by turning off the brake opening request signal (BOF). Generally, set this parameter to the <i>Pr.</i> 278 setting + 3 to 4Hz. Setting is enabled only when <i>Pr.</i> $282 \ge Pr.$ 278.
283	Brake operation time at stop	0.3s	0 to 5s	Set the mechanical delay time until the brake is closed + 0.1s when $Pr. 292=7$ . Set the mechanical delay time until the brake is closed + 0.2 to 0.3s when $Pr. 292 = 8$ .
			0	Deceleration is not detected.
284	Deceleration detection function selection	0	1	If deceleration is not normal during deceleration operation, the inverter fault is provided.
285	Overspeed detection frequency *1	9999	0 to 30Hz	If (detected frequency) - (output frequency) $\ge Pr: 285$ during encoder feedback control, the inverter fault (E.MB1) is provided.
			9999	Overspeed is not detected.
			0	Normal operation mode
			3	Optimum acceleration/deceleration mode ( <i>Refer to page 163</i> )
292	Automatic acceleration/	0	5, 6	Elevator mode (Refer to page 146)
	deceleration	-	7	Brake sequence mode 1
			8	Brake sequence mode 2
			11	Shortest acceleration/deceleration mode ( <i>Refer to page 162</i> )

\*1 When exercising vector control with the FR-A7AP, this parameter changes to speed deviation excess detection frequency (For details, refer to page 100)

#### <Connection diagram>



- \*1 The input signal terminal used differs according to the *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189* settings.
- \*2 The output signal terminal used differs according to the *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196* settings.
- \*3 The current should be within the permissible current of transistor in the inverter. (24V 0.1ADC)

# — CAUTION

- $\cdot~$  When brake sequence mode is selected, automatic restart after instantaneous power failure is invalid.
- $\cdot$   $\,$  When using this function,  $\,$  set the acceleration time to 1s or longer.
- · Changing the terminal function using any of Pr. 178 to Pr. 189, Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 may affect the other functions.
- Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

# (1) Set the brake sequence mode

- Select either real sensorless vector control, vector control (speed control) or advanced magnetic flux vector control. The brake sequence function is valid only when the external operation mode, external/PU combined operation mode 1 or network operation mode is selected.
- Set "7 or 8" (brake sequence mode) in *Pr. 292*.
   To ensure more complete sequence control, it is recommended to set "7" (brake opening completion signal input) in *Pr. 292*.
- Set "15" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* and assign the brake opening completion signal (BRI) to the input terminal.
- Set "20 (positive logic)" or "120 (negative logic)" in any of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* and assign the brake opening request signal (BOF) to the output terminal.





#### REMARKS

Even if brake sequence mode has been selected, inputting the jog signal (jog operation), RT signal (second function selection) or X9 signal (third function selection) during an inverter stop will switch to the normal operation and give priority to jog operation or second and third function selection. Note that JOG and RT signal input is invalid even if JOG signal and RT signal are input during automatic acceleration/deceleration operation.

# (2) With brake opening completion signal input (*Pr. 292* = "7")

- When the start signal is input to the inverter, the inverter starts running. When the internal speed command reaches the value set in *Pr*. *278* and the output current is not less than the value set in *Pr*. *279*, the inverter outputs the brake opening request signal (BOF) after the time set in *Pr*. *280* has elapsed.
  When the time set in *Pr*. *281* elapses after the brake opening completion signal (BRI) was activated, the inverter increases the output frequency to the set speed.
  When the speed has decreased to the
- When the speed has decreased to the frequency set in *Pr: 282* during deceleration, the BOF signal is turned off. When the time set in *Pr: 283* elapses after the electromagnetic brake operation was completed and the BRI signal was turned off, the inverter output is switched off.

# (3) Without brake opening completion signal input (*Pr. 292* = "8")

When the start signal is input to the inverter, the inverter starts running. When the internal speed command reaches the value set in Pr. 278 and the output current is not less than the value set in Pr. 279, the inverter outputs the brake opening request signal (BOF) after the time set in Pr. 280 has elapsed. When the time set in Pr. 281 elapses after the BOF signal is output, the inverter increases the output frequency to the set speed. When the speed has decreased to the frequency set in Pr. 282 during deceleration, the brake opening request signal (BOF) is turned off. When the time set in Pr. 283 has elapsed after the BOF signal is turned off, the inverter output is switched off.

193

4

PARAMETERS

## (4) Protective functions

If any of the following errors occurs in the brake sequence mode, the inverter results in a fault, trips, and turns off the brake opening request signal (BOF).

Fault Display	Description
E.MB1	(Detection frequency) - (output frequency) > <i>Pr. 285</i> during encoder feedback control When <i>Pr. 285 Overspeed detection frequency</i> = 9999, overspeed is not detected.
E.MB2	Deceleration is not normal during deceleration operation from the set frequency to the frequency set in <i>Pr. 282.</i> (when <i>Pr. 284</i> =1) (except stall prevention operation)
E.MB3	Brake opening request signal (BOF) turned on though the motor is at a stop. (gravity drop prevention function)
E.MB4	Although more than 2s have elapsed after the start command (forward or reverse rotation) is input, the brake opening request signal (BOF) does not turn on.
E.MB5	Although more than 2s have elapsed after the brake opening request signal (BOF) turned on, the brake opening completion signal (BRI) does not turn on.
E.MB6	Though the inverter had turned on the brake opening request signal (BOF), the brake opening completion signal (BRI) turned off midway.
E.MB7	Although more than 2s have elapsed after the brake opening request signal (BOF) turned off at a stop, the brake opening completion signal (BRI) does not turn off.

#### = CAUTION :

• Overspeed detection (*Pr. 285*) is valid under encoder feedback control (used with the FR-A7AP option) even if a value other than "7 or 8" is set in *Pr. 292*.

· A too large setting of Pr. 278 Brake opening frequency activates stall prevention operation and may cause E.MB4.





#### Parameters referred to +

Pr. 80 Motor capacity, Pr. 81 Number of motor poles I Refer to page 75 Pr. 180 to Pr. 186 (input terminal function selection) Refer to page 206 Pr. 190 to Pr. 195 (output terminal function selection) Refer to page 214 Pr. 800 Control method selection Refer to page 75 Encoder feedback control Refer to page 349

# 4.14.5 Orientation control (Pr. 350 to Pr. 366, Pr. 369, Pr. 393, Pr. 396 to Pr. 399)

Magnetic flux Vector

This function is used with a position detector (encoder) installed to the spindle of a machine tool, etc. to allow a rotation shaft to be stopped at the specified position (oriented). Option FR-A7AP is necessary.

Pr. 350 Stop position command selection is initially set to "9999", orientation control function is invalid.

Parameter	Name	Initial	Setting	Desci	ription					
Number		value	Range	Internal stop position comma	and $(P_r, 356)$					
350	Stop position command	9999	1	External stop position comm	and (FR-A7AX 16-bit data)					
	selection	0000	9999	Orientation control invalid						
254	Orientation around	<u>2⊓</u> -		Decrease the motor speed to	the set value when the					
351	Onentation speed	202	01030HZ	orientation command (X22) is given.						
352	Creep speed	0.5Hz	0 to 10Hz	After the speed reaches the	orientation speed, the speed					
353	Creep switchover	511	0 to 16383*	decreases to the creep speed	a set in <i>Pr. 352</i> as soon as the					
	position	011	0 10 10000	position set in <i>Pr. 353</i> .						
	Position loop switchover		01.0101	As soon as the current positi	on pulse reaches the set					
354	position	96	0 to 8191	position loop switchover position loop	ition, control is changed to					
				After changed to position loo	p, DC injection brake is					
355	DC injection brake start	5	0 to 255	applied and the motor stops	as soon as the current					
	position	Ŭ	0 10 200	position pulse reaches the se	et DC injection brake start					
				When "0" is set in $Pr$ 350 the	internal position command is					
356	Internal stop position	0	0 to 16383*	activated and the setting value	ue of <i>Pr. 356</i> becomes a stop					
	command			position.						
357	Orientation in-position	5	0 to 255	Set the in-position zone at a	stop of the orientation.					
358	Servo torgue selection	1	0 to 13	Functions at orientation complete can be selected.						
	•									
			0	Encoder						
				Clockwise direction	on as viewed					
359	direction	1								
			1	Encoder	• ( • )					
				Counter clockwise	e direction as					
				viewed from A is f	orward rotation					
			0	Speed command	When 1 is set in Pr. 350 and					
			1	external position command	the FR-A7AX is mounted,					
200	10 bit data calentian	0		as is.	set a stop position using 16-					
360	To bit data selection	0		Set the stop position	Stop position command is					
			2 to 127	dividing up to 128 stop	input as binary regardless					
				positions at regular	of the Pr. 304 setting.					
		L		Shift the origin using a comp	ensation value without					
361	Position shift	0	0 to 16383*	changing the origin of the en	coder. The stop position is a					
001		0	0.0010000	position obtained by adding t	the setting value of Pr. 361 to					
				the position command.	is selected using Dr. 258					
				output frequency for generat	ing servo torgue increases to					
362	Orientation position loop	1	0.1 to 100	the creep speed of Pr. 352 gra	adually according to the slope					
	yanı			set in Pr. 362. Although the operation becomes faster						
				when the value is increased,	a machine may hunt, etc.					
363	Completion signal output	0.50	0 to 5.0e	time after in-position zone is	nal is output delaying the set					
	delay time	0.05	0 10 3.08	turns off delaying the set time	e after in-position zone is out.					



The above parameters can be set when the FR-A7AP (option) is mounted.

When the operation panel (FR-DU07) is used, the maximum setting is 9999. When a parameter unit is used, up to the maximum value within the setting range can be set.

# (1) Connection example



- \*1 The pin number differs according to the encoder used.
- \*2 Use Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) to assign the function to any of terminal. (Refer to page 206.)
- \*3 Use Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection) to assign the function to any of terminal. (Refer to page 214.)
- \*4 Connect the encoder so that there is no looseness between the motor and motor shaft. Speed ratio should be 1:1.
- \*5 Earth (Ground) the shielded cable of the encoder cable to the enclosure with a P clip, etc. (*Refer to page 35.*)
- \*6 For the differential line driver, set the terminating resistor selection switch to on position (initial status) to use. (*Refer to page 31.*) Note that the terminating resistor switch should be set to off position when sharing the same encoder with other unit (NC, etc) or a terminating resistor is connected to other unit.
- For the complementary, set the switch to off position.
- \*7 For terminal compatibility of the FR-JCBL, FR-V7CBL and FR-A7AP, *refer to page 32*.
- \*8 A separate power supply of 5V/12V/15V/24V is necessary according to the encoder power specification.
- When performing encoder feedback control and vector control together, an encoder and power supply can be shared.
  \*9 When a stop position command is input from outside, a plug-in option FR-A7AX is necessary. Refer to *page 198* for external stop position command.)
- \*10 For the fan of the 7.5kW or less dedicated motor, the power supply is single phase. (200V/50Hz, 200 to 230V/60Hz)
- \*11 Assign OH (external thermal input) signal to the terminal CS. (Set "7" in Pr. 186) Connect a 2W1k $\Omega$  resistor between the terminal PC and CS(OH).

Install the resistor pushing it against the bottom part of the terminal block so as to avoid a contact with other cables.



#### <Setting>

If the orientation command signal (X22) is turned on during operation after the various parameters have been set, the speed will decelerate to the "orientation switchover speed". After the "orientation stop distance" is calculated, the speed will further decelerate, and the "orientation state" (servo lock) will be entered. The "orientation complete signal" (ORA) will be output when the "orientation complete width" is entered.

#### (2) Setting I/O singals

Signal	Signal Name	Application Explanation
X22*1	Orientation command input	Used to enter an orientation signal for orientation. For the terminal used for X22 signal input, set "22" in any of <i>Pr. 178 to Pr. 189</i> to assign the function.
SD	Contact input common	Common terminal for the orientation signal.
ORA*2	Orientaiton complete signal output	Switched low if the orientation has stopped within the in-position zone while the start and orientation signals are input. For the terminal used for the ORA signal output, assign the function by setting "27 (positive logic) or 127 (negative logic)" in any of <i>Pr. 190 to Pr. 196</i> .
ORM•₂	Orientation fault signal output	Switched low if the orientation has not stopped within the in-position zone while the start and orientation signals are input. For the terminal used for the ORM signal output, assign the function by setting "28 (positive logic) or 128 (negative logic)" in any of <i>Pr. 190 to Pr. 196</i> .
SE	Open collector output common	Common terminal for the ORA and ORM open collector output terminals.

\*1 For X22 signals, assign functions to any of terminal using Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (ouput terminal function selection). (Refer to page 206)

\*2 For ORA and ORM signals, assign functions to any of terminal using Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (ouput terminal function selection). (Refer to page 214)

# (3) Selecting stop position command (Pr. 350 Stop position command selection)

Select either the internal stop position command (*Pr. 356*) or the external stop position command (16-bit data using the FR-A7AX).

Pr. 350 Setting	Stop Position Command Source
0	Internal stop position command (Pr. 356: 0 to 16383)
1	External stop position command (FR-A7AX) 16-bit data
9999 (Initial value)	Orientation control invalid

1)Internal stop position command (Pr: 350 = "0")

The value set in *Pr. 356* is the stop position.

When the number of encoder pulses is 1024p/r, one revolution of the encoder is divided into 4096 positions, i.e.  $360^{\circ}/4096$  pulses =  $0.0879^{\circ}/pulses$  per address, as shown on the right. The stop positions (addresses) are indicated in parentheses.



Pr: 360 = "119"

#### 2)External stop position command (Pr: 350 = "1")

Mount the option FR-A7AX and set a stop position using 16-bit data (binary input).

• The value set in Pr. 360 16 bit data selection should be the number of stop positions less 1.

Pr. 360 Setting		Description	
0	External position comm	and is made invalid (speed command or tore	que command with the FR-A7AX)
1	Position command direc The 16-bit digital signal <example> When the <i>Pr. 369 Numbe</i> directly input using the F command more than 40</example>	ct input from the FR-A7AX is directly serves as stop <i>er of encoder pulses</i> setting is 1024, stop posi FR-A7AX and input digital signal of 2048 (H8 096 is considered as 4095.	o position command. tion command from 0 to 4095 can be 800) to stop the motor at 180° position. The
2 to 127	Set the stop position co If the external stop com the maximum external s <example> When the number of sto</example>	mmand dividing up to 128 stop positions at i mand entered is greater than the setting, the stop command value. op positions is 90 (divided at intervals of 4°),	regular intervals. e stop positions are the same as those in 90 - 1 = 89. Hence, set "89".
[Example] Wh	en Pr. 369 = "1024"	[Example 2] 8 stop positions	[Example 3] 120 stop positions
0 (3072(HC00)) (20	rigin (0) CW 90° (1024(H400)) 180° 048(H800))	(7 or more) Origin(0) (1) $315^{\circ}$ $45^{\circ}$ CW (6)270° (2) (5)225° $180^{\circ}$ (3) (4)	Origin (0) CW 270° (At intervals (90) of 3° (30) 180° (60)

#### --- Caution --

Pr. 360 = "1"

• Values in parentheses indicate binary data entered from the terminals. Even if the position pulse monitor (*Pr. 52 DU/PU main display data selection* = 19) is selected, the data monitored is not the number of stop positions but is 0 to 65535 pulses.

Pr. 360 = "7"

• FR-A7AX parameters (Pr. 300 to Pr. 305) are invalid. (Valid when Pr. 360 = "0")

Terminal DY (data read timing input signal) is made invalid during vector control. (The position data is downloaded at the start of orientation.)

• Internal stop position command is given even if "1" (external stop position command) is set in *Pr*: 350 when an option card (FR-A7AX) is not mounted or *Pr*: 360 = "0".

· Relationship between stop position command and 16-bit data

Pr. 350	D# 360		Operation	
Stop position command selection	16 bit data selection	Stop position command	16 bit data (FR-A7AX)	Speed command
	0: speed command	Internal (Pr. 356)	Speed command	16 bit data
0:internal	1, 2 to 127: position command	Internal (Pr. 356)	Invalid	External command (or PU)
	0: speed command	Internal (Pr. 356)	Speed command	16 bit data
1: external	1, 2 to 127: position command	External (Internal when the FR-A7AX is not mounted ( <i>Pr. 356</i> ))	Position command	External command (or PU)

#### 3) Pr. 361 Position shift (initial value "0")

The stop position is a position obtained by adding the setting value of *Pr*: *361* to the position command. <Position shift function>

Shift the origin using a compensation value without changing the origin of the poisition detector (encoder).

#### REMARKS

• When orientation control is made valid using *Pr. 350 Stop position command selection* with the FR-A7AP mounted, the rotation direction of encoder is displayed on the rotation direction display of the PU (FR-DU07/FR-PU04/FR-PU07). Set the parameter so that turning on the STF signal displays FWD or turning on the STR signal displays REV.

# (4) Monitor display change

Monitor	Remarks
Position pulse monitor	When "19" is set in $Pr. 52$ , position pulse monitor is displayed instead of output voltage monitor of the PU. (Displayed only when the FR-A7AP is mounted.)
Orientation status*	<ul> <li>When "22" is set in <i>Pr. 52</i>, orientation status is displayed instead of output voltage monitor of the PU. (Displayed only when the FR-A7AP is mounted.)</li> <li>0-Other than orientation operation or orientation speed is not reached</li> <li>1-Orientation speed is reached</li> <li>2-Creep speed is reached</li> <li>3-Position loop is reached</li> <li>4-Orientation complete</li> <li>5-Orientation fault (pulse stop)</li> <li>6-Orientation fault (orientation limit)</li> <li>7-Orientation fault (recheck)</li> <li>8-Continuous multi-point orientation</li> </ul>

\* Invalid during vector control. ("0" is always displayed )

#### (5) Pr. 357 Orientation in-position zone (initial value "5")

- The positioning width for orientation stop can be set. The initial setting of *Pr*: *357* is "5". To change the  $\Delta \theta$  value, finely adjust with ±10 increments, and make fine adjustment.
- If the position detection value from the encoder enters  $\pm \Delta \theta$  during orientation stop, the orientation complete signal (ORA) will be output.

#### Example of operation



# (6) Orientation operation (under V/F control, advanced magnetic flux vector control)

# • Orientation during running

- 1) When the orientation command (X22) is input, the motor speed decreases to the orientation speed set in *Pr. 351 Orientation speed*. (*Pr. 351* initial value: 2Hz)
- 2) After the speed reaches the orientation speed, the speed decreases to the creep speed set in *Pr. 352 Creep speed* as soon as the current position pulse reaches the creep switchover position set in *Pr. 353 Creep switchover position* (*Pr. 352* initial value:0.5Hz, *Pr. 353* initial value: 511)
- 3) Moreover, as soon as the current position pulse reaches the set position loop switchover position in *Pr. 354 Position loop switchover position*, control is changed to position loop. (*Pr. 354* initial value: 96)
- 4) After switching to position loop, the inverter decelerates and stops with DC injection brake as soon as the current position pulse has rached the DC injection brake start position set in *Pr. 355 DC injection brake start position*. (*Pr. 355 initial value: 5*)
- 5) When the position pulse has stopped within the in-position zone set in *Pr. 357 Orientation in-position zone*, the orientation complete signal (ORA) is output after the comletion signal output delay time set in *Pr. 363 Completion signal output delay time* has elapsed. If the motor does not stop within the in-position zone due to external force, etc., the orientation complete signal is turned off after the time set in *Pr. 363 Completion signal output delay time* has elapsed. (*Pr. 357* initial value: 5)
- 6) If the orientation is not completed continusouly for the time set in *Pr. 365 Orientation limit* after passing the creep switchover position, the orientation fault signal (ORM) is output.
- 7) When the motor stops before the position pulse reaching the in-position zone due to external force after orientation start and orientation complete signal (ORA) is not output, orientation fault signal (ORM) is output after the time set in encoder stop check time set in *Pr: 364 Encoder stop check time* has elapsed. Moreover, the orientation complete signal (ORA) is turned off after the time set in *Pr: 363 Completion signal output delay time* has elapsed if the position pulse is outside the in-position zone due to external force, etc. after outputting the orientation complete signal (ORA), and the orientation fault signal (ORM) is output if the orientation has not completed within the time set in *Pr: 364 Encoder stop check time*.
- 8) When the start signal (STF or STR) is turned off with the orientation command on after outputting the orientation complete signal (ORA) and orientation fault signal (ORM), the orientation complete signal (ORM) or orientation fault signal (ORM) is output again after recheck time set in *Pr. 366 Recheck time* has elapsed.
- 9) The orientation complete signal (ORA) and orientation fault signal (ORM) are not output when the orientation command is off.

#### REMARKS

• When the orientation command is off with the start signal on, the speed accelerates to the command speed.



- If the motor shaft hants, set a larger value in *Pr. 354 Position loop switchover position* or a smaller value in *Pr. 352 Creep speed* to prevent it.
- Action time chart



# • Orientation from stop

After turning on the orientation command (X22), turning on the start signal will increase the motor speed to the orientation speed set in *Pr. 351 Orientation speed*, then orientation operation same as when "orientation during running" is performed.

Note that, DC injection brake is operated if the position signal is within the DC injection brake start position. • Action time chart



# • Continuous multi-point orientation

Orientation command and orientation with STF/STR on (Orientation in servo in status)



- Read the position data at starting up of DY (refer to the FR-A7AX instruction manual ).
- When the position signal is within the creep switchover position, the speed starts up to the creep speed not to the orientation speed.
- When the position signal is not within the creep switchover position, the speed starts up to the orientation speed.
- The DC injection brake is operated if the position signal is within the DC injection brake start position.
- 16-bit data with the FR-A7AX is valid only when the DY signal is on.

#### CAUTION =

- The encoder should be coupled with the motor shaft or main spindle oriented with a speed ratio of 1 to 1 without any mechanical looseness.
- DC injection brake operates when orientation stop is made. Release the DC injection brake in a time as short as possible (within several seconds) since continuous operation of the DC injection brake will cause the motor to overheat, leading to burnout.
- Since no servo lock function is available after orientation stop, provide a holding mechanism such as mechanical brake or knock pin when secure holding of a main spindle is required.
- To ensure correct positioning, the encoder must be set in the proper rotation direction and the A and B phases connected correctly.
  When the pulse signal from the encoder stops due to the encoder signal loss, etc. during orientation, the orientation fault signal (ORM) may be output.
- When the DC injection brake is set to disabled using parameter for DC injection brake adjustment (voltage, frequency, speed, time) when performing orientation control, orientation operation can not be completed. Always set the DC injection brake enabled.
- To terminate orientation, the start signal (STF or STR) must be first switched off and the orientation signal (X22) must be switched off. As soon as this orientation signal is switched off, orientation control ends.(Depending on the *Pr. 358 Servo torque selection* setting, orientation status continues if the orientation signal remains on even if DC injection brake is released at turning off of the start signal. Therefore, the orientation status of the monitor function is not 0.)
- When retry function of *Pr. 358 Servo torque selection* is selected, the retry operation is performed three times including the first orientation.
- When performing orientation control, make proper setting of *Pr. 350 Stop position command selection* and *Pr. 360 16 bit data selection* (*external position command selection*). If the values set are incorrect, proper orientation control will not be performed.
- When *Pr. 11 DC injection brake operation time* = "8888" (DC injection brake external selection), DC injection brake does not operate if the X13 signal is not turned on. Note that the DC injection brake is applied under orientation control regardless of the X13 signal status.
- When orientation control is exercised, PID control is invalid.

# • Servo torque selection (Pr. 358)

Valid only under V/F control and advanced magnetic flux vector control.

Pr. 358 Setting															Bemerke
Function	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	Remarks
1) Servo torque function selection until output of the orientation complete signal (ORA)	×	0	0	0	0	×	0	×	0	×	0	×	×	0	O: With servo torque function X: Without servo torque function
2) Retry function selection	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	×	0	×	×	<ul><li>O: With retry function</li><li>X: Without retry function</li></ul>
3) Output frequency is compensated when the motor stops outside the in-position zone	×	×	0	0	×	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	<ul><li>O: With frequency compensation</li><li>X: Without frequency compensation</li></ul>
4) DC injection brake and servo torque selection when the position pulse comes off the in-position zone after output of the orientation complete signal (ORA)	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O: With DC injection brake X: With servo torque
5) End switch selection of the DC injection brake and orientation complete signal (ORA)	0	0	0	×	×	0	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	x	<ul> <li>O: When the start signal (STF, STR) or orientation command is turned off</li> <li>X: When the orientation command is turned off</li> </ul>
6) Completion signal off selection when the position pulse comes off the in-position zone after output of the orientation complete signal (ORA)	0	0	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	×	<ul> <li>O: Turnes off the completion signal whet the motor stops outside of the in- position zone</li> <li>X: Completion signal remains on even the position pulse comes off the completion zone (orientation fault singal (ORM) is no output)</li> </ul>

#### REMARKS

When the orientation command is off with the start signal on, the speed accelerates to the command speed.

- When the motor shaft stops outside of the set setting range of stop position, the motor shaft is returned to the stop position by servo torque function (if enough torque is generated).
- 1) Servo torque function selection until output of the orientation complete signal

Whether servo torque is available or not is selected using *Pr*: *358 Servo torque selection*. Servo torque is not generated if the current position pulse is in between the orientation stop position and DC injection brake start position. Although, the shaft is retained by the DC injection brake, servo torque is generated to return the shaft within the width if the shaft moves out of the width by external force, etc. Once the orientation complete signal (ORA) is output, the motor runs according to the setting made in 4).

2)Retry function selection

Select retry function using *Pr. 358 Servo torque selection*. Note that servo torque function can not be used together. When the motor shaft is not stopped within the in-position zone when the motor stop is checked, orientation operation is performed again by retry function.

With this retry function, three orientations including the first one are performed. More than three times retry operations are not made. (The orientation fault signal (ORM) is not output during retry operation)

3) Frequency compensation function when the motor stops outside the orinetation in-position zone

When the motor stops before entering the in-position zone due to external force, etc., output frequency is increased to move the shaft to the orientation stop position. The output frequency is gradually increased to the creep speed of *Pr. 352 Creep speed*.

Note that retry function can not be used together.

4)DC injection brake and servo torque selection when the position pulse comes off the in-position zone after output of the orientation complete signal (ORA)

If the position pulse comes off the orientation in-position width, you can select a setting either fixing a shaft with the DC injection brake or returning the motor to the orientation stop position with servo torque.

- 5)Orientation operation end switch operation selection between DC injection brake or servo torque
- When ending the orientation operation, turn off the start signal (STF or STR), then turn off the orientation command (X22). At this time, you can select when to turn off the orientation complete signal (ORA) from between at turning off of the start signal or turning off of the orientation command signal.
- 6)Selection of completion signal off or on when the motor stops outside of the in-position zone after output of the orientation complete signal (ORA)

You can select the mode to turn off the completion signal or keep the completion signal on (orientation fault signal (ORM) is not output) when the motor stops outside of the in-position zone.

# • Position loop gain (Pr. 362)

When servo torque function is selected using *Pr. 358 Servo torque selection*, output frequency for generating servo torque increases to the creep speed of *Pr. 352 Creep speed* gradually according to the slope set in *Pr. 362 Orientation position loop gain*.

Although the operation becomes faster when the value is increased, a machine may hunt, etc.

# (7) Orientation operation explanation (during vector control)

# • Setting the rotation direction (Pr. 393 Orientation selection)

Pr. 393 Setting	Rotation Direction	Remarks
0 (initial value)	Pre-orientation	Orientation is executed from the current rotation direction.
1	Forward rotation orientation	Orientation is executed from the forward rotation direction. (If the motor is running in reverse, orientation is executed from the forward rotation direction after deceleration.)
2	Reverse rotation orientation	Orientation is executed from the reverse rotation direction. (If the motor is running in forward, orientation is executed from the reverse rotation direction after deceleration.)

1) Orientation from the current rotation direction

- When the orientation command (X22) is input, the motor speed will decelerate from the runnig speed to *Pr. 351 Orientation speed*. At the same time, the orientation stop position command will be read in. (The stop position command is determined by the setting of *Pr. 350 and Pr. 360*. Refer to the right chart.)
- When the orientation switchover speed is reached, the encoder Z phase pulse will be confirmed, and the mode will change from speed control to position control (*Pr. 362 Orientation position loop gain*).
- The distance to the orientation stop position is calculated at switching of the control, and the motor decelerates and stops with a set deceleration pattern (*Pr: 399*) and the orientation (servo lock) state will be entered.
- When entered in the *Pr. 357 Orientation in-position zone*, the orientation complete signal (ORA) will be output.
- The zero point position (origin) can be moved using Pr. 361 Position shift .



# 

A If the orientation command (X22) is turned off while the start signal is input, the motor will accelerate toward the speed of the current speed command. Thus, to stop, turn the forward rotation (reverse rotation) signal off.

2) Orientation from the forward rotation direction

- This method is used to improve the stopping precision and maintain the mechanical precision when the backlash is large.
- If the motor is running in the forward rotation direction, it will make an orientation stop with the same method as "orientation from the current rotation direction".
- If the motor is running in reverse, it will decelerate, the rotation direction will be changed to forward run, and then orientation stop will be executed.





3)Orientation from the reverse rotation direction

- If the motor is running in the reverse rotation direction, it will make an orientation stop with the same method as "orientation from the current rotation direction".
- If the motor is running in forward, it will decelerate, the rotation direction (tor will be changed to reverse run, and then orientation stop will be executed.



#### = CAUTION

- The encoder should be coupled with the motor shaft oriented with a speed ratio of 1 to 1 without any mechanical looseness.
- To ensure correct positioning, the encoder must be set in the proper rotation direction and the A and B phases connected correctly.
- Orientation may not be completed if the pulse signals are not received from the encoder during orientation due to a break in the cable or the like.
- To terminate orientation, the start signal (STF or STR) must be first switched off and the orientation signal (X22) must be switched off. As soon as this orientation signal is switched off, orientation control ends.
- When performing orientation control, make proper setting of *Pr. 350 Stop position command selection* and *Pr. 360 16 bit data selection*. If the values set are incorrect, proper orientation control will not be performed.
- When orientation control is exercised, PID control is invalid.

#### REMARKS

If "E.ECT" (no encoder signal) is displayed causing the inverter to trip when the orient signal (X22) is ON, check for a single loss in the cable of the Z phase of the encoder.

#### • Servo rigidity adjustment (Pr. 362, Pr. 396 to Pr. 398)

•To increase the servo rigidity 1 during orientation stop using *Pr. 396 or Pr. 397*, adjust with the following procedures.

- 1) Increase the *Pr. 362 Orientation position loop gain* value to the extent that rocking \*2 does not occur during orientation stop.
- 2) Increase Pr. 396 and Pr. 397 at the same rate.

Generally adjust Pr. 396 in the range from 10 to 100, and Pr. 397 from 0.1 to 1.0s.

(Note that these do not need to be set to the same rate.)

#### <Example>

When the Pr. 396 value is multiplied by 1.2, divide the Pr. 397 value by 1.2.

If vibration occurs during orientation stop, the scale cannot be raised any higher.

3) Pr. 398 is the lag/advance compensation gain.

The limit cycle -3 can be prevented by increasing the value, and the running can be stopped stably. However, the torque in regard to the position deviation will drop, and the motor will stop with deviation.

# POINT

Application of lag/advance control and PI control

PI control can be applied by setting *Pr. 398* to 0. Normally, the lag/advance control is selected. Note that PI control shoud be used when using a machine with a high spindle stationary friction torque and requires a stopping position precision.

\*3 Limit cycle: This is a phenomenon that generates ± continuous vibration centering on the target position.

<sup>\*1</sup> Servo rigidity: This is the response when a position control loop is configured. When the servo rigidity is raised, the holding force will increase, the running will stabilize, but vibration will occur easily.

When the servo rigidity is lowered, the holding force will drop, and the setting time will increase.

<sup>\*2</sup> Rocking: Movement in which return occurs if the stopping position is exceeded.

# • Pr. 399 Orientation deceleration ratio (initial value is 20)

• Make adjustments as shown below according to the orientation status. (Refer to the *Pr. 396 and Pr. 397* details also.) Generally adjust *Pr. 362* in the range from 5 to 20, and *Pr. 399* from 5 to 50.

Phonomonon		Adjustmen	It Procedur	e
Filehomenon	Pr. 396	Pr. 397	Pr. 362	Pr. 399
Rocking occurs during stopping	3)	3)	2)	1)
The orientation time is long	-	-	2)	1)
Hunting occurs when stopping	2)	2)	1)	-
The servo rigidity during stopping is low	1)	1)	2)	-

#### CAUTION =

=

Or, if the motor does forward/reverse reciprocation operation (), the parameter setting value for the orientation detector installation direction may be incorrect. Review *Pr. 393 Orientation selection (refer to page 196) and Pr. 359 Encoder rotation direction (refer to page 195)*.

#### • Pr. 351 Orientation speed (initial value: 2Hz)

• Set the speed when switching beween the speed control mode and the position control mode is performed under orientation operation.

Decreasing the set speed enables stable orientation stop. Note that the orientation time will increase.



#### REMARKS

When "19" is set in *Pr. 52 DU/PU main display data selection*, position pulse monitor is displayed instead of PU output voltage monitor.
### 4.15 Function assignment of external terminal and control

Purpose	Parameter th	at must be Set	Refer to Page
Assign function to input terminal	Input terminal function selection	Pr. 178 to Pr. 189	206
Set MRS signal (output shutoff) to normally closed contact specification	MRS input selection	Pr. 17	209
Make the second (third) function valid only during constant speed operation	RT signal function validity condition selection	Pr. 155	210
Assign start signal and forward/ reverse command to other signals	Start signal (STF/STR) operation selection	Pr. 250	211
Assign function to output terminal	Output terminal function assignment	Pr. 190 to Pr. 196	214
Detect output frequency	Up-to-frequency sensitivity Output frequency detection Low speed detection	Pr. 41 to Pr. 43, Pr. 50, Pr. 116, Pr. 865	221
Detect output current	Output current detection Zero current detection	Pr. 150 to Pr. 153, Pr. 166, Pr. 167	223
Remote output function	Remote output	Pr. 495 to Pr. 497	225
Detect output torque	Output torque detection	Pr. 864	224

### 4.15.1 Input terminal function selection (Pr. 178 to Pr. 189)

Use these parameters to select/change the input terminal functions.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Initial Signal	Setting Range
178	STF terminal function selection	60	STF (forward rotation command)	0 to 9, 12 to 20, 22 to 28, 42 to 44, 60, 62, 64 to 69, 74, 9999
179	STR terminal function selection	61	STR (reverse rotation command)	0 to 9, 12 to 20, 22 to 28, 42 to 44, 61, 62, 64 to 69, 74, 9999
180	RL terminal function selection	0	RL (low-speed operation command)	
181	RM terminal function selection	1	RM (middle-speed operation command)	0 to 9, 12 to 20, 22 to 28, 42
182	RH terminal function selection	2	RH (high speed operation command)	to 44, 62, 64 to 69, 74, 9999
183	RT terminal function selection	3	RT (second function selection)	
184	AU terminal function selection	4	AU (terminal 4 input selection)	0 to 9, 12 to 20, 22 to 28, 42 to 44, 62 to 69, 74, 9999
185	JOG terminal function selection	5	JOG (Jog operation selection)	
186	CS terminal function selection	6	CS (selection of automatic restart after instantaneous power failure)	0 to 9, 12 to 20, 22 to 28, 42
187	MRS terminal function selection	24	MRS (output stop)	to 44, 62, 64 to 69, 74, 9999
188	STOP terminal function selection	25	STOP (start self-holding selection)	
189	<b>RES terminal function selection</b>	62	RES (inverter reset)	

### (1) Input terminal function assignment

• Use *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189* to set the functions of the input terminals.

· Refer to the following table and set the parameters:

Setting	Signal Name		Function	Related Parameters	Refer to Page
0 RL Pr		Pr. 59 = 0 (initial value)	Low-speed operation command	Pr. 4 to Pr. 6, Pr. 24 to Pr. 27, Pr. 232 to Pr. 239	148
		<i>Pr</i> : 59 = 1, 2 *1	Remote setting (setting clear)	Pr. 59	152
		<i>Pr</i> : 270 = 1, 3 *2	Stop-on-contact selection 0	Pr. 270, Pr. 275, Pr. 276	189
1 RM		Pr. 59 = 0 (initial value)	Middle-speed operation command	Pr. 4 to Pr. 6, Pr. 24 to Pr. 27, Pr. 232 to Pr. 239	148
		<i>Pr</i> : 59 = 1, 2 *1	Remote setting (deceleration)	Pr. 59	152
2 RH		Pr. 59 = 0 (initial value)	High-speed operation command	Pr. 4 to Pr. 6, Pr. 24 to Pr. 27, Pr. 232 to Pr. 239	148
		<i>Pr</i> : 59 = 1, 2 *1	Remote setting (acceleration)	Pr. 59	152

Setting	Signal Name	Function	Related Parameters	Refer to Page
3	RT	Second function selection	Pr. 44 to Pr. 51, Pr. 450 to Pr. 463, Pr. 569, Pr. 832, Pr. 836, etc.	210
		Pr: 270 = 1, 3 *2 Stop-on-contact selection 1	Pr. 270, Pr. 275, Pr. 276	189
4	AU	Terminal 4 input selection	Pr. 267	259
5	JOG	Jog operation selection	Pr. 15, Pr. 16	150
6	CS	Selection of automatic restart after instantaneous power failure, flying start	Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr.162 to Pr.165, Pr. 299, Pr. 611	239
Ŭ		Electronic bypass function	Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr.135 to Pr.139, Pr. 159	337
7	OH	External thermal relay input *3	Pr. 9	165
8	REX	15 speed selection (combination with three speeds RL, RM, RH)	Pr. 4 to Pr. 6, Pr. 24 to Pr. 27, Pr.232 to Pr.239	148
9	X9	Third function selection	Pr. 110 to Pr. 116	210
12	X12	PU operation external interlock	Pr. 79	283
13	X13	External DC injection brake operation start	Pr. 10 to Pr. 12	185
14	X14	PID control valid terminal	Pr. 127 to Pr. 134, Pr. 575 to Pr. 577	329
15	BRI	Brake opening completion signal	Pr. 278 to Pr. 285	192
16	X16	PU-external operation switchover (turning on X16 selects external operation)	Pr. 79, Pr. 340	289
17	X17	Load pattern selection forward/reverse rotation boost (turning on X17 changes the output characteristics to constant torque load)	Pr. 14	144
18	X18	V/F switchover (turning on X18 selects V/F control)	Pr. 80, Pr. 81, Pr. 800	75, 131
19	X19	Load torque high-speed frequency	Pr. 270 to Pr. 274	342
20	X20	S-pattern acceleration/deceleration C switching terminal	Pr. 380 to Pr. 383	158
22	X22	Orientation command *4, *6	Pr. 350 to Pr. 369	195
23	LX	Pre-excitation/servo on *5	Pr. 850	185
		Output stop	Pr. 17	209
24	MRS	Electronic bypass function	Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr.135 to Pr.139, Pr. 159	337
25	STOP	Start self-holding selection	—	211
26	MC	Control mode changing	Pr. 800	75
27	TL	Torque limit selection	Pr. 815	83
28	X28	Start-time tuning start external input	Pr. 95	181
42	X42	Torque bias selection 1 *6	Pr. 840 to Pr. 845	97
43	X43	Torque bias selection 2 *6	Pr. 840 to Pr. 845	97
44	X44	P/PI control switchover (turning on X44 selects P control)	Pr. 820, Pr. 821, Pr. 830, Pr. 831	88
60	STF	Forward rotation command (assigned to STF terminal ( <i>Pr. 178</i> ) only)		211
61	STR	Reverse rotation command (assigned to STR terminal ( <i>Pr. 179</i> ) only)		211
62	RES	Inverter reset	—	
63	PTC	PTC thermistor input (assigned to AU terminal (Pr. 184) only)	Pr. 9	165
64	X64	PID forward/reverse action switchover	Pr. 127 to Pr. 134, Pr. 5	329
65	X65	PU-NET operation switchover (turning on X65 selects PU operation)	Pr. 79, Pr. 340	290
66	X66	External-NET operation switchover (turning on X66 selects NET operation)	Pr. 79, Pr. 340	290
67	X67	Command source switchover (turning on X67 makes <i>Pr. 338</i> and <i>Pr. 339</i> commands valid)	Pr. 338, Pr. 339	292
68	NP	Conditional position pulse train sign *6	Pr. 291, Pr. 419 to Pr. 430, Pr. 464	120
69	CLR	Conditional position droop pulse clear *6	Pr. 291, Pr. 419 to Pr. 430, Pr. 464	120
74	X74	Magnetic flux decay output shutoff signal	—	213
9999		No function	—	_

\*1

When *Pr. 59 Remote function selection* = "1 or 2", the functions of the RL, RM and RH signals change as listed above. When *Pr. 270 Stop-on contact/load torque high-speed frequency control selection* = "1 or 3", the functions of the RL and RM signals change as listed above. \*2 \*3 \*4 The OH signal turns on when the relay contact "opens".

The FR-A7AX (16-bit digital input) is needed to externally input a stop position under orientation control.

Servo ON is made valid during position control under vector control operation. Available only when used with the FR-A7AP (option). \*5

\*6

### REMARKS

- One function can be assigned to two or more terminals. In this case, the terminal inputs are ORed.
- The priorities of the speed commands are in order of jog > multi-speed setting (RH, RM, RL, REX) > PID (X14).
- When the PU operation external interlock (X12) signal is not assigned at the *Pr. 79 Operation mode selection* setting of "7", the MRS signal shares this function.
- · Use common terminals to assign multi-speeds (speed 7) and remote setting. They cannot be set individually.
- (Common terminals are used since these functions are designed for speed setting and need not be set at the same time.)
  When V/F switching (X18) signal and load pattern selection forward rotation reverse rotation boost (X17) signal are not assigned, the RT signal shares this function. (*Pr. 81 Number of motor poles* = "12, 14, 16, 18, 20")
  In this case, V/F control is controlled by the second function.

#### = CAUTION =

Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Also check that wiring is correct, since the terminal name and the signal function became different.
 Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

### 4.15.2 Inverter output shutoff signal (MRS signal, Pr. 17)

The inverter output can be shut off from the MRS signal. The logic of the MRS signal can also be selected.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
17 MRS input selection		0	Normally open input	
			2	Normally closed input (NC contact input specifications)
	MRS input selection	0	4	External terminal: Normally closed input (NC contact input specifications) Communication: Normally open input



### (1) Output shutoff signal (MRS signal)

- Turning on the output shutoff signal (MRS) during inverter running shuts off the output immediately.
  Terminal MRS may be used as described below.
- (a)When mechanical brake (e.g. electromagnetic brake) is used to stop motor
- The inverter output is shut off when the mechanical brake operates. (b) To provide interlock to disable operation by the inverter
  - With the MRS signal on, the inverter cannot be operated if the start signal is entered into the inverter.
- (c) Coast the motor to a stop When the start signal is turned off, the inverter decelerates the motor to a stop in the preset deceleration time, but when the MRS signal is turned on, the motor coasts to a stop
- (2) MRS signal logic inversion (Pr. 17 = "2")
  - When *Pr*: *17* is set to "2", the MRS signal (output stop) can be changed to the normally closed (NC contact) input specification. When the MRS signal turns on (opens), the inverter shuts off the output.
- (3) Assign a different action for each MRS signal input from communication and external terminal (*Pr. 17* = "4")
  - When *Pr*: *17* is set to "4", the MRS signal from external terminal (output stop) can be changed to the normally closed (NC contact) input, and the MRS signal from communication can be changed to the normally open (NO contact) input.

This function is useful to perform operation by communication with MRS signal from external terminal remained on.

Extornal MBS	Communication MPS	Pr. 17 Setting				
	Communication witto	0	2	4		
OFF	OFF	Operation enabled	Output shutoff	Output shutoff		
OFF	ON	Output shutoff	Output shutoff	Output shutoff		
ON	OFF	Output shutoff	Output shutoff	Operation enabled		
ON	ON	Output shutoff	Operation enabled	Output shutoff		

### REMARKS

- The MRS signal is assigned to the terminal MRS in the initial setting. By setting "24" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)*, the MRS signal can be assigned to the other terminal.
- The MRS signal can shut off the output, independently of the PU, external or network operation mode.

### CAUTION =

Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr*: 178 to *Pr*: 189 (input terminal function selection) may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

### ♦ Parameters referred to ♦

Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (Input terminal function selection) I Refer to page 206

## 4.15.3 Condition selection of function validity by the second function selection signal (RT) and third function selection signal (X9) (RT signal, X9 signal, Pr. 155)

You can select the second (third) function using the RT(X9) signal. You can also set the condition (reflection conditon) where the second function and third function become valid.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
155 RT signal function validity condition selection		0	Second (third) function is immediately made valid with on of the RT(X9) signal.	
	RT signal function validity condition selection	0	10	Second (third) function is valid only during the RT (X9) signal is on and constant speed operation. (invalid during acceleration/deceleration)

 $\cdot\,$  When the RT signal turns on, the second function becomes valid.

When the X9 signal turns on, the third function becomes valid.

For the X9 signal, set "9" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* to assign the function. The second (third) function has the following applications.

(a)Switching between normal use and emergency use

(b)Switching between heavy load and light load

(c)Changing of acceleration/deceleration time by broken line acceleration/deceleration

(d)Switching of characteristic between main motor and sub motor

#### Second function connection diagram



### Second acceleration/deceleration time example



· Functions that can be set as second and third functions

Function	First Function Parameter Number	Second Function Parameter Number	Third Function Parameter Number	Referto Page
Torque boost	Pr. 0	Pr. 46	Pr. 112	129
Base frequency	Pr. 3	Pr. 47	Pr. 113	142
Acceleration time	Pr. 7	Pr. 44	Pr. 110	155
Deceleration time	Pr. 8	Pr. 44, Pr. 45	Pr. 110, Pr. 111	155
Electronic thermal relay function	Pr. 9	Pr. 51	_	165
Stall prevention	Pr. 22	Pr. 48, Pr. 49	Pr. 114, Pr. 115	135
Applied motor	Pr. 71	Pr. 450		169
Motor constant	Pr. 80 to Pr. 84, Pr. 89, Pr. 90 to Pr. 94, Pr. 96, Pr. 859	Pr. 453 to Pr. 457, Pr. 569, Pr. 458 to Pr. 462, Pr. 463, Pr. 860	_	171
Online auto tuning selection	Pr. 95	Pr. 574		181
Motor control method	Pr. 800	Pr. 451		75
Speed control gain	Pr. 820, Pr. 821	Pr. 830, Pr. 831	—	88
Analog input filter	Pr. 822, Pr. 826	Pr. 832, Pr. 836	—	265
Speed detection filter	Pr. 823	Pr. 833	—	127
Torque control gain	Pr. 824, Pr. 825	Pr. 834, Pr. 835	_	113
Torque detection filter	Pr. 827	Pr. 837		127

### REMARKS

• The RT signal is assigned to the RT terminal in the initial setting. By setting "3" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)*, the RT signal can be assigned to the other terminal.

· When the RT (X9) signal is on, the other functions such as the second (third) are also selected.

#### — CAUTION

Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### Parameters referred to +

Pr. 178 to Pr.189 (input terminal function selection) I Refer to page 206

### 4.15.4 Start signal operation selection (STF, STR, STOP signal, Pr. 250)

You can select the operation of the start signal (STF/STR).

Used to select the stopping method (deceleration to a stop or coasting) when the start signal turns off. Used to stop the motor with a mechanical brake, etc. together with switching off of the start signal.

(Refer to page 188 for stop selection)

Paramotor		Initial	Sotting	Desc	ription
Number	Number Name		Range	Start signal (STF/STR)	Stop operation (Refer to page 188)
250 Stop selection		0 to 10	0 to 100s	STF signal: Forward rotation start STR signal: Reverse rotation start	rotationThe motor is coasted to a stop when the preset time elapses after the start signal is turned off. When the setting is any of 1000s to 1100s, the inverter coasts to a stop in ( <i>Pr. 250</i> - 1000)s.rotationviewerse tignalrotationWhen the start signal is turned off, the motor decelerates to stop.rotationstop.
	Ston coloction	0000	1000s to 1100s	STF signal: Start signal STR signal: Forward/reverse rotation signal	
	Stop selection	9999	9999	STF signal: Forward rotation start STR signal: Reverse rotation start	
			8888	STF signal: Start signal STR signal: Forward/reverse rotation signal	

### (1) 2-wire type (STF, STR signal)

- $\cdot\,$  A two-wire type connection is shown below.
- In the initial setting, the forward/reverse rotation signals (STF/STR) are used as start and stop signals. Turn on either of the forward and reverse rotation signals to start the motor in the corresponding direction. If both are turned off (or on) during operation, the inverter decelerates to a stop.
- The speed setting signal may either be given by entering 0 to 10VDC across the speed setting input terminal 2-5, by setting the required values in *Pr. 4 to Pr. 6 Multi-speed setting (high, middle, low speeds)*, etc. (For multi-speed operation, refer to *page 148*)
- When *Pr. 250* is set to any of "1000 to 1100, 8888", the STF signal becomes a start command and the STR signal a forward/reverse command.



### REMARKS

When *Pr. 250* is set to any of "0 to 100, 1000 to 1100", the motor coasts to a stop if the start command is turned off. (*Refer to page 188*)

The STF and STR signals are assigned to the STF and STR terminals in the initial setting. The STF signal can be assigned to *Pr. 178 STF terminal function selection* and the STR signal to *Pr. 179 STR terminal function selection* only.

4

Time

### (2) 3-wire type (STF, STR, STOP signal)

- A three-wire type connection is shown below.
- The start self-holding selection becomes valid when the STOP signal is turned on. In this case, the forward/reverse rotation signal functions only as a start signal.
- · If the start signal (STF or STR) is turned on and then off, the start signal is held and makes a start. When changing the direction of rotation, turn STR (STF) on once and then off.
- · To stop the inverter, turning off the STOP signal once decelerates it to a stop.



Three-Wire Type Connection Example (Pr. 250 = "9999")

Three-Wire Type Connection Example (*Pr. 250* = "8888")

### REMARKS

- The STOP signal is assigned to the terminal STOP in the initial setting. By setting "25" in *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189*, the STOP signal can also be assigned to the other terminal.
- · When the JOG signal is turned on to enable jog operation, the STOP signal becomes invalid.
- · If the MRS signal is turned on to stop the output, the self-holding function is not canceled.

### (3) Start signal selection

STE	стр	Pr. 250 Setting	Inverter Status	
SII SIK		0 to 100s, 9999	1000s to 1100s, 8888	
OFF	OFF	Stop	Stop	
OFF	ON	Reverse rotation	3.66	
ON	OFF	Forward rotation	Forward rotation	
ON	ON	Stop	Reverse rotation	

### ◆ Parameters referred to ◆

Pr. 4 to Pr. 6 (Multi-speed setting) The Refer to page 148 Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (Input terminal function selection) The Refer to page 206

## 4.15.5 Magnetic flux decay output shutoff signal (X74 signal)

Performing frequent start/stop (inching operation) with mechanical brake using output shutoff signal (MRS) during real sensorless vector control may cause an inverter fault (electronic thermal realy function fault: E.THT, etc) due to residual magnetic flux and an error in monitor output (running speed, motor torque, load meter, torque command, torque current command, motor output).

In such a case, use magnetic flux decay output shutoff signal (X74) as output shutoff signal.

Turning X74 signal on shuts off output after decaying motor residual magnetic flux.

- · For the X74 signal, set "74" in any of Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) to assign the function.
- Operate a mechanical brake after turning X74 signal on.
- When the MC is provided on the inverter output side, turn X74 signal on and open the MC after magnetic flux decay operation time (refer to below) has elapsed.



Maximum time of magnetic flux decay operation

Motor Capacity(Pr. 80 setting)	5.5kW to 11kW	15kW to 30kW	37kW to 55kW
Magnetic flux decay processing time	500ms	800ms	900ms

### REMARKS

- · When performing operation other than real sensorless vector control, turning X74 signal on immediately shuts off inverter output.
- During an automatic restart after instantaneous power failure or start-time online auto tuning under real sensorless vector control, turning X74 signal on immediately shuts off inverter output.
- When some other factor affecting output shutoff (inverter alarm, MRS signal on, etc.) occurs during magnetic flux decay operation, magnetic flux decay operation is stopped to immideately shut off output.

### = CAUTION :

- Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.
- Different from MRS signal, voltage is output during magnetic flux decay processing even if X74 signal turns on.
- If the timing of mechanical brake opening is early, motor shaft may be forced to turn by a gravity drop or external force. If the timing of mechanical brake opening is late, overcurrent, stall prevention operation or electronic thermal relay function may be activated. Use output frequency detection signal (FU) or output current detection signal (Y12) to perform the mechanical brake opening suitable for the machine.

### 4.15.6 Output terminal function selection (Pr. 190 to Pr. 196)

You can change the functions of the open collector output terminal and relay output terminal.

Parameter Number	Name		Initial Value	Initial Signal	Setting Range
190	RUN terminal function selection		0	RUN (inverter running)	
191	SU terminal function selection	Open	1	SU (up to frequency)	0 to 6, 8, 10 to 20, 25 to 28, 30 to 36, 39, 41 to 47, 64, 70, 84, 90 to
192	IPF terminal function selection	collector output terminal	2	IPF (instantaneous power failure, undervoltage)	99, 100 to 106, 108, 110 to 116, 120, 125 to 128, 130 to 136, 139,
193	OL terminal function selection		3	OL (overload alarm)	141 to 147, 164, 170, 184, 190 to 199, 9999
194	FU terminal function selection		4	FU (output frequency detection)	
195	ABC1 terminal function selection	Relay	99	ALM (fault output)	0 to 6, 8, 10 to 20, 25 to 28, 30 to 36, 39, 41 to 47, 64, 70, 84, 85, 90, 91, 94 to 99, 100 to 106, 108, 110
196	ABC2 terminal function selection	output terminal	9999	No function	to 116, 120, 125 to 128, 130 to 136, 139, 141 to 147, 164, 170, 184, 190, 191, 194 to 199, 9999

### (1) Output signal list

· You can set the functions of the output terminals.

· Refer to the following table and set the parameters: (0 to 99: Positive logic, 100 to 199: Negative logic)

Set	ting	Signal			Deleted	Poforto	
Positive Logic	Negative Logic	Name	Function	Operation	Parameters	Page	
0	100	RUN	Inverter running	Output during operation when the inverter output frequency rises to or above <i>Pr</i> : 13 <i>Starting frequency</i> .		217	
1	101	SU	Up to frequency *1	Output when the output frequency is reached to the set frequency. *3	Pr. 41	221	
2	102	IPF	Instantaneous power failure/undervoltage	Output at occurrence of an instantaneous power failure or when undervoltage protection is activated.	Pr. 57	239	
3	103	OL	Overload alarm Output while stall prevention function is activated.		Pr. 22, Pr. 23, Pr. 66, Pr. 148, Pr. 149, Pr. 154	135	
4	104	FU	Output frequency detection Output when the output frequency reaches the frequency set in <i>Pr. 42 (Pr. 43</i> for reverse rotation). *3		Pr. 42, Pr. 43	221	
5	105	FU2	Second output frequency detection	Output when the output frequency reaches the frequency set in <i>Pr. 50.</i> *3	Pr. 50	221	
6	106	FU3	Third output frequency detection	Third output frequency Output when the output frequency reaches detection the frequency set in <i>Pr: 116.</i> *3		221	
8	108	THP	Electronic thermal relay function prealarm	Electronic thermal elay function prealarm (Electronic thermal elay function prealarm (Electronic thermal relay function protection (E.THT/E.THM) activates, when the value reached 100%)		167	
10	110	PU	PU operation mode	Output when the PU operation mode is selected.	Pr. 79	283	
11	111	RY	Inverter operation ready	Output when the inverter power is turned on, then output after reset process is completed (when the inverter can be started by switching the start signal on or while it is running).	_	217	
12	112	Y12	Output current detection	Output when the output current is higher than the <i>Pr</i> : <i>150</i> setting for longer than the time set in <i>Pr</i> : <i>151</i> .	Pr. 150, Pr. 151	223	
13	113	Y13	Zero current detection	Output when the output power is lower than the <i>Pr. 152</i> setting for longer than the time set in <i>Pr. 153</i> .	Pr. 152, Pr. 153	223	

Set	ting	Signal				Refer to
Positive Logic	Negative Logic	Name	Function	Operation	Parameters	Page
14	114	FDN	PID lower limit	Output when the feedback value falls below the lower limit of PID control.		
15	115	FUP	PID upper limit	ID upper limit Output when the feedback value rises above the upper limit of PID control		329
16	116	RL	PID forward/reverse rotation output	Output when forward rotation is performed in PID control.		
17		MC1	Electronic bypass MC1		D 4054 D 400	
18		MC2	Electronic bypass MC2	Used when the commercial power supply-	Pr. 135 to Pr. 139, Dr. 150	337
19		MC3	Electronic bypass MC3	inverter switchover function is used.	PI. 159	
20	120	BOF	Brake opening request	Output to open the brake when the brake sequence function is selected.	Pr. 278 to Pr. 285, Pr. 292	192
25	125	FAN	Fan fault output	Output at the time of a fan fault.	Pr. 244	353
26	126	FIN	Heatsink overheat pre- alarm	Output when the heatsink temperature reaches about 85% of the heatsink overheat protection providing temperature.		380
27	127	ORA	Orientation complete		Pr. 350 to Pr. 366,	
28	128	ORM	Orientation fault	When orientation is valid *4	Pr. 369, Pr. 393, Pr. 396 to Pr. 399	195
30	130	Y30	Forward rotation output	Output when the motor is running in forward direction. *4		219
31	131	Y31	Reverse rotation output	Output when the motor is running in reverse direction. *4	_	219
32	132	Y32	Regenerative status output	Output in the regenerative status under vector control operation. *4		219
33	133	RY2	Operation ready 2	eration ready 2 Output during pre-exitation or operation under real sensorless vector control.		217
34	134	LS	Low speed output	Output when the output frequency reduces below the <i>Pr.</i> 865 setting.		221
35	135	TU	Torque detection	Output when the motor torque rises above Pr. 864 value.		224
36	136	Y36	In-position	n-position Output when the number of droop pulses has fallen below the setting value. *4		123
39	139	Y39	Start time tuning completion	Output on completion of start-time tuning.	Pr. 95, Pr. 574	181
41	141	FB	Speed detection	Output when the actual motor speed		
42	142	FB2	Second speed detection	(estimated actual speed value) reaches the <i>Pr. 42 (Pr. 50, Pr.116)</i> setting.	Pr. 42, Pr. 50, Pr. 116	221
43	143	FB3	Third speed detection	Output during forward rotation or the     reverse rotation signal is on		
44	144	RUN2	Inverter running 2	<ul> <li>Output at deceleration even during forward rotation or the reverse rotation signal is off. (Does not output during pre-excitation LX is on.)</li> <li>Output during the orientation command signal (X22) is on.</li> <li>Switched on when the servo is on (LX-ON) under position control. (Switched off when the servo is off (LX-OFF))</li> </ul>	_	217
45	145	RUN3	Inverter running and start command is on	r running and Output when the inverter is running and start ommand is on command is on.		217
46	146	Y46	During deceleration at occurrence of power failure	Output when the power failure-time deceleration function is executed. (retained until release)		243
47	147	PID	During PID control activated	Output during PID control.	Pr. 127 to Pr. 134, Pr. 575 to Pr. 577	329
64	164	Y64	During retry	Output during retry processing.	Pr. 65 to Pr. 69	246
70	170	SLEEP	PID output interruption	Output when the PID output interruption function is executed.	Pr. 127 to Pr. 134, Pr. 575 to Pr. 577	329
84	184	RDY	Position control preparation ready	Output when the servo is on (LX-ON) and ready to operate. *4	Pr. 419, Pr. 428 to Pr. 430	120

Set	etting Signal			Polatod	Refer to	
Positive Logic	Negative Logic	Name	Function	Operation	Parameters	Page
90	190	Y90	Life alarm Dutput when any of the control circuit capacitor, main circuit capacitor and inrus current limit circuit or the cooling fan approaches the end of its service life.		Pr. 255 to Pr. 259	354
91	191	Y91	Fault output 3 (power-off signal)	Output when a fault occurs due to the circuit failure of the inverter wiring mistake.	_	220
92	192	Y92	Energy saving average value updated timing	Energy saving average ralue updated timing Turned on and off alternately every time the power saving average value is updated when the power saving monitor is used. Cannot be set to <i>Pr. 195</i> and <i>Pr. 196</i> (relay output terminal).		252
93	193	Y93	Current average value monitor signal	Average current value and maintenance timer value are output as pulses. Cannot be set to <i>Pr. 195</i> and <i>Pr. 196</i> (relay output terminal).		358
94	194	ALM2	Output when the fault occurs. Continue           Fault output 2         outputting the signal during inverter reset and stop outputting after reset status is finished. *2			220
95	195	Y95	Maintenance timer signal	Output when <i>Pr. 503</i> rises to or above the <i>Pr. 504</i> setting.	Pr. 503, Pr. 504	357
96	196	REM	Remote output	Output to the terminal when a value is set to the parameter.	Pr. 495 to Pr. 497	225
97	197	ER	Alarm output 2	When $Pr. 875 =$ "0" (initial value), the signal is output when the fault occurs. When $Pr. 875 =$ "1", the signal is output when the inverter protective function is activated at occurrence of OHT/THM/PTC fault and deceleration is started. Output when other protective functions are activated and the inverter trips.	Pr. 875	250
98	198	LF	Alarm output	Output when an alarm (fan failure or communication error warning) occurs.	Pr. 121, Pr. 244	302, 353
99	199	ALM	Fault output	Output when the fault occurs. The signal		220
99	999		No function		—	

\*1 Note that when the frequency setting is varied using an analog signal or O of the operation panel (FR-DU07), the output of the SU (up to

frequency) signal may alternate on and off depending on that varying speed and the timing of the varying speed due to acceleration/deceleration time setting. (The output will not alternate on and off when the acceleration/deceleration time setting is "0s".)

\*2 When a power supply reset is performed, the fault output 2 signal (ALM2) turns off as soon as the power supply switches off.

\*3 Up to frequency SU, frequency detection FU, FU2, FU3 under encoder feed back control or vector control (option FR-A7AP is mounted) signals are as below.

SU, FU: Output when the actual speed (frequency) by the encoder feedback signal exceeds detected specification frequency.

FU2, FU3: Output when the inverter output frequency exceeds detected specification frequency.

\*4 This function is valid when the FR-A7AP (option) is mounted.

### REMARKS

· The same function may be set to more than one terminal.

- When the function is executed, the terminal conducts at the setting of any of "0" to "99", and does not conduct at the setting of any of "100" to "199".
- When Pr. 76 Fault code output selection = "1", the output signals of the terminals SU, IPF, OL and FU are switched as set in Pr. 76.
- (When an inverter fault occurs, the signal output is switched to the fault code output.)
- The output assignment of the terminal RUN and alarm output relay are as set above regardless of Pr. 76.

### = CAUTION =

- Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.
- Do not assign signals which repeat frequent ON/OFF to A1, B1, C1, A2, B2, C2. Otherwise, the life of the relay contact decreases.

## (2) Inverter operation ready signal (RY, RY2 signal) and inverter running signal (RUN, RUN2, RUN3 signal)



When the inverter is ready to operate, the output of the operation ready signal (RY) is on. (It is also on during inverter running.)

When the output frequency of the inverter rises to or above *Pr. 13 Starting frequency*, the output of the inverter running signals (RUN, RUN2) is turned on. During an inverter stop or DC injection brake operation, the output is off.

For the RUN3 signal, output is on while the inverter running and the start signal is on.

(For the RUN3 signal, output is on if the starting command is on even when a fault occurrs or the MRS signal is on.)

The output is on during DC injection brake operation and off during an inverter stop.

Inverter Status	Start Signal is	Start Signal is	Start Signal is	Under DC	At Alarm Occurrence or MRS Signal is on		Autor Instanta	natic Restar neous Powe	t after er Failure
	OFF	ON	ON	Injection	(output	shutoff)	Coa	sting	
Output Signal	(during stop)	(during stop)	(during running)	Brake	Start signal is ON	Start signal is OFF	Start signal is ON	Start signal is OFF	Restarting
RY	ON	ON	ON	ON	0	FF	0	<b>V</b> *1	ON
RY2	OFF	OFF	OFF	OFF	0	FF	0	FF	OFF
RUN	OFF	OFF	ON	OFF	0	FF	0	FF	ON
RUN2	OFF	OFF	ON	OFF	0	FF	0	FF	ON
RUN3	OFF	ON	ON	ON	ON	OFF	ON	OFF	ON

\*1 This signal turns off during power failure or undervoltage.

Under real sensor less vector control, vector control



When the inverter is ready to operate, the output of the operation ready signal (RY) is on.

(It is also on during inverter running.)

When the inverter output frequency rises to or above the *Pr*: *13 Starting frequency* setting, the output of the inverter running signal (RUN) is turned on. During an inverter stop, DC

injection brake operation, start time tuning or pre-excitation, the output is off.

- For the RUN2 signal, the output is on while the inverter is running and the start signal is on. (For the RUN2 signal, the output is off when the inverter protective function is activated and the MRS signal is on.)
- For the RUN3 signal, the output is on while the inverter is running and the start signal is on.
- The RUN2 and RUN3 signals are on when the start command is on and even during pre-excitation with "0" set in speed command. (Note that the RUN2 signal turns off during preexcitation by turning the LX signal on.)

The RY2 signal turns on at the start of pre-excitation.

The signal is on while pre-excitation is activated even during an inverter stop. The signal turns off while the output is shut off (MRS signal).

### REMARKS

For pre-excitation by pre-excitation signal (LX), the RY2 signal turns on when 100ms has elapsed after LX signal turn on.

LX	ON
	100ms
RY2	ON

Inverter Status	Start	Start	Start	I X Signal	DC	At A Occurr	larm ence or	Auton Instantar	natic Resta neous Pow	art after ver Failure
	Signal is OFF	Signal is ON *1	Signal is ON	is ON	is ON Brake		MRS Signal is on (output shutoff)		Coasting	
Output Signal	(during stop)	(pre- excitation)	(during running)	excitation)	(pre- excitation)	Start signal is ON	Start signal is OFF	Start signal is ON	Start signal is OFF	Restarting
RY	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	O	FF	NO	*2	ON
RY2	OFF	ON	ON	ON *3	ON	O	FF	O	FF	OFF
RUN	OFF	OFF	ON	OFF	OFF	O	FF	O	FF	ON
RUN2	OFF	ON	ON	OFF *4	OFF	O	FF	O	FF	ON
RUN3	OFF	ON	ON	ON	ON	ON	OFF	ON	OFF	ON

\*1 Pre-excitation is made when the start signal is ON and frequency command is 0Hz.

\*2 This signal turns OFF during power failure or undervoltage.

\*3 There is a delay of 100ms when the signal is ON.

\*4 This signal turns ON during servo ON (LX signal is ON) under position control.

Output	Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 Setting				
Signal	Positive logic	Negative logic			
RY	11	111			
RY2	33	133			
RUN	0	100			
RUN2	44	144			
RUN3	45	145			

### REMARKS

• The RUN signal is assigned to the terminal RUN in the initial setting.

• When using the RY, RY2, RUN, RUN2 and RUN3 signals, assign functions to *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal selection function)* referring to the table on the left.

### (3) Forward rotation and reverse rotation signal (Y30, Y31 signal)



- The status during forward rotation (Y30) and reverse rotation (Y31) are output from the actual motor speed under vector control.
- Y30 and Y31 signals turn off during pre-excitation (zero speed, servo lock) under speed control or torque control operation. Note that signals are output according to the motor rotation during servo lock under position control as same as inverter running.
- When using the Y30 signal, set "30 (positive logic) or 130 (negative logic)" to any of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* to assign the function to the output terminal.
- When using the Y31 signal, set "31 (positive logic) or 131 (negative logic)" to any of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* to assign the function to the output terminal.

### REMARKS

This signal is always off during V/F control, advanced magnetic flux vector control or real sensorless vector control.

- · If the motor is made to run by external force, etc. during an inverter stop, Y30 and Y31 remain OFF.
- The FR-A7AP (option) is necessary for vector control.

### (4) Regenerative mode output signal (Y32 signal)



While the motor is in regenerative status (motor is in power regenerative status), the regenerative status output signal (Y32) is turned on.

If the signal is turned on once, it will be retained for at least 100ms.

- It turns off while the inverter is stopped and during preexcitation.
- When using the Y32 signal, set "32 (positive logic) or 132 (negative logic)" to any of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* to assign the function to the output terminal.

### REMARKS

- This signal is always off during V/F control, advanced magnetic flux vector control or real sensorless vector control.
- The FR-A7AP (option) is necessary for vector control.

### (5) Fault output signal (ALM, ALM2 signal)



- If the inverter comes to trip, the ALM and ALM2 signals are output.
- The ALM2 signal remains on during a reset period after fault occurrence.
- When using the ALM2 signal, set "94 (positive logic)" or "194 (negative logic)" to any of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* to assign the function to the output terminal.
- The ALM signal is assigned to the A1B1C1 contact in the initial setting.

### REMARKS

Refer to page 374 for the inverter fault description.

### (6) Input MC shutoff signal (Y91 signal)

- The Y91 signal is output at occurrence of a fault attributable to the failure of the inverter circuit or a fault caused by a wiring mistake.
- When using the Y91 signal, set "91 (positive logic)" or "191 (negative logic)" to any of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* to assign the function to the output terminal.
- The following table indicates the faults that will output the Y91 signal. (Refer to page 374 for the fault description.)

No.	Fault Description
1	Inrush current limit circuit fault (E.IOH)
2	CPU error (E.CPU)
3	CPU error (E.6)
4	CPU error (E.7)
5	Parameter storage device fault (E.PE)
6	Parameter storage device fault (E.PE2)
7	24VDC power output short circuit (E.P24)
8	Operation panel power supply short circuit, RS-485 terminal power supply short circuit(E.CTE)
9	Output side earth(ground) fault overcurrent protection(E.GF)
10	Output phase loss (E.LF)

### + Parameters referred to +

Pr. 13 Starting frequency IP Refer to page 157.

Pr. 76 Fault code output selection IP Refer to page 248

## 4.15.7 Detection of output frequency (SU, FU, FU2 , FU3, FB, FB2, FB3, LS signal, Pr. 41 to Pr. 43, Pr. 50, Pr. 116, Pr. 865)

	The inverter output	frequency is detected	ed and output to the	output signal.
--	---------------------	-----------------------	----------------------	----------------

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
41	Up-to-frequency sensitivity	10%	0 to 100%	Set the level where the SU signal turns on.
42	Output frequency detection	6Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency where the FU (FB) signal turns on.
43	Output frequency detection	9999	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency where the FU (FB) signal turns on in reverse rotation.
	Ior reverse rotation		9999	Same as Pr. 42 setting
50	Second output frequency detection	30Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency where the FU2 (FB2) signal turns on.
116	Third output frequency detection	60Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency where the FU3 (FB3) signal turns on.
865	Low speed detection	1.5Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency where the LS signal turns on.



### (1) Up-to-frequency sensitivity (SU signal, *Pr. 41*)

- When the output frequency reaches the set frequency, the up-to-frequency signal (SU) is output.
- · The *Pr*: 41 value can be adjusted within the range  $\pm 1\%$  to  $\pm 100\%$  on the assumption that the set frequency is 100%.
- This parameter can be used to ensure that the set frequency has been reached to provide the operation start signal etc. for related equipment.

## (2) Output frequency detection (FU (FB) signal, FU2 (FB2) signal, FU3 (FB3) signal, *Pr. 42, Pr. 43, Pr. 50, Pr. 116*)

- When the output frequency rises to or above the *Pr*: 42 setting, the output frequency detection signal (FU, FB) is output.
- This function can be used for electromagnetic brake operation, open signal, etc.
- The FU (FU2, FU3) signal is output when the output frequency reaches the set frequency. While the FB (FB2, FB3) signal is output when the actual rotation detection speed (during real sensorless vector control : speed estimated value, during vector control : feedback value) of the motor reaches the set frequency. The FU signal and FB signal are output simultaneously during V/F control and advanced magnetic flux vector control.
- When the detection frequency is set in *Pr. 43*, frequency detection used exclusively for reverse rotation can also be set. This function is effective for switching the timing of electromagnetic brake operation between forward rotation (rise) and reverse rotation (fall) during elevator operation, etc.
- · When  $Pr. 43 \neq$  "9999", the Pr. 42 setting applies to forward rotation and the Pr. 43 setting applies to reverse rotation.
- When outputting a frequency detection signal besides the FU signal, set the detection frequency in *Pr. 50 or Pr. 116*. The FU2 (FB2) signal (FU3(FB3) signal if *Pr. 116* or more) is output when the output frequency reaches or exceeds the *Pr. 50* setting.
- · For each signal, assign functions to Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection) referring to the table below.



Parameter	Output	Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 Setting		
Number	Signal	Positive logic	Negative logic	
42 43	FU	4	104	
72, 73	FB	41	141	
50	FU2	5	105	
50	FB2	42	142	
116	FU3	6	106	
110	FB3	43	143	



### (3) Low speed detection (LS signal, Pr. 865)

- The low speed detection signal (LS) is output when the output frequency reduces below the *Pr. 865 Low speed detection* setting.
- When speed control is performed by real sensorless vector control or vector control, a fault (E.OLT) is displayed and the inverter trips if frequency drops to the *Pr: 865* setting by torque limit operation and the output torque exceeds *Pr: 874 OLT level setting* and remains for more than 3s.
- For the LS signal, set "34 (positive logic) or 134 (negative logic)" in *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* and assign functions to the output terminal.

### REMARKS

- · The FU signal is assigned to the terminal FU and the SU signal is assigned to the terminal SU in the initial setting.
- · All signals are OFF during DC injection brake, pre-excitation (zero speed control, servo lock), or start time tuning.
- The output frequency to be compared with the set frequency at the SU signal and LS signal differs according to the control method.

Control Method	Compared Output Frequency
V/F control	Output frequency
Advanced magnetic flux vector control	Output frequency before slip compensation
Real sensorless vector control	Frequency (actual motor speed) estimated value
Encoder feedback control, vector control	Value of actual motor rotation represented in terms of frequency setting

### = CAUTION :

Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### Parameters referred to +

Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection) The Refer to page 214 Pr. 874 OLT level setting The Refer to page 83

### 4.15.8 Output current detection function (Y12 signal, Y13 signal, Pr. 150 to Pr. 153, Pr. 166, Pr. 167)

The output power during inverter running can be detected and output to the output terminal.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
150	Output current detection level	150%	0 to 220%	Set the output current detection level. 100% is the rated inverter current.
151	Output current detection signal delay time	0s	0 to 10s	Set the output current detection period. Set the time from when the output current has risen above the setting until the output current detection signal (Y12) is output.
152	Zero current detection level	5%	0 to 220%	Set the zero current detection level. The rated inverter current is assumed to be 100%.
153	Zero current detection time	0.5s	0 to 1s	Set this parameter to define the period from when the output current drops below the <i>Pr</i> : <i>152</i> value until the zero current detection signal (Y13) is output.
166	Output current detection	0.16	0 to 10s	Set the retention time when the Y12 signal is on.
100	signal retention time	0.15	9999	The Y12 signal on status is retained. The signal is turned off at the next start.
167	Output current detection operation selection	0	0	Operation continues when the Y12 signal is on
167		Ū	1	The inverter is brought to an alarm stop when the Y12 signal is on. (E.CDO)



## (1) Output current detection (Y12 signal, *Pr. 150, Pr. 151, Pr. 166, Pr. 167*)

The output current detection function can be used for excessive torque detection, etc.

- If the output current remains higher than the *Pr*: *150* setting during inverter operation for longer than the time set in *Pr*: *151*, the output current detection signal (Y12) is output from the inverter's open collector or relay output terminal.
- When the Y12 signal turns on, the ON state is held for the time set in *Pr*: *166*.
- When *Pr. 166* = "9999", the ON state is held until a next start.
- At the *Pr*: *167* setting of "1", the inverter trips and the output current detection fault (E.CDO) is displayed when the Y12 signal turns on. When fault occurs, the Y12 signal is on for the time set in *Pr*: *166* at the *Pr*: *166* setting of other than "9999", and remains on until a reset is made at the *Pr*: *166* setting of "9999". E.CDO does not occur even if "1" is set in *Pr*: *167* while Y12 is ON. The *Pr*: *167* setting is made valid after Y12 turns OFF.
- Set "12 (positive logic)" or "112 (negative logic)" to any of *Pr. 190* to *Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* to assign the function of the Y12 signal to the output terminal.



\* Once turned on, the zero current detection time signal (Y13) is held on for at least 0.1s.

### (2) Zero current detection (Y13 signal, Pr. 152, Pr. 153)

- If the output current remains lower than the *Pr*: *152* setting during inverter operation for longer than the time set in *Pr*: *153*, the zero current detection (Y13) signal is output from the inverter's open collector or relay output terminal.
- When the inverter's output current falls to "0", torque will not be generated. This may cause a drop due to gravity when the inverter is used in vertical lift application. To prevent this, the Y13 signal can be output from the inverter to close the mechanical brake when the output current has fallen to "zero".
- Set "13 (positive logic)" or "113 (negative logic)" in any of *Pr*: *190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* to assign the function of the Y13 signal to the output terminal.

### = CAUTION

- · This function is also valid during execution of the online or offline auto tuning.
- The response time of Y12 and Y13 signals is approximately 0.1s. Note that the response time changes according to the load condition.
- When Pr. 152 = "0", detection is disabled.
- Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

## 

The zero current detection level setting should not be too high, and the zero current detection time setting not too long. Otherwise, the detection signal may not be output when torque is not generated at a low output current.

To prevent the machine and equipment from resulting in hazardous conditions by use of the zero current detection signal, install a safety backup such as an emergency brake.

### Parameters referred to +

Online auto tuning IF Refer to page 181

Offline auto tuning IP Refer to page 171

Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection) I Refer to page 214

### 4.15.9 Detection of output torque (TU signal, Pr. 864) Sensorless Magnetic flux Vector

Output the signal when the motor torque rises above the setting value.

This function can be used for electromagnetic brake operation, open signal, etc.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
864	Torque detection	150%	0 to 400%	Set the torque value where the TU signal turns on.



• When the output torque reaches or exceeds the detected torque value set in *Pr. 864* under real sensorless vector control, advanced magnetic flux vector control or vector control, the torque detection signal (TU) turns on.

It turns off when the torque falls below the detection torque value.

• For the TU signal, set "35 (positive logic) or 135 (negative logic)" in *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* and assign functions to the output terminal.

#### **—** CAUTION

• Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

### Parameters referred to •

Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection) IPR Refer to page 214

### 4.15.10 Remote output function (REM signal, Pr. 495 to Pr. 497)

You can utilize the on/off of the inverter's output signals instead of the remote output terminal of the programmable logic controller.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description		
495 Rem			0	Remote output data clear at powering off	Remote output data	
	Pomoto output soloction	0	1	Remote output data retention even at powering off	clear at inverter reset	
	Kemole output selection		10	Remote output data clear at powering off	Remote output data	
			11	Remote output data retention even at powering off	retention at inverter reset	
496 *	Remote output data 1	0	0 to 4095	Refer to the following diagram.		
497 *	Remote output data 2	0	0 to 4095			

\* The above parameters allow its setting to be changed during operation in any operation mode even if "0" (initial value) is set in Pr. 77 Parameter write selection.

### <Remote output data>



- As desired
- \*2 Y0 to Y6 are available only when the extension output option (FR-A7AY) \*3 RA1 to RA3 are available only when the relay output option (FR-A7AR) is
- The output terminal can be turned on/off depending on the Pr. 496 or Pr. 497 setting. The remote output selection can be controlled on/off by computer link communication from the PU connector or RS-485 port or by communication from the communication option.
- Set "96" (positive logic) or "196" (negative logic) to any of Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection), and assign the remote output (REM) signal to the terminal used for remote output.
- When you refer to the diagram on the left and set 1 to the terminal bit (terminal where the REM signal has been assigned) of Pr. 496 or Pr. 497, the output terminal turns on (off for negative logic). By setting 0, the output terminal turns off (on for negative logic).

Example)When "96" (positive logic) is set in Pr. 190 RUN terminal function selection and "1" (H01) is set in Pr. 496, the terminal RUN turns on.



ON/OFF example for positive logic

When Pr. 495 = "0 (initial value), 10", performing a power supply reset (including a power failure) clears the REM signal output. (The ON/OFF status of the terminals are as set in Pr. 190 to Pr. 196.) The Pr. 496 and Pr. 497 settings are also "0".

When Pr. 495 = "1, 11", the remote output data before power supply-off is stored into the EEPROM, so the signal output at power recovery is the same as before power supply-off. However, it is not stored when the inverter is reset (terminal reset, reset request through communication).

(See the chart on the left)

When Pr: 495 = "10, 11", the signal before reset is held even an inverter reset is made.

### REMARKS

The output terminal where the REM signal is not assigned using any of Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 does not turn on/off if 0/1 is set to the terminal bit of Pr. 496 or Pr. 497 . (It turns on/off with the assigned function.)

When the inverter is reset (terminal reset, reset request through communication), Pr. 496 and Pr. 497 values turn to "0". When Pr. 495 = "1, 11", however, they are the settings at power supply-off. (The settings are stored at power supply-off.) When Pr. 495 = "10, 11", they are the same as before an inverter reset is made.

### CAUTION :

When Pr: 495 = "1" (remote output data retention even at powering off), take such a step as to connect R1/L11, S1/L21 and P/+, N/- to ensure that control power will be retained to some degree. If you do not take such a step, the output signals provided after power-on are not guaranteed

#### Parameters referred to +

Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection) I Refer to page 214

### **4.16 Monitor display and monitor output signal**

Purpose	Parame	Refer to Page	
Display motor speed Set speed	Speed display and speed setting	Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811	226
Change PU monitor display data	DU/PU main display data selection Cumulative monitor clear	Pr. 52, Pr. 170, Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 891	228
Change of the monitor output from terminal FM and AM	Terminal FM, AM function selection	Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867	228
Set the reference of the monitor output from terminal FM and AM	Setting of reference of terminal FM and AM	Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867	233
Adjust terminal FM, AM outputs	Terminal FM, AM calibration	Pr. 900, Pr. 901	236

### 4.16.1 Speed display and speed setting (Pr. 37, Pr. 144, Pr. 505, Pr. 811)

You can change the PU (FR-DU07/FR-PU04/FR-PU07) monitor display or frequency setting to motor speed or machine speed.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description			
27	Speed display	0	0	Frequency display, setting			
51	Speed display	0	1 to 9998*	Set the machine speed at Pr. 503	5.		
144	Speed setting switchover	4	0, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 102, 104, 106, 108, 110	Set the number of motor poles when displaying the motor speed.			
505	Speed setting reference	60Hz	1 to 120Hz	Set the reference speed for Pr. 37.			
				Speed setting and running speed monitor increments from the PU, RS-485 communication or communication option.	Torque limit setting increments Pr. 22, Pr. 812 to Pr. 817		
811	Set resolution switchover	0	0	1r/min	0.1%		
			1	0.1r/min	0.178		
			10	1r/min	0.01%		
			11	0.1r/min			

\* The maximum value of the setting range differs according to the *Pr. 1 Maximum frequency* and *Pr. 505 Speed setting reference* settings and it can be calculated from the following formula.

Maximum setting value of  $Pr: 37 < \frac{65535 \times Pr: 505}{\text{Setting value of } Pr: 1 (Hz)}$ 

Note that the maximum setting value of Pr. 37 is 9998 if the result of the above formula exceeds 9998.

- To display the machine speed, set in Pr. 37 the machine speed for operation with frequency set in Pr. 505. For example, when Pr: 505 = "60Hz" and Pr: 37 = "1000", "1000" is displayed on the running speed monitor when the running frequency is 60Hz. When running frequency is 30Hz, "500" is displayed.
- When displaying the motor speed, set the number of motor poles (2, 4, 6, 8, 10) or number of motor poles + 100 (102, 104, 106, 108, 110) in Pr. 144.
- The Pr. 144 setting is automatically changed if the number of motor poles is set in Pr. 81 Number of motor poles. The Pr. 81 setting is not automatically changed even if the setting of Pr. 144 is changed.

Example 1) When the initial setting of Pr. 81 is changed to "2" or "12", the Pr. 144 setting changes from "4" to "2". Example 2) When Pr. 144 = "104", setting "2" in Pr. 81 changes the Pr. 144 setting from "104" to "102".

- When "1, or 11" is set in Pr. 811, the setting increments of speed setting from the PU, speed setting from RS-485 communication or communication options (other than FR-A7ND, FR-A7NL) and running speed monitor is 0.1r/min. When both Pr. 37 and Pr. 144 have been set, their priorities are as given below.
- *Pr.* 144, 102 to 110 > *Pr.* 37, 1 to 9998 > *Pr.* 144, 2 to 10
- When the running speed monitor is selected, each monitor and setting are determined by the combination of Pr. 37 and Pr. 144 as listed below. (The units within the thick frame are the initial values.)

Pr. 37 Setting	<i>Pr. 144</i> Setting	Output Frequency Monitor	Set Frequency Monitor	Running Speed Monitor	Frequency Setting Parameter Setting
0	0	Hz	Hz	r/min ∗1	Hz
(initial	2 to 10	Hz	Hz	r/min ∗1	Hz
value)	102 to 110	r/min ∗1	r/min ∗1	r/min ∗1	r/min ∗1
	0	Hz	Hz	Machine speed *1	Hz
1 to 9998	2 to 10	Machine speed *1	Machine speed *1	Machine speed *1	Machine speed *1
	102 to 110	Hz	Hz	r/min *1	Hz

\*1 Motor speed r/min conversion formula..... frequency × 120/number of motor poles (Pr. 144)

Pr. 505 is always set as frequency (Hz).

### = CAUTION =

- Under V/F control, the output frequency of the inverter is displayed in terms of synchronous speed, and therefore, displayed value = actual speed + motor slip. This display changes to the actual speed (estimated value calculated based on the motor slip) when the advanced magnetic flux vector control or real sensorless vector control is selected, and actual speed from the encoder is displayed when encoder feed back control or vector control is performed.
- When the running speed display is selected at the setting of Pr: 37 = "0" and Pr: 144 = "0", the monitor display is provided on the assumption that the number of motor poles is 4. (1800r/min is displayed at 60Hz)
- Refer to Pr. 52 when you want to change the PU main monitor (PU main display).
- Since the panel display of the operation panel (FR-DU07) is 4 digits in length, the monitor value of more than "9999" is displayed "----".
- After setting the running speed in 0.1r/min increments (Pr. 811 = "1, 11"), changing the setting increments to 1r/min increments (Pr. 811 = "0, 10") changes the speed resolution from 0.1r/min to 0.3r/min (four poles), which may round down 0.1r/min increments.
- When the machine speed is displayed on the FR-PU04/FR-PU07, do not change the speed by using an up/down key in the state where the set speed exceeding 65535 is displayed. The set speed may become arbitrary value.
- When an optional FR-A7ND or FR-A7NL card is mounted, frequency is displayed regardless of Pr. 37 and Pr. 144 setting.

## CAUTION

A Make sure that the settings of the running speed and number of motor poles are correct. Otherwise, the motor might run at extremely high speed, damaging the machine.

### Parameters referred to +

- Pr. 1 Maximum frequency I Refer to page 140
- Pr. 52 DU/PU main display data selection Refer to page 228
- Pr. 80 Motor capacity, Pr. 81 Number of motor poles IP Refer to page 131

Pr. 800 Control method selection IP Refer to page 75

Pr. 811 Set resolution switchover IPR Refer to page 83

## 4.16.2 DU/PU, FM, AM terminal monitor display selection (Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 170, Pr. 171, Pr. 268, Pr. 563, Pr. 564, Pr. 891)

The monitor to be displayed on the main screen of the operation panel (FR-DU07)/parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07) can be selected.

In addition, signals to be output from the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) can be selected.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
52*	DU/PU main display data selection	0 (output frequency)	0, 5 to 8, 10 to 14, 17 to 20, 22 to 25, 32 to 35, 50 to 57, 100	Select the monitor to be displayed on the operation panel and parameter unit. Refer to the following table for monitor description.
54*	FM terminal function selection	1 (output	1 to 3, 5 to 8, 10 to 14, 17, 18, 21,	Select the monitor output to terminal FM.
158*	AM terminal function selection	frequency)	24, 32 to 34, 50, 52, 53	Select the monitor output to terminal AM.
	170 Watt-hour meter clear		0	Set "0" to clear the watt-hour meter monitor.
170		9999	10	Set the maximum value when monitoring from communication to 0 to 9999kWh.
			9999	Set the maximum value when monitoring from communication to 0 to 65535kWh.
171	Operation hour meter clear	9999	0, 9999	Set "0" to clear the operation time monitor. Setting "9999" has no effect.
	Monitor desired disite		0	Displayed as integral value
268*	selection	9999	1	Displayed in 0.1 increments
			9999	No function
563	Energization time carrying-over times	0	0 to 65535 (reading only)	Displays the numbers of cumulative energization time monitor exceeded 65535h. Reading only
564	Operating time carrying- over times	0	0 to 65535 (reading only)	Displays the numbers of operation time monitor exceeded 65535h. Reading only
891	Cumulative power monitor	0000	0 to 4	Set the number of times to shift the cumulative power monitor digit. Clamps the monitor value at maximum.
891	digit shifted times	3333	9999	No shift Clears the monitor value when it exceeds the maximum value.

\* The above parameters allow its setting to be changed during operation in any operation mode even if "0" (initial value) is set in *Pr. 77 Parameter write selection*.

### (1) Monitor description list (Pr. 52)

- Set the monitor to be displayed on the operation panel (FR-DU07) and parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07) in *Pr*: *52 DU/PU main display data selection*.
- · Set the monitor to be output to the terminal FM (pulse train output) in Pr. 54 FM terminal function selection.
- Set the monitor to be output to the terminal AM (analog voltage output (0 to 10VDC voltage output)) in *Pr. 158 AM terminal function selection*.
- $\cdot$  Refer to the following table and set the monitor to be displayed. (The signals marked  $\times$  cannot be selected for monitoring)

		Pr. 52 Setting		Pr. 54 (EM)	Full-scale		
Types of Monitor	Increments	DU LED	PU main monitor	Pr. 158 (AM) Setting	Value of the Terminal FM and AM	Description	
Output frequency	0.01Hz	0/100		1	Pr. 55	Displays the inverter output frequency.	
Output current	0.01A	0/100		2	Pr: 56	Displays the inverter output current effective value.	
Output voltage	0.1V	0/100		3	200V class: 400V 400V class: 800V	Displays the inverter output voltage.	
Alarm display	arm display — 0/100		×		Displays 8 past alarms individually.		
Frequency setting	Frequency setting 0.01Hz 5 *1		*1	5	Pr. 55	Displays the set frequency.	

### 🤺 Monitor display and monitor output signal

		Pr. 52 Setting		$P_{r} = 54$ (EM)	Full-scale		
Types of Monitor	Increments	DU LED	PU main monitor	Pr. 158 (PM) Pr. 158 (AM) Setting	Value of the Terminal FM and AM	Description	
Running speed	1(r/min)	6	*1	6	The value converted with the <i>Pr</i> : <i>37</i> value from <i>Pr</i> : <i>55</i>	Displays the motor speed (The display differs depending on the <i>Pr. 37</i> and <i>Pr. 144</i> settings. The running speed is the actual speed by the encoder signal during encoder feedback control and vector control. For details, refer to <i>page 226</i> .)	
Motor torque	0.1%	7	*1	7	Pr. 866	Displays the motor torque in percentage on the assumption that the rated motor torque is 100% (0% is displayed during V/F control)	
Converter output voltage	0.1V	8	*1	8	200V class: 400V 400V class: 800V	Displays the DC bus voltage value.	
Electronic thermal relay function load factor	0.1%	10	*1	10	100%	Displays the motor thermal cumulative value on the assumption that the thermal operation level is 100%.	
Output current peak value	0.01A	11	*1	11	Pr: 56	Retains the peak value of the output current monitor and displays (clears at every start)	
Converter output voltage peak value	0.1V	12	*1	12	200V class: 400V 400V class: 800V	Retains the peak value of the DC bus voltage value and displays (clears at every start)	
Input power	0.01kW	13	*1	13	Rated inverter power × 2	Displays power on the inverter input side	
Output power	0.01kW	14 *1		14	Rated inverter power × 2	Displays power on the inverter output side	
Load meter	0.1%	17		17	Pr. 866	Displays the torque current in % on the assumption that the <i>Pr. 56</i> setting is 100% (displayed on the assumption that rated motor torque is 100% during sensorless vector and vector control)	
Motor excitation current	0.01A	1	18		Pr. 56	Displays the excitation current of the motor	
Position pulse *2		1	19			Displays the number of pulses per rotation of the motor when orientation control is valid	
Cumulative energization time •4	1h	2	0	×	_	Displays the cumulative energization time since the inverter shipment. You can check the numbers of the monitor value exceeded 65535h with <i>Pr</i> : <i>563</i> .	
Reference voltage output	_	_	_	21		Terminal FM: 1440 pulse/s is output when $Pr. 291 = 0, 1.$ 50k pulse/s is output when $Pr. 291 \neq 0, 1.$ Terminal AM: 10V is output	
Orientation status *2	1	2	2	×		Displays only when orientation control is valid ( <i>Refer to page 195</i> )	
Actual operation time *4,*5	1h	23		х		Displays the cumulative inverter running time. You can check the numbers of the monitor value exceeded 65535h with <i>Pr. 564</i> . Use <i>Pr. 171</i> to clear the value. ( <i>Refer to page 232</i> )	
Motor load factor	0.1%	24		24	200%	Displays the output current value in % on the assumption that the rated inverter current value is 100%. Monitor value = output current monitor value/ rated inverter current × 100 [%]	
Cumulative power *7	0.01kWh *6	25		×		Displays the cumulative power amount according to the output power monitor. Use <i>Pr</i> : <i>170</i> to clear the value. <i>(Refer to page 232)</i>	
Torque command	0.1%	3	2	32	Pr. 866	Displays torque command value obtained from vector control	
Torque current command	0.1%	3	3	33	Pr. 866	Displays torque current command value	
Motor output	0.01kW	3	4	34	Rated motor capacity	Multiplies the motor speed by the then output torque and displays the machine output of the motor shaft end	

### Monitor display and monitor output signal

		Pr. 52	Setting	Pr 54 (FM)	Full-scale			
Types of Monitor	Increments	DU LED	PU main monitor	Pr. 158 (AM) Setting	Value of the Terminal FM and AM	Description		
Feedback pulse		35		×	—	Displays the number of pulses fed back from the encoder during one sampling (displays during a stop).		
Power saving effect	Variable according	5	50	50	Inverter capacity	Displays energy saving effect monitor You can change the monitor to power saving,		
Cumulative saving power *7	to parameters	51		×		and % display using parameters. (For details, refer to <i>page 253</i> )		
PID set point	0.1%	52		52	100%	Divide a the extension way and all a solution		
PID measured value	0.1%	5	53		100%	deviation during PID control (For details,		
PID deviation	0.1%	5	54	×	—			
Input terminal status	—	55	*1	×	—	Displays the input terminal ON/OFF status on the PU (refer to <i>page 231</i> for DU display)		
Output terminal status		- 55	*1	×		Displays the output terminal ON/OFF status on the PU (refer to <i>page 231</i> for DU display)		
Option input terminal status		56 ×		×	_	Displays the input terminal ON/OFF status of the digital input option (FR-A7AX) on the DU (refer to <i>page 231</i> for details)		
Option output terminal status		57	×	×	_	Displays the output terminal ON/OFF states of the digital output option (FR-A7AY) or relay output option (FR-A7AR) on the DU (refer to <i>page 231</i> for details)		

\*1 Frequency setting to output terminal status on the PU main monitor are selected by "other monitor selection" of the parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07).

Position pulse and orientation status function when used with an option (FR-A7AP). When orientation control is invalid, "0" remains displayed and these functions are invalid.

\*3 Feedback pulse functions when the option (FR-A7AP) is used and vector control is performed.

\*4 The cumulative energization time and actual operation time are accumulated from 0 to 65535 hours, then cleared, and accumulated again from 0. When the operation panel (FR-DU07) is used, the time is displayed up to 65.53 (65530h) on the assumption that 1h = 0.001, and thereafter, it is added up from 0.

\*5 The actual operation time is not added up if the cumulative operation time before power supply-off is less than 1h.

\*6 When using the parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07), "kW" is displayed.

\*7 Since the panel display of the operation panel (FR-DU07) is 4 digits in length, the monitor value of more than "9999" is displayed "----".

### REMARKS

- By setting "0" in *Pr. 52*, the monitoring of output frequency to fault display can be selected in sequence by (SET).
- When the operation panel (FR-DU07) is used, the displayed units are Hz, V and A only and the others are not displayed.
  The monitor set in *Pr. 52* is displayed in the third monitor position (The output voltage monitor is changed).
- Note that load meter, motor excitation current, and motor load factor are displayed in the second monitor (output current).

### Initial value

\* The monitor displayed at powering on is the first monitor. Display the monitor you want to display on the first monitor and hold down

(SET) for 1s. (To return to the output frequency monitor, hold down (SET) for 1s after displaying the output frequency monitor.)

Fault monitor

Power-on monitor (first monitor)
 Second monitor
 Third monitor



Example)When *Pr. 52* is set to "20" (cumulative energization time), the monitor is displayed on the operation panel as described below.



0

During

running/stop

Output

frequency

Pr. 52

During

stop

Set

frequency

Output current

Output voltage

Fault display

100

During running

Output

frequency

### (2) Display set frequency during stop (Pr. 52)

- When *Pr. 52* is set to "100", the set frequency monitor is displayed during a stop and the output frequency monitor is displayed during operation. (LED of Hz flickers during stop and is lit during running.)
   When *Pr. 52* = "100", the set frequency displayed at a
- When *Pr: 52* = "100", the set frequency displayed at a stop indicates frequency to be output when the start command is on.
   Different from the frequency setting displayed when

*Pr: 52* = "5", the value based on maximum/minimum frequency and frequency jump is displayed.

### REMARKS

During an error, the output frequency at error occurrence appears.

During MRS, the values displayed are the same as during a stop.

During offline auto tuning, the tuning status monitor has priority.

### (3) Operation panel (FR-DU07) I/O terminal monitor (Pr. 52)

- · When Pr. 52 is set to any of "55 to 57", the I/O terminal states can be monitored on the operation panel (FR-DU07).
- The I/O terminal monitor is displayed on the third monitor.
- The LED is on when the terminal is on, and the LED is off when the terminal is off. The center line of LED is always on.

Type of Monitor

Output

frequency

Output current

Output voltage

Fault display

Pr. 52 Setting	Monitor Description
55	Displays the I/O and output terminal ON/OFF status of the inverter unit.
56 *	Displays the input terminal ON/OFF status of the digital input option (FR-A7AX).
57 *	Displays the output terminal ON/OFF status of the digital output option (FR-A7AY) or relay output option (FR-A7AR).

You can set "56" or "57" even if the option is not fitted. When the option is not fitted, the monitor displays are all off.

• On the unit I/O terminal monitor (*Pr*: 52 = "55"), the upper LEDs denote the input terminal status and the lower the output terminal status.





• On the input option terminal monitor (*Pr. 52* = "56"), the decimal point LED of the first digit LED is on.



· On the input option terminal monitor (Pr: 52 = "57"), the decimal point LED of the second digit LED is on.



PARAMETERS

### (4) Cumulative power monitor and clear (Pr. 170, Pr. 891)

- $\cdot$  On the cumulative power monitor (*Pr*: 52 = "25"), the output power monitor value is added up and is updated in 1h increments.
- The operation panel (FR-DU07), parameter unit (FR-PU04, FR-PU07) and communication (RS-485 communication, communication option) display increments and display ranges are as indicated below.

Operation P	anel *1	Parameter Ur	nit ∗2	Communication			
Pango	Incromonte	Pango	Incromonte	Ra	Incromonte		
Kange	increments	Kange	increments	<i>Pr. 170</i> = 10	<i>Pr. 170</i> = 9999	increments	
0 to 99.99kWh	0.01kWh	0 to 999.99kWh	0.01kWh				
100.0 to 999.9kWh	0.1kWh	1000.0 to 9999.9kWh	0.1kWh	0 to 9999kWh	U to 65535KVVN (initial value)	1kWh	
1000 to 9999kWh	1kWh	10000 to 99999kWh	1kWh				

Power is measured in the range 0 to 9999.99kWh, and displayed in 4 digits. \*1

\*2

- When the monitor value exceeds "99.99", a carry occurs, e.g. "100.0", so the value is displayed in 0.1kWh increments. Power is measured in the range 0 to 99999.99.99kWh, and displayed in 5 digits. When the monitor value exceeds "999.99", a carry occurs, e.g. "1000.0", so the value is displayed in 0.1kWh increments.
- · The monitor data digit can be shifted to the right by the number of Pr. 891 settings. For example, if the cumulative power value is 1278.56kWh when Pr. 891 = "2", the PU/DU display is 12.78 (display in 100kWh increments) and the communication data is 12.
- · If the maximum value is exceeded at Pr: 891 = "0 to 4", the power is clamped at the maximum value, indicating that a digit shift is necessary. If the maximum value is exceeded at Pr. 891 = "9999", the power returns to 0 and is recounted.

If the maximum value is exceeded at Pr: 891 = "9999", the power returns to 0 and is recounted.

· Writing "0" in Pr. 170 clears the cumulative power monitor.

### REMARKS

· If "0" is written in Pr. 170 and Pr. 170 is read again, "9999" or "10" is displayed.

### (5) Cumulative energization time and actual operation time monitor (Pr. 171, Pr. 563, Pr. 564)

- On the cumulative energization time monitor (Pr. 52 = "20"), the inverter running time is added up every hour.
- · On the actual operation time monitor (Pr. 52 = "23"), the inverter running time is added up every hour. (Time is not added up during a stop.)
- · If the numbers of monitor value exceeds 65535, it is added up from 0. You can check the numbers of cumulative energization time monitor exceeded 65535h with Pr. 563 and the numbers of actual operation time monitor exceeded 65535h with Pr. 564.
- · Writing "0" in Pr. 171 clears the actual operation time monitor. (Energization time monitor can not be cleared.)

### REMARKS

The actual operation time is not added up unless the inverter is operated one or more hours continuously.

If "0" is written in Pr. 171 and Pr. 171 is read again, "9999" is always displayed. Setting "9999" does not clear the actual operation time meter.

### (6) You can select the decimal digits of the monitor (Pr. 268)

· As the operation panel (FR-DU07) display is 4 digits long, the decimal places may vary at analog input, etc. The decimal places can be hidden by selecting the decimal digits.

In such a case, the decimal digits can be selected by Pr. 268.

Pr. 268 Setting	Description
9999 (initial value)	No function
0	When 1 or 2 decimal places (0.1 increments or 0.01 increments) are monitored, the decimal places are dropped and the monitor displays an integer value (1 increments). The monitor value of 0.99 or less is displayed as 0.
1	When 2 decimal places (0.01 increments) are monitored, the 0.01 decimal place is dropped and the monitor displays the first decimal place (0.1 increments). When the monitor display digit is originally in 1 increments, it is displayed unchanged in 1 increments.

### REMARKS

The number of display digits on the cumulative energization time (Pr: 52 = "20"), actual operation time (Pr: 52 = "23"), cumulative power (Pr. 52 = "25") or cumulative saving power monitor (Pr. 52 = "51") does not change.

### Parameters referred to +

Pr. 37 Speed display, Pr. 144 Speed setting switchover IP Refer to page 226

Pr. 55 Frequency monitoring reference, Pr. 56 Current monitoring reference, Pr. 866 Torque monitoring reference 🖙 Refer to page 233 Pr. 291 Pulse train I/O selection I Refer to page 233

## 4.16.3 Reference of the terminal FM (pulse train output) and AM (analog voltage output) (Pr. 55, Pr. 56, Pr. 291, Pr. 866, Pr. 867)

Two types of monitor output, pulse train output from the terminal FM and analog voltage output from the terminal AM, are available. In addition, pulse train output by voltage output and by open collector output can be selected for terminal FM.

Set the reference of the signal output from terminal FM and AM.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description	
55 *	Frequency monitoring reference	60Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the full-scale value to output the output frequency monitor value to terminal FM and AM.	
56 *	Current monitoring reference	Rated inverter current	0 to 500A	Set the full-scale value to output the output current monitor value to terminal FM and AM.	
	Pulse train I/O selection	0		Pulse train input	Pulse train output
			0	Terminal JOG	FM output
			1	Pulse train input	FM output
			10	Terminal JOG	High speed pulse train output (50%Duty)
			11	Pulse train input	High speed pulse train output (50%Duty)
291			20	Terminal JOG	High speed pulse train output (ON width is always same)
			21	Pulse train input	High speed pulse train output (ON width is always same)
			100	Pulse train input	High speed pulse train output (ON width is always same) The inverter outputs the signal input as pulse train as is
866 *	Torque monitoring reference	150%	0 to 400%	Set the full-scale value to output the torque monitor value to terminal FM and AM.	
867	AM output filter	0.01s	0 to 5s	Set the output filter of terminal AM.	

The above parameters allow its setting to be changed during operation in any operation mode even if "0" (initial value) is set in *Pr*: 77 *Parameter write selection*.

### (1) Pulse train output of the terminal FM (Pr. 291)

• Two types of pulse train can be output to the terminal FM.





 When Pr. 291 Pulse train I/O selection = "0 (initial value) or 1", FM output is selected and pulse train with maximum of 8VDC 2400pulses/s is output.

The pulse width can be adjusted by calibration *parameter C0* (*Pr. 900*) *FM terminal calibration* using the operation panel and parameter unit.

• Output frequency, etc. of the inverter can be indicated by connecting a DC ammeter of full-scale 1mA, digital indicator, etc.



- \*1 Not needed when the operation panel (FR-DU07) or parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07) is used for calibration. This resistor is used when calibration must be made near the frequency meter for such a reason as a remote frequency meter. Note that the needle of the frequency meter may not deflect to full-scale when the calibration resistor is connected. In this case, use this resistor and operation panel or parameter unit together.
- \*2 The initial setting is 1mA full-scale and 1440 pulse/s teminal FM frequency at 60Hz.



### High speed pulse train output specifications

ItemSpecificationsOutput methodNPN open collector outputVoltage between a collector and emitter30V (max)Maximum permissible load current80mAOutput pulse rate0 to 55kpps \*Output resolution3pps (excluding a jitter)

The output pulse rate is 50kpps when a monitor output value is 100%.

#### — CAUTION =

· Input specifications of terminal JOG (pulse train input or contact input) can be selected with Pr. 291.

- Change the setting value using care not to change input specifications of terminal JOG. (Refer to *page 346* for pulse train input.)
  After changing a setting value of *Pr: 291*, connect a meter between terminal FM and SD. Take care that a voltage should not be applied to terminal FM when FM output (voltage output) pulse train is selected.
- The FM output of the inverter can not be connected to devices which have source logic type pulse input.
- When high speed pulse train output (*Pr. 291* = "10, 11, 20, 21, 100") is selected, performing parameter all clear returns the *Pr. 291* setting to the initial value of "0", changing the terminal FM output from high speed pulse train output to FM output (voltage output).



• When *Pr. 291 Pulse train I/O selection* = "10, 11, 20, 21, 100", high speed pulse train is output by open collector output. Pulse train of maximum of 55k pulses/s is output.

Two types of pulse width, 50% Duty and fixed ON width, are available. Adjustment by calibration *parameter C0 (Pr. 900) FM terminal calibration* can not be performed.

- \* When the output wiring length is long, a pulse shape is deformed due to the stray capacitances of the wiring and output pulse can not be recognized. If the wiring length is long, connect the open collector output signal and the power supply using an external pull up resistance. Check specifications of a pulse counter for a resistance value to pull up. Select an appropriate resistance value so that the load current is 80mA or less.
- When *Pr. 291* = "10, 11", the pulse cycle is 50% Duty (ON width and OFF width are the same).
- When *Pr*: 291 = "20, 21, 100", fixed ON width of pulse is output (approx. 10µs).
- When the setting value is "100", the pulse train from the pulse train input (terminal JOG) is output as is. Use this value for synchronous speed operation of multiple inverters. (Refer to *page 346*)
- $^{\ast}$   $\,$  Hi indicates that the open collector output transistor is on.

Monitor display and monitor output signal

### (2) Frequency monitoring reference (Pr. 55)

- Set the frequency when the frequency meter (1mA analog meter), which is connected to terminal FM and SD, shows full scale such as 60Hz and 120Hz.
- Set the frequency when the indicator (10V DC voltmeter), which is connected to terminal AM-5, shows full scale such as 60Hz and 120Hz.
- Set the inverter output frequency (set frequency) at which the pulse speed of the FM output is 1440 pulses/s (50k pulse/s)

The pulse speed and inverter output frequency are proportional to each other. (The maximum pulse train output is 2400 pulses/s (55k pulses/s)

- Set the reference value of the frequency at which the output voltage of terminal AM is 10VDC.
- The output voltage and frequency are proportional to each other. (The maximum output voltage is 10VDC.) •



### (3) Current monitoring reference (Pr. 56)

- Set the output current at which the pulse speed of the FM output is 1440 pulses/s (50k pulse/s).
- The pulse speed and current value are proportional to each other. (The maximum pulse train output is 2400 pulses/s (55K pulses/s).)
- Set the reference value of the output current at which the output voltage of terminal AM is 10VDC.
- The output voltage and output current monitor value are proportional each other. (The maximum output voltage is 10VDC.)



### (4) Reference of torque monitor (Pr. 866)

- Set the output torque at which the pulse speed of the FM output is 1440 pulses/s (50k pulse/s).
- The pulse speed and torque monitor value are proportional to each other. (The maximum pulse train output is 2400 pulses/s (55k pulses/s). Set the reference value of the output torque at which the output voltage of terminal AM is 10VDC.
- The output voltage and torgue monitor value are proportional to each other. (The maximum output voltage is 10VDC.)



### (5) Terminal AM response adjustment (Pr. 867)

- Using Pr: 867, the output voltage response of the terminal AM can be adjusted within the range 0 to 5s.
- Increasing the setting stabilizes the terminal AM output more but reduces the response level. (Setting "0" sets the response level to 4ms)

### 4.16.4 Terminal FM, AM calibration (Calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900), C1 (Pr. 901))

By using the operation panel or parameter unit, you can calibrate terminal FM and terminal AM to full scale deflection.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
C0(900)	FM terminal calibration	_	_	Calibrate the scale of the meter connected to terminal FM.
C1(901)	AM terminal calibration	_	_	Calibrate the scale of the analog meter connected to terminal AM.

\*1 The parameter number in parentheses is the one for use with the parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07).

\*2 The above parameters allow its setting to be changed during operation in any operation mode even if "0" (initial value) is set in *Pr. 77 Parameter write selection.* 

### (1) FM terminal calibration (C0(Pr. 900))

• The terminal FM is preset to output pulses. By setting the *Calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900)*, the meter connected to the inverter can be calibrated by parameter setting without use of a calibration resistor.

• Using the pulse train output of the terminal FM, a digital display can be provided by a digital counter. The monitor value is 1440 pulses/s output at the full-scale value of the table on the previous page (*Pr. 54 FM terminal function selection*).



- \*1 Not needed when the operation panel (FR-DU07) or parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07) is used for calibration. This resistor is used when calibration must be made near the frequency meter for such a reason as a remote frequency meter. Note that the needle of the frequency meter may not deflect to full-scale when the calibration resistor is connected. In this case, use this resistor and operation panel or parameter unit together.
- \*2 The initial settings are 1mA full-scale and 1440 pulses/s terminal FM frequency at 60Hz.

· Calibrate the terminal FM in the following procedure.

- 1) Connect an indicator (frequency meter) across the terminals FM-SD of the inverter. (Note the polarity. The terminal FM is positive.)
- 2) When a calibration resistor has already been connected, adjust the resistance to "0" or remove the resistor.
- 3) Refer to the output signal list (*page 228*) and set *Pr. 54*. When you selected the running frequency or inverter output current as the output signal, preset the running frequency or current value, at which the output signal will be 1440 pulses/s, to *Pr. 55 Frequency monitoring reference* or *Pr. 56 Current monitoring reference*. At 1440 pulses/s, the meter generally deflects to full-scale.

### REMARKS

- When calibrating a monitor output signal, which cannot adjust to a 100% value without an actual load and a measurement equipment, set *Pr.54* to "21" (reference voltage output) and make calibration. 1440 pulses/s are output from the terminal FM.
- The wiring length of the terminal FM should be 200m maximum.

### = CAUTION :

- The initial value of *the calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900)* is set to 1mA full-scale and 1440 pulses/s FM output frequency at 60Hz. The maximum pulse train output of terminal FM is 2400 pulses/s.
- When a frequency meter is connected to across terminals FM-SD to monitor the running frequency, the FM terminal output is filled to capacity at the initial setting if the maximum output frequency reaches or exceeds 100Hz. In this case, the *Pr*: 55 setting must be changed to the maximum frequency.
- When *Pr. 291 Pulse train I/O selection* = "10, 11, 20, 21, 100" (high speed pulse train output), calibration using *calibration parameter C0 (Pr. 900)* can not be made.

### (2) AM terminal calibration (C1 (Pr. 901))



 Terminal AM is factory-set to provide a 10VDC output in the full-scale status of the corresponding monitor item. *Calibration parameter C1 (Pr.* 901) allows the output voltage ratios (gains) to be adjusted according to the meter scale. Note that the maximum output voltage is 10VDC.

- · Calibrate the AM terminal in the following procedure.
  - 1) Connect a 0-10VDC meter (frequency meter) to across inverter terminals AM-5. (Note the polarity. The terminal AM is positive.)
  - 2) Refer to the monitor description list (*page 228*) and set *Pr*: *158*. When you selected the running frequency, inverter output current, etc. as monitor, preset in *Pr*: *55* or *Pr*: *56* the running frequency or current value at which the output signal will be 10V.
  - 3) When outputting the item that cannot achieve a 100% value easily by operation, e.g. output current, set "21" (reference voltage output) in *Pr*: *158* and perform the following operation. After that, set "2" (output current, for example) in *Pr*: *158*.

### REMARKS

When outputting such an item as the output current, which cannot reach a 100% value easily by operation, set *Pr. 158* to "21" (reference voltage output) and make calibration. 10VDC is output from the terminal AM.

### (3) How to calibrate the terminal FM when using the operation panel (FR-DU07)



### Flicker...Parameter setting complete!!

- Turn O to read another parameter.
- Press (SET) to return to the [ - indication (step 4).
- Press (SET) twice to show the next parameter ( P-[].

### REMARKS

- Calibration can also be made for external operation. Set the frequency in external operation mode, and make calibration in the above procedure.
- Calibration can be made even during operation.
- For the operating procedure using the parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07), refer to the parameter unit instruction manual.

### Parameters referred to •

- Pr. 54 FM terminal function selection Refer to page 228
- Pr. 55 Frequency monitoring reference I Refer to page 233
- Pr. 56 Current monitoring reference IF Refer to page 233
- Pr. 158 AM terminal function selection The Refer to page 228
- Pr. 291 Pulse train I/O selection IPR Refer to page 346

# 4.17 Operation selection at power failure and instantaneous power failure

Purpose	Parameter t	Refer to Page	
At instantaneous power failure occurrence, restart inverter without stopping motor	Automatic restart operation after instantaneous power failure/flying start	Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr. 162 to Pr. 165, Pr. 299, Pr. 611	239
When undervoltage or a power failure occurs, the inverter can be decelerated to a stop.	Power failure-time deceleration-to-stop function	Pr. 261 to Pr. 266, Pr. 294	243

## 4.17.1 Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure/flying start (Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr. 162 to Pr. 165, Pr. 299, Pr. 611)

You can restart the inverter without stopping the motor in the following cases.

- $\cdot \;$  when commercial power supply operation is switched to inverter operation
- $\cdot \;$  when power comes back on after an instantaneous power failure
- · when motor is coasting at start

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description	
57	Restart coasting time	9999	0	<ul> <li>5.5K, 7.5K</li></ul>	
			0.1 to 5s	Set the waiting time for inverter-triggered restart after an instantaneous power failure.	
			9999	No restart	
58	Restart cushion time	1s	0 to 60s	Set a voltage starting time at restart.	
		0	0	With frequency search         Without frequency search (reduced voltage system)         Encoder detection frequency search         Frequency search at every start	
			1		
162	Automatic restart after		2		
102	failure selection		10		
			11	Reduced voltage system at every start	
			12	Encoder detection frequency search at every start	
163	First cushion time for restart	0s	0 to 20s	Set a voltage starting time at restart.	
164	First cushion voltage for restart	0%	0 to 100%	(moment of inertia, torque) magnitude.	
165	Stall prevention operation level for restart	150%	0 to 220%	Consider the rated inverter current as 100% and set the stall prevention operation level during restart operation.	
	Rotation direction detection selection at restarting	0	0	Without rotation direction detection	
299			1	With rotation direction detection	
			9999	When $Pr: 78 =$ "0", the rotation direction is detected. When $Pr: 78 =$ "1", "2", the rotation direction is not detected.	
611	Acceleration time at a restart	5s	0 to 3600s, 9999	Set the acceleration time to reach the set frequency at a restart. Acceleration time for restart is the normal acceleration time (e.g. <i>Pr. 7</i> ) when "9999" is set.	



### (1) Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure operation

• When instantaneous power failure protection (E.IPF) and undervotage protection (E.UVT) are activated, the inverter trips. (Refer to *page 381* for E.IPF and E.UVT.)

When automatic restart after instantaneous power failure operation is set, the motor can be restarted if power is restored after an instantaneous power failure or undervoltage is corrected. (E.IPF and E.UVT are not activated.)

- When E.IPF and E.UVT are activated, instantaneous power failure/under voltage signal (IPF) is output.
- The IPF signal is assigned to the terminal IPF in the initial setting. The IPF signal can also be assigned to the other terminal by setting "2 (positive logic) or 102 (negative logic)" to any of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)*.

### (2) Connection (CS signal)

- When the automatic restart after instantaneous power failure selection signal (CS) is turned on, automatic restart operation is enabled.
- When *Pr. 57* is set to other than "9999" (automatic restart operation enabled), the inverter will not operate if used with the CS signal remained off.

### REMARKS

- The CS signal is assigned to the terminal CS in the initial setting. By setting "6" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)*, you can assign the CS signal to the other terminal.
- (3) Automatic restart operation selection (Pr. 162, Pr. 299)

#### • With frequency search

When "0 (initial value), 10" is set in *Pr. 162*, the inverter smoothly starts after detecting the motor speed upon power restoration.

- During reverse rotation, the inverter can be restarted smoothly as the direction of rotation is detected.
- You can select whether to make rotation direction detection or not with *Pr. 299 Rotation direction detection selection at restarting*.
   When capacities of the motor and inverter differ, set "0" (without rotation direction detection) in *Pr. 299*.

Pr 200 Sotting	Pr. 78 Setting				
11. 277 Setting	0	1	2		
9999	0	×	×		
0 (initial value)	×	×	×		
1	0	0	0		

O:with rotation direction detection ×:without rotation direction detection

### REMARKS

- Speed detection time (frequency search) changes according to the motor speed. (maximum 500ms)
- When the inverter capacity is two rank or more larger than the motor capacity, the inverter may not start due to overcurrent trip (E.OC□).
- · If two or more motors are connected to one inverter, the inverter functions abnormally. (The inverter does not start smoothly.)
- Since the DC injection brake is operated instantaneously when the speed is detected at a restart, the speed may reduce if the moment of inertia of the load is small.
- When reverse rotation is detected when Pr. 78 = "1" (reverse rotation disabled), the rotation direction is changed to forward rotation after decelerates in reverse rotation when the start command is forward rotation. The inverter will not start when the start command is reverse rotation.



MC<sub>2</sub>





### Without frequency search

When Pr. 162 = "1" or "11", automatic restart operation is performed in a reduced voltage system, where the voltage is gradually risen with the output frequency unchanged from prior to an instantaneous power failure independently of the coasting speed of the motor.

For real sensorless vector control, output frequency and voltage before instantaneous power failure are output. (*Pr: 58* is made invalid.)

### REMARKS

This system stores the output frequency prior to an instantaneous power failure and increases the voltage. Therefore, if the instantaneous power failure time exceeds 0.2s, the inverter starts at *Pr*: *13 Starting frequency* (initial value = 0.5Hz) since the stored output frequency cannot be retained.

### Encoder detection frequency search

- When "2 or 12" is set in *Pr. 162* under encoder feedback control, the motor starts at the motor speed and in the rotation direction detected from the encoder at power restoration.
- Encoder detection frequency search is performed regardless of the *Pr. 162* setting under vector control.
- The *Pr. 58* and *Pr. 299* settings are invalid for encoder detection frequency search.

### REMARKS

When encoder feedback control is invalid, setting "2 or 12" in *Pr*: 162 enables frequency search (*Pr*: 162 = "0, 10").

• Restart operation at every start When Pr: 162 = "10, 11 or 12", automatic restart operation is also performed every start, in addition to the automatic restart after instantaneous power failure. When Pr: 162 = "0" or "2", automatic restart operation is performed at the first start after power supply-on, but the inverter starts at the starting frequency at the second time or later.
## (4) Restart coasting time (Pr. 57)

- · Coasting time is the time from when the motor speed is detected until automatic restart control is started.
- Set *Pr*: *57* to "0" to perform automatic restart operation. The coasting time is automatically set to the value below. Generally this setting will pose no problems.
- 5.5K, 7.5K . . . . . . 1s, 11K or more . . . . . . 3.0s
- · Operation may not be performed well depending on the magnitude of the moment of inertia (J) of the load or running frequency. Adjust the coasting time between 0.1s and 5s according to the load specifications.

## (5) Restart cushion time (Pr. 58)

- · Cushion time is the length of time taken to raise the voltage appropriate to the detected motor speed (output frequency prior to instantaneous power failure when Pr: 162 = "1" or "11").
- Normally the initial value need not be changed for operation, but adjust it according to the magnitude of the moment of inertia (J) of the load or torque.
- · Pr. 58 is invalid during encoder feedback control (Pr. 162 = "2, 12"), real sensorless vector control or vector control.



If the setting of *Pr. 21 Acceleration/deceleration time increments* is changed, the setting increments of *Pr. 611* does not change.

#### = CAUTION

- Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.
- When automatic restart operation is selected, undervotage protection (E.UVT) and instantaneous power failure protection (E.IPF) among the fault output signals will not be provided at occurrence of an instantaneous power failure.
- The SU and FU signals are not output during a restart. They are output after the restart cushion time has elapsed.
- Automatic restart operation will also be performed after a reset or when a retry is made by the retry function.
- Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure function is invalid when load torque high speed frequency control (*Pr. 270* = "2, 3") is set.

# 

Provide mechanical interlocks for MC1 and MC2. The inverter will be damaged if the power supply is input to the inverter output section.

▲ When automatic restart after instantaneous power failure has been selected, the motor and machine will start suddenly (after the reset time has elapsed) after occurrence of an instantaneous power failure. Stay away from the motor and machine. When you have selected automatic restart after instantaneous power failure function, apply in easily visible places the CAUTION stickers supplied to the instruction manual (basic).

#### Parameters referred to +

Pr. 7 Acceleration time, Pr. 21 Acceleration/deceleration time increments IF Refer to page 155

Pr. 13 Starting frequency IP Refer to page 157

- Pr. 65, Pr. 67 to Pr. 69 Retry function Refer to page 246
- Pr. 78 Reverse rotation prevention selection IP Refer to page 281
- Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) IF Refer to page 206

## 4.17.2 Power failure-time deceleration-to-stop function (Pr. 261 to Pr. 266, Pr. 294)

When a power failure or undervoltage occurs, the inverter can be decelerated to a stop or can be decelerated and re-accelerated to the set frequency.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description		
			0	Coasting to stop When undervoltage of is shut off.	or power failure occurs, the inverter output	
			1	Without under voltage avoidance	When undervoltage or a power failure	
261	Power failure stop selection	0	11	With under voltage avoidance	to a stop.	
			2	Without under voltage avoidance	When undervoltage or a power failure occurs, the inverter can be decelerated	
			12	With under voltage avoidance	to a stop. If power is restored during a power failure, the inverter accelerates again.	
262	Subtracted frequency at deceleration start	3Hz	0 to 20Hz	Normally operation can be performed with the initial value unchanged. But adjust the frequency according to the magnitude of the load specifications (moment of inertia, torgue		
263	3 Subtraction starting frequency		0 to 120Hz	<ul> <li>When output frequency ≥ <i>Pr. 263</i></li> <li>Decelerate from the speed obtained from output freq minus <i>Pr. 262</i>.</li> <li>When output frequency &lt; <i>Pr. 263</i></li> <li>Decelerate from output frequency</li> </ul>		
			9999	Decelerate from the minus <i>Pr. 262</i> .	speed obtained from output frequency	
264	Power-failure deceleration time 1	5s	0 to 3600/ 360s *	Set a deceleration slope down to the frequency set in <i>Pr</i> :		
265	Power-failure deceleration time 2	9999	0 to 3600/ 360s *	Set a deceleration sl Same slope as in <i>Pr</i>	ope below the frequency set in <i>Pr. 266.</i>	
266	Power failure deceleration time switchover frequency	60Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency at which the deceleration slope is switche from the <i>Pr</i> : 264 setting to the <i>Pr</i> : 265 setting.		
294	UV avoidance voltage gain	100%	0 to 200%	Adjust the response level during undervoltage avoidance operation. A larger setting will improve responsiveness to bus voltage change.		

When the setting of Pr. 21 Acceleration/deceleration time increments is "0" (initial value), the setting range is "0 to 3600s" and the setting increments are "0.1s", and when the setting is "1", the setting range is "0 to 360s" and the setting increments are "0.01s"

Inverter

R/L1

S/L2 T/I 3

R1/L11

S1/L21

Pr.264

Power-failure

deceleration time 1

Pr 265

time 2

Power-failure

deceleration

Time

P/+

N/-

Power supply

Remove the jumper

R1/L11 and P/+

and terminals S1/L21 and N/-.

Power supply

Output

Power-failure

deceleration

frequency

Pr:266

time switchover

frequency

Connect terminals

Subtracted-

frequency at

Pr.262

deceleration start



- · Remove the jumpers across terminals R/L1-R1/L11 and across terminals S/L2-S1/L21, and connect terminals R1/ L11 and P/+ and terminals S1/L21 and N/-.
- · When setting of Pr. 261 is not "0", the inverter decelerates to a stop if an undervoltage, power failure or input phase loss (when Pr. 872 ="1"(input phase loss enabled)) occurs.

## (2) Operation outline of deceleration to stop at power failure

- · If an undervoltage or power failure occurs, the output frequency is dropped by the frequency set in Pr. 262.
- Deceleration is made in the deceleration time set in Pr. 264. (The deceleration time setting is the time required from Pr. 20 *Acceleration/deceleration reference frequency* to a stop.)
- When the frequency is low and enough regeneration energy is not provided, for example, the deceleration time (slope) from Pr. 265 to a stop can be changed.



### (3) Power failure stop function (Pr. 261 = "1, 11")

If power is restored during power failure deceleration, deceleration to a stop is continued and the inverter remains stopped. To restart, turn off the start signal once, then turn it on again.





• When automatic restart after instantaneous power failure is selected (*Pr*:  $57 \neq$  "9999"), deceleration to stop function is invalid and the restart after instantaneous power failure operation is performed.

After a power failure stop, the inverter will not start if the power supply is switched on with the start signal (STF/STR) input. After switching on the power supply, turn off the start signal once and then on again to make a start.

## (4) Original operation continuation at instantaneous power failure function (*Pr. 261* = "2, 12")

- · When power is restored during deceleration after an instantaneous power failure, acceleration is made again up to the set frequency.
- When this function is used in combination with the automatic restart after instantaneous power failure operation, deceleration can be made at a power failure and acceleration can be made again after power restoration. When power is restored after a stop by deceleration at an instantaneous power failure, automatic restart operation is performed if automatic restart after instantaneous power failure has been selected (*Pr. 57* ≠ "9999")



## (5) Undervoltage avoidance function (Pr. 261 = "11, 12", Pr. 294)

- When *Pr. 261* = "11, 12", the deceleration time is automatically adjusted (shortened) to prevent undervoltage from occuring during deceleration at an instantaneous power failure.
- · Adjust the slope of frequency decrease and response level with *Pr. 294*. A larger setting will improve responsiveness to the bus voltage.

### REMARKS

Undervoltage avoidance function is invalid during torque control by real sensorless vector control. When Pr: 261 = "11 (12)", the inverter operates in the same manner as when "1 (2)" is set in Pr: 261.

## (6) Power failure deceleration signal (Y46 signal)

- After deceleration at an instantaneous power failure, inverter can not start even if the start command is given. In this case, check the power failure deceleration signal (Y46 signal). (at occurrence of input phase failure protection (E.ILF), etc.)
- The Y46 signal is on during deceleration at an instantaneous power failure or during a stop after deceleration at an instantaneous power failure.
- For the Y46 signal, set "46 (positive logic)" or "146 (negative logic)" in any of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* to assign the function.

#### 

- When the (output frequency *Pr. 262*) at undervoltage or power failure occurrence is negative, the calculation result is regarded as 0Hz. (DC injection brake operation is performed without deceleration).
- During a stop or trip, the power failure stop selection is not performed.
- Y46 signal turns on when undervoltage occurs even when the motor is not decelerating at an instantaneous power failure.
- For this reason, Y46 signal outputs instantly at powering off, which is not a fault. When power failure deceleration stop function is selected, undervotage protection (E.UVT), instantaneous power failure
- protection (E.IPF), and input phase loss protection (E.ILF) do not function.
- Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

# 

A If power-failure stop function is set, some loads may cause the inverter to trip and the motor to coast. The motor will coast if enough regenerative energy is given from the motor.

#### ♦ Parameters referred to ♦

Pr. 12 DC injection brake operation voltage IP Refer to page 185

Pr. 20 Acceleration/deceleration reference frequency, Pr. 21 Acceleration/deceleration time increments 🕮 Refer to page 155

Pr. 57 Restart coasting time IPR Refer to page 239

- Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection) TP Refer to page 214
- Pr. 872 Input phase failure protection selection IPR Refer to page 249

# 4.18 Operation setting at fault occurrence

Purpose	Parameter t	Refer to Page	
Recover by retry operation at fault occurrence	Retry operatoin	Pr. 65, Pr. 67 to Pr. 69	246
Output fault code from terminal	Fault code output function Pr. 76		248
Do not output input/output phase failure alarm	Input/output phase loss protection selection	Pr. 251, Pr. 872	249
The motor is decelerated to stop at motor thermal activation	Fault definition	Pr. 875	250

## 4.18.1 Retry function (Pr. 65, Pr. 67 to Pr. 69)

If a fault occurs, the inverter resets itself automatically to restart. You can also select the fault description for a retry.

When automatic restart after instantaneous power failure is selected (*Pr. 57 Restart coasting time*  $\neq$  "9999"), restart operation is performed at retry operation as at an instantaneous power failure. (Refer to *page 239* for the restart function.)

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
65	Retry selection	0	0 to 5	A fault for retry can be selected. (Refer to the next page)
			0	No retry function
67	Number of retries at fault occurrence	0	1 to 10	Set the number of retries at fault occurrence. A fault output is not provided during retry operation.
			101 to 110	Set the number of retries at fault occurrence. (The setting value of minus 100 is the number of retries.) A fault output is provided during retry operation.
68	Retry waiting time	1s	0 to 10s	Set the waiting time from when an inverter fault occurs until a retry is made.
69	Retry count display erase	0	0	Clear the number of restarts succeeded by retry.

Retry success example



## Retry failure example



- Retry operation automatically resets a fault and restarts the inverter at the starting frequency when the time set in *Pr: 68* elapses after the inverter is tripped.
- Retry operation is performed by setting *Pr*: 67 to any value other than "0". Set the number of retries at fault occurrence in *Pr*: 67.
- When retries fail consecutively more than the number of times set in *Pr.* 67, a retry count excess fault (E.RET) occurs, resulting in inverter trip. (Refer to retry failure example)
- Use *Pr. 68* to set the waiting time from when an inverter trips until a retry is made in the range 0 to 10s. (When the setting value is "0s", the actual time is 0.1s.)
- Reading the *Pr*: 69 value provides the cumulative number of successful restart times made by retry. The cumulative count in *Pr*: 69 is increased by 1 when a retry is regarded as successful after normal operation continues without faults occurring for more than four times longer than the time set in *Pr*: 68 after a retry start. (When retry is successful, cumulative number of retry failure is cleared.)
- Writing "0" in *Pr. 69* clears the cumulative count.
- During a retry, the Y64 signal is on. For the Y64 signal, assign the function by setting "64 (positive logic)" or "164 (negative logic)" in any of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)*.

#### 

Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

• Using *Pr: 65* you can select the fault that will cause a retry to be executed. No retry will be made for the fault not indicated. (Refer to *page 374* for the fault description.)

Fault for			Pr. 65	Setting	I		Fault for			Pr. 65	Setting	l	
Retry	0	1	2	3	4	5	Retry	0	1	2	3	4	5
E.OC1	•	٠		•	•	•	E.MB2	•				•	
E.OC2	•	•		•	•		E.MB3	•				•	
E.OC3	•	•		•	•	•	E.MB4	•				•	
E.OV1	•		•	•	•		E.MB5	•				•	
E.OV2	•		•	•	•		E.MB6	•				•	
E.OV3	•		•	•	•		E.MB7	•				•	
E.THM	•						E.OS	•				•	
E.THT	•						E.OSD	•				•	
E.IPF	•				•		E.OD	•				•	
E.UVT	•				•		E.PTC	•					
E. GF	•				•		E.CDO	•				•	
E.OHT	•						E.SER	•				•	
E.OLT	•				•		E.ILF	•				•	
E.OPT	•				•		E.4	•				•	
E.OP3	•				•		E.8	•				•	
E. PE	•				•		E.10	•				•	
E.MB1	•				•								

#### — CAUTION =

· For a retry error, only the description of the first fault is stored.

• When an inverter fault is reset by the retry function at the retry time, the accumulated data of the electronic thermal relay function etc. are not cleared. (Different from the power-on reset.)

· Retry is not performed if E.PE (Parameter storage device fault) occurred at power on.

# 

Men you have selected the retry function, stay away from the motor and machine when the inverter is tripped. They will start suddenly (after the reset time has elapsed) after the inverter trip. When you have selected the retry function, apply in easily visible places the CAUTION stickers supplied to the instruction manual (basic).

### ♦ Parameters referred to ♦ –

Pr. 57 Restart coasting time IPR Refer to page 239

## 4.18.2 Fault code output selection (Pr. 76)

At fault occurrence, its description can be output as a 4-bit digital signal from the open collector output terminals. The fault code can be read by a programmable controller, etc., and its corrective action can be shown on a display, etc.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
76			0	Without fault code output
	Fault code output selection	0	1	With fault code output
				(Refer to the following table)
			2	Fault code output at fault occurrence only ( <i>Refer to the following table</i> )

• By setting Pr. 76 to "1" or "2", the fault code can be output to the output terminals.

• When the setting is "2", a fault code is output at only fault occurrence, and during normal operation, the terminals output the signals assigned to *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)*.

· The following table indicates fault codes to be output. (0: output transistor off, 1: output transistor on)

<b>Operation Panel</b>	Οι				
Indication (FR-DU07)	SU	IPF	OL	FU	Fault Code
Normal *	0	0	0	0	0
E.OC1	0	0	0	1	1
E.OC2	0	0	1	0	2
E.OC3	0	0	1	1	3
E.OV1 to E.OV3	0	1	0	0	4
E.THM	0	1	0	1	5
E.THT	0	1	1	0	6
E.IPF	0	1	1	1	7
E.UVT	1	0	0	0	8
E.FIN	1	0	0	1	9
E. GF	1	0	1	1	В
E.OHT	1	1	0	0	С
E.OLT	1	1	0	1	D
E.OPT	1	1	1	0	E
E.OP3	1	1	1	0	E
Other than the above	1	1	1	1	F

\* When Pr. 76 = "2", the output terminals output the signals assigned to Pr. 190 to Pr. 196.

#### - Caution =

When a value other than "0" is set in *Pr.* 76

When a fault occurs, the output terminals SU, IPF, OL, FU output the signal in the above table, independently of the *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* settings. Please be careful when inverter control setting has been made with the output signals of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196*.

#### ♦ Parameters referred to ♦

Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection) I Refer to page 214

## 4.18.3 Input/output phase loss protection selection (Pr. 251, Pr. 872)

You can disable the output phase loss protection function that trips the inverter if one phase of the inverter output side (load side) three phases (U, V, W) is lost.

The input phase loss protection function of the inverter input side (R/L1, S/L2, T/L3) can be made invalid.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
251	Output phase loss protection	1	0	Without output phase loss protection
251	selection	I	1	With output phase loss protection
872	Input phase loss protection selection	1	0	Without input phase loss protection
872		I	1	With input phase loss protection

### (1) Output phase loss protection selection (Pr. 251)

When *Pr. 251* is set to "0", output phase loss protection (E.LF) becomes invalid.

#### (2) Input phase loss protection selection (Pr. 872)

- When *Pr: 872* is set to "1"(initial value), input phase loss protection (E.ILF) is provided if a phase loss of one phase among the three phases is detected for 1s continuously.
- · When Pr.872 is set to "0", input phase loss protection (E.ILF) becomes invalid.

#### REMARKS

If input phase is lost when Pr: 872 = "1" (with input phase loss) and Pr:  $261 \neq "0"$  (power failure stop function valid), input phase loss protection (E.ILF) is not provided but power-failure deceleration is made.

#### **CAUTION**

 When an input phase loss occurs in the R/L1 and S/L2 phases, input phase loss protection is not provided but the inverter output is shut off.

· If an input phase loss continues for a long time, the converter section and capacitor lives of the inverter will be shorter.

#### ♦ Parameters referred to ♦

Pr. 261 Power failure stop selection IP Refer to page 243

## 4.18.4 Overspeed detection (Pr. 374)

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
374	Overspeed detection level	140Hz	0 to 400Hz	When the motor speed reaches or exceeds the speed set in <i>Pr. 374</i> during encoder feedback control, real sensorless vector control, or vector control, over speed (E.OS) occurs and trips the inverter.



## 4.18.5 Encoder signal loss detection (Pr. 376) Magnetic flux Vector

When the encoder signal is lost during encoder feedback control, orientation control, or vector control, signal loss detection (E.ECT) is activated to trip the inverter.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
376 C	Encoder signal loss		0	Signal loss detection is invalid
	detection enable/disable selection	0	1	Signal loss detection is valid

\* Setting can be made only when the FR-A7AP is mounted.

## 4.18.6 Fault definition (Pr. 875)

When motor thermal protection is activated, a fault can be output after the motor decelerates to a stop.



• Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### Parameters referred to +

Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection) I Refer to page 214

# 4.19 Energy saving operation and energy saving monitor

Purpose	Parameter th	arameter that must be Set		
Energy saving operation	Energy saving operation	Pr. 60	251	
How much energy can be saved	Energy saving monitor	Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158, Pr. 891 to Pr. 899	252	

## 4.19.1 Energy saving control (Pr. 60)

Without a fine parameter setting, the inverter automatically performs energy saving control. This inverter is optimum for fan and pump applications.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
60	Energy saving control solection*	0	0	Normal operation mode
60	Lifergy saving control selection	0	4	Energy saving operation mode

\* When parameter is read using the FR-PU04, a parameter name different from an actual parameter is displayed.

## Energy saving operation mode (setting "4")

- $\cdot$  When "4" is set in *Pr.* 60, the inverter operates in the energy saving operation mode.
- In the energy saving operation mode, the inverter automatically controls the output voltage to minimize the inverter output voltage during a constant operation.

## REMARKS

For applications a large load torque is applied to or machines repeat frequent acceleration/deceleration, an energy saving effect is not expected.

### = CAUTION =

- When the energy saving mode is selected, deceleration time may be longer than the setting value. Since overvoltage alarm tends to occur as compared to the constant torque load characteristics, set a longer deceleration time.
- The energy saving operation mode functions only under V/F control. When the advanced magnetic flux vector control, real sensorless vector control and vector control are selected, the energy saving mode is invalid.
- · Since output voltage is controlled in energy saving operation mode, output current may slightly increase.

## 4.19.2 Energy saving monitor (Pr. 891 to Pr. 899)

From the power consumption estimated value during commercial power supply operation, the energy saving effect by use of the inverter can be monitored/output.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
52	DU/PU main display data selection	0 (output frequency)	0, 5 to 8, 10 to 14, 17 to 20, 22 to 25, 32 to 35, 50 to 57, 100	50:Power saving monitor 51:Cumulative saving power monitor
54	FM terminal function selection	1 (output	1 to 3, 5 to 8, 10 to 14, 17, 18,	50:Power saving monitor
158	AM terminal function selection	frequency)	21, 24, 32 to 34, 50, 52, 53	out ower saving monitor
891	Cumulative power monitor	9999	0 to 4	Set the number of times to shift the cumulative power monitor digit Clamps the monitor value at maximum.
	ugit sinted tines		9999	No shift Clears the monitor value when it exceeds the maximum value.
892	Load factor	100%	30 to 150%	Set the load factor for commercial power-supply operation. Multiplied by the power consumption rate ( <i>page 255</i> ) during commercial power supply operation.
893	Energy saving monitor reference (motor capacity)	Inverter rated capacity	0.1 to 55kW	Set the motor capacity (pump capacity). Set when calculating power saving rate, power saving rate average value, commercial operation power.
			0	Discharge damper control (fan)
	Control selection during		1	Inlet damper control (fan)
894	commercial power-supply	0	2	Valve control (pump)
	operation		3	Commercial power-supply drive (fixed value)
895	Power saving rate	wer saving rate		Consider the value during commercial power-supply operation as 100%
	reference value	0000	1	Consider the <i>Pr. 893</i> setting as 100%.
			9999	No function
896	Power unit cost	9999	0 to 500	Set the power unit cost. Displays the power saving amount charge on the energy saving monitor.
			9999	No function
	Power saving monitor		0	Average for 30 minutes
897	average time	9999	1 to 1000h	Average for the set time
			9999	No function
			0	Cumulative monitor value clear
			1	Cumulative monitor value hold
898	Power saving cumulative monitor clear	9999	10	Totalization continued (communication data upper limit 9999)
	monitor clear		9999	Totalization continued (communication data upper limit 65535)
899	Operation time rate (estimated value)	9999	0 to 100%	Use for calculation of annual power saving amount. Set the annual operation ratio (consider 365 days × 24hr as 100%).
			9999	No function

The above parameters allow its setting to be changed during operation in any operation mode even if "0" (initial value) is set in *Pr. 77 Parameter write* selection.

## (1) Energy saving monitor list

• The following provides the items that can be monitored by the power saving monitor (*Pr. 52, Pr. 54, Pr. 158* = "50"). (Only 1) power saving and 3) power saving average value can be output to *Pr. 54* (terminal FM) and *Pr. 158* (terminal AM))

	Energy Saving	Description and Formula	Incre-	F	Paramete	r Setting	
	Monitor Item	Description and Formula	ments	Pr. 895	Pr. 896	<b>Pr. 89</b> 7	Pr. 899
1)	Power saving	Difference between the estimated value of power necessary for commercial power supply operation and the input power calculated by the inverter <b>Power during commercial power supply</b> <b>operation</b> – <b>input power monitor</b>	0.01kW	9999			
2)	Power saving rate	Ratio of power saving on the assumption that power during commercial power supply operation is 100% 1) Power saving Power during commercial power supply operation	0.1%	0		9999	
		Ratio of power saving on the assumption that $Pr$ : 893 is 100% 1) Power saving $Pr. 893 \times 100$		1			
3)	Power saving average value	Average value of power saving amount per hour during predetermined time ( $Pr. 897$ ) $\Sigma$ ( 1) Power saving × $\Delta$ t) $Pr. 897$	0.01kWh	9999			
4)	Power saving rate	Ratio of power saving average value on the assumption that the value during commercial power supply operation is 100% $\Sigma$ ( 2) Power saving rate $\times \Delta t$ ) $Pr. 897$ $\times$ 100	0.1%	0	9999	0 to 1000h	
.,	average value	Ratio of power saving average value on the assumption that <i>Pr. 893</i> is 100% <u>3) Power saving average value</u> <u><i>Pr. 893</i> <i>Pr. 893</i></u>		1			
5)	Power saving amount average value	<ul> <li>Power saving average value represented in terms of charge</li> <li>3) Power saving average value × Pr. 896</li> </ul>	0.01	_	0 to 500		

• The following shows the items which can be monitored by the cumulative saving power monitor (*Pr. 52* = "51"). (The monitor value of the cumulative monitor can be shifted to the right with *Pr. 891 Cumulative power monitor digit shifted times*.)

	<b>Energy Saving</b>	Description and Formula	Incre-	F	Paramete	er Setting	9
	Monitor Item	Description and Formula	ments	Pr. 895	Pr. 896	<b>Pr. 89</b> 7	Pr. 899
6)	Power saving amount	Power saving is added up per hour. $\Sigma$ ( 1) Power saving × $\Delta$ t)	0.01kWh *1*2	_	9999		0000
7)	Power saving amount charge	Power saving amount represented in terms of charge <b>6)</b> Power saving amount $\times Pr. 896$	<b>0.01</b> *1		0 to 500		9999
8)	Annual power saving amount	Estimated value of annual power saving amount 6) Power saving amount Operation time during accumulation of power saving amount $\times 24 \times 365 \times \frac{Pr. 899}{100}$	0.01kWh *1*2		9999		0 to 100%
9)	Annual power saving amount charge	Annual power saving amount represented in terms of charge 8) Annual power saving amount × <i>Pr. 896</i>	0.01*1		0 to 500		

\*1 For communication (RS-485 communication, communication option), the display increments are 1. For example, the communication data is "10" for "10.00kWh".

\*2 When using the parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07), "kW" is displayed.

#### REMARKS

- As the operation panel (FR-DU07) is 4-digit display, it displays in 0.1 increments since a carry occurs, e.g. "100.0", when a
  monitor value in 0.01 increments exceeds "99.99". The maximum display is "9999".
- As the operation panel (FR-PU04/FR-PU07) is 5-digit display, it displays in 0.1 increments since a carry occurs, e.g. "1000.0", when a monitor value in 0.01 increments exceeds "999.99". The maximum display is "99999".
- The upper limit of communication (RS-485 communication, communication option) is "65535" when *Pr. 898 Power saving cumulative monitor clear* = "9999". The upper limit of 0.01 increments monitor is "655.35" and that of 0.1 increments monitor is "6553.5".

## (2) Power saving instantaneous monitor (1) power savings, 2) power saving rate )

- On the power saving monitor (1)), an energy saving effect as compared to the power consumption during commercial power supply operation (estimated value) is calculated and displays on the main monitor.
- $\cdot\,$  In the following case, the power saving monitor ( 1)) is "0".
- (a)Calculated values of the power saving monitor are negative values.
- (b)During the DC injection brake operation
- (c)Motor is not connected (output current monitor is 0A)
- On the power saving rate monitor (2)), setting "0" in *Pr. 895 Power saving rate reference value* displays the power saving rate on the assumption that power (estimated value) during commercial power supply operation is 100%. When *Pr. 895* = "1", the power saving rate on the assumption that the *Pr. 893 Energy saving monitor reference (motor capacity)* value is 100% is displayed.

# (3) Power saving average value monitor (3) power saving average value, 4) average power saving rate average value, 5) power saving amount average value)

- Power saving average value monitor can be displayed when a value other than "9999" is set in *Pr. 897 Power saving monitor average time.*
- The power saving average value monitor (3)) displays the average value per unit time of the power saving amount at averaging.
- The average value is updated every time an average time has elapsed after the *Pr. 897* setting is changed, power is turned on or the inverter is reset, assuming as a starting point. The power savings average value update timing signal (Y92) is inverted every time the average value is updated.



- The power saving average value monitor (4)) displays the average value per unit time of power saving rate (2)) at every average time by setting "0" or "1" in *Pr. 895 Power saving rate reference value*.
- By setting the charge (power unit) per 1kWh of power amount in *Pr. 896 Power unit cost*, the power saving amount average value monitor (5)) displays the charge relative to the power saving average value (power saving average value (3)) × *Pr. 896*).

# (4) Cumulative saving power monitor (6) power saving amount, 7) power saving amount charge, 8) annual power saving amount, 9) annual power saving amount charge)

- On the cumulative saving power monitor, the monitor data digit can be shifted to the right by the number of *Pr. 891 Cumulative power monitor digit shifted times* settings. For example, if the cumulative power value is 1278.56kWh when *Pr. 891* = "2", the PU/DU display is 12.78 (display in 100kWh increments) and the communication data is 12. If the maximum value is exceeded at *Pr. 891* = "0 to 4", the power is clamped at the maximum value, indicating that a digit shift is necessary. If the maximum value is exceeded at *Pr. 891* = "9999", the power returns to 0 and is recounted. The other monitors are clamped at the display maximum value.
- The cumulative saving power monitor (6)) can measure the power amount during a predetermined period. Measure according to the following steps
- 1) Write "9999" or "10" in *Pr. 898 Power saving cumulative monitor clear*.
- 2) Write "0" in *Pr. 898* at measurement start timing to clear the cumulative saving power monitor value and start totalization of power saving.
- 3) Write "1" in Pr. 898 at measurement end timing to hold the cumulative saving power monitor value.

#### REMARKS

The cumulative saving power monitor value is stored every hour. Hence, when the power supply is switched on again within one hour after it was switched off, the previously stored monitor value is displayed and totalization starts. (The cumulative monitor value may decrease)

## (5) Power estimated value of commercial power supply operation (Pr. 892, Pr. 893, Pr. 894)

- Select the commercial power supply operation pattern from among the four patterns of discharge damper control (fan), inlet damper control (fan), valve control (pump) and commercial power supply drive, and set it to *Pr*: *894 Control selection during commercial power-supply operation*.
- Set the motor capacity (pump capacity) in Pr. 893 Energy saving monitor reference (motor capacity).
- The power consumption rate (%) during commercial power supply operation is estimated from the operation pattern and the ratio of speed to rating (current output frequency/*Pr*: *3 Base frequency*) in the following chart.



• From the motor capacity set in *Pr. 893* and *Pr. 892 Load factor*, the power estimated value (kW) during commercial power supply operation is found by the following formula.

Power estimated value (kW) during commercial power supply operation				
= <i>Pr. 893</i> (kW) ×	$\frac{\text{Power consumption (\%)}}{100}~\times$	Pr. 892 (%)		

#### REMARKS

Since the speed does not increase above the power supply frequency in commercial power supply operation, it becomes constant when the output frequency rises to or above *Pr*: *3 Base frequency*.

## (6) Annual power saving amount, power charge (Pr. 899)

- By setting the operation time rate [%] (ratio of time when the motor is actually driven by the inverter during a year) in *Pr.* 899, the annual energy saving effect can be predicted.
- · When the operation pattern is predetermined to some degree, the estimated value of the annual power saving amount can be found by measurement of the power saving amount during a given measurement period.
- $\cdot\,$  Refer to the following and set the operation time rate.
- 1) Predict the average time [h/day] of operation in a day.
- 2) Find the annual operation days [days/year]. (Monthly average operation days  $\times$  12 months)
- 3) Calculate the annual operation time [h/year] from 1) and 2).

### Annual operation time (h/year) = Average time (h/day) × Operation days (days/year)

4) Calculate the operation time rate and set it to Pr. 899.

Operation time rate (%) =  $\frac{\text{Annual operation time (h/year)}}{24 \text{ (h/day)} \times 365 \text{ (days/year)}} \times 100(\%)$ 

#### REMARKS

Operation time rate setting example: When operation is performed for about 21 hours per day and the monthly average operation days are 16 days

Annual operation time = 21 (h/day) × 16 (days/month) × 12 months = 4032 (h/year)

Operation time rate (%) =  $\frac{4032 \text{ (h/year)}}{24 \text{ (h/day)} \times 365 \text{ (days/year)}} \times 100(\%) = \frac{46.03\%}{24 \text{ (h/day)}}$ 

Set 46.03% to Pr. 899.

· Calculate the annual power saving amount from *Pr. 899 Operation time rate (estimated value)* and power saving average value monitor

Annual power saving amount (kWh/year) = $(kW)$ during totalization $\times$ 24h $\times$ 365 days $\times$ 100 when <i>Pr. 898</i> = 10 or 9999	Annual power saving amount (kWh/year) =	Power saving average value (kW) during totalization when <i>Pr. 898</i> = 10 or 9999	$\times$ 24h $\times$ 365 days $\times$	<i>Pr. 899</i> 100
--	---	--	---	-----------------------

• The annual power saving amount charge can be monitored by setting the power charge per hour in *Pr. 896 Power unit cost*.

Calculate the annual power saving amount charge in the following method.

Annual power saving amount charge = Annual power saving amount (kWh/year) × Pr. 896

### REMARKS

In the regeneration mode, make calculation on the assumption that "power saving = power during commercial power supply operation (input power = 0)".

## + Parameters referred to +

Pr. 3 Base frequency I Refer to page 142

Pr. 52 DU/PU main display data selection IP Refer to page 228

Pr. 54 FM terminal function selection I Refer to page 228

Pr. 158 AM terminal function selection IP Refer to page 228

# 4.20 Motor noise, EMI measures

## 4.20.1 PWM carrier frequency and Soft-PWM control (Pr. 72, Pr. 240)

You can change the motor sound.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
72 *1	PWM frequency selection	2	0 to 15	PWM carrier frequency can be changed. The setting displayed is in [kHz]. Note that 0 indicates 0.7kHz and 15 indicates 14.5kHz.
240 *4	Soft BWM operation selection	1	0	Soft-PWM is invalid
240 *1 Soπ-Pwwi operatio	Solt-F WW operation selection	1	1	When Pr: 72 = "0 to 5", soft-PWM is valid.

\*1 The above parameters allow its setting to be changed during operation in any operation mode even if "0" (initial value) is set in *Pr. 77 Parameter write selection.* 

## (1) PWM carrier frequency changing (Pr. 72)

- · You can change the PWM carrier frequency of the inverter.
- Changing the PWM carrier frequency produces an effect on avoiding the resonance frequency of a mechanical system or motor or on measures against noise (EMI) generated from the inverter or on leakage current reduction caused by the PWM switching.
- · Carrier frequencies under real sensorless vector control or vector control are as shown below.

Pr. 72 Setting	Carrier Frequencies (kHz)
0 to 5	2
6 to 9	6
10 to 13	10
14, 15	14

### (2) Soft-PWM control (Pr. 240)

· Soft-PWM control is a control method that changes the motor noise from a metallic tone into an unoffending complex tone.

#### 

- Decreasing the PWM carrier frequency effect on measures against noises (EMI) generated from the inverter and on leakage current reduction, but increases motor noise.
- When PWM carrier frequency is set to 1kHz or less (Pr: 72  $\leq$  1), fast response current limit may function prior to stall prevention operation due to increase in ripple currents, resulting in insufficient torque. In such case, set fast response current limit operation invalid using Pr: 156 Stall prevention operation selection.

#### Parameters referred to +

Pr. 156 Stall prevention operation selection IP Refer to page 135

# 4.21 Frequency/torque setting by analog input (terminal 1, 2, 4)

Purpose	Parameter that m	ust be Set	Refer to Page
Function assignment of analog input terminal	Terminal 1 and terminal 4 function assignment	Pr. 858, Pr. 868	258
Selection of voltage/current input (terminal 1, 2, 4) Perform forward/ reverse rotation by analog input	Analog input selection	Pr. 73, Pr. 267	259
Adjust the main speed by analog auxiliary input	Analog auxliary input and compensation (added compensation and override function)	Pr. 73, Pr. 242, Pr. 243, Pr. 252, Pr. 253	263
Noise elimination at the analog input	Input filter	Pr. 74, Pr. 822, Pr. 826, Pr. 832, Pr. 836, Pr. 849	265
Adjustment (calibration) of analog input frequency and voltage (current)	Bias and gain of frequency setting voltage (current)	Pr. 125, Pr. 126, Pr. 241, C2 to C7 (Pr. 902 to Pr. 905) C12 to C15 (Pr. 917 to Pr. 918)	267
Adjustment (calibration) of analog input torque and voltage (current)	Bias and gain of torque setting voltage (current)	Pr. 241, C16 to C19 (Pr. 919 to Pr. 920), C38 to C41 (Pr. 932 to Pr. 933)	273

## 4.21.1 Function assignment of analog input terminal (Pr. 858, Pr. 868)

Function assignment of terminal 1 and terminal 4 of analog input can be selected and changed by parameter.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
858	Terminal 4 function assignment	0	0, 1, 4, 9999	Select the terminal 4 function. (Refer to the following list)
868	Terminal 1 function assignment	0	0 to 6, 9999	Select the terminal 1 function. (Refer to the following list)

For the terminal 1 and terminal 4 used for analog input, frequency (speed) command, magnetic flux command, torque command, etc. can be selected.

Functions change according to the control mode as in the table below.

• Terminal 1 function according to control

Pr. 868	V/F Control, Real Sensorless Vector Control, Vector Control			Vector Control
Setting Flux Vector Control Speed control		Torque control	Position control	
0 (Initial value)	Frequency setting auxiliary	Speed setting auxiliary	Speed limit auxiliary	_
1		Magnetic flux command	Magnetic flux command	Magnetic flux command
2	_	Regenerative torque limit (Pr: 810 = 1)	_	Regenerative torque limit ( <i>Pr.</i> 810 = 1)
3	—	_	Torque command (Pr: 804 = 0)	—
4	Stall prevention operation level input ( <i>Pr.</i> 810 = 1)	Torque limit ( <i>Pr. 810</i> = 1)	Torque command ( <i>Pr. 804</i> = 0)	Torque limit ( <i>Pr. 810</i> = 1)
5	_		Forward/reverse rotation speed limit ( <i>Pr</i> : 807 = 2)	_
6		Torque bias input ( <i>Pr. 840</i> = 1, 2, 3)		
9999				

Terminal 4 function according to control

Pr. 858	V/F Control,	Real Sensorless Vector Control, Vector Control Vector Control		
Setting	Vector Control	Vector Control Speed control Torque control		Position control
0 (Initial value)	Frequency command (AU signal-ON)	Speed command (AU signal-ON)	Speed limit (AU signal-ON)	_
1		Magnetic flux command	Magnetic flux command	Magnetic flux command
4	Stall prevention operation level input ( <i>Pr</i> : 810 = 1)	Torque limit ( <i>Pr. 810</i> = 1)	_	Torque limit ( <i>Pr: 810</i> = 1)
9999				

- :No function

## REMARKS

When "1 or 4" is set in both Pr. 868 and Pr. 858, terminal 1 is made valid and terminal 4 has no function.

When "1" (magnetic flux), "4" (stall prevention/torque limit) is set in *Pr. 868*, functions of terminal 4 become valid independently of whether the AU terminal is on or off.

#### Parameters referred to +

Advanced magnetic flux vector control I Refer to page 131 Real sensorless vector control I Refer to page 75 Pr. 804 Torque command source selection I Refer to page 108 Pr. 807 Speed limit selection Refer to page 110 Pr. 810 Torque limit input method selection Refer to page 83

## 4.21.2 Analog input selection (Pr. 73, Pr. 267)

You can select the function that switches between forward rotation and reverse rotation according to the analog input terminal selection specifications, the override function and the input signal polarity.

Deremeter		Initial	Sotting	Description		
Number	Name	Value	Range	Voltage/current input switch		
			0 to 5, 10 to 15	Switch 2 - OFF (initial status)	You can select the input specifications of terminal 2 (0 to 5V, 0 to 10V, 0 to	
73	Analog input selection	1	6, 7, 16, 17	Switch 2 - ON	20mA) and input specifications of terminal 1 (0 to ±5V, 0 to ±10V). Override and reversible operation can be selected.	
267	67 Terminal 4 input calestian		0	Switch 1 - ON (initial status)	Terminal 4 input 0 to 20mA	
267	reminal 4 input selection	0	1	Switch 1 - OFF	Terminal 4 input 0 to 5V	
			2	Switch 1 - Of 1	Terminal 4 input 0 to 10V	

## (1) Selection of analog input specifications

• For the terminals 2, 4 used for analog input, voltage input (0 to 5V, 0 to 10V) or current input (0 to 20mA) can be selected.

Change parameters (*Pr. 73, Pr. 267*) and a voltage/current input switch (switch 1, 2) to change input specifications. Switch 1:Terminal 4 input



ON: Current input (initial status) OFF: Voltage input

Switch 2: Terminal 2 input ON: Current input OFF: Voltage input (initial status)

• Rated specifications of terminal 2 and 4 change according to the voltage/current input switch setting. Voltage input: Input resistance  $10k\Omega \pm 1k\Omega$ , Maximum permissible voltage 20VDC Current input: Input resistance  $245\Omega \pm 5\Omega$ , Maximum permissible current 30mA

#### CAUTION

Set *Pr. 73, Pr. 267,* and a voltage/current input switch correctly, then input an analog signal in accordance with the setting. Incorrect setting as in the table below could cause component damage. Incorrect settings other than below can cause abnormal operation.

Setting Causing Component Damage		Operation
Switch setting	Terminal input	Operation
ON (Current input)	Voltage input	This could cause component damage to the analog signal output circuit of signal output devices. (electrical load in the analog signal output circuit of signal output devices increases)
OFF (Voltage input)	Current input	This could cause component damage of the inverter signal input circuit . (output power in the analog signal output circuit of signal output devices increases)



			Term	ninal 4 Input	1		<b>Compensation Input</b>	
Pr. 73 Setting	Terminal 2 Input	Terminal 1 Input	AU signal			Pr. 73 Setting	Terminal and Compensation Method	Polarity Reversible
0	0 to 10V	0 to ±10V			I	0		Nie
1 (initial value)	0 to to 5V	0 to $\pm 10V$				1 (initial value)	Terminal 1	(Indicates that
2	0 to 10V	0 to ±5V				2	Audeu compensation	a frequency
3	0 to 5V	0 to ±5V				3		signal of
4	0 to 10V	0 to ±10V				4	Terminal 2	negative
5	0 to 5V	0 to ±5V				5	Override	polarity is not
6	0 to 20mA	0 to ±10V				6		accepted.)
7	0 to 20mA	0 to ±5V	Off	—		7		. ,
10	0 to 10V	0 to ±10V				10	Terminal 1	
11	0 to 5V	0 to ±10V				11	Added compensation	
12	0 to 10V	0 to ±5V				12		
13	0 to 5V	0 to ±5V				13		Voc
14	0 to 10V	0 to ±10V				14	Terminal 2	165
15	0 to 5V	0 to ±5V				15	Override	
16	0 to 20mA	0 to ±10V				16	Terminal 1	
17	0 to 20mA	0 to ±5V				17	Added compensation	
0		0 to ±10V			ĺ.	0		
1 (initial value)	_	0 to ±10V				1 (initial value)	Terminal 1	No (Indicates that
2		0 to ±5V				2	Added compensation	a frequency
3		0 to ±5V				3		command
4	0 to 10V					4	Terminal 2	signal of
5	0 to 5V			According to		5	Override	negative
6		0 to ±10V		Pr. 267 setting		6		accepted )
7		0 to ±5V	On	0: 4 to 20mA		7		accepted.)
10		0 to ±10V		(Initial value)		10	Terminal 1	
11		0 to ±10V		2: 0 to 10V		11	Added compensation	
12		0 to ±5V		2.010100		12	-	
13		0 to ±5V				13		No.
14	0 to 10V					14	Terminal 2	res
15	0 to 5V	—				15	Override	
16		0 to ±10V				16	Terminal 1	1
17		0 to ±5V				17	Added compensation	
							Invai	Id

 $\cdot$  Set the voltage/current input switch referring to the table below.

Terminal 2 Input Specifications	Pr. 73 Setting	Switch 2	Terminal 4 Input Specifications	Pr. 267 Setting	Switch 1
Voltage input (0 to 10V)	0, 2, 4, 10, 12, 14	OFF	Voltage input (0 to 10V)	2	OFF
Voltage input (0 to 5V)	1 (initial value), 3, 5, 11, 13, 15	OFF	Voltage input (0 to 5V)	1	OFF
Current input (0 to 20mA)	6, 7, 16, 17	ON	Current input (4 to 20mA)	0 (initial value)	ON

indicates an initial value.

#### = Caution =

· Turn the AU signal on to make terminal 4 valid.

· Match the setting of parameter and switch. A different setting may cause a fault, failure or malfunction.

• The terminal 1 (frequency setting auxiliary input) signal is added to the main speed setting signal of the terminal 2 or 4.

- When an override is selected, the terminal 1 or 4 is used for the main speed setting and the terminal 2 for the override signal (50% to 150% at 0 to 5V or 0 to 10V). (When the main speed of the terminal 1 or terminal 4 is not input, compensation by the terminal 2 is made invalid.))
- Use *Pr. 125 (Pr. 126) (frequency setting gain)* to change the maximum output frequency at input of the maximum output frequency command voltage (current). At this time, the command voltage (current) need not be input. Also, the acceleration/deceleration time, which is a slope up/down to the acceleration/deceleration reference frequency, is not

affected by the change in *Pr. 73* setting.
When *Pr. 858 Terminal 4 function assignment, Pr. 868 Terminal 1 function assignment* = "4", the value of the terminal 1 or terminal 4 is as set to the stall prevention operation level. When terminal 1 and terminal 4 are used for frequency setting, set "0" (initial value) in *Pr. 858* and *Pr. 868*.



#### Connection diagram using terminal 4 (0 to 5VDC)

## (2) Perform operation by analog input voltage

- The frequency setting signal inputs 0 to 5VDC (or 0 to 10VDC) to across the terminals 2-5. The 5V (10V) input is the maximum output frequency. The maximum output frequency is reached when 5V (10V) is input.
- The power supply 5V (10V) can be input by either using the internal power supply or preparing an external power supply. The internal power supply outputs 5VDC across terminals 10-5, or 10V across terminals 10E-5.

Terminal	Inverter Built-in Power Supply Voltage	Frequency Setting Resolution	<i>Pr. 73</i> (terminal 2 input voltage)
10	5VDC	0.030Hz/60Hz	0 to 5VDC input
10E	10VDC	0.015Hz/60Hz	0 to 10VDC input

- When inputting 10VDC to the terminal 2, set any of "0, 2, 4, 10, 12, 14" in *Pr.* 73. (The initial value is 0 to 5V)
- Setting "1 (0 to 5VDC)" or "2 (0 to 10VDC)" in *Pr. 267* and a voltage/ current input switch in the OFF position changes the terminal 4 to the voltage input specification. When the AU signal turns on, the terminal 4 input becomes valid.

## REMARKS

The wiring length of the terminal 10, 2, 5 should be 30m maximum.



## (3) Perform operation by analog input current

- · When the pressure or temperature is controlled constant by a fan, pump, etc., automatic operation can be performed by inputting the output signal 0 to 20mADC of the adjuster to across the terminals 4-5.
- · The AU signal must be turned on to use the terminal 4.
- Setting any of "6, 7, 16, 17" in Pr. 73 and a voltage/current input switch in the ON position changes the terminal 2 to the current input specification. At this time, the AU signal need not be turned on.

- (4) Perform forward/reverse rotation by analog input (polarity reversible operation)
  - Setting any of "10 to 17" in Pr. 73 enables polarity reversible operation.
  - Providing  $\pm$  input (0 to  $\pm$ 5V or 0 to  $\pm$ 10V) to the terminal 1 enables forward/reverse rotation operation according to the polarity.

Pr. 22 Stall prevention operation level IPR Refer to page 135

Pr. 125 Terminal 2 frequency setting gain frequency, Pr. 126 Terminal 4 frequency setting gain frequency 🐨 Refer to page 267

Pr. 252, Pr. 253 Override bias/gain I Refer to page 263

Pr. 858 Terminal 4 function assignment, Pr. 868 Terminal 1 function assignment IP Refer to page 258

## 4.21.3 Analog input compensation (Pr. 73, Pr. 242, Pr. 243, Pr. 252, Pr. 253)

A fixed ratio of analog compensation (override) can be made by the added compensation or terminal 2 as an auxiliary input for multi-speed operation or the speed setting signal (main speed) of the terminal 2 or terminal 4.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description	
73	Analog input selection	1	0 to 3, 6, 7, 10 to 13, 16, 17	Added compensation	
			4, 5, 14, 15	Override compensation	
242	Terminal 1 added compensation amount (terminal 2)	100%	0 to 100%	Set the ratio of added compensation amount when terminal 2 is the main speed.	
243	Terminal 1 added compensation amount (terminal 4)	75%	0 to 100%	Set the ratio of added compensation amount when terminal 4 is the main speed.	
252	Override bias	50%	0 to 200%	Set the bias side compensation value of override function.	
253	Override gain	150%	0 to 200%	Set the gain side compensation value of override function.	

## (1) Added compensation (Pr. 242, Pr. 243)

Inverter

STF

SD

10

2

5

1

Forward

rotation

Added compensation

connection example

Auxiliary input>

0 to  $\pm 10V(\pm 5V)$ 

The compensation signal can be input for the main speed setting for synchronous/continuous speed control operation, etc.

• Setting any of "0 to 3, 6, 7, 10 to 13, 16, 17" in *Pr*: 73 adds the voltage across terminals 1-5 to the voltage signal across terminals 2-5.

If the result of addition is negative, it is regarded as 0 at the *Pr*: 73 setting of any of "0 to 3, 6, 7", or reverse rotation operation (polarity reversible operation) is performed when the STF signal turns on at the *Pr*: 73 setting of any of "10 to 13, 16, 17".

The compensation input of the terminal 1 can also be added to the multi-speed setting or terminal 4 (initial value 4 to 20mA).

The added compensation for terminal 2 can be adjusted by *Pr. 242*, and the compensation for terminal 4 by *Pr. 243*.

Analog command value using terminal 2

= Terminal 2 input + Terminal 1 input ×  $\frac{Pr. 242}{100(\%)}$ 

Analog command value using terminal 4

= Terminal 4 input + Terminal 1 input × 
$$\frac{Pr. 243}{100(\%)}$$



#### = Caution :

• When the *Pr.* 73 setting was changed, check the voltage/current input switch setting. Different setting may cause a fault, failure or malfunction. (*Refer to page 259* for setting.)

## (2) Override function (Pr. 252, Pr. 253)

Forward Inverter rotation STF SD 0verride setting SD 10 2 5 Main (+) 1 speed (-)

#### Override connection diagram



- Set any of "4, 5, 14, 15" in *Pr. 73* to select an override.
- When an override is selected, the terminal 1 or terminal 4 is used for the main speed setting and the terminal 2 for the override signal. (When the main speed of the terminal 1 or terminal 4 is not input, compensation made by the terminal 2 becomes invalid.)
- · Using *Pr. 252* and *Pr. 253*, set the override range.
- How to find the set frequency for override

Set frequency (Hz) = Main speed set frequency (Hz)  $\times \frac{\text{Compensation amount (\%)}}{100(\%)}$ 

Main speed set frequency (Hz): Terminal 1, 4 input, multi-speed setting Compensation amount (%): Terminal 2 input





terminal 1 (main speed) and terminal 2 (auxiliary) inputs.

The set frequency changes as shown below according to the

#### CAUTION :

• When the *Pr. 73* setting was changed, check the voltage/current input switch setting. Different setting may cause a fault, failure or malfunction. (*Refer to page 259* for setting.)

## REMARKS

- The AU signal must be turned on to use the terminal 4.
- When inputting compensation to multi-speed operation or remote setting, set "1" (compensation made) in *Pr. 28 Multi-speed input compensation selection*. (Initial value is "0")

#### Parameters referred to +

Pr. 28 Multi-speed input compensation selection Internet Refer to page 152 Pr. 73 Analog input selection Internet Refer to page 259

# 4.21.4 Response level of analog input and noise elimination (Pr. 74, Pr. 822, Pr. 826, Pr. 832, Pr. 836, Pr. 849)

Response level and stability of frequency reference command and torque reference command by analog input (terminal 1, 2, 4) signal can be adjusted.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
74	Input filter time constant	1	0 to 8	The primary delay filter time constant for the analog input can be set. A larger setting results in slower response.
822	Speed setting filter 1	9999	0 to 5s	Set the time constant of the primary delay filter relative to the external speed command (analog input command).
			9999	Pr. 74 used
826	Torque setting filter 1	9999	0 to 5s	Set the time constant of the primary delay filter relative to the external torque command (analog input command).
			9999	Pr. 74 used
832	Speed setting filter 2	9999	0 to 5s, 9999	Second function of <i>Pr. 822</i> (valid when RT terminal is on)
836	Torque setting filter 2	9999	0 to 5s, 9999	Second function of Pr. 826 (valid when RT terminal is on)
849	Analog input offset adjustment	100%	0 to 200%	This function provides speed command by analog input (terminal 2) with offset. Motor rotation due to noise, etc. by analog input can be avoided at zero speed command.

## (1) Block diagram



## (2) Time constant of analog input (Pr. 74)

- · Effective for eliminating noise in the frequency setting circuit.
- Increase the filter time constant if steady operation cannnot be performed due to noise.
- A larger setting results in slower response (The time constant can be set between approximately 10ms to 1s with the setting of 0 to 8).

## (3) Time constant of analog speed command input (Pr. 822, Pr. 832)

• Set the time constant of the primary delay filter relative to the external torque command (analog input command) using *Pr. 822 Speed setting filter 1*.

Set a large time constant when you want to delay the tracking of the speed command, when the analog input voltage fluctuates, etc.

- When you want to change time constant when switching two motors with one inverter, use the *Pr*: 832 Speed setting filter 2.
- · Pr. 832 Speed setting filter 2 is made valid when the RT signal turns on.

## (4) Time constant of analog torque command input (Pr. 826, Pr. 836)

• Set the time constant of the primary delay filter relative to the external torque command (analog input command) using *Pr. 826 Torque setting filter 1*.

Set a large time constant value when you want to delay the tracking of the torque command, when the analog input voltage fluctuates, etc.

- When you want to change time constant when switching two motors with one inverter, etc., use *Pr. 836 Torque setting filter 2.*
- $\cdot$  Pr. 836 Torque setting filter 2 is made valid when the RT signal turns on.



Pr. 125, C2 to C4 (Bias and gain of the terminal 2 frequency setting) IF Refer to page 267

# 4.21.5 Bias and gain of frequency setting voltage (current) (Pr. 125, Pr. 126, Pr. 241, C2(Pr. 902) to C7(Pr. 905), C12(Pr. 917) to C15(Pr. 918))

You can set the magnitude (slope) of the output frequency as desired in relation to the frequency setting signal (0 to 5V, 0 to 10V or 0 to 20mADC).

Set Pr. 73, Pr. 267 and voltage/current input switch to switch between 0 to 5VDC, 0 to 10VDC and 4 to 20mADC. (Refer to page 259)

#### • Frequency setting bias/gain parameter

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description		
125	Terminal 2 frequency setting gain frequency	60Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency of (maximum).	terminal 2 input gain	
126	Terminal 4 frequency setting gain frequency	60Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency o (maximum).	f terminal 4 input gain	
244.00	Analog input display unit		0	Displayed in %	Select the unit of	
241 *2	switchover	0	1	Displayed in V/mA	analog input display.	
C2(902) *1	Terminal 2 frequency setting bias frequency	0Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency on the bias side of terminal 2 input.		
C3(902) *1	Terminal 2 frequency setting bias	0%	0 to 300%	Set the converted % of the bias side voltage (current) of terminal 2 input.		
C4(903) *1	Terminal 2 frequency setting gain	100%	0 to 300%	Set the converted % of the gain side voltage (current) of terminal 2 input.		
C5(904) *1	Terminal 4 frequency setting bias frequency	0Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency on the bias side of terminal 4 input.		
C6(904) *1	Terminal 4 frequency setting bias	20%	0 to 300%	Set the converted % of the bias side current (voltage) of terminal 4 input.		
C7(905) *1	Terminal 4 frequency setting gain	100%	0 to 300%	Set the converted % current (voltage) of	6 of the gain side terminal 4 input.	

#### Speed limit bias/gain parameter

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
C12(917) *1	Terminal 1 bias frequency (speed)	0Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency (speed) on the bias side of terminal 1 input.
C13(917) *1	Terminal 1 bias (speed)	0%	0 to 300%	Set the converted % of the bias side voltage of terminal 1 input.
C14(918) *1	Terminal 1 gain frequency (speed)	60Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency (speed) of terminal 1 input gain (maximum).
C15(918) *1	Terminal 1 gain (speed)	100%	0 to 300%	Set the converted % of the gain side voltage of terminal 1 input.

\*2

The parameter number in parentheses is the one for use with the parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07). The above parameters allow its setting to be changed during operation in any operation mode even if "0" (initial value) is set in *Pr. 77 Parameter write selection*.

## (1) The relationship between analog input terminal and calibration parameter

•Terminal 1 functional calibration parameter

Pr. 868	Terminal Function	Calibration	Calibration Parameters					
Setting	Terminal Function	Bias setting	Gain setting					
0 (initial value)	Frequency (speed) setting auxiliary	C2(Pr. 902) Terminal 2 frequency setting bias frequency C3(Pr. 902) Terminal 2 frequency setting bias C5(Pr. 904) Terminal 4 frequency setting bias frequency C6(Pr. 904) Terminal 4 frequency setting bias	Pr. 125 Terminal 2 frequency setting gain frequency C4(Pr. 903) Terminal 2 frequency setting gain Pr. 126 Terminal 4 frequency setting gain frequency C7(Pr. 905) Terminal 4 frequency setting gain					
1	Magnetic flux command	C16(Pr.919) Terminal Ibias command (torque/magnetic flux) C17(Pr.919) Terminal Ibias (torque/magnetic flux)	C18(Pr. 920) Terminal 1 gain command (torque/magnetic flux) C19(Pr. 920) Terminal 1 gain (torque/magnetic flux)					
2	Regenerative torque limit							
3	Torque command	C16(Pr. 919) Terminal 1 bias command (torque/magnetic flux)	C18(Pr. 920) Terminal 1 gain command (torque/magnetic flux)					
4	Stall prevention operation level */ torque limit/torque command	CT7(Pr. 919) Terminal I bias (torque/magnetic flux)	C19(Pr. 920) Terminal 1 gain (torque/magnetic flux)					
5	Forward/reverse rotation speed limit	C12(Pr. 917) Terminal 1 bias frequency (speed) C13(Pr. 917) Terminal 1 bias (speed)	C14(Pr. 918) Terminal 1 gain frequency (speed) C15(Pr. 918) Terminal 1 gain (speed)					
6	Torque bias input	C16(Pr. 919) Terminal 1 bias command (torque/magnetic flux) C17(Pr. 919) Terminal 1 bias (torque/magnetic flux)	C18(Pr. 920) Terminal 1 gain command (torque/magnetic flux) C19(Pr. 920) Terminal 1 gain (torque/magnetic flux)					
9999								

#### •Terminal 4 functional calibration parameter

Pr. 858	Terminal Function	Calibration Parameters					
Setting	reminar runction	Bias setting	Gain setting				
0 (initial value)	Frequency command/speed command	C5(Pr. 904) Terminal 4 frequency setting bias frequency C6(Pr. 904) Terminal 4 frequency setting bias	Pr. 126 Terminal 4 frequency setting gain frequency C7(Pr. 905) Terminal 4 frequency setting gain				
1	Magnetic flux command	C38(Pr.932) Terminal 4 bias command (torque/magnetic flux) C39(Pr.932) Terminal 4 bias (torque/magnetic flux)	C40(Pr.933) Terminal 4 gain command (torque/magnetic flux) C41(Pr.933) Terminal 4 gain (torque/magnetic flux)				
4	Stall prevention operation level */ torque limit	C38(Pr. 932) Terminal 4 bias command (torque/magnetic flux) C39(Pr. 932) Terminal 4 bias (torque/magnetic flux)	C40(Pr. 933) Terminal 4 gain command (torque/magnetic flux) C41(Pr. 933) Terminal 4 gain (torque/magnetic flux)				
9999							



## Frequency/torque setting by analog input (terminal 1, 2, 4)

# (2) Change the frequency at maximum analog input. (Pr. 125, Pr. 126)

• Set a value in *Pr. 125 (Pr. 126)* when changing only the frequency setting (gain) of the maximum analog input power (current). (*C2 (Pr. 902) to C7 (Pr. 905)* setting need not be changed)

(3) Analog input bias/gain calibration (*C2(Pr. 902) to C7(Pr. 905)*, *C12(Pr. 917) to C15(Pr. 918)*)

• The "bias" and "gain" functions are used to adjust the relationship between the input signal entered from outside the inverter to set the output frequency, e.g. 0 to 5V, 0 to 10V or 4 to 20mADC, and the output frequency.

- Set the bias frequency of the terminal 2 input using *C2 (Pr. 902).* (factory-set to the frequency at 0V)
- Using *Pr. 125*, set the output frequency relative to the frequency command voltage (current) set in *Pr. 73 Analog input selection.*
- Set the bias frequency of the terminal 1 input using *C12 (Pr. 917)*. (factory-set to the frequency at 0V)
- Set the gain frequency of the terminal 1 input using *C14 (Pr. 918)*. (factory-set to the frequency at 10V)
- Set the bias frequency of the terminal 4 input using *C5 (Pr. 904)*. (factory-set to the frequency at 4mA)
- Using *Pr. 126*, set the output frequency relative to 20mA of the frequency command current (4 to 20mA).
- There are three methods to adjust the frequency setting voltage (current) bias/gain.
  - (a) Method to adjust any point by application of voltage (current) to across the terminals 2-5 (4-5).
     *mage 270*
- (b) Method to adjust any point without application of a voltage (current) to across terminals 2-5(4-5).
   *Crew page 271*
- (c) Adjusting only the frequency without adjusting the voltage (current). (Ref page 272)

#### CAUTION :

- When the terminal 2 is calibrated to change the inclination of the set frequency, the setting of the terminal 1 is also changed.
   When a voltage is input to the terminal 1 to make calibration, (terminal 2 (4) analog value + terminal 1 analog value) is the analog
- calibration value.
- · When the voltage/current input signal was changed using *Pr. 73, Pr. 267* and voltage/current input switch, be sure to make calibration.

## (4) Analog input display unit changing (Pr. 241)

- You can change the analog input display unit (%/V/mA) for analog input bias/gain calibration.
- Depending on the terminal input specification set to *Pr. 73, Pr. 267* and voltage/current input switch, the display units of *C3 (Pr. 902), C4 (Pr. 903), C6 (Pr. 904) C7 (Pr. 905)* change as shown below.

Analog Command (terminal 2, 4) (according to <i>Pr. 73, Pr. 267,</i> voltage/current input switch)	<i>Pr. 241</i> = 0 (initial value)	<i>Pr. 241</i> = 1	
0 to 5V input	0 to 5V $\rightarrow$ displayed in 0 to 100% (0.1%).	0 to 100% $\rightarrow$ displayed in 0 to 5V (0.01V).	
0 to 10V input	0 to 10V $\rightarrow$ displayed in 0 to 100% (0.1%).	0 to 100% $\rightarrow$ displayed in 0 to 10V (0.01V).	
0 to 20mA input	0 to 20mA $\rightarrow$ displayed in 0 to 100% (0.1%).	0 to 100% $\rightarrow$ displayed in 0 to 20mA (0.01mA).	

### REMARKS

Analog input display is not displayed correctly if voltage is applied to terminal 1 when terminal 1 input specifications (0 to  $\pm$ 5V, 0 to  $\pm$ 10V) and main speed (terminal 2, terminal 4 input) specifications (0 to 5V, 0 to 10V, 0 to 20mA) differ. (For example, 5V (100%) is analog displayed when 0V and 10V are applied to terminal 2 and terminal 1 respectively in the initial status. In this case, set "0" (initial value is 0% display) in *Pr. 241* to use.

## (5) Frequency setting voltage (current) bias/gain adjustment method

(a)Method to adjust any point by application of voltage (current) to across the terminals 2-5 (4-5).



## REMARKS

- If the frequency meter (indicator) connected to across terminals FM-SD does not indicate just 60Hz, set *calibration parameter C0 FM terminal calibration. (Refer to page 236)*
- · If the gain and bias of frequency setting voltage (current) are too close, an error (Er3) may be displayed at setting.

(b) Method to adjust any point without application of a voltage (current) to across terminals 2-5(4-5). (To change from 4V (80%) to 5V (100%))



## REMARKS

By pressing O after step 6, you can confirm the current frequency setting bias/gain setting. It cannot be confirmed after execution of step 7.

(c) Method to adjust only the frequency without adjustment of a gain voltage (current). (When changing the gain frequency from 60Hz to 50Hz)



 Apply a voltage across the inverter terminals 2-5 (across 4-5) and turn on the start command (STF, STR).
 Operation starts at 50Hz.

#### REMARKS

- Changing *C4* (*Pr. 903*) or *C7* (*Pr. 905*) (gain adjustment) value will not change the *Pr. 20* value. The input of terminal 1 (frequency setting auxiliary input) is added to the frequency setting signal.
- · For the operating procedure using the parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07), refer to the FR-PU04/FR-PU07 instruction manual.
- When setting the value to 120Hz or more, it is necessary to set *Pr. 18 High speed maximum frequency* to 120Hz or more. (*Refer to page 140*)
- · Make the bias frequency setting using calibration parameter C2 (Pr. 902) or C5 (Pr. 904). (Refer to page 269)

# 

Take care when setting any value other than "0" as the bias frequency at 0V (0mA). Even if a speed command is not given, merely turning on the start signal will start the motor at the preset frequency.

#### ♦ Parameters referred to ♦

- Pr. 20 Acceleration/deceleration reference frequency I Refer to page 155
- Pr. 73 Analog input selection, Pr. 267 Terminal 4 input selection I Refer to page 259
- Pr. 79 Operation mode selection IP Refer to page 283

## 4.21.6 Bias and gain of torque (magnetic flux) setting voltage (current) (Pr. 241, C16(Pr. 919) to C19(Pr. 920), C38 (Pr. 932) to C41 (Pr. 933)) Sensorless Vector

You can set the magnitude (slope) of the torque as desired in relation to the torque setting signal (0 to 5VDC, 0 to 10V or 4 to 20mA).

Use Pr. 73 and Pr. 267 to switch from among 0 to 5V, 0 to 10V, 4 to 20mADC. (Refer to page 259)

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description		
2/11 *2	Analog input display unit	0	0	Displayed in %	Select the unit of analog input	
241 2	switchover	0	1	Displayed in V/mA	display.	
C16(919) *1	Terminal 1 bias command (torque/	0%	0 to 400%	Set the torque (mag	netic flux) on the bias side of	
	magnetic flux)	• / •		terminal 1 input.		
C17(919) *1	Terminal 1 bias (torque/magnetic	0%	0 to 300%	Set the converted %	o of the bias side voltage	
•(••)	flux)	0 //0	0.0000	(current) of terminal1 input.		
C18(920) *1	Terminal 1 gain command (torque/	150%	0 to 400%	Set the torque (magnetic flux) of the terminal 1 input		
010(320) 1	magnetic flux)	10070		gain (maximum).		
C19(920) *1	Terminal 1 gain (torque/magnetic	100%	0 to 300%	Set the converted % of the gain side voltage of		
010(020)	flux)	10070	0.0000	terminal1 input.		
C38(932) *1	Terminal 4 bias command (torque/	0%	0 to 400%	Set the torque (mag	netic flux) on the bias side of	
030(332)	magnetic flux)	070	0.0040070	terminal 4 input.		
C39(932) *1	Terminal 4 bias (torque/magnetic	20%	0 to 300%	Set the converted % of the bias side current		
033(332)	flux)	20% 010 300%		(voltage) of terminal 4 input.		
C40(922) +4 Terminal 4 gain command (torque/		150%	0 to 400%	Set the torque (magnetic flux) of the terminal 4 input		
040(000) 1	magnetic flux)	10070	0 10 400 /0	gain (maximum).		
C/1/933) *1	Terminal 4 gain (torque/magnetic	100%	0 to 300%	Set the converted % of the gain side current		
0+1(300) *1	flux)	100 //	0.000%	(voltage) of terminal 4 input.		

\*1 The parameter number in parentheses is the one for use with the parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07).

\*2 The above parameters allow its setting to be changed during operation in any operation mode even if "0" (initial value) is set in *Pr. 77 Parameter write selection*.

## (1) Change functions of analog input terminal

In the initial setting status, terminal 1 and terminal 4 used for analog input are respectively set to speed setting auxiliary (speed limit auxiliary) and speed command (speed limit). To use an analog input terminal as torque command, torque limit input or magnetic flux command input, set *Pr. 868 Terminal 1 function assignment* and *Pr. 858 Terminal 4 function assignment* to change functions. (*Refer to page 258*)

### (2) The relationship between analog input terminal and calibration parameter

• Terminal 1 functional calibration parameter

Pr. 868	Terminal Function	Calibration Parameters	
Setting		Bias setting	Gain setting
0 (initial value)	Frequency (speed) setting auxiliary	C2(Pr. 902) Terminal 2 frequency setting bias frequency C3(Pr. 902) Terminal 2 frequency setting bias	Pr. 125 Terminal 2 frequency setting gain frequency C4(Pr. 903) Terminal 2 frequency setting gain
		C5(Pr. 904) Terminal 4 frequency setting bias frequency C6(Pr. 904) Terminal 4 frequency setting bias	Pr. 126 Terminal 4 frequency setting gain frequency C7(Pr. 905) Terminal 4 frequency setting gain
1	Magnetic flux command	C16(Pr. 919) Terminal 1bias command (torque/magnetic flux) C17(Pr. 919) Terminal 1bias (torque/magnetic flux)	C18(Pr. 920) Terminal 1 gain command (torque/magnetic flux) C19(Pr. 920) Terminal 1 gain (torque/magnetic flux)
2	Regenerative torque limit		/magnetic flux) C18(Pr. 920) Terminal 1 gain command (torque/magnetic flux) flux) C19(Pr. 920) Terminal 1 gain (torque/magnetic flux)
3	Torque command	C16(Pr. 919) Terminal 1 bias command (torque/magnetic flux)	
4	Stall prevention operation level */ torque limit/torque command	C17(Pr. 919) Terminal 1 bias (torque/magnetic flux)	
5	Forward/reverse rotation speed limit	C12(Pr. 917) Terminal 1 bias frequency (speed) C13(Pr. 917) Terminal 1 bias (speed)	C14(Pr. 918) Terminal 1 gain frequency (speed) C15(Pr. 918) Terminal 1 gain (speed)
6	Torque bias input	C16(Pr. 919) Terminal 1 bias command (torque/magnetic flux) C17(Pr. 919) Terminal 1 bias (torque/magnetic flux)	C18(Pr. 920) Terminal 1 gain command (torque/magnetic flux) C19(Pr. 920) Terminal 1 gain (torque/magnetic flux)
9999	_		_

\* Use Pr. 148 Stall prevention level at 0V input and Pr. 149 Stall prevention level at 10V input to adjust bias/gain of stall prevention operation level.



#### • Terminal 4 functional calibration parameter

- : No function

\* Use Pr. 148 Stall prevention level at 0V input and Pr. 149 Stall prevention level at 10V input to adjust bias/gain of stall prevention operation level.





# (3) Change the torque at maximum analog input (C18(Pr. 920), C40(Pr. 933))

• Set *C18(Pr. 920), C40(Pr. 933)* when changing only torque setting (gain) of the maximum analog input voltage (current).

## (4) Calibration of analog input bias and gain (C16(Pr. 919) to C19(Pr. 920), C38 (Pr. 932) to C41 (Pr. 933))

- The "bias" and "gain" functions are used to adjust the relationship between the input signal entered from outside the inverter to set the torque command and torque limit, e.g. 0 to 5V, 0 to 10V or 4 to 20mADC, and the torque.
- Set the bias torque of terminal 1 input in *C16 (Pr: 919)*. (It is factory-set to the torque at 0V)
- Set the torque in *C18 (Pr. 920)* for the torque command voltage set with *Pr. 73 Analog input selection*. (initial value is 10V)
- Set the bias torque of terminal 4 input in C38 (*Pr*: 932). (It is factory-set to the torque at 4mA)
- Set the torque in *C40 (Pr. 933)* for 20mA of the torque command current (4 to 20mA).
- There are the following three methods to adjust the torque setting voltage (current) bias and gain.
  - a) Method to adjust any point without application of voltage (current) to across terminals 1-5(4-5)
     The page 275
  - b) Method to adjust any point without application of voltage (current) to across terminals 1-5(4-5)
     The page 276
  - c) Method to adjust torque only without adjustment of voltage (current) In page 277

#### CAUTION

• When voltage/current input specifications were switched using *Pr.* 73 and *Pr.* 267, perform calibration without fail.

## (5) Analog input display unit changing (Pr. 241)

- You can change the analog input display unit (%/V/mA) for analog input bias/gain calibration.
- Display unit of *C17 (Pr. 919), C19 (Pr. 920), C39 (Pr. 932), C41 (Pr. 933)* changes as follows accrding to the terminal input specifications set in *Pr. 73* and *Pr. 267*.

Analog Command (terminal 1,4) (according to <i>Pr</i> : 73, <i>Pr</i> : 267)	Pr. 241 = 0 (initial value)	<i>Pr. 241</i> = 1
0 to 5V input	0 to 5V $\rightarrow$ displayed in 0 to 100% (0.1%)	0 to 100% $\rightarrow$ displayed in 0 to 5V (0.01V)
0 to 10V input	0 to 10V $\rightarrow$ displayed in 0 to 100% (0.1%)	0 to 100% $\rightarrow$ displayed in 0 to 10V (0.01V)
0 to 20mA input	0 to 20mA $\rightarrow$ displayed in 0 to 100% (0.1%)	0 to 100% $\rightarrow$ displayed in 0 to 20mA (0.01mA)

## (6) Adjustment method of torque setting voltage (current) bias and gain

a) Method to adjust any point without application of a voltage (current) to across terminals 1-5(4-5)



## REMARKS

An error at writing (Er 3) may appear if torque setting value of gain and bias are too close.

b) Method to adjust any point without application of a voltage (current) to across terminals 1-5(4-5) (To change from 8V (80%) to 10V (100%))



- Turn O to read another parameter.
- Press (SET) to return to the [--- indication (step 4).
- Press (SET) twice to show the next parameter (Pr. []).

## REMARKS

You can check the current torque setting bias/gain setting by pressing O after step 6. You can not check after performing operation in step 7. c) Method to adjust torque only without adjustment of gain voltage (current) (when changing gain torque from 150% to 130%)



## REMARKS

- · For operation from the parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07), refer to the instruction manual of the FR-PU04/FR-PU07.
- · Set bias torque setting using *calibration parameter C16 (Pr. 919) or C38 (Pr. 932). (Refer to page 274)*

# 

Take care when setting any value other than "0" as the bias torque at 0V (0mA). Torque is applied to the motor by merely tuning on the start signal without torque command.

#### ♦ Parameters referred to ♦

- Pr. 20 Acceleration/deceleration reference frequency Refer to page 155
- Pr. 73 Analog input selection, Pr. 267 Terminal 4 input selection IF Refer to page 259

Pr. 79 Operation mode selection IP Refer to page 283

Pr. 858 Terminal 4 function assignment, Pr. 868 Terminal 1 function assignment IP Refer to page 258
# **4.22** Misoperation prevention and parameter setting restriction

Purpose	Parameter that m	Parameter that must be Set		
Limit reset function Trips when PU is disconnected Stop from PU	Reset selection/disconnected PU detection/PU stop selection	Pr. 75	278	
Prevention of parameter rewrite	Parameter write disable selection	Pr. 77	280	
Prevention of reverse rotation of the motor	Reverse rotation prevention selection	Pr. 78	281	
Display necessary parameters	Display of applied parameters and user group function	Pr. 160, Pr. 172 to Pr. 174	281	
Control of parameter write by communication	EEPROM write selection	Pr. 342	303	

# 4.22.1 Reset selection/disconnected PU detection/PU stop selection (Pr. 75)

You can select the reset input acceptance, disconnected PU (FR-DU07/FR-PU04/FR-PU07) connector detection function and PU stop function.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
75	Reset selection/disconnected PU detection/PU stop selection	14	0 to 3, 14 to 17	For the initial value, reset always enabled, without disconnected PU detection, and with PU stop function are set.

•The Pr. 75 value can be set any time. Also, if parameter (all) clear is executed, this setting will not return to the initial value.

Pr. 75 Setting	Reset Selection	Disconnected PU Detection	PU Stop Selection	
0	Reset input normally enabled.	If the PLL is disconnected operation		
1	Reset input enabled only when the fault occurs	will be continued.	Pressing (STOP) decelerates the motor to	
2	Reset input normally enabled.	When the PLL is disconnected the	a stop only in the PLI operation mode	
3	Reset input enabled only when the fault occurs	inverter trips.		
14 (initial value)	Reset input normally enabled.	If the PU is disconnected, operation		
15	Reset input enabled only when the fault occurs	will be continued.	a stop in any of the PU, external and	
16	Reset input normally enabled.	When the PLL is disconnected the	communication operation modes.	
17	Reset input enabled only when the fault occurs	inverter trips.		

#### (1) Reset selection

- · You can select the operation timing of reset function (RES signal, reset command through communication) input.
- When Pr. 75 is set to any of "1, 3, 15, 17", a reset can be input only when a fault occurs.

#### 

When the reset signal (RES) is input during operation, the motor coasts since the inverter being reset shuts off the output. Also, the cumulative value of the electronic thermal relay function and regenerative brake duty is cleared.
The reset key of the PU is valid only when a fault occurs, independently of the *Pr*: 75 setting.

# Misoperation prevention and parameter

# (2) Disconnected PU detection

- This function detects that the PU (FR-DU07/FR-PU04/FR-PU07) has been disconnected from the inverter for longer than 1s and causes the inverter to provide a fault output (E.PUE) and come to trip.
- When Pr. 75 is set to any of "0, 1, 14, 15", operation is continued if the PU is disconnected.

#### **CAUTION**

· When the PU has been disconnected since before power-on, it is not judged as a fault.

To make a restart, confirm that the PU is connected and then reset the inverter.

The motor decelerates to a stop when the PU is disconnected during PU jog operation with *Pr. 75* set to any of "0, 1, 14, 15" (operation is continued if the PU is disconnected).

When RS-485 communication operation is performed through the PU connector, the reset selection/PU stop selection function is valid but the disconnected PU detection function is invalid.

# (3) PU stop selection

- In any of the PU operation, external operation and network operation modes, the motor can be stopped by pressing
   of the PU.
- When the inverter is stopped by the PU stop function, "
- When *Pr.* 75 is set to any of "0 to 3", deceleration to a stop by (STOP) is valid only in the PU operation mode.

## REMARKS

The motor will also decelerate to a stop (PU stop) when (RS-485) is input during operation in the PU mode through RS-485 communication with *Pr. 551 PU mode operation command source selection* set to "1" (PU mode RS-485 terminals).

(4) Restarting method when stop was made by pressing (SIOP) from the PU during external operation (PU stop (PS) reset method)



Stop/restart example for external operation

### (a) When operation panel (FR- DU07) is used

- 1)After the motor has decelerated to a stop, turn off the STF or STR signal.
- 2)Press (PU) to display 2.....( PS canceled)

3)Press  $\left(\frac{PU}{FXT}\right)$  to return to **EXT**.

4)Turn on the STF or STR signal.

#### (b) Connection of the parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07)

1)After the motor has decelerated to a stop, turn off the STF or STR signal.

2)Press Ext.....(

3)Turn on the STF or STR signal.

- The motor can be restarted by making a reset using a power supply reset or RES signal.
- CAUTION :

If *Pr. 250 Stop selection* is set to other than "9999" to select coasting to a stop, the motor will not be coasted to a stop but decelerated to a stop by the PU stop function during external operation

# 

▲ Do not reset the inverter with the start signal on. Doing so will cause the inverter to start immediately after a reset, leading to hazardous conditions.

#### Parameters referred to +

Pr. 250 Stop selection I Refer to page 188

# 4.22.2 Parameter write selection (Pr. 77)

You can select whether write to various parameters can be performed or not. Use this function to prevent parameter values from being rewritten by misoperation.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
77	Parameter write selection	0	0	Write is enabled only during a stop.
			1	Parameter write is not enabled.
			2	Parameter write is enabled in any operation mode regardless of operating status.

Pr. 77 can be always set independently of the operation mode and operating status.

#### (1) Write parameters only at a stop (setting "0", initial value)

- Parameters can be written only during a stop in the PU operation mode.
- The shaded parameters in the parameter list (*page 55*) can always be written, regardless of the operation mode and operating status. However, *Pr. 72 PWM frequency selection* and *Pr. 240 Soft-PWM operation selection* can be written during operation in the PU operation mode, but cannot be written in external operation mode.

#### (2) Disable parameter write (setting "1")

- Parameter write is not enabled. (Reading is enabled.)
- Parameter clear and all parameter clear cannot be performed, either.
- The parameters given on the right can be written even if Pr. 77 = "1".

Parameter Number	Name
22	Stall prevention operation level
75	Reset selection/disconnected PU detection/PU stop selection
77	Parameter write selection
79	Operation mode selection
160	User group read selection

## (3) Write parameters during operation (setting "2")

- · Parameters can always be written.
- The following parameters cannot be written during operation if Pr. 77 = "2". Stop operation when changing their parameter settings.

Parameter Number	Name	Parameter Number
19	Base frequency voltage	293
23	23 Stall prevention operation level compensation factor at double speed	
48	Second stall prevention operation current	343
49	Second stall prevention operation frequency	450
60	Energy saving control selection	451
61	Reference current	453
66	Stall prevention operation reduction starting frequency	454 455
71	Applied motor	456
79	Operation mode selection	457
80	Motor capacity	458 to 462
81	Number of motor poles	463
82	Motor excitation current	
83	Rated motor voltage	541
84	Rated motor frequency	563
90 to 94	(Motor constants)	564
95	Online auto tuning selection	574
96	Auto tuning setting/status	800
100 to 109	(Adjustable 5 points V/F parameter)	819
135 to 139	(Parameter for electronic bypass sequence)	858
178 to 196	(I/O terminal function selection)	859
255	Life alarm status display	860
256	Inrush current limit circuit life display	868
257	Control circuit capacitor life display	
258	Main circuit capacitor life display	]
291	Pulse train I/O selection	]
292	Automatic acceleration/deceleration	

Number	Name
293	Acceleration/deceleration separate selection
329	Digital input increments selection
	(Parameter for the plug-in option FR-A7AX)
343	Communication error count
450	Second applied motor
451	Second motor control method selection
453	Second motor capacity
454	Number of second motor poles
455	Second motor excitation current
456	Rated second motor voltage
457	Rated second motor frequency
458 to 462	(Second motor constant)
463	Second motor auto tuning setting/status
541	Frequency command sign selection (CC-Link)
041	(Parameter for the plug-in option FR-A7NC)
563	Energization time carrying-over times
564	Operating time carrying-over times
574	Second motor online auto tuning
800	Control method selection
819	Easy gain tuning selection
858	Terminal 4 function assignment
859	Torque current
860	Second motor torque current
868	Terminal 1 function assignment

#### + Parameters referred to +

Pr. 79 Operation mode selection I Refer to page 283

# 4.22.3 Reverse rotation prevention selection (Pr. 78)

This function can prevent reverse rotation fault resulting from the incorrect input of the start signal.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
70	Reverse rotation prevention	0	0	Both forward and reverse rotations allowed
78	selection	0	1	Reverse rotation disabled
			2	Forward rotation disallowed

Set this parameter when you want to limit the motor rotation to only one direction.

This parameter is valid for all of the reverse rotation and forward rotation keys of the operation panel (FR-DU07), parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07), start signals (STF, STR signals) via external terminals, and the forward and reverse rotation commands through communication.

# 4.22.4 Display of applied parameters and user group function (Pr. 160, Pr. 172 to Pr. 174)

Parameter which can be read from the operation panel and parameter unit can be restricted.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
			9999	Only the simple mode parameters can be displayed.
160	User group read selection	0	0	The simple mode and extended parameters can be displayed
			1	Only parameters registered in the user group can be displayed.
172	User group registered display/ batch clear	0	(0 to 16)	Displays the number of cases registered as a user group. (Reading only)
			9999	Batch clear the user group registration
173 *1	User group registration	9999	0 to 999, 9999	Set the parameter numbers to be registered to the user group.
174 *1	User group clear	9999	0 to 999, 9999	Set the parameter numbers to be cleared from the user group.

The values read from Pr. 173 and Pr. 174 are always "9999".

## (1) Display of simple mode parameters and extended parameters (*Pr. 160*)

When Pr. 160 = "9999", only the simple mode parameters can be displayed on the operation panel (FR-DU07) and parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07). (Refer to the parameter list, pages 55 to 67, for the simple mode parameters.) • In the initial setting (Pr: 160 = "0") status, simple mode parameters and extended parameters can be displayed.

#### REMARKS

- When a plug-in option is fitted to the inverter, the option parameters can also be read.
- When reading the parameters using the communication option, all parameters can be read regardless of the Pr. 160 setting.

	When reading the perspectors using the DS 495			
terminals, all parameters can be Pr. 160 setting by setting Pr.550 command source selection and P	terminals, all parameters can be read reagrdless of the	Pr. 551	Pr. 550	Pr. 160 Valid/Invalid
	Pr. 160 setting by setting Pr.550 NET mode operation	1 (RS-485)		Valid
	command source selection and Pr. 551 PU mode operation	2 (PU) (initial value)	0 (OP)	Valid
	commana source selection.		1 (RS-485)	Invalid (all readable)
			9999	With OP: valid
			(auto-detect) (initial value)	Without OP: invalid (all readable)

OP indicates a communication option

Pr. 15 Jog frequency, Pr. 16 Jog acceleration/deceleration time Pr. 991 PU contrast adjustment are displayed as simple mode parameters when the parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07) is mounted.

4

# (2) User group function (Pr. 160, Pr. 172 to Pr. 174)

- The user group function is designed to display only the parameters necessary for setting. From among all parameters, a maximum of 16 parameters can be registered to a user group. When *Pr. 160* is set to "1", only the parameters registered to the user group can be accessed. (Reading of parameters other than the user group registration is disabled.) To register a parameter to the user group, set its parameter number to *Pr*: 173.
- · To delete a parameter from the user group, set its parameter number to Pr. 174. To batch-delete the registered parameters, set Pr. 172 to "9999".

# (3) Registration of parameter to user group (Pr. 173)

When registering Pr. 3 to user group



- *Pr. 77, Pr. 160* and *Pr. 172 to Pr. 174* cannot be registered to the user group. When *Pr. 174* is read, "9999" is always displayed. Although "9999" can be written, no function is available. When any value other than "9999" is set to Pr. 172, no function is available.

#### Parameters referred to +



# 4.23 Selection of operation mode and operation location

Purpose	Parameter that must be Set		Refer to Page
Operation mode selection	Operation mode selection	Pr. 79	283
Started in network operation mode	Operation mode at power on	Pr. 79, Pr. 340	291
Selection of control location	Selection of control source, speed command source and control location during communication operation	Pr. 338, Pr. 339, Pr. 550, Pr. 551	292

# 4.23.1 Operation mode selection (Pr. 79)

Used to select the operation mode of the inverter. Mode can be changed as desired between operation using external command signals (external operation), operation from the PU (FR-DU07/FR-PU07/FR-PU04), combined operation of PU operation and external operation (external/PU combined operation, and network operation (when RS-485 terminals or a communication option is used).

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Descriptio	on	LED Indication : Off : On		
			0	Use external/PU switchover mode between the PU and external ope At power on, the inverter is placed operation mode.	e $\left( \underbrace{PU}_{EXT} \right)$ to switch eration mode. d in the external	External operation mode EXT PU operation mode		
			1	Fixed to PU operation mode		PU		
			2	Fixed to external operation mode Operation can be performed by external and Net operation mode.	r switching between the	External operation mode		
				External/PU combined operation	mode 1			
				Frequency command	Start command			
	Operation mode 0 selection	3			3	PU (FR-DU07/FR-PU04/FR- PU07) setting or external signal input (multi-speed setting, across terminals 4-5 (valid when AU signal turns on)). *	External signal input (terminal STF, STR)	
				External/PU combined operation				
79		0		Frequency command	Start command			
		4	4	4	External signal input (Terminal 2, 4, 1, JOG, multi- speed selection, etc.)	Input from the PU (FR- DU07/FR-PU04/FR- PU07) ((FWD), (REV))		
			6	witch-over mode witch among PU operation, external operation, and NET peration while keeping the same operating status.	PU operation mode External operation mode EXT NET operation mode			
		7		External operation mode (PU operation interlock) X12 signal ON Operation mode can be switched to the PU operation mode. (output stop during external operation) X12 signal OFF Operation mode can not be switched to the PU operation mode.		PU operation mode PU External operation mode		

The priorities of the frequency commands when *Pr*: 79 = "3" are "Multi-speed operation (RL/RM/RH/REX) > PID control (X14) > terminal 4 analog input (AU) > digital input from the operation panel".

The above parameters can be changed during a stop in any operation mode.

# (1) Operation mode basics



- The operation mode is specifies the source of the start command and frequency command for the inverter.
- Select the "external operation mode" when the start command and the frequency command are applied from a potentiometer, switches, etc. which are provided externally and connecting them to the control terminals, select "PU operation mode" when the commands are applied from the operation panel or parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07), or select the "network operation mode (NET operation mode)" when the commands are applied from the RS-485 communication with the PU connector or the network to the communication option card.
- The operation mode can be selected from the operation panel or with the communication instruction code.

### REMARKS

- Either "3" or "4" may be set to select the PU/external combined operation, and these settings differ in starting method.
- In the initial setting, the stop function by (STOP) of the PU (FR-DU07/FR-PU07) (PU stop selection) is valid also in other than the

PU operation mode. (Pr. 75 Reset selection/disconnected PU detection/PU stop selection. Refer to page 278.)

# (2) Operation mode switching method



## REMARKS

For switching of operation by external terminals, refer to the following:

PU operation external interlock signal (X12 signal) I page 288

PU-external operation switch-over signal (X16) IF page 289

PU-NET operation switchover signal (X65), External-NET operation switchover signal (X66) 🐨 page 290

Pr. 340 Communication startup mode selection IP page 291

# (3) Operation mode selection flow

In the following flowchart, select the basic parameter setting and terminal connection related to the operation mode.



PARAMETERS

# (4) External operation mode (setting "0" (initial value), "2")



# (5) PU operation mode (setting "1")



- Select the external operation mode when the start command and the frequency command are applied from a frequency setting potentiometer, start switch, etc. externally and connecting them to the control circuit terminals of the inverter.
- Basically, parameter changing is disabled in external operation mode. (Some parameters can be changed. Refer to *page 55* for the parameter list.)
- When "0" or "2" is selected for *Pr. 79*, the inverter enters the external operation mode at power on. (When using the network operation mode, refer to *page 291*)
- When parameter changing is seldom necessary, setting "2" fixes the operation mode to external operation mode. When frequent parameter changing is necessary, setting "0" (initial value) allows the operation mode to be changed easily to PU operation mode by

pressing  $\begin{pmatrix} PU\\ EXT \end{pmatrix}$  of the operation panel. When you switched to PU operation mode, always return to external operation mode.

- The STF and STR signal are used as a start command, and the voltage or current signal to terminal 2, 4, multispeed signal, JOG signal, etc. are used as frequency command.
- Select the PU operation mode when applying start and speed command by only the key operation of the operation panel (FR-DU07) or parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07). Also select the PU operation mode when making communication using the PU connector.
- When "1" is selected for *Pr. 79*, the inverter enters the PU operation mode at power on. You cannot change to the other operation mode.
- The setting dial of the operation panel can be used for setting like a potentiometer. (*Pr. 161 Frequency setting/key lock operation selection, refer to page 361.*)
- When PU operation mode is selected, the PU operation mode signal (PU) can be output.
- For the terminal used for the PU signal output, assign the function by setting "10 (positive logic) or 110 (negative logic)" in any of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)*.

# (6) PU/external combined operation mode 1 (setting "3")



- Select the PU/external combined operation mode 1 when applying frequency command from the operation panel (FR-DU07) or parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07) and inputting the start command with the external start switch.
- Select "3" for *Pr. 79*. You cannot change to the other operation mode.
- When a frequency is input from the external signal by multi-speed setting, it has a higher priority than the frequency setting of the PU. When AU is on, the command signal to terminal 4 is used.





- Select the PU/external combined operation mode 2 when applying frequency command from the external potentiometer, multi-speed or JOG signal and inputting the start command by key operation of the operation panel (FR-DU07) or parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07).
- Select "4" for *Pr*: 79. You cannot change to the other operation mode.

# (8) Switch-over mode (setting "6")

• While continuing operation, you can switch between the PU operation, external operation and network operation (when RS-485 terminals or communication option is used).

Operation Mode Switching	Switching Operation/Operating Status
External operation $\rightarrow$ PU operation	<ul> <li>Select the PU operation mode with the operation panel or parameter unit.</li> <li>Rotation direction is the same as that of external operation.</li> <li>The frequency set with the potentiometer (frequency setting command), etc. is used unchanged. (Note that the setting will disappear when power is switched off or the inverter is reset.)</li> </ul>
External operation $\rightarrow$ NET operation	<ul> <li>Send the mode change command to network operation mode through communication.</li> <li>Rotation direction is the same as that of external operation.</li> <li>The value set with the setting potentiometer (frequency setting command) or like is used unchanged. (Note that the setting will disappear when power is switched off or the inverter is reset.)</li> </ul>
PU operation $\rightarrow$ external operation	Press the external operation key of the operation panel, parameter unit. The rotation direction is determined by the input signal of the external operation. The set frequency is determined by the external frequency command signal.
PU operation $\rightarrow$ NET operation	Send the mode change command to network operation mode through communication. • Rotation direction and set frequency are the same as those of PU operation.
NET operation $\rightarrow$ external operation	Command to change to external mode is transmitted by communication. <ul> <li>Rotation direction is determined by the external operation input signal.</li> <li>The set frequency is determined by the external frequency command signal.</li> </ul>
NET operation $\rightarrow$ PU operation	Select the PU operation mode with the operation panel or parameter unit. • The rotation direction and frequency command in network operation mode are used unchanged.

## (9) PU operation interlock (setting "7")

 The PU operation interlock function is designed to forcibly change the operation mode to external operation mode when the PU operation interlock signal (X12) input turns off. This function prevents the inverter from being inoperative by the external command if the mode is accidentally left unswitched from PU operation mode.

- $\cdot\,$  Set "7" (PU operation interlock) in Pr. 79.
- For the terminal used for X12 signal (PU operation interlock signal) input, set "12" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* to assign the function. (Refer to *page 206* for *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189.*)
- When the X12 signal has not been assigned, the function of the MRS signal switches from MRS (output stop) to the PU operation interlock signal.

X12 (MRS)	Function/Operation					
Signal	Operation mode	Parameter write				
ON	Operation mode (external, PU, NET) switching enabled Output stop during external operation	Parameter write enabled ( <i>Pr. 77 Parameter write</i> selection, depending on the corresponding parameter write condition (Refer to <i>page 55</i> for the parameter list))				
OFF	Forcibly switched to external operation mode External operation allowed Switching to PU or NET operation mode disabled	Parameter write disabled with exception of Pr. 79				

#### <Function/operation changed by switching on-off the X12 (MRS) signal>

Operating Condition		X12 (MRS) Operation			Switching to
Operation mode	Status	Signal	Mode	Operating Status	PU, NET Operation Mode
	During stop	ON→OFF *1	External *2	If external operation frequency setting and start signal	Disallowed
PU/NET	Running	ON→OFF *1		are entered, operation is performed in that status.	Disallowed
	During stop	OFF→ON		During stop	Allowed
External		ON→OFF	External **	During stop	Disallowed
External	Rupping	OFF→ON		During operation $\rightarrow$ output stop	Disallowed
	rtunning	ON→OFF		Output stop $\rightarrow$ operation	Disallowed
*1 The oper	ation mode swit	ches to external	operation mode	a independently of whether the start signal (STE_STR) is on	or off Therefore the

The operation mode switches to external operation mode independently of whether the start signal (STF, STR) is on or off. Therefore, the motor is run in external operation mode when the X12 (MRS) signal is turned off with either of STF and STR on.

\*2 At alarm occurrence, pressing STOP

of the operation panel resets the inverter.

#### = CAUTION =

· If the X12 (MRS) signal is on, the operation mode cannot be switched to PU operation mode when the start signal (STF, STR) is on.

When the MRS signal is used as the PU interlock signal, the MRS signal serves as the normal MRS function (output stop) by turning on the MRS signal and then changing the *Pr*: 79 value to other than "7" in the PU operation mode. Also as soon as "7" is set in *Pr*: 79, the signal acts as the PU interlock signal.

- When the MRS signal is used as the PU operation interlock signal, the logic of the signal is as set in *Pr. 17*. When *Pr. 17* = "2", read ON as OFF and OFF as ON in the above explanation.
- Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

# (10) Switching of operation mode by external signal (X16 signal)

- When external operation and operation from the operation panel are used together, use of the PU-external operation switching signal (X16) allows switching between the PU operation mode and external operation mode during a stop (during a motor stop, start command off).
- When Pr: 79 = any of "0, 6, 7", the operation mode can be switched between the PU operation mode and external operation mode. (Pr: 79 = "6" switch-over mode can be changed during operation)
- For the terminal used for X16 signal input, set "16" in any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* to assign the function.

	Pr. 79	X16 Signal State	Operation Mode	Domorko		
	Setting ON (external) OFF (PU)		OFF (PU)	Renarks		
0	(initial value)	External operation mode	PU operation mode	Can be switched to external, PU or NET operation mode		
	1	PU operation mode		Fixed to PU operation mode		
	2 External operation mode			Fixed to external operation mode (Can be switched to NET operation mode)		
	3, 4	External/PU combin	ned operation mode	External/PU combined mode fixed		
6		External operation mode PU operation mode		Can be switched to external, PU or NET operation mode with operation continued		
7	X12 (MRS) External operation ON mode PU operation mode		PU operation mode	Can be switched to external, PU or NET operation mode (Output stop in external operation mode)		
	X12 (MRS) OFF	External operation mode		Fixed to external operation mode (Forcibly switched to external operation mode)		

#### REMARKS

- The operation mode status changes depending on the setting of *Pr. 340 Communication startup mode selection* and the ON/OFF status of the X65 and X66 signals. (For details, refer to *page 290*.)
- The priorities of *Pr.* 79, *Pr.* 340 and signals are *Pr.* 79 > X12 > X66 > X65 > X16 > *Pr.* 340.

#### CAUTION :

Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

### (11) Switching of operation mode by external signal (X65, X66 signal)

- When Pr. 79 = any of "0, 2, 6" the operation mode switching signals (X65, X66) can be used to change the PU or external operation mode to network operation mode during a stop (during a motor stop or start command off). (Pr. 79 = "6" switch-over mode can be changed during operation)
- · When switching between the network operation mode and PU operation mode
  - 1) Set Pr. 79 to "0" (initial value), "6".
  - 2) Set "10 or 12" in Pr. 340 Communication startup mode selection.
  - 3) Set "65" in any of Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 to assign the NET-PU operation switchover signal (X65) to the terminal.
  - 4) The operation mode changes to PU operation mode when the X65 signal turns on, or to network operation mode when the X65 signal turns off.

Pr. 340	. 340 Pr. 79		Pr. 79 X65 Signal State		Pomarks	
Setting		Setting	ON (PU)	OFF (NET)	Remains	
	0 (initial value)		0 (initial value) PU operation mode *1 NET operation mode *2		Cannot be switched to external operation mode	
	1		PU opera	tion mode	Fixed to PU operation mode	
		2	NET opera	ation mode	Fixed to NET operation mode	
	3, 4		External/PU combin	ned operation mode	External/PU combined mode fixed	
10, 12	6		PU operation mode *1	NET operation mode *2	Operation mode can be switched with operation continued Cannot be switched to external operation mode	
		X12(MRS)	Switching among	the external and		
	7	ON	PU operation m	ode is enabled *3		
	'	X12(MRS) OFF	External ope	eration mode	Forcibly switched to external operation mode	

NET operation mode when the X66 signal is on

PU operation mode when the X16 signal is off. PU operation mode also when Pr. 550 NET mode operation command source selection = "0" \*2 (communication option control source) and the communication option is not fitted.

\*3 External operation mode when the X16 signal is on.

#### · When switching between the network operation mode and external operation mode

1)Set Pr: 79 to "0" (initial value), "2", "6" or "7". (At the Pr: 79 setting of "7", the operation mode can be switched when the X12 (MRS) signal turns on.)

- 2)Set "0 (initial value), 1 or 2" in Pr. 340 Communication startup mode selection.
- 3)Set "66" in any of Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 to assign the NET-external operation switchover signal (X66) to the terminal.

4)The operation mode changes to network operation mode when the X66 signal turns on, or to external operation mode when the X66 signal turns off.

Pr. 340		Pr. 79 X66 Signal State		nal State	Pomarks		
Setting	g Setting		ng Setting		ON (NET)	OFF(external)	Reindiks
	0 (initial value)		NET operation mode *1	External operation mode *2			
	1		PU opera	tion mode	Fixed to PU operation mode		
0	2		NET operation mode *1	External operation mode	Cannot be switched to PU operation mode		
(initial		3, 4	External/PU combi	ned operation mode	External/PU combined mode fixed		
value),	6		NET operation mode *1	External operation mode *2	Operation mode can be switched with operation continued		
1, 2	7	X12(MRS) ON	NET operation mode *1	External operation mode +2	Output stop in external operation mode		
	'	X12(MRS) OFF	External op	eration mode	Forcibly switched to external operation mode		

PU operation mode is selected when Pr. 550 NET mode operation command source selection = "0" (communication option control source) and the communication option is not fitted.

\*2 PU operation is selected when the X16 signal is off. When the X65 signal has been assigned, the operation mode changes with the ON/OFF state of the X65 signal.

#### REMARKS

The priorities of *Pr.* 79, *Pr.* 340 and signals are *Pr.* 79 > X12 > X66 > X65 > X16 > *Pr.* 340.

#### CAUTION

Changing the terminal assignment using Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### Parameters referred to +

Pr. 15 Jog frequency TF Refer to page 150 Pr. 4 to 6, Pr. 24 to 27, Pr. 232 to Pr. 239 Multi-speed operation TF Refer to page 148

- Pr. 75 Reset selection/disconnected PU detection/PU stop selection I Refer to page 278
- Pr. 161 Frequency setting/key lock operation selection Defer to page 361

Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) Refer to page 206

- Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection) I Refer to page 214
- Pr. 340 Communication startup mode selection I Refer to page 291

Pr. 550 NET mode operation command source selection Refer to page 292

# 4.23.2 Operation mode at power on (Pr. 79, Pr. 340)

When power is switched on or when power comes back on after instantaneous power failure, the inverter can be started up in network operation mode.

After the inverter has started up in the network operation mode, parameter write and operation can be performed from a program.

Set this mode for communication operation using the RS-485 terminals or communication option.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description	
79	Operation mode selection	0	0 to 4, 6, 7	Select the operation mode. (Refer to page 285.)	
340 *			0	As set in Pr. 79.	
	<b>.</b>		1, 2	Started in network operation mode. When the setting is "2", it will resume the pre-instantaneous power failure operation mode after an instantaneous power failure occurs.	
	mode selection	0	10, 12	Started in network operation mode. Operation mode can be changed between the PU operation mode and network operation mode from the operation panel. When the setting is "12", it will resume the pre-instantaneous power failure operation mode after an instantaneous power failure occurs.	

The above parameters can be changed during a stop in any operation mode. \* The parameters can be set whenever the communication option is connected. (*Refer to page 281.*).

#### (1) Specify operation mode at power on (Pr. 340)

• Depending on the Pr. 79 and Pr. 340 settings, the operation mode at power on (reset) changes as described below.

Pr. 340 Setting	Pr. 79 Setting	Operation Mode at Power on, Power Restoration, Reset	Operation Mode Switching		
	0 (initial value)	External operation mode	Switching among the external, PU, and NET operation mode is enabled *2		
	1	PU operation mode	Fixed to PU operation mode		
0 (initial	2	External operation mode	Switching between the external and Net operation mode is enabled Switching to PU operation mode is disabled		
(initiai value)	3, 4	External/PU combined operation mode	Operation mode switching is disabled		
value)	6	External operation mode	Switching among the external, PU, and NET operation mode is enabled while running		
	_	X12 (MRS) signal ON External operation mode	Switching among the external, PU, and NET operation mode is enabled *2		
	1	X12 (MRS) signal OFF External operation mode	Fixed to external operation mode (forcibly switched to external operation mode.)		
	0	NET operation mode			
	1	PU operation mode	Same as when <i>Pr. 340</i> = "0"		
1.2	2	NET operation mode			
<b>1</b> , 2 *1	3, 4	External/PU combined operation mode			
	6	NET operation mode			
	7	X12 (MRS) signal ON NET operation mode			
	'	X12 (MRS) signal OFF External operation mode			
	0	NET operation mode	Switching between the PU and NET operation mode is enabled ${\scriptstyle \star 3}$		
10 12	1	PU operation mode	Same as when Pr. 340 = "0"		
	2	NET operation mode	Fixed to NET operation mode		
10, 12	3, 4	External/PU combined operation mode	Same as when Pr. 340 = "0"		
	6	NET operation mode	Switching among the external, PU, and NET operation mode is enabled while running +3		
	7	External operation mode	Same as when Pr. 340 = "0"		

\*1 The *Pr. 340* setting "2" or "12" is mainly used for communication operation using the inverter RS-485 terminals. When a value other than "9999" (selection of automatic restart after instantaneous power failure) is set in *Pr. 57 Restart coasting time*, the inverter will resume the same operation state which was in before after power has been restored from an instantaneous power failure. When *Pr. 340* = "1, 10", a start command turns off if power failure has occurred and then restored during a start command is on.

\*2 The operation mode cannot be switched directly between the PU operation mode and network operation mode.

\*3 Operation mode can be changed between the PU operation mode and network operation mode with (<u>PU</u>) key of the operation panel (FR-DU07) and X65 signal.

#### ♦ Parameters referred to ♦

Pr. 57 Restart coasting time IF Refer to page 239.

Pr. 79 Operation mode selection I Refer to page 283.

# 4.23.3 Start command source and frequency command source during communication operation (Pr. 338, Pr. 339, Pr. 550, Pr. 551)

When the RS-485 terminals or communication option is used, the external start command and frequency command can be made valid. Command source in the PU operation mode can be selected.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description		
329	Communication operation	0	0	Start command source communication		
550	command source	U	1	Start command source external		
			0	Frequency command source communication		
339	Communication speed	0	1	Frequency command source external		
	command source		2	Frequency command source external (Frequency command from communication is valid, frequency command terminal 2 is invalid)		
		9999	0	The communication option is the command source when NET operation mode.		
550 *	NET mode operation command source selection		1	RS-485 terminals are the command source when NET operation mode.		
550 *			9999	Automatic communication option recognition Normally, RS-485 terminals are the command source. When a communication option is mounted, the communication option is the command source.		
	Dil mode enemiese		1	RS-485 terminals are the command source when PU operation mode		
551 *	PU mode operation	2	2	PU connector is the command source when PU operation mode.		
			3	For manufacturer's setting. Do not set.		

The above parameters can be set whenever the communication option is connected. (Refer to page 281.)

\* *Pr 550* and *Pr. 551* are always write-enabled.

#### (1) Select the command source of the network operation mode (Pr. 550)

- · Either the RS-485 terminals or communication option can be specified as the command source in network operation mode.
- For example, set *Pr. 550* to "1" when executing parameter write, start command or frequency command from the inverter RS-485 terminals in the network operation mode independently of whether the communication option is connected or not.

#### 

Since *Pr. 550* = "9999" (automatic recognition of the communication option) in the initial setting, parameter write, start command and frequency command cannot be executed by communication using the inverter RS-485 terminals when the communication option is fitted. (Monitor and parameter read can be performed.)

#### (2) Select the control source of the PU operation mode (Pr. 551)

- Either the PU connector or RS-485 terminals can be specified as the source of control in the PU operation mode.
- In the PU operation mode, set *Pr*: *551* to "1" when executing parameter write, start command or frequency command through communication from the unit RS-485 terminals.

#### 

- The PU operation mode has a higher priority when *Pr*: *550* = "1" (NET mode RS-485 terminals) and *Pr*: *551* = "1" (PU mode RS-485 terminals). When the communication option is not fitted, therefore, the operation mode cannot be switched to network operation mode.
- Changed setting value is made valid when powering on or resetting the inverter.

Pr. 550	Pr. 551		Pomarke		
Setting	Setting	PU connector	RS-485 terminals	Communication option	Remarks
0	1	×	PU operation mode +1	NET operation mode +2	
0	2 (initial value)	PU operation mode	×	NET operation mode +2	
1	1	×	PU operation mode 1	×	Switching to NET operation mode disabled
	2 (initial value)	PU operation mode	NET operation mode	×	
	1	х	PU operation mode *1	NET operation mode *2	
9999 (initial value)	2 (initial value)	PU operation mode	×	NET operation mode +2	Communication option fitted
			NET operation mode	×	Communication option not fitted

\*1 The Modbus-RTU protocol cannot be used in the PU operation mode. When using the Modbus-RTU protocol, set Pr. 551 to "2".

\*2 When the communication option is not fitted, the operation mode cannot be switched to network operation mode.



Operation Location	Condition ( <i>Pr. 551</i> Setting)	Operation Mode Item	PU Operation	External Operation	External/PU Combined Operation Mode 1 (Pr. 79 = 3)	External/PU Combined Operation Mode 2 (Pr. 79 = 4)	NET Operation (when RS-485 terminals are used) *6	NET Operation (when communication option is used) *7
		Run command (start)	0	×	×	0		×
nector	2	Run command (stop)	0	★ *3	★ *3	0	*	r *3
u con	(PU connector)	Running frequency setting	0	×	0	×		x
am PL		Monitor	0	0	0	0		0
ר fro		Parameter write	O *4	× *5	O *4	O *4	×	: *5
atio		Parameter read	0	0	0	0		0
nica		Inverter reset	0	0	0	0		0
Sommu		Run command (start)	×	×	×	×		×
3-485 0		Run command (stop)	★ *3	★ *3	★ *3	★ *3	*	7 *3
by R\$	Except for 2	Running frequency setting	×	×	×	×		x
ltro		Monitor	0	0	0	0		0
CO		Parameter write	× *5	× *5	× *5	× *5	×	: *5
		Parameter read	0	0	0	0		0
		Inverter reset	0	0	0	0		0
		Run command (start, stop)	0	×	×	0		×
E	1 (RS-485	Running frequency setting	0	×	0	×		×
fro		Monitor	0	0	0	0		0
tion	terrinais)	Parameter write	O *4	× *5	O *4	O *4	×	: *5
nina		Parameter read	0	0	0	0		0
mur tern		Inverter reset	0	0	0	0		0
y com 3-485 t		Run command (start, stop)	×	×	×	×	O *1	×
ntrol b R\$	Everything 4	Running frequency setting	×	×	×	×	O *1	×
රි	Except for 1	Monitor	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Parameter write	× *5	× *5	× *5	× *5	O *4	× *5
		Parameter read	0	0	0	0	0	0
		Inverter reset	×	×	×	×	O *2	×
cation		Run command (start, stop)	×	×	×	×	×	O *1
imunic ation o		Running frequency setting	×	×	×	×	×	O *1
corr unic		Monitor	0	0	0	0	0	0
λq μ		Parameter write	× *5	× *5	× *5	× *5	× *5	O *4
i col		Parameter read	0	0	0	0	0	0
Cor		Inverter reset	×	×	×	×	×	O *2
iit ials		Inverter reset	0	0	0	0		0
ol circu I termir		Run command (start, stop)	×	0	0	×	×	: *1
Contr external		Frequency setting	×	0	×	0	×	*1

# (3) Controllability through communcation

O: Enabled,  $\times$ : Disabled,  $\star$ : Some are enabled

\*1 As set in *Pr. 338 Communication operation command source* and *Pr. 339 Communication speed command source. (Refer to page 292)* 

\*2 At occurrence of RS-485 communication error, the inverter cannot be reset from the computer.

\*3 Enabled only when stopped by the PU. At a PU stop, PS is displayed on the operation panel. As set in *Pr. 75 Reset selection/disconnected PU detection/PU stop selection. (Refer to page 278)* 

\*4 Some parameters may be write-disabled according to the *Pr. 77 Parameter write selection* setting and operating status. (*Refer to page 280*)

\*5 Some parameters are write-enabled independently of the operation mode and command source presence/absence. When *Pr*: 77 = 2, write is enabled. (Refer to *page 55* for the parameter list)Parameter clear is disabled.

\*6 When *Pr. 550 NET mode operation command source selection* = 1 (RS-485 terminals valid) or *Pr. 550 NET mode operation command source selection* = 9999 and the communication option is not fitted.

\*7 When *Pr. 550 NET mode operation command source selection* = 0 (communication option valid) or *Pr. 550 NET mode operation command source selection* = 9999 and the communication option is fitted.

## (4) Operation at alarm occurrence

Alarm Definition	Operation Mode Condition (Pr. 551 setting)	PU Operation	External Operation	External/PU Combined Operation Mode 1 ( <i>Pr. 79</i> = 3)	External/PU Combined Operation Mode 2 (Pr. 79 = 4)	NET Operation (when RS-485 terminals are used) *5	NET Operation (when communication option is used) *6
Inverter fault	—				Stop		
PU	2 (PU connector)			St	op/continued *1, 4		
disconnection of the PU connector	Except for 2			S			
Communication alarm of PU	2 (PU connector)	Stop/ continued	Continued		Stop/continued	Continued	
connector	Except for 2						
Communication alarm of RS-	1 (RS-485 terminals)	Stop/ continued	Cor	ntinued	Conti	nued	
485 terminals	Except for 1		C	continued	Stop/continued	Continued	
Communication alarm of communication option	_		С	continued	Stop/continued	Continued	

\*1 Can be selected using Pr. 75 Reset selection/disconnected PU detection/PU stop selection

\*2 Can be selected using Pr. 122 PU communication check time interval or Pr. 336 RS-485 communication check time interval.

\*3 As controlled by the communication option.

\*4 In the PU jog operation mode, operation is always stopped when the PU is disconnected. Whether fault (E.PUE) occurrence is allowed or not is as set in *Pr. 75 Reset selection/disconnected PU detection/PU stop selection.* 

\*5 When *Pr. 550 NET mode operation command source selection* = 1 (RS-485 terminals valid) or *Pr. 550 NET mode operation command source selection* = 9999 and the communication option is not fitted

\*6 When *Pr. 550 NET mode operation command source selection* = 0 (communication option valid) or *Pr. 550 NET mode operation command source selection* = 9999 and the communication option is fitted

# (5) Selection of control source in network operation mode (Pr. 338, Pr. 339)

• As control sources, there are the operation command sources that control the signals related to the inverter start command and function selection and the speed command source that controls the signals related to frequency setting.

 In network operation mode, the commands from the external terminals and communication (RS-485 terminals or communication option) are as listed below.

Operation Location Selection		Pr. 338	Communication operation command source		0: NET		1: External		Dementer		
		Pr. 339	Communication speed command source	0: NET	1:External	2:External	0: NET	1:External	2:External	Remarks	
Fixe	ed fu	nction	Running commun	frequency from ication	NET	_	NET	NET	_	NET	
(Ter	mina	al-	Terminal 2			External			External		
equ	ivale	ent	Terminal 4			Exte	ernal		Exte	ernal	
fun	ction	1)	Terminal 1				Compe	ensation			
		0	RL	Low speed operation com- mand/remote setting clear stop-on-contact selection 0	NET	Exte	ernal	NET	Exte	ernal	<i>Pr: 59</i> = "0" (multi-
		1	RM	Middle-speed operation command/remote set deceleration	NET	Exte	ernal	NET	Exte	ernal	Pr: 59 = "1, 2" (remote) Pr: 270 = "1, 3"
		2	RH	High speed operation command/remote set acceleration	NET	Exte	ernal	NET	Exte	ernal	(stop-on-contact)
		3	RT	Second function selection/ Stop-on contact selection 1		NET			External		<i>Pr</i> : <i>270</i> = "1 , 3" (stop-on-contact)
		4	AU	Current input selection	_	Com	bined		Com	bined	
		5	JOG	Jog operation selection					External		
		6	cs	Selection of automatic restart after instantaneous power failure			Exte	ernal			
		7	ОН	External thermal relay input			Exte	ernal			
		8	REX	Fifteen speed selection	NET	Exte	ernal	NET	Exte	ernal	<i>Pr: 59</i> = "0" (multi-speeds)
	9	9	X9	Third function selection		NET			External		
tion	etting	12	X12	PU operation external interlock	External						
funct	189 s	13	X13	External DC injection brake operation start		NET External					
ive	Pr.	14	X14	PID control valid terminal	NET	Exte	ernal	NET	Exte	ernal	
elect	l 78 to	15	BRI	Brake opening completion signal		NET			External		
S	Pr.	16	X16	PU-external operation switchover	External						
		17	X17	Load pattern selection forward rotation reverse rotation boost		NET			External		
		18	X18	V/F switching		NET			External		
		19	X19	Load torque high-speed fre- quency		NET External					
		20	X20	S-pattern acceleration/decel- eration C switchover		NET		External			
		22	X22	Orientation command		NET		External			
		23	LX	Pre-excitation		NET			External		
				Output stop		Combined	t		External		<i>Pr.</i> 79 ≠ <b>"7</b> "
		24	MRS	PU operation interlock			Exte	ernal			Pr: 79 = "7" When X12 signal is not assigned
		25	STOP	Start self-holding selection					External		
1		26	MC	Control mode swichover		NET			External		
		27	TL	Torque limit selection		NET			External		
		28	X28	Start-time tuning start external input		NET			External		

# Selection of operation mode and operation location

Operation Location Selection		Pr. 338 Communication operation command source			0: NET		1: External		al	Demoste	
		Pr. 339 Communication speed command source		0: NET	1:External	2:External	0: NET	1:External	2:External	Remarks	
		42	X42	Torque bias selection 1	NET		External				
		43	X43	Torque bias selection 2		NET			External		
uc		44	X44	P/PI control switchover		NET			External		
		60	STF	Forward rotation command		NET			External		
	g	61	STR	Reverse rotation command		NET			External		
	ttin	62	RES	Reset	External						
Ictio	Se	63	PTC	PID forward action switchover	External						
fun	189	64	X64	PID forward action switchover	NET	Exte	ernal	NET	Exte	ernal	
Ve	Pr.	65	X65	PU-NET operation switchover			Exte	ernal			
electi	78 to	66	X66	External-NET operation switchover		External					
Ň	r. 1	67	X67	Command source switchover		External					
	Ρ	68	NP	Conditional position pulse train sign		External					
		69	CLR	Conditional position droop pulse clear		External					
	Ī	74	X74	Magnetic flux decay output shutoff		NET			External		

#### [Explanation of table]

External NET

Combined

: Control only from communication is valid

: Control is valid only from external terminal signal.

Control is valid from either of external terminal and communication. Control is invalid from either of external terminal and communication.

Compensation : Control by signal from external terminal is only valid when *Pr. 28 Multi-speed input compensation selection* = "1"

#### REMARKS

• The command source of communication is as set in *Pr. 550* and *Pr. 551*.

• The *Pr. 338* and *Pr. 339* settings can be changed during operation when *Pr. 77* = 2. Note that the setting change is reflected after the inverter has stopped. Until the inverter has stopped, communication operation command source and communication speed command source before the setting change are valid.

# (6) Switching of command source by external terminal (X67)

- In network operation mode, the command source switching signal (X67) can be used to switch the start command source and speed command source. This signal can be utilized to control the signal input from both the control terminal and communication.
- · Set "67" in any of Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) to assign the X67 signal to the control terminal.
- · When the X67 signal is off, the start command source and speed command source are control terminal.

X67 Signal State	Start Command Source	Speed Command Source		
No signal assignment	According to $P_{\rm W}$ 338	According to $P_{r}$ 330		
ON	According to 17. 556	According to 17. 559		
OFF	Command is valid only from control terminal signal.			

#### REMARKS

• The ON/OFF state of the X67 signal is reflected only during a stop. It is reflected after a stop when the terminal is switched during operation.

When the X67 signal is off, a reset via communication is disabled.

#### = CAUTION :

· Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### + Parameters referred to +

Pr. 28 Multi-speed input compensation selection Pr. 59 Remote function selection Pr. 79 Operation mode selection Refer to page 152.

# 4.24 Communication operation and setting

Purpose	Parameter that must	Refer to Page	
Communication operation from PU connector	Initial setting of computer link communication (PU connector)	Pr. 117 to Pr. 124	302
Communication operation from BS 495	Initial setting of computer link communication (RS-485 terminals)	Pr. 331 to Pr. 337, Pr. 341	
terminals	Modbus-RTU communication specifications	Pr. 331, Pr. 332, Pr. 334, Pr. 343, Pr. 549	316
Restrictions on parameter write through communication	Communication EEPROM write selection	Pr. 342	303

# 4.24.1 Wiring and configuration of PU connector

Using the PU connector, you can perform communication operation from a personal computer etc. When the PU connector is connected with a personal, FA or other computer by a communication cable, a user program can run and monitor the inverter or read and write to parameters.

# (1) PU connector pin-outs



Pin Number	Name	Description	
1)	SG	Earth (Ground)	
-,		(connected to terminal 5)	
2)		Operation panel power supply	
3)	RDA	Inverter receive+	
4)	SDB	Inverter send-	
5)	SDA	Inverter send+	
6)	RDB	Inverter receive-	
7)	80	Earth (Ground)	
()	30	(connected to terminal 5)	
8)	_	Operation panel power supply	

#### = CAUTION =

Pins No. 2 and 8 provide power to the operation panel or parameter unit. Do not use these pins for RS-485 communication.
Do not connect the PU connector to the computer's LAN board, FAX modem socket or telephone modular connector. The product could be damaged due to differences in electrical specifications.

# (2) PU connector communication system configuration and wiring

# • System configuration



## Connection with RS-485 computer

			Inverter
Compu	uter Side Terminals	Cable connection and signal direction	PU connector
Signal name	Description	10BASE-T cable	RS-485 terminal
RDA	Receive data	-	SDA
RDB	Receive data	<	SDB
SDA	Send data	▶	RDA
SDB	Send data	►	RDB
RSA	Request to send		
RSB	Request to send		
CSA	Clear to send		
CSB	Clear to send		
SG	Signal ground	• 0.2mm² or more	SG
FG	Frame ground		

\* Make connections in accordance with the manual of the computer used. Fully check the terminal numbers of the computer since they change with the model.

#### REMARKS

Refer to the following when fabricating the cable on the user side. Commercially available product examples (as of February, 2008)

	Product	Туре	Maker
1)	10BASE-T cable	SGLPEV-T 0.5mm × 4P *	Mitsubishi Cable Industries, Ltd.
2)	RJ-45 connector	5-554720-3	Tyco Electronics Corporation

\* Do not use pins No. 2, 8 of the 10- BASE-T cable.

#### CAUTION

When performing RS-485 communication with multiple inverters, use the RS-485 terminals. (Refer to page 300)

# 4.24.2 Wiring and arrangement of RS-485 terminals

# (1) RS-485 terminal layout



Name	Description	
RDA1 (RXD1+)	Inverter receive+	
RDB1 (RXD1-)	Inverter receive-	
RDA2 (RXD2+)	Inverter receive+ (for branch)	
RDB2 (RXD2-)	Inverter receive- (for branch)	
SDA1 (TXD1+)	Inverter send+	
SDB1 (TXD1-)	Inverter send-	
SDA2	Inverter send+	
(TXD2+)	(for branch)	
SDB2 (TXD2-)	Inverter send- (for branch)	
P5S (VCC)	5V Permissible load current 100mA	
SG (GND)	Earth (Ground) (connected to terminal SD)	

# (2) Connection of RS-485 terminals and wires

Loosen the terminal screw and insert the cable into the terminal.

Screw size	M2		
Tightening torque	0.22N•m to 0.25N•m		
Cable size	0.3mm <sup>2</sup> to 0.75mm <sup>2</sup>		
Screwdriver	Small ⊖ flat-blade screwdriver (Tip thickness: 0.4mm /tip width: 2.5mm)		

Wire the stripped cable after twisting it to prevent it from becoming loose. In addition, do not solder it.



#### CAUTION

Undertightening can cause signal loss or malfunction. Overtightening can cause a short circuit or malfunction due to damage to the screw or unit.

#### REMARKS

Information on bar terminals Introduced products (as of March, 2008)

Terminal Screw		Bar Term	Makor	
Size	ize Wire Size (mm <sup>-</sup> ) with insula		without insulation sleeve	Waker
M2	0.3, 0.5	AI 0,5-6WH	A 0,5-6	Phoenix Contact Co.,Ltd.

Bar terminal crimping tool: CRIMPFOX ZA3 (Phoenix Contact Co., (Ltd.))

Use shielded or twisted cables for connection to the control circuit terminals and run them away from the main and power circuits (including the 200V relay sequence circuit).

When using the bar terminal (without insulation sleeve), use care so that the twisted wires do not come out.



# (3) RS-485 terminal system configuration

# Connection of a computer to the inverter (1:1 connection)



\*Set the terminating resistor switch to the "100 $\Omega$ " position.

# • Combination of computer and multiple inverters (1:n connection)



\*Set only the terminating resistor switch of the remotest inverter to the " $100\Omega$ " position.

## (4) RS-485 terminal wiring method

• Wiring of one RS-485 computer and one inverter



## • Wiring of one RS-485 computer and "n" inverters (several inverters)



\*1 Make connections in accordance with the manual of the computer used.

- Fully check the terminal numbers of the computer since they change with the model.
- \*2 For the inverter farthest from the computer, set the terminating resistor switch to ON (100 $\Omega$  side).

#### REMARKS

For branching, connect the wires as shown below.



#### (5) 2-wire type connection

If the computer is 2-wire type, pass wires across receiving terminals and transmission terminals of the RS-485 terminals to enable 2-wire type connection with the inverter.



#### REMARKS

A program should be created so that transmission is disabled (receiving state) when the computer is not sending and reception is disabled (sending state) during sending to prevent the computer from receiving its own data.

# 4.24.3 Initial settings and specifications of RS-485 communication (Pr. 117 to Pr. 124, Pr. 331 to Pr. 337, Pr. 341, Pr. 549)

Used to perform required settings for communication between the inverter and personal computer.

- There are two different communications: communication using the PU connector of the inverter and communication using the RS-485 terminals.
- You can perform parameter setting, monitor, etc. from the PU connector or RS-485 terminals of the inverter using the Mitsubishi inverter protocol (computer link communication).
- To make communication between the personal computer and inverter, initialization of the communication specifications must be made to the inverter.

Data communication cannot be made if the initial settings are not made or there is any setting error.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description		
117	PU communication station number	0	0 to 31	Specify the inverter station number. Set the inverter station numbers when two or more inverters are connected to one personal computer.		
118	PU communication speed	192	48, 96, 192, 384	Set the communication speed. The setting value × 100 equals the communication speed. For example, the communication speed is 19200bps when the setting value is "192".		
				Stop bit length	Data length	
	<b>DIL</b> communication atom bit		0	1bit	8hit	
119	length	1	1	2bit	obit	
	length		10	1bit	7bit	
			11	2bit	7.010	
	PU communication parity		0	Without parity check		
120	check	2	1	With odd parity check		
			2	With even parity check		
121	Number of PU communication retries	1	0 to 10	Set the permissible number of retries at occurrence of a data receive error. If the number of consecutive errors exceeds the permissible value, the inverter will come to trip.		
			9999	If a communication error occurs, the inverter will not come to trip.		
			0	No PU connector communication		
122	PU communication check time interval	9999	0.1 to 999.8s	Set the interval of communication check (signal loss detection) time. If a no-communication state persists for longer than the permissible time, the inverter will come to trip.		
			9999	No communication detection)	check (signal loss	
123	PU communication waiting time setting	9999	0 to 150ms	Set the waiting transmission to the in	time between data verter and response.	
	ume setting		9999	Set with communicati	on data.	
	PU communication CP/I F		0	Without CR/LF		
124	selection	1	1	With CR		
	Selection		2	With CR/LF		

# [PU connector communication related parameter]

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
331	RS-485 communication station number	0	0 to 31 (0 to 247) *1	Set the inverter station number. (same specifications as <i>Pr. 117</i> )
332	RS-485 communication speed	96	3, 6, 12, 24, 48, 96, 192, 384	Used to select the communication speed. (same specifications as <i>Pr. 118</i> )
<b>333</b> *2	RS-485 communication stop bit length	1	0, 1, 10, 11	Select stop bit length and data length. (same specifications as <i>Pr. 119</i> )
334	RS-485 communication parity check selection	2	0, 1, 2	Select the parity check specifications. (same specifications as <i>Pr. 120</i> )
<b>335</b> ∗₃	RS-485 communication retry count	1	0 to 10, 9999	Set the permissible number of retries at occurrence of a data receive error. (same specifications as <i>Pr. 121</i> )
			0	RS-485 communication can be made, but the inverter will come to trip in the NET operation mode.
<b>336</b> *3	RS-485 communication check time interval	0s	0.1 to 999.8s	Set the interval of communication check (signal loss detection) time. (same specifications as <i>Pr. 122</i> )
			9999	No communication check (signal loss detection)
<b>337</b> ∗₃	RS-485 communication waiting time setting	9999	0 to 150ms, 9999	Set the waiting time between data transmission to the inverter and response. (same specifications as <i>Pr. 123</i> )
341 *3	RS-485 communication CR/LF selection	1	0, 1, 2	Select presence/absence of CR/LF. (same specifications as <i>Pr. 124</i> )
549	Protocol selection	0	0	Mitsubishi inverter (computer link) protocol
040		0	1	Modbus-RTU protocol •4

#### [RS-485 terminal communication related parameter]

\*1 When "1" (Modbus-RTU protocol) is set in *Pr. 549*, the setting range within parenthesis is applied.

\*2 For the Modbus-RTU protocol, the data length is fixed to 8 bits and the stop bit depends on the Pr. 334 setting. (Refer to page 316)

\*3 The Modbus-RTU protocol becomes invalid.

\*4 The Modbus-RTU protocol is valid for only communication from the RS-485 terminals.

#### = CAUTION :

• If communication is made without *Pr. 336 RS-485 communication check time interval* being changed from "0" (initial value), monitor, parameter read, etc. can be performed, but the inverter results in a fault as soon as it is switched to the NET operation mode. If the operation mode at power on is the network operation mode, a communication fault (E.SER) occurs after first communication.

When performing operation or parameter write through communication, set "9999" or a greater value to *Pr. 336.* (The setting depends on the computer side program.) (*Refer to page 308*)

Always reset the inverter after making the initial settings of the parameters. After you have changed the communication-related parameters, communication cannot be made until the inverter is reset.

# 4.24.4 Communication EEPROM write selection (Pr. 342)

When parameter write is performed from the inverter PU connector, RS-485 terminal, and communication option, parameters storage device can be changed from EEPROM + RAM to RAM only. Set this parameter when frequent parameter changes are required.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
242	Communication EEPROM write	0	0	Parameter values written by communication are written to the EEPROM and RAM.
542	selection	0	1	Parameter values written by communication are written to the RAM.

The above parameters can be set any time when the communication option is connected. (Refer to page 281)

When changing the parameter values frequently, set "1" in *Pr: 342* to write them to the RAM. The life of the EEPROM will be shorter if parameter write is performed frequently with the setting unchanged from "0 (initial value)" (EEPROM write).

#### REMARKS

When *Pr*: 342 is set to "1" (only RAM write), the new values of the parameters will be cleared at power supply-off of the inverter. Therefore, the parameter values available when power is switched on again are the values stored in EEPROM previously.

# 4.24.5 Mitsubishi inverter protocol (computer link communication)

You can perform parameter setting, monitor, etc. from the PU connector or RS-485 terminals of the inverter using the Mitsubishi inverter protocol (computer link communication).

#### (1) Communication specifications

· The communication specifications are given below.

ltem		Description	Related Parameters
Communication protocol		Mitsubishi protocol (computer link)	Pr. 551
Conforming standard		EIA-485 (RS-485)	—
Number of inverte	ers connected	1:N (maximum 32 units), setting is 0 to 31 stations	Pr. 117 Pr. 331
Communication	PU connector	Selected from among 4800/9600/19200 and 38400bps	Pr. 118
speed	RS-485 terminal	Can be selected from 300, 600, 1200, 2400, 4800, 9600, 19200 and 38400bps	Pr. 332
Control protocol		Asynchronous system	—
Communication method		Half-duplex system	—
	Character system	ASCII (7 bits or 8 bits can be selected)	Pr. 119 Pr. 333
	Start bit	1bit	—
Communication	Stop bit length	1 bit or 2 bits can be selected	Pr. 119 Pr. 333
specifications	Parity check	Check (even, odd) or no check can be selected	Pr. 120 Pr. 334
	Error check	Sum code check	_
	Terminator	CR/LF (presence or absence can be selected)	Pr. 124 Pr. 341
Waiting time setting		Selectable between presence and absence	Pr. 123 Pr. 337

# (2) Communication procedure



- Data communication between the computer and inverter is made in the following procedure.
- 1)Request data is sent from the computer to the inverter. (The inverter will not send data unless requested.)
- 2) After waiting for the waiting time
- 3) The inverter sends return data to the computer in response to the computer request.
- 4) After having waited for the time taken for inverter processing
- 5) Answer from computer in response to reply data3) is sent. (Even if 5) is not sent, subsequent communication is made properly.)

\*1 If a data error is detected and a retry must be made, execute retry operation with the user program. The inverter comes to trip if the number of consecutive retries exceeds the parameter setting.

\*2 On receipt of a data error occurrence, the inverter returns "reply data 3)" to the computer again. The inverter comes to trip if the number of consecutive data errors reaches or exceeds the parameter setting.

## (3) Communication operation presence/absence and data format types

- · Data communication between the computer and inverter is made in ASCII code (hexadecimal code).
- · Communication operation presence/absence and data format types are as follows:

Symbol	Operation	Run Command	Running Frequency	Parameter Write	Inverter Reset	Monitor	Parameter Read	
1)	Communication request inverter in accordance program in the computer.	A A'	A	A	A	В	В	
2)	Inverter data processing ti	me	Present	Present	Present	Absent	Present	Present
3)	Reply data from the inverter (Data 1) is	No error *1 (Request accepted)	С	С	С	C *2	E E'	E
•,	checked for error)	With error. (Request rejected)	D	D	D	D *2	D	D
4)	Computer processing dela	ay time	10ms or more					
5)	Answer from computer in response to reply data 3)	No error +1 (No inverter processing)	Absent	Absent	Absent	Absent	Absent (C)	Absent (C)
	(Data 3) is checked for error)	With error (Inverter re- outputs 3))	Absent	Absent	Absent	Absent	F	F

\*1 In the communication request data from the computer to the inverter, 10ms or more is also required after "no data error (ACK)". (Refer to page 306)

\*2 The inverter response to the inverter reset request can be selected. (*Refer to page 311*)

1)Communication request data from the computer to the inverter

Format		Number of Characters											
Format	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13
Α	ENQ	Inverte	r station	Instruction code		Waiting	Data				Sum	*4	
(Data write)	*1	num	ber ∗2			time *3							4
Α'	ENQ	Inverte	r station	Instructi	on oodo	Waiting	De	nto.	Sum	obook	+4		
(Data write)	*1	num	ber ∗2	instruction code		time *3	Dala		Sum check		4		
В	ENQ	Inverte	r station	Inotructi	on oodo	Waiting	Sum	abook	*4			, ,	
(Data read)	*1	num	ber ∗₂	mstructi	nstruction code		3 Sum check		- 4				

3)Reply data from the inverter to the computer

· When data is written

Format	Number of Characters							
Tornat	1	2 3		4	5			
С	ACK	Inverter station		*4				
(No data error detected)	*1	num	number *2					
D	NAK	Inverter station		Error	*4			
(Data error detected)	*1	num	<b>0er</b> *2	Code	4			

When data is read

Format	Number of Characters										
Format	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11
E	STX	Inverter	r station	Read data		l data		ETX	Sum	check	*4
(No data error detected)	*1	num	ber *2					*1	ourn check		-
E'	STX	Inverter	r station	Dood data		ETX	Sum	check	*4		
(No data error detected)	*1	num	ber *2	Reau uala		*1	Sull	CHECK	4		
D	NAK	Inverter	r station	Error	+4					-	
(Data error detected)	*1	num	ber ∗2	Code	-4						

5)Send data from the computer to the inverter during data read

Format	Number of Characters						
Format	1	2 3		4			
C (No data error detected)	ACK *1	Inverter station number *2		*4			
<b>F</b> (Data error detected)	NAK *1	Inverter numl	station	*4			

\*1 Indicate a control code

\*2 Specify the inverter station numbers between H00 and H1F (stations 0 to 31) in hexadecimal.

\*3 When *Pr. 123, Pr. 337 (waiting time setting)* ≠ "9999", create the communication request data without "waiting time" in the data format. (The number of characters decreases by 1.)

\*4 CR, LF code

When data is transmitted from the computer to the inverter, CR (carriage return) and LF (line feed) codes are automatically set at the end of a data group on some computers. In this case, setting must also be made on the inverter according to the computer. Whether the CR and LF codes will be present or absent can be selected using *Pr. 124 or Pr. 341 (CR/LF selection)*.

# (4) Data definitions

#### 1) Control codes

Signal Name	ASCII Code	Description	
STX	H02	Start Of Text (start of data)	
ETX	H03	End Of Text (end of data)	
ENQ	H05	Enquiry (communication request)	
ACK	H06	Acknowledge (no data error detected)	
LF	H0A	Line Feed	
CR	H0D	Carriage Return	
NAK	H15	Negative Acknowledge (data error detected)	

#### 2) Inverter station number

Specify the station number of the inverter which communicates with the computer.

#### 3) Instruction code

Specify the processing request, e.g. operation or monitoring, given by the computer to the inverter. Hence, the inverter can be run and monitored in various ways by specifying the instruction code as appropriate. *(Refer to page 429)* 

4) Data

Indicates the data such as frequency and parameters transferred to and from the inverter. The definitions and ranges of set data are determined in accordance with the instruction codes. (*Refer to page 429*)

5) Waiting time

Specify the waiting time between the receipt of data at the inverter from the computer and the transmission of reply data. Set the waiting time in accordance with the response time of the computer between 0 and 150ms in 10ms increments (e.g. 1 = 10ms, 2 = 20ms).



#### REMARKS

- When *Pr. 123, Pr. 337 (waiting time setting)*  $\neq$  "9999", create the communication request data without "waiting time" in the data format. (The number of characters decreases by 1.)
- The data check time changes depending on the instruction code. (*Refer to page 307*)

#### 6) Sum check code

The sum check code is 2-digit ASCII (hexadecimal) representing the lower 1 byte (8 bits) of the sum (binary) derived from the checked ASCII data



## 7) Error Code

If any error is found in the data received by the inverter, its definition is sent back to the computer together with the NAK code.

Error Code	Error Item	Error Description	Inverter Operation	
H0	Computer NAK error	The number of errors consecutively detected in communication request data from the computer is greater than allowed number of retries.		
H1	Parity error	The parity check result does not match the specified parity.		
H2	Sum check error	The sum check code in the computer does not match that of the data received by the inverter.	Brought to trip if error occurs continuously more than the allowable number of retries. (E.PUE/E.SER)	
H3	Protocol error	The data received by the inverter has a grammatical mistake. Alternatively, data receive is not completed within the predetermined time. CR or LF is not as set in the parameter.		
H4	Framing error	The stop bit length differs from the initial setting.		
H5	Overrun error	New data has been sent by the computer before the inverter completes receiving the preceding data.		
H6	—	_	—	
H7	Character error	The character received is invalid (other than 0 to 9, A to F, control code).	Does not accept received data but is not brought to trip.	
H8	—	—	—	
H9	—	_	—	
HA	Mode error	Parameter write was attempted in other than the computer link operation mode, when operation command source is not selected or during inverter operation.	Does not accept	
HB	Instruction code error	The specified command does not exist.	brought to trip	
HC	Data range error	Invalid data has been specified for parameter write, frequency setting, etc.	blought to trip.	
HD	—			
HE	—		—	
HF	—		—	

#### (5) Response time



#### [Formula for data sending time]

1		Number of data
Communication	×	characters
speed (bps)		(Refer to page 305)

Communication specifications × (total number of bits) = Data send time (s) (See below.)

•Communication specifications

Name	Number of Bits	
Stop bit length		1 bit 2 bits
Data length		7 bits 8 bits
Darity aboald	Yes	1 bit
Failty check	No	0

In addition to the above, 1 start bit is necessary. Minimum number of total bits...... 9 bits Maximum number of total bits...... 12 bits

#### Data check time

Item	Check Time
Various monitors, run command, frequency setting (RAM)	< 12ms
Parameter read/write, frequency setting (EEPROM)	< 30ms
Parameter clear/all clear	< 5s
Reset command	No answer

# (6) Retry count setting (Pr. 121, Pr. 335)

- Set the permissible number of retries at occurrence of a data receive error. (Refer to *page 307* for data receive error for retry)
- When data receive errors occur consecutively and exceed the permissible number of retries set, an inverter trips (E.PUE) and a motor stops.
- When "9999" is set, the inverter will not trip even if data receive error occurs but an alarm output signal (LF) is output. For the terminal used for the LF signal output, assign the function by setting "98 (positive logic) or 198 (negative logic)" in any of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)*.



### (7) Signal loss detection (Pr. 122, Pr. 336 RS-485 communication check time interval)

- If a signal loss (communication stop) is detected between the inverter and computer as a result of a signal loss detection, a communication fault (PU connector communication: E.PUE, RS-485 terminal communication: E.SER) occurs and the inverter trips.
- $\cdot\,$  When the setting is "9999", communication check (signal loss detection) is not made.
- When the setting is "0", communication from the PU connector cannot be performed. For communication via the RS-485 terminals, monitor, parameter read, etc. can be peformed, but a communication fault (E.SER) occurs as soon as the inverter is switched to network operation mode.
- A signal loss detection is made when the setting is any of "0.1s" to "999.8s". To make a signal loss detection, it is necessary to send data (control code *refer to page 306*) from the computer within the communication check time interval. (The send data has nothing to do with the station number)
- Communication check is started at the first communication in the operation mode having the operation source (PU operation mode for PU connector communication in the initial setting or network operation mode for RS-485 terminal communication).



Example: PU connector communication, Pr. 122 = "0.1 to 999.8s"

## (8) Instructions for the program

- 1) When data from the computer has any error, the inverter does not accept that data. Hence, in the user program, always insert a retry program for data error.
- 2) All data communication, e.g. run command or monitoring, are started when the computer gives a communication request. The inverter does not return any data without the computer's request. Hence, design the program so that the computer gives a data read request for monitoring, etc. as required.
- 3) Program example

To change the operation mode to computer link operation

# Programming example of Microsoft<sup>®</sup> Visual C++<sup>®</sup> (Ver.6.0)

```
#include <stdio h>
#include <windows.h>
void main(void){
     HANDLE
                       hCom:
                                        //Communication handle
     DCB
                       hDcb:
                                        //Structure for communication setting
     COMMTIMEOUTS
                                hTim;
                                        // Structure for time out setting
     char
                       szTx[0x10];
                                                 // Send buffer
                       szRx[0x10];
                                                 // Receive buffer
     char
     char
                       szCommand[0x10];// Command
                       nTx,nRx;
                                                 // For buffer size storing
     int
                       nSum;
                                                 // For sum code calculation
     int
     BOOL
                       bRet;
     int
                       nRet;
     int
                       i;
     //**** Opens COM1 port****
     hCom = CreateFile ("COM1", (GENERIC_READ | GENERIC_WRITE), 0, NULL, OPEN_EXISTING, FILE_ATTRIBUTE_NORMAL, NULL);
     if (hCom != NULL) {
              //**** Makes a communication setting of COM1 port****
              GetCommState(hCom,&hDcb);
                                                                                     // Retrieves current communication information
              hDcb.DCBlength = sizeof(DCB);
                                                                                     // Structure size setting
              hDcb.BaudRate = 19200;
                                                                                     // Communication speed=09200bps
              hDcb.ByteSize = 8;
                                                                                     // Data length=8bit
              hDcb.Parity = 2;
                                                                                     // Even parity
              hDcb.StopBits = 2;
                                                                                     // Stop bit=2bit
              bRet = SetCommState(hCom,&hDcb);
                                                                                     // Sets the changed communication data
              if (bRet == TRUE) {
                       //**** Makes a time out setting of COM1 port****
                       Get CommTimeouts(hCom.&hTim):
                                                                                     // Obtains the current time out value
                       hTim.WriteTotalTimeoutConstant = 1000
                                                                                     // Write time out 1s
                       hTim.ReadTotalTimeoutConstant = 1000:
                                                                                     // Read time out 1s
                       SetCommTimeouts(hCom,&hTim);
                                                                                     // Changed time out value setting
                       //**** Sets the command to switch the operation mode of the station 1 inverter to the network operation mode ****
                                                                                     // Send data (NET operation write)
                       sprintf(szCommand."01FB10000");
                       nTx = strlen(szCommand)
                                                                                     //Send data size
                       //**** Generates sum code****
                                                                                     // Initialization of sum data
                       nSum = 0:
                       for (i = 0; i < nTx; i++) {
                                nSum += szCommand[i];
                                                                                     // Calculates sum code
                                nSum &= (0xff);
                                                                                     // Masks data
                       }
                       //**** Generates send data****
                       memset(szTx,0,sizeof(szTx));
                                                                                     // Initialization of send buffer
                       memset(szRx,0,sizeof(szRx));
                                                                                     // Initialization of receive buffer
                       sprintf(szTx,"\5%s%02X",szCommand,nSum);// ENQ code+send data+sum code
                       nTx = 1 + nTx + 2;
                                                                                     // Number of ENQ code+number of send data+number of sum code
                       nRet = WriteFile(hCom,szTx,nTx,&nTx,NULL);
                       //**** Sending *
                       if(nRet != 0) {
                                nRet = ReadFile(hCom,szRx,sizeof(szRx),&nRx,NULL);
                       //**** Receiving ****
                                if(nRet != 0) {
                                        //**** Displays the receive data ****
                                        for(i = 0; i < nRx; i++) \{
                                                 printf("%02X ",(BYTE)szRx[i]);// Consol output of receive data
                                                  // Displays ASCII coder in hexadecimal. Displays 30 when "0"
                                        }
                                        printf("\n\r");
                               }
                      }
              CloseHandle(hCom);
                                                                                    // Close communication port
     }
```

Communication operation and setting

#### General flowchart



# A CAUTION

Always set the communication check time interval before starting operation to prevent hazardous conditions.

A Data communication is not started automatically but is made only once when the computer provides a communication request. If communication is disabled during operation due to signal loss etc., the inverter cannot be stopped. When the communication check time interval has elapsed, the inverter will come to a trip (E.PUE, E.SER). The inverter can be coasted to a stop by switching on its RES signal or by switching power off.

A If communication is broken due to signal loss, computer fault etc., the inverter does not detect such a fault. This should be fully noted.

# (9) Setting items and set data

After completion of parameter setting, set the instruction codes and data then start communication from the computer to allow various types of operation control and monitoring.

No.		Item	Read/ Write	Instruction Code	Data Description	Number of Data Digits (format)	
1	Operation mode		Read H7B		H0000: Network operation H0001: External operation	4 digits (B.E/D)	
			Write	HFB	H0002: PU operation (RS-485 communication operation via PU connector)	4 digits (A,C/D)	
		Output frequency/ speed	Read	H6F	H0000 to HFFFF: Output frequency in 0.01Hz increments Speed in 1r/min increments (when <i>Pr</i> : 37 = 1 to 9998 or <i>Pr</i> : 144 = 2 to 10, 102 to 110)	4 digits (B.E/D)	
		Output current	Read	H70	H0000 to HFFFF: Output current (hexadecimal) in 0.01A increments	4 digits (B.E/D)	
		Output voltage	Read	H71	H0000 to HFFFF: Output voltage (hexadecimal) in 0.1V increments	4 digits (B.E/D)	
		Special monitor	Read	H72	H0000 to HFFFF: Monitor data selected in instruction code HF3	4 digits (B.E/D)	
	or	Special monitor	Read	H73	H01 to H3C: Monitor selection data	2digits (B.E'/D)	
2	Monit	selection No.	Write	HF3	Refer to the special monitor No. table (page 313)	2digits (A',C/D)	
		Fault definition	Read	H74 to H77	HOUDD to HFFFF: Two most recent fault definitions b15 b8 b7 b0 H74 Second fault in past Latest fault H75 Fourth fault in past Third fault in past H76 Sixth fault in past Fifth fault in past H77 Eighth fault in past Seventh fault in past Refer to the fault data table (page 314)	4 digits (B.E/D)	
	Run command (extended)		Write	HF9	You can set the control input commands such as the forward	4 digits (A,C/D)	
3	Ru	n command	Write	HFA	rotation signal (STR) and reverse rotation signal (STR). ( <i>Refer to</i> $page 314$ for details)	2digits (A',C/D)	
4	Inverter status monitor (extended) Inverter status monitor		Read H79 You can monitor the status of the output signals such as forward rotation, reverse rotation and inverter running (RUN). ( <i>Refer to page</i>		4 digits (B.E/D)		
			Read	H7A	<i>315</i> for details)	2digits (B.E'/D)	
	Set frequency (RAM) Set frequency		H6D       Read the set frequency/speed from the RAM or EEPROM.         M)       H6D       H6D         Frequency       H6D       H6D         H6E       H6E       Speed in 1r/min increments (When Pr: 37 = 1 to 9998 or Pr: 144 = 2 to 10, 102 to 110)		Read the set frequency/speed from the RAM or EEPROM. H0000 to HFFFF: Set frequency in 0.01Hz increments Speed in 1r/min increments (When $Pr: 37 = 1$ to 9998 or $Pr: 144 = 2$ to 10, 102 to 110)	4 digits (B.E/D)	
5	Set (R/	t frequency AM)		HED	Write the set frequency/speed into the RAM or EEPROM. H0000 to H9C40 (0 to 400.00Hz) : frequency in 0.01Hz increments		
	Set frequency (RAM, EEPROM)		Write	HEE	<ul> <li>H0000 to H270E (0 to 9998) : speed in r/min increments (when Pr: 37 = 1 to 9998 or Pr: 144 = 2 to 10, 102 to 110)</li> <li>To change the running frequency consecutively, write data to the inverter RAM. (Instruction code: HED)</li> </ul>	4 digits (A,C/D)	
6	Inv	erter reset	Write	HFD	<ul> <li>H9696: Resets the inverter.</li> <li>As the inverter is reset at start of communication by the computer, the inverter cannot send reply data back to the computer.</li> </ul>	4 digits (A,C/D)	
					When data is sent normally, ACK is returned to the computer and then the inverter is reset.	4 digits (A,D)	
7	Fault definition all clear Write HF4 H9696: Faults history batch clear						

Refer to page 305 for data formats (A, A', B, B', C, D)

No.	Item	Read/ Write	Instruction Code			Number of Data Digits (format)					
				All p Whe acco Refe para	arameters return to th other to clear communi- ording to data. (O: clear or to <i>page 423</i> for parar ameters.	e initial value ication param ar, ×: not clea meter clear, a	es. neters or not can be se r) Il clear, and communio	elected			
					Clear type	Data	Communication parameters		Data Digits (format)adadadadadad4 digits (A,C/D)ad		
	Parameter clear				Deremeter closer	H9696	0				
8	All parameter	Write	HFC		Parameter clear	H5A5A	×		(A,C/D)		
	cical				All parameter clear	H9966	0		(A,C/D)		
					7 in parameter olear	H55AA	×				
				Whe para ope Exe setti	en clear is executed for ameter settings also re- ration, set the paramet cuting clear will clear ings.	r H9696 or H eturn to the in ters again. the instructio	9966, communication- nitial values. When re n code HEC, HF3, ar	related suming nd HFF			
9	Parameters	Read	H00 to H63	Refe valu	er to the instruction concerned as required.	ode (page 42)	9) and write and/or re	ead the	4 digits (B.E/D)		
10	Falameters	Write	H80 to HE3	Whe be s	en setting <i>Pr. 100</i> and la et.	ater, link para	ameter extended settin	ig must	4 digits (A,C/D)		
11	Link parameter	Read	H7F	Para	ameter description is	changed ac	cording to the H00	to H09	2digits (B.E'/D)		
11	extended setting	Write	HFF	For	For details of the setting, refer to the instruction code ( <i>page 429</i> ).						
12	Second parameter	Read	H6C	Whe H00 H01 H02	When setting the calibration parameters •1 H00:Frequency •2 H01: Parameter-set analog value H02: Analog value input from terminal						
	(instruction code HFF=1, 9)	Write	HEC	*1 *2	<ol> <li>Analog value input from terminal</li> <li>Refer to the list of calibration parameters on the next page for calibration parameters.</li> <li>The gain frequency can also be written using <i>Pr. 125</i> (instruction code H90) or <i>Pr. 126</i> (instruction code H90).</li> </ol>						

Refer to page 305 for data formats (A, A', B, B', C, D)

# REMARKS

· Set 65520 (HFFF0) as a parameter value "8888" and 65535 (HFFFF) as "9999".

• For the instruction codes HFF, HEC and HF3, their values are held once written but cleared to zero when an inverter reset or all clear is performed.

Example) When reading the C3 (Pr. 902) and C6 (Pr. 904) settings from the inverter of station 0

	Computer Send Data	Inverter Send Data	Description
1)	ENQ 00 FF 0 01 82	ACK 00	Set "H01" in the extended link parameter.
2)	ENQ 00 EC 0 01 7E	ACK 00	Set "H01" in second parameter changing.
3)	ENQ 00 5E 0 0F	STX 00 0000 ETX 25	<i>C3 (Pr. 902)</i> is read. 0% is read.
4)	ENQ 00 60 0 FB	STX 00 0000 ETX 25	<i>C6 (Pr. 904)</i> is read. 0% is read.

To read/write C3 (Pr. 902) and C6 (Pr. 904) after inverter reset or parameter clear, execute from 1) again.

# Communication operation and setting

#### •List of calibration parameters

_		Instructio code						
Para meter	Name	Read	Write	Extended				
C2 (902)	Terminal 2 frequency setting bias frequency	5E	DE	1				
C3 (902)	Terminal 2 frequency setting bias	5E	DE	1				
125 (903)	Terminal 2 frequency setting gain frquency	5F	DF	1				
C4 (903)	Terminal 2 frequency setting gain	5F	DF	1				
C5 (904)	Terminal 4 frequency setting bias frequency	60	E0	1				
C6 (904)	Terminal 4 frequency setting bias	60	E0	1				
126 (905)	Terminal 4 frequency setting gain frequency	61	E1	1				
C7 (905)	Terminal 4 frequency setting gain	61	E1	1				
C12 (917)	Terminal 1 bias frequency (speed)	11	91	9				

_	code							
Para meter	Name	Read	Write	Extended				
C13 (917)	Terminal 1 bias frequency (speed)	11	91	9				
C14 (918)	Terminal 1 gain frequency (speed)	12	92	9				
C15 (918)	Terminal 1 gain (speed)	12	92	9				
C16 (919)	Terminal 1 bias command (torque/ magnetic flux)	13	93	9				
C17 (919)	Terminal 1 bias (torque/magnetic flux)	13	93	9				
C18 (920)	Terminal 1 gain command (torque/ magnetic flux)	14	94	9				
C19 (920)	Terminal 1 gain (torque/magnetic flux)	14	94	9				
C38 (932)	Terminal 4 bias command (torque/ magnetic flux)	20	A0	9				

_		Ins	truction code				
Para meter	Name	Read	Read Write				
C39 (932)	Terminal 4 bias (torque/magnetic flux)	20	A0	9			
C40 (933)	Terminal 4 gain command (torque/ magnetic flux)	21	A1	9			
C41 (933)	Terminal 4 gain (torque/magnetic flux)	21	A1	9			

## [Special monitor selection No.]

Refer to page 228 for details of the monitor description.

Data	Description	Increments	Data
H01	Output frequency	0.01Hz	H10
H02	Output current	0.01A	H11
H03	Output voltage	0.1V	H12
H05	Frequency setting	0.01Hz	H13
H06	Running speed	1r/min	н14
H07	Motor torque	0.1%	1114
H08	Converter output voltage	0.1V	H16
ЦОЛ	Electronic thermal relay	0.1%	H17
HUA	function load factor	0.1%	H18
HOR	Output current peak	0.01A/	H19
HUD	value	0.1A *1	H20
нос	Converter output voltage	0.1V	H21
1100	peak value	0.11	H22
H0D	Input power	0.01kW	H23
H0E	Output power	0.01kW	H32
H0F	Input terminal status *1		H33

Data	Description	Increments
H10	Output terminal status *2	
H11	Load meter	0.1%
H12	Motor excitation current	0.01A
H13	Position pulse	
H14	Cumulative energization time	1h
H16	Orientation status	
H17	Actual operation time	1h
H18	Motor load factor	0.1%
H19	Cumulative power	1kWh
H20	Torque command	0.1%
H21	Torque current command	0.1%
H22	Motor output	0.01kW
H23	Feedback pulse	
H32	Power saving effect	Variable
H33	Cumulative saving power	Variable

Data	Description	Increments						
H34	PID set point	0.1%						
H35	H35 PID measured value							
H36	H36 PID deviation value							
НЗА	Option input terminal status1 ∗₃	_						
H3B	Option input terminal status2 *4	_						
НЗС	Option output terminal status *5							

Input terminal monitor details b15 \*1

	b15															b0
					CS	RES	STOP	MRS	JOG	RH	RM	RL	RT	AU	STR	STF
*2	Output te	rminal m	onitor del	ails												
	b15															b0
										ABC2	ABC1	FU	OL	IPF	SU	RUN
*3	Details of	f option ir	nput termi	inal moni	tor 1 (inpl	ut termina	al status o	of FR-A7	AX)-all ter	rminals a	re off whe	en an opti	on is not	fitted		
	b15								,							b0
	X15	X14	X13	X12	X11	X10	X9	X8	X7	X6	X5	X4	X3	X2	X1	X0
*4	Details of	f option ir	nput termi	inal monit	tor 2 (inpi	ut termina	al status o	of FR-A7	AX)-all ter	rminals a	re off whe	en an opti	on is not	fitted		
	b15											-				b0
													_			DY
*5	Details of	f option o	utput terr	ninal mor	nitor (outp	out termin	al status	of FR-A7	AY/A7AF	R)-all term	ninals are	off when	an optio	n is not fi	tted	
	b15															b0
		—		—	—	—	RA3	RA2	RA1	Y6	Y5	Y4	Y3	Y2	Y1	Y0
#### [Fault data]

Refer to page 373 for details of fault description.

Data	Description	Data	Description	Data	
H00	No alarm	HA0	E.OPT	HD6	
H10	E.OC1	HA3	E.OP3	HD7	
H11	E.OC2	HB0	E.PE	HD8	
H12	E.OC3	HB1	E.PUE	HD9	
H20	E.OV1	HB2	E.RET	HDA	
H21	E.OV2	HB3	E.PE2	HDB	
H22	E.OV3	HC0	E.CPU	HDC	
H30	E.THT	HC1	E.CTE	HF1	
H31	E.THM	HC2	E.P24	HF2	
H40	E.FIN	HC4	E.CDO	HF3	
H50	E.IPF	HC5	E.IOH	HF4	
H51	E.UVT	HC6	E.SER	HF6	
H52	E.ILF	HC7	E.AIE	HF7	
H60	E.OLT	HD0	E.OS	HF8	
H80	E.GF	HD1	E.OSD	HFA	
H81	E.LF	HD2	E.ECT	HFB	
H90	E.OHT	HD3	E.OD	HFD	
H91	E.PTC	HD5	E.MB1	HFF	

Data	Description
HD6	E.MB2
HD7	E.MB3
HD8	E.MB4
HD9	E.MB5
HDA	E.MB6
HDB	E.MB7
HDC	E.EP
HF1	E.1
HF2	E.2
HF3	E.3
HF4	E.4
HF6	E.6
HF7	E.7
HF8	E.8
HFA	E.10
HFB	E.11
HFD	E.13
HFF	E.15
	HData HD6 HD7 HD8 HD9 HDA HDA HDB HDC HF1 HF2 HF3 HF4 HF6 HF6 HF6 HF7 HF8 HFA HFB HFD HFF

Fault description display example (instruction code H74)

For read data H30A0 (Previous fault THT) (Latest fault OPT)	b15		I	b8	b7						bC
	0011	00	0	0	1	0	1 0	0	0	0	0
	Previo (H3	ous fa 30)	ault	t		La	ates (H	st fa IA0	ault )		

#### [Run command]

Item	Instruction Code	Bit Length	Description	Example
Run command	HFA	8bit	<ul> <li>b0: AU (current input selection) *1 *3</li> <li>b1: Forward rotation command</li> <li>b2: Reverse rotation command</li> <li>b3: RL (low speed operation command) *1 *3</li> <li>b4: RM (middle speed operation command) *1 *3</li> <li>b5: RH (high speed operation command) *1 *3</li> <li>b6: RT (second function selection) *1 *3</li> <li>b7: MRS (output stop) *1 *3</li> </ul>	[Example 1]       H02 Forward rotation         b7       b0         0       0       0       0       1       0         [Example 2]       H00 Stop         b7       b0         0       0       0       0       0       0
Run command (extended)	HF9	16bit	<ul> <li>b0:AU (current input selection) *1 *3</li> <li>b1:Forward rotation command</li> <li>b2:Reverse rotation command</li> <li>b3:RL (low speed operation command) *1</li> <li>*3</li> <li>b4:RM (middle speed operation command) *1 *3</li> <li>b5: RH (high speed operation command) *1 *3</li> <li>b6:RT (second function selection) *1 *3</li> <li>b7:MRS (output stop) *1 *3</li> <li>b8:JOG (Jog operation) *2 *3</li> <li>b9:CS (selection of automatic restart after instantaneous power failure) *2 *3</li> <li>b11:RES (reset) *2 *3</li> <li>b12:</li> <li>b13:</li> <li>b14:</li> <li>b15:</li> </ul>	[Example 1] H0002 Forward rotation         b15       b0         0       0       0       0       0       0       0       0       1       0         [Example 2] H0800 low speed operation (When Pr. 189 RES terminal function selection is set to "0")       b15       b0         0       0       0       1       0       0       0       0       0       0       0

The signal within parentheses is the initial setting. The description changes depending on the setting of Pr. 180 to Pr. 184, Pr. 187 (input terminal \*1 function selection) (page 206).

\*2 The signal within parentheses is the initial setting. Since jog operation/selection of automatic restart after instantaneous power failure/start selfholding/reset cannot be controlled by the network, bit 8 to bit 11 are invalid in the initial status. When using bit 8 to bit 11, change the signals with Pr. 185, Pr. 186, Pr. 188, Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) (page 206). (Reset can be executed with the instruction code HFD.)

\*3 Only forward rotation command and reverse rotation command are available for RS-485 communication using PU connector.



## [Inverter status monitor]

Item	Instruction Code	Bit Length	Description	Example
Inverter status monitor	H7A	8bit	b0:RUN (inverter running)* b1:Forward rotation b2:Reverse rotation b3:SU (up to frequency) * b4:OL (overload) * b5:IPF (instantaneous power failure) * b6:FU (frequency detection)* b7:ABC1 (fault) *	$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $
Inverter status monitor (extended)	H79	16bit	b0:RUN (inverter running) * b1:Forward rotation b2:Reverse rotation b3:SU (up to frequency) * b4:OL (overload) * b5:IPF (instantaneous power failure) * b6:FU (frequency detection) * b7:ABC1 (fault) * b8:ABC2 (—)* b9:— b10:— b11:— b12:— b13:— b14:— b15: Fault occurrence	[Example 1] H0002 ··· During forward rotation         b15       b0         0       0       0       0       0       0       0       0       1       0         [Example 2] H8080 ··· Stop at fault occurrence       b15       b0       0

\* The signal within parentheses is the initial setting. The description changes depending on the setting of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)*.

# 4.24.6 Modbus-RTU communication specifications (Pr. 331, Pr. 332, Pr. 334, Pr. 343, Pr. 539, Pr. 549)

Using the Modbus-RTU communication protocol, communication operation or parameter setting can be performed from the RS-485 terminals of the inverter.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
			0	Broadcast communication is selected.
331	RS-485 communication station number	0	1 to 247	Specify the inverter station number. Set the inverter station numbers when two or more inverters are connected to one personal computer.
332	RS-485 communication speed	96	3, 6, 12, 24, 48, 96, 192, 384	Set the communication speed. The setting value × 100 equals the communication speed. For example, the communication speed is 9600bps when the setting value is "96".
			0	Without parity check Stop bit length 2bits
334	RS-485 communication parity check selection	2	1	With odd parity check Stop bit length 1bit
			2	With even parity check Stop bit length 1bit
343	Communication error count	0	_	Display the number of communication errors during Modbus-RTU communication. Reading only
			0	Modbus-RTU communication can be made, but the inverter will come to trip in the NET operation mode.
539	Modbus-RTU communication check time interval	9999	0.1 to 999.8s	Set the interval of communication check time. (same specifications as <i>Pr. 122</i> )
			9999	No communication check (signal loss detection)
549	Protocol selection	0	0	Mitsubishi inverter (computer link) protocol
575		0	1	Modbus-RTU protocol

— CAUTION =

When Modbus-RTU communication is performed from the master with address 0 (station 0) set, broadcast communication is selected and the inverter does not send a response message to the master.

When response from the inverter is necessary, set a value other than "0" in Pr. 331 (initial value 0).

Some functions are invalid for broadcast communication. (Refer to page 318)

#### REMARKS

· When using the Modbus-RTU protocol, set Pr. 549 Protocol selection to "1".

• When the communication option is fitted with *Pr. 550 NET mode operation command source selection* set to "9999" (initial value), the command source (e.g. run command) from the RS-485 terminals is invalid. (*Refer to page 292*)

#### (1) Communication specifications

The communication specifications are given below.

lte	m	Description	Related Parameters
Communication protocol		Modbus-RTU protocol	Pr. 549
Conforming standard		EIA-485 (RS-485)	_
Number of inverte	ers connected	1: N (maximum 32 units), setting is 0 to 247 stations	Pr. 331
Communication s	peed	Can be selected from 300, 600, 1200, 2400, 4800, 9600, 19200 and 38400bps	Pr. 332
Control protocol		Asynchronous system	
Communication method		Half-duplex system	
	Character system	Binary(fixed to 8 bits)	
	Start bit	1bit	
Communication	Stop bit length	Select from the following three types • No parity, stop bit length 2 bits	Pr 334
specifications	Parity check	<ul> <li>Odd parity, stop bit length 1 bit</li> <li>Even parity, stop bit length 1 bit</li> </ul>	11.004
Error check		CRC code check	
	Terminator	Not used	
Waiting time setti	ng	Not used	

## (2) Outline

The Modbus protocol is the communication protocol developed by Modicon for programmable controller.

The Modbus protocol performs serial communication between the master and slave using the dedicated message frame. The dedicated message frame has the functions that can perform data read and write. Using the functions, you can read and write the parameter values from the inverter, write the input command of the inverter, and check the operating status. In this product, the inverter data are classified in the holding register area (register addresses 40001 to 49999). By accessing the assigned holding register address, the master can communicate with the inverter which is a slave.

#### REMARKS

There are two different serial transmission modes: ASCII (American Standard Code for Information Interchange) mode and RTU (Remote Terminal Unit) mode. This product supports only the RTU mode in which 1-byte (8-bit) data is transmitted as-is. Only the communication protocol is defined by the Modbus protocol, and the physical layer is not stipulated.

## (3) Message format



#### Data check time

Item	Check Time
Various monitors, operation command, frequency setting (RAM)	< 12ms
Parameter read/write, frequency setting (EEPROM)	< 30ms
Parameter clear/all clear	< 5s
Reset command	No answer

#### 1)Query

The master sends a message to the slave (= inverter) at the specified address.

#### 2)Normal Response

After receiving the query from the master, the slave executes the requested function and returns the corresponding normal response to the master.

#### 3) Error Response

If an invalid function code, address or data is received, the slave returns it to the master.

When a response description is returned, the error code indicating that the request from the master cannot be executed is added.

No response is returned for the hardware-detected error, frame error and CRC check error.

#### 4)Broadcast

By specifying address 0, the master can send a message to all slaves. All slaves that received the message from the master execute the requested function. In this communication, the slaves do not return a response to the master.

#### REMARKS

The slave executes the function independently of the inverter station number setting (Pr. 331) during broadcast communication.

## (4) Message frame (protocol)

• Communication method

Basically, the master sends a query message (question) and the slave returns a response message (response). When communication is normal, Device Address and Function Code are copied as they are, and when communication is abnormal (function code or data code is illegal), bit 7 (= 80h) of Function Code is turned on and the error code is set to Data Bytes.





Response message from slave

The message frame consists of the four message fields as shown above. By adding the no-data time (T1: Start, End) of 3.5 characters to the beginning and end of the message data, the slave recognizes it as one message.

Protocol details

The four message fields will be explained below.

Start	1) ADDRESS	2) FUNCTION	3) DATA	4) CRC CHECK		End
T1	8bit	8bit	n × 8bit	L 8bit	H 8bit	T1

Message Field			Description						
1) ADDRESS field	The add message When th The valu	ne address is 1 byte long (8 bits) and any of 0 to 247 can be set. Set 0 to send a broadcast essage (all-address instruction) or any of 1 to 247 to send a message to each slave. /hen the slave responds, it returns the address set from the master. ne value set to <i>Pr. 331 RS-485 communication station number</i> is the slave address.							
	The function function operation returned When th When th	tion code is 1 byte long (8 t that it wants to request from n. The following table gives if the set function code is o e slave returns a normal res e slave returns an error res	bits) and any of 1 to 255 can be set. T in the slave, and the slave performs the the supported function codes. An error ther than those in the following table. sponse, it returns the function code se ponse, it returns H80 + function code.	he master sets the e requested or response is et by the master.					
	Code	Function Name	Outline	Broadcast Communication					
	H03	Read Holding Register	Reads the holding register data.	Disallowed					
2) FUNCTION field	H06 Preset Single Register W		Writes data to the holding register.	Allowed					
	H08 Diagnostics		Makes a function diagnosis. (communication check only)	Disallowed					
	H10 Preset Multiple Registers		Writes data to multiple consecutive holding registers.	Allowed					
	H46	Read Holding Register Access Log	Reads the number of registers that succeeded in communication last time.	Disallowed					
		Table 1: Function code list							
3) DATA field	The form count, n	nat changes depending on t umber of bytes, description	he function code ( <i>refer to page 319</i> ). Date of access to the holding register, etc.	ata includes the byte					
4) CRC CHECK field	The rece data is a byte is a The CRC side reca and the result is	eived message frame is che dded to the end of the mess dded first and is followed by C value is calculated by the s alculates CRC during mess actual value received in the defined as error.	cked for error. CRC check is performe sage. When CRC is added to the mes y the high-order byte. sending side that adds CRC to the mes age receiving, and compares the resu CRC CHECK field. If these two value	ed, and 2 byte long sage, the low-order ssage. The receiving It of that calculation s do not match, the					

## (5) Message format types

The message formats corresponding to the function codes in Table 1 on page 318 will be explained.

#### • Read holding register data (H03 or 03)

Can read the description of 1) system environment variables, 2) real-time monitor, 3) faults history, and 4) inverter parameters assigned to the holding register area (refer to the register list *(page 324)*).

Query Message

1) Slave Address	2) Function	3) Starting Address		4) No. o	f Points	CRC Check		
(Phit)	H03	Н	L	Н	L	L	Н	
(ODIL)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	L (8bit)	(8bit)	

#### Normal response (Response message)

1) Slave Address	2) Function	5) Byte Count		6) Dat	CRC	Check	
(Phit)	H03	(9hit)	Н	L		L	Н
(obit)	(8bit)	(ODIL)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(n × 16bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)

#### · Query message setting

Message	Setting Description
1)Slave Address	Set the address to which the message will be sent. Broadcast communication cannot be made (0 is invalid).
2)Function	Set H03.
3)Starting Address	Set the address at which holding register data read will be started. Starting address = starting register address (decimal) – 40001 For example, setting of the starting address 0001 reads the data of the holding register 40002.
4)No. of Points	Set the number of holding registers from which data will be read. The number of registers from which data can be read is a maximum of 125.

#### · Description of normal response

Message	Setting Description
5)Byte Count	The setting range is H02 to H14 (2 to 20). Twice greater than the No. of Points specified at 4) is set.
6)Data	The number of data specified at 4) is set. Data are read in order of Hi byte and Lo byte, and set in order of starting address data, starting address + 1 data, starting address + 2 data,

Slave Address	Function Starting Address No. of Points						CRC (	Check		
H11	H03	H03		HEB		H00	H	103	H77	H2B
(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)		(8bit)		(8bit)	3)	Bbit)	(8bit)	(8bit)
lormal response Slave Address	e (Respons	e message) Byte Count			Da	ta			CRC	Check
lormal response Slave Address	e (Respons Function	e message) Byte Count			Da	ta			CRC	Check
Normal response Slave Address H11	e (Respons Function H03	e message) <b>Byte Count</b> H06	H17	H70	<b>Da</b> H0B	ta HB8	H03	HE8	CRC H2C	Check HE6

Register 41006 (*Pr. 6*): H03E8 (10.00Hz)

#### • Write multiple holding register data (H06 or 06)

You can write the description of 1) system environment variables and 4) inverter parameters assigned to the holding register area (refer to the register list (*page 324*)).

Query message

1) Slave Address	2) Function	3) Registe	3) Register Address		et Data	CRC Check	
(8bit)	H06 (8bit)	H (8bit)	L (8bit)	H (8bit)	L (8bit)	L (8bit)	H (8bit)

#### Normal response (Response message)

1) Slave Address	2) Function	3) Registe	r Address	4) Pres	et Data	CRC Check	
(8bit)	H06 (8bit)	H (8bit)	L (8bit)	H (8bit)	L (8bit)	L (8bit)	H (8bit)

#### · Query message setting

Message	Setting Description
1)Slave Address	Set the address to which the message will be sent. Setting of address 0 enables broadcast communication
2)Function	Set H06.
3)RegisterAddress	Set the address of the holding register to which data will be written. Register address = holding register address (decimal) – 40001 For example, setting of register address 0001 writes data to the holding register address 40002.
4)Preset Data	Set the data that will be written to the holding register. The written data is fixed to 2 bytes.

#### · Description of normal response

1) to 4) (including CRC check) of the normal response are the same as those of the query message. No response is made for broadcast communication.

Example) To write 60Hz (H1770) to 40014 (running frequency RAM) at slave address 5 (H05).

Query message										
Slave Address	Function	Register Address		Preset	Data	CRC	CRC Check			
H05	H06	H00	H0D	H17	H70	H17	H99			
(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit) (8bit)		(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)			
			•	•		•	•			

Normal Response (Response message) Same data as the query message

#### CAUTION =

For broadcast communication, no response is returned in reply to a query. Therefore, the next query must be made when the inverter processing time has elapsed after the previous query.

#### • Function diagnosis (H08 or 08)

A communication check can be made since the query message sent is returned unchanged as a response message (function of subfunction code H00).

Subfunction code H00 (Return Query Data)

#### Query Message

1) Slave Address	2) Function	3) Subf	unction	4) C	)ate	CRC (	Check
(9hit)	H08	H00	H00	Н	L	L	Н
(ວມແ)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)

#### Normal Response (Response message)

1) Slave Address	2) Function	3) Subf	unction	4) C	Date	CRC (	Check
(9bit)	H08	H00	H00	Н	L	L	Н
(ວມແ)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)

#### · Query message setting

Message	Setting Description
1)Slave Address	Set the address to which the message will be sent. Broadcast communication cannot be made (0 is invalid).
2)Function	Set H08.
3)Subfunction	Set H0000.
4)Data	Any data can be set if it is 2 bytes long. The setting range is H0000 to HFFFF.

#### · Description of normal response

1) to 4) (including CRC check) of the normal response are the same as those of the query message.

#### 

For broadcast communication, no response is returned in reply to a query. Therefore, the next query must be made when the inverter processing time has elapsed after the previous query.

#### • Write multiple holding register data (H10 or 16)

You can write data to multiple holding registers.

#### Query message

1) Slave Address	2) Function	3) Starting Ac	Idress	4) N Regi	o. of sters	5) ByteCount		6) D	ata	CRC	Check
(8bit)	H10 (8bit)	H (8bit)	L (8bit)	H (8bit)	L (8bit)	(8bit)	H (8bit)	L (8bit)	 (n × 2 × 8bit)	L (8bit)	H (8bit)

Normal Response (Response message)

1) Slave Address	2) Function	3) Starting A	Address	4) No. of	Registers	CRC (	Check
(8bit)	H10	H	L	H	L	L	H
	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)

#### · Query message setting

Message	Setting Description
1)Slave Address	Set the address to which the message will be sent. Setting of address 0 enables broadcast communication.
2)Function	Set H10.
3)Starting Address	Set the address where holding register data write will be started. Starting address = starting register address (decimal) – 40001 For example, setting of the starting address 0001 reads the data of the holding register 40002.
4)No. of Points	Set the number of holding registers where data will be written. The number of registers where data can be written is a maximum of 125.
5)Byte Count	The setting range is H02 to HFA (0 to 250). Set a value twice greater than the value specified at 4).
6)Data	Set the data specified by the number specified at 4). The written data are set in order of Hi byte and Lo byte, and arranged in order of the starting address data, starting address + 1 data, starting address + 2 data

#### · Description of normal response

1) to 4) (including CRC check) of the normal response are the same as those of the query message.

Example) To write 0.5s (H05) to 41007 (Pr. 7) at the slave address 25 (H19) and 1s (H0A) to 41008 (Pr. 8).

Query Message

Query we	ssaye											
Slave Address	Function	Star Add	ting ress	No. of	Points	Byte Count		Da	ata		CRC (	Check
H19	H10	H03	HEE	H00	H02	H04	H00	H05	H00	H0A	H86	H3D
(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)
Response	message	(Respon	ise mes	sage)								
Slave Address	Function	Star Add	ting ress	No. of	Points	CRC	Check					
H19	H10	H03	HEE	H00	H02	H22	H61					
(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)					
				•		•						

#### • Read holding register access log (H46 or 70)

A response can be made to a query made by the function code H03 or H10.

The starting address of the holding registers that succeeded in access during previous communication and the number of successful registers are returned.

In response to the query for other than the above function code, 0 is returned for the address and number of registers.

Query Message

1) Slave Address	2) Function	CRC	Check
(8bit)	H46	L	H
	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)

Normal Response (Response message)

1) Slave Address	2) Function	3) Starting Address		Function         3) Starting Address         4) No. of Points		CRC Check	
(8bit)	H46	H	L	H	L	L	H
	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)

#### · Query message setting

Message	Setting Description
1)Slave Address	Set the address to which the message will be sent. Broadcast communication cannot be made (0 is invalid)
2)Function	Set H46.

#### · Description of normal response

Message	Setting Description
3)Starting Address	The starting address of the holding registers that succeeded in access is returned. Starting address = starting register address (decimal) – 40001 For example, when the starting address 0001 is returned, the address of the holding register that succeeded in access is 40002.
4)No. of Points	The number of holding registers that succeeded in access is returned.

Example) To read the successful register starting address and successful count from the slave address 25 (H19).

Query Message

Slave Address	Function	n CRC Check	
H19	H46	H8B	HD2
(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)

#### Normal Response (Response message)

Slave Address	Function	Starting	Address	No. of	Points	CRC	Check
H19	H10	H03	HEE	H00	H02	H22	H61
(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)	(8bit)

Success of two registers at starting address 41007 (Pr. 7) is returned.

#### Error response

An error response is returned if the query message received from the master has an illegal function, address or data. No response is returned for a parity, CRC, overrun, framing or busy error.

= CAUTION =

No response message is sent in the case of broadcast communication also.

#### Error response (Response message)

1) Slave Address 2) Function		3) Exception Code	CRC	Check
(8bit)	H80 + Function	(8bit)	L	Н
(0.000)	(8bit)	(000)	(8bit)	(8bit)

Message	Setting Description
1)Slave address	Set the address received from the master.
2)Function	The master-requested function code + H80 is set.
3)Exception code	The code in the following table is set.

#### Error code list

Code	Error Item	Error Definition
01	ILLEGAL FUNCTION (Function code illegal)	The set function code in the query message from the master cannot be handled by the slave.
02	ILLEGAL DATA ADDRESS •1 (Address illegal)	The set register address in the query message from the master cannot be handled by the inverter. (No parameter, parameter read disabled, parameter write disabled)
03	ILLEGAL DATA VALUE (Data illegal)	The set data in the query message from the master cannot be handled by the inverter. (Out of parameter write range, mode specified, other error)

\*1 An error will not occur in the following cases.

1) Function code H03 (Read Holding Register Data )

When the No. of Points is 1 or more and there is one or more holding registers from which data can be read 2) Function code H10 (Write Multiple Holding Register Data)

When the No. of Points is 1 or more and there is 1 or more holding registers to which data can be written

Namely, when the function code H03 or H10 is used to access multiple holding registers, an error will not occur if a non-existing holding register or read disabled or write disabled holding register is accessed.

#### REMARKS

An error will occur if all accessed holding registers do not exist.

Data read from a non-existing holding register is 0, and data written there is invalid.

#### · Message data mistake detection

To detect the mistakes of message data from the master, they are checked for the following errors. If an error is detected, a trip will not occur.

#### Error check item

Error Item	Error Definition	Inverter Side Operation
Parity error	The data received by the inverter differs from the specified parity ( <i>Pr. 334</i> setting).	
Framing error	The data received by the inverter differs from the specified stop bit length ( <i>Pr. 333</i> ).	
Overrun error	The following data was sent from the master before the inverter completes data receiving.	1) <i>Pr. 343</i> is increased by 1 at error occurrence.
Message frame error	The message frame data length is checked, and the received data length of less than 4 bytes is regarded as an error.	<ol> <li>The terminal LF is output at error occurrence.</li> </ol>
CRC check error	A mismatch found by CRC check between the message frame data and calculation result is regarded as an error.	

#### (6) Modbus registers

#### • System environment variable

Register	Definition	Read/Write	Remarks
40002	Inverter reset	Write	Any value can be written
40003	Parameter clear	Write	Set H965A as a written value.
40004	All parameter clear	Write	Set H99AA as a written value.
40006	Parameter clear *1	Write	Set H5A96 as a written value.
40007	All parameter clear *1	Write	Set HAA99 as a written value.
40009	Inverter status/control input instruction *2	Read/write	See below.
40010	Operation mode/inverter setting *3	Read/write	See below.
40014	Running frequency (RAM value)	Read/write	According to the <i>Pr. 37</i> and <i>Pr. 144</i> settings, the
40015	Running frequency (EEPROM value)	Write	increments.

\*1 The communication parameter values are not cleared.

\*2 For write, set the data as a control input instruction. For read, data is read as an inverter operating status.

\*3 For write, set data as the operation mode setting. For read, data is read as the operation mode status.

	<inverter control="" inp<="" status="" th=""><th><operati< th=""><th>on mode/inv</th><th>erter setting&gt;</th></operati<></th></inverter>	<operati< th=""><th>on mode/inv</th><th>erter setting&gt;</th></operati<>	on mode/inv	erter setting>	
Dit	Defini	tion	Mada	Read	Written
ы	Control input instruction	Inverter status	wode	Value	Value
0	Stop command	RUN (inverter running) *2	EXT	H0000	H0010
1	Forward rotation command	Forward rotation	PU	H0001	
2	Reverse rotation command	Reverse rotation	EXT	110000	
3	RH (high speed operation command) *1	SU (up to frequency) *2	JOG	H0002	
4	RM (middle speed operation command) *1	OL (overload) *2	PU		
5	RL (low speed operation command) *1	IPF (instantaneous power failure) *2	JOG	H0003	—
6	JOG (Jog operation) *1	FU (frequency detection) *2	NET	H0004	H0014
7	RT (second function selection) *1	ABC1 (alarm) *2		110004	110014
8	AU (current input selection) *1	ABC2 (—) *2	EVT	H0005	—
9	CS (selection of automatic restart after	0	The restr	ictions deper	iding on the
	instantaneous power failure) *1		operation	, mode chanc	les according
10	MRS (output stop) *1	0	to the co	mputer link si	pecifications.
11	STOP (start self-holding) *1	0			
12	RES (reset) *1	0			
13	0	0			
14	0	0			
15	0	Fault occurrence			

\*1 The signal within parentheses is the initial setting. The description changes depending on the setting of Pr. 180 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) (page 206).

Each assigned signal is valid or invalid depending on NET. (Refer to page 292)

The signal within parentheses is the initial setting. The description changes depending on the setting of Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output \*2 terminal function selection) (page 214).

#### • Real-time monitor Refer to *page 228* for details of the monitor description.

Register	Definition	Increments	Register	r I	Definitio	on	Increme	nts	Regist	er	Defi	nition	In	crements
40201	Output frequency	0.01Hz	40216	Outpu	ut termir	nal	_		40251		Cumulati	ve saving	a v	ariable
40202	Output current	0.01A		status	S*2					_	power			<b>a</b>
40203	Output voltage	0.1V	40217	Load	meter		0.1%		40252	2	PID set p	oint		0.1%
40205	Frequency setting	0.01Hz	40218	Moto	r excitat	ion	0.01A	λ.	40253	3	PID mea	sured		0.1%
40206	Running speed	1r/min	40040	Desiti					4005/	_				0.40/
40207	Motor torque	0.1%	40219	Positi	ion puis	e			40254	ŀ	PID devia	ation valu	le	0.1%
40208	Converter output	0.1V	40220	Cumu	ulative gization	time	1h		40258		Option in terminal :	put status1 ∗₃	i	—
	Electronic thermal		40222	Orien	ntation st	tatus			40259	)	Option in	put		_
40210	relay function load	0.1%	40223	Actua time	time 1h		40000		terminal status2 *4					
	Output current neak		40224	Moto	Motor load factor		0.1%	,	40260		terminal s	status ∗₅		
40211	value	0.01A	40225	Cum	ulative p	ower	1kWh	ı						
40212	Converter output	0 1V	40226	Torqu	le comm	nand	0.1%	,						
40212	voltage peak value	0.10	40227	Torqu	le currei	nt	0.1%							
40213	Input power	0.01kW	40227	comn	nand		0.170	'						
40214	Output power	0.01kW	40228	Motor	r output		0.01							
40215	Input terminal		40229	Feed	back pu	lse								
10210	status *1		40250	Powe	er saving	g effect	Variab	le						
Input ten b15	Input terminal monitor details b15 b0													
		CS	RES S	STOP	MRS	JOG	RH	R	M R	L	RT	AU	STR	STF
Output te	erminal monitor details													
b15														b0
			_		—		ABC2	AB	C1 F	U	OL	IPF	SU	RUN
Details o	Details of option input terminal monitor 1 (input terminal status of FR-A7AX)-all terminals are off when an option is not fitted													

b15 b0 X15 X14 X13 X12 X11 X10 X9 X8 X7 X6 X5 X4 Х3 X2 X1 X0 Details of option input terminal monitor 2 (input terminal status of FR-A7AX)-all terminals are off when an option is not fitted \*4 b0 b15 DY \_ \_\_\_\_ \_ \_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_ \*5 Details of option input terminal monitor (output terminal status of FR-A7AY/A7AR)-all terminals are off when an option is not fitted b0 b15 RA3 RA2 RA1 Y1 Y6 Y5 Y4 Y3 Y0 \_\_\_\_ Y2 \_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_ \_\_\_\_

#### • Parameter

Parameters	Register	Parameter Name	Read/Write	Remarks
0 to 999	41000 to 41999	Refer to the parameter list ( <i>page 55</i> ) for the parameter names.	Read/write	The parameter number + 41000 is the register number.
C2(902)	41902	Terminal 2 frequency setting bias (frequency)	Read/write	
C3(902)	42092	Terminal 2 frequency setting bias (analog value)	Read/write	The analog value (%) set to <i>C3 (902)</i> is read.
00(002)	43902	Terminal 2 frequency setting bias (terminal analog value)	Read	The analog value (%) of the voltage (current) applied to the terminal 2 is read.
125(903)	41903	Terminal 2 frequency setting gain (frequency)	Read/write	
C4/903)	42093	Terminal 2 frequency setting gain (analog value)	Read/write	The analog value (%) set to <i>C4 (903)</i> is read.
04(303)	43903	Terminal 2 frequency setting gain (terminal analog value)	Read	The analog value (%) of the voltage (current) applied to the terminal 2 is read.
C5(904)	41904	Terminal 4 frequency setting bias (frequency)	Read/write	
C6(904)	42094	Terminal 4 frequency setting bias (analog value)	Read/write	The analog value (%) set to <i>C6</i> (904) is read.
	43904	Terminal 4 frequency setting bias (terminal analog value)	Read	The analog value (%) of the current (voltage) applied to the terminal 4 is read.
126(905)	41905	Terminal 4 frequency setting gain (frequency)	Read/write	
C7(905)	42095 Terminal 4 frequency setting gain (analog value)		Read/write	The analog value (%) set to <i>C7 (905)</i> is read.
	43905 Terminal 4 frequency setting gain (terminal analog value)		Read	The analog value (%) of the current (voltage) applied to the terminal 4 is read.
C12(917)	41917	Terminal 1 bias frequency (speed)	Read/write	
	42107	Terminal 1 bias (speed)	Read/write	Analog value (%) set in C13 (917) is read.
C13(917)	43917	Terminal 1 bias (speed) (terminal analog value)	Read	Analog value (%) of the voltage applied to terminal 1 is read.
C14(918)	41918	Terminal 1 gain frequency (speed)	Read/write	
	42108	Terminal 1 gain (speed)	Read/write	Analog value (%) set in C15 (918) is read.
C15(918)	43918	Terminal 1 gain (speed) (terminal analog value)	Read	Analog value (%) of the voltage applied to terminal 1 is read.
C16(919)	41919	Terminal 1 bias command (torque/ magnetic flux)	Read/write	
	42109	Terminal 1 bias (torque/magnetic flux)	Read/write	Analog value (%) set in C17 (919) is read.
C17(919)	43919	Terminal 1 bias (torque/magnetic flux) (terminal analog value)	Read	Analog value (%) of the voltage applied to terminal 1 is read.
C18(920)	41920	Terminal 1 gain command (torque/ magnetic flux)	Read/write	
	42110	Terminal 1 gain (torque/magnetic flux)	Read/write	Analog value (%) set in C19 (920) is read.
C19(920)	43920	Terminal 1 gain (torque/magnetic flux) (terminal analog value)	Read	Analog value (%) of the voltage applied to terminal 1 is read.
C38(932)	41932	Terminal 4 bias command (torque/ magnetic flux)	Read/write	
	42122 Terminal 4 bias (torque/magnetic flux)		Read/write	Analog value (%) set in C39 (932) is read.
C39(932)	<b>39(932)</b> 43932 Terminal 4 bias (torque/magnetic flux) (terminal analog value)		Read	Analog value (%) of the current (voltage) applied to terminal 4 is read.
C40(933)	41933	Terminal 4 gain command (torque/ magnetic flux)	Read/write	
	42123	Terminal 4 gain (torque/magnetic flux)	Read/write	Analog value (%) set in C41 (933) is read.
C41(933)	43933	<b>3933</b> Terminal 4 gain (torque/magnetic flux) (terminal analog value)		Analog value (%) of the current (voltage) applied to terminal 4 is read.



#### Alarm history

Register	Definition	Read/Write	Remarks
40501	Fault history 1	Read/write	
40502	Fault history 2	Read	
40503	Fault history 3	Read	Being 2 bytes in length, the data is stored as
40504	Fault history 4	Read	"H00OO". The error code can be referred to in
40505	Fault history 5	Read	Performing write using the register 40501 batch-
40506	Fault history 6	Read	clears the faults history. Set any value as data.
40507	Fault history 7	Read	
40508	Fault history 8	Read	

#### Fault code list

Data	Description	Data	Description	Data	Description	Data	Description
H00	No alarm	H80	E.GF	HC5	E.IOH	HDC	E.EP
H10	E.OC1	H81	E.LF	HC6	E.SER	HF1	E.1
H11	E.OC2	H90	E.OHT	HC7	E.AIE	HF2	E.2
H12	E.OC3	H91	E.PTC	HD0	E.OS	HF3	E.3
H20	E.OV1	HA0	E.OPT	HD1	E.OSD	HF4	E.4
H21	E.OV2	HA3	E.OP3	HD2	E.ECT	HF6	E.6
H22	E.OV3	HB0	E.PE	HD3	E.OD	HF7	E.7
H30	E.THT	HB1	E.PUE	HD5	E.MB1	HF8	E.8
H31	E.THM	HB2	E.RET	HD6	E.MB2	HFA	E.10
H40	E.FIN	HB3	E.PE2	HD7	E.MB3	HFB	E.11
H50	E.IPF	HC0	E.CPU	HD8	E.MB4	HFD	E.13
H51	E.UVT	HC1	E.CTE	HD9	E.MB5	HFF	E.15
H52	E.ILF	HC2	E.P24	HDA	E.MB6		·
H60	E.OLT	HC4	E.CDO	HDB	E.MB7		

\* Refer to page 373 for details of alarm definition.

#### (7) Pr. 343 Communication error count

You can check the cumulative number of communication errors.

Parameters	Setting Range	Minimum Setting Range	Initial Value
343	(Read only)	1	0
	ON	·	

The number of communication errors is temporarily stored into the RAM. As it is not stored into the EEPROM, performing a power supply reset or inverter reset clears the value to 0.

## (8) Output signal LF "alarm output (communication error warnings)"

During a communication error, the alarm signal (LF signal) is output by open collector output. Assign the used terminal using any of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)*.



#### = CAUTION

The LF signal can be assigned to the output terminal using any of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196*. When terminal assignment is changed, the other functions may be affected. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

## (9) Signal loss detection (Pr. 539 Modbus-RTU communication check time interval)

If a signal loss (communication stop) is detected between the inverter and master as a result of a signal loss detection, a communication fault (E.SER) occurs and the inverter trips.

- · When the setting is "9999", communication check (signal loss detection) is not made.
- When the setting value is "0", monitor, parameter read, etc. can be performed. However, a communication fault (E.SER) occurs as soon as the inverter is switched to the network operation mode.
- A signal loss detection is made when the setting is any of "0.1s to 999.8s". To make a signal loss detection, it is necessary to send data from the master within the communication check time interval. (The inverter makes communication check (clearing of communication check counter) regardless of the station number setting of the data sent from the master.)
- Communication check is started from the first communication after switching to the network operation mode (use *Pr. 551 PU mode operation command source selection* to change).
- · Communication check time of query communication includes data absence time (3.5 byte).
- Since this data absence time differs according to the communication speed, make setting considering this absence time.



## 4.25 Special operation and frequency control

Purpose	Parameter that must be Set				
Perform process control such as pump and air volume.	PID control	Pr. 127 to Pr. 134, Pr. 575 to Pr. 577	329		
Switch between the inverter operation and bypass operation to operate.	Bypass-inverter switchover function	Pr. 135 to Pr. 139, Pr. 159	337		
Increase speed when the load is light.	Load torque high speed frequency control	Pr. 4, Pr. 5, Pr. 270 to Pr. 274	342		
Frequency control appropriate for the load torque	Droop control	Pr. 286 to Pr. 288	344		
Frequency setting by pulse train input	Pulse train input	Pr. 291, Pr. 384 to Pr. 386	346		
Make the motor speed constant by encoder	Encoder feedback control	Pr. 144, Pr. 285, Pr. 359, Pr. 367 to Pr. 369	349		
Avoid overvoltage alarm due to regeneration by automatic adjustment of output frequency	Regeneration avoidance function	Pr. 882 to Pr. 886	351		

## 4.25.1 PID control (Pr. 127 to Pr. 134, Pr. 575 to Pr. 577)

The inverter can be used to exercise process control, e.g. flow rate, air volume or pressure. The terminal 2 input signal or parameter setting is used as a set point and the terminal 4 input signal used as a feedback value to constitute a feedback system for PID control.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description			
127	PID control automatic	9999	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency at which the control is automatically changed to PID control.			
	switchover nequency		9999	Without PID automa	atic switchover function		
			10	PID reverse action	Deviation value signal input		
			11	PID forward action	(terminal 1)		
			20	PID reverse action	Measured value (terminal 4)		
128	PID action soluction	10	21	PID forward action	Set point (terminal 2 or Pr. 133)		
120		10	50	PID reverse action	Deviation value signal input		
			51	PID forward action	(LONWORKS, CC-Link communication)		
			60	PID reverse action	Measured value, set point input		
			61	PID forward action	(LONWORKS, CC-Link communication)		
129 <b>*</b> 1	PID proportional band	100%	0.1 to 1000%	If the proportional band is narrow (parameter setting is small the manipulated variable varies greatly with a slight change of the measured value. Hence, as the proportional band narrows the response sensitivity (gain) improves but the stabilit deteriorates, e.g. hunting occurs. Gain Kn = 1/proportional band			
			9999	No proportional control			
130 *1	PID integral time	1s	0.1 to 3600s	For deviation step input, time (Ti) required for only the integ (I) action to provide the same manipulated variable as that f the proportional (P) action. As the integral time decreases, set point is reached earlier but hunting occurs more easily.			
			9999	No integral control			
131	PID upper limit	9999	0 to 100%	Set the maximum value. If the feedback value exceeds the setting, the FUP signal is output. The maximum input (20mA 5V/10V) of the measured value (terminal 4) is equivalent to 100%.			
			9999	No function			
132	PID lower limit	9999	0 to 100%	Set the minimum value. If the measured value falls below setting range, the FDN signal is output. The maximum (20mA/5V/10V) of the measured value (terminal 4) is equivalent to 100%.			
			9999	No function			
122 *1	PID action sot point	0000	0 to 100%	Used to set the set point for PID control.			
133 "1	Fib action set point	9999	9999	Terminal 2 input is the set point.			

## Special operation and frequency control

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
<b>134</b> ∗1	PID differential time	PID differential time 9999 10.00s differential time increases, greater respondeviation change.		For deviation ramp input, time (Td) required for providing only the manipulated variable for the proportional (P) action. As the differential time increases, greater response is made to a deviation change.
			9999	No differential control
575	Output interruption detection time	1s	0 to 3600s	The inverter stops operation if the output frequency after PID operation remains at less than the <i>Pr. 576</i> setting for longer than the time set in <i>Pr. 575</i> .
			9999	Without output interruption function
576	Output interruption detection level	0Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency at which the output interruption processing is performed.
577	Output interruption cancel level	1000%	900 to 1100%	Set the level ( <i>Pr. 577</i> minus 1000%) at which the PID output interruption function is canceled.

\*1 Pr. 129, Pr. 130, Pr. 133 and Pr. 134 can be set during operation. They can also be set independently of the operation mode.

## (1) PID control basic configuration

·Pr: 128 = "10, 11" (Deviation value signal input)



\* Set 0 in Pr. 868 Terminal 1 function assignment. PID control is invalid when Pr.  $868 \neq 0$ .

#### ·Pr. 128 = "20, 21" (Measured value input)



\*1 Note that terminal 1 input is added to the set point of terminal 2 input.

\*2 Set 0 in *Pr.* 858 Terminal 4 function assignment. PID control is invalid when *Pr.*  $858 \neq 0$ .

## (2) PID action overview

1) PI action

A combination of P action (P) and I action (I) for providing a manipulated variable in response to deviation and changes with time.

[Operation example for stepped changes of measured value]

(Note) PI action is the sum of P and I actions.





A combination of P action (P) and differential control action (D) for providing a manipulated variable in response to deviation speed to improve the transient characteristic.

[Operation example for proportional changes of measured value]

(Note) PD action is the sum of P and D actions.



3) PID action

The PI action and PD action are combined to utilize the advantages of both actions for control.

(Note) PID action is the sum of P, I and D actions.



#### 4)Reverse action

Increases the manipulated variable (output frequency) if deviation X = (set point - measured value) is positive, and decreases the manipulated variable if deviation is negative.



#### 5)Forward action

Increases the manipulated variable (output frequency) if deviation X = (set point - measured value) is negative, and decreases the manipulated variable if deviation is positive.



Relationships between deviation and manipulated variable (output frequency)

$\sim$	Deviation				
	Positive	Negative			
Reverse action	Я	И			
Forward action	ĸ	я			

## (3) Connection diagram

#### · Sink logic

- · Pr: 183 = 14
- · Pr. 191 = 47
- · Pr. 192 = 16
- · Pr: 193 = 14
- · Pr: 194 = 15



- \*1 The power supply must be selected in accordance with the power specifications of the detector used.
- \*2 The used output signal terminal changes depending on the Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal selection) setting.
- \*3 The used input signal terminal changes depending on the Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal selection) setting.

\*4 The AU signal need not be input.

Special operation and frequency control

## (4) I/O signals and parameter setting

- Turn on the X14 signal to perform PID control. When this signal is off, PID action is not performed and normal inverter operation is performed. (Note that it is not necessary to turn on X14 signal when performing PID control with using LONWORKS or CC-Link communication.)
- Enter the set point across inverter terminals 2-5 or into *Pr*: *133* and enter the measured value signal across inverter terminals 4-5. At this time, set "20" or "21" in *Pr*: *128*.
- When entering the externally calculated deviation signal, enter it across terminals 1-5. At this time, set "10" or "11" in *Pr. 128*.

	Signal	Terminal Used	Function	Description	Parameter Setting
	X14		PID control selection	Turn on X14 to perform PID control.	Set 14 in any of Pr. 178 to Pr. 189.
Input	X64	X64Depending on Pr. 178 to Pr. 189PID forward/ reverse action 		Set 64 in any of Pr: 178 to Pr: 189.	
				Enter the set point for PID control.	<i>Pr. 128</i> = 20, 21, <i>Pr. 133</i> = 9999
	2	2	Set point input		$Pr. 75 = 1 \times 1, 5, 5, 11, 15, 15$
				0 to 20mA 0 to 100%	$\begin{array}{c} Pr. \ 73 = 0, \ 2, \ 4, \ 10, \ 12, \ 14 \\ \hline Pr. \ 73 = 6, \ 7, \ 16, \ 17 \end{array}$
	PU		Set point input	Set the set value ( <i>Pr. 133</i> ) from the operation panel or parameter unit.	<i>Pr. 128</i> = 20, 21, <i>Pr. 133</i> = 0 to 100%
		4	Deviation signal	Input the deviation signal calculated externally.	<i>Pr. 128</i> = 10 ·1, 11
	.I	1	input	-5V to +5V100% to +100%	<i>Pr</i> : <i>73</i> = 2, 3, 5, 7, 12, 13, 15, 17
				-10V to +10V100% to +100%	<i>Pr</i> : 73 = 0, 1 *1, 4, 6, 10, 11, 14, 16
	4	4	Measured value input	Input the signal from the detector (measured value signal).	<i>Pr. 128</i> <b>= 20</b> , <b>21</b>
				4 to 20mA.0 to 100%	<i>Pr. 267</i> = 0 *1
				0 to 5V0 to 100%	<i>Pr.</i> 267 = 1
				0 to 10V0 to 100%	<i>Pr.</i> 267 = 2
	Communi- cation		Deviation value input	Input the deviation value from LONWORKS, CC-Link communication.	<i>Pr. 128</i> <b>= 50</b> , <b>51</b>
			Set value, measured value input	Input the set value and measured value from LONWORKS , CC-Link communication.	<i>Pr. 128</i> <b>= 60</b> , <b>61</b>
	FUP U		Upper limit output	Output to indicate that the measured value signal exceeded the maximum	<i>Pr. 128</i> <b>= 20, 21, 60, 61</b> <i>Pr. 131</i> ≠ <b>9999</b>
		_		value (Pr. 131).	Set 15 or 115 in any of <i>Pr. 190 to Pr. 196.</i> *3
	FDN		Lower limit output	Output when the measured value signal falls below the minimum value ( <i>Pr. 132</i> ).	<i>Pr. 128</i> = 20, 21, 60, 61 <i>Pr. 132</i> $\neq$ 9999 Set 14 or 114 in any of <i>Pr. 190 to Pr. 196</i> *3
Output	RL	Depending on Pr. 190 to Pr. 196	Forward (reverse) rotation direction output	"Hi" is output to indicate that the output indication of the parameter unit is forward rotation (FWD) or "Low" to indicate that it is reverse rotation (REV) or stop (STOP).	Set 16 or 116 in any of <i>Pr. 190 to Pr.</i> <i>196.</i> •3
	PID		During PID control activated	Turns on during PID control.	Set 47 or 147 in any of <i>Pr. 190 to Pr.</i> <i>196.</i> *3
	SLEEP		PID output interruption	Turns on when the PID output interruption function is performed.	<i>Pr</i> : 575 ≠ 9999 Set 70 or 170 in any of <i>Pr</i> : 190 to <i>Pr</i> : 196. *3
	SE	SE	Output terminal common	Common terminal for terminals FUP, FDN, RL, PID and SLEEP	

\*1 The shaded area indicates the parameter initial value.

\*2 For the setting method via LONWORKS communication, refer to the LONWORKS communication option (FR-A7NL) instruction manual. For the setting method via CC-Link communication, refer to the CC-Link communication option (FR-A7NC) instruction manual.

\*3 When 100 or larger value is set in any of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)*, the terminal output has negative logic. (*Refer to page 214 for details*)

#### = CAUTION =

• Changing the terminal function using any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189, Pr. 190 to Pr. 196* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

• When the *Pr. 73* and *Pr. 267* settings were changed, check the voltage/current input switch setting. Different setting may cause a fault, failure or malfunction. (*Refer to page 259* for setting.)

## (5) PID control automatic switchover control (Pr. 127)

- · The inverter can be started up without PID control mode only at a start.
- When the frequency is set to *Pr. 127 PID control automatic switchover frequency* within the range 0 to 400Hz, the system starts up without PID operation from a start until *Pr. 127* is reached, and then it shifts to PID control operation mode. Once the system has entered PID control operation, it continues PID control if the output frequency falls to or below *Pr. 127*.



#### (6) PID output suspension function (SLEEP function) (SLEEP signal, Pr. 575 to Pr. 577)

- The inverter stops operation if the output frequency after PID operation remains at less than the *Pr. 576 Output interruption detection level* setting for longer than the time set in *Pr. 575 Output interruption detection time*. This function can reduce energy consumption in the low-efficiency, low-speed range.
- When the deviation (= set value measured value) reaches the PID output shutoff cancel level (*Pr. 577* setting 1000%) while the PID output interruption function is on, the PID output interruption function is canceled and PID control operation is resumed automatically.
- While the PID output interruption function is on, the PID output interruption signal (SLEEP) is output. At this time, the inverter running signal (RUN) is off and the PID control operating signal (PID) is on.



## (7) PID monitor function

- The PID control set point, measured value and deviation value can be displayed on the operation panel and output from terminal FM, AM.
- The deviation monitor can display a negative value on the assumption that 1000 is 0%. (The deviation monitor cannot be output from the terminal FM, AM.)
- For the monitors, set the following values in *Pr. 52 DU/PU main display data selection*, *Pr. 54 FM terminal function selection*, and *Pr. 158 AM terminal function selection*.

Setting	Monitor Description	Minimum Increments	Terminal FM, AM Full Scale	Remarks
52	PID set point	0.1%	100%	For deviation input ( <i>Pr. 128</i> = 10, 11), the monitor
53	PID measurement value	0.1%	100%	value is always displayed as 0.
54 PID deviation value		0.1%	_	Value cannot be set to <i>Pr. 54</i> or <i>Pr. 158</i> . The PID deviation value of 0% is displayed as 1000.

## (8) Adjustment procedure



#### (9) Calibration example

(A detector of 4mA at  $0^{\circ}$ C and 20mA at  $50^{\circ}$ C is used to adjust the room temperature to  $25^{\circ}$ C under PID control. The set point is given to across inverter terminals 2-5 (0 to 5V).)



Make calibration in the PU mode during an inverter stop.

## <Set point input calibration>

1. Apply the input voltage of 0% set point setting (e.g. 0V) across terminals 2-5.

2. Enter in C2 (Pr. 902) the frequency which should be output by the inverter at the deviation of 0% (e.g. 0Hz).

3. In C3 (Pr. 902), set the voltage value at 0%.

4. Apply the voltage of 100% set point (e.g. 5V) to across terminals 2-5.

5. Enter in Pr. 125 the frequency which should be output by the inverter at the deviation of 100% (e.g. 60Hz).

6. In *C4 (Pr. 903)*, set the voltage value at 100%.

#### <Measured value calibration>

- 1. Apply the input current of 0% measured value (e.g. 4mA) across terminals 4-5.
- 2. Make calibration using C6 (Pr. 904).
- 3. Apply the input current of 100% measured value (e.g. 20mA) across terminals 4-5.
- 4. Make calibration using C7 (Pr. 905).

#### REMARKS

• The frequency set in C5 (Pr. 904) and Pr. 126 should be the same as set in C2 (Pr. 902) and Pr. 125.

The results of the above calibration are as shown below:



#### ----- CAUTION =

- If the multi-speed (RH, RM, RL signal) or jog operation (jog signal) is entered with the X14 signal on, PID control is stopped and multi-speed or jog operation is started.
- If the setting is as follows, PID control becomes invalid.
- *Pr.* 79 Operation mode selection = "6" (switchover mode)
- When the *Pr. 128* setting is "20" or "21", note that the input across inverter terminals 1-5 is added to the set value across terminals 2-5.
- When using terminal 4 (measured value input) and terminal 1 (deviation input) under PID control, set "0" (initial value) in *Pr: 858 Terminal 4 function assignment* and "0" (initial value) in *Pr: 868 Terminal 1 function assignment*. PID control can not be performed when a value other than 0 is set.
- Changing the terminal function using any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189, Pr. 190 to Pr. 196* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.
- When PID control is selected, the minimum frequency is the frequency set in *Pr. 902* and the maximum frequency is the frequency set in *Pr. 903*. (*Pr. 1 Maximum frequency* and *Pr. 2 Minimum frequency* settings are also valid.)
- · The remote operation function is invalid during PID operation.
- When the control is switched to PID control during normal operation, the frequency command value calculated by PID operation using 0Hz as standard is used without the frequency during the operation.



Operation when control is switched to PID control during normal operation

#### + Parameters referred to + -

Pr. 59 Remote function selection I Refer to page 152

Pr. 73 Analog input selection I Refer to page 259

Pr. 79 Operation mode selection IP Refer to page 283

Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) IF Refer to page 206

Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection) Refer to page 214

C2 (Pr. 902) to C7 (Pr. 905) Frequency setting voltage (current) bias/gain I Refer to page 267

## 4.25.2 Bypass-inverter switchover function (Pr. 57, Pr. 58, Pr. 135 to Pr. 139, Pr. 159)

The complicated sequence circuit for bypass operation is built in the inverter. Hence, merely inputting the start, stop or automatic switchover selection signal facilitates the interlock operation of the switchover magnetic contactor.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description		
57	Postort coasting time	0000	0	<ul> <li>5.5K, 7.5K</li></ul>		
57	Restart coasting time	9999	0.1 to 5s	Set the waiting time for inverter-triggered restart after an instantaneous power failure.		
			9999	No restart		
58	Restart cushion time	1s	0 to 60s	Set a voltage starting time at restart.		
135	Electronic bypass	0	0	Without electronic bypass sequence		
135	sequence selection	Ŭ	1	With electronic bypass sequence		
136	136 MC switchover interlock time		0 to 100s	Set the operation interlock time of MC2 and MC3.		
137	Start waiting time		0 to 100s	Set the time slightly longer (0.3 to 0.5s or so) than the time from when the ON signal enters MC3 until it actually turns on.		
			0	Inverter output is stopped (motor coast) at inverter fault.		
138	Bypass selection at a fault	0	1	Operation is automatically switched to bypass operation at inverter fault (Not switched when an external thermal relay operation (E.OHT) or CPU error (E.CPU) occurs).		
139	Automatic switchover frequency from inverter to bypass operation Automatic switchover frequency range from bypass to inverter	9999	0 to 60Hz	Set the frequency to switch inverter operation to bypass operation. Inverter operation is performed from a start until <i>Pr. 139</i> is reached, and when the output frequency is at or above <i>Pr. 139</i> , inverter operation is automatically switched to bypass operation.		
			9999	Without automatic switchover		
159			0 to 10Hz	Valid during automatic switchover operation ( <i>Pr</i> : $139 \neq 9999$ ) When the frequency command decreases below ( <i>Pr</i> : $139 - Pr$ : $159$ ) after operation is switched from inverter operation to bypass operation, the inverter automatically switches operation to inverter operation and operates at the frequency of frequency command. When the inverter start command (STF/STR) is turned off, operation is switched to inverter operation also.		
	operation		9999	No restartSet a voltage starting time at restart.Without electronic bypass sequenceWith electronic bypass sequenceSet the operation interlock time of MC2 and MC3.Set the time slightly longer (0.3 to 0.5s or so) than the time i when the ON signal enters MC3 until it actually turns on.Inverter output is stopped (motor coast) at inverter fault.Operation is automatically switched to bypass operation inverter fault (Not switched when an external thermal rel operation (E.OHT) or CPU error (E.CPU) occurs).Set the frequency to switch inverter operation to bypass operation. Inverter operation is performed from a start until <i>Pr. 139</i> i reached, and when the output frequency is at or above <i>I</i> <i>139</i> , inverter operation is automatically switched to bypas operation.Without automatic switchoverValid during automatic switchover operation ( <i>Pr. 139</i> $\neq$ 99 When the frequency command decreases below ( <i>Pr. 139</i> <i>Pr. 159</i> ) after operation is switched from inverter operation bypass operation, the inverter automatically switches operation to inverter operation and operates at the frequency of frequency command. When the inverter star command (STF/STR) is turned off, operation is switched inverter operation is switched from inverter operation of after operation is switched from inverter operation to byp operation, operation is switched to inverter operation of portion is switched to inverter operation of portion is switched to inverter operation of the motor decelerates to stop.		

 When the motor is operated at 60Hz (or 50Hz), more efficient operation can be performed by the commercial power supply than by the inverter. When the motor cannot be stopped for a long time for the maintenance/inspection of the inverter, it is recommended to provide the commercial power supply circuit.

 To switch between inverter operation and bypass operation, an interlock must be provided to stop the motor once and then start it by the inverter in order to prevent the inverter from resulting in an overcurrent alarm. Using the electronic bypass sequence function that outputs the timing signal for operation of the magnetic contactor, a complicated commercial power supply switchover interlock can be provided by the inverter.

#### = CAUTION =

Commercial operation can not be performed with the Mitsubishi vector motor (SF-V5RU).

## (1) Connection diagram

• The following shows the connection diagram of a typical electronic bypass sequence. Sink logic, *Pr. 185* = "7", *Pr. 192* = "17", *Pr. 193* = "18", *Pr. 194* = "19"



Electronic bypass sequence connection diagram

\*1 Take caution for the capacity of the sequence output terminal. The used terminal changes depending on the setting of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)*.

Output Terminal Capacity	Output Terminal Permissble Load
Inverter open collector output (RUN, SU, IPF, OL, FU)	24VDC 0.1A
Inverter relay output (A1-C1, B1- C1, A2-B2, B2-C2) Relay output option (FR-A7AR)	230VAC 0.3A 30VDC 0.3A

- \*2 When connecting a DC power supply, insert a protective diode. When connecting an AC power supply, connect a relay output option (FR-A7AR) and use a contact output.
- \*3 The used terminal changes depending on the setting of *Pr. 180 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection).*

#### - CAUTION

- Use the bypass operation function in external operation mode. Be sure to connect the other power supply since the function is not performed normally unless the connection terminals R1/L11, S1/L21 are not connected to the other power supply (power supply that does not pass MC1).
- · Be sure to provide mechanical interlocks for MC2 and MC3.
- · Operations of magnetic contactors (MC1, MC2, MC3)

Magnetic		Operation (O: Shorted, ×: Open)				
Contactor	Installation Place	Bypass operation	During inverter operation	At an inverter fault occurrence		
MC1	Between power supply and inverter input	0	0	$^{ imes}$ (Shorted by reset)		
MC2	Between power supply and motor	0	×	× (Can be selected using <i>Pr. 138</i> , always open when external thermal relay is on)		
MC3	Between inverter output and motor	×	0	Х		



#### · The input signals are as indicated below.

Signal	Torminal Usod	Eurotion	Operation	MC Operation *6		
Signal	Terminal Osed	T unction	Operation	MC1 *5	MC2	MC3
MPS	MDS	Operation enable/disable	ONBypass-inverter operation enabled	0	_	_
MRS	MIKO	selection *1	OFF Bypass-inverter operation disabled	0	×	No change
69	68	Inverter/hypace	ON Inverter operation	0	×	0
65	0.5	invertenbypass 2	OFF Bypass operation	0	0	×
STF	STF(STR)	Inverter operation command	ON Forward rotation (reverse rotation)	0	×	0
(311)		(Invalid for bypass) *3	OFF Stop	0	×	0
	Set "7" in any of		ON Motor normal	0	_	
ОП	Pr. 180 to Pr. 189.	External thermal relay input	OFF Motor abnormal	×	×	×
RES	RES	Operating status initialization	ON Initialization	No change	×	No change
		*	OFF Normal operation	0		

\*1 Unless the MRS signal is turned on, neither bypass operation nor inverter operation can be performed.

\*2 The CS signal functions only when the MRS signal is on.

\*3 STF (STR) functions only when both the MRS signal and CS signal are on.

\*4 The RES signal enables reset input acceptance selection using Pr. 75 Reset selection/disconnected PU detection/PU stop selection.

\*5 MC1 turns off when an inverter fault occurs.

\*6 MC operation

Ο

: MC-ON : MC-OFF ×

: Inverter operation.....MC2 is off and MC3 is on

Bypass operation ......MC2 is on and MC3 is off

No change : The status before the signal turns on or off is held.

· The output signals are as indicated below.

Signal	Terminal Used (Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 setting)	Description
MC1	17	Control signal output of inverter input side magnetic contactor MC1
MC2	18	Control signal output of bypass operation magnetic contactor MC2
MC3	19	Control signal output of inverter output side magnetic contactor MC3

## (2) Electronic bypass operation sequence

• Operation sequence example when there is no automatic switchover sequence (Pr. 139 = "9999")



· Operation sequence example when there is automatic switchover sequence (*Pr. 139*  $\neq$  "9999", *Pr. 159* = "9999")







## (3) Operating procedure

## 1)Procedure for operation

#### Operation pattern



2)Signal ON/OFF after parameter setting

- Pr. 135 = "1" (open collector output terminal of inverter)
  Pr. 136 = "2.0s"
- *Pr*: *137* = "1.0s" (Set the time longer than the time from when MC3 actually turns on until the inverter and motor are connected. If the time is short, a restart may not function properly.)
- *Pr*: 57 = "0.5s"
- *Pr*: 58 = "0.5s" (Be sure to set this parameter when bypass operation is switched to inverter operation.)

	MRS	CS	STF	MC1	MC2	MC3	Remarks
Power supply ON	OFF (OFF)	OFF (OFF)	OFF (OFF)	$\begin{array}{c} OFF \to ON \\ (OFF \to ON) \end{array}$	OFF (OFF)	$\begin{array}{c} OFF \rightarrow ON \\ (OFF \rightarrow ON) \end{array}$	External operation mode (PU operation mode)
At start (inverter)	$OFF\toON$	$OFF\toON$	$OFF\toON$	ON	OFF	ON	
At constant speed (commercial power supply)	ON	$ON \rightarrow OFF$	ON	ON	$OFF \to ON$	$ON \rightarrow OFF$	MC2 turns on after MC3 turns off (coasting status during this period) Waiting time 2s
Switched to inverter for deceleration (inverter)	ON	$OFF \to ON$	ON	ON	$ON \rightarrow OFF$	$OFF \to ON$	MC3 turns on after MC2 turns off (coasting status during this period) Waiting time 4s
Stop	ON	ON	$ON \rightarrow OFF$	ON	OFF	ON	

#### 

- Connect the control power supply (R1/L11, S1/L21) in front of input side MC1. If the control power supply is connected behind input side MC1, the electronic bypass sequence function is not executed.
- The electronic bypass sequence function is valid only when Pr. 135 = "1" in the external operation or combined operation mode (PU speed command, external operation command Pr. 79 = "3"). When Pr. 135 = "1" in the operation mode other than the above, MC1 and MC3 turn on.
- When the MRS and CS signals are on and the STF (STR) signal is off, MC3 is on, but when the motor was coasted to a stop from bypass operation last time, a start is made after the time set in *Pr*: 137 has elapsed.
- Inverter operation can be performed when the MRS, STF (STR) and CS signals turn on. In any other case (MRS signal ON), bypass operation is performed.
- When the CS signal is turned off, the motor switches to bypass operation. However, when the STF (STR) signal is turned off, the motor is decelerated to a stop in the inverter operation mode.
- · When both MC2 and MC3 are off and either MC2 or MC3 is then turned on, there is a waiting time set in Pr. 136.
- · If electronic bypass sequence is made valid (*Pr. 135* = "1"), the *Pr. 136 and Pr. 137* settings are ignored in the PU operation mode. The input terminals (STF, CS, MRS, OH) of the inverter return to their normal functions.
- When the electronic bypass sequence function (*Pr. 135* = "1") and PU operation interlock function (*Pr. 79* = "7") are used simultaneously, the MRS signal is shared by the PU operation external interlock signal unless the X12 signal is assigned. (When the MRS and CS signals turn on, inverter operation is enabled)
- Changing the terminal function using any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189, 190 to Pr. 196* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### Parameters referred to +

- Pr. 11 DC injection brake operation time IPR Refer to page 185
- Pr. 57 Restart coasting time Refer to page 239
- Pr. 58 Restart cushion time I Refer to page 239
- Pr. 79 Operation mode selection IP Refer to page 283
- Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (Input terminal function selection) Refer to page 206

Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (Output terminal function selection) I Refer to page 214

## 4.25.3 Load torque high speed frequency control (Pr. 4, Pr. 5, Pr. 270 to Pr. 274)

Load torque high speed frequency control is a function which automatically sets the operational maximum frequency according to the load.

More specifically, the magnitude of the load is judged according to the average current at a certain time after starting to perform operation at higher than the preset frequency under light load.

This function is designed to increase speed automatically under light load, for example to minimize the incoming/outgoing time in a multi-story parking lot.



Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
4	Multi-speed setting (high speed)	60Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the higher-speed frequency.
5	Multi-speed setting (middle speed)	30Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the lower-speed frequency.
			0	Normal operation
	Stop-on contact/load		1	Stop-on-control (refer to page 189)
270	frequency control	0	2	Load torque high speed frequency control
	selection		3	Stop-on-contact ( <i>refer to page 189</i> ) + load torque high speed frequency control
271	High-speed setting maximum current	50%	0 to 220%	Set the upper and lower limits of the current at high and
272	Middle-speed setting minimum current	100%	0 to 220%	middle speeds.
272	Current averaging range	9999	0 to 400Hz	Average current during acceleration from ( <i>Pr.</i> $273 \times 1/2$ ) Hz to ( <i>Pr.</i> $273$ ) Hz can be achieved.
213			9999	Average current during acceleration from ( <i>Pr.</i> $5 \times 1/2$ ) Hz to ( <i>Pr.</i> 5) Hz is achieved.
274	Current averaging filter time constant	16	1 to 4000	Set the time constant of the primary delay filter relative to the output current. The time constant [ms] is $0.75 \times Pr$ . 274 and the initial value is 12ms. A larger setting provides higher stability but poorer response.

## <Connection diagram>



\* The used terminal changes according to the Pr. 180 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) settings.



## (1) Load torque high speed frequency control setting

· Set "2 or 3" in Pr. 270 Stop-on contact/load torque high-speed frequency control selection.

• When operating with the load torque high speed frequency function selection signal (X19) on, the inverter automatically changes the maximum frequency within the setting range of *Pr. 4 Multi-speed setting (high speed)* and *Pr. 5* according to the magnitude of the average current during the time to accelerate from 1/2 of the frequency set in *Pr. 5 Multi-speed setting (middle speed)* to the frequency set in *Pr. 5*.

- Set "19" in *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)* and assign the X19 signal function to the input terminal.
- · Made valid only in the external operation mode.
- $\cdot\,$  This control can be activated at every start.



## (2) Operation of load torque high speed frequency control setting

- When the average current of the current averaging range (above chart A) during operation with the X19 signal on is less than the "rated inverter current × *Pr*: 271 setting (%)", the maximum frequency automatically becomes the *Pr*: 4 *Multi-speed setting (high speed)* setting value.
- When the average current of the current averaging range (above chart B) during operation with the X19 signal on is more than the "rated inverter current × *Pr. 272* setting (%)", the maximum frequency automatically becomes the *Pr. 5 Multi-speed setting (middle speed)* setting value.
- · During regeneration load operation, setting of Pr. 5 is the maximum frequency regardless of the average current.
- The current averaging range can be set between 1/2 frequency of the Pr. 273 setting value and Pr. 273 set frequency.

#### - CAUTION

- · When the current averaging range includes the constant power range, the output current may become large in the constant power range.
- When the average current value in the current averaging range is small, deceleration time becomes longer as the running frequency increases.
- · The maximum output frequency is 120Hz. The output frequency is 120Hz even when the setting is above 120Hz.
- The fast response current limit function is made invalid.
- Changing the terminal function using any of *Pr. 178 to Pr. 189* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.
- The load torque high speed frequency function is made invalid in the following operation conditions. PU operation (*Pr. 79*), PU+external operation (*Pr. 79*), JOG operation (*JOG signal*), PID control function operation (*X14 signal*), remote setting function operation (*Pr. 59*), orientation control function operation, multi-speed setting (*RH, RM, RL signal*), 16 bit digital input option (FR-A7AX)
- When the average current during acceleration is too small, it may be judged as regeneration and the maximum frequency becomes the setting of *Pr. 5*.

# 

When the load is light, the motor may suddenly accelerate to 120Hz maximum, causing hazard. Securely provide mechanical interlock on the machine side to perform.

#### ♦ Parameters referred to ♦

- Pr. 4 to Pr. 6, Pr. 24 to Pr. 27 (multi-speed setting) The Refer to page 148
- Pr. 59 Remote function selection TP Refer to page 152
- Pr. 79 Operation mode selection I Refer to page 283
- Pr. 128 PID action selection Refer to page 329

Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) I Refer to page 206

## 4.25.4 Droop control (Pr. 286 to Pr. 288) Magnetic flux Sensorless Vector

This function is designed to balance the load in proportion to the load torque to provide the speed drooping characteristic under advanced magnetic flux vector control, real sensorless vector control and vector control. This function is effective for balancing the load when using multiple inverters

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
		0%	0	Normal operation
286	Droop gain		0.1% to 100%	Droop control is valid Set the drooping amount at the rated torque as a percentage with respect to the rated motor frequency.
287	Droop filter time constant	0.3s	0 to 1s	Set the time constant of the filter applied on the torque current.
			0	Droop control is not exercised during acceleration/ deceleration.
			1	Droop control is always exercised during operation. (with 0 limit)
288	Droop function activation selection	0	2	Droop control is always exercised during operation. (without 0 limit)
			10	Droop control is not exercised during acceleration/ deceleration. (Motor speed is referenced)
			11	Droop control is always exercised during operation. (Motor speed is referenced)



Rated slip = <u>Synchronous speed at base frequency</u> - Rated speed × 100[%]

## (2) Limit the frequency after droop compensation (0 limit)

• Setting *Pr. 288* under real sensorless vector control or vector control can limit the frequency command when the frequency after droop compensation is negative.

D# 200	Description					
Setting	Under advanced magnetic flux vector control	Under real sensorless vector control or vector control				
0 (initial value), 10	Droop control is not exercised during acceleration/	Droop control is not exercised during acceleration/ deceleration. Note that the frequency command is limited at 0Hz when the frequency command after droop control is negative. When $Pr. 288 =$ "10", droop compensation amount is determined using the motor speed as reference.				
1, 11	deceleration. Note that the frequency command after droop control is limited at 0.5Hz when the frequency command after droop control is negative. Droop compensation amount is determined using the	Droop control is always exercised during operation. Note that the frequency command is limited at 0Hz when the frequency command after droop control is negative. When $Pr. 288 =$ "11", droop compensation amount is determined using the motor speed as reference.				
2	rated motor frequency as reference.	Droop control is always exercised during operation. Note that under vector control, the frequency command is not limited at 0Hz even when the frequency command after droop control is negative. (The frequency command is limited at 0Hz under real sesorless vector control.)				

#### REMARKS

The maximum value of frequency after droop compensation is either 120Hz or Pr. 1 Maximum frequency, whichever is smaller.

#### A Parameters referred to I A Parameters

Pr. 1 Maximum frequency Refer to page 140

## 4.25.5 Frequency setting by pulse train input (Pr. 291, Pr. 384 to Pr. 386)

The inverter speed can be set by inputting pulse train from terminal JOG. In addition, synchronous speed operation of inverters can be performed by combining pulse train I/O.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description		
				Pulse train input	Pulse train output	
			0	Terminal JOG	FM output	
			1	Pulse train input	FM output	
			10	Terminal JOG	High speed pulse train output (50%Duty)	
			11	Pulse train input	High speed pulse train output (50%Duty)	
291	Pulse train I/O selection	0	20	Terminal JOG	High speed pulse train output (ON width is always same)	
			21	Pulse train input	High speed pulse train output (ON width is always same)	
			100	Pulse train input	High speed pulse train output (ON width is always same) The inverter outputs the signal input as pulse train as it	
			0	Pulse train input in	valid	
384	Input pulse division scaling factor	0	1 to 250	Indicates division scaling factor to the input pulse and the frequency resolution to the input pulse changes according to the value.		
385 Frequency for zero input pulse		0Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency when the input pulse is 0 (bias).		
386	Frequency for maximum input pulse	60Hz	0 to 400Hz	Set the frequency	when the input pulse is maximum (gain).	

## (1) Pulse train input selection (Pr. 291)

• Setting any of "1, 11, 21, 100" in *Pr. 291 Pulse train I/O selection* and a value other than "0" in *Pr. 384 Input pulse division scaling factor* switches terminal JOG to pulse train input terminal and frequency setting of the inverter can be performed. (The initial value is JOG signal)

Pulse train input of maximum of 100k pulse/s is enabled.

· Output specifications (high speed pulse train output or FM output) of terminal FM can be selected using Pr. 291.





• Connection with a complementary output system



• Connection with an open collector output system pulse generator



• Connection with a complementary output system pulse generator



\* When the wiring length of the open collector output connection is long, input pulse can not be recognized because of a pulse shape deformation due to the stray capacitances of the wiring.

When wiring length is long (10m or more of 0.75mm<sup>2</sup> twisted cable is recommended), connect an open collector output signal and power supply using a pull up resistance. The reference of resistance value to the wiring length is as in the table below,

Wiring Length	Less than 10m	10 to 50m	50 to 100m
Pull up/down resistance	Not necessary	1kΩ	470Ω
Load current (for reference)	10mA	35mA	65mA

Stray capacitances of the wiring greately differ according to the cable type and cable laying, the above cable length is not a guaranteed value.

When using a pull up/down resistance, check the permissible power of the resistor and permissible load current of output transistor and use them within a permissible range.

### REMARKS

When pulse train input is selected, a function assigned to terminal JOG using *Pr. 185 JOG terminal function selection* is made invalid. When *Pr. 419 Position command source selection* = "2" (conditional position pulse train command by inverter pulse train input), JOG terminal serves as conditional position pulse train terminal regardless of the *Pr. 291*.

#### CAUTION

- Since *Pr. 291* is a selection parameter for pulse train output/FM output, check the specifications of a device connected to terminal FM when changing the setting value. (Refer to *page 233* for pulse train output.)
- Output specifications (high speed pulse train output or FM output) of terminal FM can be selected using *Pr. 291*. Change the setting value using care not to change output specifications of terminal FM. (Refer to *page 233* for pulse train output.)

#### Pulse train input specifications

Item		Specifications	
Available pulse method		Open collector output	
		Complementary output	
		(power supply voltage 24V)	
H input level		20V or more (voltage between JOG-SD)	
L input level		5V or less (voltage between JOG-SD)	
Maximum input pulse rate		100kpps	
Minimum input pulse width		2.5us	
Input resistance/load current		2kΩ (typ) / 10mA (typ)	
Maximum wiring	Open collector output system	10m (0.75mm <sup>2</sup> / twisted pair)	
(reference value)	Complemenraty output system	100m (output resistance 50 $\Omega$ ) *	
Detection resolution		1/3750	

The wiring length of complementary output depends on the output wiring specifications of complementary output device.

Stray capacitances of the wiring greatly differ according to the cable type and cable laying, the maximum cable length is not a guaranteed value.



# (2) Adjustment of pulse train input and frequency (*Pr. 385, Pr. 386*)

• Frequency for zero input pulse can be set using *Pr. 385 Frequency for zero input pulse* and frequency at maximum input pulse can be set using *Pr. 386 Frequency for maximum input pulse.* 

\* Limit value can be calculated from the following formula. (*Pr. 386 - Pr. 385*) × 1.1 + *Pr. 385* 

## (3) Calculation method of division scaling factor of input pulse (Pr. 384)

• Maximum input pulse can be calcualted from the following formula using *Pr. 384 Input pulse division scaling factor*. Maximum of input pulse (pulse/s) = *Pr. 384*  $\times$  400 (maximum of 100kpulse/s)

Detectable pulse = 11.45 pulse/s

• For example, when you want to operate at 0Hz when pulse train input is zero and operate at 30Hz when pulse train is 4000 pulse/s, set parameters as below.

*Pr*: 384 = 10

(maximum input pulse 4000 pulse/s) *Pr. 385* = 0Hz, *Pr. 386* = 30Hz (pulse train limit value is 33Hz)

#### REMARKS

The priorities of the frequency commands by the external signals are "jog operation > multi-speed operation > teminal 4 analog input > pulse train input".

When pulse train input is made valid (when Pr. 291 = "1, 11, 21, or 100" and  $Pr. 384 \neq "0"$ ), terminal 2 analog input is made invalid.

## (4) Synchronous speed operation by pulse I/O



\* When the wiring length between FM and JOG is long, a pulse shape is deformed due to the stray capacitances of the wiring and input pulse can not be recognized.

When wiring length is long (10m or more of 0.75mm<sup>2</sup> twisted cable is recommended), connect terminal JOG and terminal PC using an external pull up resistance. The reference of resistance value to the wiring length is as in the table below.

Wiring Length	Less than 10m	10 to 50m	50 to 100m
Pull up resistance	Not necessary	1kΩ	470Ω
Load current (for reference)	10mA	35mA	65mA

Stray capacitances of the wiring greately differ according to the cable type and cable laying, the above cable length is not a guaranteed value. When using a pull up resistance, check the permissible power and permissible load current (terminal PC : 100mA, high speed pulse train output : 85mA) of the resistor and use them within a permissible range.

- By setting "100" in *Pr. 291*, pulse train input can be output at pulse train output (terminal FM) as it is. Synchronous speed operation of multiple inverters can be enabled by daisy chain connection.
- Since maximum pulse train output is maximum of 50k pulse/s, set "125" in *Pr. 384* of the inverter receiving pulse train.
- When operating two or more inverters synchronously, perform wiring according to the following steps. (so that 24V contact input will not be applied to terminal FM)
  - 1) Set pulse train output (a value other than "0, 1") in Pr. 291 of the master side inverter.
  - 2) Turn off the inverter power
  - 3) Perform wiring of the master side terminal FM-SD and slave side terminal JOG-SD
  - 4) Turn on the inverter power

#### — CAUTION

After changing a setting value of *Pr. 291*, connect JOG terminal between termial FM and SD. Take note that a voltage should not be applied to terminal FM specially when FM output (voltage output) pulse train is selected.

· For the slave side inverter, use sink logic (factory setting). The inverter will not function properly if source logic is selected.

#### Specifications of synchronous speed operation

Item	Specifications		
Output pulse type	Pulse width is fixed (10 $\mu$ s)		
Pulse rate	0 to 50kpps		
Pulse transmission delay	1 to 2µs per inverter *		

\* When a pulse transmission delay in a slave is approximately 1 to 2µs and wiring length is long, the delay further increases.

#### Parameters referred to +

Pr. 291 (pulse train output ) The Refer to page 233

## 4.25.6 Encoder feedback control (Pr. 144, Pr. 285, Pr. 359, Pr. 367 to Pr. 369)

**V/F** Magnetic flux

This controls the inverter output frequency so that the motor speed is constant to the load variation by detecting the motor speed with the speed detector (encoder) to feed it back to the inverter. Option FR-A7AP is necessary.

Parameter Numbers	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
144	Speed setting switchover	4	0, 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 102, 104, 106, 108, 110	Set the number of motor poles when performing encoder feedback control under V/F control.
285	Overspeed detection frequency (Speed deviation excess	9999	0 to 30Hz	If (detected frequency) - (output frequency) > <i>Pr. 285</i> during encoder feedback control, the inverter fault (E.MB1) is provided.
	detection frequency) *1		9999	Overspeed is not detected.
350 *2	Encoder rotation direction	1	0	Encoder Clockwise direction as viewed from A is forward rotation
555 2			1	Encoder Counter clockwise direction as viewed from A is forward rotation
0.07	Speed feedback range	9999	0 to 400Hz	Set the range of speed feedback control.
<b>367</b> *2			9999	Encoder feedback control is invalid
<b>368</b> *2	Feedback gain	1	0 to 100	Set when the rotation is unstable or response is slow.
<b>369</b> *2	Number of encoder pulses	1024	0 to 4096	Set the number of pulses of the encoder. Set the number of pulses before multiplied by four.

\*1 When exercising vector control with the FR-A7AP, this parameter changes to speed deviation excess detection frequency. (For details, refer to page 100)

\*2 The above parameters can be set when the FR-A7AP (option) is mounted.

## (1) Setting before the operation (Pr. 144, Pr. 359, Pr. 369)

- When performing encoder feedback control under V/F control, set the number of motor poles in *Pr. 144 Speed setting switchover* according to the motor used. Because the number of motor poles is set in *Pr. 81 Number of motor poles* under advanced magnetic flux vector control, it is unnecessary to change *Pr. 144*.
- Set the rotation direction and the number of encoder pulses of the encoder using *Pr. 359 Encoder rotation direction* and *Pr. 369 Number of encoder pulses*.

#### REMARKS

- When "0, 10, 110" is set in *Pr. 144* and run the inverter, fault E.1 to E.3 occurs.
- · When "102, 104, 106, 108" is set in Pr. 144, the value subtracting 100 is set as the number of motor poles.
- Setting *Pr. 81 Number of motor poles* changes the *Pr. 144* setting automatically. However, changing the *Pr. 144* setting will not change the *Pr. 81* setting automatically.

#### = CAUTION :

- · If the number of motor poles is wrong, control at correct speed can not be performed. Always check before operation.
- Encoder feedback control can not be performed when the setting of encoder rotation direction is wrong. (Inverter operation is enabled.)

Encoder rotation direction can be checked with the rotation direction display of the parameter unit.
### (2) Selection of encoder feedback control (Pr. 367)



• When a value other than "9999" is set in *Pr. 367 Speed feedback range*, encoder feedback control is valid.

Using the set point (frequency at which stable speed operation is performed) as reference, set the higher and lower setting range. Normally, set the frequency converted from the slip amount (r/min) of the rated motor speed (rated load). If the setting is too large, response becomes slow.

Frequency equivalent to slip (fsp)

fsp = 
$$\frac{\text{Nsp} \times \text{Number of poles}}{120}$$
 =  $\frac{60 \times 4}{120}$  = 2 (Hz)

### (3) Feedback gain (Pr. 368)

- · Set Pr. 368 Feedback gain when the rotation is unstable or response is slow.
- · If the acceleration/deceleration time is long, feedback response becomes slower. In this case, increase the *Pr. 368* setting.

Pr. 368 Setting	Description
<i>Pr. 368</i> > 1	Although the response becomes faster, overcurrent or unstable rotation is liable to occur.
1 < Pr. 368	Although the response becomes slower, the motor rotation becomes stable.

### (4) Overspeed detection (Pr. 285)

If (detection frequency) - (output frequency) > *Pr. 285* under encoder feedback control, E.MB1 occurs and the inverter output is stopped to prevent malfunction when the accurate pulse signal from the encoder can not be detected.
 Overspeed is not detected when *Pr. 285* = "9999".

#### = CAUTION =

- The encoder should be coupled on the same axis with the motor shaft without any mechanical looseness with a speed ratio of 1 to 1.
- · During acceleration/deceleration, encoder feedback control is not performed to prevent unstable phenomenon such as hunting.
- Encoder feedback control is performed once output frequency has reached within [set speed] ± [speed feedback range].
- If the following conditions occur during encoder feedback control, the inverter operates at the frequency within [set speed] ± [speed feedback range] without coming to trip nor tracking the motor speed.
- The pulse signals are not received from the encoder due to a signal loss, etc.
- The accurate pulse signal from the encoder can not be detected due to induction noise, etc.
- The motor has been forcibly accelerated (regeneration) or decelerated (motor lock or the like) by large external force.
- For the motor with brake, use the RUN signal (inverter running) to open the brake. (The brake may not be opened if the FU (output frequency detection) signal is used.)
- Do not turn off the external power supply of the encoder during encoder feedback control. Encoder feedback control functions abnormally.

#### Parameters referred to +

Pr. 81 Number of motor poles IP Refer to page 131

# 4.25.7 Regeneration avoidance function (Pr. 665, Pr. 882 to Pr. 886)

This function detects a regenerative status and increases the frequency to avoid the regenerative status.

- Possible to avoid regeneration by automatically increasing the frequency and continue operation if the fan
- happens to rotate faster than the set speed due to the effect of another fan in the same duct.

Parameter Number	Name	lni Va	tial lue	Setting Range	Description	
	Description	0		0	Regeneration avoidance function invalid	
882	Regeneration			1	Regeneration avoidance function is always valid	
	selection			2	Regeneration avoidance function is valid only during a constant speed operation	
	Regeneration	200V 380V class DC/		300 to	Set the bus voltage level at which regeneration avoidance operates. When the bus voltage level is set to low, overvoltage	
883 avoidance level	avoidance operation level	400V class	760V DC	800V	time increases. The set value must be higher than the power supply voltage $\times \sqrt{2}$ .	
	Regeneration	generation vidance at 0 veleration ection sensitivity		0	Regeneration avoidance by bus voltage change ratio is invalid	
884	avoidance at			1 to 5	Set sensitivity to detect the bus voltage change ratio	
004	deceleration				Setting 1 -> 5	
	detection sensitivity				Detection sensitivity low — high	
885	Regeneration avoidance	6Hz		0 to 10Hz	Set the limit value of frequency which rises at activation of regeneration avoidance function.	
	compensation frequency limit value			9999	Frequency limit invalid	
886	Regeneration avoidance voltage gain	100%		0 to 200%	Adjust responsiveness at activation of regeneration avoidance. A larger setting will improve responsiveness to the bus voltage	
665	Regeneration           avoidance frequency         100%         0 to           gain         0         0         0		0 to 200%	unstable. When vibration is not suppressed by decreasing the $Pr$ : 886 setting, set a smaller value in $Pr$ : 665.		

#### (1) What is regeneration avoidance function? (Pr. 882, Pr. 883)

- · When the regenerative status is serious, the DC bus voltage rises and an overvoltage fault (E.  $OV\Box$ ) may occur. When this bus voltage rise is detected and the bus voltage level reaches or exceeds *Pr.* 883, increasing the frequency avoids the regenerative status.
- · For regeneration avoidance operation, you can select whether it is always activated or activated only at a constant speed.



· Setting Pr. 882 to "1, 2" validates the regeneration avoidance function.

#### REMARKS

- The inclination of the frequency increased or decreased by the regeneration avoidance function changes depending on the regenerative status.
- · The DC bus voltage of the inverter is normally about  $\sqrt{2}$  times greater than the input voltage.
- When the input voltage is 220VAC (440VAC), the bus voltage is about 311VDC (622VDC). However, it varies with the input power supply waveform.
- The *Pr. 883* setting should be kept higher than the DC bus voltage level. Otherwise, the regeneration avoidance function is always on even if the non-regeneration status and the frequency increases.
- While overvoltage stall ( $\mathbf{p}_{l}$ ) is activated only during deceleration and stops the decrease in output frequency, the regeneration avoidance function is always on (*Pr*: 882 = 1) or activated only during a constant speed (*Pr*: 882 = 2) and increases the frequency according to the regeneration amount.

#### (2) To detect the regenerative status during deceleration faster (Pr. 884)

• As the regeneration avoidance function cannot respond to an abrupt voltage change by detection of the bus voltage level, the ratio of bus voltage change is detected to stop deceleration if the bus voltage is less than *Pr. 883 Regeneration avoidance operation level.* 

Set that detectable bus voltage change ratio to *Pr*: *884* as detection sensitivity. Increasing the setting raises the detection sensitivity.

#### = CAUTION =

Too small setting (low detection sensitivity) will disable detection, and too large setting will turn on the regeneration avoidance function if the bus voltage is varied by an input power change, etc.

#### (3) Limit regeneration avoidance operation frequency (Pr. 885)

You can limit the output frequency compensated for (increased) by the regeneration avoidance function.

- The frequency is limited to the output frequency (frequency prior to regeneration avoidance operation) + *Pr.* 885 *Regeneration avoidance compensation frequency limit value* during acceleration or constant speed. If the frequency increased by regeneration avoidance function exceeds the limit value during deceleration, the limit value is held until the output frequency falls to 1/2 of *Pr.* 885.
- When the frequency increased by regeneration avoidance function has reached *Pr. 1 Maximum frequency*, it is limited to the maximum frequency.
- *Pr. 885* is set to "9999", regeneration avoidance function operation frequency setting is invalid.

#### (4) Regeneration avoidance function adjustment (Pr. 665, Pr. 886)

- · If the frequency becomes unstable during regeneration avoidance operation, decrease the setting of *Pr. 886 Regeneration avoidance voltage gain.* Reversely, if sudden regeneration causes an overvoltage alarm, increase the setting.
- When vibration is not suppressed by decreasing the *Pr. 886 Regeneration avoidance voltage gain* setting, set a smaller value in *Pr. 665 Regeneration avoidance frequency gain*.

#### ----- CAUTION =

- When regeneration avoidance operation is performed,  $\bm{\sigma} \, \bm{L}$  (overvoltage stall) is displayed and the OL signal is output.
- When regeneration avoidance operation is performed, stall prevention is also activated.
- · When regeneration avoidance operation is performed, the OL signal output item of Pr. 156 also becomes the target of

ບໍ່ (overvoltage stall). Pr. 157 OL signal output timer also becomes the target of ບໍ່ (overvoltage stall).

• Under vector control, unusual noise may be generated from the motor during deceleration when using regeneration avoidance function. To prevent this, make gain adjustment, e.g. by performing easy gain tuning. (*Refer to page 88*)

#### ♦ Parameters referred to ♦

Pr. 1 Maximum frequency Refer to page 140

Pr. 8 Deceleration time IF Refer to page 155

Pr. 22 Stall prevention operation level IF Refer to page 135



# **4.26 Useful functions**

Purpose	Parameter that	Refer to Page	
Increase cooling fan life	Cooling fan operation selection Pr. 244		353
	Inverter part life display	Pr. 255 to Pr. 259	354
To determine the maintenance time	Maintenance output function	Pr. 503, Pr. 504	357
of parts.	Current average value monitor signal	Pr. 555 to Pr. 557	358
Freely available parameter	Free parameter	Pr. 888, Pr. 889	360

## 4.26.1 Cooling fan operation selection (Pr. 244)

You can control the operation of the cooling fan built in the inverter.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
			0	A cooling fan operates at power on Cooling fan on/off control invalid (The cooling fan is always on at power on)
244	Cooling fan operation selection	1	1	Cooling fan on/off control valid The fan is always on while the inverter is running. During a stop, the inverter status is monitored and the fan switches on-off according to the temperature.

• In either of the following cases, fan operation is regarded as faulty, [FN] is shown on the operation panel, and the fan fault (FAN) and alarm signals are output.

•Pr: 244 = "0"

When the fan comes to a stop with power on

•Pr. 244 = "1"

When the fan stops during the fan ON command while the inverter is running

• For the terminal used for FAN signal output, set "25" (positive logic) or "125" (negative logic) in any of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)*, and for the LF signal, set "98" (positive logic) or "198" (negative logic).

— CAUTION =

• Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

♦ Parameters referred to ♦

Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection) IP Refer to page 214

# 4.26.2 Display of the life of the inverter parts (Pr. 255 to Pr. 259)

Degrees of deterioration of main circuit capacitor, control circuit capacitor, cooling fan and inrush current limit circuit can be diagnosed by monitor.

When any part has approached the end of its life, an alarm can be output by self diagnosis to prevent a fault.

(Use the life check of this function as a guideline since the life except the main circuit capacitor is calculated theoretically.)

For the life check of the main circuit capacitor, the alarm signal (Y90) will not be output if a measuring method of (4) is not performed.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
255	Life alarm status display	0	(0 to 15)	Display whether the control circuit capacitor, main circuit capacitor, cooling fan, and each parts of the inrush current limit circuit has reached the life alarm output level or not. Reading only
256	Inrush current limit circuit life display 100% (0 to		(0 to 100%) Display the deterioration degree of the inrush current limit circuit. Reading only	
257	Control circuit capacitor life display	100%	(0 to 100%)	Display the deterioration degree of the control circuit capacitor. Reading only
258	Main circuit capacitor life display	100%	(0 to 100%)	Display the deterioration degree of the main circuit capacitor. Reading only The value measured by <i>Pr. 259</i> is displayed.
259	259 Main circuit capacitor life measuring		0, 1 (2, 3, 8, 9)	Setting "1" and switching the power supply off starts the measurement of the main circuit capacitor life. When the <i>Pr</i> : <i>259</i> value is "3" after powering on again, the measuring is completed. Read the deterioration degree in <i>Pr</i> : <i>258</i> .

# (1) Life alarm display and signal output (Y90 signal, Pr. 255)

• Whether any of the control circuit capacitor, main circuit capacitor, cooling fan and inrush current limit circuit has reached the life alarm output level or not can be checked by *Pr. 255 Life alarm status display* and life alarm signal (Y90).



Pr. 255 (decimal)	Bit (binary)	Inrush Current Limit Circuit Life	Cooling Fan Life	Main Circuit Capacitor Life	Control Circuit Capacitor Life
15	1111	0	0	0	0
14	1110	0	0	0	×
13	1101	0	0	×	0
12	1100	0	0	×	×
11	1011	0	×	0	0
10	1010	0	×	0	×
9	1001	0	×	×	0
8	1000	0	×	×	×
7	0111	×	0	0	0
6	0110	×	0	0	×
5	0101	×	0	×	0
4	0100	×	0	×	×
3	0011	×	×	0	0
2	0010	×	×	0	×
1	0001	×	×	×	0
0	0000	×	×	×	×

O: With warnings, ×: Without warnings

- The life alarm signal (Y90) turns on when any of the control circuit capacitor, main circuit capacitor, cooling fan and inrush current limit circuit reaches the life alarm output level.
- For the terminal used for the Y90 signal, set "90" (positive logic) or "190" (negative logic) to any of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)*.

#### REMARKS

The digital output option (FR-A7AY, FR-A7AR, FR-A7NC) allows the control circuit capacitor life signal (Y86), main circuit capacitor life signal (Y87), cooling fan life signal (Y88) and inrush current limit circuit life signal (Y89) to be output individually.

#### 

Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### (2) Life display of the inrush current limit circuit (Pr. 256)

- The life of the inrush current limit circuit (relay, contactor and inrush resistor) is displayed in Pr. 256.
- The number of contact (relay, contactor, thyristor) ON times is counted, and it is counted down from 100% (zero times) every 1%/10,000 times. As soon as 10% (900,000 times) is reached, *Pr. 255* bit 3 is turned on and also an alarm is output to the Y90 signal.

#### (3) Control circuit capacitor life display (Pr. 257)

- The deterioration degree of the control circuit capacitor is displayed in Pr. 257 as a life.
- In the operating status, the control circuit capacitor life is calculated from the energization time and temperature, and is counted down from 100%. As soon as the control circuit capacitor life falls below 10%, *Pr. 255* bit 0 is turned on and also an alarm is output to the Y90 signal.

#### (4) Main circuit capacitor life display (Pr. 258, Pr. 259)

• The deterioration degree of the main circuit capacitor is displayed in Pr. 258 as a life.

• On the assumption that the main circuit capacitor capacitance at factory shipment is 100%, the capacitor life is displayed in *Pr*: 258 every time measurement is made. When the measured value falls to or below 85%, *Pr*: 255 bit 1 is turned on and also an alarm is output to the Y90 signal.

- · Measure the capacitor capacity according to the following procedure and check the deterioration level of the capacitor capacity.
  - 1) Check that the motor is connected and at a stop.
  - 2) Set "1" (measuring start) in Pr. 259
  - 3) Switch power off. The inverter applies DC voltage to the motor to measure the capacitor capacity while the inverter is off.
  - 4) After making sure that the power lamp is off, switch on the power supply again.
  - 5) Check that "3" (measuring completion) is set in *Pr. 259*, read *Pr. 258*, and check the deterioration degree of the main circuit capacitor.

Pr. 259	Description	Remarks	
0	No measurement	Initial value	
1	Measurement start	Measurement starts when the power supply is switched off.	
2	During measurement		
3	Measurement complete	Only displayed and cannot be	
8	Forced end	set	
9	Measurement error		

#### REMARKS

- When the main circuit capacitor life is measured under the following conditions, "forced end" (*Pr. 259* = "8") or "measuring error" (*Pr. 259* = "9") occurs or it remains in "measuring start" (*Pr. 259* = "1").
  - When measuring, avoid the following conditions to perform.

In addition, even when "measurement completion" (Pr: 259 = "3") is confirmed under the following conditions, normal measurement can not be done.

(a) Terminals R1/L11, S1/L21 or DC power supply is connected to the terminal P/+ and N/-.

(b) Switch power on during measuring.

(c) The motor is not connected to the inverter.

(d) The motor is running. (The motor is coasting.)

(e) The motor capacity is two rank smaller as compared to the inverter capacity.

(f) The inverter is tripped or a fault occurred when power is off.

(g) The inverter output is shut off with the MRS signal.

(h) The start command is given while measuring.

Operating environment: Surrounding air temperature (annual average 40°C (free from corrosive gas, flammable gas, oil mist, dust and dirt)) Output current (80% of the inverter rated current)

POINT

For the accurate life measuring of the main circuit capacitor, perform after more than 3h passed since the turn off of the power as it is affected by the capacitor temperature.

# 

When measuring the main circuit capacitor capacity (*Pr. 259 Main circuit capacitor life measuring* = "1"), the DC voltage is applied to the motor for 1s at powering off. Never touch the motor terminal, etc. right after powering off to prevent an electric shock.

#### (5) Cooling fan life display

• The cooling fan speed of 50% or less is detected and "FN" is displayed on the operation panel (FR-DU07) and parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07). As an alarm display, *Pr. 255* bit 2 is turned on and also an alarm is output to the Y90 signal.

#### REMARKS

· When the inverter is mounted with two or more cooling fans, the life of even one cooling fan is diagnosed.

#### = Caution =

· For replacement of each part, contact the nearest Mitsubishi FA center.

# 4.26.3 Maintenance timer alarm (Pr. 503, Pr. 504)

When the cumulative energization time of the inverter reaches the parameter set time, the maintenance timer output signal (Y95) is output.  $\Pi \Gamma$  (MT) is displayed on the operation panel (FR-DU07). This can be used as a guideline for the maintenance time of peripheral devices.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
503	Maintenance timer	0	0 (1 to 9998)	Display the cumulative energization time of the inverter in 100h increments. Reading only Writing the setting of "0" clears the cumulative energization time.
504	Maintenance timer alarm output set time	9999	0 to 9998	Set the time taken until when the maintenance timer alarm output signal (Y95) is output.
			9999	No function



- The cumulative energization time of the inverter is stored into the EEPROM every hour and indicated in *Pr. 503 Maintenance timer* in 100h increments. *Pr. 503* is clamped at 9998 (999800h).
- When the *Pr*: 503 value reaches the time set in *Pr*: 504 Maintenance timer alarm output set time (100h increments), the maintenance timer alarm output signal (Y95) is output.
- For the terminal used for the Y95 signal output, assign the function by setting "95" (positive logic) or "195" (negative logic) to any of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)*.

#### 

- The cumulative energization time is counted every hour. The energization time of less than 1h is not counted.
- Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions.
- Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### Parameters referred to +

Pr. 190 to Pr. 196(output terminal function selection) I Refer to page 214

## 4.26.4 Current average value monitor signal (Pr. 555 to Pr. 557)

The average value of the output current during constant speed operation and the maintenance timer value are output as a pulse to the current average value monitor signal (Y93).

The pulse width output to the I/O module of the programmable controller etc. can be used as a guideline due to abrasion of machines and elongation of belt and for aged deterioration of devices to know the maintenance time.

The current average value monitor signal (Y93) is output as pulse for 20s as 1 cycle and repeatedly output during constant speed operation.



Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
555	Current average time	1s	0.1 to 1.0s	Set the time taken to average the current during start pulse output (1s).
556	Data output mask time	0s	0.0 to 20.0s	Set the time for not obtaining (mask) transient state data.
557	Current average value monitor signal output reference current	Rated inverter current	0 to 500A	Set the reference (100%) for outputting the signal of the current average value.

The above parameters allow its setting to be changed during operation in any operation mode even if "0" (initial value) is set in *Pr. 77 Parameter write* selection.



- · The pulse output of the current average value monitor signal (Y93) is shown above.
- For the terminal used for the Y93 signal output, assign the function by setting "93" (positive logic) or "193" (negative logic) to any of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 194 (output terminal function selection)*. (The function can not be assigned to *Pr. 195 ABC1 terminal function selection* and *Pr. 196 ABC2 terminal function selection*.)
- (1) Setting of Pr. 556 Data output mask time

The output current is unstable (transient state) right after the operation is changed from the acceleration/ deceleration state to the constant speed operation. Set the time for not obtaining (mask) transient state data in *Pr*. *556*.

(2) Setting of the Pr. 555 Current average time

The average output current is calculated during Hi output of start bit (1s). Set the time taken to average the current during start bit output in *Pr*: 555.

(3) Setting of *Pr. 557 Current average value monitor signal output reference current* Set the reference (100%) for outputting the signal of the current average value. Obtain the time to output the signal from the following formula.

# $\frac{\text{Output current average value}}{Pr. 557 \text{ setting}} \times 5s \text{ (output current average value 100\%/5s)}$

Note that the output time range is 0.5 to 9s, and it is 0.5s when the output current average value is less than 10% of the setting value of Pr: 557 and 9s when exceeds 180%.

Example)When Pr. 557 = 10A and the average value of output current is 15A As  $15A/10A \times 5s = 7.5$ , the current average value monitor signal is output as low pulse shape for 7.5s.

(4) Output of Pr. 503 Maintenance timer

After the output current average value is output as low pulse shape, the maintenance timer value is output as high pulse shape. The output time of the maintenance timer value is obtained from the following formula.

*Pr. 503* × 100 40000h



Note that the output time range is 2 to 9s, and it is 2s when *Pr*: *503* is less than 16000h and 9s when exceeds 72000h.

#### REMARKS

Mask of data output and sampling of output current are not performed during acceleration/deceleration.

When the speed is changed to acceleration/deceleration from constant speed during start pulse output, the data is judged as invalid, the start pulse is output as high pulse shape for 3.5s, and the end signal is output as low pulse shape for 16.5s. The signal is output for at least 1 cycle even when acceleration/deceleration state continues after the start pulse output is completed.



When the output current value (inverter output current monitor) is 0A on completion of the 1 cycle signal output, the signal is not output until the speed becomes constant next time

The current average value monitor signal (Y93) is output as low pulse shape for 20s (without data output) under the following condition.

(a)When the motor is in the acceleration/deceleration state on completion of the 1 cycle signal output

(b)When 1-cycle signal output was ended during restart operation with the setting of automatic restart after instantaneous power failure (*Pr*:  $57 \neq$  "9999")

(c)When automatic restart operation was being performed with automatic restart after instantaneous power failure selected (*Pr*: 57 ≠ "9999") on completion of the data output mask

#### = CAUTION :

Changing the terminal assignment using *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection)* may affect the other functions. Please make setting after confirming the function of each terminal.

#### Parameters referred to +

Pr. 190 to Pr. 196(output terminal function selection) The Refer to page 214 Pr. 503 Maintenance timer The Refer to page 357 Pr. 57 Restart coasting time The Refer to page 239





# 4.26.5 Free parameter (Pr. 888, Pr. 889)

You can input any number within the setting range 0 to 9999.

- For example, the number can be used:
- · As a unit number when multiple units are used.
- As a pattern number for each operation application when multiple units are used.
- As the year and month of introduction or inspection.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
888	Free parameter 1	9999	0 to 9999	Desired values can be input.
889	Free parameter 2	9999	0 to 9999	Data is held even if the inverter power is turned off.

The above parameters allow its setting to be changed during operation in any operation mode even if "0" (initial value) is set in *Pr. 77 Parameter write* selection.

#### REMARKS

• Pr. 888 and Pr. 889 do not influence the inverter operation.

# **4.27 Setting of the parameter unit and operation panel**

Purpose	Parameter that mus	t be Set	Refer to Page
Switch the display language of the parameter unit	PU display language selection	Pr. 145	361
Use the setting dial of the operation panel like a potentiometer for frequency setting. Key lock of operation panel	Operation panel operation selection	Pr. 161	361
Control of the parameter unit, operation panel buzzer	PU buzzer control	Pr. 990	363
Adjust the LCD contrast of the parameter unit	PU contrast adjustment	Pr. 991	363

# 4.27.1 PU display language selection (Pr. 145)

You can switch the display language of the parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07) to another.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
			0	Japanese
145	PU display language selection	0	1	English
			2	Germany
			3	French
			4	Spanish
			5	Italian
			6	Swedish
			7	Finnish

# 4.27.2 Operation panel frequency setting/key lock operation selection (Pr. 161)

The setting dial of the operation panel (FR-DU07) can be used like a potentiometer to perform operation. The key operation of the operation panel can be disabled.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description	ı
161	Frequency setting/key lock operation selection	0	0	Setting dial frequency setting mode	Key lock
			1	Setting dial potentiometer mode	mode invalid
			10	Setting dial frequency setting mode	Key lock
			11	Setting dial potentiometer mode	mode valid

### (1) Using the setting dial like a potentiometer to set the frequency.

Operation example Changing the frequency from 0Hz to 60Hz during operation



#### REMARKS

• If the display changes from flickering "60.00" to "0.00", the setting of *Pr. 161 Frequency setting/key lock operation selection* may not be "1".

- Independently of whether the inverter is running or at a stop, the frequency can be set by merely turning the dial.
- When the frequency is changed, it will be stored in EEPROM as the set frequency after 10s.

### (2) Disable the setting dial and key operation of the operation panel (Press [MODE] long (2s))

- · Operation using the setting dial and key of the operation panel can be made invalid to prevent parameter change, and unexpected start or frequency setting.
- · Set "10 or 11" in *Pr. 161*, then press (MODE) for 2s to make the setting dial and key operation invalid.

• When the setting dial and key operation is made invalid, **H**[] **d** appears on the operation panel. When the setting dial and key operation is invalid, **H**[] **d** appears if the setting dial or key operation is performed. (When the setting dial or key operation is not performed for 2s, the monitor display appears.)

· To make the setting dial and key operation valid again, press (MODE) for 2s.

#### REMARKS

Even if the setting dial and key operation are disabled, the monitor display (SIOP) is valid.

#### E CAUTION =

Release the operation lock to release the PU stop by key operation.

### 4.27.3 Buzzer control (Pr. 990)

You can make the buzzer "beep" when you press key of the operation panel (FR-DU07) and parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07).

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
990	PU buzzer control	1	0	Without buzzer
			1	With buzzer

The above parameters allow its setting to be changed during operation in any operation mode even if "0" (initial value) is set in *Pr. 77 Parameter write* selection.

## 4.27.4 PU contrast adjustment (Pr. 991)

Contrast adjustment of the LCD of the parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07) can be performed. Decreasing the setting value makes contrast light.

Parameter Number	Name	Initial Value	Setting Range	Description
991	PU contrast adjustment	58	0 to 63	0 : Light ↓ 63: Dark

The above parameters are displayed as simple mode parameters only when the parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07) is connected.

# **4.28 Parameter clear**

# POINT

• Set "1" in *Pr. CL parameter clear* to initialize all parameters. (Parameters are not cleared when "1" is set in *Pr.* 77 *Parameter write selection.* In addition, calibration parameters are not cleared.)

Operation	_	_	— Display —
<b>1.</b> Screen at powering on The monitor display appears.			
2.Press $(\mathbb{E})$ to choose the PU operation mode.	(PU) EXT	⇒	PU indication is lit.
3.Press (MODE) to choose the parameter setting mode.	MODE	$\Rightarrow$	P. C (The parameter number read previously appears.)
4.Turn Ountil " Pr <u>. [                                   </u>	$\bigcirc$	$\Box$	Pr.CL
5.Press $(\widetilde{s_{\text{ET}}})$ to read the currently set value. " $\textbf{i}$ "(initial value) appears.	SET	⇒	8
6.Turn to change it to the setting value	Ó	$\Rightarrow$	1
<b>7.</b> Press $(SET)$ to set.	SET	$\Box$	l Pr.CL
	Flicke	•r …	Parameter setting complete!!
$\cdot$ Turn 🕐 to read another parameter.			

 $\cdot$  Press (SET) to show the setting again.

 $\cdot \operatorname{Press}(\operatorname{SET})$  twice to show the next parameter.

Setting	Description
0	Not executed.
1	Returns all parameters to the initial values except for <i>calibration parameters, terminal function selection parameters, etc.</i> Refer to the list of parameters on <i>page 423</i> for availability of parameter clear.

? and Er 4 are displayed alternately ... Why?

P The inverter is not in PU operation mode.

- 1. Press  $\left( \begin{array}{c} PU \\ EXT \end{array} \right)$ .
  - EU is lit and the monitor (4 digit LED) displays "0" (*Pr.* 79 = "0" (initial value)).
- 2. Carry out operation from step 6 again.

# 4.29 All parameter clear

POINT
-------

Set "1" in *ALLC parameter clear* to initialize all parameters. (Parameters are not cleared when "1" is set in *Pr*: 77 *Parameter write selection*.)



• Press () to read another parameter.

 $\cdot \operatorname{Press}(\operatorname{SET})$  to show the setting again.

 $\cdot$  Press (SET) twice to show the next parameter.

Setting	Description
0	Not executed.
1	All parameters return to the initial values. Refer to the list of parameters on <i>page 423</i> for availability of all parameter clear. Refer to the list of parameters on <i>page 423</i> for availability of parameter clear.

and Er 4 are displayed alternately ... Why?

 $\ensuremath{\mathfrak{P}}$  The inverter is not in the PU operation mode.

1. Press  $\left(\frac{PU}{EXT}\right)$ .

?

EU is lit and the monitor (4 digit LED) displays "0" (*Pr. 79* = "0" (initial value)).

2. Carry out operation from step 6 again.

# 4.30 Parameter copy and parameter verification

PCPY Setting	Description
0	Cancel
1	Copy the source parameters to the operation panel.
2	Write the parameters copied to the operation panel into the destination inverter.
3	Verify parameters in the inverter and operation panel. (Refer to page 367.)

#### REMARKS

- When the copy destination inverter is not the FR-A701 series or parameter copy write is performed after parameter copy read is stopped, "model error ( $r \in \mathcal{L}$ )" is displayed.
- Refer to the parameter list on *page 423* and later for availability of parameter copy. When the power is turned off or an operation panel is disconnected, etc. during parameter copy write, perform write again or check the values by parameter verification.

### 4.30.1 Parameter copy

Parameter settings can be copied to multiple inverters. 



destination inverter, always reset the inverter, e.g. switch power off once, before starting operation. 🥻 ເຂັ່∤ appears...Why? 🜮 Parameter read error. Perform operation from step 3 again.

? - E2 appears...Why? @ Parameter write error. Perform operation from step 8 again.

### 4.30.2 Parameter verification

Whether same parameter values are set in other inverters or not can be checked.



#### REMARKS

When the copy destination inverter is not the FR-A701 series, "model error (  $r \in 4$  )" is displayed.

? - E 3 flickers ... Why?

@ Set frequencies, etc. may be different. Check set frequencies.

# 4.31 Check and clear of the faults history

(1) Check for the faults history



Check and clear of the faults history

#### (2) Clearing procedure



# MEMO



This chapter describes the basic "PROTECTIVE FUNCTION" for use of this product.

Always read the instructions before using the equipment

5.1	Reset method of protective function	372
5.2	List of fault or alarm display	373
5.3	Causes and corrective actions	374
5.4	Correspondences between digital and actual	
	characters	389
5.5	Check first when you have troubles	390

When a fault occurs in the inverter, the inverter trips and the PU display automatically changes to any of the following fault or alarm indications.

If the fault does not correspond to any of the following faults or if you have any other problem, please contact your sales representative.

- Retention of fault output signal...When the magnetic contactor (MC) provided on the input side of the inverter is opened when a fault occurs, the inverter's control power will be lost and the fault output will not be held.
- Fault or alarm indication........When a fault or alarm occurs, the operation panel display automatically switches to the fault or alarm indication.
- Resetting method......When a fault occurs, the inverter output is kept stopped. Unless reset, therefore, the inverter cannot restart. (*Refer to page 372*)
- When any fault occurs, take the appropriate corrective action, then reset the inverter, and resume operation. Not doing so may lead to the inverter fault and damage.

Inverter fault or alarm indications are roughly divided as below.

(1) Error message

A message regarding operational fault and setting fault by the operation panel (FR-DU07) and parameter unit (FR-PU04 /FR-PU07) is displayed. The inverter does not trip.

(2) Warnings

The inverter does not trip even when a warning is displayed. However, failure to take appropriate measures will lead to a fault.

(3) Alarm

The inverter does not trip. You can also output an alarm signal by making parameter setting.

(4) Fault

When a fault occurs, the inverter trips and a fault signal is output.

# 5.1 Reset method of protective function

(1) Resetting the inverter

The inverter can be reset by performing any of the following operations. Note that the internal thermal integrated value of the electronic thermal relay function and the number of retries are cleared (erased) by resetting the inverter. Recover about 1s after reset is cancelled.

Operation 1: ..... Using the operation panel, press (STOP) to reset the inverter.

(This may only be performed when a fault occurs (Refer to *page 378* for fault.))

Operation 2:..... Switch power off once, then switch it on again.





Operation 3: ..... Turn on the reset signal (RES) for more than 0.1s. (If the RES signal is kept on, "Err." appears (flickers) to indicate that the inverter is in a reset status.)



# **5.2 List of fault or alarm display**

	Operation P Indicatio	anel n	Name	Refer to
	<i>E</i>	E	Faults history	368
0	KOLJ	HOLD	Operation panel lock	374
message	Er / to Er 4	Er1 to 4	Parameter write error	374
Error	гЕ   to гЕЧ	rE1 to 4	Copy operation error	375
	Err.	Err.	Error	375
	0L	OL	Stall prevention	376
			Stall prevention	070
	οί	OL	(overvoltage)	376
sɓu	ſH	TH	Electronic thermal relay	377
arnir	ρς	PS	PU stop	376
3	nr	MT	Maintenance signal output	377
	٢ <i>٩</i>	СР	Parameter copy	377
	C 1	SI	Speed limit indication	377
6	56		(Output during speed limit)	011
Alarm	۶л	FN	Fan fault	378
	E.0C I	E.OC1	Overcurrent trip during	378
•	c 0 C 0	E 002	Overcurrent trip during	270
	2.ULC	E.002	constant speed	370
	E.0C 3	E.OC3	deceleration or stop	379
	£0	E.OV1	Regenerative overvoltage	379
	0.007	_	trip during acceleration	
	5.002	E.OV2	trip during constant speed	379
	co -		Regenerative overvoltage	200
	ζ.ΰυΪ	E.0V3	stop	360
ault	ЕГНГ	E.THT	Inverter overload trip (electronic thermal relay function)	380
Fa.	Е,Г НП	E.THM	Motor overload trip (electronic thermal relay function)	380
	6,81 m	E.FIN	Fin overheat	380
	EJ PF	E.IPF	Instantaneous power failure	381
	E.Uuf	E.UVT	Undervoltage	381
	ELLE	E.ILF*	Input phase failure	381
	E.0L.F	E.OLT	Stall prevention	381
-	E. GF	E.GF	Output side earth (ground) fault overcurrent	381
	E. L.F	E.LF	Output phase loss	382
	Е.ОНГ	E.OHT	External thermal relay operation *2	382

	Operation P Indicatio	anel n	Name	Refer to
	5.PF C	E.PTC*	PTC thermistor operation	382
	190.3	E.OPT	Option alarm	382
	E.0P3	E.OP3	Communication option alarm	382
	E. / to E. 3	E. 1 to E. 3	Option fault	383
	E. PE	E.PE	Parameter storage device fault	383
	E.PUE	E.PUE	PU disconnection	383
	6.c.6.f	E.RET	Retry count excess	383
	539.3	E.PE2*	Parameter storage device fault	383
	E. 67 E. 77 E.C.PU	E. 6 / E. 7 / E.CPU	CPU error	384
ılt	Е.С.Г.Е	E.CTE	Operation panel power supply short circuit, RS-485 terminal power supply short circuit	384
	E.P24	E.P24	24VDC power output short circuit	386
	06 J.3	E.CDO*	Output current detection value exceeded	386
Fau	E.I. OH	E.IOH*	Inrush current limit circuit fault	386
	8.5 <i>6</i> r	E.SER*	Communication error (inverter)	386
	8. <i>81</i> .8	E.AIE*	Analog input error	386
	<i>E.</i> 05	E.OS	Overspeed occurence	384
	8.05 <i>4</i>	E.OSD	Speed deviation excess detection	385
	733.3	E.ECT	Signal loss detection	385
	E. 08	E.OD	Excessive position error	385
	ЕЛЬ I to ЕЛЬП	E.MB1 to E.MB7	Brake sequence error	384
	P 3.3	E.EP	Encoder phase error	385
	Е. Ч	E.4	Converter overcurrent	387
	ε. 8	E.8	Power supply fault	387
	ε. ΙΟ	E.10	Converter transistor protection thermal operation (electronic thermal)	387
	ε. ΤΤ	E.11	Opposite rotation deceleration fault	
	E. 13	E.13	Internal circuit error	387
	<i>E.</i> 15	E.15	Converter circuit fault	388

If an error occurs when using the FR-PU04, "Fault 14" is displayed on the FR-PU04.

# 5.3 Causes and corrective actions

(1) Error message

A message regarding operational troubles is displayed. Output is not shut off.

Operation Panel Indication	HOLD	HOLd
Name	Operation par	nel lock
Description	Operation loc	k mode is set. Operation other than (RESET) is made invalid. (Refer to page 363.)
Check point		—
Corrective action	Press MODE 1	for 2s to release lock.

Operation Panel Indication	Er1	8r 1				
Name	Write disable	error				
Description	<ol> <li>You attempted to make parameter setting when <i>Pr. 77 Parameter write selection</i> has been set to disable parameter write.</li> <li>Frequency jump setting range overlapped.</li> <li>Adjustable 5 points V/F settings overlapped</li> <li>The PU and inverter cannot make normal communication</li> </ol>					
Check point	1. Check the s 2. Check the s 3. Check the s 4. Check the c	setting of <i>Pr.</i> 77 <i>Parameter write selection (Refer topage 280.)</i> settings of <i>Pr.</i> 31 to 36 (frequency jump). ( <i>Refer topage 141.</i> ) settings of <i>Pr.</i> 100 to <i>Pr.</i> 109 (adjustable 5 points V/F). ( <i>Refer topage 147.</i> ) connection of the PU and inverter.				

Operation Panel Indication	Er2	8r2				
Name	Write error du	Write error during operation				
Description	When parame independently	When parameter write was performed during operation with a value other than "2" (writing is enabled independently of operating status in any operation mode) is set in $Pr$ . 77 and the STF (STR) is on.				
Check point	<ol> <li>Check the <i>Pr.</i> 77 setting. (<i>Refer topage 280.</i>)</li> <li>Check that the inverter is not operating.</li> </ol>					
Corrective action	1. Set "2" in Pa 2. After stoppi	1. Set "2" in <i>Pr. 77.</i> 2. After stopping operation, make parameter setting.				

Operation Panel Indication	Er3	Er 3			
Name	Calibration error				
Description	Analog input bias and gain calibration values are too close.				
Check point	Check the set	Check the settings of C3, C4, C6 and C7 (calibration functions). (Refer topage 267.)			

Operation Panel Indication	Er4	Er4			
Name	Mode designa	Mode designation error			
Description	You attempted to make parameter setting in the NET operation mode when Pr. 77 is not "2".				
Check point	1. Check that 2. Check the <i>I</i>	<ol> <li>Check that operation mode is "PU operation mode".</li> <li>Check the <i>Pr.</i> 77 setting. (<i>Refer topage 280.</i>)</li> </ol>			
Corrective action	1. After setting 2. After setting	fter setting the operation mode to "PU operation mode", make parameter setting. ( <i>Refer to page 280.</i> ) fter setting "2" in <i>Pr</i> : 77, make parameter setting.			

Operation Panel Indication	rE1	r E 1				
Name	Parameter rea	er read error				
Description	An error occu	In error occurred in the EEPROM on the operation panel side during parameter copy reading.				
Check point		—				
Corrective action	<ul> <li>Make parar</li> <li>Check for a</li> </ul>	neter copy again. <i>(Refer to page 366.)</i> In operation panel (FR-DU07) failure. Please contact your sales representative.				

 $\mathbb{Z}$ 

Operation Panel Indication	rE2	r82				
Name	Parameter wr	Parameter write error				
Description	<ol> <li>You attempted to perform parameter copy write during operation.</li> <li>An error occurred in the EEPROM on the operation panel side during parameter copy writing.</li> </ol>					
Check point	Is the FWD or REV LED of the operation panel (FR-DU07) lit or flickering?					
Corrective action	1. After stoppi 2. Check for ar	1. After stopping operation, make parameter copy again. ( <i>Refer to page 366.</i> ) 2. Check for an operation panel (FR-DU07) failure. Please contact your sales representative.				

Operation Panel Indication	rE3	r 8 3					
Name	Parameter ve	rification error					
Description	<ol> <li>Data on the operation panel side and inverter side are different.</li> <li>An error occurred in the EEPROM on the operation panel side during parameter verification.</li> </ol>						
Check point	Check for the parameter setting of the source inverter and inverter to be verified.						
Corrective action	1. Press SET Make parar 2. Check for a	<ol> <li>Press SET to continue verification.</li> <li>Make parameter verification again. (<i>Refer to page 367.</i>)</li> <li>Check for an operation panel (FR-DU07) failure. Please contact your sales representative.</li> </ol>					

Operation Panel Indication	rE4	r E 4				
Name	Model error					
Description	<ol> <li>A different model was used for parameter write and verification during parameter copy.</li> <li>When parameter copy write is stopped after parameter copy read is stopped</li> </ol>					
Check point	<ol> <li>Check that the verified inverter is the same model.</li> <li>Check that the power is not turned off or an operation panel is not disconnected, etc. during parameter copy read.</li> </ol>					
Corrective action	<ol> <li>Use the same model (FR-A701 series) for parameter copy and verification.</li> <li>Perform parameter copy read again.</li> </ol>					

Operation Panel Indication	Err.	Err.				
Description	1. The RES si 2. The PU and 3. When the c connected t	signal is on ind inverter cannot make normal communication (contact fault of the connector) control circuit power (R1/L11, S1/L21) and the main circuit power (R/L1, S/L2, T/L3) are d to a separate power, it may appear at turning on of the main circuit. It is not a fault.				
Corrective action	1. Turn off the 2. Check the o	RES signal. connection of the PU and inverter.				



(2) Warnings When the protective circuit is activated, the output is not shut off.

Operation Panel	OL	FR-PU04 OL					
Indication			FR-PU07				
Name	Stall prevention	on (overcurrent)					
	During acceleration	When the output curren control) of the inverter e operation level, etc.), this current decreases to pre overload current has de increases the frequency	control) of the inverter exceeds the stall prevention operation level ( <i>Pr. 22 Stall prevention operation level</i> , etc.), this function stops the increase in frequency until the overload current decreases to prevent the inverter from resulting in overcurrent trip. When the overload current has decreased below stall prevention operation level, this function increases the frequency again.				
Description	During constant- speed operation	When the output curren control) of the inverter e <i>operation level</i> , etc.), this decreases to prevent th current has decreased b frequency up to the set	When the output current (output torque during real sensorless vector control or vector control) of the inverter exceeds the stall prevention operation level ( <i>Pr. 22 Stall prevention operation level</i> , etc.), this function reduces frequency until the overload current decreases to prevent the inverter from resulting in overcurrent trip. When the overload current has decreased below stall prevention operation level, this function increases the frequency up to the set value.				
	During deceleration	When the output current (output torque during real sensorless vector control or vector control) of the inverter exceeds the stall prevention operation level ( <i>Pr. 22 Stall prevention operation level</i> , etc.), this function stops the decrease in frequency until the overload current decreases to prevent the inverter from resulting in overcurrent trip. When the overload current has decreased below stall prevention operation level, this function decreases the frequency again					
Check point	<ol> <li>Check that the <i>Pr. 0 Torque boost</i> setting is not too large.</li> <li>Check that the <i>Pr. 7 Acceleration time</i> and <i>Pr. 8 Deceleration time</i> settings are not too small.</li> <li>Check that the load is not too heavy.</li> <li>Are there any failure in peripheral devices?</li> <li>Check that the <i>Pr. 13 Starting frequency</i> is not too large.</li> <li>Check the motor for use under overload.</li> <li>Check that the <i>Pr. 22 Stall prevention operation level</i> is appropriate.</li> </ol>						
Corrective action	<ol> <li>Increase or decrease the <i>Pr. 0 Torque boost</i> value 1% by 1% and check the motor status. (<i>Refer to page 129.</i>)</li> <li>Set a larger value in <i>Pr. 7 Acceleration time</i> and <i>Pr. 8 Deceleration time</i>. (<i>Refer to page 155.</i>)</li> <li>Reduce the load weight.</li> <li>Try advanced magnetic flux vector control, real sensorless vector control or vector control.</li> <li>Change the <i>Pr. 14 Load pattern selection</i> setting.</li> <li>Set stall prevention operation current in <i>Pr. 22 Stall prevention operation level</i>. (The initial value is 150%.) The acceleration/deceleration time may change. Increase the stall prevention operation level with <i>Pr. 22 Stall prevention operation level</i>, or disable stall prevention with <i>Pr. 156 Stall prevention operation operation level</i>.</li> </ol>						

Operation Panel Indication	oL	ol	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	oL	
Name	Stall prevention	on (overvoltage)			
Description	During deceleration	<ul> <li>If the regenerative energy of the motor becomes excessive and exceeds the regenerative energy consumption capability, this function stops the decrease in frequency to prevent overvoltage trip. As soon as the regenerative energy has decreased, deceleration resumes.</li> <li>If the regenerative energy of the motor becomes excessive when regeneration avoidance function is selected (<i>Pr. 882</i> = 1), this function increases the speed to prevent overvoltage trip. (<i>Refer topage 351.</i>)</li> </ul>			
Check point	<ul> <li>Check for sudden speed reduction.</li> <li>Regeneration avoidance function (<i>Pr. 882 to Pr. 886</i>) is being used? (<i>Refer topage 351.</i>)</li> </ul>				
Corrective action	The decelerat	The deceleration time may change. Increase the deceleration time using <i>Pr. 8 Deceleration time</i> .			

Operation Panel Indication	PS	PS	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	PS
Name	PU stop			
Description	Stop with (Stop with (Stop)) of the PU is set in <i>Pr. 75 Reset selection/disconnected PU detection/PU stop selection.</i> (For <i>Pr. 75</i> , refer to page 278.)			
Check point	Check for a stop made by pressing (RESET) of the operation panel.			
Corrective action	Turn the start signal off and release with $\frac{PU}{EXT}$ .			

Operation Panel Indication	тн	Г Н	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	тн	
Name	Electronic thermal relay function prealarm				
Description	Appears if the cumulative value of the <i>Pr. 9 Electronic thermal O/L relay</i> reaches or exceeds 85% of the preset level. If it reaches 100% of the <i>Pr. 9 Electronic thermal O/L relay</i> setting, a motor overload trip (E. THM) occurs. The THP signal can be simultaneously output with the [TH] display. For the terminal used for the THP signal output, assign the function by setting "8" (positive logic) or "108" (negative logic) in any of <i>Pr. 190</i> to <i>Pr. 196</i> (output terminal function selection). ( <i>Refer to page 214</i> )				
Check point	<ol> <li>Check for large load or sudden acceleration.</li> <li>Is the Pr. 9 Electronic thermal O/L relay setting is appropriate? (Refer to page 165.)</li> </ol>				
Corrective action	<ol> <li>Reduce the load weight or the number of operation times.</li> <li>Set an appropriate value in <i>Pr</i>: 9 Electronic thermal O/L relay. (Refer to page 165.)</li> </ol>				

 $\mathbb{Z}$ 

Operation Panel	мт	חר	FR-PU04		
Indication			FR-PU07	MT	
Name	Maintenance signal output				
Description	Indicates that the cumulative energization time of the inverter has reached a given time. When the setting of <i>Pr. 504 Maintenance timer alarm output set time</i> is the initial value ( <i>Pr. 504</i> = "9999"), this protective function does not function.				
Check point	The <i>Pr. 503 Maintenance timer</i> setting is larger than the <i>Pr. 504 Maintenance timer alarm output set time</i> setting. ( <i>Refer topage 357.</i> )				
Corrective action	Setting "0" in Pr. 503 Maintenance timer erraces the signal.				

Operation Panel	CP	EP -	FR-PU04		
Indication			FR-PU07	СР	
Name	Parameter copy				
Description	Displayed when parameters are copied between the FR-A701 series and FR-A700 series 75K or more.				
Check point	Check that parameters are not copied between the FR-A701 series and FR-A700 series 75K or more.				
Corrective action	Copy between the same FR-A701 series.				

Operation Panel	SI	51	FR-PU04			
Indication	JL JL		FR-PU07	SL		
Name	Speed limit indication (output during speed limit)					
Description	Output if the s	Output if the speed limit level is exceeded during torque control.				
Check point	<ul><li>Check that the torque command is not larger than required.</li><li>Check that the speed limit level is not low.</li></ul>					
Corrective action	Decrease the torque command.     Increase the speed limit level.					



When an alarm occurs, the output is not shut off. You can also output an alarm signal by making parameter setting. (Set "98" in any of *Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection). (Refer topage 214.)*)

Operation Panel Indication	FN	۶n	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	FN	
Name	Fan fault				
Description	For the inverter that contains a cooling fan, $F_{n}$ appears on the operation panel when the cooling fan stops due to a fault or different operation from the setting of <i>Pr. 244 Cooling fan operation selection</i> .				
Check point	Check the cooling fan for a fault.				
Corrective action	Check for fan fault. Please contact your sales representative.				

#### (4) Fault

When a fault occurs, the inverter trips and a fault signal is output.

Operation Panel Indication	E.OC1	8.80	1	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	OC During Acc
Name	Overcurrent tr	ip during accele	eration		
Description	When the inve acceleration, t	rter output currenter output currenter output currenter output currenter of the protective circle of the protective circle of the protective currenter of the protecurrent	ent reach rcuit is ac	nes or exceeds a ctivated to stop t	approximately 220% of the rated current during the inverter output.
Check point	<ol> <li>Check for sudden acceleration.</li> <li>Check that the downward acceleration time is not long in vertical lift application.</li> <li>Check that the downward acceleration time is not long in vertical lift application.</li> <li>Check for output short circuit.</li> <li>Check that the <i>Pr. 3 Base frequency</i> setting is not 60Hz when the motor rated frequency is 50Hz.</li> <li>Check that stall prevention operation is correct.</li> <li>Check that the regeneration is not performed frequently. (Check that the output voltage becomes larger than the V/F reference voltage at regeneration and overcurrent due to increase in motor current occurs.)</li> <li>Check that the power supply for RS-485 terminal is not shorted. (under vector control)</li> <li>Check that the rotation direction is not switched from forward to reverse rotation (or from reverse to forward) during torgue control under real sensorless vector control.</li> </ol>				
Corrective action	<ul> <li>forward) during torque control under real sensorless vector control.</li> <li>1. Increase the acceleration time. (Shorten the downward acceleration time in vertical lift application.)</li> <li>2. When "E.OC1" is always lit at starting, disconnect the motor once and start the inverter. If "E.OC1" is still lit, contact your sales representative.</li> <li>3. Check the wiring to make sure that output short circuit does not occur.</li> <li>4. Set the <i>Pr. 3 Base frequency</i> to 50Hz. (<i>Refer to page 142.</i>)</li> <li>5. Perform a correct stall prevention operation. (<i>Refer to page 135.</i>)</li> <li>6. Set base voltage (rated voltage of the motor, etc.) in <i>Pr. 19 Base frequency voltage. (Refer to page 142.</i>)</li> <li>7. Check RS-485 terminal connection. (under vector control)</li> <li>8. Prevent the motor from switching the rotation direction from forward to reverse (or from reverse t former to page 1) during the prevent operation operation operation formation context operation.</li> </ul>				

Operation Panel Indication	E.OC2	5.00.3	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	Stedy Spd OC			
Name	Overcurrent tr	ip during constant speed	1				
Description	When the inve constant spee	When the inverter output current reaches or exceeds approximately 220% of the rated current during constant speed operation, the protective circuit is activated to stop the inverter output.					
Check point	<ol> <li>Check for sudden load change.</li> <li>Check for output short circuit.</li> <li>Check that stall prevention operation is correct</li> <li>Check that the power supply for RS-485 terminal is not shorted. (under vector control)</li> <li>Check that the rotation direction is not switched from forward to reverse rotation (or from reverse to forward) during torque control under real sensorless vector control.</li> </ol>						
Corrective action	<ol> <li>forward) during torque control under real sensorless vector control.</li> <li>Keep load stable.</li> <li>Check the wiring to make sure that output short circuit does not occur.</li> <li>Check that stall prevention operation setting is correct. (<i>Refer to page 135.</i>)</li> <li>Check RS-485 terminal connection. (under vector control)</li> <li>Prevent the motor from switching the rotation direction from forward to reverse (or from reverse to forward) during torque control under real sensorless vector control.</li> </ol>						

Operation Panel Indication	E.OC3	E.OC 3	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	OC During Dec		
Name	Overcurrent tr	rip during deceleration or	- stop			
Description	When the inverter output current reaches or exceeds approximately 220% of the rated inverter current during deceleration (other than acceleration or constant speed), the protective circuit is activated to stop the inverter output.					
Check point	<ol> <li>Check for sudden speed reduction.</li> <li>Check for output short circuit.</li> <li>Check for too fast operation of the motor's mechanical brake.</li> <li>Check that stall prevention operation setting is correct.</li> <li>Check that the power supply for RS-485 terminal is not shorted. (under vector control)</li> <li>Check that the rotation direction is not switched from forward to reverse rotation (or from reverse to forward) during torque control under real sensoriess vector control</li> </ol>					
Corrective action	<ol> <li>Torward) during torque control under real sensorless vector control.</li> <li>Increase the deceleration time.</li> <li>Check the wiring to make sure that output short circuit does not occur.</li> <li>Check the mechanical brake operation.</li> <li>Check that stall prevention operation setting is correct. (<i>Refer to page 135.</i>)</li> <li>Check RS-485 terminal connection. (under vector control)</li> <li>Prevent the motor from switching the rotation direction from forward to reverse (or from reverse to forward) during torque control under real sensorless vector control.</li> </ol>					

 $\mathbb{Z}$ 

Operation Panel Indication	E.OV1	8.0u i	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	OV During Acc		
Name	Regenerative	overvoltage trip during	acceleration			
Description	If regenerative energy causes the inverter's internal main circuit DC voltage to reach or exceed the specified value, the protective circuit is activated to stop the inverter output. The circuit may also be activated by a surge voltage produced in the power supply system. Protective circuit may activate even if the regeneration converter is not activated due to power supply failure (Input phase failure and instantaneous power failure).					
Check point	<ol> <li>Check for power supply fault or wrong wiring.</li> <li>Check for too slow acceleration. (e.g. during descending acceleration in vertical lift load)</li> <li>Check that the <i>Pr. 22 Stall prevention operation level</i> is not lower than the no load current.</li> </ol>					
Corrective action	<ol> <li>Perform wir</li> <li>Decrease</li> <li>Use rege</li> <li>Set a value</li> </ol>	<ol> <li>Cneck that the Pr. 22 Stall prevention operation level is not lower than the no load current.</li> <li>Perform wiring correctly.</li> <li>Decrease the acceleration time.         <ul> <li>Use regeneration avoidance function (Pr. 882 to Pr. 886). (Refer to page 351.)</li> </ul> </li> <li>Set a value larger than the no load current in Pr. 22 Stall prevention operation level.</li> </ol>				

Operation Panel Indication	E.OV2	5.003	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	Stedy Spd OV	
Name	Regenerative of	overvoltage trip during co	nstant speed		
Description	If regenerative energy causes the inverter's internal main circuit DC voltage to reach or exceed the specified value, the protective circuit is activated to stop the inverter output. The circuit may also be activated by a surge voltage produced in the power supply system. Protective circuit may activate even if the regeneration converter is not activated due to power supply failure (Input phase failure and instantaneous power failure).				
Check point	<ul> <li>Check for power supply fault or wrong wiring.</li> <li>Check for sudden load change.</li> <li>Check that the <i>Pr. 22 Stall prevention operation level</i> is not lower than the no load current.</li> </ul>				
Corrective action	<ul> <li>Perform wir</li> <li>Keep load s</li> <li>Use regene</li> <li>Set a value</li> </ul>	ing correctly. table. ration avoidance functio larger than the no load o	n (Pr. 882 to Pr. 8 current in Pr. 22	886). (Refer to page 351.) Stall prevention operation level.	

Operation Panel Indication	E.OV3	E.Ou 3	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	OV During Dec	
Name	Regenerative	overvoltage trip during d	eceleration or s	top	
Description	If regenerative energy causes the inverter's internal main circuit DC voltage to reach or exceed the specified value, the protective circuit is activated to stop the inverter output. The circuit may also be activated by a surge voltage produced in the power supply system. Protective circuit may activate even if the regeneration converter is not activated due to power supply failure (Input phase failure and instantaneous power failure).				
Check point	<ul> <li>Check for power supply fault or wrong wiring.</li> <li>Check for sudden speed reduction.</li> </ul>				
Corrective action	<ul> <li>Perform wiring correctly.</li> <li>Increase the deceleration time. (Set the deceleration time which matches the moment of inertia of the load)</li> <li>Decrease the braking duty.</li> <li>Use regeneration avoidance function (<i>Pr. 882 to Pr. 886</i>). (<i>Refer to page 351.</i>)</li> </ul>				

 $\mathbb{Z}$ 

Operation Panel Indication	E.THT	E.F.H.F	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	Inv. Overload		
Name	Inverter overlo	oad trip (electronic therr	nal relay functior	ו) *1		
Description	If a current not less than 150% of the rated output current flows and overcurrent trip does not occur (220% or less), the electronic thermal relay activate to stop the inverter output in order to protect the output transistors. (Overload capacity 150% 60s inverse-time characteristics)					
Check point	1.Check that a 2.Check that t 3.Check that I 4.Check the n	<ol> <li>Check that acceleration/deceleration time is not too short.</li> <li>Check that torque boost setting is not too large (small).</li> <li>Check that load pattern selection setting is appropriate for the load pattern of the using machine.</li> <li>Check the motor for use under overload.</li> </ol>				
Corrective action	<ol> <li>Increase acceleration/deceleration time.</li> <li>Adjust the torque boost setting.</li> <li>Set the load pattern selection setting according to the load pattern of the using machine.</li> <li>Reduce the load weight.</li> </ol>					

Operation Panel Indication	E.THM	6.C H N	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	Motor Ovrload		
Name	Motor overloa	d trip (electronic thermal	l relay function) <sup>,</sup>	1		
Description	The electronic thermal relay function in the inverter detects motor overheat due to overload or reduced cooling capability during constant-speed operation and pre-alarm (TH display) is output when the $I^2$ t value reaches 85% of the <i>Pr. 9 Electronic thermal O/L relay</i> setting and the protection circuit is activated to stop the inverter output when the $I^2$ t value reaches the specified value. When running a special motor such as a multi-pole motor or two motors, provide a thermal relay on the inverter output side since such motor(s) cannot be protected by the electronic thermal relay function.					
Check point	<ol> <li>Check the motor for use under overload.</li> <li>Check that the setting of <i>Pr. 71 Applied motor</i> for motor selection is correct. (<i>Refer to page 169.</i>)</li> <li>Check that stall prevention operation setting is correct.</li> </ol>					
Corrective action	1. Reduce the 2. For a consta 3. Check that	load weight. ant-torque motor, set the stall prevention operatio	constant-torque	e motor in Pr. 71 Applied motor. ect. (Refer to page 135.)		

Resetting the inverter initializes the internal thermal integrated data of the electronic thermal relay function.

Operation Panel Indication	E.FIN	6.F1 n	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	H/Sink O/Temp		
Name	Fin overheat					
Description	If the heatsink overheats, the temperature sensor is actuated to stop the inverter output. The FIN signal can be output when the temperature becomes approximately 85% of the heatsink overheat protection operation temperature. For the terminal used for the FIN signal output, assign the function by setting "26" (positive logic) or "126" (negative logic) in any of <i>Pr. 190 to Pr. 196 (output terminal function selection). (Refer to page 214)</i>					
Check point	1. Check for too high surrounding air temperature.         2. Check for heatsink clogging.         3. Check that the cooling fan is stopped. (Check that $F_{in}$ is displayed on the operation panel.)					
Corrective action	<ol> <li>Set the surrounding air temperature to within the specifications.</li> <li>Clean the heatsink.</li> <li>Replace the cooling fan.</li> </ol>					

Operation Panel Indication	E.IPF	EJ PF	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	Inst. Pwr. Loss	
Name	Instantaneous	power failure			
Description	If a power failure occurs for longer than 15ms (this also applies to inverter input shut-off), the instantaneous power failure protective function is activated to trip the inverter in order to prevent the control circuit from malfunctioning. If a power failure persists for longer than 100ms, the fault output is not provided, and the inverter restarts if the start signal is on upon power restoration. (The inverter continues operating if an instantaneous power failure is within 15ms.) In some operating status (load magnitude, acceleration/deceleration time setting, etc.), overcurrent or other protection may be activated upon power restoration.				
Check point	Find the cause of instantaneous power failure occurrence.				
Corrective action	<ul> <li>Remedy the instantaneous power failure.</li> <li>Prepare a backup power supply for instantaneous power failure.</li> <li>Set the function of automatic restart after instantaneous power failure (<i>Pr. 57</i>). (<i>Refer to page 239.</i>)</li> </ul>				

Operation Panel Indication	E.UVT	٦،٤٤	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	Under Voltage		
Name	Undervoltage					
Description	If the power supply voltage of the inverter decreases, the control circuit will not perform normal functions. In addition, the motor torque will be insufficient and/or heat generation will increase. To prevent this, if the power supply voltage decreases below about 150VAC (300VAC for the 400V class), this function stops the inverter output. When undervoltage protection is activated, the IPE signal is output. ( <i>Refer to page 239</i> )					
Check point	Check for start of large-capacity motor.					
Corrective action	<ul> <li>Check the power supply system equipment such as the power supply.</li> <li>If the problem still persists after taking the above measure, please contact your sales representative.</li> </ul>					

Operation Panel	<b>E 11 E</b>	ELLE	FR-PU04	Fault 14	
Indication	E.ILF		FR-PU07	Input phase loss	
Name	Input phase failure				
Description	This fault is output when function valid setting (= 1) is set in <i>Pr.</i> 872 Input phase loss protection selection and one phase of the three phase power input is lost. ( <i>Refer to page 249.</i> )				
Check point	Check for a break in the cable for the three-phase power supply input.				
Corrective action	<ul> <li>Wire the cables properly.</li> <li>Repair a break portion in the cable.</li> <li>Check the <i>Pr. 872 Input phase loss protection selection setting.</i></li> </ul>				

Operation Panel Indication	E.OLT	E.OL F	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	Stll Prev STP ( OL shown during stall prevention operation)		
Name	Stall prevention	n				
Description	If the frequency has fallen to 0.5Hz by stall prevention operation and remains for 3s, a fault (E.OLT) appears and trips the inverter. OL appears while stall prevention is being activated. When speed control is performed by real sensorless vector control or vector control, a fault (E.OLT) is displayed and the inverter output is stopped if frequency drops to the <i>Pr: 865 Low speed detection</i> (initial value is 1.5Hz) setting by torque limit operation and the output torque exceeds <i>Pr: 874 OLT level setting</i> (initial value is 150%) setting and remains for more than 3s.					
Check point	<ul> <li>Check the motor for use under overload. (<i>Refer to page 135.</i>)</li> <li>Check that the <i>Pr. 865 Low speed detection</i> and <i>Pr. 874 OLT level setting</i> values are correct. (Check the <i>Pr. 22 Stall prevention operation level</i> setting if V/F control is exercised.)</li> </ul>					
Corrective action	<ul> <li>Reduce the load weight.</li> <li>Change the Pr. 22 Stall prevention operation level, Pr. 865 Low speed detection and Pr. 874 OLT level setting values. (Check the Pr. 22 Stall prevention operation level setting if V/F control is exercised.)</li> </ul>					

Operation Panel Indication	E.GF	E. GF	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	Ground Fault		
Name	Output side ea	Output side earth (ground) fault overcurrent				
Description	This function stops the inverter output if an earth (ground) fault overcurrent flows due to an earth (ground) fault that occurred on the inverter's output (load) side.					
Check point	Check for an earth (ground) fault in the motor and connection cable.					
Corrective action	Remedy the earth (ground) fault portion.					

Operation Panel Indication	E.LF	Ε.	LF	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	E. LF	
Name	Output phase	Output phase loss				
Description	This function stops the inverter output if one of the three phases (U, V, W) on the inverter's output side (load side) is lost.					
Check point	<ul> <li>Check the wiring (Check that the motor is normal.)</li> <li>Check that the capacity of the motor used is not smaller than that of the inverter.</li> </ul>					
Corrective action	<ul> <li>Wire the cables properly.</li> <li>Check the Pr. 251 Output phase loss protection selection setting.</li> </ul>					

 $\mathbb{Z}$ 

Operation Panel Indication	E.OHT	E.0HF	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	OH Fault		
Name	External thern	nal relay operation				
Description	If the external thermal relay provided for motor overheat protection, or the internally mounted temperature relay in the motor, etc. switches on (contacts open), the inverter output is stopped. Functions when "7" (OH signal) is set in any of <i>Pr. 178</i> to <i>Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)</i> . When the initial value (without OH signal assigned) is set, this protective function does not function.					
Check point	<ul> <li>Check for motor overheating.</li> <li>Check that the value of 7 (OH signal) is set correctly in any of <i>Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection)</i>.</li> </ul>					
Corrective action	<ul> <li>Reduce the</li> <li>Even if the</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Reduce the load and operating duty.</li> <li>Even if the relay contacts are reset automatically, the inverter will not restart unless it is reset.</li> </ul>				

Operation Panel	E PTC	6.256	FR-PU04	Fault 14	
Indication	E.FTC		FR-PU07	PTC activated	
Name	PTC thermisto	or operation			
Description	Stops the inverter output when the motor overheat status is detected for 10s or more by the external PTC thermistor input connected to the terminal AU. This fault functions when "63" is set in <i>Pr. 184 AU terminal function selection</i> and AU/PTC switchover switch is set in PTC side. When the initial value ( <i>Pr. 184</i> = "4") is set, this protective function does not function.				
Check point	<ul> <li>Check the connection between the PTC thermistor switch and thermal protector.</li> <li>Check the motor for operation under overload.</li> <li>Is valid setting (= 63) selected in <i>Pr. 184 AU terminal function selection ? (Refer to page 168, 206.)</i></li> </ul>				
Corrective action	Reduce the load weight.				

Operation Panel Indication	E.OPT	190.3	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	Option Fault		
Name	Option alarm					
Description	Appears when torque command by the plug-in option is selected using <i>Pr. 804 Torque command source selection</i> and no plug-in option is mounted. Appears when the switch for the manufacturer setting of the plug-in option is changed.					
Check point	Check that the plug-in option for torque command setting is connected.					
Corrective action	<ul> <li>Check for connection of the plug-in option. Check the <i>Pr. 804 Torque command source selection</i> setting.</li> <li>Return the switch for the manufacturer setting of the plug-in option to the initial status. <i>(Refer to instruction manual of each option)</i></li> </ul>					

Operation Panel Indication	E.OP3	E.0P3	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	Option 3 Fault	
Name	Communicatio	on option alarm			
Description	Stops the inve	rter output when a comr	munication line e	error occurs in the communication option.	
Check point	<ul> <li>Check for a wrong option function setting and operation.</li> <li>Check that the plug-in option is plugged into the connector securely.</li> <li>Check for a break in the communication cable.</li> <li>Check that the terminating resistor is fitted properly.</li> </ul>				
Corrective action	<ul> <li>Check the option function setting, etc.</li> <li>Connect the plug-in option securely.</li> <li>Check the connection of communication cable.</li> </ul>				

Operation Panel Indication	E. 1 to E. 3	E. 8	 	to 3	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	Fault 1 to Fault 3		
Name	Option fault							
Description	Stops the inve occurs or if a Appears when	Stops the inverter output if a contact faullt, etc. of the connector between the inverter and plug-in option occurs or if a communication option is fitted to the connector 1 or 2. Appears when the switch for the manufacturer setting of the plug-in option is changed.						
Check point	<ol> <li>Check that the plug-in option is plugged into the connector securely. (1 to 3 indicate the option connector numbers.)</li> <li>Check for excess electrical noises around the inverter.</li> <li>Check that the communication option is not fitted to the connector 1 or 2.</li> </ol>							
Corrective action	<ol> <li>Check that the communication option is not fitted to the connector 1 or 2.</li> <li>Connect the plug-in option securely.</li> <li>Take measures against noises if there are devices producing excess electrical noises around the inverter. If the problem still persists after taking the above measure, please contact your sales representative or distributor.</li> <li>Fit the communication option to the connector 3.</li> <li>Return the switch for the manufacturer setting of the plug-in option to the initial status. (<i>Refer to</i> instruction manual of each option)</li> </ol>							

 $\mathbb{Z}$ 

Operation Panel Indication	E.PE	Ε.	PE	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	Corrupt Memry		
Name	Parameter sto	Parameter storage device fault (control circuit board)					
Description	Stops the inve	Stops the inverter output if fault occurred in the parameter stored. (EEPROM failure)					
Check point	Check for too	Check for too many number of parameter write times.					
Corrective action	Please contact your sales representative. When performing parameter write frequently for communication purposes, set "1" in <i>Pr. 342</i> to enable RAM write. Note that powering off returns the inverter to the status before RAM write.						

Operation Panel	E DE2	coco	FR-PU04	Fault 14				
Indication			FR-PU07	PR storage alarm				
Name	Parameter sto	Parameter storage device fault (main circuit board)						
Description	Stops the inve	Stops the inverter output if fault occurred in the parameter stored. (EEPROM failure)						
Check point								
Corrective action	Please contact your sales representative.							

Operation Panel Indication	E.PUE	<i>E.PUE</i>	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	PU Leave Out				
Name	PU disconnec	ction						
Description	<ul> <li>This function stops the inverter output if communication between the inverter and PU is suspended, e.g. the operation panel and parameter unit is disconnected, when "2", "3", "16" or "17" was set in <i>Pr. 75 Reset selection/disconnected PU detection/PU stop selection.</i></li> <li>This function stops the inverter output when communication errors occurred consecutively for more than permissible number of retries when a value other than "9999" is set in <i>Pr. 121 Number of PU communication retries</i> during the RS-485 communication with the PU connector.</li> <li>This function stops the inverter output if communication is broken within the period of time set in <i>Pr. 101</i>.</li> </ul>							
Check point	<ul> <li>Check that t</li> <li>Check the <i>P</i></li> </ul>	neck that the FR-DU07 or parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07) is fitted tightly. neck the <i>Pr</i> : <i>75</i> setting.						
Corrective action	Fit the FR-DU07 or parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07) securely							

Operation Panel Indication	E.RET	8.r.81	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	Retry No Over			
Name	Retry count excess						
Description	If operation cannot be resumed properly within the number of retries set, this function trips the inverter. Functions only when <i>Pr. 67 Number of retries at fault occurrence</i> is set. When the initial value ( <i>Pr. 67</i> = "0") is set, this protective function does not function.						
Check point	Find the cause of alarm occurrence.						
Corrective action	Eliminate the cause of the error preceding this error indication.						

Causes and corrective actions



Operation Panel	ECTE	rrrr	FR-PU04			
Indication	E.CTE	C.L / C	FR-PU07	E.CTE		
Name	Operation par	nel power supply short ci	rcuit, RS-485 te	it, RS-485 terminal power supply short circuit		
Description	When the operation panel power supply (PU connector) is shorted, this function shuts off power output and stops the inverter output. At this time, the operation panel (parameter unit) cannot be used and RS-485 communication from the PU connector cannot be made. When the internal power supply for the RS-485 terminals are shorted, this function shuts off the power output. At this time, communication from the RS-485 terminals cannot be made. To reset enter the RES signal or switch power off then on again					
Check point	<ol> <li>Check for a short circuit in the PU connector cable.</li> <li>Check that the RS-485 terminals are connected correctly.</li> </ol>					
Corrective action	1. Check the PU and cable. 2. Check the connection of the RS-485 terminals					

Operation Panel Indication E.MB1 to 7	Filh / to	FR-PU04						
	Ē.060	FR-PU07	E.MB1 Fault to E.MB7 Fault					
Name	Brake sequen	Brake sequence error						
Description	The inverter of function ( <i>Pr. 2</i> ) sequence function	The inverter output is stopped when a sequence error occurs during use of the brake sequence function ( <i>Pr. 278</i> to <i>Pr. 285</i> ). This protective function does not function in the initial status (brake sequence function is invalid). ( <i>Refer to page 192</i> )						
Check point	Find the cause of alarm occurrence.							
Corrective action	Check the set parameters and perform wiring properly.							

Operation Panel Indication	E.OS	Ε.	05	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	E. OS		
Name	Overspeed or	Overspeed occurence					
Description	Stops the inverter output when the motor speed exceeds the <i>Pr. 374 Overspeed detection level</i> during encoder feedback control real sensorless vector control and vector control. This protective function does not function in the initial status.						
Check point	<ul> <li>Check that the <i>Pr. 374 Overspeed detection level</i> value is correct.</li> <li>Check that the number of encoder pulses does not differ from the actual number of encoder pulses.</li> </ul>						
Corrective action	<ul> <li>Set the <i>Pr. 374 Overspeed detection level</i> value correctly.</li> <li>Set the correct number of encoder pulses in <i>Pr. 369 Number of encoder pulses.</i></li> </ul>						

Operation Panel Indication	E.OSD	8.05d	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	E. OSd					
Name	Speed deviation	Speed deviation excess detection							
Description	Stops the inverter output if the motor speed is increased or decreased under the influence of the load etc. during vector control with <i>Pr. 285 Speed deviation excess detection frequency</i> set and cannot be controlled in accordance with the speed command value. This protective function does not function in the initial status.								
Check point	<ul> <li>Check that t time are corr</li> <li>Check for su</li> <li>Check that t</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Check that the values of <i>Pr. 285 Speed deviation excess detection frequency</i> and <i>Pr. 853 Speed deviation time</i> are correct.</li> <li>Check for sudden load change.</li> <li>Check that the number of encoder pulses does not differ from the actual number of encoder pulses.</li> </ul>							
Corrective action	<ul> <li>Set Pr. 285 Speed deviation excess detection frequency and Pr. 853 Speed deviation time correctly.</li> <li>Keep load stable.</li> <li>Set the correct number of encoder pulses in Pr. 369 Number of encoder pulses.</li> </ul>								

 $\mathbb{Z}$ 

Operation Panel Indication	E.ECT	7.3 <i>3</i> .3	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	E. ECT				
Name	Signal loss de	etection						
Description	Trips the inverter output when the encoder signal is shut off under orientation control, encoder feedback control or vector control. This protective function does not function in the initial status.							
Check point	<ul> <li>Check for the encoder signal loss.</li> <li>Check that the encoder specifications are correct.</li> <li>Check for a loose connector.</li> <li>Check that the switch setting of the FR-A7AP is correct.</li> <li>Check that the power is supplied to the encoder. Or, check that the power is not supplied to the encoder later than the inverter.</li> </ul>							
Corrective action	<ul> <li>Remedy the signal loss.</li> <li>Use an encoder that meets the specifications.</li> <li>Make connection securely.</li> <li>Make a switch setting of the FR-A7AP correctly. (<i>Refer to page 31</i>)</li> <li>Supply the power to the encoder. Or supply the power to the encoder at the same time when the power is supplied to the inverter.</li> <li>If the power is supplied to the encoder after the inverter, check that the encoder signal is securely sent and set "0" in <i>Pr. 376</i>.</li> </ul>							

Operation Panel	E OD	Ļ	02	FR-PU04	Fault 14	
Indication	L.OD	L.		FR-PU07	E. Od	
Name	Excessive pos	sition error				
Description	Stops the inverter output when the difference between the position command and position feedback exceeds <i>Pr. 427 Excessive level error</i> under position control. This protective function does not function in the initial status.					
Check point	<ul> <li>Check that the position detecting encoder mounting orientation matches the parameter.</li> <li>Check that the load is not large.</li> <li>Check that the <i>Pr. 427 Excessive level error</i> and <i>Pr. 369 Number of encoder pulses</i> are correct.</li> </ul>					
Corrective action	<ul> <li>Check the parameters.</li> <li>Reduce the load weight.</li> <li>Set the <i>Pr. 427 Excessive level error</i> and <i>Pr. 369 Number of encoder pulses</i> correctly.</li> </ul>					

Operation Panel	E ED	cco	FR-PU04	Fault 14			
Indication	C.CF		FR-PU07	E.EP			
Name	Encoder phase error						
Description	Stops the inverter output when the rotation command of the inverter differs from the actual motor rotation direction detected from the encoder. This protective function does not function in the initial status.						
Check point	<ul> <li>Check for mis-wiring of the encoder cable.</li> <li>Check for wrong setting of <i>Pr. 359 Encoder rotation direction</i>.</li> </ul>						
Corrective action	<ul> <li>Perform connection and wiring securely.</li> <li>Change the <i>Pr. 359 Encoder rotation direction</i> value.</li> </ul>						


Operation Panel	E CDO	сгра	FR-PU04	Fault 14	
Indication	E.CDO	C.L 0 U	FR-PU07	OC detect level	
Name	Output curren	t detection value exceed	ed		
Description	Stops the inverter output when the output current exceeds the setting of <i>Pr. 150 Output current detection level</i> . Functions when <i>Pr. 167 Output current detection operation selection</i> is set to "1". When the initial value ( <i>Pr. 167</i> = "0") is set, this protective function does not function.				
Check point	Check the settings of <i>Pr. 150 Output current detection level</i> , <i>Pr. 151 Output current detection signal delay time</i> , <i>Pr. 166 Output current detection signal retention time</i> , <i>Pr. 167 Output current detection operation selection</i> . ( <i>Refer to page 223.</i> )				

Operation Panel	EIOH	ci nu	FR-PU04	Fault 14	
Indication	E.IOH		FR-PU07	Inrush overheat	
Name	Inrush current limit circuit fault				
Description	Stops the inverter output when the resistor of inrush current limit circuit overheated. The inrush current limit circuit failure				
Check point	<ul> <li>Check that frequent power ON/OFF is not repeated.</li> <li>Check that the power supply circuit of inrush current limit circuit contactor is not damaged.</li> </ul>				
Corrective action	Configure a circuit where frequent power ON/OFF is not repeated. If the problem still persists after taking the above measure, please contact your sales representative.				

Operation Panel	E SED	CCC.	FR-PU04	Fault 14		
Indication	E.SER	C.JC/	FR-PU07	VFD Comm error		
Name	Communicatio	cation error (inverter)				
Description	This function stops the inverter output when communication error occurs consecutively for more than permissible retry count when a value other than "9999" is set in <i>Pr. 335 RS-485 communication retry count</i> during RS-485 communication from the RS-485 terminals. This function also stops the inverter output if communication is broken for the period of time set in <i>Pr. 336 RS-485 communication check time interval.</i>					
Check point	Check the RS-485 terminal wiring.					
Corrective action	Perform wiring of the RS-485 terminals properly.					

Operation Panel		CO! C	FR-PU04	Fault 14	
Indication	E.AIE		FR-PU07	Analog in error	
Name	Analog input e	error			
Description	Stops the inverter output when 30mA or more is input or a voltage (7.5V or more) is input with the terminal 2/4 set to current input.				
Check point	Check the setting of <i>Pr. 73 Analog input selection</i> , <i>Pr. 267 Terminal 4 input selection</i> and voltage/current input switch. ( <i>Refer to page 259.</i> )				
Corrective action	Either give a f input selection,	requency command by and voltage/current inp	current input or s ut switch to volta	set Pr. 73 Analog input selection, Pr. 267 Terminal 4 age input.	

Operation Panel Indication	E.4	ε.	Ч	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	Fault 4	
Name	Converter over	rcurrent				
Description	The current flows in the regeneration converter module exceeds the specified value, protective circuit activates and stops the inverter output.					
Check point	<ol> <li>Check that sudden acceleration/deceleration is not performed.</li> <li>Check for sudden load change.</li> <li>Check that wiring is correct.</li> <li>Check that instantaneous power failure did not occur.</li> <li>Check that the thyristor load does not exist in the same power supply system.</li> </ol>					
Corrective action	1. Increase ac 2. Keep load s 3. Wire the ca 4. When a thy	celeration/d table. bles properl ristor load e	eceleratior y. xist in the s	n time. same power supp	ly system, install an AC reactor (FR-HAL).	

 $\mathbb{Z}$ 

Operation Panel Indication	E.8	Ε.	8	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	Fault 8	
Name	Power supply	fault				
Description	<ul> <li>When overvoltage occurs in the converter side during input phase failure detection</li> <li>When overvoltage occurs in the converter side during instantaneous power failure detection</li> <li>When fault of power supply frequency is detected</li> <li>When phase shift is not detected</li> <li>When any of the above conditions applied, it is judged as power supply and the inverter output is stopped.</li> </ul>					
Check point	Check the power supply and wiring.					
Corrective action	Perform wiring correctly.					

Operation Panel Indication	E.10	Ε.	10	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	Fault 10			
Name	Converter trar	Converter transistor protection thermal operation (electronic thermal)						
Description	Current flowing in the module of the regeneration converter is less than the overcurrent shutoff level and exceeds the specified value, electronic thermal relay activates for protection and the inverter output is stopped.							
Check point	<ul> <li>Check the motor for use under overload. (excess regeneration amount)</li> <li>Check that the thyristor load does not exist in the same power supply system.</li> </ul>							
Corrective action	<ul> <li>Reduce the load weight.</li> <li>When a thyristor load exists in the same power supply system, install an AC reactor (FR-HAL).</li> </ul>							

Operation Panel Indication	E.11	Ε.	11		FR-PU04 FR-PU07	Fault 11
Name	Opposite rota	tion decele	eration faul	t		
Description	The speed may not decelerate during low speed operation if the rotation direction of the speed command and the estimated speed differ when the rotation is changing from forward to reverse or from reverse to forward during torque control under real sensorless vector control. At this time, the inverter output is stopped if the rotation direction will not change, causing overload. This protective function does not function in the initial status (V/F control). (It functions only during real sensorless vector control.)					
Check point	Check that the rotation direction is not switched from forward to reverse rotation (or from reverse to forward) during torque control under real sensorless vector control.					
Corrective action	<ul> <li>Prevent the motor from switching the rotation direction from forward to reverse (or from reverse to forward) during torque control under real sensorless vector control.</li> <li>Please contact your sales representative.</li> </ul>					

Operation Panel Indication	E.13	Ε.	13	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	Fault 13	
Name	Internal circuit error					
Description	Stop the inverter output when an internal circuit fault occurred.					
Corrective action	Please contact your sales representative.					

Operation Panel Indication	E.15	Ε.	15	FR-PU04 FR-PU07	Fault 15	
Name	Converter circ	uit fault				
Description	<ul> <li>When a fault occurs in the peripheral circuit of the regeneration converter CPU</li> <li>When a fault occurs in the control power supply circuit.</li> <li>When a fault occurs in the inrush current limit circuit.</li> <li>If any of the above conditions applied, it is judged as converter circuit fault and the inverter output is stopped.</li> </ul>					
Check point	Check for devices producing excess electrical noises around the inverter.					
Corrective action	<ul> <li>Take measure</li> <li>inverter.</li> <li>Please control</li> </ul>	ires agains act your sa	t noises if th lles represer	ere are devices   ntative.	producing excess electrical noises around the	

#### **\_\_\_\_** CAUTION =

If protective functions of E.ILF, E.PTC, E.PE2, E.EP, E.OD, E.CDO, E.IOH, E.SER, E.AIE are activated when using the FR-PU04, "Fault 14" appears. Also when the faults history is checked on the FR-PU04, the display is "E.14".
If faults other than the above appear, contact your sales representative.

## 5.4 Correspondences between digital and actual characters

There are the following correspondences between the actual alphanumeric characters and the digital characters displayed on the operation panel.



## 5.5 Check first when you have troubles

When performing real sensorless vector control or vector control, refer to trouble shooting on *page 93* (speed control), *page 114* (torque control) and *page 126* (position control) in addition to the following check points.

POINT

If the cause is still unknown after every check, it is recommended to initialize the parameters (initial value) then reset the required parameter values and check again.

## 5.5.1 Motor will not start

1) Check the <i>Pr.0 Torque boost</i> setting if V/F control is exercised. ( <i>Refer to page 129</i> )
2) Check the main circuit
Check that a proper power supply voltage is applied (operation panel display is provided). Check that the motor is connected properly.
3) Check the input signals
<ul> <li>Check that start signal is input.</li> <li>Check that both the forward and reverse rotation start signals are not input simultaneously.</li> <li>Check that the frequency setting signal is not zero. (When the frequency command is 0Hz and the start command is entered, FWD or REV LED on the operation panel flickers.)</li> <li>Check that the AU signal is on when terminal 4 is used for frequency setting.</li> <li>Check that the output stop signal (MRS) or reset signal (RES) is not on.</li> <li>Check that the CS signal is not OFF with automatic restart after instantaneous power failure function is selected (<i>Pr</i>: 57 ≠ "9999").</li> <li>Check that the sink or source jumper connector is fitted securely. (<i>Refer to page 25</i>)</li> <li>Check that the voltage/current input switch is correctly set for analog input signal (0 to 5V/0 to 10V, 4 to 20mA).</li> </ul>
4) Check the parameter settings
<ul> <li>Check that <i>Pr. 78 Reverse rotation prevention selection</i> is not selected.</li> <li>Check that the <i>Pr. 79 Operation mode selection</i> setting is correct.</li> <li>Check that the bias and gain (<i>calibration parameter C2 to C7</i>) settings are correct.</li> <li>Check that the <i>Pr. 13 Starting frequency</i> setting is not greater than the running frequency.</li> <li>Check that frequency settings of each running frequency (such as multi-speed operation) are not zero.</li> <li>Check that especially the <i>Pr. 1 Maximum frequency</i> setting is not zero.</li> <li>Check that the <i>Pr. 15 Jog frequency</i> setting is not lower than the <i>Pr. 13 Starting frequency</i> setting.</li> <li>Check that the <i>Pr. 359 Encoder rotation direction</i> setting under encoder feed back control or vector control is correct.</li> <li>Set "1" in <i>Pr. 359</i> if "REV" on the operation panel is on when the forward command is given.</li> <li>Check that the operation location by <i>Pr. 550</i> and <i>Pr. 551</i> is correct.</li> </ul>
5) Inspection of load
Check that the load is not too heavy. Check that the shaft is not locked.
5.5.2 Motor generates abnormal noise
-No carrier frequency noises (metallic noises) are generated.
Soft-PWM control to change the motor tone into an unoffending complex tone is factory-set to valid by Pr. 72 PWM frequency selection.
Adjust Pr. 72 PWM frequency selection to change the motor tone.

-Check that the gain value under real sensorless vector control or vector control is not too high. Check the setting of *Pr. 820 (Pr. 830) Speed control P gain* when speed control is exercised and *Pr. 824 (Pr. 834) Torque control P gain* when torque control is exercised.

-Check for any mechanical looseness.

-Contact the motor manufacturer.

### 5.5.3 Inverter generates abnormal noise.

-Check that a fan cover is correctly reinstalled when replacing a cooling fan.

-An AC reactor is built-in and a greater noise than at driving is produced during regeneration operation. But it is not a fault.

### 5.5.4 Motor generates heat abnormally

- -Is the fan for the motor is running? (Check for accumulated dust.)
- -Check that the load is not too heavy. Lighten the load.
- -Check that the inverter output voltages (U, V, W) balanced.
- -Check that the *Pr. 0 Torque boost* setting is correct.
- -Was the motor type set? Check the setting of *Pr. 71 Applied motor*.
- -When using any other manufacturer's motor, perform offline auto tuning. (Refer to page 171.)

### 5.5.5 Motor rotates in opposite direction

-Check that the phase sequence of output terminals U, V and W is correct.

-Check that the start signals (forward rotation, reverse rotation) are connected properly. (Refer to page 22)

## 5.5.6 Speed greatly differs from the setting

-Check that the frequency setting signal is correct. (Measure the input signal level.)

-Check that the Pr. 1, Pr. 2, Pr. 19, Calibration parameter C2 to C7 settings are correct.

- -Check that the input signal lines are not affected by external noise.
- (Use shielded cables)
- -Check that the load is not too heavy.
- -Check that the Pr. 31 to Pr. 36 (frequency jump) settings are correct.

### 5.5.7 Acceleration/deceleration is not smooth

-Check that the acceleration and deceleration time settings are not too short.

-Check that the load is not too heavy.

-Check that the torque boost (*Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112*) setting is not too large and the stall prevention function is not activated under V/F control.

### 5.5.8 Motor current is large

-Check that the load is not too heavy.

- -Check that the *Pr. 0 Torque boost* setting is appropriate.
- -Check that the Pr. 3 Base frequency setting is appropriate.
- —Check that the *Pr. 14 Load pattern selection* setting is appropriate.
- -Check that the *Pr. 19 Base frequency voltage* setting is appropriate.

## 5.5.9 Speed does not increase

-Check that the maximum frequency (*Pr. 1*) setting is correct. (If you want to run the motor at 120Hz or more, set *Pr. 18 High speed maximum frequency. (Refer to page 140.)*)

-Check that the load is not too heavy.

(In agitators, etc., load may become heavier in winter.)

-Check that the torque boost (*Pr. 0, Pr. 46, Pr. 112*) setting is not too large and the stall prevention function is not activated under V/F control.

### 5.5.10 The motor and machine vibrate.

-Set *Pr. 19 Base frequency voltage* to the rated motor voltage under V/F control.

-Check for any mechanical looseness.

5.5.11 Speed varies during operation
When advanced magnetic flux vector control, real sensorless vector control, vector control or encoder feedback control is exercised, the output frequency varies with load fluctuation between 0 and 2Hz. This is a normal operation and is not a fault.
1) Inspection of load
Check that the load is not varying.
2) Check the input signals
<ul> <li>Check that the frequency setting signal is not varying.</li> <li>Check that the frequency setting signal is not affected by noise. Input filter to the analog input terminal using <i>Pr. 74 Input filter time constant</i> and <i>Pr. 822 Speed setting filter 1</i>.</li> <li>Check for a malfunction due to undesirable currents when the transistor output unit is connected. <i>(Refer to page 26)</i></li> </ul>
3) Others
<ul> <li>Check that the settings of <i>Pr. 80 Motor capacity</i> and <i>Pr. 81 Number of motor poles</i> are correct to the inverter capacity and motor capacity under advanced magnetic flux vector control, real sensorless vector control or vector control.</li> <li>Check that the wiring length is not exceeding 30m when advanced magnetic flux vector control, real sensorless vector control or vector control is exercised. Perform offline auto tuning. (<i>Refer to pege 171</i>)</li> </ul>
-Change the Pr. 19 Base frequency voltage setting (about 3%) under V/F control.
5.5.12 Operation mode is not changed properly
If the operation mode does not change correctly, check the following:
1) Inspection of load
Check that the STF or STR signal is off. When it is on, the operation mode cannot be changed.

2) Parameter setting

-Check the Pr. 79 setting.

When the *Pr.* 79 Operation mode selection setting is "0" (initial value), the inverter is placed in external operation mode at input power-on. At this time, press  $\begin{pmatrix} PU \\ EXT \end{pmatrix}$  on the operation panel (press PU when the parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07) is used) to switch to PU operation mode.

-Check that the operation location by *Pr. 550* and *Pr. 551* is correct.(*Refer to page 292*)

## 5.5.13 Operation panel (FR-DU07) display is not operating

Check that the operation panel is connected to the inverter securely.

### 5.5.14 POWER lamp is not lit

-Check that wiring is securely performed and installation is correct.

### 5.5.15 Parameter write cannot be performed

—Make sure that operation is not being performed (signal STF or STR is not ON).

—Make sure that you are not attempting to set the parameter in external operation mode.

-Check Pr. 77 Parameter write selection.

-Check Pr. 161 Frequency setting/key lock operation selection.

-Check that the operation location by Pr. 550 and Pr. 551 is correct. (Refer to page 292)



This chapter provides the "PRECAUTIONS FOR MAINTENANCE AND INSPECTION" of this product. Always read the instructions before using the equipment

6.1	Inspection item	394
6.2	Measurement of main circuit voltages, currents an	d
	powers	400

The inverter is a static unit mainly consisting of semiconductor devices. Daily inspection must be performed to prevent

any fault from occurring due to the adverse effects of the operating environment, such as temperature, humidity, dust, dirt and vibration, changes in the parts with time, service life, and other factors.

#### • Precautions for maintenance and inspection

For some short time after the power is switched off, a high voltage remains in the smoothing capacitor. When accessing the inverter for inspection, wait for at least 10 minutes after the power supply has been switched off, and then make sure that the voltage across the main circuit terminals P/+-N/- of the inverter is not more than 30VDC using a tester, etc.

## 6.1 Inspection item

### 6.1.1 Daily inspection

Basically, check for the following faults during operation.

(1) Motor operation fault

(2) Improper installation environment

(3) Cooling system fault

(4) Unusual vibration and noise

(5) Unusual overheat and discoloration

During operation, check the inverter input voltages using a tester.

## 6.1.2 Periodic inspection

Check the areas inaccessible during operation and requiring periodic inspection.

Consult us for periodic inspection.

1) Check for cooling system fault.....Clean the air filter, etc.

2) Tightening check and retightening ........... The screws and bolts may become loose due to vibration, temperature changes, etc.

Tighten them according to the specified tightening torque. (Refer to page 18)

3) Check the conductors and insulating materials for corrosion and damage.

4) Measure insulation resistance.

5) Check and change the cooling fan and relay.

## 6.1.3 Daily and periodic inspection

ي ب				Inte	erval		's
Area of Inspectic	In	spection Item	Description	Daily	Periodic	Corrective Action at Alarm Occurrence	Customer Check
	Sur env	rounding rironment	Check the surrounding air temperature, humidity, dirt, corrosive gas, oil mist , etc.	0		Improve emvironment	
General	Ove	erall unit	Check for unusual vibration and noise.	0		Check alarm location and retighten	
	Pov volt	ver supply age	Check that the main circuit voltages and control voltages are normal.*1	0		Inspect the power supply	
			(1)Check with megger (across main circuit terminals and earth (ground) terminal).		0	Contact the manufacturer	
	Ger	neral	(2)Check for loose screws and bolts.		0	Retighten	
			(3)Check for overheat traces on the parts.		0	Contact the manufacturer	
			(4)Check for stain.		0	Clean	
			(1)Check conductors for distortion.		0	Contact the manufacturer	
	Cor	nductors, cables	(2)Check cable sheaths for breakage and deterioration (crack, discoloration, etc.).		0	Contact the manufacturer	
Main	Tra	nsformer/reactor	Check for unusual odor and abnormal increase in whining sound.	0		Stop the device and contact the manufacturer.	
circuit	Terminal block		Check for damage.		0	Stop the device and contact the manufacturer.	
	Sm	oothing	(1)Check for liquid leakage.		0	Contact the manufacturer	
	aluminum		(2)Check for safety valve projection and bulge.		0	Contact the manufacturer	
	cap	acitor	(3) Visual check and judge by the life check of the main circuit capacitor. <i>(Refer to page 396)</i>		0		
	Rel	ay/contactor	Check that the operation is normal and no chatter is heard.		0	Contact the manufacturer	
	Res	sistor	(1)Check for crack in resistor insulation.		0	Contact the manufacturer	
	1.00		(2)Check for a break in the cable.		0	Contact the manufacturer	
	Operation check		(1)Check that the output voltages across phases with the inverter operated alone is balanced.		0	Contact the manufacturer	
Control			(2) Check that no fault is found in protective and display circuits in a sequence protective operation test.		0	Contact the manufacturer	
circuit protective	¥	Overall	(1)Check for unusual odor and discoloration.		0	Stop the device and contact the manufacturer.	
circuit	hec		(2) Check for serious rust development.		0	Contact the manufacturer	
	arts c	Aluminum	(1)Check for liquid leakage in a capacitor and deformation trance.		0	Contact the manufacturer	
	ш	capacitor	(2) Visual check and judge by the life check of the control circuit capacitor. ( <i>Refer to page 354.</i> )		0		
			(1)Check for unusual vibration and noise.	0		Replace the fan	
	Coc	oling fan	(2)Check for loose screws and bolts.		0	Retighten	
Cooling			(3)Check for stain.		0	Clean	
system	Hea	atsink	(1)Check for clogging.		0	Clean	
e yetem	TICC		(2)Check for stain.		0	Clean	
	Δir	filter etc	(1)Check for clogging.		0	Clean or replace	
	, ui		(2)Check for stain.		0	Clean or replace	
	Indi	cation	(1)Check that display is normal.	0	0	Contact the manufacturer	
Display						Stop the device and contact	
1	Met	ter	Check that reading is normal.	0		the manufacturer.	
Load motor	Ope	eration check	operation noise.	0		the manufacturer.	

\*1 It is recommended to install a device to monitor voltage for checking the power supply voltage to the inverter.

 \*2 One to two years of periodic inspection cycle is recommended. However, it differs according to the installation environment. Consult us for periodic inspection.

## 6.1.4 Display of the life of the inverter parts

The self-diagnostic alarm is output when the life span of the control circuit capacitor, cooling fan, each parts of the inrush current limit circuit is near to give an indication of replacement time .

The life alarm output can be use	d as a guideline for life j	udgement.
----------------------------------	-----------------------------	-----------

Parts	Judgement Level					
Main circuit capacitor	85% of the initial capacity					
Control circuit capacitor	Estimated 10% life remaining					
Inrush current limit circuit	Estimated 10% life remaining (Power on: 100,000 times left)					
Cooling fan	Less than 50% of the predetermined speed					



Refer to page 354 to perform the life check of the inverter parts.

## 6.1.5 Checking the inverter and converter modules

#### <Preparation>

(1) Disconnect the external power supply cables (R/L1, S/L2, T/L3) and motor cables (U, V, W).

(2) Prepare a tester. (Use  $100\Omega$  range.)

#### <Checking method>

Change the polarity of the tester alternately at the inverter terminals R/L1, S/L2, T/L3, U, V, W, P/+ and N/–, and check for continuity.

		Tester	Polarity	Measured		Tester	Polarity	Measured
		$\oplus$	$\Theta$	Value		$\oplus$	Θ	Value
	TD11	R/L1	P/+	Discontinuity		R/L1	N/-	Continuity
5	IKII	P/+	R/L1	Continuity	1614	N/-	R/L1	Discontinuity
dule	TD12	S/L2	P/+	Discontinuity	TD16	S/L2	N/-	Continuity
	IRIS	P/+	S/L2	Continuity		N/-	S/L2	Discontinuity
0 -	TD15	T/L3	P/+	Discontinuity	TD12	T/L3	N/-	Continuity
	INIS	P/+	T/L3	Continuity		N/-	T/L3	Discontinuity
	TD1	U	P/+	Discontinuity	три	U	N/-	Continuity
		P/+	U	Continuity	1174	N/-	U	Discontinuity
lule	трэ	V	P/+	Discontinuity	TDG	V	N/-	Continuity
nve	IRJ	P/+	V	Continuity	IRO	N/-	V	Discontinuity
	TD5	W	P/+	Discontinuity	трр	W	N/-	Continuity
	IRS	P/+	W	Continuity	IRZ	N/-	W	Discontinuity

#### <Module device numbers and terminals to be checked>



(Assumes the use of an analog meter.)

## 6.1.6 Cleaning

Always run the inverter in a clean status.

When cleaning the inverter, gently wipe dirty areas with a soft cloth immersed in neutral detergent or ethanol.

#### \_\_\_\_ CAUTION =

Do not use solvent, such as acetone, benzene, toluene and alcohol, as they will cause the inverter surface paint to peel off. The display, etc. of the operation panel (FR-DU07) and parameter unit (FR-PU04/FR-PU07) are vulnerable to detergent and alcohol. Therefore, avoid using them for cleaning.

## 6.1.7 Replacement of parts

The inverter consists of many electronic parts such as semiconductor devices.

The following parts may deteriorate with age because of their structures or physical characteristics, leading to reduced performance or fault of the inverter. For preventive maintenance, the parts must be replaced periodically. Use the life check function as a guidance of parts replacement.

Part Name	Standard Replacement Interval *1	Description			
Cooling fan	10 years	Replace (as required)			
Main circuit smoothing capacitor	10 years ∗₂	Replace (as required)			
On-board smoothing capacitor	10 years	Replace the board (as required)			
Relavs	_	as required			

\*1 Replacement years for when the yearly average surrounding air temperature is 40°C (without corrosive gas, flammable gas, oil mist, dust and dirt etc)

\*2 Output current : 80% of the inverter rated current

#### 

For parts replacement, consult the nearest Mitsubishi FA Center.

## (1) Cooling fan

The replacement interval of the cooling fan used for cooling the parts generating heat such as the main circuit semiconductor is greatly affected by the surrounding air temperature. When unusual noise and/or vibration is noticed during inspection, the cooling fan must be replaced immediately.

#### \_\_\_\_ CAUTION \_

For parts replacement, consult the nearest Mitsubishi FA Center.

	Inverter Type	Fan Type	Units
	5.5K to 15K	MMF-08D24ES-RP4 BKO-CA1639H11	2
	18.5K 22K	MMF-12D24DS-CP2 BKO-CA1619H11	1
A721	10.51, 221	MMF-09D24TS-RP7 BKO-CA1640H11	1
	30K		2
	37K to 55K		3
	5.5K to 15K	MMF-08D24ES-RP4 BKO-CA1639H11	2
A741	18.5K, 22K	MMF-09D24TS-RP7 BKO-CA1640H11	2
A(4)	30K		2
	37K to 55K		3

#### Removal

- 1) Remove a fan cover.
- 2) After removing a fan connector, remove a fan block.
- 3) Remove the fan.



#### Reinstallation

1) After confirming the orientation of the fan, reinstall the fan so that the arrow on the left of "AIR FLOW" faces up.



2) Install fans referring to the above figure.

#### CAUTION

- Installing the fan in the opposite air flow direction can cause the inverter life to be shorter.
- Prevent the cable from being caught when installing a fan.
- Switch the power off before replacing fans. Since the inverter circuits are charged with voltage even after power off, replace fans only when the inverter cover is on the inverter to prevent an electric shock accident.

## (2) Smoothing capacitors

A large-capacity aluminum electrolytic capacitor is used for smoothing in the main circuit DC section, and an aluminum electrolytic capacitor is used for stabilizing the control power in the control circuit. Their characteristics are deteriorated by the adverse effects of ripple currents, etc.

The replacement intervals greatly vary with the surrounding air temperature and operating conditions. When the inverter is operated in air-conditioned, normal environment conditions, replace the capacitors about every 10 years. The appearance criteria for inspection are as follows:

- 1) Case: Check the side and bottom faces for expansion
- 2) Sealing plate: Check for remarkable warp and extreme crack.
- 3) Check for external crack, discoloration, fluid leakage, etc. Judge that the capacitor has reached its life when the measured capacitance of the capacitor reduced below 80% of the rating.

 $\overset{\text{W}}{\boxtimes}$  Refer to page 354 to perform the life check of the main circuit capacitor.

#### (3) Relays

To prevent a contact fault, etc., relays must be replaced according to the cumulative number of switching times (switching life).

## 6.2 Measurement of main circuit voltages, currents and powers

Since the voltages and currents on the inverter power supply and output sides include harmonics, measurement data depends on the instruments used and circuits measured.

When instruments for commercial frequency are used for measurement, measure the following circuits with the instruments given on the next page.

• When installing meters etc. on the inverter output side

When the inverter-to-motor wiring length is large, especially in the 400V class, small-capacity models, the meters and CTs may generate heat due to line-to-line leakage current. Therefore, choose the equipment which has enough allowance for the current rating.

When measuring and indicating the output voltage and output current of the inverter, it is recommended to utilize the AM-5 and FM-SD terminal output function of the inverter.



**Examples of Measuring Points and Instruments** 

#### Measuring points and instruments

ltem	Measuring Point	Measuring Instrument	Remarks (Reference Measured	asured Value)			
Power supply voltage V1	Across R/L1-S/ L2, S/L2-T/L3, T/ L3-R/L1	Moving-iron type AC voltmeter	Commercial power supply Within permissible AC voltage fluctuation (Refer to <i>page 406</i> )	ion			
Power supply side current I1	R/L1, S/L2, and T/L3 line currents	Moving-iron type AC ammeter					
Power supply side power P1	side R/L1, S/L2, T/L3 and R/L1-S/L2, S/L2-T/ L3, T/L3-R/L1 Electrodynamic type single-phase wattmeter						
Power supply side power factor Pf1	Calculate after measuring power supply voltage, power supply side current and power supply side $Pf_{1} = \frac{P_{1}}{\sqrt{3} V_{1} \times I_{1}} \times 100\%$						
Output side voltage V2	Across U-V, V-W and W-U	Rectifier type AC voltage meter *1 (Moving-iron type cannot measure)	Difference between the phases is within the maximum output voltage.	n ±1% of			
Output side current	U, V and W line currents	Moving-iron type AC ammeter *2	Difference between the phases is 10% the rated inverter current.	or lower of			
Output side power P2	U, V, W and U-V, V-W	Electrodynamic type single-phase wattmeter	P2 = W21 + W22 2-wattmeter method (or 3-wattmeter method)	ethod)			
Output side power factor Pf2	er factor.						
Converter output	Across P/+-N/-	Moving-coil type (such as tester)	Inverter LED display is lit. $1.35 \times V1$				
Frequency setting	Across 2, 4(+)-5		0 to 10VDC, 4 to 20mA				
signal	Across 1(+)-5		0 to ±5VDC, 0 to ±10VDC				
Frequency setting	Across 10 (+) -5		5.2VDC "5" i				
power supply	Across 10E(+)-5		10VDC	common			
	Across AM(+)-5		Approximately 10VDC at maximum frequency (without frequency meter)				
Frequency meter signal	Across FM(+)-SD	Moving-coil type (Tester and such may be used) (Internal resistance: 50kΩ or larger)	Approximately 5VDC at maximum frequency (without frequency meter) T1 BVDC Pulse width T1: Adjusted by <i>C0 (Pr: 900)</i> Pulse cycle T2: Set by <i>Pr: 55</i> (Valid for frequency monitoring only)				
Start signal Select signal	RH, RM, RL, JOG, RT, AU, STOP, CS (+) -SD		When open 20 to 30VDC ON voltage: 1V or less				
Reset	Across RES (+) -SD						
Alarm signal	Across MRS (+) -SD Across A1-C1 Across B1-C1	Moving-coil type (such as tester)	Continuity check*3 <normal> Across A1-C1 Discontinuity Across B1-C1 Continuity Discontinuity</normal>				

\*1 \*2

Use an FFT to measure the output voltage accurately. A tester or general measuring instrument cannot measure accurately. When the carrier frequency exceeds 5kHz, do not use this instrument since using it may increase eddy-current losses produced in metal parts inside the instrument, leading to burnout. If the wiring length between the inverter and motor is long, the instrument and CT may generate heat due to line-to-line leakage current.

\*3 When the setting of Pr. 195 ABC1 terminal function selection is positive logic

## 6.2.1 Measurement of powers

Using an electro-dynamometer type meter, measure the power in both the input and output sides of the inverter using the two- or three-wattmeter method. As the current is liable to be imbalanced especially in the input side, it is recommended to use the three-wattmeter method.

Examples of measured value differences produced by different measuring meters are shown below.

An error will be produced by difference between measuring instruments, e.g. power calculation type and two- or three-wattmeter type three-phase wattmeter. When a CT is used in the current measuring side or when the meter contains a PT on the voltage measurement side, an error will also be produced due to the frequency characteristics of the CT and PT.

or more.

method is 100%.

[Measurement conditions]

Constant-torque (100%) load, constant-power at 60Hz

3.7kW, 4-pole motor, value indicated in 3-wattmeter

#### [Measurement conditions]

Constant-torque (100%) load, constant-power at 60Hz or more.

3.7kW, 4-pole motor, value indicated in 3-wattmeter method is 100%.



Example of measuring inverter output power

# Example of measuring inverter input power

## 6.2.2 Measurement of voltages and use of PT

#### (1) Inverter input side

As the input side voltage has a sine wave and it is extremely small in distortion, accurate measurement can be made with an ordinary AC meter.

#### (2) Inverter output side

Since the output side voltage has a PWM-controlled rectangular wave, always use a rectifier type voltmeter. A needle type tester can not be used to measure the output side voltage as it indicates a value much greater than the actual value. A moving-iron type meter indicates an effective value which includes harmonics and therefore the value is larger than that of the fundamental wave. The value monitored on the operation panel is the inverter-controlled voltage itself. Hence, that value is accurate and it is recommended to monitor values (provide analog output) using the operation panel.

### (3) PT

No PT can be used in the output side of the inverter. Use a direct-reading meter. (A PT can be used in the input side of the inverter.)

## 6.2.3 Measurement of currents

Use a moving-iron type meter on both the input and output sides of the inverter. However, if the carrier frequency exceeds 5kHz, do not use that meter since an overcurrent losses produced in the internal metal parts of the meter will increase and the meter may burn out. In this case, use an approximate-effective value type.

As the inverter input side current is easily imbalanced, measurement of currents in all three phases is recommended. Correct values can not be measured in one or two phases. On the other hand, the phase imbalanced ratio of the output side current must be within 10%.

When using a clamp ammeter, always use an effective value detection type. A mean value detection type produces a large error and may indicate an extremely smaller value than the actual value. The value monitored on the operation panel is accurate if the output frequency varies, and it is recommended to monitor values (provide analog output) using the operation panel.

[Measurement conditions]

An example of the measured value difference produced by different measuring meters is shown below.

#### [Measurement conditions]

Value indicated by moving-iron type ammeter is 100%.





Value indicated by moving-iron type ammeter is 100%.

Example of measuring inverter output current

## 6.2.4 Use of CT and transducer

A CT may be used in both the input and output sides of the inverter, but the one used should have the largest possible VA ability because an error will increase if the frequency gets lower. When using a transducer, use the effective value calculation type which is immune to harmonics.

### 6.2.5 Measurement of inverter input power factor

Use the effective power and apparent power to calculate the inverter input power factor. A power-factor meter can not indicate an exact value.

Total power factor of the invertor	=	Effective power
		Apparent power
		Three-phase input power found by 3-wattmeter method
	=	$\sqrt{3} \times V$ (power supply voltage) × I (input current effective value)

## 6.2.6 Measurement of converter output voltage (across terminals P/+ - N/-)

The output voltage of the converter is developed across terminals P/+ - N/- and can be measured with a moving-coil type meter (tester). Although the voltage varies according to the power supply voltage, approximately 270V to 300V (approximately 540V to 600V for the 400V class) is output when no load is connected and voltage decreases when a load is connected.

When regenerative energy is returned from the motor during deceleration, for example, the converter output voltage rises to nearly 400V to 450V (800V to 900V for the 400V class) maximum.

#### 6.2.7 Measurement of inverter output frequency

A pulse train proportional to the output frequency is output across the frequency meter signal output terminal FM-SD of the inverter. This pulse train output can be counted by a frequency counter, or a meter (moving-coil type voltmeter) can be used to read the mean value of the pulse train output voltage. When a meter is used to measure the output frequency, approximately 5VDC is indicated at the maximum frequency.

For detailed specifications of the frequency meter signal output terminal FM, refer to page 236.

#### 6.2.8 Insulation resistance test using megger

For the inverter, conduct the insulation resistance test on the main circuit only as shown below and do not perform the test on the control circuit. (Use a 500VDC megger.)

- Before performing the insulation resistance test on the external circuit, disconnect the cables from all terminals of the inverter so that the test voltage is not applied to the inverter.
- For the continuity test of the control circuit, use a tester (high resistance range) and do not use the megger or buzzer.



#### 6.2.9 Pressure test

Do not conduct a pressure test. Deterioration may occur.



This chapter provides the "SPECIFICATIONS" of this product. Always read the instructions before using the equipment

7.1	Rating	406
7.2	Common specifications	409
7.3	Outline dimension drawings	410
7.4	Installation of the heatsink portion outside the	
	enclosure for use	419

......

## 7.1 Rating

## 7.1.1 Inverter rating

#### •200V class

	Type FR-A721-□□K	5.5	7.5	11	15	18.5	22	30	37	45	55	
Ap	plicable motor capacity (kW) *1	5.5	7.5	11	15	18.5	22	30	37	45	55	
	Rated capacity (kVA) *2	9.2	12.6	17.6	23.3	29	34	44	55	67	82	
	Rated current (A)	24	33	46	61	76	90	115	145	175	215	
tput	Overload current rating *3			150	% 60s, 20	0% 3s (inv	erse time o	characteris	tics)			
Out	Overload current rating 3	surrounding air temperature 50°C										
	Voltage *4		Three-phase 200 to 240V									
	Regenerative braking torque	100% continuous 150% 60s										
١y	Rated input	Three phase 200 to 220V 50Hz 200 to 240V 60Hz										
ddr	AC voltage/frequency		111100-pilase 200 to 220 v 30112, 200 to 240 v 00112									
r Sl	Permissible AC voltage fluctuation		170 to 242V 50Hz,170 to 264V 60Hz									
Me	Permissible frequency fluctuation		±5 <mark>%</mark>									
д	Power supply capacity (kVA) *5	12	17	20	28	34	41	52	66	80	100	
Pr	otective structure (JEM 1030) *6	Open type (IP00)										
Cooling system						Forced a	ir cooling					
Ap	oprox. mass (kg)	20	22	33	35	50	52	69	87	90	120	

\*1 The applicable motor capacity indicated is the maximum capacity applicable for use of the Mitsubishi 4-pole standard motor.

\*2 The rated output capacity indicated assumes that the output voltage is 220V.

\*3 The % value of the overload current rating indicated is the ratio of the overload current to the inverter's rated output current. For repeated duty, allow time for the inverter and motor to return to or below the temperatures under 100% load.

\*4 The maximum output voltage does not exceed the power supply voltage. The maximum output voltage can be changed within the setting range. However, the pulse voltage value of the inverter output side voltage remains unchanged at about  $\sqrt{2}$  that of the power supply.

\*5 The power supply capacity varies with the value of the power supply side inverter impedance (including those of the input reactor and cables).

\*6 FR-DU07:IP40 (except for the PU connector)

#### •400V class

	Type FR-A741-□□K	5.5	7.5	11	15	18.5	22	30	37	45	55	
Ap	plicable motor capacity (kW) *1	5.5	7.5	11	15	18.5	22	30	37	45	55	
	Rated capacity (kVA) *2	9.1	13	17.5	23.6	29	32.8	43.4	54	65	84	
	Rated current (A)	12	17	23	31	38	44	57	71	86	110	
put	Overload current rating *5			150	% 60s, 200	0% 3s (inve	erse time o	characteris	tics)			
Out	Overload current rating 5	surrounding air temperature 50°C										
	Voltage *6		Three-phase 380 to 480V									
	Regenerative braking torque		100% continuous 150% 60s									
١y	Rated input											
ddr	AC voltage/frequency	1111ee-pilase 300 to 4000 30H2/00H2										
r รเ	Permissible AC voltage fluctuation		323 to 528V 50Hz/60Hz									
owe	Permissible frequency fluctuation		±5%									
ď	Power supply capacity (kVA) *7	12	17	20	28	34	41	52	66	80	100	
Pr	otective structure *9	Open type (IP00)										
Сс	ooling system	Forced air cooling										
Ap	prox. mass (kg)	25	26	37	40	48	49	65	80	83	115	

\*1 The applicable motor capacity indicated is the maximum capacity applicable for use of the Mitsubishi 4-pole standard motor.

\*2 The rated output capacity indicated assumes that the output voltage is 440V.

\*3 The % value of the overload current rating indicated is the ratio of the overload current to the inverter's rated output current. For repeated duty, allow time for the inverter and motor to return to or below the temperatures under 100% load.

\*4 The maximum output voltage does not exceed the power supply voltage. The maximum output voltage can be changed within the setting range. However, the pulse voltage value of the inverter output side voltage remains unchanged at about  $\sqrt{2}$  that of the power supply.

\*5 The power supply capacity varies with the value of the power supply side inverter impedance (including those of the input reactor and cables).

\*6 FR-DU07:IP40 (except for the PU connector)

## 7.1.2 Motor rating

## (1) SF-V5RU

#### •200V class (Mitsubishi dedicated motor [SF-V5RU (1500r/min series)])

Motor type SF-V5RUDD	(	3	5	7	11	15	18	22	30	37	45
Applicable in FR-A721-DDI	verter type K	5.5	7.5	11	15	18.5	22	30	37	45	55
Rated output	(kW)	3.7	5.5	7.5	11	15	18.5	22	30 *1	37 *1	45 *1
Rated torque	(N'm)	23.6	35.0	47.7	70.0	95.5	118	140	191	235	286
Maximum tor	que 150%	35.4	52.4	71.6	105	1/13	176	211	297	353	420
60s (N*m)		55.4	52.4	71.0	105	145	170	211	207	555	423
Rated speed	r/min)					15	00				
Maximum spee	d (r/min)					30	00	18       140       191       235         76       211       287       353         76       211       287       353         0M       180M       200L       200L         '25       1875       3250       3625         BoddB or less         Three-phase 200V/50Hz         hree-phase 200 to 230V/60Hz       100/156W         001 less (non-condensing)       100/156W         three system         n: IP23S) '3       system         phase +12VDC power supply       100/156W			
Frame No.		112M	132S	132M	160M	160L	180M	180M	200L	200L	200L
Inertia mome	nt J	175	075	400	750	075	1705	1075	2250	2625	2625
(×10 <sup>-4</sup> kg*m <sup>2</sup> )		175	275	400	750	0/0	1725	10/0	3250	3020	3025
Noise *4					75dB or less					80dB or less	
Cooling fan	Voltage	Single Single-pha	-phase 200V ase 200V to 2	/50Hz 30V/60Hz			Three Three-ph	-phase 200V/ ase 200 to 23	'50Hz 0V/60Hz		
(with thermal protector)	Input *2	36/55W	22/5	99\//		55/7	/1\//			100/156W	
p,		(0.26/ 0.32A)	(0.11/0	).13A)		(0.37/0	).39A)			(0.47/0.53A)	
Surrounding a temperature, h	ir iumidity	(0.26/ 0.32A)	(0.11/0	0.13A) -10 1	o +40°C (non	(0.37/0 -freezing), 90	%RH or less	(non-condens	sing)	(0.47/0.53A)	
Surrounding a temperature, h Structure (Protective str	ir iumidity ucture)	(0.26/ 0.32A)	(0.11/(	-10 t	o +40°C (non Total (Mot	(0.37/0 -freezing), 90 ly enclosed fo ior: IP44, cool	0.39A) %RH or less prced draft sys ling fan: IP23	(non-condens stem S) *3	sing)	(0.47/0.53A)	
Surrounding a temperature, h Structure (Protective str Detector	ir iumidity ucture)	(0.26/ 0.32A)	(0.11/(	-10 t Encoder	to +40°C (non Total (Mot	(0.37/( -freezing), 90 ly enclosed for cor: IP44, cool phase, B phase	0.39A) %RH or less prced draft sys ing fan: IP23 se, Z phase +	(non-condens stem S) *3 12VDC powe	sing)	(0.47/0.53A)	
Surrounding a temperature, h Structure (Protective str Detector Equipment	ir iumidity ucture)	(0.26/ 0.32A)	(0.11/(	0.13A) -10 t Encode	to +40°C (non Total (Mot 2048P/R, A p Er	-freezing), 90 ly enclosed fo or: IP44, cool phase, B phase ncoder, therma	0.39A) %RH or less prced draft sys ing fan: IP23 se, Z phase + al protector, fa	(non-condens stem S) *3 12VDC powe an	sing) r supply	(0.47/0.53A)	
Surrounding a temperature, f Structure (Protective str Detector Equipment Heat resistant	ir iumidity ucture) ce class	(0.26/ 0.32A)	(0.11/0	-10 t	to +40°C (non Total (Mot 2048P/R, A p Er	(0.37/ (0.37/ -freezing), 90 ly enclosed fo ior: IP44, cool phase, B phase ncoder, therm	0.39A) %RH or less prced draft sys ling fan: IP23 se, Z phase + al protector, fa	(non-condens stem S) *3 12VDC powe an	r supply	(0.47/0.53A)	
Surrounding a temperature, f Structure (Protective str Detector Equipment Heat resistant Vibration rank	ir iumidity ucture) ce class	(0.26/ 0.32A)	(0.11/0	-10 t	to +40°C (non Total (Mot 2048P/R, A p Er	(0.37/ (0.37/ -freezing), 90 ly enclosed fc ior: IP44, cool phase, B phase,	339A) %RH or less prced draft sys- ling fan: IP23: se, Z phase + al protector, fa -	(non-condens stem S) *3 12VDC powe an	r supply	(0.47/0.53A)	

#### •400V class (Mitsubishi dedicated motor [SF-V5RUH (1500r/min series)])

Motor type SF-V5RUH	⊐ĸ	5	7	11	15	18	22	30	37	45
Applicable in FR-A741-DD	verter type K	7.5	11	15	18.5	22	30	37	45	55
Rated output	(kW)	5.5	7.5	11	15	18.5	22	30 *1	37 *1	45 *1
Rated torque	(N'm)	35.0	47.7	70.0	95.5	118	140	191	235	286
Maximum tor (N'm)	que 150% 60s	52.4	71.6	105	143	176	211	287	353	429
Rated speed	(r/min)					1500				
Maximum spee	d (r/min)					3000				
Frame No.		132S	132M	160M	160L	180M	180M	200L	200L	200L
Inertia mome (×10 <sup>-4</sup> kg <sup>•</sup> m <sup>2</sup> )	nt J	275	400	750	875	1725	1875	3250	3625	3625
Noise *4			Į	75dB	or less				80dB or less	
Cooling fan (with thermal	Voltage	Single-phase Single-phase 60	e 200V/50Hz 200V to 230V/ Hz			Three-ph Three-ph	nase 380 to 40 nase 400 to 46	0V/50Hz 0V/60Hz		
protector)	Input *1	22/2 (0.11/	28W 0.13A)		55/7 (0.19/	71W 0.19A)			100/156W (0.27/0.30A)	
Surrounding a temperature, I	air numidity			-10 to +4	0°C (non-freez	ing), 90%RH o	r less (non-co	ndensing)		
Structure (Protective str	ucture)				Totally enc (Motor: IP	losed forced di 44, cooling fan	raft system : IP23S) *3			
Detector				Encoder 204	8P/R, A phase	, B phase, Z pł	nase +12VDC	power supply		
Equipment					Encoder	, thermal prote	ctor, fan			
Heat resistan	ce class					F				
Vibration ran	k					V10				
Approx. mass	s (kg)	52	62	99	113	138	160	238	255	255

\*1 80% output in the high-speed range. (The output is reduced when the speed is 2400r/min or more. Contact us separately for details.)

\*2 Power (current) at 50Hz/60Hz.

\*3 Since a motor with brake has a window for gap check, the protective structure of both the cooling fan section and brake section is IP20. S of IP23S is an additional code indicating the condition that protection from water intrusion is established only when a cooling fan is not operating.

\*4 The value when high carrier frequency is set (Pr.72 = 6, Pr.240 = 0).

## 7.2 Common specifications

	Co	ntrol meth	nod	Soft-PWM control/high carrier frequency PWM control (selectable from among V/F control, advanced magnetic flux vector control and
		tout frequ		real sensoriess vector control) / vector control *1
	Ou	ipui nequ	ency range	0.2 to 40012 (the maintain requertory is 12012 under lear sensoriess vector control and vector control 1.) 0.015Hz/(terminal 2.4.0 to 10//22bit)
su	Fre	equency ting	Analog input	0.03Hz/0 to 60Hz (terminal 2, 4: 0 to 5V/11bit, 0 to 20mA/about 11bit, terminal 1: 0 to ±10V/12bit) 0.06Hz/0 to 60Hz (terminal 1: 0 to ±5V/11bit)
atio	103	olution	Digital input	0.01Hz
ifice	Fre	quency	Analog input	Within ±0.2% of the max. output frequency (25°C±10°C)
oec	aco	curacy	Digital input	Within 0.01% of the set output frequency
ol sp	Vol	tage/frequ	ency characteristics	Base frequency can be set from 0 to 400Hz Constant torque/variable torque pattern or adjustable 5 points V/F can be selected
ntro	Sta	rting torq	ue +	150% 0.3Hz (under feat sensoriess vector control or vector control *1)
ပိ		que boos	I	Mailual (Urgue boost
	set	ting		measures acceleration/deceleration can be selected.
	DC	injection	brake	Operation frequency (0 to 120Hz), operation time (0 to 10s), operation voltage (0 to 30%) variable
	Sta	II preventio	on operation level	Operation current level can be set (0 to 220% adjustable), whether to use the function or not can be selected
	Tor	que limit le	evel	Torque limit value can be set (0 to 400% variable)
	Fre	quency	Analog input	• Terminal 2, 4: 0 to 10V, 0 to 5V, 4 to 20mA (0 to 20mA) can be selected • Terminal 1: -10 to +10V, -5 to +5V can be selected
	sei	nal	Digital input	Input using the setting dial of the operation panel or parameter unit Four-dioit BCD or 16 bit binary (when used with ontion ER-A7AX)
	Sta	rt signal		Forward and reverse rotation or start sional automatic self-holding input (3-wire input) can be selected.
		<b>J</b>		You can select any twelve signals using Pr. 178 to Pr. 189 (input terminal function selection) from among multi speed selection, remote setting,
	Inp	ut signals		stop-on-contact, second function selection, third function selection, terminal 4 input selection, JOG operation selection, selection of automatic restart after instantaneous power failure, flying start, external thermal relay input, PU operation/external inter lock signal, external DC injection brake operation start, PID control enable terminal, brake opening completion signal, PU operation/external operation switchover, load pattern selection forward rotation reverse rotation boost, V/F switching, load torque high-speed frequency, S-pattern acceleration/deceleration C switchover, pre-excitation, output stop, start self-holding selection, control mode changing, torque limit selection, start-time tuning start external input, torque bias selection 1, 2 <sup>-1</sup> , P/PI control switchover, forward rotation command, reverse rotation command, inverter reset, PTC thermistor input, PID forward reverse operation switchover, PU-NET operation switchover, NET-external operation switchover, and command source switchover, conditional position pulse train sign <sup>+1</sup> , conditional position droop pulse clear <sup>+1</sup> , magnetic flux decay output shutoff.
~		Pulse tra	in input	100kpps
pecification	Ор	erational	functions	Maximum/minimum frequency setting, frequency jump operation, external thermal relay input selection, polarity reversible operation, automatic restart after instantaneous power failure operation, electronic bypass operation, forward/reverse rotation prevention, remote setting, brake sequence, second function, third function, multi-speed operation, original operation continuation at instantaneous power failure, stop-on-contact control, load torque high speed frequency control, droop control, regeneration avoidance, slip compensation, operation mode selection, offline auto tuning function, online auto tuning function, PID control, computer link operation (RS-485),
n s				motor end orientation*1, pre-excitation, notch filter, easy gain tuning, speed feed forward, and torque bias*1
Operati	t signals	Operatin	g status	instantaneous power failure/undervoltage, overload warning, output frequency (speed) detection, second output interruption, life alarm, fault output 1, 2, 3 (power-off signal), power savings average value update timing, current average monitor, maintenance timer alarm, remote output, forward rotation output <sup>+1</sup> , reverse rotation output <sup>+1</sup> , low speed output, torque detection, regenerative status output <sup>+1</sup> , start-time tuning completion, in-position completion <sup>+1</sup> , alarm output and fault output. Open collector output (5 points), relay output (2 points) and alarm code of the inverter can be output (4 bit) from the open collector.
	Outpu	Wh FR- (opt	en used with the A7AY, FR-A7AR tion)	In addition to the above, you can select any signals using <i>Pr. 313 to Pr. 319 (extension output terminal function selection)</i> from among control circuit capacitor life, main circuit capacitor life, cooling fan life, inrush current limit circuit life. (only positive logic can be set for extension terminals of the FR-A7AR)
		Fuise lia		Souces Sources
		Pulse/an	alog output	output) from among output frequency, motor current (steady or peak value), output voltage, frequency setting, operation speed, motor torque, converter output voltage (steady or peak value), electronic thermal relay function load factor, input power, output power, load meter, motor excitation current, reference voltage output, motor load factor, power saving effect, PID set point, PID measured value, motor output, torque command, torque current command, and torque monitor.
Idication	PU (FF FR FR	R-DU07/ -PU07/ -PU04)	Operating status	Output frequency, motor current (steady or peak value), output voltage, frequency setting, running speed, motor torque, overload, converter output voltage (steady or peak value), electronic thermal relay function load factor, input power, output power, load meter, motor excitation current, cumlative energization time, actual operation time, motor load factor, cumulative power, energy saving effect, cumulative saving power, PID set point, PID measured value, PID deviation, inverter I/O terminal monitor, input terminal option monitor*2, output terminal option monitor*2, option fitting status*3, terminal assignment status*3, torque command, torque current command, feed back pulse*1,motor output
-		,	Fault definition	Fault definition is displayed during the fault occurs, the output voltage/current/frequency/cumulative energization time right before the fault occurs and past 8 fault definitions are stored.
			Interactive guidance	Operation guide/trouble shooting with a help function*3
Pr	otec	tive/warni	ing function	Overcurrent during acceleration, overcurrent during constant speed, overcurrent during deceleration, overvoltage during acceleration, overvoltage during constant speed, overvoltage during deceleration, inverter protection thermal operation, motor protection thermal operation, heatsink overheat, instantaneous power failure occurrence, undervoltage, input phase failure, motor overload, output side earth (ground) fault overcurrent, output short circuit, main circuit element overheat, output phase failure, external thermal relay operation*5, PTC thermistor operation*5, option alarm, parameter error, PU disconnection, retry count excess*5, CPU alarm, operation alarm, communication alarm (inverter), opposite rotation deceleration error*5, analog input eror, fan fault, overcurrent stall prevention, overvoltage stall prevention, electronic thermal relay function prealarm, PU stop, maintenance timer alarm*2*5, parameter write error, copy operation reror, operation error*5, brake sequence error*5, brake sequence error*5, regeneration converter overlage deviation large*1*5, overspeed*1*5, excessive position error*15, brake sequence error*5, regeneration converter overlage to every overcurrent, regeneration converter circuit fault, regeneration converter transistor protection thermal
üt	Su	rrounding	air temperature	-10°C to +50°C (non-freezing)
ame	Am	bient hun	nidity	90%RH maximum (non-condensing)
iron	Sto	rage tem	perature*4	-20 U (0 +00 U
Шŋ	ΔI	tude/vibre	ation	$\frac{1}{1000}$
*4				INIGATINGUE LOUVE SEG LEVEL, 5.511//S OF LESS

\*2 \*3 \*4 \*5

Available only when the option (FR-A7AP) is mounted Can be displayed only on the operation panel (FR-DU07). Can be displayed only on the parameter unit (FR-PU07/FR-PU04). Temperature applicable for a short period in transit, etc. This protective function does not function in the initial status.



## 7.3.1 Inverter outline dimension drawings

•FR-A721-5.5K, 7.5K

•FR-A741-5.5K, 7.5K



•FR-A721-11K, 15K •FR-A741-11K, 15K



#### •FR-A721-18.5K, 22K



 $\mathbb{Z}$ 

#### •FR-A741-18.5K, 22K



## •FR-A721-30K





•FR-A741-37K, 45K



Outline dimension drawings

### •FR-A721-55K •FR-A741-55K







#### • Parameter unit (option) (FR-PU07)



## 7.3.2 Dedicated motor outline dimension drawings

#### • Dedicated motor (SF-V5RU(H)) outline dimension drawings (standard horizontal type)



#### Dimensions table

(Unit: mm)

				-																									Terrete	al Care	
SF-V5RU	SF-V5RU	SF-V5RU	SF-V5RU	Frame	Mass												lotor												Termin	al Scre	w Size
ПK	□K1	<b>□</b> K3	□K4	No.	(kg)	Α	в	С	D	Е	F	н	1	KA	KG	KL(KP)	L	м	ML	Ν	ХВ	Q	QK	R	S	т	U	w	U,V,W	A,B,(C)	G1,G2
3	-	-	-	112M	41	278	135	112	228	95	70	226	253	69	93	242	478	230	242	180	70	60	45	200	28j6	7	4	8	M6	M4	M4
5	3	-	-	132S	52	303	152	132	266	108	70	265	288	75	117	256	542	256	268	180	89	80	63	239	38k6	8	5	10	M6	M4	M4
7	5	3	-	132M	62	322	171	132	266	108	89	265	288	94	117	256	580	256	268	218	89	80	63	258	38k6	8	5	10	M6	M4	M4
11	7	5	-	160M	99	412	198	160	318	127	105	316	367	105	115	330	735	310		254	108	-		323	42k6	8	5	12	M8	M4	M4
15	11	7	3	160L	113	434	220	160	318	127	127	316	367	127	115	330	779	310		298	108	-		345	42k6	8	5	12	M8	M4	M4
18	-	-	-	19014	138	420 E	22E E	190	262	120 E	120 5	250	410	107	120	252	700	225		205	121			251 5	1066	0		14	140	M4	M4
22	15	11	-	100101	160	430.0	220.0	100	303	139.5	120.5	309	410	127	139	302	790	335	_	200	121	_	_	301.0	4010	9	5.5	14	IVIO	11/14	1114
—	18	15	5	180L	200	457.5	242.5	180	363	139.5	139.5	359	410	146	139	352	828	335		323	121	-		370.5	55m6	10	6	16	M8	M4	M4
30	_	_	7	2001	238	483.5	267.5	200	406	150	152.5	401		145	497	(546)	000	300		361	133			425.5	60m6				M10	M4	M4
37, 45	22, 30	18, 22	-	200L	255	403.0	207.5	200	400	159	102.0	401	_	140	407	(340)	909	390	_	301	133	_	_	420.0	00110	_	_	_	WITU	11/14	1114
_	37	30	11, 15	225S	320	500	277	225	446	178	143	446		145	533	(592)	932	428	I	342	149	—	l	432	65m6	—		_	M10	M4	M4

Note) 1. Install the motor on the floor and use it with the shaft horizontal.

2. Leave an enough clearance between the fan suction port and wall to ensure adequate cooling.

Also, check that the ventilation direction of a fan is from the opposite load side to the load side.

3 The size difference of top and bottom of the shaft center height is <sup>0</sup>/<sub>0.5</sub>
 4 The 400V class motor has -H at the end of its type name.

**SPECIFICATIONS** 

7



#### • Dedicated motor (SF-V5RU(H)) outline dimension drawings (standard horizontal type with brake)



#### **Dimensions table**

(Unit: mm)

SF-V5RU	SF-V5RU	SF-V5RU	SF-V5RU	Frame	Mass											Мо	tor													Sh	aft Ei	nd			Term	ninal S	Screw	Size
ПK	□K1	<b>□</b> K3	□K4	No.	(kg)	Α	в	С	D	Е	F	G	н	Т	J	KA	KD	KG	KL	KP	L	Μ	ML	Ν	Х	ХВ	Z	Q	QK	R	S	Т	U	W	U,V,W	A,B,(C)	G1,G2	B1,B2
3	-	—	-	112M	53	355	135	112	228	95	70	6.5		—	40	69	27	93	242	290	555	230	242	180	4	70	12	60	45	200	28j6	7	4	8	M6	M4	M4	M4
5	3	—	-	132S	70	416	152	132	266	108	70	6.5		—	40	75	27	117	256	329	655	256	268	180	4	89	12	80	63	239	38k6	8	5	10	M6	M4	M4	M4
7	5	3	-	132M	80	435	171	132	266	108	89	6.5		—	40	94	27	117	256	329	693	256	268	218	4	89	12	80	63	258	38k6	8	5	10	M6	M4	M4	M4
11	7	5	-	160M	140	522.5	198	160	318	127	105	8		—	50	105	56	115	330	391	845.5	310	—	254	4	108	14.5	110	90	323	42k6	8	5	12	M8	M4	M4	M4
15	11	7	3	160L	155	544.5	220	160	318	127	127	8		—	50	127	56	115	330	391	889.5	310	—	298	4	108	14.5	110	90	345	42k6	8	5	12	M8	M4	M4	M4
18	-	—	-	19014	185	500 E	20E E	190	262	120 5	100 E	0			50	107	EG	120	252	420	020	225		205	4	121	14 5	110	00	251 5	101-6	0		14	140	MA	M4	MA
22	15	11	-	100101	215	000.0	220.0	100	303	139.0	120.5	0	_	_	50	127	50	139	352	420	920	335	_	200	4	121	14.0	110	90	301.0	4050	9	5.5	14	IVIO	11/14	11/14	1114
—	18	15	5	180L	255	587.5	242.5	180	363	139.5	139.5	8		—	50	146	56	139	352	428	958	335	—	323	4	121	14.5	110	90	370.5	55m6	10	6	16	M8	M4	M4	M4
30	-	—	7	2001	305	644 E	267 E	200	406	150	152.5	11			70	145	00	407		E46	1070	200		261	4	122	10 E	140	110	405.5	60m6	11	7	10	M10	MA	M4	MA
37, 45	22, 30	18, 22	-	2001	330	044.0	207.0	200	400	109	102.0		_	_	70	140	90	407	_	540	1070	390	_	301	4	133	10.0	140	110	420.0	001110		'	10	WITO	11/14	11/14	1114
_	37	30	11 15	2255	395	659	277	225	446	178	143	11	_	_	70	145	90	533	_	592	1091	428	_	342	4	149	18.5	140	110	432	65m6	11	7	18	M10	M4	M4	M4

Note) 1. Install the motor on the floor and use it with the shaft horizontal.

2. Leave an enough clearance between the fan suction port and wall to ensure adequate cooling. Also, check that the ventilation direction of a fan is from the opposite load side to the load side.

3. The size difference of top and bottom of the shaft center height is  $\frac{0}{.0.5}$ 4. The 400V class motor has -H at the end of its type name.

5. Since a brake power device is a stand-alone, install it inside the enclosure.

(This device should be arranged at the customer side.)

• Dedicated motor (SF-V5RU(H)) outline dimension drawings (flange type)



#### Dimensions table

SF-V5RU	SF-V5RU	SF-V5RU	SF-V5RU	Flange	Frame	Mass							Motor									S	haft En	ıd			Termin	nal Scre	w Size
ПK	<b>□</b> K1	□K3	DK4	Number	No.	(kg)	D	IE	KB	KD	KL	LA	LB	LC	LE	LG	LL	LN	LZ	LR	Q	QK	S	Т	U	w	U,V,W	A,B,(C)	G1,G2
3	—	-		FF215	112M	46	228	141	239	27	242	215	180j6	250	4	16	448	4	14.5	60	60	45	28j6	7	4	8	M6	M4	M4
5	3	-		FF265	132S	65	266	156	256	27	256	265	230j6	300	4	20	484	4	14.5	80	80	63	38k6	8	5	10	M6	M4	M4
7	5	3		FF265	132M	70	266	156	294	27	256	265	230j6	300	4	20	522	4	14.5	80	80	63	38k6	8	5	10	M6	M4	M4
11	7	5		FF300	160M	110	318	207	318	56	330	300	250j6	350	5	20	625	4	18.5	110	110	90	42k6	8	5	12	M8	M4	M4
15	11	7	3	FF300	160L	125	318	207	362	56	330	300	250j6	350	5	20	669	4	18.5	110	110	90	42k6	8	5	12	M8	M4	M4
18	—	-		EE250	19014	160	262	220	270 E	EG	252	250	200:6	400	5	20	600	4	10 E	110	110	00	1016	0	5 5	14	MO	MA	Ma
22	15	11		FF330	100101	185	303	230	370.0	50	352	330	300j0	400	5	20	090	4	10.0	110	110	90	4010	9	5.5	14	IVIO	1114	IVI4
—	18	15	5	FF350	180L	225	363	230	416.5	56	352	350	300j6	400	5	20	728	4	18.5	110	110	90	55m6	10	6	16	M8	M4	M4
30	—	-	7	EE400	2001	270	406	255	485	00	346	400	35016	450	5	22	823.5	Q	18.5	140	140	110	60m6	11	7	18	M10	MA	Ma
37, 45	22, 30	18, 22	_	11400	200L	290		200		30	540	+00	550j0	+30	5	22	023.0	0	10.0	1-40	140	110	00110			10	WITU	1114	11/14

Note) 1. Install the motor on the floor and use it with the shaft horizontal.

For use under the shaft, the protection structure of the cooling fan is IP20.

2. Leave an enough clearance between the fan suction port and wall to ensure adequate cooling.

Also, check that the ventilation direction of a fan is from the opposite load side to the load side.

3. The size difference of top and bottom of the shaft center height is  $\frac{0}{0.5}$ 4 The 400V class motor has -H at the end of its type name.

7

(Unit: mm)



#### • Dedicated motor (SF-V5RU(H)) outline dimension drawings (flange type with brake)



#### Dimensions table

SF-V5RU	SF-V5RU	SF-V5RU	SF-V5RU	Flange	Frame	Mass							Motor									Sha	aft End				Te	rminal S	Screw S	Size
ПK	EK1	<b>□</b> K3	□K4	Number	No.	(kg)	D	KB	KD	KL	KP	LA	LB	LC	LE	LG	LL	LN	LZ	LR	Q	QK	S	Т	U	w	U,V,W	A,B,(C)	B1,B2	G1,G2
3	-			FF215	112M	58	228	239	27	242	178	215	180j6	250	4	16	525	4	14.5	60	60	45	28j6	7	4	8	M6	M4	M4	M4
5	3			FF265	132S	83	266	256	27	256	197	265	230j6	300	4	20	597	4	14.5	80	80	63	38k6	8	5	10	M6	M4	M4	M4
7	5	3		FF265	132M	88	266	294	27	256	197	265	230j6	300	4	20	635	4	14.5	80	80	63	38k6	8	5	10	M6	M4	M4	M4
11	7	5		FF300	160M	151	318	318	56	330	231	300	250j6	350	5	20	735.5	4	18.5	110	110	90	42k6	8	5	12	M8	M4	M4	M4
15	11	7	3	FF300	160L	167	318	362	56	330	231	300	250j6	350	5	20	779.5	4	18.5	110	110	90	42k6	8	5	12	M8	M4	M4	M4

(Unit: mm)

Note) 1. Install the motor on the floor and use it with the shaft horizontal.

 Leave an enough clearance between the fan suction port and wall to ensure adequate cooling. Also, check that the ventilation direction of a fan is from the opposite load side to the load side.

3. The size difference of top and bottom of the shaft center height is  $\frac{0}{.05}$ 

4. The 400V class motor has -H at the end of its type name.

 Since a brake power device is a stand-alone, install it inside the enclosure. (This device should be arranged at the customer side.)

#### Installation of the heatsink portion outside the enclosure 7.4 for use

When encasing the inverter in an enclosure, the generated heat amount in an enclosure can be greatly reduced by installing the heatsink portion of the inverter outside the enclosure. When installing the inverter in a compact enclosure, etc., this installation method is recommended.

#### 7.4.1 Protrusion of heatsink

#### (1) Panel cutting

Cut the panel of the enclosure according to the inverter capacity.

	<u>۳</u>	<u></u>							
\$									
		Inverter type	W	W1	Н	H1	H2	H3	C
		FR-A721-5.5K, 7.5K FR-A741-5.5K, 7.5K	240	190	454	434	12	8	M8
	도 포	FR-A721-11K, 15K FR-A741-11K, 15K	290	220	575	548	17	10	M
		FR-A721-18.5K, 22K	376	290	575	546	17	12	M1
		FR-A741-18.5K, 22K	346	260	575	546	17	12	M1
		FR-A721-30K FR-A741-30K	436	350	675	646	17	12	M1
•		FR-A721-37K, 45K FR-A741-37K, 45K	456	370	670	641	17	12	M1
W1 W	H2	FR-A721-55K FR-A741-55K	586	480	870	841	17	12	M1



(2) Shift and removal of a rear side installation frame

One installation frame is attached to each of the upper and lower parts of the inverter. Change the position of the rear side installation frame on the upper and lower sides of the inverter to the front side as shown on the right. When changing the installation frames, make sure that the installation orientation is correct.



#### (3) Installation of the inverter

Push the inverter heatsink portion outside the enclosure and fix the enclosure and inverter with upper and lower installation frame.



#### — CAUTION =

 Having a cooling fan, the cooling section which comes out of the enclosure can not be used in the environment of water drops, oil, mist, dust, etc.

· Be careful not to drop screws, dust etc. into the inverter and cooling fan section.



This chapter provides the "APPENDICES" of this product. Always read the instructions before using the equipment.
## Appendix 1 Main differences and compatibilities with the FR-A700 series

Item	FR-A700	FR-A701
Model configuration	200V class0.4K to 90K 400V class0.4K to 500K	200V class 5.5K to 55K 400V class 5.5K to 55K
Regenerative braking torque	5.5/7.5K100%torque 2%ED 11K to 55K20%torque continuous	100% torque/continuous 150% torque 60s
Built-in EMC filter	With	Without
	Pr. 30 Regenerative function selection, Pr. 70 Special regenerative brake duty	Deleted
Changed/cleared functions	Pr: 872 Input phase loss protection selection Initial value "0" (without input phase protection)	The initial value is changed to "1" (with input phase failure protection)
	Protective functions E.BE	Deleted E.4, E.10, E.8, E.15 added
Stand-alone option	<ul> <li>AC reactor (FR-HAL)</li> <li>DC reactor (FR-HEL)</li> <li>High-duty brake resistor (FR-ABR)</li> <li>Power regeneration common converter (FR-CV)</li> <li>High power factor converter (FR-HC)</li> <li>Power regeneration converter (FR-RC)</li> </ul>	Not available (AC reactor (FR-HAL) is built-in) * Note that an AC reactor (FR-HAL) should be used only when a thyristor load exists in the same power supply system and protective function E.4 and E.10 activate.
Outline dimension Installation size	Not ce	ompatible

# Appendix 2 Control mode-based parameter (function) correspondence table and instruction code list

- \*1 These instruction codes are used for parameter read and write by using Mitsubishi inverter protocol with the RS-485 communication. (Refer to *page 302* for RS-485 communication)
- \*2 Validity and invalidity according to operation mode are as follows: O:Usable parameter
  - ×:Unusable parameter
  - $\Delta$ :Parameters available only during position control set by parameter
- \*3 "O" indicates valid and "×" indicates invalid of "parameter copy", "parameter clear", and "all parameter clear".
- \*4 Parameters can be used with conditions. Refer to page 185 for details.
- \*5 These parameters are communication parameters that are not cleared when parameter clear (all clear) is executed from RS-485 communication. (Refer to page 297 for RS-485 communication)

Symbols in the table indicate parameters which function when an option is mounted.

AX ........ FR-A7AX, AY ........ FR-A7AY, AR ........ FR-A7AR, AP ........ FR-A7AP, AZ ........ FR-A7AZ, NC ......... FR-A7AV,

ND ....... FR-A7ND, NL ....... FR-A7NL, NP ....... FR-A7NP, NS ........ FR-A7NS

		Ins <sup>-</sup> C	truct ode	ion * 1	Cor	trol Mode-	based	Corres	ponden	ce Tabl	<b>e</b> *2	oy *3	ar *3	lear *3
Param	Name	σ	e	ded	)//E	Advanced magnetic	Ve	ctor cont	rol	Real ser vector	nsorless control	ter Cop	ter Cle	neter C
etei		Rea	Writ	Extene	Control	flux vector control	Speed control	Torque control	Position control	Speed control	Torque control	Parame	Parame	All Param
0	Torque boost	00	80	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
1	Maximum frequency	01	81	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
2	Minimum frequency	02	82	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
3	Base frequency	03	83	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
4	Multi-speed setting (high speed)	04	84	0	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
5	Multi-speed setting (middle speed)	05	85	0	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
6	Multi-speed setting (low speed)	06	86	0	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
7	Acceleration time	07	87	0	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
8	Deceleration time	08	88	0	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
9	Electronic thermal O/L relay	09	89	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
10	DC injection brake operation frequency	0A	8A	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
11	DC injection brake operation time	0B	8B	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
12	DC injection brake operation voltage	0C	8C	0	0	0	×	×	×	O*4	O*4	0	0	0
13	Starting frequency	0D	8D	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
14	Load pattern selection	0E	8E	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
15	Jog frequency	0F	8F	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
16	Jog acceleration/ deceleration time	10	90	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
17	MRS input selection	11	91	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
18	High speed maximum frequency	12	92	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
19	Base frequency voltage	13	93	0	0	х	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
20	Acceleration/deceleration reference frequency	14	94	0	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
21	Acceleration/deceleration time increments	15	95	0	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
22	Stall prevention operation level (Torque limit level )	16	96	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	×	0	0	0
23	Stall prevention operation level compensation factor at double speed	17	97	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
24	Multi-speed setting (speed 4)	18	98	0	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
25	Multi-speed setting (speed 5)	19	99	0	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
26	Multi-speed setting (speed 6)	1A	9A	0	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
27	Multi-speed setting (speed 7)	1B	9B	0	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0

		Ins C	truct ode	ion * 1	Cor	trol Mode	based	Corres	oonden	ce Tabl	<b>e</b> *2	у *3	ar *3	lear *3
Param	Name	q	e	bed		Advanced magnetic	Ve	ctor cont	rol	Real ser vector	nsorless control	ter Cop	ter Cle	leter C
eter		Rea	Writ	Extend	V/F Control	flux vector control	Speed control	Torque control	Position control	Speed control	Torque control	Paramet	Parame	All Param
28	Multi-speed input compensation selection	1C	9C	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
29	Acceleration/deceleration pattern selection	1D	9D	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
31	Frequency jump 1A	1F	9F	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
32	Frequency jump 1B	20	A0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
33	Frequency jump 2A	21	A1	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
34	Frequency jump 2B	22	A2	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
35	Frequency jump 3A	23	A3	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
36	Frequency jump 3B	24	A4	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
37	Speed display	25	A5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
41	Up-to-frequency sensitivity	29	A9	0	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
42	Output frequency detection	2A	AA	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
43	for reverse rotation	2B	AB	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
44	Second acceleration/ deceleration time	2C	AC	0	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
45	Second deceleration time	2D	AD	0	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
46	Second torque boost	2E	AE	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
47	Second V/F (base frequency)	2F	AF	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
48	Second stall prevention operation current	30	B0	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
49	Second stall prevention operation frequency	31	B1	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
50	Second output frequency detection	32	B2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
51	Second electronic thermal O/L relay	33	В3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
52	DU/PU main display data selection	34	B4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
54	FM terminal function selection	36	B6	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
55	Frequency monitoring reference	37	B7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
56	Current monitoring reference	38	B8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
57	Restart coasting time	39	B9	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
58	Restart cushion time	ЗA	BA	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
59	Remote function selection	3B	BB	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
60	Energy saving control selection	зC	вС	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
61	Reference current	3D	BD	0	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
62	Reference value at acceleration	3E	BE	0	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
63	Reference value at dcceleration	ЗF	BF	0	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
64	Starting frequency for elevator mode	40	C0	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
65	Retry selection	41	C1	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
66	Stall prevention operation reduction starting frequency	42	C2	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
67	Number of retries at fault occurrence	43	СЗ	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
68	Retry waiting time	44	C4	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
69	Retry count display erase	45	C5	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0

		Ins C	truct ode	t <b>ion</b> * 1	Cor	ntrol Mode-	based	Corres	oonden	ce Tabl	<b>e</b> *2	py *3	ear *3	lear *3
Param	Name	Р	Ð	led		Advanced magnetic	Ve	ctor conf	rol	Real ser vector	nsorless control	er Co	ter Cle	eter C
eter		Read	Write	Extenc	V/F Control	flux vector control	Speed control	Torque control	Position control	Speed control	Torque control	Paramet	Paramet	All Param
71	Applied motor	47	C7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
72	PWM frequency selection	48	C8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
73	Analog input selection	49	C9	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
74	Input filter time constant	4A	СА	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
75	Reset selection/ disconnected PU detection/ PU stop selection	4B	СВ	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	×
76	Alarm code output selection	4C	СС	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
77 *	Parameter write selection	4D	CD	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
78	Reverse rotation prevention selection	4E	CE	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
79 ×	Operation mode selection	4F	CF	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
80	Motor capacity	50	D0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
81	Number of motor poles	51	D1	0	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
82	Motor excitation current	52	D2	0	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
83	Rated motor voltage	53	D3	0	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
84	Rated motor frequency	54	D4	0	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
89	Speed control gain (magnetic flux vector)	59	D9	0	×	0	×	×	×	×	×	0	×	0
90	Motor constant (R1)	5A	DA	0	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
91	Motor constant (R2)	5B	DB	0	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
92	Motor constant (L1)	5C	DC	0	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
93	Motor constant (L2)	5D	DD	0	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
94	Motor constant (X)	5E	DE	0	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
95	Online auto tuning selection	5F	DF	0	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
96	Auto tuning setting/status	60	E0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
100	V/F1(first frequency)	00	80	1	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
101	V/F1(first frequency voltage)	01	81	1	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
102	V/F2(second frequency)	02	82	1	0	×	×	×	×	×	Х	0	0	0
103	V/F2(second frequency voltage)	03	83	1	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
104	V/F3(third frequency)	04	84	1	0	×	×	×	×	×	Х	0	0	0
105	V/F3(third frequency voltage)	05	85	1	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
106	V/F4(fourth frequency)	06	86	1	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
107	V/F4(fourth frequency voltage)	07	87	1	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
108	V/F5(fifth frequency)	08	88	1	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
109	V/F5(fifth frequency voltage)	09	89	1	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
110	Third acceleration/ deceleration time	0A	8A	1	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
111	Third deceleration time	0B	8B	1	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
112	Third torque boost	0C	8C	1	0	X	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
113	Third V/F (base frequency)	0D	8D	1	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
114	operation current	0E	8E	1	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
115	operation frequency	0F	8F	1	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0

\* Read and write from communication with PU connector only is enabled.

		Ins C	truct ode	t <b>ion</b> * 1	Cor	ntrol Mode	based	Corres	oonden	ce Tabl	<b>e</b> *2	oy ∗3	ar *3	lear *3
Param	Name	-	0	bə		Advanced magnetic	Ve	ctor cont	rol	Real ser	nsorless control	er Col	er Cle	eter C
eter		Reac	Write	Extend	V/F Control	flux vector control	Speed control	Torque control	Position control	Speed control	Torque control	Paramet	Paramet	All Param
116	Third output frequency detection	10	90	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
117	PU communication station number	11	91	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
118	PU communication speed	12	92	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
119	PU communication stop bit length	13	93	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
120	PU communication parity check	14	94	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O <sup>*5</sup>	O*5
121	Number of PU communication retries	15	95	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
122	PU communication check time interval	16	96	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
123	PU communication waiting time setting	17	97	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
124	PU communication CR/LF presence/absence selection	18	98	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
125	Terminal 2 frequency setting gain frequency	19	99	1	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	×	0
126	Terminal 4 frequency setting gain frequency	1A	9A	1	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	×	0
127	PID control automatic switchover freqeuncy	1B	9B	1	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
128	PID action selection	1C	9C	1	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
129	PID proportional band	1D	9D	1	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
130	PID integral time	1E	9E	1	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
131	PID upper limit	1F	9F	1	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
132	PID lower limit	20	A0	1	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
133	PID action set point	21	A1	1	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
134	PID differential time	22	A2	1	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
135	Electronic bypass sequence selection	23	AЗ	1	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
136	MC switchover interlock time	24	A4	1	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
137	Start waiting time	25	A5	1	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
138	Bypass selection at a fault	26	A6	1	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
139	Automatic switchover frequency from inverter to bypass operation	27	A7	1	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
140	Backlash acceleration stopping frequency	28	A8	1	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
141	Backlash acceleration stopping time	29	A9	1	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
142	Backlash deceleration stopping frequency	2A	AA	1	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
143	Backlash deceleration stopping time	2B	AB	1	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
144	Speed setting switchover	2C	AC	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
145	PU display language selection	2D	AD	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	×
148	Stall prevention level at 0V input	30	В0	1	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
149	Stall prevention level at 10V input	31	B1	1	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
150	Output current detection level	32	B2	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

		Ins C	truct ode	tion * 1	Cor	ntrol Mode	based	Corres	ponden	ce Tabl	<b>e</b> *2	py *3	ar *3	lear *3
Param	Name	a	e	ded		Advanced magnetic	Ve	ctor con	rol	Real ser vector	nsorless control	ter Col	ter Cle	eter C
eter		Read	Write	Extend	V/F Control	flux vector control	Speed control	Torque control	Position control	Speed control	Torque control	Paramet	Paramet	All Param
151	Output current detection signal delay time	33	В3	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
152	Zero current detection level	34	B4	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
153	Zero current detection time	35	B5	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
154	during stall prevention operation	36	В6	1	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
155	RT signal function validity condition selection	37	B7	1	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
156	Stall prevention operation selection	38	B8	1	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
157	OL signal output timer	39	B9	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
158	AM terminal function selection	ЗA	BA	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
159	Automatic switchover frequency range from bypass to inverter operation	3B	BB	1	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
160	User group read selection	00	80	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
161	Frequency setting/key lock operation selection	01	81	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
162	Automatic restart after instantaneous power failure selection	02	82	2	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
163	First cushion time for restart	03	83	2	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
164	First cushion voltage for restart	04	84	2	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
165	Stall prevention operation level for restart	05	85	2	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
166	Output current detection signal retention time	06	86	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
167	Output current detection operation selection	07	87	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
168 169	Parameter for manufacturer	settin	ig. Do	o not	set.									
170	Watt-hour meter clear	0A	8A	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
171	Operation hour meter clear	0B	8B	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	×	×
172	User group registered display/batch clear	0C	8C	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	×
173	User group registration	0D	8D	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	×	×
174	User group clear	0E	8E	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	×	×
178	selection	12	92	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
179	STR terminal function selection	13	93	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
180	RL terminal function selection	14	94	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
181	RM terminal function selection	15	95	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
182	RH terminal function selection	16	96	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
183	RT terminal function selection	17	97	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
184	AU terminal function selection	18	98	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
185	JOG terminal function selection	19	99	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0

		Ins C	truct ode	t <b>ion</b> * 1	Cor	ntrol Mode	based	Corres	ponden	ce Tabl	<b>e</b> *2	y *3	ar *3	lear *3
Param	Name	_	â	ed		Advanced	Ve	ctor cont	rol	Real ser vector	nsorless control	er Cop	er Cle	eter C
eter		Read	Write	Extend	V/F Control	flux vector control	Speed control	Torque control	Position control	Speed control	Torque control	Paramet	Paramet	All Paramo
186	CS terminal function selection	1A	9A	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
187	MRS terminal function selection	1B	9B	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
188	STOP terminal function selection	1C	9C	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
189	RES terminal function selection	1D	9D	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
190	RUN terminal function selection	1E	9E	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
191	SU terminal function selection	1F	9F	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
192	IPF terminal function selection	20	A0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
193	OL terminal function selection	21	A1	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
194	FU terminal function selection	22	A2	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
195	ABC1 terminal function selection	23	AЗ	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
196	ABC2 terminal function selection	24	A4	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
232	Multi-speed setting (speed 8)	28	A8	2	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
233	Multi-speed setting (speed 9)	29	A9	2	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
234	Multi-speed setting (speed 10)	2A	AA	2	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
235	Multi-speed setting (speed 11)	2B	AB	2	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
236	Multi-speed setting (speed 12)	2C	AC	2	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
237	Multi-speed setting (speed 13)	2D	AD	2	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
238	Multi-speed setting (speed 14)	2E	AE	2	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
239	Multi-speed setting (speed 15)	2F	AF	2	0	0	0	0	Δ	0	0	0	0	0
240	Soft-PWM operation selection	30	В0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
241	Analog input display unit switchover	31	B1	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
242	Terminal 1 added compensation amount (terminal 2)	32	В2	2	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
243	Terminal 1 added compensation amount (terminal 4)	33	В3	2	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
244	Cooling fan operation selection	34	B4	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
245	Rated slip	35	B5	2	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
246	Slip compensation time constant	36	B6	2	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
247	Constant-power region slip compensation selection	37	B7	2	0	×	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
250	Stop selection	ЗA	BA	2	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
251	Output phase loss protection selection	3B	BB	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
252	Override bias	3C	BC	2	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
253	Override gain	3D	BD	2	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
255	Life alarm status display	3F	BF	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	×	×
256	Inrush current limit circuit life display	40	C0	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	×	×

		Ins C	truct ode	t <b>ion</b> * 1	Cor	trol Mode	based	Corres	ponden	ce Tabl	<b>e</b> *2	у *3	ar *3	lear *3
Param	Name	-	Ű	led		Advanced magnetic	Ve	ctor con	trol	Real ser vector	nsorless control	er Coj	er Cle	eter C
eter		Read	Write	Extend	V/F Control	flux vector control	Speed control	Torque control	Position control	Speed control	Torque control	Paramet	Paramet	All Param
257	Control circuit capacitor life display	41	C1	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	×	×
258	Main circuit capacitor life display	42	C2	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	×	×
259	Main circuit capacitor life measuring	43	СЗ	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
261	Power failure stop selection	45	C5	2	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
262	Subtracted frequency at deceleration start	46	C6	2	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
263	Subtraction starting frequency	47	C7	2	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
264	Power-failure deceleration time 1	48	C8	2	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
265	Power-failure deceleration time 2	49	С9	2	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
266	Power failure deceleration time switchover frequency	4A	CA	2	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
267	Terminal 4 input selection	4B	СВ	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
268	Monitor decimal digits selection	4C	сс	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
269	Parameter for manufacturer s	settin	ig. Do	o not	set.							-	-	
270	Stop-on contact/load torque high-speed frequency control selection	4E	CE	2	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
271	High-speed setting maximum current	4F	CF	2	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
272	Middle-speed setting minimum current	50	D0	2	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
273	Current averaging range	51	D1	2	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
274	Current averaging filter time constant	52	D2	2	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
275	Stop-on contact excitation current low-speed multiplying factor	53	D3	2	×	0	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
276	PWM carrier frequency at stop-on contact	54	D4	2	×	0	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
278	Brake opening frequency	56	D6	2	×	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
279	Brake opening current	57	D7	2	×	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
280	Brake opening current detection time	58	D8	2	×	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
281	Brake operation time at start	59	D9	2	×	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
282	Brake operation frequency	5A	DA	2	×	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
283	Brake operation time at stop	5B	DB	2	×	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
284	function selection	5C	DC	2	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
285	frequency (Speed deviation excess detection frequency)	5D	DD	2	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
286	Droop gain	5E	DE	2	×	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
287	Droop filter time constant	5F	DF	2	×	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
288	Droop function activation selection	60	E0	2	×	×	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
291	Pulse train I/O selection	63	E3	2	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	×	0
292	Automatic acceleration/ deceleration	64	E4	2	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0

		Ins C	truct ode	ion * 1	Cor	trol Mode-	based	Corres	ponden	ce Tabl	<b>e</b> *2	у *3	ar *3	lear *3
Param	Name	-	0	led		Advanced magnetic	Ve	ctor cont	trol	Real ser vector	nsorless control	er Cop	er Cle	eter C
eter		Read	Write	Extend	V/F Control	flux vector control	Speed control	Torque control	Position control	Speed control	Torque control	Paramet	Paramet	All Param
293	Acceleration/deceleration time individual calculation selection	65	E5	2	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
294	UV avoidance voltage gain	66	E6	2	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
299	Rotation direction detection selection at restarting	6B	EB	2	0	0	×	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
300	BCD input bias AX	00	80	3	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
301	BCD input gain AX	01	81	3	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
302	BIN input bias AX	02	82	3	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
303	BIN input gain AX	03	83	3	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
304	Digital input and analog input compensation enable/ disable selection AX	04	84	3	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
305	Read timing operation selection	05	85	3	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
306	Analog output signal selection AY	06	86	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
307	Setting for zero analog output AY	07	87	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
308	Setting for maximum analog output AY	08	88	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
309	Analog output signal voltage/current switchover AY	09	89	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
310	Analog meter voltage output selection AY	0A	8A	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
311	Setting for zero analog meter voltage output AY	0B	8B	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
312	Setting for maximum analog meter voltage output AY	ос	8C	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
313	DO0 output selection AY NC	0D	8D	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
314	DO1 output selection AY NC	0E	8E	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
315	DO2 output selection AY NC	0F	8F	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
316	DO3 output selection AY	10	90	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
317	DO4 output selection AY	11	91	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
318	DO5 output selection AY	12	92	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
319	DO6 output selection AY	13	93	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
320	RA1 output selection AR	14	94	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
321	RA2 output selection AR	15	95	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
322	RA3 output selection AR	16	96	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
323	AM0 0V adjustment AY	17	97	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
324	AM1 0mA adjustment AY	18	98	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
329	selection AX	1D	9D	3	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	×	0
331	RS-485 communication station	1F	9F	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
332	RS-485 communication	20	A0	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5

		Ins C	truct ode	ion * 1	Cor	trol Mode-	based	Corres	ponden	ce Tabl	<b>e</b> *2	oy *3	ar *3	lear *3
Param	Name	F	0	ed		Advanced magnetic	Ve	ctor cont	rol	Real ser vector	nsorless control	er Col	er Cle	eter C
eter		Reac	Write	Extend	V/F Control	flux vector control	Speed control	Torque control	Position control	Speed control	Torque control	Paramet	Paramet	All Param
333	RS-485 communication stop bit length	21	A1	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
334	RS-485 communication parity check selection	22	A2	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
335	RS-485 communication retry count	23	A3	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
336	RS-485 communication check time interval	24	A4	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
337	RS-485 communication waiting time setting	25	A5	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
338	Communication operation command source	26	A6	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
339	Communication speed command source	27	A7	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
340	Communication startup mode selection	28	A8	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
341	RS-485 communication CR/ LF selection	29	A9	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
342	Communication EEPROM write selection	2A	AA	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
343	Communication error count	2B	AB	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	×	×
345	DeviceNet address ND	2D	AD	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
346	DeviceNet baud rate ND	2E	AE	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
349	Communication reset selection NC ND NL NP	31	B1	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
350	Stop position command selection AP	32	В2	3	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
351	Orientation speed AP	33	В3	3	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
352	Creep speed AP	34	B4	3	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
353	Creep switchover position	35	В5	3	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
354	Position loop switchover	36	B6	3	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
355	DC injection brake start	37	В7	3	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
356	Internal stop position	38	B8	3	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
357	Orientation in-position	39	В9	3	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
358		34	RΔ	3	0	0	0	×	~	×	×	0	0	0
359	Encoder rotation direction	3B	BB	3	0	0	0	0	0	×	×	0	0	0
200				_		0	0					0	0	0
360	16 bit data selection AP	30	BC	3	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
361	Position shift AP	3D	BD	3	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
362	gain AP	3E	BE	3	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
363	Completion signal output delay time AP	3F	BF	3	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
364	Encoder stop check time	40	C0	3	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
365	Orientation limit AP	41	C1	3	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
366	Recheck time AP	42	C2	3	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
367	Speed feedback range AP	43	С3	3	0	0	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0

		Ins C	truct ode <sup>,</sup>	ion 1	Cor	trol Mode-	based	Corres	oonden	ce Tabl	<b>e</b> *2	у *3	ar *3	lear *3
Param	Name	-	Ø	led		Advanced magnetic	Ve	ctor cont	rol	Real ser vector	nsorless control	er Col	ter Cle	eter C
eter		Read	Write	Extend	V/F Control	flux vector control	Speed control	Torque control	Position control	Speed control	Torque control	Paramet	Paramet	All Param
368	Feedback gain AP	44	C4	3	0	0	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
369	Number of encoder pulses	45	C5	3	0	0	0	0	0	×	×	0	0	0
374	Overspeed detection level	4A	СА	3	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
376	Encoder signal loss detection enable/disable selection AP	4C	сс	3	0	0	0	0	0	×	×	0	0	0
379	SSCNET III rotation direction selection NS	4F	CF	3	×	×	0	0	0	×	×	0	0	0
380	Acceleration S-pattern 1	50	D0	3	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
381	Deceleration S-pattern 1	51	D1	3	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
382	Acceleration S-pattern 2	52	D2	3	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
383	Deceleration S-pattern 2	53	D3	3	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
384	Input pulse division scaling factor	54	D4	3	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
385	Frequency for 0 input pulse	55	D5	3	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
386	Frequency for maximum input pulse	56	D6	3	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
387	Initial communication delay time NL	57	D7	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
388	Send time interval at heart beat NL	58	D8	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
389	Minimum sending time at heart beat	59	D9	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
390	% setting reference frequency NL	5A	DA	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
391	Receive time interval at heart beat NL	5B	DB	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
392	Event driven detection width NL	5C	DC	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
393	Orientation selection AP	5D	DD	3	×	×	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
396	Orientation speed gain (P term) AP	60	E0	3	×	×	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
397	Orientation speed integral time AP	61	E1	3	×	×	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
398	Orientation speed gain (D term)	62	E2	3	×	×	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
399	Orientation deceleration ratio AP	63	E3	3	×	×	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
406	High resolution analog input selection     AZ	06	86	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
407	Motor temperature detection filter AZ	07	87	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
408	Motor thermistor selection AZ	08	88	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
419	Position command source selection AP	13	93	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
420	Command pulse scaling factor numerator AP	14	94	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
421	Command pulse scaling factor denominator AP	15	95	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
422	Position loop gain AP	16	96	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0

		Ins C	truct ode	t <b>ion</b> * 1	Cor	trol Mode	based	Corres	ponden	ce Tabl	<b>e</b> *2	py *3	ar *3	lear *3
Param	Name	8	Ø	led		Advanced magnetic	Ve	ctor cont	trol	Real ser vector	nsorless control	ier Col	ter Cle	eter C
eter		Read	Writ	Extend	V/F Control	flux vector control	Speed control	Torque control	Position control	Speed control	Torque control	Paramet	Paramet	All Param
423	Position feed forward gain	17	97	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
424	Position command acceleration/deceleration time constant AP	18	98	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
425	Position feed forward command filter AP	19	99	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
426	In-position width AP	1A	9A	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
427	Excessive level error AP	1B	9B	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
428	Command pulse selection	1C	9C	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
429	Clear signal selection AP	1D	9D	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
430	Pulse monitor selection AP	1E	9E	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
447	Digital torque command bias AX	2F	AF	4	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0	0
448	Digital torque command gain AX	30	B0	4	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0	0
449	SSCNET III input filter setting NS	31	В1	4	×	×	0	0	0	×	×	0	0	0
450	Second applied motor	32	B2	4	0	0	×	×	×	0	0	0	0	0
451	Second motor control method selection	33	В3	4	0	0	×	×	×	0	0	0	0	0
453	Second motor capacity	35	B5	4	×	0	×	×	×	0	0	0	0	0
454	Number of second motor poles	36	B6	4	×	0	×	×	×	0	0	0	0	0
455	Second motor excitation current	37	B7	4	×	0	×	×	×	0	0	0	×	0
456	Rated second motor voltage	38	B8	4	×	0	×	×	×	0	0	0	0	0
457	frequency	39	B9	4	×	0	×	×	×	0	0	0	0	0
458	Second motor constant (R1)	3A 2P	BA	4	×	0	×	X	×	0	0	0	×	0
460	Second motor constant (12)	3D 3C	BC	4	×	0	×	×	×	0	0	0	×	0
461	Second motor constant (L2)	3D	BD	4	×	0	×	×	×	0	0	0	×	0
462	Second motor constant (X)	3E	BE	4	×	0	×	×	×	0	0	0	×	0
463	Second motor auto tuning setting/status	3F	BF	4	×	0	×	×	×	0	0	0	×	0
464	Digital position control sudden stop deceleration time	40	C0	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
465	First position feed amount lower 4 digits AP	41	C1	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
466	First position feed amount upper 4 digits AP	42	C2	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
467	Second position feed amount lower 4 digits AP	43	СЗ	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
468	Second position feed amount upper 4 digits AP	44	C4	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
469	Third position feed amount lower 4 digits AP	45	C5	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
470	Third position feed amount upper 4 digits AP	46	C6	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0

	Instruction Code * 1			Control Mode-based Correspondence Table *2								ar *3	lear *3	
Param	Name	-		ed		Advanced	Ve	ctor cont	rol	Real ser	nsorless control	er Coj	er Cle	eter C
eter		Read	Write	Extend	V/F Control	flux vector control	Speed control	Torque control	Position control	Speed control	Torque control	Paramet	Paramet	All Param
471	Fourth position feed amount lower 4 digits AP	47	C7	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
472	Fourth position feed amount upper 4 digits AP	48	C8	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
473	Fifth position feed amount lower 4 digits AP	49	C9	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
474	Fifth position feed amount upper 4 digits AP	4A	CA	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
475	Sixth position feed amount lower 4 digits AP	4B	СВ	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
476	Sixth position feed amount upper 4 digits AP	4C	сс	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
477	Seventh position feed amount lower 4 digits AP	4D	CD	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
478	Seventh position feed amount upper 4 digits AP	4E	CE	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
479	Eighth position feed amount lower 4 digits AP	4F	CF	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
480	Eighth position feed amount upper 4 digits AP	50	D0	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
481	Ninth position feed amount lower 4 digits AP	51	D1	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
482	Ninth position feed amount upper 4 digits AP	52	D2	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
483	Tenth position feed amount lower 4 digits AP	53	D3	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
484	Tenth position feed amount upper 4 digits AP	54	D4	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
485	Eleventh position feed amount lower 4 digits AP	55	D5	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
486	Eleventh position feed amount upper 4 digits AP	56	D6	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
487	Twelfth position feed amount lower 4 digits AP	57	D7	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
488	Twelfth position feed amount upper 4 digits AP	58	D8	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
489	Thirteenth position feed amount lower 4 digits AP	59	D9	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
490	Thirteenth position feed amount upper 4 digits AP	5A	DA	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
491	Fourteenth position feed amount lower 4 digits AP	5B	DB	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
492	Fourteenth position feed amount upper 4 digits AP	5C	DC	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
493	Fifteenth position feed amount lower 4 digits AP	5D	DD	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
494	Fifteenth position feed amount upper 4 digits AP	5E	DE	4	×	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
495	Remote output selection	5F	DF	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
496	Remote output data 1	60	E0	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	×	×
497	Remote output data 2	61	E1	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	×	×
499	SSCNET III operation	63	E3	4	×	×	0	0	0	×	×	0	0	0

		Instruction Code * 1		Control Mode-based Correspondence Table *2								ar *3	lear *3	
Param	Param Name		e	led		Advanced magnetic	Ve	ctor cont	rol	Real ser vector	nsorless control	er Cop	ter Cle	eter C
eter		Read	Write	Extend	V/F Control	flux vector control	Speed control	Torque control	Position control	Speed control	Torque control	Paramet	Paramet	All Param
500	Communication error execution waiting time NC ND NL NP	00	80	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
501	Communication error occurrence count display NC ND NL NP	01	81	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0	0
502	Stop mode selection at communication error NC ND NL NP	02	82	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
503	Maintenance timer	03	83	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	х	×	х
504	Maintenance timer alarm output set time	04	84	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
505	Speed setting reference	05	85	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
516	S-pattern time at a start of acceleration	10	90	5	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
517	S-pattern time at a completion of acceleration	11	91	5	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
518	S-pattern time at a start of deceleraiton	12	92	5	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
519	S-pattern time at a completion of deceleraiton	13	93	5	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
539	Modbus-RTU communication check time interval	27	A7	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
541	Frequency command sign selection (CC-Link) NC	29	A9	5	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	O*5	O*5
542	Communication station number (CC-Link) NC	2A	AA	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
543	Baud rate (CC-Link) NC	2B	AB	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
544	CC-Link extended setting NC	2C	AC	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
547 548	Parameter for manufacturer	settin	g. Do	o not	set.									
549	Protocol selection	31	B1	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
550	NET mode operation command source selection	32	B2	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O <sup>*5</sup>
551	PU mode operation command source selection	33	В3	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	O*5	O*5
555	Current average time	37	B7	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
556	Data output mask time Current average value monitor signal output reference current	38 39	B8 B9	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
563	Energization time carrying- over times	ЗF	BF	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	×	×
564	Operating time carrying- over times	40	C0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	×	×
569	Second motor speed control gain	45	C5	5	×	0	×	×	×	×	×	0	×	0
571	Holding time at a start	47	C7	5	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
574	Second motor online auto tuning	4A	CA	5	×	0	×	×	×	0	0	0	0	0
575	Output interruption detection time	4B	СВ	5	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
576	Output interruption detection level	4C	сс	5	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0

		Ins C	truct ode	t <b>ion</b> * 1	Cor	oy ∗3	ar *3	lear *3						
Param	Name	-	6	ed		Advanced magnetic	Ve	ctor cont	rol	Real ser vector	nsorless control	er Cop	er Cle	eter C
eter		Read	Write	Extend	V/F Control	flux vector control	Speed control	Torque control	Position control	Speed control	Torque control	Paramet	Paramet	All Paramo
577	Output interruption cancel level	4D	CD	5	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
611	Acceleration time at a restart	0B	8B	6	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
665	Regeneration avoidance frequency gain	41	C1	6	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
684	Tuning data increments switchover	54	D4	6	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
800	Control method selection	00	80	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
802	Pre-excitation selection AP	02	82	8	×	×	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
803	Constant power range torque characteristic selection	03	83	8	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
804	Torque command source selection	04	84	8	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0	0
805	Torque command value (RAM)	05	85	8	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	×	0	0
806	Torque command value (RAM,EEPROM)	06	86	8	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0	0
807	Speed limit selection	07	87	8	×	Х	×	0	×	×	0	0	0	0
808	Forward rotation speed limit	08	88	8	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0	0
809	Reverse rotation speed limit	09	89	8	×	×	×	0	×	×	0	0	0	0
810	Torque limit input method selection	0A	8A	8	×	×	0	×	0	0	×	0	0	0
811	Set resolution switchover	0B	8B	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
812	Torque limit level (regeneration)	0C	8C	8	×	×	0	×	0	0	×	0	0	0
813	Torque limit level (3rd quadrant)	0D	8D	8	×	×	0	×	0	0	Х	0	0	0
814	Torque limit level (4th quadrant)	0E	8E	8	×	×	0	×	0	0	×	0	0	0
815	Torque limit level 2	0F	8F	8	×	×	0	×	0	0	×	0	0	0
816	Torque limit level during acceleration	10	90	8	×	×	0	×	0	0	×	0	0	0
817	Torque limit level during deceleration	11	91	8	×	×	0	×	0	0	×	0	0	0
818	Easy gain tuning response level setting	12	92	8	×	×	0	×	0	0	×	0	0	0
819	Easy gain tuning selection	13	93	8	×	×	0	×	0	0	×	0	×	0
820	Speed control P gain 1	14	94	8	×	×	0	×	0	0	×	0	0	0
821	Speed control integral time 1	15	95	8	×	×	0	×	0	0	×	0	0	0
822		16	96	8	×	×	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
023	Speed detection filter 1 AP	17	97	8	×	X	0	0	0	×	×	0	0	0
824	Torque control P gain 1	18	98	8	×	X	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
020	Torque control integral time 1	19	99	8	×	X	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
020	Torque setting litter 1	1A 1D	9A	8	×	X	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
929	Model speed control gain	18	9B	8	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
830	Speed control P gain 2	1E	9C	o و	~	× ×	0	×	0	0	×	0	0	0
831	Speed control integral time 2	1F	9F	8	×	×	0	×	0	0	×	0	0	0
832	Speed setting filter?	20	AO	8	×	×	0	0	×	0	Ô	0	0	0
833	Speed detection filter 2	21	A1	8	×	×	0	×	0	×	×	0	0	0
834	Torque control P gain 2	22	A2	8	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
835	Torque control integral time 2	23	A3	8	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
836	Torque setting filter2	24	A4	8	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
837	Torque detection filter 2	25	A5	8	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

		Instruction Code * 1		Cor	py *3	ar *3	lear *3							
Param	Name	a	е	ded		Advanced magnetic		ctor cont	trol	Real ser vector	nsorless control	ter Col	ter Cle	leter C
eter		Rea	Writ	Extend	V/F Control	flux vector control	Speed control	Torque control	Position control	Speed control	Torque control	Parame	Parame	All Param
838	DA1 terminal function selection	26	A6	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
839	DA1 output filter AZ	27	A7	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
840	Torque bias selection AP	28	A8	8	×	×	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
841	Torque bias 1 AP	29	A9	8	×	×	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
842	Torque bias 2 AP	2A	AA	8	×	×	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
843	Torque bias 3 AP	2B	AB	8	×	×	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
844	Torque bias filter AP	2C	AC	8	×	×	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
845	Torque bias operation time	2D	AD	8	×	×	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
846	Torque bias balance compensation AP	2E	AE	8	×	×	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
847	Fall-time torque bias terminal 1 bias	2F	AF	8	×	×	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
848	Fall-time torque bias terminal 1 gain AP	30	В0	8	×	×	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
849	Analog input off set adjustment	31	В1	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
850	Control operation selection	32	B2	8	×	×	×	×	×	0	0	0	0	0
853	Speed deviation time AP	35	B5	8	×	×	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
854	Excitation ratio	36	B6	8	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
857	DA1-0V adjustment	39	B9	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
858	assignment	3A	BA	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
859	Iorque current	3B	BB	8	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
860	current	3C	BC	8	×	0	×	×	×	0	0	0	×	0
863	Notch filter denth	3E 3E	BE	0 8	×	×	0	×	0	0	×	0	0	0
864	Torque detection	40	C0	8	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
865	Low speed detection	41	C1	8	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
866	Torque monitoring reference	42	C2	8	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
867	AM output filter	43	С3	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
868	Terminal 1 function assignment	44	C4	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
872	Input phase failure protection selection	48	C8	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
873	Speed limit AP	49	C9	8	×	×	0	×	×	×	×	0	0	0
874	OLT level setting	4A	CA	8	×	×	0	×	0	0	×	0	0	0
875	Fault definition	4B	СВ	8	0	0	0	0	×	0	0	0	0	0
877	model adaptive speed control selection	4D	CD	8	×	×	0	×	0	0	×	0	0	0
878	Speed feed forward filter	4E	CE	8	×	×	0	×	0	0	×	0	0	0
879	Speed feed forward torque limit	4F	CF	8	×	×	0	×	0	0	×	0	0	0
880	Load inertia ratio	50	D0	8	×	×	0	×	0	0	×	0	×	0
881	Speed feed forward gain	51	D1	8	×	×	0	×	0	0	×	0	0	0
882	Regeneration avoidance operation selection	52	D2	8	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
883	Regeneration avoidance	53	D3	8	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0

	Instruction Code * 1		Control Mode-based Correspondence Table *2								ar *3	lear *3		
Param	Name	a	Ð	ded		Advanced magnetic	Ve	ctor cont	rol	Real ser vector	nsorless control	ter Cop	ter Cle	eter C
eter		Read	Write	Extend	V/F Control	flux vector control	Speed control	Torque control	Position control	Speed control	Torque control	Paramet	Paramet	All Param
884	Regeneration avoidance at deceleration detection sensitivity	54	D4	8	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
885	Regeneration avoidance compensation frequency limit value	55	D5	8	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
886	Regeneration avoidance voltage gain	56	D6	8	0	0	0	×	×	0	×	0	0	0
888	Free parameter 1	58	D8	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	×
889	Free parameter 2	59	D9	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	×
891	Cumulative power monitor digit shifted times	5B	DB	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
892	Load factor	5C	DC	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
893	Energy saving monitor reference (motor capacity)	5D	DD	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
894	Control selection during commercial power-supply operation	5E	DE	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
895	895 Power saving rate reference value		DF	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
896	Power unit cost	60	E0	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
897	Power saving monitor average time	61	E1	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
898	Power saving cumulative monitor clear	62	E2	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
899	Operation time rate (estimated value)	63	E3	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
C0 (900)	FM terminal calibration	5C	DC	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C1 (901)	AM terminal calibration	5D	DD	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C2 (902)	Terminal 2 frequency setting bias frequency	5E	DE	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C3 (902)	Terminal 2 frequency setting bias	5E	DE	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
125 (903)	Terminal 2 frequency setting gain frequency	5F	DF	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C4 (903)	Terminal 2 frequency setting gain	5F	DF	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C5 (904)	Terminal 4 frequency setting bias frequency	60	E0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C6 (904)	Terminal 4 frequency setting bias	60	E0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
126 (905)	Terminal 4 frequency setting gain frequency	61	E1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C7 (905)	Terminal 4 frequency setting gain	61	E1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C12 (917)	Terminal 1 bias frequency (speed)	11	91	9	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C13 (917)	Terminal 1 bias frequency (speed)	11	91	9	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C14 (918)	Terminal 1 gain frequency (speed)	12	92	9	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C15 (918)	Terminal 1 gain (speed)	12	92	9	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0

		Instruction Code * 1		Control Mode-based Correspondence Table *2								ar *3	ear *3	
Param	Name	8	e	ded		Advanced magnetic	Ve	ctor cont	rol	Real ser vector	nsorless control	ter Cop	ter Clea	eter CI
eter		Rea	Writ	Extend	V/F Control	flux vector control	Speed control	Torque control	Position control	Speed control	Torque control	Paramet	Parame	All Param
C16 (919)	Terminal 1 bias command (torque/magnetic flux)	13	93	9	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C17 (919)	Terminal 1 bias (torque/ magnetic flux)	13	93	9	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C18 (920)	Terminal 1 gain command (torque/magnetic flux)	14	94	9	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C19 (920)	Terminal 1 gain (torque/ magnetic flux)	14	94	9	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C29 (925)	Motor temperature detection calibration (analog input)	19	99	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C30 (926)	Terminal 6 bias frequency (speed) AZ	1A	9A	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C31 (926)	Terminal 6 bias (speed)	1A	9A	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C32 (927)	Terminal 6 gain frequency (speed)	1B	9B	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C33 (927)	Terminal 6 gain (speed) AZ	1B	9B	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C34 (928)	Terminal 6 bias command (torque) AZ	1C	9C	9	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C35 (928)	Terminal 6 bias (torque) AZ	1C	9C	9	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C36 (929)	Terminal 6 gain command (torque) AZ	1D	9D	9	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C37 (929)	Terminal 6 gain (torque) AZ	1D	9D	9	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C38 (932)	Terminal 4 bias command (torque/magnetic flux)	20	A0	9	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C39 (932)	Terminal 4 bias (torque/ magnetic flux)	20	A0	9	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C40 (933)	Terminal 4 gain command (torque/magnetic flux)	21	A1	9	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
C41 (933)	Terminal 4 gain (torque/ magnetic flux)	21	A1	9	×	×	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0
989	Parameter for manufacturer	settin	g. Do	o not	set.									
990	PU buzzer control	5A	DA	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
991	PU contrast adjustment	5B	DB	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	×	0

#### REVISIONS

#### \*The manual number is given on the bottom left of the back cover.

Print Date	*Manual Number	Revision
Jan., 2008	IB(NA)-0600337ENG-A	First edition
Mar., 2008	IB(NA)-0600337ENG-B	Additions · FR-A721-18.5K to 55K
Sep., 2008	IB(NA)-0600337ENG-C	Additions FR-A741-5.5K to 55K

### For Maximum Safety

- Mitsubishi inverters are not designed or manufactured to be used in equipment or systems in situations that can affect or endanger human life.
- When considering this product for operation in special applications such as machinery or systems used in passenger transportation, medical, aerospace, atomic power, electric power, or submarine repeating applications, please contact your nearest Mitsubishi sales representative.
- Although this product was manufactured under conditions of strict quality control, you are strongly advised to install safety devices to prevent serious accidents when it is used in facilities where breakdowns of the product are likely to cause a serious accident.
- Please do not use this product for loads other than three-phase induction motors.